Public Document Pack

Mid Devon District Council

Cabinet

Thursday, 9 July 2020 at 6.00 pm
Remote Meeting

Next ordinary meeting
Thursday, 6 August 2020 at 6.00 pm

Important - this meeting will be conducted and recorded by Zoom only.
Please do not attend Phoenix House. The attached Protocol for Remote
Meetings explains how this will work.

To join this meeting, please click the following link:

https://zoom.us/j/96582635426?pwd=VnRKeEUzRzNFRk9TQTdUcUtiMVVDZz09

Meeting ID: 965 8263 5426

Password: 795102

One tap mobile

08002605801,,96582635426#,,,,0#,,795102# United Kingdom Toll-free
08003582817,,96582635426#,,,,0#,,795102# United Kingdom Toll-free

Dial by your location

0 800 260 5801 United Kingdom Toll-free

0 800 358 2817 United Kingdom Toll-free

0800 031 5717 United Kingdom Toll-free Meeting ID: 965 8263 5426
Password: 795102
Find your local number: https://zoom.us/u/aynbMVkC8

Membership

Clir R M Deed

Clir L D Taylor

Clir G Barnell

Clir S J Clist

Clir D J Knowles

Clir Ms E J Wainwright
Clir A White

Cllr Mrs N Woollatt

AGENDA

Members are reminded of the need to make declarations of interest prior to any
discussion which may take place

Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel

Tel: 01884 234229

Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk

This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk



http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
https://zoom.us/j/96582635426?pwd=VnRKeEUzRzNFRk9TQTdUcUtiMVVDZz09
https://zoom.us/u/aynbMVkC8

10.

11.

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

Protocol for Remote Meetings (Pages 5 - 10)
To note the protocol for remote meetings.

Public Question Time
To receive any questions relating to items on the Agenda from members
of the public and replies thereto.

Declarations of Interest under the Code of Conduct

Councillors are reminded of the requirement to declare any interest,
including the type of interest, and reason for that interest, either at this
stage of the meeting or as soon as they become aware of that interest.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 11 - 14)
Members to consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct
record of the meeting held on 11 June 2020.

Local Plan Review - Inspector's Report on Adoption (Pages 15 -
336)

To consider a report of the Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration

presenting the Inspector’s Report into, and recommending the adoption
of, the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033 including main
modifications and additional (minor) modifications.

Reopening High Streets Safely Fund (Pages 337 - 366)
To consider a report of the Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration setting out proposals to utilise money from the fund.

Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan (Pages 367 - 388)

To consider a report of the Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration considering the key themes and to seek approval to
progress with the production of the Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan
and Delivery Plan taking into account the comments received during the
Stage 1 public consultation.

Revenue and Capital Outturn 2019/20 (Pages 389 - 426)
To consider a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) presenting
the revenue and capital outturn figures for the financial year 2019/20.

Annual Treasury Management Report (Pages 427 - 436)

To consider a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) providing
Members with a review of activiies and the prudential treasury
indicators on actuals for 2019/20.

Pavement Licences: New Legislation and Delegation of Powers

(Pages 437 - 444)

To consider a report of the Group Manager for Public Health and
2

Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel

Tel: 01884 234229

Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk

This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk



http://www.middevon.gov.uk/

Regulatory Services with regard to the Business and Planning Bill.

12. Notification of Key Decisions (Pages 445 - 454)
To note the contents of the Forward Plan.

13. 3 Rivers Developments Ltd Feedback from Scrutiny & Audit (Pages
455 - 460)
To consider a report of the Chief Executive with regard to the feedback
received from the Scrutiny and Audit Committees as requested by the
Cabinet at its meeting on 11 June 2020.

Stephen Walford
Chief Executive
Wednesday, 1 July 2020

Covid-19 and meetings

The Council will be holding some meetings in the next few weeks, but these will
not be in person at Phoenix House until the Covid-19 crisis eases. Instead, the
meetings will be held remotely via Zoom and you will be able to join these
meetings via the internet. Please see the instructions on each agenda and
read the Protocol on Remote Meetings before you join.

If you want to ask a question or speak, email your full name to
Committee@middevon.gov.uk by no later than 4pm on the day before the
meeting. This will ensure that your name is on the list to speak and will help us
ensure that you are not missed — as you can imagine, it is easier to see and
manage public speaking when everyone is physically present in the same
room. Notification in this way will ensure the meeting runs as smoothly as
possible.

If you would like a copy of the Agenda in another format (for example in large
print) please contact Sally Gabriel on:
E-Mail: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk

Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel

Tel: 01884 234229

Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk

This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk



http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2.

Mid Devon District Council - Remote Meetings Protocol
1. Introduction

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of
Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales)
Regulations permit remote attendance in Local Authority meetings.

Remote attendance is permitted as long as certain conditions are satisfied. These
include that the Member is able to hear and be heard by the other Members in
attendance. Also, being able to hear and be heard by any members of the public
entitled to attend the meeting (in line with the public participation scheme). A visual
solution is preferred, but audio is sufficient.

This also relates to members of the public attending the meeting also being heard.
The regulations are clear that a meeting is not limited to those present in the same
place, but includes electronic, digital or virtual locations (internet locations, web
addresses or conference call telephone numbers).

2. Zoom

Zoom is the system the Council will be using for the time-being to host remote /
virtual meetings. It has functionality for audio, video, and screen sharing and you
do not need to be a member of the Council or have a Zoom account to join a Zoom
meeting.

3. Access to documents

Member Services will publish the agenda and reports for committee meetings on
the Council’s website in line with usual practice. Paper copies of agendas will only
be made available to those who have previously requested this and also the Chair
of a virtual meeting.

If any other Member wishes to have a paper copy, they must notify the Member
Services before the agenda is published, so they can arrange to post directly — it
may take longer to organise printing, so as much notice as possible is appreciated.
Printed copies will not be available for inspection at the Council’s offices and this
requirement was removed by the Regulations.

4. Setting up the Meeting

This will be done by Member Services. They will send a meeting request via
Outlook which will appear in Members’ Outlook calendar. Members will receive a
URL link to click on to join the meeting.

5. Public Access

Members of the public will be able to use a weblink and standard internet browser.
This will be displayed on the front of the agenda.

v.2 12t May 2020

Page 5



6. Joining the Meeting

Councillors must join the meeting early (i.e. at least five minutes before the
scheduled start time) in order to avoid disrupting or delaying the meeting.
Councillors should remember that they may be visible and heard by others,
including the public, during this time.

7. Starting the Meeting

At the start of the meeting, the Member Services Officer will check all required
attendees are present (viewing the participant list) and that there is a quorum. If
there is no quorum, the meeting will be adjourned. This applies if, during the
meeting, it becomes inquorate for whatever reason.

The Chair will remind all Members, Officers and the Public that all microphones
will be automatically muted, unless and until they are speaking. This prevents
background noise, coughing etc. which is intrusive and disruptive during the
meeting. The Hosting Officer will enforce this and will be able to turn off participant
mics when they are not in use. Members would then need to turn their
microphones back on when they wish to speak.

8. Public Participation

Participation by members of the public will continue in line with the Council’s
current arrangements as far as is practicable. However, to ensure that the meeting
runs smoothly and that no member of the public is missed, all those who wish to
speak must register by 4pm on the day before the meeting. They should email
their full name to Committee@middevon.gov.uk. If they wish to circulate their
question in advance, that would be helpful.

At public question time, the Chair will invite the public by name to speak at the
appropriate time. At that point, all public microphones will be enabled. This means
that, to avoid private conversations being overheard, no member of the public
should speak until it is their turn and they should then refrain from speaking until
the end of public question time, when all microphones will be muted again. In the
normal way, the public should state their full name, the agenda item they wish to
speak to before they proceed with their question.

Unless they have registered, a member of the public will not be called to speak.

If a member of the public wishes to ask a question but cannot attend the meeting
for whatever reason, there is nothing to prevent them from emailing members of
the Committee with their question, views or concern in advance. However, if they
do so, it would be helpful if a copy could be sent to Committee@middevon.gov.uk
as well.

9. Declaration of Interests

Councillors should declare their interests in the usual way. A councillor with a
disclosable pecuniary interest is required to the leave the room. For remote
meetings, this means that they will be moved to a break-out room for the duration
v.2 12t May 2020

Page 6


mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk

of this item and will only be invited back into the meeting when discussion on the
relevant item has finished.

10. The Meeting and Debate
The Council will not be using the Chat function.

The Chair will call each member of the Committee to speak - the Chair can choose
to do this either by calling (i) each member in turn and continuing in this way until
no member has anything more to add, or (ii) only those members who indicate a
wish to speak using the ‘raise hand’ function within Zoom. This choice will be left
entirely to the Chair's discretion depending on how they wish to manage the
meeting and how comfortable they are using the one or the other approach.

Members are discouraged from physically raising their hand in the video to indicate
a wish to speak — it can be distracting and easily missed/misinterpreted. No
decision or outcome will be invalidated by a failure of the Chair to call a member
to speak — the remote management of meetings is intensive and it is reasonable
to expect that some requests will be inadvertently missed from time to time.

When referring to reports or making specific comments, Councillors should refer
to the report and page number, so that all Members of the Committee have a clear
understanding of what is being discussed at all times.

11. Voting

On a recommendation or motion being put to the vote, the Chair (or the Member
Services Officer) will go round the virtual room and ask each member entitled to
vote to say whether they are for or against or whether they abstain. The Member
Services Officer will announce the numerical result of the vote.

12. Meeting Etiquette Reminder

Mute your microphone — you will still be able to hear what is being said.
Only speak when invited to do so by the Chair.

Speak clearly and please state your name each time you speak

If you're referring to a specific page, mention the page number.

13. Part 2 Reports and Debate

There are times when council meetings are not open to the public, when
confidential, or “exempt” issues — as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972 — are under consideration. It is important to ensure that
there are no members of the public at remote locations able to hear or see the
proceedings during such meetings.

Any Councillor in remote attendance must ensure that there is no other person
present — a failure to do so could be in breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct.

.2 12th May 2020
Y & Page 7



If there are members of the public and press listening to the open part of the
meeting, then the Member Services Officer will, at the appropriate time, remove
them to a break-out room for the duration of that item. They can then be invited
back in when the business returns to Part 1.

Please turn off smart speakers such as Amazon Echo (Alexa), Google Home or
smart music devices. These could inadvertently record phone or video
conversations, which would not be appropriate during the consideration of
confidential items.

14. Interpretation of standing orders

Where the Chair is required to interpret the Council’s Constitution and procedural
rules in light of the requirements of remote participation, they may take advice from
the Member Services Officer or Monitoring Officer prior to making a ruling.
However, the Chair’s decision shall be final.

15. Disorderly Conduct by Members

If a Member behaves in the manner as outlined in the Constitution (persistently
ignoring or disobeying the ruling of the Chair or behaving irregularly, improperly or
offensively or deliberately obstructs the business of the meeting), any other
Member may move 'That the member named be not further heard' which, if
seconded, must be put to the vote without discussion.

If the same behaviour persists and a Motion is approved 'that the member named
do leave the meeting', then they will be removed as a participant by the Member
Services Officer.

16. Disturbance from Members of the Public

If any member of the public interrupts a meeting the Chair will warn them
accordingly. If that person continues to interrupt or disrupt proceedings the Chair
will ask the Member Services Officer to remove them as a participant from the
meeting.

17.  After the meeting

Please ensure you leave the meeting promptly by clicking on the red phone button
to hang up.

18. Technical issues

In the event that the Chair, the Hosting Officer or the Member Services Officer
identifies a problem with the systems from the Council’s side, the Chair should
declare a recess while the fault is addressed. If it is not possible to address the
fault and the meeting becomes inquorate through this fault, the meeting will be
adjourned until such time as it can be reconvened.

v.2 12t May 2020

Page 8



If the meeting was due to determine an urgent matter or one which is time-limited
and it has not been possible to continue because of technical difficulties, the Chief
Executive, Leader and relevant Cabinet Member, in consultation with the
Monitoring Officer, shall explore such other means of taking the decision as may
be permitted by the Council’s constitution.

For members of the public and press who experience problems during the course
of a meeting e.g. through internet connectivity or otherwise, the meeting will not
be suspended or adjourned.

v.2 12t May 2020

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 5.

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
MINUTES of a MEETING of the CABINET held on 11 June 2020 at 6.00 pm

Present

Councillors R M Deed (Leader)
L D Taylor, G Barnell, S J Clist,
D J Knowles, Ms E J Wainwright, A White
and Mrs N Woollatt

Also Present

Councillor(s) J Cairney, Mrs F J Colthorpe, NV Davey, Mrs C P Daw,
R J Dolley, J M Downes, R Evans, B Holdman, F W Letch,
R F Radford, Mrs M E Squires, B G J Warren, A Wilce,
J Wright and A Wyer

Also Present

Officer(s): Stephen Walford (Chief Executive), Andrew Jarrett (Deputy
Chief Executive (S151)), Jill May (Director of Corporate
Affairs and Business Transformation), Kathryn Tebbey
(Head of Legal (Monitoring Officer)), Maria De Leiburne
(Legal Services Team Leader), Deborah Sharpley
(Solicitor), Catherine Yandle (Group Manager for
Performance, Governance and Data Security), Sarah Lees
(Member Services Officer), Carole Oliphant (Member
Services Officer) and Sally Gabriel (Member Services
Manager)

183. APOLOGIES (00-03-25)
There were no apologies for absence.
184. REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL (00-03-34)
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED.
185. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (00-03-51)

The Chairman read the following questions from Nick Quinn - Local Resident.

My first question concerns: Agenda Item 6 (Performance and Risk), specifically the
Corporate Risk Management Report - Appendix 6

Against the Risk: SPV Governance Arrangements - 3 Rivers: it is stated that

“Openness and Transparency” is demonstrated by: “Regular reports to Cabinet, in
open session where possible” and the ‘effectiveness of action’ is shown as Positive.

Cabinet — 11 June 2020 Page 11 19



186.

187.

188.

However, over the last three years, not a single report by, or about, 3 Rivers has ever
been discussed by Cabinet in open session. The 3 Rivers Governance Report on
today’s Agenda looks likely to be no different.

My question is:

Since no 3 Rivers report has been discussed by Cabinet in open session for three
years — do Cabinet consider the ‘Positive’ rating is appropriate?

My second areas of concern are: Items 8 and 9 on the Agenda — Exclusion of the
Public from the discussion of the 3 Rivers Governance Report.

This company was set up, three years ago, to “support the Revenue Stream of the
Council and reduce the burden on the Council Tax payer”.

As | understand it, no income has been forthcoming - and there is currently the
likelihood of significant costs to the Council Tax payer.

There is a good deal of public interest in the operation and performance of this
company, yet the public are continually excluded from any discussion of it.

My question is:
In view of the potential impact on the Council Tax payer, and to uphold the Nolan
Principles of Accountability, Openness, Honesty and Leadership - will Cabinet please
see fit to discuss this report in open session?
In response to the questions the Chairman stated that

1. He was not going to comment at this stage and that he would approach that

when the item was discussed

2. This would be discussed at agenda item 8.
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (00-07-24)
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests when appropriate.
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (00-07-47)
The minutes of the previous meeting were approved as a correct record.
PERFORMANCE AND RISK (00-10-00)
The Cabinet had before it and NOTED a * report of the Director of Corporate Affairs
and Business Transformation providing Members with an update on the performance
against the Corporate Plan and local service targets.

Consideration was given to:

e The Corporate Plan aim to facilitate the housing growth that Mid Devon needs,
including affordable housing and the number of affordable homes delivered;

Cabinet — 11 June 2020 Page 12

20



189.

190.

The Group Manager for Performance, Governance and Data Security reported
the number of houses built in quarter 4 was 4.

e The need to move the Corporate Plan aim for reducing the carbon footprint to
the Climate Change portfolio.

e Staffing and recruitment of District Officers

e The quarterly 3 Rivers Development Limited shareholder reports and the
dates of the shareholder meetings

Note: * Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.
NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS(00-22-45)

The Cabinet had before it and NOTED its *rolling plan for July 2020 containing future
key decisions.

Note: *Plan previously circulated, copy attached to minutes

ACCESS TO INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC (00-23-
44)

Prior to considering the following item on the agenda, discussion took place as to
whether it was necessary to pass the following resolution to exclude the press and
public having reflected on Article 15 15.02(d) (a presumption in favour of openness)
of the Constitution with the following issues being raised:

e Legal advice with regard to information pertaining to individuals, financial and
business affairs and legal professional privilege

e The Cabinet were aware of the public interest in the subject

e The financial and business affairs of the company and that much of that
information was confidential or had been provided as such

e Members needed to be have a full and frank debate on the issues which
should take place in closed session

e Opportunities in the future to discuss matters in open session.

The Cabinet decided that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the
information.

It was therefore:

RESOLVED that: under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the
public be excluded from the next item of business on the grounds that it involves the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 namely information
relating to any individual; paragraph 3 respectively of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Act, namely information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding that information) and paragraph 5 namely
information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be
maintained in legal proceedings.

(Proposed by the Chairman)

Cabinet — 11 June 2020 Page 13

21



191. 3 RIVERS GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Chief Executive with regard to a review of
the governance arrangements for 3 Rivers Developments Limited.

The Leader outlined the contents of the report and a full discussion took place
including:

Continued support for the company

Directorships and appointments

Measures to protect the Council’s financial and legal interests
Governance arrangements with regard to current and future developments

Returning to open session the Cabinet:

RESOLVED that the recommendations (as amended) outlined in the report,
addressing the issues discussed, be approved.

(Proposed by the Chairman)

Note: *Report previously circulated..

(The meeting ended at 10.46 pm) CHAIRMAN

Cabinet — 11 June 2020 Page 14



Agenda Item 6.

CABINET

9™ JULY 2020

REPORT OF HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION
MID DEVON LOCAL PLAN REVIEW ADOPTION

Cabinet Member(s): Councillor Graeme Barnell, Cabinet Member for Planning
and Economic Regeneration

Responsible Officer: Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration
Reason for Report: To present the Inspector’s Report into, and recommend

the adoption of, the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 —
2033 including main modifications and additional (minor)

modifications
RECOMMENDATION:
That Cabinet
1 notes the Inspector’s Report at Appendix 3; and 2 recommends to

Council that:

(@) The Council adopts the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033
(Appendix 1), under Regulations 26 and 35 of the Town and
Country (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012, including
main modifications pursuant to section 23 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 confirmed by the Inspector in his
report (Appendix 3), and the Council’s additional (minor)
modifications (Appendix 4).

(b) The Council adopts the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033
Policies Map (Appendix 2) together with any changes needed to
this through the Inspector’s main modifications in his report
(Appendix 3) including Plan MM35 (Appendix 9), Plan MM45
(Appendix 10) and the Council’s additional (minor) modifications
(Appendix 4) as described in Section 6 to this report.

(c) The Council notes that, in accordance with Regulations 26 and 35
of the Town and Country (Local Planning)(England) Regulations
2012 the following documents will be published on the Council’s
website, and will be made available for inspection, free of charge
at the Council’s Phoenix House office during its opening times
and in local libraries in Mid Devon once this becomes possible
following a relaxation of restrictions of movement and public
gatherings currently in place due to the Covid-19 pandemic:

(1) Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 - 2033
1

Mid Devon Local Plan Reviewpg@'wéiol%oposed Main Modifications



(i)  Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 - 2033 Adoption
Statement (Appendix 5); and

(i)  Sustainability = Appraisal Report (Appendix 6) and
Sustainability Appraisal Post-Adoption Statement
(Appendix 7).

(d) The Council notes that the Adoption Statement (Appendix 5) is sent
to the Secretary of State and to any person who has asked to be
notified of the adoption of the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-
2033.

(e) The Council approves the Sustainability Appraisal Report
(Appendix 6) and the Sustainability Appraisal Post-Adoption
Statement (Appendix 7).

(f) Delegated authority is given to the Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning
and Economic Regeneration to make any typographical,
grammatical, graphical and presentational changes to the Mid
Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033 (e.g. paragraph and table
numbers) and its Policies Map to finalise the plan before it is
published, including any changes that are necessary to the Policies
Map to reflect the Devon Minerals and Waste Plans.

Financial Implications: No direct implications. However securing an up to date
development plan is vital to support wider economic and housing development. It will
be an important part of the framework that will enable Community Infrastructure Levy
and the effective operation of s106 obligations. There is funding provision for the
publication of the adopted Mid Devon Local Plan Review (hereafter referred to as the
“Local Plan Review”).

Legal Implications: Regulation 4 (amendment of Regulation 10A) of the Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017,
exercises the powers of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017, and places a requirement for a review of the
Local Plan to be completed every five years starting from the date of the adoption of
the Local Plan. Once adopted the Local Plan Review will carry full weight in the
determination of planning applications and will replace the Mid Devon Core Strategy
(July 2007), the Local Plan Part 2 (Allocations and Infrastructure DPD)(October
2010) and Local Plan Part 3 (Development Management Policies)(November 2013).

Any person aggrieved by a decision to adopt a development plan document (local
plan) may apply to the High Court on the grounds that the decision was not within
the powers of the Council or that a procedural requirement has not been complied
with — the application has to be made within 6 weeks of adoption.

Risk Assessment: The Inspector examining the Local Plan Review has made clear
in his report where main modifications are necessary in order for the plan to be made
sound, and without which the plan will be unsound. A decision not to approve all of
2
Mid Devon Local Plan Revp\éﬁéinii@ Proposed Main Modifications



the Inspector’s main modifications will mean that the Council will not be able to adopt
the Local Plan Review as without these main modifications the Local Plan Review
will be unsound and not capable of being adopted. A decision to not adopt the Local
Plan Review with the Inspector’'s main modifications would leave the Council with an
existing local plan that is out of date and which at appeal has already been found in
part to be inconsistent with the NPPF. As a consequence the district would remain
more vulnerable to speculative planning applications promoting development in
locations that the Council has not identified for sustainable growth. Non adoption
would also mean that the economic benefits of planning for sustainable growth would
be not be realised and the Council’s negotiation position in terms of the provision of
important infrastructure and affordable housing would be weakened. A decision to
not approve the Local Plan Review with the Inspector’'s main modifications would
potentially harm the Council’s reputation as a plan making authority and negate the
effort and investment in plan making since 2013.

As the Legal Implications make clear, there is a statutory right to challenge the
adoption of a local plan on certain grounds, including procedural, and it is therefore
essential that the Council gets the process of adoption correct.

Budget and Policy Framework: The adoption of the Local Plan Review forms the
final stage that will complete this round of plan making. Councils are required to keep
development plans up to date with a cycle of plan review and updates a minimum of
every five years. Budget provision is made for this statutory function with the use of
earmarked reserves. The Policy Framework consists of both statutory documents
that have to be adopted or approved by the Council as well as locally determined
policies and strategies that form an integral part of the decision making process and
their subsequent implementation. Once adopted the Local Plan Review will be added
to the Council’s policy framework.

Equality Impact Assessment: The Local Plan Review has been screened through
Equalities Impact Assessment. The Equalities Impact Assessment 2017 has been
updated through an Addendum with the assessment of the impact of the main
modifications (which are now recommended by the Inspector) in terms of the five
policy areas and the protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Impact
Assessment. Whilst the Inspector has satisfied himself with regards to his own
assessment of the Public Sector Equality Duty (s.149 of the Equality Act 2010), the
Council must also make its own final assessment at the time of a decision on
adoption of the Local Plan Review.

Relationship to Corporate Plan: Expediting the Local Plan Review is a key
corporate priority. The Local Plan Review will form the legal basis for determining
planning proposals, once it has been adopted, and as a vehicle to realise a range of
corporate priorities.

Impact on Climate Change: The Local Plan Review has been prepared within a
legal framework and national planning policy that has at its heart the principle of
sustainable development and policies to help address climate change through the
development and use of land.

3

Mid Devon Local Plan Reviewpg@'wéiolvoposed Main Modifications



1.0

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Introduction/Background
Submission of the Local Plan Review

The Mid Devon Local Plan Review Submission Version (incorporating
proposed modifications), hereafter referred to as the “Local Plan Review”, was
submitted on 315t March 2017 to the Planning Inspectorate for its examination.
This was in accordance with the decision of the Council at its meeting on 1t
December 2016 at which Council adopted the recommendations of the
preceding Cabinet meeting held on 21st November 2016. The submitted
Local Plan Review included a land allocation at Junction 27 and associated
housing sites, these having previously also been considered at meetings of
Cabinet and Council on 15th September 2016 and 22nd September 2016
respectively. These decisions were reaffirmed by the Council on 215t February
2018 (Minute 116).

Mr Paul Griffiths BSc (Hons) BArch IHBC, was appointed by the Secretary of
State as the Inspector to undertake the examination.

The appointed Inspector was charged with assessing whether the submitted
Local Plan Review is ‘sound’ under the 2012 National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) through transitional arrangements provided in paragraph
214 of the 2019 NPPF. The tests of soundness are as follows:

Positively prepared — the plan should be prepared based on a strategy
which seeks to meet objectively assessed development and infrastructure
requirements, including unmet requirements from neighbouring
authorities where it is reasonable to do so and consistent with achieving
sustainable development;

Justified — the plan should be the most appropriate strategy, when
considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate
evidence;

Effective — the plan should be deliverable over its period and based on
effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities; and

Consistent with national policy — the plan should enable the delivery of
sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the
Framework.

Examination

A detailed explanation of the examination was reported to the Cabinet at its
meeting on 215t November 2019 (item 86) and subsequent meeting of the
Council on 4" December 2019 (item 99). For the sake of brevity this is
summarised, and brought up to date, as follows:

Preliminary hearings were held on the 20" and 21t September 2018
specifically in relation to Policy J27, Policy SP2 Higher Town, Sampford
Peverell and Policy TIV16 Blundells School, Tiverton allocations. The
4
Mid Devon Local Plan Revp\éﬁéiniig Proposed Main Modifications



1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

1.11

1.12

1.13

Inspector subsequently issued his letter to the Council dated 29" October
2018, in which he made preliminary conclusions in relation to these
allocations.

Main hearings were held on the 14", 15" 19" and 20" February 2019 at
which he invited the Council and participants to respond to 49 questions.

The Inspector issued his post hearing advice note on 215t May 2019 in which
he made further preliminary conclusions and indicated where he considered
main modifications would be needed to the Local Plan Review in order for it to
be found sound. The Inspector invited the Council to undertake further work to
address his concerns in respect of certain policies, including the housing
trajectory in the early years of the plan, where remedies would be needed to
maintain a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.

In accordance with delegated authority through the Council’s approval of
Minute 41 on 29" August 2018, officers prepared and agreed with the Cabinet
Member for Planning and Economic Regeneration a Draft Housing Land
Supply Update June 2019 (Examination document reference ED20) and a
Sustainability Appraisal Implications Report (ED21).

The Inspector invited participants at hearings related to housing land supply
and Policy SP2 Higher Town, Sampford Peverell and Policy CU21 Land at
Colebrook, Cullompton to comment on the Draft Housing Land Supply Update
June 2019 and Sustainability Appraisal Implications Report. Ten
representations were received from the hearing participants (ED23) and the
Inspector invited the Council to comment on these representations (ED22).
Officers submitted a response to comments received to the Draft Housing
Land Supply Update June 2019 and Sustainability Appraisal Implications
Report to the Planning Inspectorate on 6" September 20109.

The Inspector contacted the Council on 27" September 2019 and advised
that he has “carefully considered the material contained in ED20, ED21, ED22
and ED23 and has no further questions at this stage. On that basis, the
Inspector is content for the Council to publish its draft Main Modifications for
consultation as soon as it is ready to do so."

Officers prepared a schedule of Proposed Main Modifications to the Local
Plan Review guided by the Inspector’s advice in his post hearings advice
note. This included proposed main modifications to the housing trajectory that
have previously been published and consulted on with relevant participants at
the hearings.

Officers also prepared, for the sake of completeness and transparency, a
schedule of additional (minor) modifications to the Local Plan Review. These
additional modifications are ‘minor’ since they are factual and grammatical
corrections and do not materially affect the plan’s policies or go to the heart of
the plan.

Consultant LUC undertook an assessment of the proposed Main Modifications
to the Local Plan Review for the purpose of the Sustainability Appraisal. This

5

Mid Devon Local Plan Reviewpg@'wéiollg)posed Main Modifications



1.14

1.15

1.16

1.17

1.18

2.0

2.1

2.2

is since the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations (2004) (“The SEA
Regulations”) place a legal requirement for the Local Plan Review to be
supported by a sustainability appraisal (SA). This legal requirement is an
important element of testing the “soundness” of local plans that is required by
National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 182. Consultant LUC also
screened the proposed Main Modifications for the purpose of Habitat
Regulations Assessment.

The Equalities Impact Assessment 2017 was updated following the proposed
Main Modifications.

On 4% December 2019 the Council approved proposed Main Modifications for
the purpose of public consultation, together with additional (minor)
modifications, addendum to the Sustainability Appraisal, addendum to the
Habitat Regulations Assessment and addendum to the Equalities Impact
Assessment.

On 5" December 2019 the Council wrote to the Planning Inspectorate
(Appendix 8) and formally requested that the Inspector, under section 20(7(c)
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, recommend main
modifications to the Local Plan Review in order for it to be made sound and
legally compliant.

Public consultation on the Council’s proposed Main Modifications, additional
(minor) modifications, addendum to the Sustainability Appraisal, addendum to
the Habitat Regulations Assessment and addendum to the Equalities Impact
Assessment took place over a 6 week period from 6" January to 17%
February 2020.

75 consultation responses were received. With the exception of the Schedule
of Additional (Minor) Modifications and consultation responses received on
these (which are not before the Inspector for consideration), the schedule of
proposed Main Modifications to the Local Plan Review, the addenda to the
Sustainability Appraisal, Habitat Regulations Assessment, and the Equalities
Impact Assessment 2017, and the consultation responses received on these
were submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 28" February 2020, so that
they could be considered together with all previously submitted
documentation and documents that have formed part of the examination and
its hearings. The Council’s proposed Main Modifications were submitted to the
Planning Inspectorate without prejudice to the Inspector’s final conclusions.

The Inspector’s Report

The Inspector’s report on the examination of the Local Plan Review was
received on 26" June 2020 (see Appendix 3). This has been published as
required and is available for inspection on the Council’'s website. Receipt of
the Inspector’s report marks the completion of the examination.

The Inspector’s report states the Local Plan Review has a number of
deficiencies in respect of soundness (for reasons set out in his report) which

6
Mid Devon Local Plan Revp\éﬁéingo Proposed Main Modifications



2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

mean that he recommends non-adoption of it as submitted, in accordance
with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.

However, the Council has requested that the Inspector recommends main
modifications to make the Local Plan Review sound and capable of adoption.

The Inspector has concluded the Local Plan Review provides an
appropriate basis for the planning of the District provided that a number
of main modifications are made to it to make the Plan sound and
capable of adoption. With the inclusion of the Inspector’s recommended
main modifications the Local Plan Review satisfies the requirements of
Section 20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) and meets the criteria for soundness in the NPPF (2012).

The Inspector has also concluded that he is satisfied that where
necessary the Council has engaged constructively, actively and on an
ongoing basis in the preparation of the Local Plan Review and the Duty
to Cooperate has therefore been met.

In terms of legal compliance, the Inspector has stated: the Local Plan
Review has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Local
Development Scheme; consultation on the Local Plan Review and main
modifications was carried out in compliance with the Council’s
Statement of Community Involvement; the Sustainability Appraisal has
been carried out and is adequate and the conclusions reached in the
Sustainability Appraisal in relation to sites are reasonable ones; that an
appropriate assessment has been undertaken through the March 2015
Habitat Regulations Assessment and Addenda of August and December
2016. The Inspector has stated the Local Plan Review complies with all
other relevant legal requirements, including in the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

The Inspector’s report sets out where 55 main modifications are needed to the
Local Plan Review (see Appendix 3, pages 28 to 45).The main modifications
all concern matters that were discussed at the examination hearings and
which were subject to public consultation, together with the addenda to the
Sustainability Appraisal (SA), Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA), and the
Equalities Impact Assessment.

In some cases, where these relate to the provisions for Gypsies and
Travellers, and Junction 27 the Inspector has incorporated a slight
amendment to the detailed wording (shown in red in his report in Appendix
3) of the main modification and / or added consequential modifications where
these are necessary for consistency or clarity:

e In the Local Plan Review Policy DM7 Traveller Sites and paragraph 2.31
the Inspector has replaced the words “more favourable” with the word
“acceptable” in terms of the outcome sought for off-site provision of pitches
for Gypsies and Travellers on housing allocations. He has also made clear

7
Mid Devon Local Plan Reviewpg@@iozl?[oposed Main Modifications



2.9

2.10

3.0
3.1

that where pitches are provided off-site on housing allocations these will
be counted against the affordable housing targets for that site.

e In Policy J27 Land at Junction 27 of the M5 Motorway, the Inspector has
qualified that any planning application which includes a ‘designer outlet
shopping centre’ should be accompanied by a full Retail and Leisure
Impact Assessment by adding the words “to ensure that any potential
adverse impacts identified are addressed and mitigated”.

The Inspector has stated that none of the amendments to the detailed
wording of the main modifications significantly alters the content of the
modifications as published for consultation or undermines the participatory
processes and Sustainability Appraisal that has been undertaken.

In summary the Inspector’s main modifications are as follows:

e Main modifications to establish a proper link between the development of
housing and related infrastructure and to provide for a trajectory that
should ensure a rolling five-year supply of deliverable housing sites;

e A group of main modifications necessary to allow the Plan to properly
provide for the needs of Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Show-
People;

e Main modifications to ensure the major development proposed at Junction
27 of the M5 is brought forward in an acceptable way;

e Main modifications to deal with constraints relating to the allocation under
Policy SP2 (Higher Town, Sampford Peverell); and

e Various main modifications to ensure that development management
policies are effective and consistent with national policy.

Where the Inspector’s report recommends that main modifications are needed
to the Local Plan Review the Council must make those recommended main
modifications if it wishes to adopt the plan. The report is not binding on the
Council, but the Council may not adopt an unsound plan.

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment

During the preparation of the Local Plan Review the Council has been
required by law (Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations ['the SEA
Regulations]) to carry out a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and a Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the plan as it developed. This legal
requirement is an important element of testing the “soundness” of local plans
that is required by National Planning Policy Framework 2012 paragraph 182.
Both the SA and SEA requirements were met through a single integrated
process (referred to as SA), the method and findings of which were described

8
Mid Devon Local Plan Revp\éﬁéing? Proposed Main Modifications



3.2

3.3

3.4

4.0

4.1

5.0
5.1

in a number of SA reports published alongside the different versions of the
Local Plan Review during its development.

The SA (incorporating SEA) of the Local Plan Review was commenced by
Council with the publishing of the SA Scoping Report in July 2013. Iterative
stages of the SA were then published by the Council in 2014 SA Interim
Report, 2015 SA Proposed Submission Consultation Report, 2017 SA
Update, 2018 SA Update following an independent review of the 2017 SA
Update, 2019 SA Implications in relation to the Council’s proposed draft Main
Modifications in relation to the housing trajectory and the remedies suggested
by the Inspector and 2019 SA Addendum. All of the above documents, with
the exception of the 2019 SA Addendum, were produced in-house by the
Council. Officers have also prepared the Sustainability Appraisal Post-
Adoption Statement (Appendix 7) ready for publication. The Independent
Review of the 2017 SA Update which led to the 2018 further SA Update was
undertaken by consultant LUC. LUC also completed the 2019 SA Addendum
which presents an appraisal of Proposed Main Modifications consulted
upon and considers their implications for the SA findings report previously.

The Inspector’'s report sets out amended detailed wording and/or
consequential modifications where necessary, which have followed the
consultation on main modifications and the SA Addendum (2019). The
Inspector clearly notes that none of the amendments significantly alter the
content of the modifications as published for consultation or undermines the
participatory processes and SA that has been undertaken. Officers have
expressly considered whether, in light of the Inspector’s report and the
appraisals previously undertaken, the SA as a whole remains adequate —
officers advise that it is still adequate. Thisis set out in the Sustainability
Appraisal Post-Adoption Statement (Appendix 7).

This report recommends to Council that the Sustainability Appraisal Report
(Appendix 6) (comprising the totality of the documents described in
paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3 above taken together) and the Sustainability Appraisal
Post-Adoption Statement (Appendix 7) are approved.

Habitat Regulations Assessment

The Local Plan Review has been subject to a Habitat Regulations
Assessment that has been undertaken by consultant LUC. This has included
a report (March 2015), an addendum (August 2016) and the J27 Appropriate
Assessment Report (December 2016). Consultant LUC also screened the
proposed Main Modifications for the purpose of Habitat Regulations
Assessment. The Inspector’s slight amendments to the main modifications do
not alter the findings of the Habitat Regulations Assessment and as such no
need has been identified for the Habitat Regulations Assessment to be
updated.

Equalities Impact Assessment

The plan has been subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqlA) in
2017, and an Addendum in 2019 which was necessary following the Council’s

9
Mid Devon Local Plan Reviewpg@@iozp‘g)posed Main Modifications



5.2

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

proposed Main Modifications. The Inspector considered the EqIA as part of
the examination process. In his report the Inspector commented that:

“141. | have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality
Act 2010. This has included my consideration of several matters during the
examination including the provision of sites to meet the needs of Gypsies and
Travellers and Travelling Show-People, amongst other things.”

The EqIA has been kept under review throughout the local plan review
examination and following the receipt of the Inspector’s report. Officers are of
the view that there is nothing arising from the Inspector’s report, including in
relation Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Show-People, which fundamentally
alters the findings of that assessment or which gives rise to any concerns with
regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty in section 149 of the Equality Act
2010. Where the Inspector has recommended main modifications to the Local
Plan Review these are likely to have probable overall neutral or positive
impacts on those persons with protected characteristics.

Policies Map

The Council must maintain an adopted Policies Map which illustrates
geographically the application of policies in the Local Plan Review. A
comprehensive set of maps that together make up the Policies Map for the
Local Plan Review was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate in March 2017
for examination. Appendix 2 includes links to each of these maps.

The Inspector has made clear the Policies Map is not defined in statute as a
development plan document and so he does not have the power to
recommend main modifications to it. However, two of the published main
modifications to the Plan’s policies require further corresponding changes to
be made to the Policies Map. These further changes to the Policies Map were
published for consultation alongside the main modifications (as Plan MM35
which relates to the Cullompton Map, and Plan MM45 which relates to the
Sampford Peverell map).

When the Local Plan Review is adopted, in order to comply with the
legislation and give effect to the Local Plan Review’s policies, the Council will
need to update the submitted Policies Map to include all the changes
proposed, incorporating any necessary amendments that the Inspector has
identified in his report (Appendix 3), including Plan MM35 (Appendix 9) and
Plan MM45 (Appendix 10), and also through the Council’s additional (minor)
modifications that were consulted on and which are published in Appendix 4.

The Policies Map that was submitted for examination will be updated through
the Main Modifications and the Additional (Minor) Modifications as follows:

Main modifications:

e Update the Cullompton Map with Plan MM35 to show the settlement limit
around the site allocation CU21 Land at Colebrook (Appendix 9).

10
Mid Devon Local Plan Revp\éﬁéingﬂ] Proposed Main Modifications



6.5

7.0

7.1

7.2

7.3

e Replace the Sampford Peverell Map with Plan MM45 to show the site
allocation SP2 Higher Town, Sampford Peverell (Appendix 10).

Additional (minor) modifications:

e Update the Sampford Peverell map with additional (minor) modification AM
86 by placing the policy code SP2 on the map

e Update the Tiverton Map with additional (minor) modification AM83 to
replace the Policy code AL/TIV/9 with TIV16.

e Update the Bow Map with additional (minor) modification AM84 to extend
the settlement limit to include BO2.

e Update the Uffculme Map with additional (minor) modification AM85 to
place the Policy code UF1 on the map and the settlement limit to include
UF1 proposal.

The Policies Map will also need to be updated to reflect the Devon Minerals
and Waste Plans where necessary.

Conclusions, recommendations and next steps

The Inspector has found the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-2033 to be
sound, subject to main modifications and additional minor modifications.

The Cabinet is requested to recommend the adoption of the Mid Devon Local
Plan Review 2013-2033 to Council, together with the further
recommendations appearing at the front of this report.

If the Council resolves to adopt the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-2033,
this then becomes the Council’s adopted local plan and the previous plan is
superseded. The required steps which follow adoption will be carried out, as
set out in the report.

Contacts for more Information:

Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration 01884 234346
jclifford@middevon.gov.uk

Mr Tristan Peat, Forward Planning Team Leader 01884 234344
tpeat@middevon.gov.uk

Circulation of the Report: Cabinet Members

List of Background Papers:

Local Plan Review examination library including submission documents, evidence
base, hearing statements and examination documents, including Inspector’s post
hearings advice note(s):

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/local-plan-review-

examination/

11
Mid Devon Local Plan Reviewpg@wéiozlsoposed Main Modifications


mailto:tpeat@middevon.gov.uk
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/local-plan-review-examination/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/local-plan-review-examination/

Report to Council 4" December 2019

https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=156&MId=1217&Ver

=4

Appendices:

Appendix 1:

Appendix 2:

Appendix 3:

Appendix 4:

Appendix 5:

Appendix 6:

Appendix 7:

Appendix 8:

Appendix 9:

Appendix 10:

Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033, including the
Inspector’'s Main Modifications, and the Council’s additional
(minor) modifications

Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033 Policies Map with
any changes needed to this through main modifications and
additional (minor) modifications

Inspector’'s Report on the examination of the Mid Devon Local
Plan Review

The Council’s schedule of additional (minor) modifications

Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033 Adoption Statement
Sustainability Appraisal Report

Sustainability Appraisal Post-Adoption Statement

Council’'s request for the Inspector to recommend main
modifications

Plan MM35 CU21 Land at Colebrook Lane, Cullompton

Plan MM45 SP2 Higher Town, Sampford Peverell

12

Mid Devon Local Plan Revpﬁ@@”?@ Proposed Main Modifications


https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=156&MId=1217&Ver=4
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=156&MId=1217&Ver=4

Mid Devon Local Plan
2013 - 2033

Adoption Draft

July 2020

Page 27



Main Modifications are shown as bold underlined (additions) and beld
strikethrough (deletions). Main Modification references are shown as per Appendix

to the Inspector’s Report, indicating Inspector’'s amendment where applicable (e.g.
[MMO1] [MMO5 - as amended]).

Additional modifications are shown in italics underlined (additions) and #alies
strikethrough-(deletions). Additional modifications may be shown in bold where the
amended text is intended to be bold in standard formatting. Additional Modification

references are shown as per the published Schedule of Additional Modifications
(e.g. [AMO1]).

Please note, modifications included in the 2017 proposed submission version of the
Local Plan Review have been incorporated into the main text and as such are
shown, with all other text, in standard formatting.

Page 28



Contents

1.0
2.0
3.0

4.0
5.0

Introduction

1

Development Strategy and Strategic Policies 14

Site allocations
Tiverton

Cullompton

Crediton

Land at Junction 27
Rural areas

Managing Development

Monitoring

Page 29

50
52
69
93
102
104
119
152



1.0 Introduction

Page 30



Preparation of the Local Plan

1.1 The purpose of planning is to help achieve sustainable development. This means ensuring that providing for
the development needs of the current generation does not worsen the lives of future generations. The National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out how local councils should achieve this through the preparation of Local
Plans and decisions on planning applications, having regard to the economic, social and environmental roles of
sustainable development.

1.2 The Government requires that Local Plans are ‘sound’, meaning that they are:

. Positively prepared

. Justified

. Effective

. Consistent with national policy

1.3 The preparation of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 has been guided by national planning policy and
legislation in this respect. The plan sets out the strategic policies for development, identifies sites for housing,
employment, infrastructure and environmental protection, and provides general policies on matters such as the design
of development.

1.4 This Local Plan supersedes and replaces the following earlier plans:

. Core Strategy 2026 (adopted 2007)
. Allocations and Infrastructure Development Plan Document (adopted 2010)
. Local Plan Part 3: Development Management Policies (adopted 2013)

1.5 The Mid Devon Local Plan also forms part of the Development Plan for the district, alongside Devon County
Council’'s Waste and Minerals Local Plans.

1.6 National planning policy sets the planning framework within which the Local Plan Review has been prepared.
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was originally introduced in March 2012 and replaced multiple
national policy statements and guidance with an overarching planning policy document. The NPPF requires local
planning authorities to base local plans on adequate, up-to-date and relevant evidence about the economic, social and
environmental characteristics and prospects of the area. Assessments of and strategies for housing, employment and
other uses should be integrated, taking full account of relevant market and economic signals. In May 2014 the
Government launched web-based planning practice guidance that brought together supporting planning guidance
entirely on-line in an accessible and useable way. [AM2]

1.7 Most importantly, the NPPF applies a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. For plan-making
this means:
. Local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs of their
area;
. Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid

change, unless:

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits,
when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or

- specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted (for example,
restrictions on development affecting Sites of Special Scientific Interest, Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty, designated heritage assets or areas at risk of flooding).

Page 31



1.8 The NPPF goes on to provide national policy on all areas of planning for development, such as design,
transport, employment growth and the conservation of environmental and heritage assets. Before it can be adopted, a
Local Plan must be subject to Examination in Public. The Planning Inspector applies tests of ‘soundness’, one of
which refers to the plan’s consistency with national policy. In addition, a Local Plan must be positively prepared,
justified and effective, and the NPPF defines the meaning of these terms. Under ‘transitional arrangements’ introduced
alongside recent revisions to the NPPF, the Local Plan Review has been examined under the original 2012 version of
the NPPF. [AM3]

1.9 There is no longer a regional tier of planning policy in the form of a Regional Spatial Strategy. However, the
Heart of the South West Local Economic Partnership (HotSW) has prepared a Strategic Economic Plan which has a
bearing on strategic planning in Mid Devon.

1.10  Whilst national planning policy provides the planning framework within which a plan is to be prepared, the
document has also been prepared in accordance with a regulatory framework set down by the EU requiring that the
environmental impact of a plan be assessed. UK regulations take this a step further, requiring local planning
authorities to also consider the social and economic impact of a plan in an environmental report when a Local Plan is
submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination in Public, and subsequently adopted. Considering these three key
elements together is central to assessing the sustainability of a plan. A Sustainability Appraisal has been carried out
during the preparation of this Local Plan in order to gain an understanding of the sustainability challenges the district
faces.

1.11  Local Authorities are also required to undertake a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) of development
plans. The HRA for the Mid Devon Local Plan Review considers the impact of the Plan on European sites either
alone or in combination with other plans. European sites include Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) designated for
species and habitats and Special Protected Areas (SPAs) designed for birds. Consideration is also provided to
potential SPAs, candidate SACs, Sites of Community Importance and Ramsar sites. The HRA concludes that the
development proposed in the Local Plan alone, and in combination with other plans and projects, will not result in

adverse effects on the integrity of European Sites around Mid Devon. Heweveruncertainties-exist regarding-the

the-latest-evidence: The Sustainability Appraisal carried out during the preparation of the Local Plan has taken into
account the findings of the HRA. [AM4]

1.12  Furthermore, the Equalities Act 2010 requires Local Authorities to eliminate discrimination and promote
equality when producing a Local Plan and Policies. An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out to assess
each policy and site allocation against five policy areas which have taken into account the ‘protected characteristics’
as set out in the Equalities Act. Policies have evolved and altered throughout the Local Plan Review process to reduce
discrimination and promote equality.

1.13  The process of preparing the Local Plan and the Sustainability Appraisal has helped develop a picture of the
district, its characteristics, constraints and sustainability issues. In particular Mid Devon is defined by:

. An inland district covering an area of 352 square miles, lying between Dartmoor, Exmoor and the
Blackdown Hills

. One of the most sparsely populated local authorities in England and Wales with a high proportion of
residents living outside the three market towns of Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton

. Important transport routes cross cut the district, including the M5 motorway and A361, and the Great

Western mainline railway
. A population of 78;60606 79,800 (2013-Mid-YearEstimate2016 Devon County Council PPSA Estimates)

[AMS5]
. High house prices compared with local wage levels, resulting in low levels of affordability (in line with
a pattern which applies across the region and nationally)
. Low levels of inward commuting but high outcommuting, particularly to Exeter and Taunton

Page 32



. High and increasing levels of car ownership

. 12 Sites of Special Scientific Interest, three Local Nature Reserves, two nature reserves managed by
Devon Wildlife Trust and over 8 square kilometres of ancient woodland

. Rich historic environment including over 2000 listed buildings, 51 Conservation Areas, 49 Scheduled
Monuments, 3 registered parks and gardens and 16 locally important parks and gardens

. Small areas of social deprivation within Tiverton, Cullompton and some of the remote rural areas

1.14  These characteristics and sustainability issues, and a range of other important issues which have informed
the content of the plan, are discussed in greater detail in the accompanying Sustainability Appraisal (SA). The Local
Plan has been prepared in response to these issues, seeking to deliver development in a sustainable manner, whilst
respecting environmental limits. The SA charts this development process, reflecting how the plan has been put
together following previous consultations and the production of evidence.

Vision and Spatial Strategy
Vision

1.15 The vision (in conjunction with the and-spatial strategy) describes how the sustainable development of Mid
Devon will bring positive benefits to local communities through promoting community well-being, supporting economic
success, conserving and enhancing the area and respecting environmental limits: [AM6]

Mid Devon will be a prosperous and sustainable rural district, where individuals, families and communities can flourish
as a result of access to good quality local employment, housing and services and a clean, green, safe environment.
Local communities and private, public and voluntary organisations will work in partnership to meet social and
economic needs in ways that enhance the environment and reduce the area’s carbon footprint. High quality
development in the right places with appropriate infrastructure will bring regeneration, social and economic benefits
and enhance towns, villages and countryside while promoting sustainable use of energy and other resources and
tackling the causes and effects of climate change. The Council will use planning and related powers to:

Promote community well-being

. Diverse, inclusive communities with a vibrant mix of accessible uses and local services
. Sufficient ‘fit for purpose’, decent homes which people can afford

. Safe, healthy and crime free neighbourhoods

. Active, involved, well-educated citizens

. A good range of opportunities to travel by active and sustainable modes

. Strong town and village communities

. Green Infrastructure for personal leisure amenity space

Support sustainable economic success

. A good range of jobs in urban and rural areas

. Growth that respects Mid Devon’s relationship with Exeter and Taunton
. Profitable and expanding local businesses, attracting inward investment
. Attractive, lively and successful town centres

. Tourism and leisure enterprises that benefit the whole district

. Recognition of the role of heritage as a tourism attraction

Page 33



Conserve and enhance the area

. High quality design in new developments

. Clean air and water

. Countryside, environment and heritage assets conserved and enhanced
. Attractive countryside providing for biodiversity and employment

. Effective reuse of existing buildings

. Conservation and enhancement of protected landscapes

Respect environmental limits

. Social and environmental benefits of development are optimised
. Developments use land, energy and resources effectively

. Waste is minimised and recycling rates are high

. Public transport, walking and cycling are encouraged

. Floodplains remain undeveloped

. Renewable energy projects within environmental limits

Spatial Strategy

Overall Strategy
In order to move towards achieving the vision, development will be managed to:

. Create a prosperous economy which increases inward investment into the district

. Meet objectively assessed needs for development, guided to locations which are or can be made
sustainable, achieving a suitable balance of housing, employment, facilities and other uses within
towns, villages, neighbourhoods and rural areas

. Reduce the need to travel by car, increasing the potential of public transport, cycling and walking
. Reduce carbon emissions in support of national targets
. Promote social inclusion and reduce inequalities by enhancing access for all to employment, services
and housing
Cullompton

In the medium to long term, the market town of Cullompton will become the strategic focus of new development,
reflecting its accessibility, economic potential and environmental capacity.

Development will be targeted to:

. Provide sustainable urban extensions containing a mix of fit for purpose homes, businesses, local
shopping and other services and sustainable transport links
. Provide enhancements to the town centre through additional investment, traffic and transport

improvements and environmental enhancements to provide a significant boost to its vitality and
viability, provide for a better range of retail and other uses and a significantly improved visitor
environment

. Develop any remaining underused brownfield sites within the town

. Protect and enhance the key environmental assets including heritage, biodiversity and air quality

Other Market Towns

Page 34



The market towns of Tiverton and Crediton will be the secondary focuses of new development, in scale with their
individual infrastructures, economies, characters and constraints.

Development will be targeted to:

. Provide a sustainable mix of fit for purpose homes, businesses, shops, leisure, health, education and
many other uses, to resolve existing problems where feasible and to meet rural needs

. Protect and enhance their environmental assets including their character, biodiversity, heritage,
setting and air quality

. Develop underused and brownfield sites within the towns in preference to greenfield land or public
open spaces

. Enhance town centres as accessible, vital and viable locations for a vibrant mix of uses, and as public

transport hubs

Junction 27, M5 Motorway
Regionally significant transport infrastructure linkages and acts as a gateway to the South West Peninsula.

Development will be targeted to:

. Provide a high quality tourist and leisure focused development to meet needs identified within the
tourism study.
. Associated outlet/discounted retail floorspace to meet a regional comparison floorspace need and

deliver the tourist and leisure elements of the allocation. Safeguarding existing town centres through
planning controls.

. Ensuring enhanced linkages to Tiverton and Cullompton and the National Rail Network.
. Mitigating environmental impacts.
. Upgrading directly affected transport infrastructure.

Villages

A network of villages with sufficient services and public transport provision will be locations for limited development,
targeted to:

. Provide for housing, shops, local services, community facilities and low impact businesses, at a scale
commensurate with that of the existing village

. Avoid significantly increased travel by car

. Protect and enhance their environmental assets, including their character, biodiversity, heritage and
setting

Countryside

Development in countryside areas outside defined towns and villages, including hamlets and other small settlements,
will be targeted to:

. Meet agricultural and other rural business needs

. Promote environmental enhancement including landscape and biodiversity

. Encourage appropriate economic diversification to support the rural economy
. Provide infrastructure to meet the needs of the community

1.16  The Council has considered what strategic approaches are available to meet the vision for sustainable
development which has been carried forward from the previous Core Strategy and which continues to reflect the

6

Page 35



national policy provisions for sustainable development. In particular, the NPPF requires that councils make significant
efforts to meet the objectively assessed development needs for their area in their Local Plans. Environmental
constraints at Tiverton and Crediton mean that a new approach to the strategic distribution of development is required
in this Local Plan Review. Some provision in the more sustainable villages is now proposed, but a wider distribution of
housing in these smaller settlements risks significant increases in unsustainable travel. The possibility of a new
settlement in the vicinity of Willand was examined but found to be both inappropriate and likely to be unachievable.
Cullompton has more limited environmental constraints than the other market towns and long term growth potential to
the east of the town. Cullompton Town Council is supportive of increased growth rates, reflecting the importance they
attach to the economic renaissance of the town and in particular the town centre. Given these constraints, and the
lack of feasibility of a new settlement led approach to strategic growth, Cullompton is the appropriate long term focus
of the district’s growth. The Council understands significant potential infrastructure constraints to this growth will need
to be overcome, but by providing certainty to the long term planning policy of the area, the Council will be in a position
to work towards overcoming these constraints. Further details are set out in strategic policy S11 Cullompton and in
the Cullompton section of Chapter 3.0, Site Allocations.

Neighbourhood planning

1.17  The Localism Act 2011 devolved planning powers to local communities. A town or parish council designated
as a neighbourhood forum can produce a neighbourhood plan, neighbourhood development order or community right
to build order.

1.18 A neighbourhood plan must be consistent with the strategic planning policies of the district council, national
planning policy and human rights legislation. A Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment may
also be required. The plan is then subject to independent examination and a referendum. If it succeeds at
referendum, a neighbourhood plan becomes part of the Mid Devon Development Plan and a statutory consideration in
planning decisions.

1.19 Depending on its scope, the preparation of a neighbourhood plan can be a complex and time-consuming
process, requiring a certain amount of technical expertise. The Council will support local communities wishing to
pursue neighbourhood planning. Cullompton, Crediton, Silverton and Tiverton/Halberton were the first to initiate
neighbourhood planning in Mid Devon. [AM7]

1.20  More information on neighbourhood planning and other community rights can be found on the Mid Devon
website.

Superseded policies

1.21  The Local Plan Review replaces and supersedes the policies of the previous Local Plan that was adopted in
three parts: The Core Strategy 2026 (Local Plan Part 1) adopted in 2007, the Allocations and Infrastructure
Development Plan Document (AIDPD) (Local Plan Part 2) adopted in 2010 and the Local Plan Part 3: Development
Management Policies, adopted in 2013.

2007 Core Subject Notes
Strategy Policy

COR1 Sustainable Communities Replaced by:
S1 Sustainable development priorities

COR2 Local Distinctiveness Replaced by: S9 Environment

COR3 Meeting Housing Needs Replaced by: S3 Meeting housing needs

Page 36



COR4 Meeting Employment Needs Replaced by: S6 Employment
CORS5 Climate Change Replaced by: S9 Environment
CORG6 Town Centres Replaced by: S7 Town centres
COR7 Previously Developed Land Replaced by: S9 Environment
CORS8 Infrastructure Provision Replaced by: S8 Infrastructure
COR9 Access Replaced by: S8 Infrastructure
COR10 Strategic Transport Networks Deleted: Unnecessary
COR11 Flooding Replaced by: S9 Environment
COR12 Development Focus Replaced by: S2 Amount and distribution of
development
COR13 Tiverton Replaced by: S10 Tiverton
COR14 Cullompton Replaced by: S11 Cullompton
COR15 Crediton Replaced by: S12 Crediton
COR16 Bampton Deleted: Bampton has been re-classified
as a village
COR17 Villages Replaced by: S13: Villages
COR18 Countryside Replaced by: S14 Countryside
Table 1: Schedule of 2007 Core Strategy 2026 policies

2010 Subject Notes
AIDPD
AL/DE/1 Housing Plan, Monitor and Manage Replaced by:

S4 Ensuring housing delivery
AL/DE/2 Overall Affordable Housing Provision Replaced by:

S3 Meeting housing needs
AL/DE/3 Affordable Housing Site Target Replaced by:

S3 Meeting housing needs
AL/DE/4 Occupation of Affordable Housing Replaced by:

S3 Meeting housing needs
AL/DE/5 Inclusive Design and Layout Replaced by:

S1 Sustainable development priorities
AL/DE/6 Exceptions Policy Replaced by:

DM6 Rural exceptions sites
AL/DE/7 Gypsy and Traveller Provision Replaced by: DM7

Gypsy and traveller accommodation

Page 37




AL/DE/8

Public Gypsy and Travellers Provision

Deleted: No equivalent policy

AL/IN/1 Community Infrastructure Levy Deleted: Now set out in
Community Infrastructure Levy Charging
Schedule and supporting documentation
prepared alongside the Local Plan Review
AL/IN/2 Development Without Community Deleted: Now set out in
Infrastructure Levy Community Infrastructure Levy Charging
Schedule and supporting documentation
prepared alongside the Local Plan Review
AL/IN/3 Public Open Space Replaced by: S5 Public open space
AL/IN/4 Green Infrastructure Replaced by: S9 Environment; DM26
Green infrastructure in major development
AL/IN/5 Education Provision Replaced by: S8 Infrastructure
AL/IN/6 Carbon Footprint Reduction Deleted: National policy moving away from
delivery of on-site renewables to energy efficiency
improvements delivered through the Building
Regulations
AL/MO/1 Monitoring Deleted: Section 5.0 of the Local Plan Review
focuses on Monitoring
AL/TIV/1 Eastern Urban Extension Replaced by:
TIV1 Eastern Urban Extension
AL/TIV/2 Eastern Urban Extension Transport Replaced by: TIV2 Eastern Urban Extension
Provision Transport Provision
AL/TIV/3 Eastern Urban Extension Environmental Replaced by: TIV3 Eastern Urban Extension
Protection & Green Infrastructure Environmental Protection and Green Infrastructure
AL/TIV/4 Eastern Urban Extension Community Replaced by: TIV4 Eastern Urban Extension
Facilities Community Facilities
AL/TIV/S Eastern Urban Extension Carbon Deleted: Covered by Development Management
Reduction & Air Quality policies on renewable energy, air quality and
transport and pollution
AL/TIV/6 Eastern Urban Extension Phasing Replaced by: TIV5 Eastern Urban Extension
Phasing
AL/TIVI7 Eastern Urban Extension Masterplanning Replaced by: TIV1 Eastern Urban Extension
AL/TIV/8 Farleigh Meadows Replaced by: TIV6 Farleigh Meadows
AL/TIV/9 BlundelisBlundell’s School Replaced by: TIV16
AL/TIV/10 | Howden Court Replaced by: TIV9 Howden Court
AL/TIV/11 | Belmont Hospital, Belmont Road Deleted: Site permitted and under construction.
AL/TIV/12 | St Andrew Street Replaced by: TIV7 Town Hall/St Andrew Street
AL/TIV/13 | William Street Deleted: Part of site is complete. Remainder is

not considered deliverable.

Page 38




AL/TIVI14

Palmerston Park

Replaced by: TIV11 Palmerston Park

AL/TIV/15 | BlundellsBlundell’'s Garage, Station Road Deleted: Site permitted and built out.
AL/TIV/16 | Roundhill Replaced by: TIV10 Roundhill
AL/TIV/17 | Hay Park, Canal Hill Deleted: Concerns over deliverability. Within
settlement limit therefore not necessary to remain
allocated to come forward.
AL/TIV/18 | The Avenue Deleted: Concerns over deliverability. Part of site
now has planning permission for one dwelling.
AL/TIV/19 | Phoenix Lane Replaced by: TIV12 Phoenix Lane
AL/TIV/20 | Bampton Street Deleted: Site has not come forward since
allocation. Economic advice suggests unlikely
that more than one town centre regeneration
scheme to be likely to happen during plan period.
AL/TIV/21 | Tidcombe Hall Replaced by: TIV13 Tidcombe Hall
AL/CuU/1 North West Cullompton Replaced by: CU1 North West Cullompton
AL/CU/2 North West Cullompton Transport Replaced by: CU2 North West Cullompton
Provision Transport Provision
AL/CU/3 North West Cullompton Environmental Replaced by: CU3 North West Cullompton
Protection & Green Infrastructure Environmental Protection and Green Infrastructure
AL/CU/4 North West Cullompton Community Replaced by: CU4 North West Cullompton
Facilities Community Facilities
AL/CU/5 North West Cullompton Carbon Reduction | Replaced by: CU5 North West Cullompton
& Air Quality Carbon Reduction and Air Quality
AL/CU/6 North West Cullompton Phasing Replaced by: CU6 North West Cullompton
Phasing
AL/CU/7 Masterplanning Replaced in part by: CU1 North West Cullompton
AL/CU/8 Knowle Lane Replaced by: CU13 Knowle Lane
AL/CU/9 Court Farm Deleted: Majority of site permitted and built out.
Remainder within settlement limit and does not
need to be allocated to come forward.
AL/CU/10 Padbrook Farm Deleted: Site permitted and built out.
AL/CU/11 Exeter Road Replaced by: CU15 Land at Exeter Road
AL/CU/12 Lower Bull Ring Deleted: Site permitted and built out.
AL/CU/13 | Week Farm Replaced by: CU17 Week Farm
AL/CU/14 Eastern Relief Road Replaced by: CU19 Town Centre Relief Road
AL/CU/15 | Cullompton Air Quality Replaced in part by: S11 Cullompton
Also, each site allocation within Cullompton is
requiresd in their policy to have a transport
10

Page 39




assessment and implement a travel plan to
minimise the carbon footprint and air quality

impacts

AL/CU/16 M5 Junction 28 Replaced in part by: CU20 Cullompton
Infrastructure

AL/CU/17 | Town Centre Enhancement Replaced in part by: CU20 Cullompton
Infrastructure

AL/CU/18 Enhanced Walking and Cycling Route Replaced by: CU8 East Cullompton Transport
Provision

AL/CU/19 Railway Station Car Park Replaced in part by: CU20 Cullompton
Infrastructure

AL/CU/20 | Colebrook Replaced by: CU21 Land at Colebrook

AL/CRE/1 | Wellparks Replaced by: CRE1 Wellparks

AL/CRE/2 | Red Hill Cross, Exhibition Road Replaced by: CRE2 Red Hill Cross, Exhibition
Road

AL/CRE/3 | Cromwells Avenue Replaced by: CRE3 Cromwells Meadow

AL/CRE/4 | George Hill Deleted: Site permitted and built out.

AL/CRE/5 | The Bike Shed, High Street Deleted: Site no longer available.

AL/CRE/6 | The Woods Group, Exeter Road Replaced by: CRE4 Woods Group, Exeter Road

AL/CRE/7 | Wellparks A377 Replaced by: CRE1 Wellparks

AL/CRE/8 | Crediton Air Quality Replaced in part by: S12 Crediton
CRE11 Crediton Infrastructure

AL/CRE/9 | Crediton Link Road Deleted: Crediton Link Road has been
completed.

AL/CRE/1 | Exhibition Road Deleted: School no longer proposes to move to

0 single site.

AL/CRE/1 | Cemeteries Replaced by: CRE2 Red Hill Cross, Exhibition

1 Road

AL/CRE/1 | Pedlerspool, Exhibition Road Replaced by: CRES5 Pedlerspool, Exhibition Road

2

AL/BA/1 Bampton, School Close Replaced by: BA4 School Close, Bampton

AL/BA/2 Bampton, Bourchier Close Deleted: Site no longer required in accordance
with the strategy for Bampton.

AL/BA/3 Bampton, Ashleigh Park Replaced by: BA3 Ashleigh Park, Bampton

AL/BA/4 Bampton, Newton Square Replaced by: BA1 Newton Square, Bampton

AL/BO/1 Bow, West of Godfrey Gardens Replaced by: BO2 West of Godfrey Gardens,
Bow

11

Page 40




AL/BO/2 Bow, South of Iter Cross Deleted: No evidence of demand for employment
allocation. Long-term protection of the allocation
would be contrary to paragraph-22-of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

AL/BO/3 Bow, South West of Junction Road Deleted: No evidence of demand for employment
allocation. Long-term protection of the allocation
would be contrary to paragraph-22-of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

AL/CO/1 Copplestone, Land off Bassett’'s Close Deleted: Site not considered deliverable.

AL/CL/1 Culmstock, Linhay Close Replaced by: CL1 Linhay Close, Culmstock

AL/CL/2 Culmstock, Hunters Hill Replaced by: CL2 Hunter’s Hill, Culmstock

AL/KE/1 Kentisbeare, South East of Village Hall Deleted: No evidence of demand for employment
in this location. Site has not come forward since
allocated.

AL/MB/1 Morchard Bishop, Greenaway Replaced by: MO1 Greenaway, Morchard Bishop

AL/SA/1 Sandford, South of Village Hall Replaced by: SA1 Fanny’s Lane, Sandford

AL/WI/1 Willand, Willand Moor Deleted: Site has not come forward since
allocation. Alternative allocation within the village
included in Local Plan Review.

AL/WI/2 Willand, West of B3181 Replaced by: WI1 Land East of M5, Willand

2013 Local Plan Part 3

Table 2: Schedule of 2010 Allocations and Infrastructure Development Plan Document policies

Subject

Notes

DM1 Presumption in favour of Deleted: Inclusion of ‘model’ policy no longer
sustainable development required by the Planning Inspectorate
DM2 High quality design Replaced by: DM1 High quality design
DM3 Sustainable design Deleted: Government guidance states energy
efficiency improvements in buildings to be
delivered through Building Regulations.
Superseded need for policy.
DM4 Waste Management Deleted: Policy now included within Devon
County Waste Plan 2014.
DM5 Renewable and low carbon Replaced by: DM2 Renewable and low carbon
energy energy
DM6 Transport and air quality Replaced by: DM3 Transport and air quality
DM7 Pollution Replaced by: DM4: Pollution
DM8 Parking Replaced by: DM5 Parking
DM9 Cross subsidy of affordable Replaced by: DM6 Rural exception sites
housing on exception sites
DM10 Rural workers dwellings Replaced by: DM8 Rural workers’ dwellings
12

Page 41




DM11 Conversion of rural buildings Replaced by: DM9 Conversion of rural
buildings
DM12 Replacement dwellings in rural Replaced by: DM10 Replacement dwellings in
areas rural areas
DM13 Residential extensions and Replaced by: DM11 Residential extensions
ancillary development and ancillary development
DM14 Design of housing Replaced in part by: DM1 High quality design
DM15 Dwelling sizes Replaced-by-bMI2-Housing-Standards
Replaced in part by: DM1 High quality design
DM16 Town centre development Replaced by: DM14 Town centre development
DM17 Development outside town Replaced by: DM15 Development outside
centres town centres
DM18 Front of shops and business Replaced by: DM16 Front of shops and
premises business premises
DM19 Rural shopping Replaced by: DM17 Rural shopping
DM20 Rural employment development Replaced by: DM18 Rural employment
development
DM21 Protection of employment land Replaced by: DM19 Protection of employment
land
DM22 Agricultural development Replaced by: DM20 Agricultural development
DM23 Equestrian development Replaced by: DM21 Equestrian development
DM24 Tourism and leisure development | Replaced by: DM22 Tourism and leisure
development
DM25 Community facilities Replaced by: DM23 Community facilities
DM26 Protection of recreational land Replaced by: DM24 Protection of Local Green
and buildings Space and recreational land/buildings
DM27 Development affecting heritage Replaced by: DM25 Development affecting
assets heritage assets
DM28 Green infrastructure in major Replaced by: DM26 Green infrastructure in
development major development
DM29 Protected landscapes Replaced by: DM27 Protected landscapes
DM30 Other protected sites Replaced by: DM28 Other protected sites
DM31 Planning enforcement Replaced by: DM39 Planning enforcement
BA1l Bampton Stone Crushing Works | Replaced by: BA2 Stone Crushing Works
(Scott’s Quarry), Bampton
wil Willand Industrial Estate Replaced by: WI2 Willand Industrial Estate,
Willand
Table 3: 2013 Local Plan Part 3: Development Management Policies
13

Page 42

[AM9]



2.0 Development Strategy
and Strategic Policies

14

Page 43



Sustainable development principles

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to
the achievement of sustainable development.

The NPPF_(2012).-Paragraph-7-states that: “There are three distinct dimensions to sustainable development:
economic, social and environmental. These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a
number of roles: [AM10]

. an economic role — contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that
sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and innovation;
and by identifying and coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure;

. a social role — supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the supply of housing
required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by creating a high quality built environment, with
accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and
. an environmental role — contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution,
and mitigate and adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.”

The NPPF _(2012)-Paragraphs-8-and-9-clarifyies that “These roles should not be undertaken in isolation because they
are mutually dependent” and: [AM11]

Pursuing sustainable development involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and
historic environment, as well as in people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to):

. Making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;

. Moving from a net loss of biodiversity to achieving net gains for nature;

. Replacing poor design with better design;

. Improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and
. Widening the choice of high quality homes.

Therefore to achieve sustainable development, economic, social and environmental gains should be sought jointly and
simultaneously through the planning system. This Local Plan takes into account local circumstances to achieve
sustainable development in Mid Devon.

15

Page 44



Overall provision of housing and employment

2.1 The Local Plan Review sets out the levels of development required over the period 2013-2033. This takes
account of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2015), the Employment Land Review (2013) and the Retalil
Study (2012), all of which provide technical advice on the levels of need and demand for development in Mid Devon.
The documents can be viewed on the Council’s website.

Housing

2.1a  National policy requires that the Council uses its evidence (known as a Strategic Housing Market
Assessment, or SHMA) to ensure that the Local Plan meets the full, objectively assessed needs for housing, and that
planning for housing is considered over Housing Market Areas. The most recent SHMA for the Exeter Housing Market
Area (incorporating Mid Devon, along with Exeter, East Devon and Teignbridge) published 2015, sets out the
Objectively Assessed Need for Mid Devon and the remainder of the HMA.

2.1b  The SHMA sets out the housing need range for Mid Devon of 359 — 381. Further explanation is given in the
SHMA document. This Local Plan sets a housing target of 393 dwellings, above the housing need range set in the
SHMA to ensure that housing provision in the plan is consistent with the additional need arising from job creation at
Junction 27 of the M5. The SHMA concludes that there is no need for further upward adjustment to reflect market
signals or other such factors. [AM12]

2.2 7,860 dwellings are required over the plan period, equating to 393 dwellings per year. The following table
sets out the situation at 31st March 2018-2016; indicating a remaining need for about 3,512-4.924-dwellings to be
allocated. [AM13]

Local Plan requirement 7,860
Completions since 2013 1,730924
Commitments (dwellings under construction or 2,6182,012
with planning permission)

Uncommitted requirement 3,5124,924

Table 4: Housing requirement [AM14]

2.3 Across the district, this breaks down as follows:

Location Requirement Completions Commitments Remainder

(from 1 April 2013 — (at 1 April

31 March 201820616) 20182016)
Tiverton 2,358 (30%) 478261 1,275745 6051352
Cullompton 3,930 (50%) 545209 252487 3,1333,234
Crediton 786 (10%) 136107 295245 355434
Rural 786 (10%) 571347 796535 -581-96
Total 7,860 (100%) 1,730924 2,6182,012 3,56124,924

Table 5: Housing requirement by area [AM15]

16

Page 45




2.4 The Local Plan allecates-10% makes provision for 17% more housing than is required, to provide flexibility
and account for unforeseen circumstances that might prevent some sites from coming forward as expected such as
not all commitments translating into completions. The availability of land for housing, taking account of existing
commitments and allocations is set out in the following trajectory. Fhe-development-of-existing-commitments-is
forecastto-take three-yearsspread-evenly-across-thatperiod— [AM16] The development of allocated sites in Tiverton

and Crediton will diminish in the latter part of the plan period, while Cullompton’s role in meeting the district’s long-
term housing need is reflected in the town’s forecast housing delivery up to 2033. Allocations in Crediton and rural
areas will help to bolster housing supply in the first five years of the plan, allowing a sufficient lead-in period for the
larger town sites, which have more complex infrastructure and Masterplanning requirements. These trajectories
assume that housing will come forward at the earliest opportunity but it is largely the housing market that determines
housing delivery and it is possible that sites will be delivered at different times and rates from those forecast. Also,
windfall developments will continue to come forward throughout the plan period and these are not included in the
trajectories.

Overall Housing Trajectory 2013-2033
800

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

W Tiverton M Cullompton ® Crediton ™ Rural

Chart 1: Overall housing trajectory [AM17]

17

Page 46



N e I e B I IS Pl IS P e I IS S S I R e R

212l gl g5l 8l gl gl 2 8 N =l 2=l =
Location/Site Policy S QR[] R K| R[] S| RKR| KKK i
Tiverton
Eastern Urban Extension TIV1-TIV5 25 |100(100|100({100|100| 25 | 550
Howden Court TIV9 10 10
Roundhill TIV10 12 | 8 20
Phoenix Lane TIV12 4 25 | 31 60
Tidcombe Hall (contingency) TIV13 0
Blundells School TIV16 12 (25|25 |50 |50 | 38 200
Commitments 107|149(136]143|135(108|100/100{100{100| 97 1275
Completions 93|70 98|89 [128 478
Tiverton Total 93 (70|98 |89 (128]|107|149|152(180|178|183|181|138|125(200|197|100(100|100| 25 | 2593
Cullompton
NW Cullompton CU1-CU6 49 1100|100{150]150|176|100{100]|100{100{100|100]| 25 | 1350
East Cullompton CU7-Cu12 50 |125]|175(200{200]|200|200{200|200|200| 1750
Ware Park and Footlands Ccul4 25| 13 38
Colebrook Ccu21 12 (25| 25| 38 100
Commitments 91|71 |53 |25]|12 252
Completions 87 | 78 | 44 | 98 [238 545
Cullompton Total 87 |78 |44 |98 |238]|91 |71 |114|150|137|238|275|376(313|300{300[300|300|300|225| 4035
Crediton
Red Hill Cross CRE2 12 [ 50 | 50 | 23 135
Woods Group CRE4 8 8
Pedlerspool CRES 12 |125|25 (50|50 |38 200
Sports Fields CRE6 12|50 (50| 8 120
Stonewall Lane CRE7 25 | 25 50
Land at Barn Park CRE8 12| 8 20
Alexandra Close CRE9 12| 3 15
Commitments 10399 | 54 |29 | 10 295
Completions 58 13118 |17 | 12 136
Crediton Total 58 |31 |18 17|12 |103| 99|90 |65 |59 [183]|175|69|( 0 | O | O | O[O ] O] O 979
Rural sites
Newton Square BA1 5 5
Hollywell BO1 12| 8 20
Hele Road BR1 7 7
Barton CH1 12 | 8 20
Land off Church Lane CB1 12 | 8 20
Barnshill Close CF1 7 7
Linhay Close CL1 6 6
Land adj Fishers Way HA1 10 10
Greenaway MO1 12 | 8 20
Former Tiverton Parkway Hotel |[SP1 10 10
Higher Town SP2 12 | 25| 23 60
Fannys Lane SAl 8 8
Old Butterleigh Road SI1 8 8
The Garage SI2 5 5
South of Broadlands TH1 12 12
Land east of M5 wil 12 (25| 5 42
Commitments 273|242|255| 26 796
Completions 82 |137]128(100(124 571
Rural Sites Total 82 (137|128|100|124|273]|255|339|124|65| 0 | O | O[O | O | O | O] O | O | O | 1627
Total (Mid Devon - all areas) 320(316|288|304|502|574|574|695|519(439(604(631(583|438|500|497|400|400|400|250| 9234
Five year totals 1730 2801 2756 1947
Cumulative five year totals 1730 4531 7287 9234

Table 6: Housing forecast 2013 — 2033 [MMO01] / [AM18]

18

Page 47



25 The availability, suitability and achievability of the sites have been assessed during the Local Plan’s
preparation, through the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) in accordance with national policy
and guidance. The Council is therefore confident that they can and will deliver sufficient housing to meet Mid Devon’s
requirements. Delivery of housing will be monitored annually continuously with information published annually in the
Authority’s Monitoring Report each-Becember. [AM19] Where performance falls significantly below the development
targets and the Council is no longer able to demonstrate a five year supply of housing in accordance with national
policy, the Council will take action as set out in Policy S4. The Local Plan will be reviewed and new sites identified if
strategic sites in this plan fail to come forward.

2.6 The following table illustrates the requirement for five years’ supply of housing. This is adjusted annually to
take account of how many houses have been built since the beginning of the plan period (2013), with any shortfall
included in the requirement for the next five years.

A Local Plan requirement 2013-2033 7,860
B Implied annual rate 2013-2033 (A + 20) 393
C Local-Plan-requirement to-date; 2013-2016 (B-*3) 1179
Local Plan requirement to date, 2013-2018 (B * 5) 1,965
D Completions April 2013-March 201618 924
1,730
E Shortfall to date, 2013-201618 (C — D) 255
235
F Local-Planrequirement 2016-2021 (B-*5) 1,965
Local Plan requirement 2018-2023 (B * 5)
G 5 year supply requirement (E + F) 2220
2,200

Table 7: Five year housing requirement [AM20]

2.7 Over the entire plan period (2013-2033) there is provision for 17% 106% more housing than required, as
explained in paragraph 2.4. Within certain year brackets, such as 2021/22-2025/26-2023/24-2027/28 and 2026/27-
2030/31-2028/29-2032/33, this is substantially higher, as shown in the table below. The table indicates that even
applying the a 20% buffer in the short term, there is flexibility in the plan to ensure sufficient housing will come forward
for the Council to demonstrate a five year supply in accordance with national policy. [AM21]

204807 2000/01
2018/19-2022/23

2024/00 D00EDE
2023/24-2027/28

2026/27-2030/3%
2028/29-2032/33

Requirement 2,2002;220 1,3641,965 5731436
Trajectory 2,8012;651 2,7562;560 1,9471,994
Surplus 2720% 10230% 24076%

2.8 All the housing sites in the Local Plan have been subject to the Strategic Housing Land Availability
Assessment and have been deemed to be deliverable. However, the plan has to be able to deal with uncertainty,
reflecting that changes in the housing market or other circumstances may prevent allocated sites from being delivered

Housing supply in five year tranches [AM22]

at the rate the Council has forecast. The Local Plan deals with this uncertainty in three ways.

19

Page 48




Extra provision
2.9 The Local Plan makes provision for 1,374-7#4 dwellings over and above the identified requirement. [AM23]

Windfalls

2.10  Windfalls are dwellings that come forward on sites that are not allocated. Other than windfalls included in the
figures for existing committed sites (those under construction or with planning permission), the Local Plan makes no
allowance for windfalls likely to occur in the plan period. However, it is highly likely that trends in windfall development
will continue, and the Council’'s annual update of the district's housing supply will take account of windfall
developments if and when appropriate. When including windfalls, the Council will assume a minimum of 104-129
dwellings per year, which is calculated in line with the most recently published version of the Exeter housing market
area Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) methodology (April 2017)-was-accepted-by-the

[AM24]
Contingency sites

2.11  The Local Plan allocates twe-one ‘contingency sites’ for housing. Fhese-This developments will only be
permitted if housing delivery across the district falls below defined ‘action levels’ or the Council is unable to
demonstrate a five year housing supply in accordance with national policy. The release of the contingency sites will
be the Council’s preference if the supply of housing is insufficient, but proposals on other sites will also be considered
on their merits according to the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in national policy. [AM25]

Commercial development

2.12  The Local Plan sets targets for commercial development, which can include traditional employment uses (B1-
B8 use classes) such as offices, industrial development and storage and distribution, and also a range of other
commercial uses such as retail, leisure and hospitality. Site allocation policies set out the uses considered acceptable
in a certain location, but the Council maintains a flexible approach to employment development and will consider jobs
creation as a supporting factor in any proposal. Nevertheless, uncontrolled retail and some other proposals in the
wrong location can have serious adverse impacts on town centres and surrounding uses, so there will be careful
consideration of these proposals on sites not allocated for such a use.

2.13  Allocations for commercial development are consistent with the Local Plan strategy being broadly in
accordance with the housing locations for significant long-term growth in Cullompton, short-medium term growth in
Tiverton, and growth in Crediton and rural areas that is proportionate to their circumstances and environmental
constraints. The following table shows completions since 2013, existing commitments, (sites under construction and
existing planning consents) and the amount of development allocated across Mid Devon. Figures are in square metres
floorspace.

Location Completions (sgm) Commitments (sqm) | Local Plan allocations
(of which remains
unconsented)
provision (sqm)

Tiverton 4,2181;550 43,216805 37,000 (8,981)

Cullompton 9,2733;598 29,80819.669 57,000 (30,702)

Crediton 2,045520 6,8632052 9,820 (5,429)

Junction 27 0 0 42,550 (42,550)

20



Rural 30,9774:319 48,47620:733 22,355 (0)43;000

Totals 46,5139,78% 128,36343;259 168,725 (87,662)
150270

Table 9: Commercial land completions, commitments and allocations [AM26]

2.14  The Employment Land Review (2013) recommends the Council plan for 30-40 hectares employment land,
which is considered equivalent to approximately 140,000 square metres floorspace. The Retail Study (2012) identifies
a limited need for non-food retail at around 7,000 square metres. Taking this evidence into account, the Local Plan
sets a commercial development requirement of 147,000 square metres, with allocations distributed as shown in Table
9.

2.15  To provide flexibility of provision and allow for growth, the Local Plan makes provision for abeut-19% more
commercial floorspace than is required across the district’s settlements. [AM27] There is an excess of commercial
land supply in the most sustainable locations — Tiverton and Cullompton — while Crediton is more constrained due to
the limited availability of suitable land. Rural areas are often not suitable for large-scale employment growth, though
windfall development in rural areas and on existing employment sites is likely to continue, given past performance and
supportive Local Plan policies. In addition the Local Plan makes provision for a further 29% commercial floorspace at
Junction 27 for a high quality tourist and leisure focussed development to meet needs identified within the tourism
study. The allocated sites have been subject to Strategic Commercial Land Availability Assessment (SCLAA) and are
considered available, suitable and achievable. In the event that circumstances change and a site is no longer viable
for its designated use, the Council will consider alternative uses as set out in paragraph 2.12 and Policy DM19
(protection of employment land).

2.16  The following trajectory illustrates the expected annual provision of commercial development across the
district, taking account of existing commitments and allocations. The development of existing commitments is forecast
to take seven years, spread evenly across that period. This takes account of slow historic rates of commercial
development in Mid Devon. Cullompton’s role in meeting the district’s long-term development needs is shown in the
town’s forecast delivery up to 2033, while Tiverton’s commercial growth from allocated sites tails off with the
completion of the Eastern Urban Extension. The development of allocated sites in Crediton and rural areas may have
been completed by the latter part of the plan period, but it is highly likely that windfall developments will continue to
come forward.

Overall Trajectory of Commercial Development

25000

20000

15000

10000

5000

L S » >

W Tiverton ® Cullompton Crediton ®Rural ® lJunction 27

Chart 2: Overall Commercial Development trajectory

21

Page 50



Policy S1

Sustainable development priorities

22

The following strategic priorities outline what will need to be achieved to deliver the Vision and
address the key issues that have been identified in Mid Devon. All development will be expected to
support the creation of sustainable communities by:

a)

b)

c)

d)

f)

9)

h)

)

k)

A development focus at Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton as Mid Devon’s most sustainable
settlements, with long-term growth to the east of Cullompton and a limited level of development in
identified villages;

Building a strong, competitive economy through access to education, training and jobs,
infrastructure, the creation of new enterprise, economic regeneration and flexibility of uses to
respond to changing circumstances;

Ensuring the vitality of town centres and communities through a hierarchy of centres, defined
town centre shopping areas, a diverse retail offer at Tiverton, Crediton and Cullompton, through
controls on Junction 27 retail and support for the vitality and viability of defined villages;
Supporting a prosperous rural economy through the conversion of suitable existing buildings and
well-designed new buildings in suitable locations, diversification of agricultural and other land-
based businesses, support for equestrian activities, retention and development of local services
and community facilities in villages, and the promotion of sustainable rural tourism and leisure
development;

Promoting sustainable transport by delivering appropriate infrastructure, reducing the need to
travel by car, integrating public transport and other forms of sustainable travel such as walking
and cycling, and providing safe environments while recognising Mid Devon’s rural locality;
Supporting high quality communications infrastructure by supporting the expansion of
telecommunications and high speed broadband throughout Mid Devon;

Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes through a diverse housing mix and by meeting the
housing needs of all sectors of the community including the provision of accessible housing for
the elderly and disabled, those wishing to build their own home, affordable housing and gypsy
and traveller pitches;

Requiring good sustainable design that respects local character, heritage, surroundings and
materials, creates safe and accessible environments, designs out crime and establishes a strong
sense of place;

Promoting healthy communities through the delivery of social, educational, recreational and
cultural facilities and services, access to high quality open space, public rights of way,
recreational trails, and accessible land, and other green infrastructure, and opportunities for sport
and recreation and the designation of Local Green Space; [MMO02]

Meeting the challenge of climate change by supporting a low carbon future, energy efficiency,
increasing the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy, managing flood risk and
conserving natural resources. Encourage the effective use of land, taking into account the
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land;

Conserving and enhancing the natural environment by protecting and enhancing valued
landscapes including the Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Exmoor and
Dartmoor National Parks, providing accessible green infrastructure, and preventing significant
harm to soil, air, water, noise and visual quality, in particular air quality as a local issue at
Crediton and Cullompton;

Minimising impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity by recognising the wider benefits of
ecosystems, delivering natural environment objectives, providing a net gain in biodiversity and by
the protection of international, European, national and local designated wildlife sites; and

Page 51



m) Conserving and enhancing the historic environment through the identification and protection of
designated and non-designated heritage assets and assessing the impact of new development on
the historic character of Mid Devon’s landscapes and townscapes.

2.17 ltis alegal requirement that Local Plans contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. The
Council will work in partnership with town and parish councils and other public bodies to ensure that all new
development reinforces and delivers sustainable communities in line with guiding principles set out in Policy S1, which
correspond to the vision and strategy for the district.

2.18 The sustainable development priorities aim to deliver varied and vibrant places by concentrating activities and
facilities in accessible locations. The strategy aims to build a strong, competitive economy through inward investment
and deliver a wide choice of high quality homes. Development will provide or utilise accessible green infrastructure
networks including public open spaces, public rights of way, cycleways and other green linkages. Sustainable modes
of transport include walking, cycling and public transport, though it is recognised that the private car will continue to
play a significant role given the rural nature of Mid Devon. The strategy requires good design which conserves and
enhances the historic and natural environment, promotes healthy life styles and reduces pollution. The supply of
renewable energy should not be supported where it harms the special qualities of protected landscapes or their
setting.

2.19 The Council will monitor development to ensure that the Local Plan delivers sustainable development.

Policy S2

Amount and distribution of development

The diverse development needs of the community will be met through the provision of a minimum of
approximately 7,860 dwellings and 147,000 square metres of commercial floorspace between 1st April
2013 and 31st March 2033. [MMO03]

Development will be concentrated at Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton, to a scale and mix
appropriate to their individual infrastructures, economies, characters and constraints. Other
settlements will have more limited development which meets local needs and promotes vibrant rural
communities. In addition, development as proposed at Junction 27 of the M5 meets a tourism / leisure
need in alocation which is suitable for its regional role with a controlled retail element supporting the
tourism and leisure aspects of the proposal.

Development targets are approximately as follows:

Location Total Residential Total Commercial
(commitments (commitments
and allocations; and allocations;
dwellings) square metres)

Tiverton 2,358 29,400

Cullompton 3,930 73,500

Crediton 786 14,700

Rural areas 786 29,400

Total 7,860 147,000

23

Page 52



2.20 The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA, 2015) identifies the amount and type of housing that
should be provided in Mid Devon. The target for commercial development is based on the Employment Land Review
(2013) and the Retail Study (2012). Paragraphs 2.1-2.16 explain how the allocations in the Local Plan will meet the
development targets set out in Policy S2 above, while Policies S3 and S6 provide more detail on the types of housing
and employment to be delivered. A summary of the SHMA outputs on housing need is contained in paragraphs 2.1a
and 2.1b.

2.21  Central to Policy S2 is the role of Cullompton in meeting the district’'s long-term development needs. This is a
departure from historic planning strategy which focused the majority of development in Tiverton, commensurate with
the size and sub-regional role of the town. Available and suitable land for development in Tiverton has become
increasingly scarce as the town has grown, whereas the expansion of Cullompton is both achievable and supported
by the local community.

2.22  National policy advises that planning should actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible
use of public transport, walking and cycling, and focus significant development in locations which are or can be made
sustainable. The largest allocation in the Local Plan is East Cullompton (Policies CU7-CU12), which will have access
onto the M5 motorway and deliver significant improvements to highways infrastructure for the whole town. The
Council supports the reopening of a railway station at Cullompton and the Local Plan allocates a possible site for this.
Pedestrian and cycle links to the town centre will be improved, and residents will be in close proximity to job
opportunities within Cullompton and also at Willand, Tiverton and Exeter. The concurrent development of the North
West Cullompton Urban Extension will see a new road linking Tiverton Road to Willand Road, which will relieve traffic
congestion in the town centre, improving local air quality and the living conditions of residents. In addition, a new relief
road to the east of the town centre will further improve local air quality by diverting north- and south-bound traffic away
from Fore Street. Significant growth in Cullompton can be made sustainable through this investment in infrastructure,
addressing long-standing issues of air quality and motorway junction capacity. New and expanded education facilities
will also be provided within the town, to accommodate the impacts of new development.

2.23  Tiverton will continue to expand through the development of the Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension (EUE) and
a number of smaller sites. The adopted EUE Masterplan proposes up to 1,520 dwellings and 30,000 square metres
commercial floorspace, with a new junction onto the A361, a new primary school and community facilities.

2.24  Crediton is the smallest of Mid Devon’s market towns but serves a wide area in terms of employment,
education and shopping. The physical constraints of Crediton limit the options for developable sites, and there are
existing problems of traffic congestion through the town centre. Air quality should improve when following the opening
of the Crediton Link Road epens-and as a proportion of HGV and other traffic is drawn away from Exeter Road to the
Lords Meadow Industrial Estate; however but the housing target for Crediton only amounts to 10% of the district total
due to the traffic and topographical constraints that exist. [AM28]

2.25 Rural areas are expected to accommodate around 10% of the housing requirement for Mid Devon. The Local
Plan generally allocates small sites, the development of which will help to support the vitality of rural areas without
harming their character or putting undue pressure on local infrastructure. Commercial development in rural areas will
come forward on non-allocated sites according to demand, enabled by supportive general policies, but the Local Plan
also retains small employment allocations in Bampton and Willand as these sites are already permitted or well-
connected to existing commercial uses and infrastructure.

2.25a In addition to the development targets as set out in the policy above, land at Junction 27 is_allocated for
42,550 sgm of commercial floorspace to meet a tourism/leisure need in a_location suitable for its regional role with a
retail element supporting the tourism and leisure aspects of the proposal. This will provide a high quality tourist and
leisure focussed development to meet needs identified within the tourism study.

24

Page 53



Housing

Policy S3

Meeting housing needs

a) Thediverse housing needs of Mid Devon will be met through the provision of a minimum of
approximately-7,860 dwellings between 1st April 2013 and 31st March 2033. In line with the
predicted continuing need for new housing the expected annual rate of new housing development
will be 393 dwellings per annum; [MMO04]

b) Unless otherwise stated in a site allocation policy, on open market housing sites (i.e. excluding
exception sites provided under Rural Exception Sites under policy DM6) of 11 dwellings or more
in Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton a target of 28% affordable dwellings, and on sites elsewhere
of 6 dwellings or more a target of 30% affordable dwellings will be applied to the total number of
dwellings, depending on viability and providing a mix of dwelling sizes and types appropriate to
the evolving needs of Mid Devon’s population. Sites of between 6 — 10 dwellings outside
Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton will be permitted to make a financial contribution sufficient to
provide the affordable dwellings in another location;

¢) To support self-build and custom dwellings meeting the needs of local communities, such
dwellings will be permitted as affordable housing in locations outside settlement limits in
accordance with Policy DM6;

d) To support self-build and custom housing on sites of 20 dwellings or more developers will supply
at least 5% of serviced dwelling plots for sale to self- builders for a period of 12 months per plot
and any plots subsequently developed for self-build must be completed within 3 years of
purchase by a self-builder; and

e) Afive year supply of gypsy and traveller pitches will be allocated on deliverable sites within Mid
Devon to ensure that the predicted need for traveller sites will be met. A further supply of
developable sites or broad locations for growth will be identified equivalent to a further ten years
of predicted growth. The Housing Authority will seek to provide a public site for gypsy and
traveller pitches within Mid Devon, subject to the availability of funding.

2.26  Asrecognised in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012) “every effort should be made
objectively to identify and then meet the housing needs....of an area”. [AM29] To do this the Council has
commissioned a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) in conjunction with other Councils to establish the
level and types of housing need in Mid Devon. ‘Objectively Assessed Need’ (OAN) is determined by examining
demographic projections, jobs-led population forecasts and market signals which may affect housing need. The SHMA
concludes that Mid Devon’s housing need falls between 359 and 381 dwellings per year. This Local Plan sets a
housing target of 393 dwellings, above the housing need range set in the SHMA to ensure that housing provision in
the plan is consistent with the additional need arising from job creation at Junction 27 of the M5.

2.27  The Council's Corporate Plan aims to *facilitate the housing growth that Mid Devon needs, including
affordable housing” and “ensure good design and quality of new housing and associated environment”. has—Better

bl “

need for affordable housing has been established by the Strategic Market Housing Assessment (SHMA). The SHMA

concluded that 124 units of affordable housing are needed per year to meet existing—backlog”need-and future needs
arising in the district. This is equivalent to about 30% of the total housing need for Mid Devon. This is reflected in the
affordable housing policy which requires development to meet this need by providing a proportion of dwellings as

25

Page 54



affordable on sites above the threshold. Additional affordable housing will also continue to come forward as windfalls

resulting from Homes England Homes-and-Communities-Ageney investment, exception sites and delivery of housing
on Council-owned land. [AM30]

2.28 The application of the affordable housing policy is anticipated to deliver over 2,000 affordable dwellings across
the plan period, equating to approximately 30% of total housing supply. However it is recognised that the level of
supply is unlikely to meet the anticipated need as not all allocations will come forward or others may be developed
with a lower housing number than specified in the policy. Furthermore, the Council has to consider the implications of
meeting the need on the viability of new housing development. Viability assessment work undertaken for the Council
in relation to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has established that for the targets of 30% in rural areas and a
target in the towns of 28% CIL charges of £60 and £40 respectively are viable. However, as affordable housing is
secured through planning obligations rather than CIL, the proportion to be provided onsite is negotiable and the
Council may accept financial contributions in lieu of onsite provision, which can result in a lower level of affordable
housing delivery than anticipated. Setting the affordable housing targets at the level proposed is therefore considered
an appropriate balance between meeting the majority of the need within the district, whilst ensuring the delivery of
other important elements such as infrastructure, essential to achieve sustainable development over the plan period to
2033.

2.29 The SHMA forecasts a significant increase in Mid Devon’s older population. Given the resource demands
associated with very elderly people, such as specially adapted bathrooms and the need for lifts, this is a significant
figure. Care homes or retirement complexes will be provided through the development of strategic site allocations and
other sites as they come forward. Pelicy-B i ' i j ; o-be

| HADRay A | : : iers- [AM31] The Building
Regulations will also ensure that new housing meets certain requirements for adaptability and an ageing population.
As a result, there is no need for a specific policy target related to housing for older people.

2.30 The Government is supporting the delivery of larger numbers of self-build and custom homes through such
measures as exempting such housing from the payment of CIL. For the purposes of CIL exemption, ‘self-build’ is
defined as all homes built or commissioned by individuals or groups of individuals for their own use. The definition
used in the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 is included in the glossary. Local evidence suggests that
there is a demand for such housing in Mid Devon in that approximately 2,000 people search online for self-build plots
every year in Mid Devon and the Council’s Citizen’s Panel Survey (2013) shows that 12% of respondents were
considering building their own home. Policy S3 therefore includes a requirement for 5% of plots on sites of 20 houses
or more to be made available for purchase by self-builders. The self-build element will form part of the market
dwellings available on the site, with the percentage applied to the total number of properties on a site. For example, a
site of 100 dwellings, where a policy of 25% affordable housing applies, will provide 25 affordable dwellings and 75
dwellings for sale on the open market, of which 5 of the latter would need to be provided as plots for self-build. Such
plots will be marketed for a period of 12 months before being returned to the builder’s control. The self-build property
needs to be lived in as the owner’s principal residence for 3 years, as this is a condition of the exemption from CIL
liability.

2.31 As setoutin the Government statement ‘Planning policy for traveller sites’ the government’s aim is to ensure
fair and equal treatment for gypsies and travellers in a way that facilitates the traditional and nomadic way of life of
travellers while respecting the interests of the settled community. To achieve this aim the statement indicates that
working collaboratively local planning authorities should make their own assessment of need for traveller sites and
identify a five year supply of deliverable sites with a further ten year supply of developable sites or broad locations for
growth on top of this. As a result a group of Councils within Devon commissioned a Gypsy and Traveller
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) to ascertain the need for gypsy, traveller and travelling showpeople pitch or plot
requirements. This study indicated that between 2014-34 within Mid Devon there is a need for 35 pitches for gypsies
and travellers and 11 plots for travelling showpeople. The need for gypsy and traveller pitches will be accommodated
by pitches within larger housing sites, for example at Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension, North West Cullompton, East
Cullompton and Pedlerspool in Crediton. The Council’s preferred approach is for on-site provision as part of
larger housing proposals TIV1, CU1, CU7 and CRES. Provision off-site will only be accepted where it is
demonstrated that provision on a different site would achieve an acceptable -merefaveurable-outcome for

26
Page 55




Gypsies and Travellers as described in Policy DM7. Where such an merefaveurable-acceptable outcome can
be demonstrated, off-site provision must meet the requirements of Policy DM7, and a mechanism must be put
in place to ensure that the pitches are delivered. This will usually be through a s106 agreement requiring the
developer to identify and obtain planning permission (which will not be unreasonably withheld by the
Council) for the required number and standard of pitches. The pitches will be provided by the development
itself or where the land is transferred for a nominal value, by an agreed third party Registered Provider or
other agreed private provider, for the sole purpose of occupation and ancillary business by Gypsies and
Travellers. The off-site provision of pitches must be provided and available for occupation before the
occupation of a specified proportion of on-site open market dwellings as part of the larger housing proposal
at TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRES. Where the off-site provision of pitches generates additional infrastructure needs,
developers of the larger housing proposal at TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRES will be expected to contribute fairly

towards the cost in accordance with Policies S8 and DM7 of this Plan. Fhe Councilis-working-with-the

developmentofspecificsites. [MMO5 — as amended]

Policy S4

Ensuring housing delivery

The local planning authority will monitor the delivery of housing against the annual target set out in
Policy S3 and against the total completions which should have taken place since the start of the Local
Plan period. Cumulative dwelling completions since 1st April 2013 will be compared with the
following defined action levels:

Year Action Levels Cumulative Target
(1st April - 31st March)

2013/14 0 393
2014/15 0 786
2015/16 393 1179
2016/17 786 1572
2017/18 1179 1965
2018/19 1572 2358
2019/20 1965 2751
2020/21 2358 3144
2021/22 2751 3537
2022/23 3144 3930
2023/24 3537 4323
2024/25 3930 4716
2025/26 4323 5109
2026/27 4716 5502
27

Page 56



2027/28 5109 5895
2028/29 5502 6288
2029/30 5895 6681
2030/31 6288 7074
2031/32 6681 7467
2032/33 7074 7860

If cumulative completions since 2013 fall below the expected completions total by over two years’ worth of

the annual target (as expressed in the defined action level for that year), or a five year supply of deliverable

sites cannot be demonstrated, the Council will work proactively to bring forward allocations or outstanding

planning consents. If this is insufficient to deliver the necessary level of housing, an identified contingency
sites will be permitted to boost housing supply. [AM32]

2.32  To ensure that Mid Devon can deliver the level of housing development required to meet identified housing
need there needs to be a mechanism that will allow further sites to come forward if for any reason the expected level
of delivery falls significantly below the annual target set out under Policy S3. If housing delivery falls below the action
level this will be addressed through proactive development management to bring forward allocated and permitted
sites, and then through the release of a deliverable contingency sites. However, there will be variation of delivery
across the years so it is important that the action level when the designated contingency sites will come forward will
not trigger their its release in response to normal variations in completions. The trigger level will therefore be when
delivery has fallen two years’ worth of expected annual completions behind the expected overall total for that year (i.e.
equivalent to 10% of overall plan housing need). [AM33]

2.33  The National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning authorities ensure that there is a supply of
specific deliverable housing sites with a capacity equivalent to 105% e of five years’ worth of the annual housing
target. The Local Plan proposals are designed to ensure that a five year supply of housing land is and remains
available through the plan period, from existing permissions and allocations. However, should the Council at any time
be unable to demonstrate a five year housing supply, it -will prioritise actions to overcome constraints to the
development of permitted or allocated sites. If that is insufficient or will not deal with the issue quickly enough, the
Council will permit the development of ere-er-mere-ofthe a contingency sites in order to boost short term housing
supply. The Council will monitor the level of housing supply through its Authority’s Monitoring Report and instigate an
early review of the Local Plan to identify further sites if necessary. [AM34]

28

Page 57



Policy S5

Public open space

Within the parish boundaries of Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton and the parishes containing
villages defined in Policy S13, the following standards for the provision of high quality open space will

be applied:

Type of open space

Quantity standard
(square metres per
dwelling)

Access standard

Allotments

6

300 metres or 6-7 minutes’ walk time

Amenity green space

23.5

300 metres or 6-7 minutes’ walk time

Parks, sport and
recreation grounds

35include both
public and private
grounds (excluding
education sites)

600 metres or 12-13 minutes’
walk time

Play space (children)

15

300 metres or 6-7 minutes’ walk time

Youth space
(teenagers)

0.5

600 metres or 12-13 minutes’
walk time

In all other parishes, the following standards for the provision of open space will be applied:

Type of open space

Quantity standard
(square metres per
dwelling)

Access standard

Allotments

6 (for new provision)

600 metres or 12-13
minutes’ walk time

Recreation space

28 to include both
public and private
grounds (excluding
education sites)

600 metres or 12-13
minutes’ walk time

Play space
(children and youth)

1

600 metres or 12-13
minutes’ walk time

Developments of 11 or more dwellings within the parishes of Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton, and
6 or more dwellings elsewhere, will provide open space onsite or through offsite financial

contributions, as follows:

Type of provision Up to 49 50-199 200+
dwellings dwellings dwellings
Play space Offsite Onsite Onsite
Amenity/natural green Offsite Onsite Onsite
space
Allotments Offsite Onsite Onsite
29

Page 58




Park, sport and recreation | Offsite Offsite Onsite
ground

Teenage facilities Offsite Offsite Onsite

2.34  Access to public open space including sports facilities is an essential element of healthy communities and
national policy promotes such provision. To this end the Council has undertaken an Open Space and Play Area Study
(2014) to identify the level of supply across Mid Devon and the gaps in open space provision. This results in the above
standards, which aim to maintain the current level of provision per person as Mid Devon’s population increases, and to
increase the provision for teenage facilities which has been identified as a particular area of open space deficiency.
Teenage facilities might include skateboard parks, basketball courts and ‘free access’ Multi Use Games Areas
(MUGAS). In practice, there will always be some flexibility of use where younger children use equipment designed for
youths and vice versa.

2.35 The types of applicable public open space are set out in the policy. For the purposes of this policy, other
spaces such as grass verges, tree-lined avenues and sustainable urban drainage schemes are not classed as public
open space. The standards are applied to development proposals according to the average size of households in Mid
Devon (2.35 people).

2.36  Onsite open space will be provided by the developer and designed in such a way as to maximise the
attractiveness, safety and overall quality of the development. The provision of larger multi-functional open space
‘hubs’ is considered preferable to smaller fragmented open spaces across a development. The balance of onsite and
offsite provision according to site size is set out in the policy, but the Council will consider on a case-by-case basis any
proposals that seek to justify a different solution. A planning obligation will be used to control the long-term
maintenance of onsite open space through a management company.

2.37  Smaller developments (fewer than 6 dwellings in rural areas or 11 dwellings in the towns) will not be required
to provide a public open space contribution, in accordance with national guidance. Most housing developments
increase the demand for open space in the area, but a financial contribution towards a public open space project
outside the site (an offsite contribution) will be accepted according to the amount of development being proposed, as
set out in the policy. The Open Space and Play Area Strategy describes which types of housing (such as open
market, affordable or accommodation for the elderly) will be eligible for offsite provision of public open space. The
Council will identify locations across the district that require open space improvement or new provision, and for eligible
developments will require a financial contribution through a planning obligation which secures funding for a specific
project. The amount required is related to the cost of providing and maintaining open space, expressed as a cost per
person as set out in the Open Space and Play Area Strategy. The Council will monitor the use of funds collected in
this way to ensure that planning obligations are directly related to the open space needs associated with each
development. To-comply-with-legislation;-no-more-than-five-such-planning-obligations-will- be-required-for-a-sin

project. [AM35]

2.38  Viability testing undertaken by the Council has demonstrated that not all sites may be able to fund the full cost
of the off-site contribution. Therefore, the Council will consider a reduced contribution where it can be demonstrated
that payment of the full cost would make the development unviable. Further details on the policy’s application,
including information on the consideration and submission of viability evidence will be set out in a review of the
existing Open Space Supplementary Planning Document, to be undertaken after the adoption of the Local Plan.

2.39  The Council will not use the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to fund open space provision, to avoid illegal
double-charging of developers who are required to provide onsite open space as part of well-designed development
while also paying CIL. However, at least 15% of CIL receipts will be transferred to the parish council in the area a
development takes place, and parish councils may spend this money on any infrastructure in their area which may
include the creation, development, repair or maintenance of existing areas of open space.

30

Page 59



2.40 Policy DM24 protects existing public open spaces from development, including some identified areas of ‘Local
Green Space’. Communities may also seek to protect such areas through designation in a neighbourhood plan or by
registering sites as Assets of Community Value (as defined in the glossary).

31

Page 60



Employment

Policy S6

Employment

The employment needs of the community will be met through the development of 147,000 square
metres of commercial floorspace comprising a range of employment-generating uses, including:

a) Offices, industry, storage and distribution (B1-B8);

b) Retail, tourism and leisure (A1-A5, C1, D2 and relevant sui generis uses);

c) Development for healthcare, education and public facilities (C2-C2a, D1); and
d) Other forms of sustainable employment-generating uses.

2.41  The Council’'s employment strategy is inclusive, seeking to provide the jobs the market can deliver by
promoting a range of employment-generating uses. While the majority of commercial land allocations comprise B1,
B2 and B8 uses, the plan has a positive approach to other uses that provide jobs in a sustainable manner.

2.42  Employment floorspace is measured according to ‘gross internal floorspace’, meaning the area of floor inside
the walls. This applies to use classes B1 (business), B2 (general industry) and B8 (storage and distribution) and will
generally be applied to all commercial development, except for retail within use class Al (shops). Al retail floorspace
is ‘net floorspace’, meaning the area of a store used for sales. Within this class, ‘convenience’ means food sales,
while ‘comparison’ means anything else.

2.43  The Employment Land Review (2013) presents forecasts for employment land in Mid Devon, taking account
of economic projections and past take-up of employment land. The Employment Land Review recommends that the
Council plan for 30-40 hectares of employment land over a twenty year period, equating to approximately 140,000
square metres floorspace.

2.44  Very large employment sites can be more difficult to deliver due to high infrastructure costs, and there is an
identified shortage of small-scale employment sites. Development Management policies allow for small-scale
employment and other commercial development in suitable locations. These sites can come forward according to
market demand and a land allocation will not always be necessary. However, the towns are usually the most
sustainable locations for planned employment growth, where there is an existing local population and access to
services. Commercial development is expected to be delivered through a combination of site allocations and windfall
developments elsewhere.

2.45  The Local Plan’'s employment strategy seeks to guide a deliverable level of development to the most
sustainable locations while recognising that larger employment centres such as Exeter and Taunton will continue to
draw some of Mid Devon’s working population, and suitable employment in rural areas will benefit the rural economy.

2.46  The Retail Study (2012) identifies a quantitative need of approximately 7,000 square metres of comparison
retail floorspace up to 2026. Long-term forecasting of retail demand is not very reliable, so the anticipated need has
been applied across the plan period to 2033 on the understanding that allocated and non-allocated sites will come
forward according to market demand and the plan will be reviewed before the need to 2026 is likely to have been
exhausted. Retail development will generally be directed towards town centres and the Council will apply a sequential
approach in assessing edge-of-centre or out-of-centre proposals, in accordance with Policies S7, DM14 and DM15. In
addition, development as proposed at Junction 27 of the M5 meets a tourism / leisure need in a location which is
suitable for its regional role with a controlled retail element supporting the tourism and leisure aspects of the proposal.

32

Page 61



2.47

where their policies can be found within this document:

The following table sets out the Local Plan allocations which include employment-generating uses, and states

Location Site Policy Gross site | Net site Floorspace |Local Plan
area (ha) area (ha) |(sg.m) page
Tiverton Eastern TIV1-5 153 6 30,000 BEE
Urban
Extension
Tiverton Phoenix TIV12 1.4 1 7,000 79-80
Lane
Cullompton | North West | CU1-6 95 3 10,000 88-9¢
Urban
Extension
Cullompton | East CuU7-13 160 5 20,000 97-106
Cullompton
Cullompton | Week Farm | CU18 10.7 8.7 15,000 oL
Cullompton | Venn Farm | CU19 4.4 2.5 12,000 e
Crediton Wellparks CRE1 22.9 1.2 2,220 118
Crediton Land south | CRE10 1.9 1.9 7,600 ize
of A377
Junction 27 | Junction 27 | J27 71 28 42,550 R
Bampton Stone BA2 0.45 0.36 355 132-133
crushing
works
(Scott’s
Quarry),
Bampton
Willand Willand Wi2 9.2 9.2 13,000 151
Industrial
Estate
33

Page 62




Town centres

Policy S7

Town centres

The vitality and viability of the town centres of Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton will be protected
and enhanced by positive management so that economic regeneration and heritage conservation
reinforce each other as follows:

a) Positive measures of enhancement and regeneration;

b) Promoting new homes, shops, leisure, offices and other key town centre uses which are well
designed and contribute to vitality and viability;

c) Outside the town centres of Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton, only permit new retail, leisure,
office and other key town centre uses where they meet the sequential and impact tests set out in
Policy DM15; and

d) Traffic management measures including improving sustainable travel opportunities and
interchange facilities to improve town centre environment and accessibility.

2.48 Policy S7 seeks to secure the sustainability of Mid Devon’s market towns, focusing development within town
centres. The Council will work in partnership to deliver the objectives of Policy S7 and will integrate other local plans
and strategies, including neighbourhood plans where these are being prepared. Investment will be directed to
enhance and regenerate areas of environmental, social and economic deprivation. Networks and interchange
facilities, which provide opportunities for better integration of public transport and sustainable ways of travelling, will be
improved. Town centre health checks will be undertaken to monitor the condition of each of the market towns in
respect of the objectives set out above. This focus on healthy town centres does not preclude retail, leisure and
recreation uses within strategic site allocations, such as East Cullompton. Sustainable development of such large sites
requires a mix of uses, providing residents with close access to employment, recreation and small-scale convenience
shopping, though these mixed uses must be carefully planned so as not to undermine town centres. A masterplan will
sets [AM36] out the principles to be followed in subsequent planning applications. A sequential test applied at
planning application stage will be considered in this context. The allocation of land at Junction 27 to provide a high
quality tourist and leisure focused development to meet needs identified within the tourism study will include
associated outlet/discounted retail floorspace to meet a regional comparison floorspace need and deliver the tourist
and leisure elements of the allocation. Existing town centres will be safeguarded through planning controls.

2.49  Mid Devon’s town centres face a challenging future due to changing national retailer requirements, online
shopping and reduced consumer spending. The Retail Study suggests that a changing role or focus for town centres
may be required, involving conversion and redevelopment to other uses. To this end, the Local Plan incorporates
tourism and leisure uses within the retail part of the commercial development target in Policy S2 and has a positive
strategy for the enhancement and regeneration of town centres. Town centre redevelopment is expected to include
some residential accommodation, to improve the viability of development and the vitality of the town centre.

2.50 Research by English Heritage, the Heritage Lottery Fund and others clearly demonstrate the significant
contribution of heritage to the economy. Policy S7 emphasises the importance of heritage conservation in making the
town centres attractive places to visit.

2.51 The following table contains details of the Local Plan’s only town centre allocation, and states where the policy
can be found within this document:

34

Page 63



Location Site Policy Site area Use Local Plan
(ha) page

Tiverton Phoenix Lane | TIV12 1.4 60 dwellings and | 79-86
7,000sgm. of
mixed
commercial
floorspace

35

Page 64




Infrastructure

Policy S8

Infrastructure

The location, scale and form of development will be guided by the need for community facilities and
any existing infrastructure deficiencies. The Council will work with providers and developers to
ensure that new development is served by necessary infrastructure in a predictable, timely and
effective fashion. Development and transport planning will be coordinated to improve accessibility
for the whole community and promote the use of sustainable modes of transport. The Council will set
out key infrastructure and facility requirements for new development in an Infrastructure Plan, taking
account of existing provision and cumulative impact of new development. Developers will be
expected to contribute fairly towards, or bear the full cost of, new or improved infrastructure and
facilities where it is appropriate for them to do so, subject to viability assessment where appropriate.
Planning permission will be granted only where the impact of development is not considered to be
severe. Where severe impacts that are attributable to the development are considered likely, including
as a consequence of cumulative impacts, they must be subject to satisfactory mitigation having
regard to the latest infrastructure plan. [MMO06]

2.52  Ensuring that new development is served by appropriate infrastructure is an important role of the planning
system. This is achieved by the provision of infrastructure in step with development and by guiding development to
places where there is existing capacity. There is also the possibility that new development can be guided to locations
where its infrastructure will help to achieve wider planning objectives such as air quality improvements. Developments
likely to generate significant levels of traffic must be supported by a robust transport evidence base.

2.53  This policy underpins site allocation policies such as the North West Cullompton and East Cullompton urban
extensions, which will provide traffic solutions to improve motorway junction capacity and reduce traffic through the
town centre. Facilities such as schools, green infrastructure and community halls will be provided or enhanced as
appropriate, to account for the increased demand arising from new development. The strategic sites will also include
care homes or other provision for older people in recognition of the aging population and its associated needs. The
Council will guide development to locations where there is sufficient sewerage capacity, or require that increased
capacity be provided in step with development which will help to deliver Water Framework Directive objectives. The
need for investment will be reviewed and addressed by South West Water through 5 yearly cycle plans. Sewerage
network improvements will be negotiated in line with the provisions of the Water Act in conjunction with developers as
and when the need arises.

2.54  For most sites funds for infrastructure delivery will be secured through the Community Infrastructure Levy
(CIL); a charge per square metre of eligible new development. The rate of payment for CIL has been subject to
viability assessment which takes account of the other policy requirements affecting viability, such as affordable
housing targets. Legal agreements under Section 106 of The Town and Country Planning Act (1990) may be used
instead of CIL if the proceeds would exceed the amount of CIL that would be generated from the development.
Section 106 Agreements, a type of planning obligation, will also be used to secure funding for specific public open
space projects in the district, as discussed under Policy S5. The strategic sites (Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension,
North West Cullompton, East Cullompton and Junction 27) will be zero-rated for CIL and these developments will be
required to pay for necessary infrastructure through Section 106 agreements, undergoing viability assessment at
planning application stage if necessary.

2.55 There is currently a significant infrastructure funding gap and the Council will also seek external sources of
funding to deliver key infrastructure. More information about the means of funding infrastructure can be found in the
most recent Infrastructure Plan (2014} and the ‘Regulation 123’ list for CIL, available on the Council’s website. CIL is

36
Page 65



also accompanied by a policy setting out the circumstances in which Section 106 agreements are to be used. Itis
anticipated that CIL will be adopted at the same time as the Local Plan. [AM37]

37

Page 66



Environment

Policy S9

Environment

Development will sustain the distinctive quality, character and diversity of Mid Devon’s environmental
assets and minimise the impact of development on climate change through:

a) High quality sustainable design which reinforces the character and distinctiveness of Mid Devon’s
historic built environment, mitigates and adapts to climate change and creates attractive places;

b) The efficient use and conservation of natural resources of land, water and energy, minimising
pollution and preserving the quality and productivity of the best and most versatile agricultural
land wherever possible;

c) The provision of measures to reduce the risk of flooding to life and property, requiring
sustainable drainage systems including provisions for future maintenance, guiding development
to locations of lowest flood risk by applying a sequential test where appropriate, and avoiding an
increase in flood risk elsewhere;

d) Renewable energy development in locations where there is an acceptable local impact, including
visual, on nearby residents, landscape character and wildlife, balanced with the wider
sustainability benefits of renewable energy;

e) The preservation and enhancement of the distinctive qualities of Mid Devon’s natural landscape,
supporting opportunities identified within landscape character areas. Within eradjeining-the
Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and within the setting of the Blackdown Hills
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and Exmoor and Dartmoor National Parks, the primary
objective will be to protect the special qualities of that landscape and its setting; [MMO07]

f) The protection and enhancement of designated sites of international, national and local
biodiversity and geodiversity importance. On both designated and undesignated sites,
development will support opportunities for protecting and enhancing species populations and
linking habitats. If significant harm resulting from development cannot be avoided;providing
impacts should be adequately mitigated. mitigation-and-c Compensation measures will only be
considered where appropriate as a last resort; and [MMO08]

g) The preservation and enhancement of Mid Devon’s cultural and historic environment, and the
protection of sites, buildings, areas and features of recognised national and local importance
such as listed buildings, conservation areas, scheduled monuments and local heritage assets.

2.56  The environmental qualities of the district are highly valued by the community and the preservation and
enhancement of Mid Devon’s distinctive environmental assets are important to the achievement of sustainable
development. Changes in land use, agricultural practices and new development are all threats to the quality of Mid
Devon’s environment unless properly managed, while the effects of climate change will provide both challenges and
opportunities. New development will be located, designed and constructed in ways that reinforce local distinctiveness,
respond to climate change and provide positive solutions for protecting and enhancing environmental assets.
Mitigation measures will be sought where appropriate, to achieve neutral or positive effects on the environment,
including ecological measures which would help to deliver Water Framework Directive objectives.

2,57  The Government’s approach in tackling climate change has evolved over time. Ambitious carbon reduction
targets have led to Government incentives for renewable energy schemes, resulting in a marked increase in planning
applications for wind turbines and field-scale solar energy development. The Mid Devon Landscape Sensitivity
Assessment considers the susceptibility of different parts of the landscape to change as a result of wind and solar
energy development of different sizes, scales and groupings. This assessment is a material consideration in decision-
making, alongside evidence of biodiversity, noise, glare and other impacts.

38
Page 67



2.58 Development Management policies on design, green infrastructure, protected landscapes/habitats and
heritage assets provide detailed criteria for development.

39

Page 68



Tiverton

Policy S10

Tiverton

Tiverton will continue to develop in a balanced way as a medium sized market town serving a rural
hinterland in the central part of Mid Devon and to the north. The strategy will maintain its status as
the largest urban area in Mid Devon and increase the self-sufficiency of the town and its area by
improving access to housing, employment and services for its population and that of the surrounding
rural areas. Proposals will provide for approximately 2,358 dwellings, of which 660-will be affordable,
and 29,400 gross square metres of commercial floor space over the plan period.

The Council will guide high quality development and other investment to:

a) Manage the town centre so that economic success and heritage reinforce each other, promoting
new homes, shops, leisure, offices and key town centre uses which contribute to vitality and
viability, including an additional 7,000 square metres of gross commercial floorspace in
accordance with the sequential approach in Policy DM15;

b) Enhance walking and cycling opportunities and bus services around the town, particularly
improving access via these more sustainable modes to the town centre, Tiverton Parkway Station,
Exeter and Taunton, and their interchange in the town centre;

¢) Retain the green setting provided by the steep open hillsides, particularly to the west and south of
the town and the historic parkland of Knightshayes to the north of the A361;

d) Protect the importance of Tidcombe Fen, other areas of biodiversity value and green
infrastructure, supporting opportunities for enhancement;

e) Enhance the tourism and visitor role of the town and surrounding area; and

f)  Support measures to reduce flood risk within Tiverton, working with natural processes wherever
possible.

2.59 Tiverton is the largest settlement in Mid Devon, with the largest economic concentration and level of social
and commercial services. It is the focus of a reasonable level of public transport provision. However, the long-term
options for Tiverton’s growth are constrained by the town’s topography, flood plains and the position of the A361.
Cumulative traffic impacts on Junction 27 of the M5 must also be considered. While the evidence suggests that
improvements to signalisation of the junction have provided capacity for planned strategic development in Tiverton,
additional development may require improvements to the junction. Traffic assessments will be required where
appropriate to consider impacts on the local and strategic road network.

2.60 As the largest town in the district, there is an expectation that Tiverton will deliver approximately 2,358
dwellings over the plan period. Recent completions and current commitments total over 1,750 1,000 dwellings.
[AM38] It is therefore expected that a significant proportion of the town’s outstanding housing needs will be delivered
as part of the Eastern Urban Extension allocation (TIV1-5), with the remainder provided by smaller allocations. Sites
have been allocated in excess of the anticipated development levels to allow for flexibility in the supply of housing and
employment, as discussed in paragraphs 2.1-2.16. A contingency site has been allocated within the town, forming
part of the strategy for providing flexibility within the plan.

2.61 Retail forecasts identify a need for additional non-food retail floorspace in Tiverton. The Retail Study (2012)
recommends that site allocations for retail development include the redevelopment and improvement of the bus
station and existing open-air car parks. The area around Phoenix Lane in Tiverton is available, suitable and
achievable for a mixed use redevelopment scheme.

40

Page 69



2.62  Historically, the take-up of employment allocations in Tiverton has been slow, while the larger urban centres of
Exeter and Taunton are established employment destinations and will continue to draw a large number of Mid Devon’s
working residents. The Employment Land Review (2013) advises on the locations and amounts of development
appropriate in the towns. In accordance with this, the Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension is expected to provide
30,000 square metres of employment floorspace, phased to come forward in step with housing development.
Employment development in this location, close to the A361, may serve to claw back some of the jobs that are
currently being lost to other settlements outside Mid Devon.

2.63  The following table sets out the allocations in Tiverton, their policy reference, site area and use, and states
where the relevant policies can be found within this document:

Site Policy Site area | Use Local Plan
(ha) page(s)
Eastern Urban Extension TIV1-TIV5 | 153 1580 dwellings and 66-75

30,000 sgm of
commercial floorspace

Farleigh Meadows TIV6 8.2 255 dwellings +5-76
Town Hall TIV7 0.5 59 dwellings 674
Moorhayes Park TIV8 0.4 8 dwellings +

Howden Court TIV9 0.47 10 dwellings e
Roundhill TIV10 0.4 20 dwellings 8

Palmerston Park TIV11 0.9 25 dwellings L0
Phoenix Lane TIV12 1.4 60 dwellings and Lo-cn

7,000 sgm. of mixed
commercial floorspace

Tidcombe Hall (contingency) TIV13 5 100 dwellings eood
Blundell’s School TIV16 14 200 dwellings 24-25
41

Page 70



Cullompton

Policy S11

Cullompton

Cullompton will develop as a fast growing market town with a strategic role in the hierarchy of
settlements in Mid Devon. The town will become the strategic focus of new development reflecting its
accessibility, economic potential and environmental capacity. This strategy will improve access to
housing through urban extensions and expanded employment opportunities. There will be significant
improvements to the town’s infrastructure and connectivity, including the reopening of the railway
station, and improved services for its population and nearby rural areas. Proposals will provide for
approximately 3,930 dwellings, of which 1,100 will be affordable, and 73,500 gross square metres of
commercial floor space over the plan period.

The Council will guide high quality development and other investment to:

a) Make any necessary improvements-to-the-M5-motorway-ircludingfunetion-28- strateqic
mitigations to maintain highway capacity and safety, integrity, and sustainability including the M5

and local highway network in conjunction with current and relevant infrastructure plans; [MMQ9]

b) Promote further public transport improvements within Cullompton and to other urban centres
(particularly Tiverton and Exeter) and improved access to the rail network by the reopening of
Cullompton Railway Station;

c) Continue measures to support the implementation of the Cullompton Air Quality Action Plan
including the construction of new highway links to relieve the town centre and enhanced walking
and cycling opportunities around the town;

d) Manage the town centre so that economic regeneration and heritage reinforce each other by
promoting new homes, shops, leisure, offices and other key town centre uses which are well
designed and contribute to vitality and viability;

e) Provide community infrastructure such as education and enhanced open space to support new
development proposals;

f) Enhance the tourism and visitor role of the town and surrounding area; and

g) Support measures to reduce flood risk within Cullompton and make provision for green
infrastructure.

2.64  Cullompton is situated 11 miles north of Exeter and about 20 miles south west of Taunton. The M5 motorway
runs close to the east side of the town. The B3181 runs through the centre of the town and links Exeter and Willand.
The town lies in the Culm Valley with the river passing the east side of the town. Cullompton’s location on the
strategic road network, its close proximity to Exeter and the availability of land for development make it a suitable
destination for long-term growth. A Critical Drainage Area (CDA) has been identified by the Environment Agency at
Cullompton. The aim of this CDA is to ensure there is no increase in flood risk downstream as a result of development
pressure. A Flood Risk Assessment will be required at the planning application stage for development proposed in the
CDA to determine specific recommendations for mitigation. All new development will require additional water storage
areas to be created within the site compared to the normal SUDs design thereby contributing to a reduction in flooding
downstream. The Environment Agency (EA) is a statutory consultee on all developments in Critical Drainage Areas
and flood zones 2 and 3, while the Lead Local Flood Authority (Devon County Council) will be a statutory consultee on
all major development.

2.65 The largest single site allocation in the Local Plan is East Cullompton (Policies CU7-CU12), which will have
access onto the M5 motorway and deliver significant improvements to highways infrastructure for the whole town.
There has also been a long-standing public desire to see the reopening of Cullompton Railway Station. The proposal

42
Page 71



is gaining momentum and is included within Network Rail's Western Route Study (draft for consultation) 2014 which
sets out the strategic vision for the western part of the rail network over the next 30 years. The Council supports the
reopening of the station and the Local Plan allocates a possible site for this. The combination of highways
improvements and a new railway station provides an opportunity to significantly raise the profile of Cullompton and the
wider area, attracting inward investment.

2.66  Pedestrian and cycle links to the town centre will be improved, and residents will be in close proximity to job
opportunities within Cullompton and also at Willand, Tiverton and Exeter. The concurrent development of the North
West Cullompton Urban Extension will see a new road linking Tiverton Road to Willand Road, which will relieve traffic
congestion in the town centre, improving local air quality and the living conditions of residents. The town centre acts
as a strategic relief route for the M5 during closures resulting in significant congestion. A new relief road, to the east of
the town centre, will further improve local air quality by diverting north- and south-bound traffic away from Fore Street.
Note that the name of the road, originally called the Eastern Relief Road when allocated in the Allocations and
Infrastructure DPD, has been amended to Town Centre Relief Road to more accurately reflect its role. Significant
growth in Cullompton can be made sustainable through this investment in infrastructure, addressing long-standing
issues of air quality and motorway junction capacity.

2.67  The major growth of the town will provide the opportunity to revitalise the town centre through additional
investment, traffic and transport improvements. The growth of the town and proposed improvements will provide a
significant boost to its vitality and viability, providing a more attractive retail environment through organic change in the
town centre by which the use of existing underused and struggling premises is improved, rather than through the
delivery of new retail floorspace. The need for additional retail floorspace will be reviewed as part of the process of
preparing the next Local Plan.

2.68  Future employment provision is expected to be centred around the Kingsmill industrial estate and within the
adjoining urban extension at East Cullompton. Access to the motorway will need to be improved before significant
levels of development come forward. Masterplanning of the East Cullompton urban extension will include a phasing

strategy which ensures that infrastructure is provided in step with development. One-centingency-site-is-allocated-in
o ‘ il . . . . . iey-S4_[AM39]

2.69 The following table sets out the allocations in Cullompton, their policy reference, site area and use, and states
where the relevant policies can be found within this document:

Site Policy Site area (ha) | Use Local Plan
page(s)
North West CUl-6 103 1350 dwellings and | 88-96
Cullompton 10,000 sgm.
commercial
floorspace
East Cullompton Cu7-12 160 1750 dwellings ozd1os

(within the plan
period) and 20,000
sgm. commercial

floorspace
Knowle Lane Cu13 9.8 296 dwellings 106107
Ware Park & Cui4 2.1 38 dwellings 107108
Footlands
Land at Exeter Road | CU15 14 24 dwellings Loeion
43

Page 72



Cummings Nursery Cuie 5.3 100 dwellings
Week Farm Cul7 10.7 15,000 sgm.
commercial
floorspace
Venn Farm Cuis 4.4 12,000 sgm.
commercial
floorspace
Colebrook Ccu21 4.8 100 dwellings
(contingency)
[AMA40]
44

Page 73




Crediton
Policy S12

Crediton

Crediton will continue to develop in its role as a small and vibrant market town, serving a rural
hinterland in the western part of the district. The strategy aims to improve access to housing within
the town, expand employment opportunities and improve the quantity and quality of the existing retail
provision. Proposals will provide for approximately 786 dwellings, of which 220 will be affordable,
and 14,700 gross square metres of commercial floorspace over the plan period.

The following development will be supported over the plan period:

a) Proposals which support the economic regeneration of the town centre, including the provision of
new homes, commercial development, cultural facilities and other key town centre uses which
support the town centre’s viability and vitality. Particular support will be given for proposals
which improve the quantity and quality of existing retail provision within the town centre. All
proposals within the town centre will need to play a positive role in sustaining and enhancing the
significance of the area’s heritage;

b) Proposals which respect the setting provided by the open areas of hillside and the adjoining
historic parklands of Creedy Park, Shobrooke Park and Downes;

¢) Continuation of measures to support the implementation of the Crediton Air Quality Action Plan,
including enhanced walking and cycling opportunities around the town;

d) Enhance the tourism facilities and visitor role of the town and surrounding area; and

e) Community and education facilities and other infrastructure to support the development
proposed,including green infrastructure. [MM10]

2.70 Crediton is a small and vibrant market town, located in the west of the district. The town is situated near to
the Rivers Creedy and Yeo, and is set within a landscape of farmland extending across gently rolling hills and broad
valleys. It lies within what is known as the ‘Crediton Trough’, a low lying flattish basin feature. The town’s past is
reflected in the historic core, principally focused around the High Street. The town is a focal point for the surrounding
area, providing a level of employment and services. Opportunities for the expansion of Crediton are limited, given the
steep topography around the town, adjoining historic parklands and traffic congestion through the town centre.

2.71  In 2006 Crediton was designated as an Air Quality Management Area as a result of unacceptably high levels
of airborne pollutants in the centre of the settlement. However, one of the key actions set out within the Air Quality
Action Plan, the Crediton Link Road, has been provided. This is likely to have a significant impact on local air quality,
directing a proportion of HGV and other traffic to Lords Meadow Industrial Estate, away from the town centre. Air
quality monitoring will determine whether the pollutants have reduced sufficiently for the Air Quality Action Plan to be
withdrawn.

2.72  The Employment Land Review (2013) points to a limited demand for employment growth in Crediton. The
Retail Study (2012) identifies no requirement for additional retail floorspace within the town, but development
management and town centre initiatives should seek to improve and upgrade the quality of the existing provision.

2.73  The total housing target for Crediton (786+83 dwellings) represents 10% of the district’s total requirement.
[AM41] This is lower than might be expected for a town of this size, but environmental constraints limit Crediton’s
expansion and the development can be more sustainably located elsewhere. The sites allocated in the Local Plan
have been subject to Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and are considered available, suitable
and achievable.

45

Page 74



2.74  The following table sets out the allocations in Crediton, their policy reference, site area and use, and states
where the relevant policies can be found within this document:

Site Policy Site Use Local Plan
area page(s)
(ha)
Wellparks CRE1 7.9 185 dwellings and 118
2,220sgm.
commercial floorspace
Red Hill Cross CRE2 3.1 135 dwellings 119
Cromwells Meadow CRE3 2.4 35 dwellings 120
The Woods Group CRE4 0.17 8 dwellings e
Pedlerspool CRES 235 200 dwellings L
Sports Fields CRE6 55 120 dwellings e
Stonewall Lane CRE7Y 3.2 50 dwellings 12
Land at Barn Park CRE8 1.64 20 dwellings pre
Land off Alexandra Close CRE9 0.63 15 dwellings pre
Land south of A377 CRE10 |1.9 7,600sgm. 12e
commercial floorspace

46

Page 75



Rural areas

Policy S13

Villages

The following rural settlements will be designated as villages suitable for limited development:
Bampton, Bow, Bradninch, Chawleigh, Cheriton Bishop, Cheriton Fitzpaine, Copplestone, Culmstock,
Halberton, Hemyock, Holcombe Rogus, Kentisbeare, Lapford, Morchard Bishop, Newton St Cyres,
Sampford Peverell, Sandford, Silverton, Thorverton, Uffculme, Willand and Yeoford.

Development will be limited to proposals within their defined settlement limits and to allocations for:

a) Small scale housing, employment, tourism and leisure;

b) Services and facilities serving the locality; and

c) Other limited development which enhances community vitality or meets a local social or
economic need.

2.75  There are a number of settlements which do not function as market towns, but which provide a limited level of
services which support vibrant rural communities. These are locations which are suitable for a limited level of
development meeting local needs appropriate to their individual opportunities. Sites for affordable housing may also
come forward in locations that are not designated villages in Policy S13 above, subject to local need as demonstrated
through a local housing needs survey or other suitable evidence. Policy DM6 (rural exceptions sites) explains the
Council’'s approach to considering ‘exception sites’ for affordable housing.

2.76  The 22 settlements set out in the policy are considered to be appropriate for a limited level of development,
based on their physical characteristics, and the availability of the following three essential services identified:

» Educational facility
« Convenience store
» Transport service

2.77  Yeoford does not have a shop but is considered appropriate for inclusion in Policy S13 due to its accessibility
to other settlements and the availability of public transport including an hourly train service. The settlement limits of
the villages defined in Policy S13 are shown on the Policies Map and site allocations are set out in the relevant section
of the Local Plan.

2.78 Rural areas are expected to accommodate approximately 10% of the housing requirement for Mid Devon up
to 2033. 483330 dwellings have been allocated and are considered available, suitable and achievable, capable of
coming forward within the first 10 years of the plan. [AM42] Itis also likely that a small number of windfall
developments will be built within settlement limits or through the rural exceptions policy (Policy DM6). Given that more
than half of Mid Devon’s population currently resides outside the main towns, this is considered a sustainable
approach which will maintain the vitality and viability of rural settlements.

2.79 Proposals for more than 5 dwellings in villages will be required to provide 30% affordable housing, which will
be in the form of off-site contributions for sites of 6-10 dwellings. Exception sites may also come forward outside
settlement limits, but these will need to demonstrate a need for affordable housing, and any element of market
housing must be limited to the lowest amount possible to facilitate the provision of affordable housing. In appropriate
circumstances, self-build housing will be permitted through the exceptions policy (Policy DM6). Other development
management policies will also be applied, along with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document on Meeting
Housing Needs.

47

Page 76



2.80 Historically, employment sites in rural areas across Mid Devon have been delivered primarily through windfall
sites with limited provision on allocated land. The 2012-2013 Mid Devon Employment Land Survey noted that since
2006 only two small parts of allocated land at Willand and approximately 50% of allocated land at Bampton had been
completed. The Council recognises the importance of retaining and providing rural employment opportunities, but the
combination of permitted development rights and supportive general policies is considered sufficient to deliver
employment according to demand in rural areas. However, recent permissions indicate there is demand for
employment in Willand so the Willand Industrial Estate is retained along with Scott’s Quarry at Bampton because the
development has planning permission and is deliverable. In general, site allocations within the towns meet the overall
target for commercial development across the district, providing flexibility and choice in the market.

48

Page 77



Countryside

Policy S14

Countryside

Development outside the settlements defined by Policies S10-S13 will preserve and where possible
enhance the character, appearance and biodiversity of the countryside while promoting sustainable
diversification of the rural economy. Detailed development management policies will permit
agricultural and other appropriate rural uses, subject to the following criteria:

a) Affordable and low cost housing to meet local needs, gypsy and traveller accommodation,
residential conversion of appropriate existing buildings, replacement dwellings, housing essential
to accommodate a rural worker and accommodation ancillary to a dwelling; [MM11]

b) Appropriately scaled retail, employment, farm diversification, tourism and leisure related
development (including appropriate conversion of existing buildings);

c) Appropriately scaled and designed extensions and other physical alterations to existing
buildings;

d) Agricultural and equestrian development;

e) Community facilities, such as educational facilities, buildings associated with public open space,
transportation and infrastructure proposals (including green infrastructure); and

f) Renewable energy and telecommunications.

2.81 National policy supports thriving rural communities and encourages multiple benefits from the use of land in
rural areas. Development in the countryside in the context of this policy is defined by land outside of the settlement
limits of the main towns (S10-S12) and villages (S13). A strong rural economy is promoted by national policy through
sustainable growth of business and enterprise in rural areas. Development in the countryside will be managed to meet
local need, promote vibrant rural communities and help provide appropriate forms of agricultural and rural
diversification to support the rural economy and sustain environmental qualities of the countryside. Development
management policies allow for small-scale employment development in suitable locations whilst retaining the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside. These sites can come forward according to market demand.

2.82  To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing has been allocated where it will enhance or
maintain the vitality of rural communities. New isolated homes will be avoided in the countryside unless there are
special circumstances as set out in national policy and supplemented in relevant Local Plan policies such as Policy
DM6 (rural exception sites), DM8 (rural workers dwellings) and DM9 (conversion of rural buildings). In the context of
the Mid Devon Local Plan, ‘isolated’ refers to any location outside of defined settlement limits. Such land is defined as
the countryside which can include small settlements and hamlets. National policy requires that new sites for travellers
should be very-stricthy-limited in open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in
the development plan. In certain circumstances the development of such sites outside of settlement limits will be
appropriate, providing it can meet the criteria set out within Policy DM7 (gypsy and traveller accommodation). [MM11]

2.83  National policy advocates the provision of market housing in rural areas where it would facilitate the provision
of significant affordable housing required to meet housing need. To facilitate the provision of affordable and low cost
(discounted) housing in rural areas across Mid Devon, rural exception sites will be considered in line with Policy DM6
and the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document on Meeting Housing Needs.

49

Page 78



3.0 Site Allocations

50

Page 79



Site Allocations

3.1

The overall amount of development is discussed earlier in this plan, with Policy S2 setting out targets for
development across the district. After existing commitments (sites under construction or with planning permission)

have been deducted, there is a net requirement for dwellings and commercial floorspace to 2033.

3.2

Site allocations have been subject to Strategic Housing and Commercial Land Availability Assessments. This
is a technical assessment of the broad suitability, availability and achievability of potential development sites. It does
not indicate whether or not sites should be allocated; the selection of sites to be allocated has taken place through the
preparation of the Local Plan, taking account of other information and consultation. The net requirement for

development is shown in the table below, based on the targets contained in Policy S2.

leisure) square metres
floorspace *(Nete-at

Hime oTpublication atest
commerciar moRionng ot yet
avananie —Hgures presentec
2014)

Use Completions 1 April | Commitments | Net Uncommitted
2013 - 31 March at 31 March requirement | Allocations to
20182016 20182016 2033

Housing (dwellings) 1,730924 2,6182,012 3,5124.924 4,8865,648

Commercial 46,5139;787 128,36343;259 | -27,876 87,662121,620

(employment, retail and 100,954

51

Table 10: Overall development need and land supply [AM43]

Page 80




Tiverton

3.3

supply of housing and commercial development.

The development strategy for Tiverton is set out under Policy S10. The following table summarises Tiverton’s

Use Commitments at 31 | Completions Uncommited | Total
March 20182016 since 2013 Uncommitte
from 1 April d
2013 -31 Allocations
March 2018
Housing (dwellings) 1,275745 478261 8401540 2,593
2546
Commercial (employment, 43,216805 4,2181.550 8,98138,000 | 56,415
retail and leisure) square 40,355
metres floorspace *Nete-at
Hime o publication-atest commercia
ORROHRG ROt yet avananie —Hgures
Mareh2014)
Table 11: Development supply in Tiverton [AM44]
3.4 NineSeven sites are allocated for housing in Tiverton, excluding one contingency sites at Tidcombe Hall and

Wimnnard's-Mead that will be permitted to come forward if the Council’s housing supply proves insufficient, as set out
in Policy S4. All housing sites are considered achievable in principle, corresponding to a Tiverton map that
accompanies this document. Net site areas shown in Table 12 reflect the land area considered developable after land
has been provided for access, strategic landscaping and other uses. For very small sites, the whole site area is often
considered developable. The maijority of Tiverton’s housing is to be provided through the strategic site Eastern Urban
Extension (TIV1-5). Although the housing growth of the town is therefore dependent on this site coming forward, there
is limited risk associated with this because there is a good track record of joint working between the Council and the
site promoters, with half of the site covered by an adopted masterplan, and applicationsfor-in-excess-of approximately
1,000 dwellings now with planning permission-er+eseldution-to-grantsubjectto-a-section-106-agreement. [AM45]

Table 12: Allocations in Tiverton, excluding sites/dwellings with planning permission [AM46]

Site Policy Gross site | Net site No. dwellings allocated
area (ha) area (ha) without permission

Eastern Urban Extension | TIV1-TIV5 153 64.86 5501256

Howden Court TIV9 0.47 0.38 10

Roundhill TIV10 0.4 0.4 20

Phoenix Lane TIV12 1.4 1 60

BlundellsBlundell’s School | TIV16 14 6 200

Total 8401540

3.5 A number of housing sites were allocated in the previous Local Plan and already have planning approval, but
are either not yet under construction or only recently implemented. These sites are retained as Local Plan allocations
to ensure that policy criteria still apply in the event that revised schemes are submitted or planning permission lapses.

52

Page 81



The table below shows allocated sites with existing planning permission. Development at Moorhayes Park (TIV8) has
recently been completed so is not shown in this table. [AM47]

Site with planning Policy Site area Dwellings with
permission planning permission
Eastern Urban Extension | TIV1-5 153 1030336

Farleigh Meadows TIV6 8.2 259255

Town Hall TIV7 0.5 3958

Meoothayes Park Tve 0.4 4

Palmerston Park TIV11 0.9 26

Total 1,354693

Table 13: Housing allocations with planning permission (position at 31 March 20182016) [AM48]

3.6 Two sites in Tiverton are allocated to deliver employment up to 2033, through a range of uses. The amount
of floorspace to be provided by commercial development depends on the use. For instance, office development on
multiple floors provides a greater amount of floorspace per hectare than a single-storey warehouse, and some
commercial uses require more land for parking than others. Floorspace assumptions for different uses are set out in
the methodology for Strategic Commercial Land Availability Assessment (SCLAA), but the Council recognises that this
is only a starting point and a higher or lower density of development may be justified depending on the nature of the
proposal that comes forward.

Site Policy Gross site Net site area | Floorspace (sg.m)
area (ha) (ha)

Eastern Urban Extension TIV1-5 153 6 30,000

Phoenix Lane TIV12 1.4 1 7,000

Total 37,00038,006

Table 14: Allocated sites for commercial development [AM49]

53

Page 82



Policy TIV1

Eastern Urban Extension

A site of 153 hectares east of Tiverton is allocated for mixed use development as follows:

a) 1580 to 1830 dwellings;

b) A proportion of affordable dwellings subject to further assessment of viability to include at least
five pitches for gypsies and travellers;

c) At least 30,000 square metres commercial floorspace;

d) 47 hectares strategic green infrastructure;

e) Highway mitigation measures and transport provision to ensure appropriate accessibility for all
modes;

f) Environmental protection and enhancement;

g) Community facilities to meet local needs arising, including a new primary school and
neighbourhood centre;

h) An agreed strategy to bring forward development and infrastructure in step and retain the overall
viability of development; and

i) Compliance with the adopted masterplan and completion of a public Masterplanning exercise in
respect of the southeast of the site (Area B in the adopted masterplan).

3.8 The allocation is carried forward from the Allocation and Infrastructure DPD which identifies it for from 1550 to
2000 dwellings. The masterplan for the Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension was adopted in April 2014. It includes
provision for 1522 dwellings, 30,000 square metres mixed commercial floorspace and a target of 35% affordable
housing (subject to viability as each phase comes forward). Taking into account permissions granted or with a
resolution to grant permission subject to a S106 agreement, it is considered that the site would be suitable to provide
for 1580 dwellings. More detailed masterplanning of Area B is yet to take place and will establish the final number of
dwellings and may demonstrate that a higher number of dwellings are able to be accommodated. Accordingly a range
of housing numbers is given for the allocation. This approach to housing numbers reflects that taken by the Inspector
on the Allocations and Infrastructure DPD. At least five gypsy and traveller pitches will be provided, some of which will
be in the first phase of development, helping to meet the needs identified in the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation
Assessment (2015). The masterplan includes a phasing strategy which ensures that a new junction onto the A361 be
provided early in the development, along with traffic calming and environmental enhancement on Blundell’s Road.
The development will also provide a new primary school, a heighbourhood centre for shopping and community use,
and various forms of open space to meet the needs of residents.

3.9 The site was originally intended to accommodate up to 2,000 houses and this would have necessitated a new
access road to link the development to Heathcoat Way, thereby allowing Blundell’s Road to be closed to general traffic
and used mainly for access by sustainable travel modes. The allocated site is no longer expected to deliver this
amount of housing and the access road cannot be justified for the amount of development proposed. However, any
proposal for significant further development to the east of the allocated urban extension would be likely to trigger the
requirement for this additional road, subject to detailed design and the advice of the Highway Authority (Devon County
Council).

3.10  The Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension meets most of Tiverton’s development needs and is expected to take
10-15 years to be completed. As the largest of Mid Devon’s towns, Tiverton is a sustainable location for development
to meet the housing and employment needs of a growing population. Environmental constraints such as topography,
flood plains and the position of the A361 limit the opportunities for expansion, making the Post Hill area the only
suitable site for a development of this size. This necessitates the loss of some Grade 2 agricultural land. However,
longer terms strategic housing needs for Mid Devon will be met through housing allocations at Cullompton which is
less constrained.

54

Page 83



3.11  The provision of affordable housing is an important local priority and the adopted masterplan includes a target
of 35% affordable housing. However, developments must continue to be viable and affordable housing targets can
make a considerable difference to viability. In the case of the Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension, there are
considerable infrastructure costs and these bear heavily on the viability of this strategically important development.
The Council therefore proposes that the proportion and timescale for provision of affordable housing be subject to
further assessment of viability. It is expected that sites will contain a mix of housing types, including where appropriate
provision for the elderly. The affordable housing requirement will need to be reassessed as applications come forward
to ensure that affordable housing need continues to be met whilst ensuring the development remains viable. External
funding sources, such as the Local Transport Fund are being used to contribute towards the cost of the road junction
on to the A361. Furthermore, to reflect the high cost of infrastructure the site will be zero-rated for Community
Infrastructure Levy. Instead, infrastructure will be funded through Section 106 agreements, of which delivery of the
site will be limited to no more than five per infrastructure type or project.

3.12  The policies for this allocation are based on the evidence available to the Council when preparing them. It is
important that the policies are not seen as rigid and unalterable in the light of new evidence. Therefore, where new
information or evidence arises which indicates an alternative approach to a particular subject and this retains the
overall strategic thrust of the proposals, then the Council will consider such proposals. Nevertheless, the policies and
requirements of this plan should not be overturned lightly or without clear justification.

Policy TIV2

Eastern Urban Extension Transport Provision

To support the Eastern Urban Extension, the following transport infrastructure will be provided:

a) Provision of a new grade-separated junction to the A361 and road links into the site;

b) Traffic calming and environmental enhancement between Heathcoat Way and Putson Lane,
including Blundell’s Road;

c) Provision of bus, pedestrian and cycle routes at appropriate locations throughout the
development, creating an attractive, permeable network for non-car modes travelling within, into
and out of the area;

d) Cycle and pedestrian links to the Railway Walk, Grand Western Canal and nearby public rights of
way;

e) Implementation of Travel Plans and other non-traditional transport measures to minimise carbon
footprint and air quality impacts;

f) Bus service enhancements between the main residential areas of Tiverton and the employment
areas within the Eastern Urban Extension;

g) Bus service enhancements between Exeter, Tiverton Bus Station, the Eastern Urban Extension
and Tiverton Parkway Station; and

h) New and improved offsite pedestrian and cycle links including improvements to a wider green
infrastructure network.

3.13  The provision of appropriate transport infrastructure is a key requirement of the urban extension, minimising
impact on adjoining uses and promoting sustainable development. The key items of transport infrastructure are set
out in the masterplan which was adopted in April 2014.

3.14  Adirect access to the A361 will ensure that the site is both attractive for employment growth, and minimises
the impact of traffic on other surrounding routes. The new junction is to be provided early in the development, along
with improvements to BlundelisBlundell’s Road and traffic calming measures to ensure a safe environment for all

55

Page 84



users of the highway and adjacent land. The first phase of BlundellsBlundell’s Road traffic calming and environmental
enhancement has been implemented.

3.15 Itis expected that the junction onto the A361 will be achieved through a combination of developer and public
funding. The Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension is excluded from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which
applies elsewhere in the district, so the provision of infrastructure including financial contributions for bus service
enhancements will be secured through planning obligations (Section 106 Agreements).

3.16  The final number of dwellings on the site will be established following a further masterplannigmasterplanning
exercise in relation to Area B. However, additional development of this site or further expansion to the east if
exceeding 2,000 dwellings would likely trigger a requirement for a second access onto Heathcoat Way. Devon
County Council has considered options for the route of this road, should it be required in the future.

3.17  Appropriate traffic calming and environmental enhancement along Blundell’'s Road together with cycle and
pedestrian facilities have the opportunity to create an attractive sustainable transport corridor that respects the setting
and operation of Blundell’s School and the residential environment of the area. Devon County Council as Highway
Authority will prepare a detailed design, subject to consultation.

3.18 Itis essential that the development is served by an attractive, convenient and safe network of sustainable
transport routes, including bus, cycle and pedestrian. Streets appropriate for bus use should be provided so that as far
as possible, all buildings are within 400 metres of a bus route. The existing Blundell’s Road and the A361 link will
need to be included in these routes, together with appropriate streets within the urban extension. It is equally
important that cyclists have access to safe, attractive and direct cycle routes within the urban extension, linking
together the dwellings, businesses and services in a network. These should link to the existing cycling and walking
provision in the surrounding area, particularly the Railway Walk and Grand Western Canal (both part of the National
Cycle Network) and public rights of way. The provision of Green Infrastructure will provide opportunities for off-road
cycling and walking routes. The aim will be to integrate these sustainable transport provisions into the wider Tiverton
area and surrounding previsien countryside as far as possible. [AM50]

3.19  There will be the need for developers to prepare and implement Travel Plans for the development as a whole
and for the constituent parts, to promote softer and other less traditional measures relating to transport.

3.20 A major development must be served by high quality public transport in order to maximise its potential for
sustainability and encourage alternatives to use of the car where possible. The urban extension will provide new
commercial space serving Tiverton and therefore it is important that the existing residential areas of the town have
improved public transport access to it. As a major new residential area, it is also important that residents of the
extension can access key locations by public transport. A service linking Exeter, the Bus Station and Tiverton Parkway
Rail Station via the Eastern Urban Extension would make a significant contribution in this regard and reduce the
carbon footprint of the development. Support of appropriate bus services will be required from the development for a
minimum period of 5 years.

56

Page 85



Policy TIV3

Eastern Urban Extension Environmental Protection and Green Infrastructure

As part of the Eastern Urban Extension, the following environmental protection and enhancement
measures will be implemented at the expense of all new development in the Eastern Urban Extension:

a) Measures to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows and other environmental features which
contribute to the character and biodiversity, maintaining a wildlife network within the site and
linking to the surrounding countryside;

b) Provision and management of 47 hectares of land for strategic green infrastructure on the
western and southern edges of the urban extension, including management and funding
arrangements for the protection and enhancement of Tidcombe Fen Site of Special Scientific
Interest, its catchment and land west of Pool Anthony Bridge;

c) Areas of equipped and laid out public open space, totalling 2 hectares of children’s play, 8
hectares of sports pitches and 2 hectares of allotments;

d) A strategic landscaping and tree planting scheme to mitigate landscape impact, enhance
biodiversity and the character of development;

e) Appropriate provision of a sewerage system to serve the development-and-a-Sustainable Urban

maintenance; [MM12]

f) The provision of a strategic Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme provided in step with
development to deal with all surface water from the development, paying particular attention in
relation to runoff into Tidcombe Fen SSSI in terms of quality and quantity of water entering the
fen, and arrangements for future maintenance of the scheme;

g) Detailed archaeological investigation and measures to record, and where necessary protect the
archaeological interest of the site through appropriate design layout and mitigation; and

h) Design solutions which respect the character and setting of heritage assets within and adjoining
the site.

3.21 A number of key environmental requirements arise from the Eastern Urban Extension, to protect existing
features of national and local importance, and to ensure that the development contributes to enhancements in the
local environment.

3.22  Tidcombe Fen, which lies between Tiverton and the main part of the Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension, is a
10.7 hectare Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and as such must be protected. The site was notified in 1988
and is a type of wetland habitat rare in Devon. There is a wide variety of plant species unusual in its diversity, and
fauna includes rare snail species. Active management of this habitat is currently undertaken by a local trust. One of
the key issues is the impact of development on the quality and flows of water entering the SSSI, and its water levels.
Avoidance of harm to its catchment area is therefore vital. A contribution to continued management of the SSSI and
its catchment will be required.

3.23  There are a number of other areas of biodiversity interest within and adjoining the area of the urban extension
and measures will need to be incorporated which protect and enhance their value. The Grand Western Canal is a
designated County Wildlife Site and a substantial buffer zone will be retained between the canal and the development
to preserve its special environmental quality. The layout of the development should promote the continued use of
species-rich hedgerows as wildlife corridors, acting to prevent their fragmentation and providing appropriate treatment
where such corridors cross roads and other linear features.

3.24  The provision of public open space for local benefits and for the wider benefit of Tiverton will be important in
defining the character of the urban extension. The adopted masterplan provides for at least two hectares each of

57

Page 86



children’s play space and allotments, while eight hectares for sports pitches will be provided through a combination of
onsite pitches and new or improved sports provision elsewhere in Tiverton.

3.25 The development will need to take a strategic approach to Sustainable Urban Drainage to ensure that there is
no additional run-off from the site arising from the development. This is in order to avoid an increase in flood risk on
site and downstream. Particular care will be required in relation to runoff into the Tidcombe Fen SSSI to ensure that
the quantity and quality of water entering the Fen and its catchment are carefully controlled.

3.26  There are various heritage assets in and around the site, including listed buildings, scheduled ancient
monuments, the Grand Western Canal and Blundell’s Conservation Area. The site is also within the defined ‘setting
area’ for Knightshayes Court, which is on the national register of historic parks and gardens. The development must
have appropriate regard to the character and setting of all heritage assets affected. The urban extension also
occupies an area of known archaeological potential, in particular with regard to prehistoric activity. There are two
archaeological funerary sites of national importance just outside the development site that are Scheduled Ancient
Monuments. Further archaeological assessment will be required across the Eastern Urban Extension site.

Policy TIV4

Eastern Urban Extension Community Facilities

As part of the Eastern Urban Extension, the following community infrastructure will be provided at the
expense of all new development in the urban extension area:

a) One serviced site of 1.93 hectares for a primary school at no cost to the Local Education
Authority;

b) Provision of a 420-place primary school with early years provision and a children’s centre service
delivery base funded by appropriate contributions from developersCenstruction-costforone
primary-schoolof-420 places-and-early-years-provision; [MM14]

c) Asiteof 2.0 hectares for a shopping and community centre, of which 1.0 hectare will be for
community buildings at no cost to the provider;

d) Contribution to new and improved facilities at the secondary school; and

e) Construction cost of appropriate community facilities and buildings including youth and
children’s provision and a community hall;

f) Contributions towards a new recycling centre to serve Tiverton. [MM13]

3.27  The creation of a genuine urban extension requires that the residents and workers have access to a range of
community facilities within easy walking or cycling distance, thereby discouraging car trips for essential local
purposes. Itis also important that, as far as possible, the development of this site will not lead to unacceptable
pressures on existing services and facilities within Tiverton and the wider area. Accordingly, this policy sets out the
requirements for provision of community facilities within the development and elsewhere.

3.28  The adopted masterplan includes a phasing plan which ensures a new primary school is provided at no cost
to the Local Education Authority at an appropriate point in the development. The development will also need to
provide new and enhanced secondary provision to accommodate the demand it will generate. The Education Authority
has undertaken a feasibility study in respect of expansion and enhancement of Tiverton High School. Enhancements
may include an expansion of the school site. A neighbourhood centre will also be provided within the urban extension
site to act as a community focal point and located in conjunction with the primary school. The neighbourhood centre
will include shops to meet local, convenience needs and community facilities including a community meeting space
and youth provision. It may also form the location for local medical facilities, child care and small-scale offices. An
element of residential accommodation may also be appropriate as part of a mixed use approach.

58

Page 87



Policy TIV5

Eastern Urban Extension Phasing

The development of the Eastern Urban Extension must be carried out in accordance with an approved
phasing strategy, to ensure that the development and infrastructure come forward in step, minimising
the impact of the development and taking account of the need for development to remain viable.
Detailed justification must be provided if there is any proposed deviation from the following
requirements:

a)

b)

d)
e)
f)
9)

h)

)

k)

n)

The provision of on and off slip roads on the south side of the A361 to a standard suitable to form
construction access prior to any development;

The provision of the completed on and off slip roads on the south side of the A361 (forming the
southern element of the A361 junction) and the highway link between this junction and Blundell’s
Road prior to the occupation of any development;

The occupation of no more than 200 dwellings or 4,000 square metres employment floorspace
before the provision of a ‘Phase 1’ traffic calming scheme at Blundell’s School and improvements
to the roundabouts at Heathcoat Way and Lowman Way, as set out in the adopted masterplan;
Prior to the commencement of construction south of Blundell’s Road the transfer of land for the
primary school and its access to the Local Education Authority;

Prior to the first occupation of development south of Blundell’s Road the servicing of the site for
the primary school;

The occupation of no more than 400 dwellings before the construction of the first phase of the
primary school;

The occupation of no more than 400 dwellings before the provision of temporary open space on
the future school and neighbourhood centre site;

The occupation of no more than 600 dwellings or 10,000 square metres commercial floorspace
before the completion of the full movement grade separated junction to the A361 and completion
of the traffic calming and environmental enhancement of Blundell’s Road between Putson Lane
and Heathcoat Way;

The occupation on no more than 600 dwellings before the implementation of arrangements for the
management and funding for the Green Infrastructure west of Pool Anthony Bridge;

The occupation of no more than 600 dwellings before the implementation of bus service
enhancements;

The occupation of no more than 600 dwellings before the provision of a 2.0 ha serviced
neighbourhood centre site;

The occupation of no more than 1000 dwellings before the provision of Green Infrastructure
between Pool Anthony Bridge and Manley Railway Bridge within Area A as defined in the adopted
masterplan, with necessary management and funding arrangements;

The occupation of no more than 1250 dwellings before the provision of Green Infrastructure
between Pool Anthony Railway Bridge and Manley Railway Bridge within the Area B as defined in
the adopted masterplan, with necessary management and funding arrangements; and

Phased delivery of cycle and pedestrian links to the railway walk, Grand Western Canal and
nearby public rights of way.

3.29  The phasing of development will have a key influence on the impact on surrounding areas, but also on the
viability of development. The above policy sets out the approach to phasing which has been negotiated and agreed
through the adoption of the masterplan as a Supplementary Planning Document. Legal obligations and conditions on
planning consents will be used to control these phasing requirements. Other features such as sustainable urban
drainage and linking pipework should be integrated and phased appropriately in step with development.

59

Page 88



3.30 The provision of a new junction onto the A361 is critical to the success of the scheme, to prevent
unacceptable increases in traffic along Blundell’s Road and allow commercial development in the northwest corner of
the site to be delivered. Given the expense of building new roads, construction of the new junction will take place in
phases but is required early in the development.

3.31  Public open space and pedestrian and cycle links will be expected to come forward in pace with the
development rather than a specific trigger point being identified for provision. The provision of affordable housing will
be subject to viability assessment as each phase of the development is proposed in more detail through a planning
application.

3.32  The adopted masterplan sets out areas of the site (A and B), with more detailed survey and design work
having been included for Area A. The phasing and delivery of green infrastructure should be further informed by an
additional Masterplanning exercise for Area B to the southeast of the site, which is expected to be delivered after Area
A.

3.33  Itis expected that a serviced site for the neighbourhood centre will be provided no later than the occupation of
600 dwellings, but may be as early as the commencement of construction to the south of Blundell’'s Road. The
Masterplan SPD identifies that the construction of community facilities within the neighbourhood centre will commence
within phase 1b and will be built out by the end of phase 1c (up to 1000 dwellings). The funding and timing of the
provision of community facilities will be secured via a planning obligation (Section 106 Agreement) at planning
application stage.

3.34  The provision of land for the new primary school and the construction of its first phase are timed to allow the
Education Authority to secure the site at an early stage in order to plan for and meet the need arising from the new
development. No specific trigger is set out for enhanced secondary education. This will be expected to be provided in
pace with development in order to meets its needs.

Policy TIV6

Farleigh Meadows

A site of 11.2 hectares at Farleigh Meadows is allocated for residential development, subject to the
following:

a) 255 dwellings on land in Flood Zone 1, with 35% affordable housing;

b) 3 hectares of informal amenity open space within the floodplain with appropriate security
measures to prevent access to and pollution of the Mill Leat;

¢) Two vehicular access points;

d) Cycle and pedestrian routes providing links between Rackenford Road, Higher Loughborough
and Washfield Lane, incorporating and enhancing the Exe Valley Way;

e) Protection of oak trees subject to Tree Preservation Orders within the site, incorporated within
public open space where appropriate;

f) Careful design and landscaping treatment of the boundary between housing and amenity open
space, taking account of impact on views from the north and east; and

g) Measures to mitigate impact on air quality at Leat Street.

3.35 This is a previously allocated site that has planning permission and has commenced development. Of the
11.2 hectare site, the eastern most 3 hectares are in Flood Zone 3 and therefore not suitable for housing
development; this is proposed as informal space. The remaining 8.2 hectares has the capacity for 255 dwellings,

60
Page 89



taking account of the need to protect attractive mature trees within the site, which are subject to a Tree Preservation
Order. The Mill Leat which runs along the eastern edge of the proposed informal amenity open space, will need to be
provided with fencing and planting to ensure safety as well as avoidance of pollution to a vital water source for
Heathcoat's factory. This will have to retain access for maintenance. Discussion with Heathcoat Fabrics Ltd should
take place around the necessary details.

3.36  Two vehicular access points are required and gaps in the cycle and pedestrian routes in the vicinity will need
to be addressed. In particular, the existing Exe Valley Way which runs through the site should be enhanced to provide
pedestrian and cycle links to the south and north. Leat Street, which is about 500m to the south east of this site, has
poor air quality, and this site has the potential to worsen this through traffic generation. Where significant change is
proposed to the existing consented scheme, updated studies of the potential impact will be required and should fund
relevant measures to mitigate any impact. The site has the potential to impact on views from Knightshayes, a Historic
Park and Garden, and this should be considered in the layout, design and landscaping.

3.37  An outline application for development at Farleigh Meadows was granted permission for the erection of up to
300 dwellings in 2013, which was reduced to 255 dwellings at reserved matters stage. Both applications met the
requirements of the policy including agreement to maintain a 35% affordable housing target. The affordable housing
percentage of 35% is retained in the policy to reflect the planning permission that was granted, as that percentage
was clearly considered viable for this development. Any revised scheme will be considered against this target and
evidence would be required to justify any proposed reduction.

Policy TIV7

Town Hall / St Andrew Street

A site of 0.5 hectares at St Andrew Street is allocated for residential development as follows:

a) 59 dwellings, incorporating conversion of buildings adjoining St Andrew Street, including 28%
affordable housing;

b) Design which protects the character and setting of heritage assets both onsite and adjoining the
site, and enhances the setting of the River Exe;

c) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation; and

d) Ground floors to be raised and provision of flood evacuation/access routes.

3.38  An application for development at St Andrew Street was granted permission in 2013 for the erection 45
apartments for older persons, excluding the 14 dwellings to be provided through the conversion of buildings adjoining
St Andrew Street. The proposal met the requirements of the site allocation policy with the exception of affordable
housing provision, which was considered financially justified. As the new build part of this development has not been
built out, it is considered appropriate to include a policy target of 28% affordable housing to reflect the Council’s
viability evidence. Any revised scheme submitted in the future would need to be assessed against the criteria of the
policy above and market conditions prevalent at that time.

3.39  The design of this site is important as it is a highly visible site from the direction of the river. A scheme should
enhance the views of the Conservation Area from this direction, while respecting the character and setting of the
associated listed buildings. As a central site, there is the potential for archaeological remains, and this should be
investigated. The site is within the 100 year floodplain, although behind a flood wall. Due to its regeneration
importance to the town centre, the site passes the relevant sequential test set out in national guidance. Where
appropriate the provision of raised floor levels and access/egress to dry land in the event of flooding should be
provided.

61

Page 90



Policy TIV8

Moorhayes Park

A site of 0.4 hectares at Moorhayes Park is allocated for residential development, subject to the
following:

a) 8dwellings;
b) Access to be provided from Hayne Court; and
c) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation.

3.40  This site is located within Moorhayes Park and is bounded by the A361 to the north, modern housing to the
east and is adjacent to a transformer station to the west. It is currently an overgrown area and not in use. The site
falls within the built up area of Tiverton and as a result it is likely that there will be no landscape impact. An existing
access from Hayne Court is suitable. It is in an area of known prehistoric activity and appropriate archaeological
investigation would be required. A preliminary ecological appraisal has been undertaken which concludes that the site
is of limited ecological value. The town leat runs to the east of the site. A flood risk assessment will need to consider
the potential for flooding from the leat including a scenario of blockage of local culverts/bridges that convey the leat.

3.41  Planning permission has been granted for the development of this site, including one affordable dwelling. Any
revised scheme will be expected to meet the latest policy criteria for affordable housing.

Policy TIV9

Howden Court

A site of 0.53 hectares at Howden Court is allocated for residential development, subject to the
following:

a) 10dwellings;

b) Submission of a Junction Capacity Assessment to determine the need for a right turning lane
from the A396 if accessed via the Howden Court development; and

c) Provision of a pedestrian and cycle route from Howden Court to Palmerston Park.

3.42  This site is located on the western edge of Tiverton bounded by residential development to the east. This site
is the remaining part of a previous allocation for 65 dwellings, of which 50 have been built or are committed. On the
advice of the Highway Authority, if the site is accessed via the adjacent Howden Court development, it may need to be
served by a right turning lane from the A396, as cumulatively the housing will exceed 50 dwellings. Any planning
application should be accompanied by a Junction Capacity Assessment which should assess the need for the right
turning lane as a result of the additional development being proposed on the site.

62

Page 91



Policy TIV10

Roundhill

A site of 0.4 hectares at Roundhill is allocated for residential development, subject to the following:

a) 20 affordable dwellings; and
b) Investigation of ground stability and implementation of appropriate remediation works.

3.43  The site comprises underused garages in the Council’'s ownership with existing housing to the north, south
and east. It is a brownfield site and can be made available for 100% affordable housing. A number of dwellings
adjoining the site have rights of access over part of it and these will need to be maintained as part of the development.
Approximately 35 car parking spaces and garages will be retained/provided on the site as part of the redevelopment.
Potential mineshafts may be found in the area; appropriate investigations will need to be undertaken and should
accompany any application.

Policy TIV11

Palmerston Park

A site of 0.9 hectares at Palmerston Park is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a) 25 affordable dwellings;

b) Habitat and protected species reports including a programme of appropriate mitigation and
compensation for loss of any protected habitat or species if appropriate; and

c) Investigation of ground stability and implementation of appropriate remediation works.

3.44  This site lies to the west of Tiverton adjacent to Palmerston Park and close to Howden Industrial Estate. It
was previously used as allotments but is now unused and overgrown. The land is steeply sloping upwards to the
west. It is well screened from the east by sycamore trees and high banks. The northern half of the site is deciduous
woodland, classed as a priority habitat in the UK Biodiversity Action Plan. A habitat survey of the site will be required
to establish in more detail the characteristics of the woodland, the importance of the habitat, and identify mitigation or
compensation that may be required.

3.45  The site is in the Council’s ownership and can be made available for 100% affordable housing which is a
considerable benefit arising from development of this site. There is a potential impact on the landscape character due
to the loss of trees on the elevated part of the site. The site is visible from the east side of the River Exe. The impact
on the landscape will require careful treatment. Potential mineshafts may be found in the area; appropriate
investigations will need to be undertaken and should accompany any application. The site is expected to
accommodate 25 dwellings, avoiding development of the higher, steeply sloping part of the site.

63

Page 92



Policy TIV12

Phoenix Lane

A site of 1.4 hectares at Phoenix Lane is allocated for redevelopment as a high quality shopping,
leisure and residential area with accessible public space. Redevelopment is subject to the following:

a) 60 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) 7,000 square metres of mixed commercial floorspace including retail, office and leisure uses;

¢) Redesign and enhancement of the bus station to include an improved, safe and attractive
passenger waiting area with adequate provision for buses and taxi ranks;

d) Improved pedestrian access between Phoenix Lane and the Pannier market, and between Phoenix
Lane and the multi-storey car park;

e) Retention or relocation of the war memorial within the Town Centre;

f) Outstanding design that announces the southern entrance to Tiverton’s primary shopping area
while respecting and enhancing the character, appearance and setting of heritage assets and
steep open hillsides;

g) Retention of the listed building, Gotham House, and measures to protect its character,
appearance and setting including the protection of the Town Leat;

h) Adequate parking and service areas to serve the needs of existing and proposed uses;

i) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation;

i) Provision of a Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme to deal with all surface water from the
development and arrangements for future maintenance; and

k) Comprehensive Masterplanning of the development including at least two stages of public
consultation and adoption of the Masterplan as a Supplementary Planning Document, before
any planning application is determined.

3.46  The Mid Devon Retail Study (2012) identifies Phoenix Lane as an area suitable for retail development. At
present it is a wide pedestrianised road providing a link between the multi-storey car park and bus station to the core
shopping area of Tiverton. However, the street is wider than necessary and redevelopment could provide an
attractive shopping frontage with residential accommodation above. There are also opportunities to improve the bus
station and links to the Pannier Market and the multi-storey car park. Masterplanning of Tiverton town centre is in
progress to identify the best ways of enhancing the town centre’s attractiveness as a destination for tourism, shopping
and leisure.

3.47  High quality design will be crucial to the success of redevelopment of this area. It is essential that the historic
character of the town centre is respected, the setting of important listed buildings preserved, and views in and out of
the conservation area sensitively treated. Gotham House, a Grade II* listed building, must be retained and its
character respected, though the redevelopment may include the conversion of this building to residential
accommodation, subject to detailed plans. The bus station and car park are the main point of entrance to the town
centre for visitors, so the development must improve and enhance the visual quality of this area and the perception of
Tiverton town centre as a whole.

64

Page 93



Policy TIV13

Tidcombe Hall CONTINGENCY SITE

A site of 8.4 hectares at Tidcombe Hall is identified as a contingency site for residential development
to be released in accordance with Policy S4, subject to the following:

a) 100 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) Vehicular access point on to Canal Hill and improvements to Tidcombe Lane northwards from the
site;

c¢) Walking and cycling enhancements and connection to surrounding public rights of way and green
infrastructure networks;

d) Design and landscaping which protects the setting of the Grand Western Canal, Tidcombe Hall
and Conservation Areas; and

e) Archaeological investigations and appropriate mitigation measures.

3.48  This site is primarily greenfield and is identified as a contingency site to be released in accordance with Policy
S4. Whilst acceptable in some respects there are a number of constraints which make it less suitable than the sites
allocated in the Local Plan, including landscape and highway constraints that need to be mitigated.

3.49  The site adjoins the south eastern limits of Tiverton. It extends from the grounds of Tidcombe Hall southwards
including agricultural land as far as Newts Hill. Rising generally from north to south, it is more prominent at its south
west corner. Although the site could accommodate more than 100 dwellings, a lower density would help protect the
setting of the canal and Tidcombe Hall. The site is adjacent to residential development to the west, and low density
reflecting this existing development would be appropriate.

3.50  The northern part of the site at Tidcombe Hall lies within the Grand Western Canal Conservation Area and
faces the canal itself, which is also a Country Park. Tidcombe Hall is an unlisted building but is considered a heritage
asset and the setting should be respected. Development to the south and east of the hall may be significant. Design
and landscaping should protect Tidcombe Hall and the Grand Western Canal Conservation Area from the impact of
the development including their settings. There is potential for archaeological remains that should be surveyed with
appropriate mitigation provided if necessary.

3.51  AKkey factor is access. Tidcombe Lane has limited width without footways and Tidcombe Bridge is very
narrow. Improvements to Tidcombe Lane will be necessary northwards from the site to ensure the safety of
pedestrians, although not necessarily to increase its traffic capacity. A single vehicular access point on to Canal Hill
will need to be supplemented with a secondary emergency access designed to be located at the end of the main cul-
de-sac within the site.

3.52 A watercourse runs through the site and this should be preserved as part of the open space provision. A flood
risk assessment will need to consider the potential for this watercourse to cause flooding.

65

Page 94



Policy TIV15

Tiverton Infrastructure
The Council will work with partners to deliver the following infrastructure for Tiverton:

a) Provision of a new junction onto the A361 to serve the Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension;

b) Traffic calming and environmental enhancement to Blundell’s Road in association with the
Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension;

c) Provision of increased capacity at roundabouts on Heathcoat Way;

d) Bus service enhancements;

e) Expansion and improvement of primary and secondary education facilities;

f) Public open space and green infrastructure;

g) Expansion of emergency fire and rescue services;

h) Provision of healthcare facilities;

i) Enhanced library service provision;

j)  Community facilities including provision for children/youth, a GP surgery and community hall;
and

k) Provision of works to reduce flood risk;_and

1) Provision of a replacement recycling centre facility. [MM15]

3.58  Strategic Local Plan sites will be required to pay for specific items of infrastructure that are necessary to make
the development acceptable. Other development (if eligible) will be charged the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
at a rate per square metre. CIL funds will be spent according to a prescribed list of infrastructure projects or types of
infrastructure.

3.59  The Council’s strategic infrastructure policy is set out earlier in the Local Plan under Policy S8, but there are
infrastructure requirements specific to Tiverton that are listed under Policy TIV15. The Council will use CIL, planning
obligations for strategic sites and other sources of funding to deliver the infrastructure listed wherever possible. The
Council’s Regulation 123 list and accompanying policy on the use of Section 106 agreements, sets out the
mechanism willto be used to fund infrastructure. [AM51] Where another organisation is responsible for delivering the
infrastructure required as a result of new development, the Council will work in partnership with the relevant bodies to
ensure that infrastructure needs associated with development are addressed appropriately.

3.60 Devon County Council’s Waste Plan_(adopted December 2014)-which—had-hearings-as-part-ofits
examination-in-July-2014, allocates a site in Tiverton for the delivery of an Energy from Waste plant. [AM52] A site

within the Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension has been identified, being located in relatively close proximity to other
development, allowing energy and heat recovered from the disposal of waste to be exported to nearby properties and
businesses. The facility is included in Mid Devon'’s Infrastructure Plan as an important piece of local infrastructure,
though it is expected it would be fully funded by a private sector waste company, with no funds being required from
developer contributions or CIL.

66

Page 95



Policy TIV16

BlundelsBlundell’s School

A site of 14 hectares north of BlundellsBlundell’s School is allocated for residential development
subject to the following:

a) 200 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) Approximately 8 hectares of informal green infrastructure adjoining the River Lowman;

c) Appropriate land shaping to raise areas for development above flood zone 3, including an
allowance for the effects of climate change and to create additional floodplain to compensate for
the loss of floodplain;

d) Provision of ajunction on Heathcoat Way and a safeguarded road route through the site to serve
as a future second strategic road access for development at Tiverton eastern urban extension;

e) Provision and enhancement of cycle and pedestrian links in the area;

f) Site contamination assessment and remediation measures to mitigate risks associated with
former and current land-uses including the scrapyard and former poultry factory measures;
[AM53]

g) Provision of a sustainable urban drainage scheme to deal with all surface water from the
development and arrangements for future maintenance;

h) Implementation of transport plans and other non-traditional transport measures to minimise
carbon footprint and air quality impacts;

i) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation; and

j) Design which respects and enhances the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area;_and

K) The creation of additional/compensatory floodplain should secure wider environmental and
sustainability benefits. [MM16]

3.60a Land to the north of BlundellsBlundell’s Road in the vicinity of BlundellsBlundell’'s School consists of a mix of
Greenfield and brownfield land, including unattractive buildings no longer in use, in and adjoining the floodplain of the
River Lowman. Current and former uses have the potential to cause contamination, including an impact on river
quality, and development of this area has the potential to resolve such issues. The site is bounded by development to
three sides, with the River Lowman forming the northern boundary. Most of the site was previously allocated for an
extension to the Tiverton Business Park, which lies north of the river.

3.60b  The owners have previously confirmed availability and have sought allocation of the site, supporting the view

that the site is viable. It is suitable for a relatively high density of development, as it would adjoin a large area of public
open space. It is proposed to bring forward the residential element of the allocation from the previous plan (Allocations
and Infrastructure DPD 2011).

3.60c The flooding issues associated with the development of this site have been examined. The regeneration and
sustainability benefits arising from redevelopment are sufficient that the sequential test set out in national policy is
overcome, and the measures set out in the policy overcome the exceptions tests. The policy requires that remodelling
of the site be carried out, in order to raise certain areas and lower others, the end result being no change to the
functionality of the floodplain to deal with a 1:100 year return period flood event, including appropriate allowance for
the effects of climate change. This remodelling would create a total of 6 hectares of developable land along the
southern edge of the site, and 8 hectares of floodplain, which would be provided as Green Infrastructure. The
Environment Agency has indicated that it is supportive of the carrying forward of the allocation given the opportunity it
provides to assist in the provision of wider flood risk mitigation proposals in this area of the River Lowman_ _subject to
the provision of wider environmental and sustainability benefits. [MM16]

67

Page 96



3.60d The western end of BlundellsBlundell’s Road has air quality issues which have been within about 15% of
exceeding the relevant guidelines. Additional road traffic from this site has the potential to bring this permanently over
the relevant limits if access is obtained from BlundellsBlundell’'s Road. Accordingly, access to the site is proposed to
be direct from Heathcoat Way via a new junction. The design and location of this junction and site access may in the
future form part of a second strategic access to the Eastern Urban Extension. The development of this site will need to
ensure that any future route through it to service the Eastern Urban Extension is not precluded. Non-vehicular access
into and through the site should also be enhanced, through new and improved cycle and pedestrian routes including
non-vehicular links to BlundellsBlundell’s Road. An air quality assessment will be required with any application.

3.60e The site contains a working scrapyard, adjoining the River Lowman, which has the potential to harm water
quality. Its removal and clean-up of the site would be a particular benefit, and is a key justification for this allocation.
Similarly, the former poultry factory on the site may be contaminated and is becoming increasingly derelict. It would be
inappropriate to allow redevelopment of land within the site for new housing before the removal of the scrapyard,
given the impact on the living conditions and health of occupiers arising from its continued operation. Accordingly, no
residential development will be permitted on the site until the scrapyard has been removed and the site remediated.
Appropriate measures, agreed with the Council, will be needed to allow the site’s development.

3.60f  Provision of a Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme will be required, to deal with the quality and quantity of
surface water.

68

Page 97



Cullompton

3.61  Cullompton will develop as a fast growing market town and will become the principal focus of development for
the district in the medium to long term in accordance with the development strategy set out in Policy S11.

3.62  Cullompton Town Council is preparing a neighbourhood plan which may contain policies and site allocations
additional to those in the Local Plan. The neighbourhood plan is subject to a separate process of consultation and
examination. Local Plan allocations to the north-west and east of Cullompton have strategic implications for Mid
Devon and neighbouring districts, particularly with regard to impacts on the strategic road network. The Local Plan
takes precedence over any neighbourhood plan where strategic policies are concerned.

3.63  The following table summarises the development supply for Cullompton.

Use Commitments at | Completions from | Uncommitted | Total
31 March 1 April 2013-31 | Allocations
20182016 March 20182016 (within the
plan period)
Housing (dwellings) 252209 545487 3,2383;118 4,035
3,814
Commercial (employment, 29,80819;669 9,2733;598 30,702 5600 | 69,783
retail and leisure) square 807267
metres floorspace

Table 15: Development supply in Cullompton [AM54]

3.64 Seven Six-sites are aIIocated for housmg in Cullompton—exeludmgen&eenengene}%etekweele&haAMH
g [ . All housing

sites are considered achievable in principle, correspondlng toa Cullompton map that accompanies this document.
Four sites are wholly or partially without planning permission and these are shown below: [AM55]

Site Policy Gross Site Area Net site area Allocated
(ha) (ha) dwellings

North West Cullompton CU1l-6 100 65 1,350

East Cullompton Cu7-12 160 96 1,700-1,750

Knowle-Lane CcuU13 9.8 59 30

Ware Park & Footlands CuUl4 21 1.3 38

Land at Colebrook Ccu21 4.8 2.9 100

Total 3,118-3,238

Table 16: Housing allocations, excluding sites/dwellings with planning permission [AM56]

eens#ueﬁen—m&h—permrssmn—fe&@@dw%ngs—The remaining housmq sites have been qranted plannlnq approval and

69

Page 98



are now wholly or partially implemented. These sites are: Knowle Lane (CU13), Land at Exeter Road (CU15) and
Cummings Nursery (CU16). [AM57]

3.66  Land for commercial development is allocated within the north-west and east Cullompton urban extensions.
Allocated sites and-alse at Week Farm and Venn Farm in the Kingsmill area nhow have planning permission. [AM58]

3.67  The amount of floorspace to be provided by commercial development depends on the use. For instance,
office development on multiple floors provides a greater amount of floorspace per hectare than a single-storey
warehouse, and some commercial uses require more land for parking than others. Floorspace assumptions for
different uses are set out in the methodology for Strategic Commercial Land Availability Assessment (SCLAA), but the
Council recognises that this is only a starting point and a higher or lower density of development may be justified
depending on the nature of the proposal that comes forward.

Site Policy Gross site area | Net site area | Floorspace (sq.m)
(ha) (ha)

North West Urban Extension | CU1-6 100 3 10,000

East Cullompton Cu7-12 | 160 5 20,000

Week Farm Cu1l7 10.7 8.7 15,000

Venn Farm Cuis 4.4 25 12,000

Total 57,000

Table 17: Allocations for commercial development

70

Page 99



Policy CU1

North West Cullompton

A site of 100 hectares to the North West of Cullompton is allocated for mixed use development subject
to the following:

a) 1350 dwellings with 28% affordable housing to include at least five pitches for gypsies and
travellers and provision of extra care housing;

b) 5% of housing to be provided as serviced plots for sale to self-builders;

c) 10,000 square metres commercial floorspace to include a care home or retirement complex, and
other suitable uses such as a hotel or leisure development;

d) Provision of at least 28 hectares strategic green infrastructure;

e) Provision of aroad linking Tiverton Road to Willand Road, and transport provision to ensure
appropriate accessibility for all modes;

f) Environmental protection and enhancement;

g) Community facilities and primary school to meet local needs arising;

h) Carbon reduction and air quality improvements;

i) An agreed phasing strategy to bring forward development and infrastructure in step and retain the
overall viability of development; and

i)  Comprehensive Masterplanning of the development including at least two stages of public
consultation and adoption of the Masterplan as a Supplementary Planning Document, before any
planning application is determined.

3.68 Land to the north-west of Cullompton is currently in agricultural use. The western boundaries are formed by
hedgerows, the eastern by Willand Road and the adjoining development. The southern end of the site wraps around
the steeper northern and western slopes of St Andrews Hill, its southern edge again formed by hedgerows and
development. A stream with a narrow flood plain runs west to east through the site, and another stream forms the
boundary at the northern end of the site.

3.69  Development of this site must be carefully planned to ensure that impact on the landscape is minimised
through measures such as avoiding the development of higher ground, appropriate landscaping and ensuring that
areas at risk of flooding remain undeveloped.

3.70  There are severe traffic congestion problems on Cullompton High Street and at its junction with Tiverton
Road, having an adverse effect on air quality, living conditions and the attractiveness of the town centre. This
development will be required to provide a road linking Tiverton Road to Willand Road, not only diverting traffic from the
new development away from the town centre but also providing an alternative route for other vehicles. Traffic
management measures on Willand Road and Tiverton Road will also be required. Devon County Council queue length
monitoring at junction 28 of the M5 motorway indicates congestion at the AM peak. The development will need to
mitigate its impact upon the junction’s capacity through implementation of the Cullompton Town Centre Relief
Road. an ; | e : : PO s e

3.71  This development will also provide affordable housing including at least five gypsy and traveller pitches,
contributing to the need identified in the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (2015). Part of the
affordable housing provision should comprise extra care housing, which enables older people to live independently in
homes that are purpose-built in clusters of 50 units, with 24 hour care and support services available onsite.

71

Page 100



3.72  In addition, provision of around 60 serviced plots for self-builders will diversify the choice of housing for
potential residents, providing a low cost and reasonably straightforward option for those who wish to build their own
home.

3.73  The Council will consider a range of commercial uses on this site, subject to masterplanning. Industrial,
warehouse and office development is primarily located on the east side of Cullompton, and not necessarily compatible
with housing development, but this is a sustainable location for a number of other employment-generating uses. The
site should include a residential care or nursing home to account for the aging population, or another form of
development for the elderly which generates sufficient jobs. Self-contained retirement apartments where there is little
or no onsite care will not be considered to constitute commercial development because they do not generate any
significant number of jobs, but an extra care scheme or retirement ‘village’ or complex may be classed as commercial
development if there will be a range of facilities and care services onsite. The site may also include other leisure or
hospitality uses in addition to community facilities, a new primary school and various forms of open space.

3.74  The Local Plan sets out a framework for the development of North West Cullompton Urban Extension, but
leaves many details for later consideration. The preparation of a masterplan in consultation with stakeholders,
including the local community, is an important step in achieving a comprehensive development with wider community
benefits. The Council will resist ad-hoc development of phases with no reference to the overall vision and
development strategy for the urban extension. The developers will be expected to produce a number of further
studies and surveys to support the masterplan and work in partnership with the Council to achieve its adoption as a
Supplementary Planning Document.

Policy CU2

North West Cullompton Transport Provision

As part of the development of North West Cullompton, the following transport infrastructure will be
provided and funded by all new development within the site:

a) Provision of a network of streets linking to the existing highway network, including a through
route linking Tiverton Road to Willand Road suitable for buses and all agricultural vehicles;

b) Provision of bus, pedestrian and cycle routes at appropriate locations throughout the
development, creating an attractive, permeable network for non-car modes travelling within, into
and out of the area;

¢) Cycle and pedestrian links to and from the town centre and within the mixed-use urban extension;

d) Implementation of travel plans and other non-traditional transport measures to minimise carbon
footprint and air quality impacts;

e) Financial contributions to bus service enhancements within, into and out of, the mixed-use urban
extension;

f)  Financial contributions to bus service enhancements between Cullompton, Exeter, Tiverton
Parkway and Tiverton;

g) Financial contributions towards the Town Centre Relief Road and traffic management measures
on Willand Road and Tiverton Road; and

h) Finanecial-contributionstowards-cCapacity improvements at junction 28 M5, to deliver a strategic
highway improvement as demonstrated by capacity studies completed to assess the impact of the
traffic generated from the site. [MM18]

3.75  The provision of appropriate transport infrastructure is a key requirement of the development. This can
ensure that it is an attractive location for new development, that it minimises the impact on adjoining uses and accords
with the need to promote sustainable development. The development will need to mitigate its impact upon capacity at

junction 28 of the M5-by-financial-contribution-towardsjunction-improvements [MM19]. The provision of a road

72
Page 101



through the site linking Tiverton Road to Willand Road will alleviate traffic congestion at the junction of Tiverton Road
and High Street, and in the town centre generally. Combined with bus service enhancements and design which
encourages non-car modes of travelling, this should reduce air pollutants in the town centre.

3.76  The development should be served by an attractive, convenient and safe network of sustainable transport
routes, including bus, cycle and pedestrian. Streets appropriate for frequent bus routes should be provided so that as
far as possible, all buildings are within 400 metres of bus stops. Applications will be expected to respond to these
aspirations and as set out in the adopted masterplan SPD for the site. It is equally important that there is access to
safe and direct cycle and pedestrian routes within the urban extension, linking together the dwellings, commercial
uses and services. This can be achieved through the creation of off-road routes and also by ensuring that streets are
designed appropriately for safe walking and cycling.

3.77  The provision of green infrastructure as set out in Policy CU3 will provide opportunities for off-road cycling and
walking routes. These should be integrated into existing and proposed networks as far as possible. The creation of
additional public rights of way should be examined.

3.78  Developers will be expected to prepare and implement travel plans for the development as a whole and for its
constituent parts, to promote non-traditional measures relating to transport that can help minimise the development’s
carbon footprint and its impacts on air quality.

3.79  The development should be designed to be served by a permeable network of streets providing access
to/from the development. This should include a through-route linking Tiverton Road to Willand Road which is suitable
for use as a bus route and other traffic bypassing the town centre.

Policy CU3

North West Cullompton Environmental Protection and Green Infrastructure

As part of the development of North West Cullompton, the following environmental protection and
enhancement measures will be provided and funded by all new development within the site:

a) A strategic landscaping and tree planting scheme to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows and
other environmental features which contribute to the character and biodiversity, maintaining a
wildlife network within the site and linking to the surrounding countryside;

b) An area of 28 hectares for strategic green infrastructure, laid out and managed with an
appropriate mix of public parkland, open space, landscaping and potential local nature reserve;

c) Areas of equipped and laid out public open space, totalling 0.7 hectares of equipped play, 2.6
hectares amenity open space, 4 hectares for parks, sports and recreation grounds, 0.7 hectares of
allotments and 0.1 hectares for a community garden adjoining the health centre;

d) Protection and enhancement where possible of all existing Public Rights of Way;

e) Appropriate provision for sewerage systems serving the development, and provision of a
strategically designed, and phased, Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme to deal with all surface
water from the development and arrangements for future maintenance;

f) Detailed archaeological investigation and measures to record, and where necessary, protect the
archaeological interest of the site through appropriate design, layout and mitigation; and

g) Design solutions which respect the settings of listed buildings within and adjoining the site.

3.80 The area proposed as green infrastructure on this site will include land managed for public access and
biodiversity, and will provide a new recreation facility for the town. There are a number of potentially species rich
hedgerows within the development and further detailed study of these features will be necessary to confirm their
potential. The layout of development should promote the continued use of wildlife corridors, including watercourses,

73

Page 102



acting to prevent their fragmentation and providing appropriate treatment where such corridors cross roads and other
linear features. There is potential for off-road cycle and pedestrian routes to follow these features, helping maintain
their integrity. The requirement to extend the town cemetery, which adjoins this site, willneed-te-be has been
recognised in the proposals and has been extended. [AM59]

3.81 There is an area of flood plain associated with a watercourse running across the site from west to east. There
are also a number of small watercourses running through the site for which flood risk and flood zone data is unknown.
A flood risk assessment will need to consider the potential of flooding along these watercourses. The layout of the
development will need to take this into account. Areas of floodplain should be retained as part of the strategic green
infrastructure. The urbanisation of the area has the potential to increase surface water run-off elsewhere, through the
loss of permeable surfaces. The inclusion of a sustainable urban drainage scheme (SUDS) approach for the entire
development will ensure that there is no additional run-off from the site as a result of development. Critical Drainage
Area designation will require a net reduction in rain water runoff which affects parts of Willand Road and adjacent
properties. Measures should be put in place to reduce this. Sustainable urban drainage schemes usually involve the
provision of ponds, swales and other soft areas which can serve as a dual use for public open space and can be
incorporated into wildlife networks. The role of landscaping and tree-planting in flood prevention and-carben+eduction
should also be recognised in the development [AM60]. A detailed sustainable drainage strategy together with
proposals for ongoing management and maintenance for dealing with surface water must be prepared which builds on
the high level approach set out in the adopted masterplan SPD in order to determine the number, size and location of
the required SUDS features.

3.82  The development of this site will have an impact on the character of the area. The incorporation of appropriate
landscaping and tree planting will act to mitigate this and should be designed to support high quality green
infrastructure areas and wildlife corridors. Tree planting will also act to collect carbon dioxide, helping to reduce the
overall carbon footprint of the scheme.

3.83  Archaeological investigations in the area have demonstrated the presence of extensive and significant
prehistoric and Romano-British sites. The Historic Environment Record notes the presence of prehistoric enclosures
and funerary monuments within the area, as well as a findspot of a Saxon metal object and prehistoric flint tools.
Development must take account of the setting of the St Andrews Hill Scheduled Monument, a Roman Fort. An
archaeological assessment must be undertaken, the results of which should be taken into account during the
masterplanning exercise to ensure protection where necessary.

3.84 A number of listed buildings lie within or close to the area. The setting of these will need assessment and
protection as part of the layout and design work and subsequent planning applications. Careful consideration needs
to be given to the design of the new roads through the site linking Tiverton Road to Willand Road. The cemetery and
chapels could be closely affected by the road which runs close to the cemetery extension and could be prominent
given the topography. Appropriate boundary treatments and screening is critical to mitigate any potential harm.

74

Page 103



Policy CU4

North West Cullompton Community Facilities

As part of the development of North West Cullompton, the following community infrastructure will be
provided and funded by all new development within the site:

a) A serviced site of 2.1 hectares for a new primary school at no cost to the Local Education
Authority;

b) Provision of a 420-place school with early years provision and a children’s centre service

delivery base funded by appropriate contributions from developers. Genstruction-costsfora

provision-forearly-years; [MM20]

c) A site of 1.0 hectare for community uses including provision of a multi-purpose community
building-and

d) Contribution towards sporting and leisure facilities; and

e) Contributions towards a new recycling centre to serve Cullompton. [MM21]

3.85  The creation of an urban extension requires that residents and workers have access to a range of community
facilities within easy walking or cycling distance. This will discourage trips by car for essential local purposes. Itis
also important that, as far as is possible, the development of the site does not result in unacceptable pressure on
existing services and facilities within Cullompton and the surrounding area. This policy sets out the requirements for
provision of community facilities within the development site and elsewhere in the town.

3.86  The provision of a new primary school in the urban extension will be required in order to provide local
educational facilities for the resident school age children. The policy requires that the land for the school is serviced
and provided free of charge to the education authority, within the timing of provision set out in the phasing policy and
the adopted masterplan SPD.

3.87 Development of this site will lead to an increase in pressure on existing facilities and demand for new
provision. The construction of a community centre and provision of equipped and laid out public open space will be
required within the site. The location of community facilities has been established within the masterplan for the site, to
ensure the highest level of access for residents and other users.

Policy CU5

North West Cullompton Carbon Reduction and Air Quality

The development of North West Cullompton will be required to implement a Carbon Reduction and
Low Emissions Strategy funded by all new development in the site. This will propose measures to
minimise the overall carbon footprint of the development, making provision for sources of
decentralised onsite renewable or low-carbon energy and ensure that impact of the site on air quality
is acceptable, such as:

a) Renewable and low carbon energy to provide a proportion of the site’s energy use;

b) Measures to ensure that residents, employees and businesses are encouraged to travel in the
most sustainable fashion, including travel plans, information, car clubs, lift-sharing and
infrastructure for low emission vehicles;

c) Measures to encourage the sustainable treatment of waste;

75

Page 104



d) Measures to manage the impacts of construction;

e) Offsite tree planting where sufficient cannot be accommodated onsite;

f) Energy improvements to existing buildings;

g) Other measures to capture or mitigate carbon emissions and air quality impacts from
development.

3.88  The construction and use of buildings has major implications for the use of non-renewable resources. Fifty
percent of the UK’s carbon emissions come from the construction and operation of the built environment. As the
population increases and climate changes, there is a clear need to mitigate and adapt to climate change through
effective carbon reduction and other methods.

Policy CU5 ensures that ether—methods of carbon
reduction are alse conS|dered and incorporated into the development where appropriate, such as carbon offsetting,
travel plans and design which encourages sustainable ways of living. [AM61] The combination of planning and
building control should ensure a sustainable development that minimises carbon emissions from both housing and
associated transport. Further detail will be required through the masterplanning exercise and subsequent planning
applications.

3.90 Cullompton was declared an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2006 and an Air Quality Action Plan
was published in 2010. An assessment of the air quality impact of the potential development proposed in the Local
Plan was undertaken in 2014. Findings indicate that no significant cumulative air quality effects, including the impact
of the North West Cullompton development is anticipated as a result of the development of sites set out in the Local
Plan.

Policy CU6

North West Cullompton Phasing

A phasing strategy will be required for the development of North West Cullompton to ensure that the
development and infrastructure come forward in step, minimising the impact of development while
ensuring that the development remains viable. The strategy should take account of the following
requirements, variation of which will have to be carefully justified. Development shall be subject to
the following:

a) Provision of affordable housing will be in broad step with the market housing;

b) Provision of all serviced self-build plots after the ‘through route’ linking Tiverton Road to Willand
Road is operational;

c) Provision of commercial development after the delivery of the first 500 houses and prior to the
delivery of the first 800 houses, at a rate of at least 0.9 hectare per 150 occupied dwellings
thereafter;

d) Provision of 8.8 hectares of strategic green infrastructure including equipped public open space
and one playing pitch prior to the occupation of no more than 500 dwellings;

e) Implementation of local bus service improvements prior to the occupation of no more than 500
dwellings and strategic bus service enhancements phased with development;

f) Occupation of no more than 500 dwellings before the opening of a ‘through route’ linking Willand
Road to Tiverton Road and the delivery of traffic management measures on Willand Road;

g) Transfer of land for a primary school together with right of access to the Local Education
Authority prior to the commencement of the development on the site, and transfer of funding for
education facilities in instalments;

76

Page 105



h) The necessary sustainable urban drainage features, and linking pipe work is integrated and
phased appropriately in step with development and, where required, temporary measures
should be taken during construction to protect downstream areas from additional water run-off;
and

i) Occupation of no more than 600 dwellings prior to the completion of the Cullompton Town Centre
Relief Road. Provision-of M5-accessim y —chwelh jed-and

thereafter-broadby-in-step-with-development. [MM22]

3.91  The phasing of development will have an important impact on the surrounding area, but it will also impact on
the economic viability of the development. The policy sets out the general approach to phasing, with more detail
being provided within the adopted masterplan SPD February 2016. Legal obligations and planning conditions will be
used to control these phasing requirements.

3.92  The provision of transport links and improvements is a key element of the development. In addition to the
need to minimise traffic generation from new development, it will also be necessary to carry out improvements to
existing infrastructure to ensure that there is sufficient capacity available in order to cope with increased usage.

3.93  The provision of public transport to connect the site to the rest of the town and the wider area is an important
part of the strategy to improve the overall sustainability of the urban extension and the town generally. The North
West and East Cullompton urban extensions together will generate a significant increase in potential users of public
transport. Accordingly, enhancements to the bus service will need to be implemented at an appropriate point in the
development, before the occupation of no more than 500 dwellings.

3.94  The creation of a through route linking Tiverton Road and Willand Road will serve an important function
connecting the site to the wider highway network, providing a bus route and serving as a link from south west
Cullompton to the north. A through route should be completed before the occupation of the 500th dwelling. Devon
County Council gueue length monitoring at junction 28 of the M5 motorway indicates congestion at the AM peak. The

ALO N\LO aVa B econd-overp gdae-reg ad 1N onne aVa VY N-developmepte 'a ompnpton a¥ala

poliey-CU7 No more than 600 dwellings should be occupied before the Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road
is completed and open to traffic. The provision of the Town Centre Relief Road provides increased capacity at
J28 M5. [MM23]

3.95 The development will generate the need for additional primary school provision over and above existing
requirement within the town. To ensure that reliance on car based trips is reduced, it is important to ensure that this is
provided within close proximity of new dwellings within the urban extension. It will therefore be a requirement that
land is transferred to the Local Education Authority with right of access before the development commences.

3.96 Commercial development will be provided in step with housing to ensure that facilities for older people and
new jobs are delivered alongside the rising population of the town. Affordable housing, including extra care housing
and gypsy and traveller pitches, will be provided at a rate of approximately 25%, in step with the market housing.
Serviced plots for self-build should not come forward until after the through route linking Tiverton Road to Willand
Road has been provided, as the sale of serviced plots will not generate sufficient funds to pay for road infrastructure
and it is important not to impede the ability of standard housing development to progress and deliver the road at an
early stage.

77

Page 106



Policy CU7

East Cullompton

A site of 160 hectares to the East of Cullompton is allocated for mixed use development subject to the
following:

a) 1,750 dwellings within the plan period and further development of at least 850 dwellings post-
2033;

b) 28% affordable housing to include extra care housing and at least ten pitches for gypsies and
travellers, subject to viability;

¢) 5% of housing to be provided as serviced plots for sale to self-builders;

d) 20,000 square metres commercial floorspace within the plan period and a further 12,000 post-
2033, to include a care home or retirement complex, appropriately scaled retail development and
other suitable uses such as offices and a hotel or leisure development;

e) Provision of at least 40 hectares strategic green infrastructure;

AL O

improved-access-and-egress-onto-the-M5-moetorway-Provision of transport improvements to
ensure safe and suitable access for all modes, including necessary capacity improvements to M5
Junction 28 and pedestrian and cycling links across the motorway to the existing town; [MM24]

g) Environmental protection and enhancement and noise mitigation where necessary;

h) Assessment of land contamination and remediation if necessary;

i) Land and facilities for community use including a new primary school to meet local needs arising;

j) Contributions towards expansion of local secondary education facilities to meet needs arising;

k) Carbon reduction and air quality improvements;

) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation;

m) An agreed phasing strategy to bring forward development and infrastructure in step and retain the
overall viability of development; and

n) Comprehensive Masterplanning of the development including at least two stages of public
consultation and adoption of the Masterplan as a Supplementary Planning Document, before any
planning application is determined.

3.97  There is currently little development in Cullompton to the east of the motorway. This large area is
predominantly agricultural land made up of multiple fields with hedgerows and some mature trees. While the loss of
greenfield land is regrettable, Mid Devon is a rural district with insufficient brownfield land to meet the identified
housing and employment needs of a growing population. The quality of the agricultural land in this area is mixed,
falling predominantly within Grades 3a and 3b, and there are no alternative sites that could deliver this level of
development. There are a number of streams on the site but no significant areas of flood plain. The Landscape
Appraisal notes that the site is part of an area of gently undulating land, which is difficult to perceive in the surrounding
landscape. Although visible from limited locations within the Blackdown Hills AONB to the east and high ground to the
north-west of Cullompton, given the low levels of visibility of the site, phased development beginning from the west is
acceptable. Nevertheless, development of this site must be carefully planned to ensure that impact on the landscape
is minimised through appropriate landscaping and ensuring that areas at risk of flooding remain undeveloped.

3.98 Development in Cullompton is severely constrained by the limited capacity at Junction 28 of the motorway, in
addition to traffic congestion and poor air quality in the town centre. This development, in combination with the urban
extension to the northwest of Cullompton, presents an opportunity to resolve town centre traffic problems and provide
an alternative means of access onto the M5. The Council has been working closely with statutory consultees to
ensure emerging proposals for junction 28 M5 improvements are appropriately designed.

3.99  This development will also provide affordable housing including extra care housing and gypsy and traveller
pitches, contributing to the needs identified in the Infrastructure Plan, Strategic Housing Market Assessment and the

78

Page 107



Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment. In addition, provision of around 130 serviced plots for self-builders
will diversify the choice of housing for potential residents, providing a low cost and reasonably straightforward option
for those who wish to build their own home. However, the provision of highways infrastructure is fundamental to the
delivery of this scheme, and the Council will negotiate on the proportion of affordable housing and self-build plots if
necessary to ensure the viability of development.

3.100 The Council will consider a range of commercial uses on this site, subject to masterplanning. The Kingsmill
area is a well-established employment centre and further industrial, warehousing and office development may be
appropriate where the urban extension adjoins this development and the allocated site at Week Farm. In addition, a
development of this size will require small-scale retail development to meet local needs. The site should also include
a residential care or nursing home to provide accommodation for the aging population, or another form of
development for the elderly which generates sufficient jobs. Self-contained retirement apartments that include little or
no onsite care will not be considered to constitute commercial development because they do not provide a significant
number of jobs, but a retirement ‘village’ or complex may be classed as commercial development if there will be a
range of facilities and care services onsite. The site may also include other leisure or hospitality uses in addition to
community facilities, a new primary school and various forms of open space.

3.101 A masterplanning exercise will be essential to consider all the requirements of the development in more detail,
including the phasing of infrastructure. The Local Plan sets out a framework for the development, but leaves many
details for later consideration. The preparation of a masterplan in consultation with stakeholders, including the local
community, is an important step in achieving a comprehensive development with wider community benefits. The
Council will resist ad-hoc development of phases with no reference to the overall vision and development strategy for
the urban extension. The developers will be expected to produce a number of further studies and surveys to support
the masterplan and work in partnership with the Council to achieve its adoption as a Supplementary Planning
Document.

Policy CU8

East Cullompton Transport Provision

As part of the development of East Cullompton, contributions towards or delivery of the following
transport infrastructure will be provided by all new development within the site:

a) Capacity improvements at Junction 28 M5 to deliver a strategic highway improvement as
demonstrated by capacity studies completed to assess the impact of the traffic generated from

thesite 6o+ gatHoheasStHe o—-eRStHe-ohty/a eptapteHRPd O U O 8-0
as-orosultetrotiie gencratedramthesite;  [MMZE]

b) Provision of appropriate highway improvements on roads around the development to ensure any
unacceptable traffic impacts are mitigated;

¢) Reopening of Cullompton Railway Station;

d) Provision of a network of streets linking to the existing highway network, and appropriate
mitigation to reduce impacts on the existing road network such as Honiton Road;

e) Provision of bus, pedestrian and cycle routes at appropriate locations throughout the
development, creating an attractive, permeable network for non-car modes travelling within, into
and out of the area;

f) Safe and attractive cycle and pedestrian links to and from the town centre and within the mixed-
use urban extension;

g) Creation of safe and attractive pedestrian and cycle links between the development and the
Kingsmill Industrial Estate;

h) Implementation of travel plans and other non-traditional transport measures to minimise carbon
footprint and air quality impacts;

79

Page 108



i) Bus service enhancements within, into and out of, the mixed-use urban extension, linking to
Cullompton town centre;
j) Bus service enhancements between Cullompton, Exeter, Tiverton Parkway and Tiverton.

3.102 The provision of appropriate transport infrastructure is a key requirement of the development. This must
ensure that there is sufficient long-term capacity for vehicles travelling onto, off and across the motorway. A well-
functioning road network will also ensure that this is an attractive location for new development, minimising the impact
on adjoining uses and providing sustainable development that benefits the wider community. The reopening of
Cullompton Railway Station is also a key part of the development strategy for revitalisation of the town, attracting
inward investment and increasing opportunities for the use of sustainable modes of transport. East Cullompton, as
the largest strategic allocation within the plan, is required to make contributions towards the reopening of the station,
thereby providing future residents of the site with access to alternative modes of transport. The Council recognises
that the high infrastructure costs of this site will not solely be funded by the development. As has been the case on
other strategic sized sites, the Council will work with its partners and the development industry to secure external
funding to ensure the delivery of the necessary infrastructure.

3.103 The development should be served by an attractive, convenient and safe network of sustainable transport
routes, including bus, cycle and pedestrian. Streets appropriate for frequent bus routes should be provided so that as
far as possible, all buildings are within 400 metres of bus stops. These will need to be designed as part of the
masterplanning process. It is equally important that there is access to safe and direct cycle and pedestrian routes
within the urban extension, linking together the dwellings, commercial uses and services. This can be achieved
through the creation of off-road routes and also by ensuring that streets are designed appropriately for safe walking
and cycling.

3.104 The provision of green infrastructure as set out in Policy CU9 will provide opportunities for off-road cycling and
walking routes. These should be integrated into existing and proposed networks as far as possible. The creation of
additional public rights of way should be examined.

3.105 Developers will be expected to prepare and implement travel plans for the development as a whole and for its
constituent parts, to promote non-traditional measures relating to transport that can help minimise the development’s
carbon footprint and its impacts on air quality.

Policy CU9

East Cullompton Environmental Protection and Green Infrastructure

As part of the development of East Cullompton, the following environmental protection and
enhancement measures will be implemented at the expense of all new development within the site:

a) Measures to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows and other environmental features which
contribute to the character and biodiversity, maintaining a wildlife network within the site and
linking to the surrounding countryside;

b) An area of 40 hectares for strategic green infrastructure, laid out and managed with an
appropriate mix of public parkland, open space, landscaping and local nature reserve;

c) Areas of equipped and laid out public open space, totalling 0.4 hectares of equipped children’s
play, 0.12 hectares for teenage facilities, 6 hectares amenity green space, 9 hectares of parks,
sports and recreation grounds, and 1.5 hectares of allotments;

d) Protection and enhancement where possible of existing Public Rights of Way;

e) Appropriate screening and landscaping for properties adjacent to the M5;

80

Page 109



f) Appropriate provision of a sewerage system to serve the development and a strategically
designed, and phased, Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme to deal with all surface water from the
development and arrangements for future maintenance;

g) A strategic landscaping and tree planting scheme to mitigate landscape impact, protect the
setting of the Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and enhance biodiversity and
the character of development; and

h) Design solutions which respect the settings of listed buildings adjoining the site.

3.106 The area proposed as green infrastructure on this site will include land managed for public access and
biodiversity, and will provide a new recreation facility for the town. There are a number of potentially species rich
hedgerows and mature trees within the site, and further detailed study of these features will be necessary to confirm
their potential. The layout of development should promote the continued use of wildlife corridors, including
watercourses, acting to prevent their fragmentation and providing appropriate treatment where such corridors cross
roads and other linear features. There is potential for off-road cycle and pedestrian routes to follow these features,
helping maintain their integrity.

3.107 There are various areas of narrow flood plains associated with watercourses running across the site. For
some of the small watercourses, a flood risk assessment will need to consider the potential of flooding as the current
extent is unknown. These watercourses do not take up a significant area but the layout of the development will need
to take flood plains into account. Areas of floodplain should be retained as part of the strategic green infrastructure
providing wildlife corridors to other areas. The urbanisation of the area has the potential to increase surface water
run-off elsewhere, through the loss of permeable surfaces. The inclusion of a sustainable urban drainage scheme
approach for the entire development will ensure that there is no additional run-off from the site as a result of
development. Sustainable urban drainage schemes usually involve the provision of ponds, swales and other soft
areas which can serve as a dual use for public open space and can be incorporated into wildlife networks. A strategy
for dealing with surface water must be prepared as part of the masterplanning of the site to determine the number,
size and location of the required SUDS features. The role of landscaping and tree-planting in flood prevention and
carbon reduction should also be recognised in the development.

3.108 The development of this site will have an impact on the character of the area. The incorporation of
appropriate screening, landscaping and tree planting will act to mitigate this and should be designed to support high
quallty green infrastructure areas, wildlife corridors and noise attenuation. Free-planting-willalso-actto-collectcarbon
heme. [AM62] Two listed buildings are adjacent to the
northern boundary of the site. The setting of these will need assessment and protection as part of the layout and
design work associated with the masterplanning exercise, and subsequent planning applications.

Policy CU10

East Cullompton Community Facilities

As part of the development of East Cullompton, the following community infrastructure will be
provided at the expense of all new development within the site:

serviced site of 2.5ha for a new 630 place primary school, or alternatively Sha of serviced land in
two parcels of 1.1ha and 1.9ha appropriately located for the delivery of two new primary schools,
at no cost to the Local Education Authority; [MM26]

b) A site of 2 hectares for a shopping and community centre, and the provision of a multi-purpose
community building for youth, children and other community uses;

81

Page 110



c) Construction costs for a primary school_capacity of at least 630 places plus additional early years
provision, including the requisite land to deliver these facilities. The required primary school
capacity should be delivered through the provision of either one or two schools; [MM26]

d) Contributions towards the expansion of secondary education facilities in the local area;

e) Contributions towards the expansion or improvement of local library services:and

f) Contribution towards sporting and leisure facilities; and

a) Contributions towards a new recycling centre to serve Cullompton. [MM27]

3.109 The creation of an urban extension requires that residents and workers have access to a range of community
facilities within easy walking or cycling distance. This will discourage trips by car for essential local purposes. Itis
also important that, as far as is possible, the development of the site does not result in unacceptable pressure on
existing services and facilities within Cullompton and the surrounding area. This policy sets out the requirements for
provision of community facilities within the development site.

3.110 The provision of a new primary school in the urban extension will be required in order to provide local
educational facilities for the resident school age children. The policy requires that the land and construction costs for
the school are provided to the education authority, within the timing of provision set out in the phasing policy. The
development of 2,600 dwellings is expected to give rise to 390 additional secondary school places and a contribution
towards the expansion of Cullompton Community College will be required. The Masterplanning of the development
will determine the phasing of secondary school contributions.

3.111 The level of community facilities in Cullompton has improved in recent years with the opening of the Hayridge
Centre (incorporating the library), Cullompton Community Centre and The Walronds manor house and garden. 2,600
dwellings at East Cullompton will increase the use of these facilities and generate need for additional locally
accessible community facilities east of the motorway. In addition to a neighbourhood centre which provides a range of
shopping and community facilities, a contribution will be required towards the expansion or improvement of the town
library. The need for additional health care provision could be accommodated within the community facilities.

Policy CU11

East Cullompton Carbon Reduction and Air Quality

The development of East Cullompton will be required to implement a Carbon Reduction and Low
Emissions Strategy at the expense of all new development in the site. This will propose measures to
minimise the overall carbon footprint of the development, making provision for sources of
decentralised onsite renewable or low-carbon energy and ensure that impact of the site on air quality
is acceptable, such as:

a) Renewable and low carbon energy to provide a proportion of the site’s energy use;

b) Measures to ensure that residents, employees and businesses are encouraged to travel in the
most sustainable fashion, including travel plans, information, car clubs, lift-sharing and
infrastructure for low emission vehicles;

c) Measures to encourage the sustainable treatment of waste;

d) Measures to manage the impacts of construction;

e) Offsite tree planting where sufficient cannot be accommodated onsite;

f) Energy improvements to existing buildings; and

g) Other measures to capture or mitigate carbon emissions and air quality
impacts from development.

3.112 The construction and use of buildings has major implications for the use of non-renewable resources. Fifty
percent of the UK’s carbon emissions come from the construction and operation of the built environment. As the

82
Page 111



population increases and climate changes, there is a clear need to mitigate and adapt to climate change through
effective carbon reduction and other methods.

—Policy CU11 ensures that other methods of carbon
reduction are alse»con&dered and mcorporated into the development where appropriate, such as carbon offsetting,
travel plans and design which encourages sustainable ways of living. [AM63] The combination of planning and
building control should ensure a sustainable development that minimises carbon emissions from both housing and
associated transport. Further detail will be required through the masterplanning exercise and subsequent planning
applications.

3.114 Cullompton was declared an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2006 and an Air Quality Action Plan
was published in 2010. In Cullompton, it is important to note that exceedances of pollutants are only along Fore
Street, near the junction with the High Street and Tiverton Road. In the majority of other areas, pollutant
concentrations have been monitored to be well below air quality objectives. An assessment of the air quality impact of
the potential development proposed in the Local Plan was undertaken in 2014. Findings from this report indicate that
the development of a new community at East Cullompton would not have a significant effect on the Cullompton
AQMA. However during the masterplan design of the new community, the potential for air quality effects should be
considered, in particular, the distance between the residential properties and the M5 should be selected to avoid
adverse air quality impacts. Highway infrastructure improvements should also accompany the development to ensure
capacity is increased to limit congestion on the local road network.

Policy CU12

East Cullompton Phasing

A phasing strategy will be required for the development of East Cullompton to ensure that the
development and infrastructure come forward in step, minimising the impact of development while
ensuring that the development remains viable. The strategy should take account of the following
requirements, variation of which will have to be carefully justified. Development shall be subject to
the following:

a) Provision of affordable housing will be broadly in step with the market housing;

b) Provision of all serviced self-build plots after strategic highways infrastructure has
been completed,;

c) Provision of commercial development in step with housing, at a rate of at least 1
hectare per 500 occupied dwellings;

d) Provision of strategic green infrastructure broadly in step with development, with public open
space provided at a rate of at least 1 hectare per 150 dwellings or phased to deliver a larger area
of multi-functional public open space at a suitable stage in the development;

e) Implementation of bus service improvements in step with housing development,
provided in appropriate instalments;

f) Capacity improvements at junction 28 M5 to deliver a strategic highway improvement as
demonstrated by capaC|tv studies completed to assess the |mpact of the traffic generated from
the S|te i

develepment; and [MM28]
g) Transfer of serviced land together with right of access for primary school(s) at no cost to the
Local Education Authority prior to the first occupation of residential development, with necessary

83
Page 112



funding to construct the facilities being paid to the Local Education Authority in appropriate
instalments.

3.115 The phasing of development will have an important impact on the surrounding area, but it will also impact on
the economic viability of the development. The policy sets out the general approach to phasing. However, this will
need to be supplemented by a phasing strategy prepared as part of the masterplanning exercise, which may justify
different phasing arrangements following more detailed analysis of infrastructure needs and the viability of
development. Legal obligations and planning conditions will be used to control these phasing requirements.

3.116 The provision of transport links and improvements is a key element of the development. In addition to the
need to minimise traffic generation from new development, it will also be necessary to carry out improvements to
existing infrastructure to ensure that there is sufficient capacity available in order to cope with increased usage.
Improved access onto the motorway will be required early in the development at substantial cost, which may cause
some delay in the provision of other forms of infrastructure. Devon County Council’s Strategic Highways Option
Report (2014) sets out an initial assessment of the various elements phasing of transport infrastructure needed to
service the site. A signalisation scheme at junction 28 of the M5 was undertaken in 2015. However this scheme does

not produce Junctlon capaC|ty to accommodate this development Iheit%t—phas&tete#ed—te—m—eutenen—@ebea&

Council has been Worklng closely with statutory consultees to ensure emerging proposals for junction 28 M5
improvements are appropriately designed. [MM29]

3.117 While East Cullompton developers will be expected to pay for most of the infrastructure associated with this
development through a Section 106 legal agreement, the Town Centre Relief Road was allocated in the previous
Local Plan and was required in response to other developments in and around Cullompton. With the allocation of
East Cullompton, a larger area is available within which to locate the relief road as it is proposed as part of the
transport mitigation in connection with this allocation. Dependent on the final route option, the relief road may be either
east or west of the motorway. Development contributions are proposed via planning obligations on East Cullompton
and NW Cullompton developments. In addition, the Council will seek external sources of funding to help bear the cost
of highways works that are needed early in the East Cullompton development, as these are critical to the delivery of
this strategic site.

3.118 The provision of public transport to connect the site to the rest of the town and the wider area is an important
part of the strategy to improve the overall sustainability of the urban extension and the town generally. The North
West and East Cullompton urban extensions together will generate a significant increase in potential users of public
transport, including rail should the provider decide to reopen a station for the town. Enhancements to the bus service
will need to be implemented at appropriate points in the development, phased according to the delivery of housing.

3.119 The development will generate the need for additional primary school provision, which may be in the form of
one large school or two smaller primary schools delivered at different stages in the development. To ensure that a
suitable location for the school is safeguarded early in the development and its construction phased according to
arising need, the serviced land should together with right of access be transferred to the Local Education Authority
before any dwellings are occupied and its construction costs paid in instalments.

3.120 Commercial development will be provided in step with housing to ensure that jobs and facilities for older
people are delivered alongside the rising population of the town. Subject to viability, affordable housing will be
provided at a rate of approximately 28%25%, in step with the market housing. Serviced plots for self-build should not
come forward until after strategic highways infrastructure has been provided, as the sale of serviced plots will not
generate sufficient funds to pay for new roads and it is important not to impede the ability of standard housing
development to progress and deliver the roads at an early stage. [MM30]

84

Page 113



Policy CU13

Knowle Lane

A site of 9.8 hectares at Knowle Lane is allocated for residential development subject to the following:

a) 296 dwellings with 35% affordable housing;

b) Provision of 2.7 hectares of green infrastructure, to include the retention of land in the floodplain
as informal amenity open space;

c) Measures to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows and other environmental features which
contribute to the character and biodiversity, maintaining a wildlife network within the site and
linking to the surrounding countryside;

d) Provision of access route up to and adjoining the existing development to the east of the site and
the allocation to the south west (Policy CU14);

e) Provision of at least two points of vehicular access to the site;

f) Provision of cycle and pedestrian links within the development and linking to the wider transport
network;

g) Provision of a community building;

h) Implementation of a Travel Plan and other measures to minimise carbon footprint and air quality
impacts;

i) The necessary sustainable urban drainage features, and linking pipe work is integrated and
phased appropriately in step with development; and

j)  Provision of M5 access improvements before more than 266 dwellings are occupied.

3.121 Knowle Lane is a greenfield site located on the west of Cullompton and directly to the west of a development
at Knowle Lane known as Kingfisher Reach. The site lies between the southern side of Tiverton Road and Ponsford
Lane and the northern side of Knowle Lane. A water course (Crow Green Stream) runs west to east through the
central part of the site. The land rises northwards and southwards from the watercourse. The existing boundary is
made up of trees and hedges.

3.122 Planning permission has been granted for 266 dwellings on a large part of the site, with 35% affordable
housing. lIts delivery is not dependent upon further M5 access improvements. Any revised scheme will be subject to
the same affordable housing criteria as previously applied. The remaining part of the site has been confirmed as
available and is also likely to come forward in the plan period, a total site commitment of 296 dwellings. The
consented site is considered the primary access route for the remaining part of the site and the adjoining allocation at
Ware Park and Footlands (Policy CU14). Any planning applications will need to ensure suitable vehicular access
arrangements are provided up to and adjoining the boundary with the adjacent sites in order to avoid the creation of
any ransom strips.

3.123 The protection and enhancement of existing green infrastructure should be carried out where possible. This
will entail the protection of existing watercourses, hedgerows and trees and the retention of the area of floodplain as
an area of informal amenity open space.

85

Page 114



Policy CU14

Ware Park and Footlands

A site of 2.1 hectares at Ware Park and Footlands is allocated for residential development subject to
the following:

a) 38 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) No development until the road through the North West Cullompton site (Policy CU1) linking
Tiverton Road to Willand Road is fully in operation for public use;

c) No development until the significant improvement works associated with the provision of access
to the East Cullompton allocation have been implemented at M5 Junction 28;

d) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation;

e) Access from adjoining development at Knowle Lane (Policy CU13); and

f) Transport assessment and implementation of a travel plan and other non-
traditional transport measures to minimise carbon footprint and air quality impacts.

3.124 This site is located to the west of Cullompton adjacent to the allocated site of Knowle Lane. The site is
comprised of agricultural fields and Crow Green Stream runs along the northern boundary. The site is bounded by
established hedge boundaries and is relatively flat. Access is only satisfactorily achievable through the Knowle Lane
site (Policy CU13).

3.125 A geophysical survey undertaken in support of a planning application in this area identified anomalies within
the proposed development site that may represent archaeological features, some of which may be indicative of
industrial activity. In the light of the results of the geophysical survey and the presence of prehistoric as well as
18/19th century industrial activity recorded to the east in the adjacent development site, any groundworks associated
with the development of this area have the potential to expose and destroy archaeological deposits associated with
the known archaeological activity. Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation will be required.

3.126 Knowle Lane, by reason of its width and alignment, is unsuitable to accommodate additional traffic.
Therefore, access to the site should instead be taken through the Knowle Lane allocation (Policy CU13) unless the
road can be widened to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority. Development in this location will impact on
Cullompton Air Quality Management Area and will require mitigation.

3.127 The site will also impact on the capacity of Junction 28 of the M5 motorway which at present cannot
accommodate the additional trips generated by this development. Significant improvement works, including provision
of a new overbridge, are proposed to provide additional junction capacity and access to the East Cullompton
allocation (CU7- CU12). Once completed, these works should provide the additional capacity required. There are also
issues with the capacity of Tiverton Road, and specifically the junction with the High Street to accommodate additional
levels of traffic. The delivery of a new road through the North West Cullompton site (Policy CU1-CUB6), linking Tiverton
Road to Willand Road, will allow local traffic to be distributed more widely around the road network. To avoid an
unacceptable impact on both the M5 and the local road network in the short term, this site should only come forward
upon completion of both the M5 improvements and the North West Cullompton through road.

86

Page 115



Policy CU15

Land at Exeter Road
A site of 1.4 hectares at Exeter Road is allocated for residential development, subject to the following:

a) 24 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) Transport assessment and implementation of a travel plan and other non-traditional measures to
minimise carbon footprint and air quality impacts; and

c) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation.

3.128 The site consists of land to the south of the housing at the former Toad Hall, extending between the steep
hillside to the west and Exeter road to the east. Two dwellings in large grounds make up a portion of the site, together
with an area of underdeveloped open field between and behind them. A bowling club is located in the middle of and
surrounded by the site. Planning permission has been granted for 24 dwellings, though potentially the site could
accommodate more subject to sufficient capacity being available at J28 of the M5.

3.129 The site lies in an area of known prehistoric activity. Any planning application for development here should be
supported by an appropriate programme of archaeological work to allow the significance of any below-ground heritage
assets with an archaeological interest to be understood along with the potential impact of any development upon
them.

Policy CU16

Cummings Nursery

A site of 2.78 hectares at Cummings Nursery is allocated for residential development, subject to the
following:

a) 100 dwellings with 30% affordable housing;

b) Retention of land in the floodplain as green infrastructure and informal amenity open space;

c) Appropriate noise mitigation and sound proofing to minimise the impact of the adjacent
motorway;

d) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation; and

e) Transport assessment and implementation of a travel plan and other non-traditional measures to
minimise carbon footprint and air quality impacts.

3.130 This site comprises a former horticultural nursery located on the edge of Cullompton on the eastern side of
the motorway. The site is covered by disused greenhouses. The site has reserved matters permission for 100
dwellings including 30% affordable housing. Any revised scheme for the site will be required to achieve the same level
of affordable housing as previously agreed, unless viability evidence proves that this is no longer possible. Any
revised scheme proposing additional housing numbers will be subject to capacity at junction 28 of the M5.

3.131 The site lies between the flood plains of the River Culm (and the M5 corridor) and the Culm Lea/Riverside
Drive housing estate with vehicular access direct from Honiton Road. The site is relatively level, falling away to the
flood plain to the west. There is a mature native hedgerow along the western boundary that separates the site from an
area of open space that drops down into the flood plain.

87

Page 116



3.132 The dwellings are proposed to be erected following the demolition of the existing commercial greenhouse
buildings on the site, clearance of other infrastructure and remediation of the site. The site has fallen into a state of
dereliction as it has not been actively used for over 10 years. The new vehicular access is proposed from a position at
the junction between Culm Lea and Riverside Drive.

3.133 The proposed development site lies in a landscape where prehistoric and Roman activity is recorded in the
Historic Environment Record. The northern part of the site has probably been disturbed by the construction of the
greenhouses, but the southern part still has potential for containing archaeological deposits. Archaeological
investigation and mitigation will be required.

Policy CU17

Week Farm
A site of 10.7 hectares is allocated for employment development, subject to the following:

a) 15,000 square metres of employment floorspace within use classes B2-B8;

b) Provision of a vehicular link from the Kingsmill employment area to Honiton Road;

c) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation;

d) Protection and enhancement of the existing Public Right of Way;

e) Transport assessment and implementation of a travel plan and other non-traditional measures to
minimise carbon footprint and air quality impacts;

f)  Provision of 2 hectares of green infrastructure to include the retention of land in the floodplain,
providing a landscape buffer to the west of the site as an area of informal open space; and

g) Capacity improvements at Junction 28 M5 to deliver a strategic highway improvement as
demonstrated by capacity studies completed to assess the impact of the traffic generated from

the site. ProvisionofM a mMprovemen before-anv-comme 00 a ) bro

use: [MM31]

3.134 The site is located east of the M5 motorway, adjacent to an existing area of significant employment
development. The site could accommodate approximately 15,000 square metres of employment floor space. This is a
lower density than would be expected for employment uses generally and is comparable to that anticipated on the
consented adjacent site.

3.135 The site is allocated for B2-B8 use. However, the Council will consider proposals for alternative employment-
generating uses on their merits. Development in this location will increase pressure on the motorway junction.
Signalisation works at M5 Junction 28 were undertaken in 2015. Devon County Council queue length monitoring at
junction 28 of the M5 motorway indicates congestion at the AM peak. The development will need to mitigate it's impact
upon the junction’s capacity through implementation of an improvement scheme, either to the existing junction or in
the form of more extensive junction improvement works involving a second overbridge required in connection with
development east of Cullompton under policy CU7. A transport assessment to accompany a planning application
would need to consider the impacts on the local and strategic road network including Junction 28 of the M5.

3.136 This site lies within a landscape that has evidence of prehistoric and Roman activity recorded in the Devon
County Historic Environment Record. To the west, recent archaeological work has demonstrated the presence of
prehistoric and Roman settlement in and around Cullompton. There is potential for the site to contain archaeological
deposits associated with the known prehistoric and Roman activity in the vicinity, so archaeological investigation and
appropriate mitigation will be required.

88
Page 117



3.137 In order to improve accessibility the site will enable the creation of an additional point of access linking the site
itself, along with the wider Kingsmill employment area, to Honiton Road. This is seen as an important advantage of the
development of the site that will help to relieve pressure on the existing access to the area.

3.138 The site is bounded to the west by the River Ken and its associated floodplain. Development of the area of
floodplain should be avoided and retained as green infrastructure, which may be designed into the development as an
informal recreational area for those working at the site.

Policy CU18

Venn Farm
A site of 4.4 hectares is allocated for employment development, subject to the following:

a) 12,000 sqm of employment floorspace within use classes B1-B8;

b) Suitable vehicular access which directs traffic to and from the site via Saunders Way;

c) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation;

d) Transport assessment and implementation of a travel plan and other non-traditional measures to
minimise carbon footprint and air quality impacts;

e) Measures to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows and other environmental features which
contribute to the character and biodiversity, maintaining a wildlife network within the site and
linking to the surrounding countryside;

f) Retention of areas within the floodplain as green infrastructure; and

g) Capacity improvements at junction 28 M5 to deliver a strategic highway improvement as
demonstrated by capacity studies completed to assess the impact of the traffic generated from

thes'te O\ on-of MM ] a) mMpbrovemen hefore A\ ommae 00 nace bro

use. [MM32]

3.139 Planning permission was granted in March 2015 for 12,000 sq m of B1, B2 and B8 floorspace. A reserved
matters planning application has been submitted for part of the site. The site is located adjacent to the existing
Kingsmill Industrial Estate on the east side of the M5 Motorway. The site is well contained by natural features
comprising existing development to the south, the River Culm to the west and an existing track and road to the north
and south east. The land to the north and east is low lying agricultural land and to the south is the remainder of the
industrial estate. The western boundary is defined by the River Culm which is separated from the M5 motorway by low
lying pasture which is predominantly within the river flood plain.

3.140 Signalisation works to Junction 28 were undertaken in 2015. Highways England has removed a holding
direction that previously prevented the development from taking place. Devon County Council queue length monitoring
at junction 28 of the M5 motorway indicates congestion at the AM peak. The development will need to mitigate it's
impact upon the junction’s capacity through implementation of an improvement scheme, either to the existing junction
or in the form of more extensive junction improvement works involving a second overbridge required in connection
with development east of Cullompton under policy CU7. Planning permission already granted does not include this
requirement however it would apply to any new full or outline applications. Access is achievable via Saunders Way,
avoiding increased use of Kingsmill Road.

3.141 This site lies in an area of archaeological potential and within a floodplain of the River Culm. Ground
disturbance in this area may expose archaeological and palaeoenvironmental deposits, so archaeological
investigation and appropriate mitigation will be required. Development should provide a habitat buffer in the floodplain
and avoid any development within the floodplain unless the sequential test required by national policy has been met.

89

Page 118



Policy CU19

Town Centre Relief Road
A relief road, providing traffic relief to the town centre, will be provided subject to the following:

a) Public consultation exercise before the route of the road is determined,;

b) Provision of replacement open space and sporting facilities elsewhere in Cullompton if these are
affected;

¢) Provision of a shared use foot and cycleway;

d) Measures to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows and other environmental features which
contribute to the character and biodiversity, maintaining a wildlife network on the affected
alignment and linking to the surrounding countryside. Appropriate noise measures to mitigate
the effects from the relief road including the provision of landscaping and

e) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation.

3.142 The Town Centre Relief Road, previously known as the Eastern Relief Road, is an integral part of the
development strategy for Cullompton, designed to relieve traffic through the town centre in conjunction with a road
through the North West urban extension to link Tiverton Road to Willand Road. The evidence in 2010 concluded that
a new road to the east of the town centre is essential if the objectives of traffic relief, air quality improvement and with
it town centre enhancement, are to be achieved. It is also important since the town centre acts as a strategic relief
route for the M5 during closures resulting in significant congestion. Careful consideration will need to be taken in
finalising the route, which could be located either side of the motorway. The aim will be to cause minimum impact on
the CCA fields and acceptability in terms of flood risk and flood flows. Devon County Council is producing a Flood
Risk Assessment and will consult on the options for the exact route of the road should the final route impact on the
loss of sports or open space, replacement provision will need to be made available in a suitable location. At the
planning application stage, safety measures such as the closure of the relief road via an automated system prior to its
flooding may need to be considered. The Council has been working closely with statutory consultees to ensure
emerging proposals for junction 28 M5 improvements are appropriately designed.

3.143 Cullompton is facing the same traffic issues now as it was when the previous Local Plan was being prepared.
Additional housing development has now taken place at Knowle Lane and Tiverton Road, contributing to the delivered
Junction 28 improvements and funding for the Town Centre Relief Road, but work on the road has not yet
commenced. [AM64] The delivery of the road depends upon the delivery of the North West and East urban
extensions and development elsewhere. The road is likely to be funded by either developer contributions or
Community Infrastructure Levy as well as external sources of funding sought by the Council.

3.143a If the final route of the road is located on the western side of the motorway, there is the potential for impact on
the settings of nearby listed buildings and the Cullompton conservation area. The extent of any impact will depend on
the road’s design and elevation above the flood plain, and therefore the final scheme will need to incorporate design
solutions which mitigate such impacts. Any loss of floodplain at this location should be mitigated by the creation
of additional/compensatory floodplain which should secure wider environmental and sustainability benefits
including the provision of appropriate ecological and biodiversity enhancements. The site also lies in an area
known to have been occupied since at least the Roman era, the area potentially containing archaeological deposits
from this period onwards. Archaeological investigation and mitigation will therefore be required. [MM33]

90

Page 119



Policy CU20

Cullompton Infrastructure

The Council will promote the reopening of the Cullompton Railway Station. A site for a new railway
station north of Station Road is allocated for this purpose. The Council will use developer funding via
planning obligations and the Community Infrastructure Levy where appropriate, seek external sources
of funding and work with partners to deliver the following infrastructure for Cullompton:

a) Provision of a Town Centre Relief Road and implementation of other measures in the Cullompton
Air Quality Action Plan;

b) Mitigation to reduce traffic impacts on the Trunk and Local Road network in association with the
East Cullompton Urban Extension and other Cullompton allocations;

¢) Town centre regeneration and enhancement;

d) Extracare housing provision;

e) Expansion of library facilities;

f)  Primary and secondary education facilities;

g) Public open space and green infrastructure;

h) Bus service enhancements;

i) Provision of railway and bus interchange;

i) Expansion of emergency fire and rescue services;

k) Provision of healthcare facilities;

) Community facilities including sports and leisure facilities—and

m) Provision of works to reduce flood risk;_and

n) Provision of a replacement recycling centre facility. [MM34]

3.144 Strategic Local Plan sites will be required to pay for specific items of infrastructure that are necessary to make
the development acceptable via planning obligations. Other development (if eligible) will be charged the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) at a rate per square metre. CIL funds will be spent according to a prescribed list of
infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure.

3.145 The Council’s strategic infrastructure policy is set out earlier in the Local Plan under Policy S8, but there are
infrastructure requirements specific to Cullompton that are listed under Policy CU20. The Council will use CIL,
planning obligations for strategic sites and other sources of funding to deliver the infrastructure listed wherever
possible. Where another organisation is responsible for delivering the infrastructure required as a result of new
development, the Council will work in partnership with the relevant bodies to ensure that infrastructure needs
associated with development are addressed appropriately.

3.146 The Local Transport Plan includes a long-term aspiration to reopen Cullompton Railway Station. The Local
Plan allocates land north of Station Road as a possible site for the new station, including land for a car park. There is
also an aspiration to provide a bus interchange for the town which could be provided in the same location. The
Council will work with Devon County Council and other partners to achieve this objective.

91

Page 120



Policy CU21

Land at Colebrook CONHNGENCY-SITE

A site of 4.8 hectares at Colebrook is identified-as-a-contingency-siteallocated for residential
development-te-bereleased-inaccordance-with-Poliey-S4, subject to the following:

a) 100 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

be) Provision of two points of access from Siskin Chase;

cd) Provision of 1.1 hectares of green infrastructure, to include the retention of land in the floodplain
as informal amenity open space and for Sustainable Urban Drainage provision;

de) Measures to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows and other environmental features which
contribute to the character and biodiversity, maintaining a wildlife network within the site and
linking to the surrounding countryside;

ef) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation; and

fg) Transport assessment and implementation of travel plans and other measures to minimise carbon
footprint and air quality impacts. [MM35]

3.147 The site is currently used for agricultural land and is adjacent to the Cullompton settlement limit. Colebrook
Lane bisects the site, and the field boundaries and edging of the site are mainly comprised of hedgerows and trees.
The site is fairly flat from Colebrook Lane to the south, but gently slopes towards the west, with land rising to the north.

3.149 Development in this location has the potential to place pressure on the capacity of both the strategic and local
road network Devon

a#eeterther—M%aeees&mepreammem&areuwemememd—Any appllcatlon for development must undertake an

assessment of the impact of the proposal on both the capacity of the local road network and Junction 28 of the M5
and permission will only be granted where there are no srgnrfrcant adverse |mpactswmeh—earme{—be+mt49ated -Site

expected to contribute to the provision of off-site highways infrastructure. The development would also be expected to
provide two points of access from Siskin Chase. [MM35/MM36]

3.150 There is an area of floodplain on the southern edge of the site and it is proposed that this is incorporated into
the 1.1 hectares of Green Infrastructure. Measures will also be necessary to protect existing environmental features
including trees, hedgerows and the stream.

3.151 Archaeological investigations in the vicinity have demonstrated the presence of extensive and significant
prehistoric and Romano-British sites. The Historic Environmental Record suggests areas of a prehistoric funerary
monument occupying the valley floor. An archaeological assessment will need to be undertaken, the results of which
should be taken into account during the detailed planning of the site to ensure protection where necessary.

92
Page 121



Crediton

3.152 The development strategy for Crediton is set out in Policy S12. The following table summarises Crediton’s
supply of housing and commercial development.

Use Commitments Completions from 1 Uncommitted | Total
at 31 March April 2013 — 31 March | Allocations
20182016 20182016
Housing (dwellings) 295245 136167 548583 979
935
Commercial (employment, 6,86355% 2,0453;598 5,4299.820 14,337
retail and leisure) 13,969

square metres floorspace

. . o

(Note at time-of publication-latest
commerciar moRionng ot yet
avananie —Hgures presentec
2014)

Table 18: Development supply in Crediton [AM65]

3.153 Nine housing sites are allocated in Crediton, including Wellparks and Cromwells Meadow which havehas
planning permission. All housing sites are considered achievable in principle, corresponding to a Crediton map that
accompanies this document. Sites without planning permission are shown in Table 19 below: [AM66]

Site Policy Gross Site Net site area Local Plan
Area (ha) (ha) allocations

Red Hill Cross CRE2 3.1 1.86 135

Cromwells-Meadow Rz 24 A4 35

The Woods Group CRE4 0.17 0.17 8

Pedlerspool CRE5 235 14.1 200

Sports Fields CRES6 5.5 3.3 120

Stonewall Lane CRE7Y 3.2 1.92 50

Land at Barn Park CRES8 1.64 1.3 20

Land off Alexandra Close | CRE9 0.63 0.504 15

Total 548583

Table 19: Housing land supply [AM67]

3.154 Two sites in Crediton are expected to deliver commercial floorspace during the plan period. The amount of
floorspace to be provided by commercial development depends on the use. For instance, office development on
multiple floors provides a greater amount of floorspace per hectare than a single-storey warehouse, and some
commercial uses require more land for parking than others. Floorspace assumptions for different uses are set out in
the methodology for Strategic Commercial Land Availability Assessment (SCLAA), but the Council recognises that this

93
Page 122



is only a starting point and a higher or lower density of development may be justified depending on the nature of the

proposal that comes forward.

Site Policy Gross site area Net site area (ha) | Floorspace (sgq.m)
(ha)

Wellparks CRE1 229 1.2 2,220

Land south of A377 | CRE10 |2.6 2.6 7,600

Total 9,820

Table 20: Allocated sites for commercial development

Policy CRE1

Wellparks

A site of 22.9 hectares at Wellparks, A377 is allocated for residential and commercial development
subject to the following:

a) 185 dwellings with 28% affordable housing on 7.9 hectares;

b) 2,220 square metres of commercial floorspace in the south east part of the site;

¢) 15 hectares of Green Infrastructure on the upper slopes of the site;

d) Layout, design and landscaping that reflects the sloping, visible nature of the site, locally
distinctive design and the need to protect the setting of Downes Historic Park and Garden and
respect the character and setting of the listed buildings at Wellparks and Downes House; and

e) Improved pedestrian and cycle access to the town centre and facilities to the south of the A377

3.155 This site is to the south east of Crediton and is adjacent to the new Crediton Link Road to the east and
Crediton Conservation Area to the west. This prominent wooded hillside gives character and an attractive skyline to
the eastern half of the town. The development of the site, even though it is on the lower southern edge of the hillside,
would have an impact on the rural views to the south of the town, requiring careful design and mitigation.

3.156 Planning permission has been granted for 185 dwellings, including 27.5% affordable housing. The policy
provides the criteria to be applied as a starting point, should any revised scheme be submitted.

3.157 Due to the constraints of the site in respect of the Local Historic Park and Garden, adjoining listed buildings
and a number of large trees that are interspersed in the development, a lower than usual density is assumed. In
respect of the impact on the landscape, this will require careful treatment.

3.158 A small watercourse runs along the boundary of the site. A flood risk assessment will need to consider the
potential for flooding. An onsite Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme will require implementation to negate any
increase in flood risk and ensure that there is no additional run-off from the site as a result of development.
Sustainable drainage is a standard requirement under Policy DM1.

94

Page 123



Policy CRE2

Red Hill Cross, Exhibition Road

A site of 3.1 hectares at Red Hill Cross is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a) 135 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) Layout, design and landscaping that reflect the local distinctiveness, the visibility of the site and
its sloping nature;

c) Improved access to the town centre for pedestrians and cyclists; and

d) Land for a 0.4 hectare extension to Crediton cemetery.

3.159 The site previously had outline planning permission for 135 dwellings with 22% affordable housing, however
the permission lapsed in 2016. It is understood that delivery of the site is likely to take place after the Pedlerspool
allocation has received permission with options for joint access being considered.

3.160 The site is in a prominent position, which is visible from historic Shobrooke Park to the east. Detailed design
and development which respect local distinctiveness, including a generous landscape margin on the east facing side
of the site will mitigate any potential impact.

3.161 The development will also be expected to provide improved access to the town centre for pedestrians and
cyclists with scope for improvements along Exhibition Road. The development will need to contribute towards these
and other improvements to the local pedestrian and cycle way network. A comprehensive approach to pedestrian and
cycle route improvements should be taken in relation to allocations CRE2 Red Hill Cross, CRES Pedlerspool and
CRESG Sports Fields all on Exhibition Road. In addition, there is an identified need for an extension to Crediton
cemetery which can be secured through the development of this site.

Policy CRE3

Cromwells Meadow

A site of 1.3 hectares at Cromwells Meadow is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a) 35dwellings with 28% affordable housing; and
b) Archaeological investigations and appropriate mitigation measures.

3.162 The site lies to the east of Crediton with residential development to the west and agricultural land to the east
of the site. Vehicular access into the site can be achieved from Willow Walk. Appropriate landscaping will be required
along the eastern boundary given the potential visibility of the site from historic Shobrooke Park.

3.163 There is an area of floodplain on the eastern boundary of the site. The layout of the development will need to
take this into account. The urbanisation of the area would have the potential to increase surface water run-off
elsewhere, through the loss of permeable surfaces. Sustainable drainage is a standard requirement for new
development under Policy DM1. The site also lies in an area of archaeological potential on the western edge of the
floodplain. Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation will be required.

95

Page 124



Policy CRE4

Woods Group, Exeter Road

A site of 0.17 hectares at Woods Group is allocated for residential development subject to the

following:
a) 8dwellings;
b) Mitigation for potential onsite air quality issues with specific design to prevent worsening of air

c)

quality on Exeter Road and to avoid potential air quality issues for occupants; and
Design which respects the character and setting of adjoining listed buildings and the
Conservation Area.

3.164 This is a small brownfield site within the built up area of Crediton and is suitable for redevelopment. It is
located towards the south of Crediton and is currently occupied by a number of structures and scrap.

3.165 The design of the site is important as the site lies in part within the Conservation Area and adjoins listed
buildings—buildings-, whilst the site contains a number of unlisted buildings of strong traditional local character. The
retention and conversion of these buildings would enhance the character of the conservation area. The loss of these
buildings would be considered unacceptable without special justification. [AM68]

Policy CRES

Pedlerspool, Exhibition Road

A site of 21 hectares at Pedlerspool, Crediton, is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a)
b)

c)
d)

f)
g9)
h)

i)
)

k)

200 dwellings with 28% affordable housing including at least five pitches for gypsies and
travellers;

A serviced site of 1.1 hectares for a new primary school with early years provision and children’s
centre service delivery base; [MM37]

A suitable site for the relocation of Crediton Rugby Club;

A phasing strategy which ensures that sites for the sports pitches, affordable housing and gypsy
and traveller pitches are delivered broadly in step with the housing development, and the school
is transferred to the local education authority at a timetable agreed with Devon County Council
Layout, design and landscaping, including planting on the riverside that reflects the local
distinctiveness and its sloping nature;

The protection of the setting of Creedy Historic Park and Garden and the wider area, including the
upper slopes to south and west for Green Infrastructure and landscaping;

Facilitation of access to local bus routes via sustainable travel modes including possible
extension of service;

Provision of suitable access arrangements from the A3072 and appropriate highway
improvements along Stonewall Lane and Old Tiverton Road;

Improved access to the town centre for pedestrians and cyclists;

Protection and enhancement of trees subject to Tree Preservation Orders within and adjoining the
site; and

An archaeological investigation and mitigation scheme.

3.166 This site falls within Sandford Parish, but will provide for the strategic growth of Crediton as it adjoins the
settlement boundary. This site forms a large agricultural holding to the north east of Crediton and is bisected by a

96

Page 125



road running roughly through the middle. The site is bounded on three sides by country roads to the east, south and
west.

3.167 Devon County Council has identified that there is a need for a new primary school in Crediton. Both existing
schools are on constrained sites and are being expanded to their maximum potential. This site is a suitable location
for a new school, given that the north east part of the town is the focus of growth and provides the opportunity to
balance the distribution of schools in Crediton, thereby reducing travel distances for future and existing residents of
this part of the town. Given that the need for the school arises from the wider growth of Crediton, the Pedlerspool
allocation will not be expected to meet the full costs of providing the facility. The actual cost to the development and
the timing of the transfer will be subject to negotiation between the landowner/developer, Mid Devon District Council
and Devon County Council as Local Education Authority. The school should be provided within the site in lieu of an
employment use which was included in a previous Local Plan policy. Commercial uses would still be considered on
this site in addition to the school should a proposal demonstrate a suitable relationship between housing, commercial
and community uses.

3.168 This site will provide an alternative location and improved facilities for the Crediton Rugby Club, allowing for
housing development on the site of existing sports fields to come forward (Policy CRES).

3.169 The character of the local registered Historic Parkland at Creedy Park needs to be protected and the tree
boundary protected and softened with native species. A buffer of trees should be provided around and within this site.
Planting along the Park boundary should reflect the historic planting to extend and soften the transition into Green
Infrastructure proposed on the floodplain area to the east.

3.170 Highway mitigation measures will need to be provided to offset the impact of developing the site. In particular
there is the potential for cumulative highway impacts on the local road network arising from the development of this
site and the nearby Stonewall Lane allocation. A Transport Assessment will need to be provided, which
comprehensively assesses the transport issues related to development of the site, taking into account the potential
cumulative impact of nearby allocations. A number of highway improvements are likely to be needed as a result. In
particular there will need to be a realignment of the carriageways of Old Tiverton Road and the A3072 most likely
requiring a roundabout design. Improvements will also be required at the junctions of Old Tiverton Road/Stonewall
Lane and Pounds Hill/Stonewall Lane. Both Stonewall Lane and Old Tiverton Road are tree-lined in part, and
therefore cannot be widened where they adjoin the site boundary without significant loss in tree cover. Instead,
improvements to passing places along both Stonewall Lane and Old Tiverton Road should be provided. The
development will also be required to provide improved access to the town centre for pedestrians and cyclists with
scope for improvements along Exhibition Road. The development will need to contribute towards these and other
improvements to the local pedestrian and cycle way network. A comprehensive approach to pedestrian and cycle
route improvements should be taken in relation to allocations CRE2 Red Hill Cross, CRE5 Pedlerspool and CRE6
Sports Fields all on Exhibition Road.

3.171 The River Creedy flows to the east of the site. Hydrological and hydraulic assessment should be undertaken
to verify the flood extent. The results of the modelling will inform the location of different uses on the site, directing
residential development to areas of lowest flood risk. This will need to be set out in a Flood Risk Assessment and
accompanying drainage strategy.

3.172 The site lies within an area of archaeological potential. Investigation and potential mitigation may be needed.

97

Page 126



Policy CREG

Sports fields, Exhibition Road

A site of 5.5 hectares at the sports fields, north and south of Exhibition Road, is allocated for
residential development, subject to the following:

a) 120 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) Relocation of the rugby club and associated pitches to a suitable alternative site before
development is commenced;

¢) Provision of a Transport Assessment to assess the need for aright turn lane into the northern
part of the site;

d) Improved access to the town centre for pedestrians and cyclists; and

e) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation.

3.173 The site comprises the club house, main pitch and a number of training pitches currently used by Crediton
Rugby Club. A site for the relocation of the club has been identified within the Pedlerspool site (Policy CRES), freeing
up this site for residential development. However, should the Pedlerspool site not come forward, another suitable
alternative site for the rugby club and training pitches will need to be found before this allocation can be developed.
The replacement sports facilities should result in no net loss in provision.

3.174 The part of the site to the south of Exhibition Road is flat with good access from the A3072, whilst the area to
the north is steep adjoining the road, which has implications for design, layout and access. A right turn lane may be
required in order to access the northern part of the site, the need for which should be identified by a Transport
Assessment to be submitted by the applicant. The provision of secondary points of access will be necessary for both
parts of the allocation, though it is acknowledged that achieving this may result in the loss of some of the trees which
currently adjoin the north side of Exhibition Road.

3.174a The development will also be required to provide improved access to the town centre for pedestrians and
cyclists with scope for improvements along Exhibition Road. The development will need to contribute towards these
and other improvements to the local pedestrian and cycle way network. A comprehensive approach to pedestrian and
cycle route improvements should be taken in relation to allocations CRE2 Red Hill Cross, CRES5 Pedlerspool and
CRE®6 Sports Fields all on Exhibition Road.

3.175 The site lies within an area of archaeological potential. Investigation and potential mitigation may be needed.

98
Page 127



Policy CRE7

Stonewall Lane

A site of 3.2 hectares at Stonewall Lane is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a) 50 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) Relocation of playing fields to a suitable alternative site before development is commenced;

c) Layout, design and landscaping which reflects the elevated, visible nature of the site;

d) Diversion of Stonewall Lane through the site to Jockey Hill and widening of Stonewall Lane along
its frontage and replacement of boundary landscape;

e) Provision of pedestrian crossing facility from the site to existing footpath network on Jockey Hill;
and

f)  Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation.

3.176 The site is located on the north side of Crediton, within the settlement limit. It is currently used as playing
fields owned by the Queen Elizabeth Academy Trust, which runs the school in Crediton. The site comprises two
football pitches which the school considers too remote for effective daily use. The school has stated an intention to
use the proceeds from the sale of the site to substantially reinvest in their Barnfield campus which will result in an
increase in playing field capacity at that site. The redevelopment of playing fields needs to be closely controlled to
ensure there is no net loss in playing provision. As a result the delivery of adequate alternative sports provision would
need to be secured before development is commenced on the existing sports fields. Any new provision would need to
match or exceed the sports land being lost, whether in terms of quantity, quality or both.

3.177 The site is elevated and visually prominent, offering wide views to the south. Any scheme for the
redevelopment of the site would need to ensure adequate landscaping is provided to mitigate any landscape or visual
impacts, as well as any heritage impacts associated with the adjoining Creedy Park. High quality design will be
required in accordance with Policy DM1. There is the potential for cumulative highway impacts on the local road
network arising from the development of this site and the nearby Pedlerspool allocation. A Transport Assessment will
need to be provided, which comprehensively assesses the transport issues related to development of the site, taking
into account the potential cumulative impact of nearby allocations. Stonewall Lane, which runs along the northern
boundary of the site is narrow, whilst the junction where it meets Jockey Hill is sub-standard and has limited visibility,
being located close to the crest of the hill. Stonewall Lane would need to be diverted through the site enabling
construction of a new junction with Jockey Hill, to the south of the existing junction and providing suitable visibility
splays. Stonewall Lane will need to be widened to provide sufficient width for two vehicles along the site frontage.
Any loss of Devon Bank arising from the highway realignment will need to be replaced. The site also lies within an
area of archaeological potential and investigation and potential mitigation may be needed.

99

Page 128



Policy CRES

Land at Barn Park
A site of 1.64 hectares at Barn Park is allocated for residential development subject to the following:

a) 20dwellings with 28% affordable housing; and
b) Vehicular access from Barn Park.

3.178 The site is located on the south of Crediton with residential development along the northern boundaries. The
site is located relatively close to the town centre.

3.179 Access to the site will be through Barn Park as access is limited and the Highway Authority has advised that
this is the maximum number of houses suitable for access through the existing housing estate.

Policy CRE9

Land at Alexandra Close

A site of 0.63 hectares at Alexandra Close is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a) 15 dwellings with 28% affordable housing.

3.180 The site is a small field adjacent to modern housing on the north western side of Crediton.

Policy CRE10

Land south of A377

A site of 2.6 hectares south of the A377 in Crediton is allocated for commercial development subject
to the following:

a) 7,600 square metres of B1, B2 or B8 floorspace or other suitable commercial uses.

3.181 This site adjoins the existing Tesco store and a restaurant, with access from the A377 on the east side of the
town. The site was part of a larger allocation in a previous Local Plan, which subsequently had outline planning
permission for mixed use development. This remaining part of the site is still available for commercial use, which may
include B1-B8 uses such as offices, light industry or storage and distribution, or alternatively a suitable ‘sui generis’
use if appropriate.

3.182 A better understanding of the flows of the Rivers Yeo and Creedy, undertaken by the Environment Agency,
has indicated that this area is at greater risk of flooding than indicated at the time of the original permissions which
covered the wider Tesco site. They have indicated that some of the site may actually lie within an area of floodplain
that would be highly functional in times of severe flood, and subsequently development previously considered
acceptable could now exacerbate flood risk. A Flood Risk Assessment will therefore need to be submitted with any
application on the site which will need to incorporate both a comprehensive level survey of the site’s current
arrangement, and additional modelling taking into account current levels. The purpose of such will be to determine the

100
Page 129



risks so that fully informed decisions regarding the suitability, or otherwise, of the currently undeveloped plots that
benefit from outline permission can be made. The layout, site and floor levels of any development will be heavily
dictated by the flood risks. Appropriate landscaping and sensitive design and materials will be required given the
position of the site to the south of the historic Downes park and garden and the listed complex at Wellparks.

Policy CRE11

Crediton Infrastructure

The Council will use the Community Infrastructure Levy and planning obligations where appropriate,
seek external sources of funding and work with partners to deliver the following infrastructure for
Crediton:

a) Enhanced pedestrian and cycle facilities to serve development;
b) Bus service enhancements;

c) Air quality improvements;

d) Expansion and improvement of primary and secondary education facilities;
e) Public open space and green infrastructure;

f) Expansion of emergency fire and rescue services;

g) Library reconfiguration to provide Devon Centre;

h) Extra care housing;

i) Community facilities including provision for children/youth;

i) Potential highway improvements; and

k) Provision of works to reduce flood risk.

3.183 Strategic Local Plan sites will be required to pay for specific items of infrastructure that are necessary to make
the development acceptable. Other development (if eligible) will be charged the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
at a rate per square metre. CIL funds will be spent according to a prescribed list of infrastructure projects or types of
infrastructure.

3.184 The Council’s strategic infrastructure policy is set out earlier in the Local Plan under Policy S8, but there are
infrastructure requirements specific to Crediton that are listed under Policy CRE11. The Council will use CIL, planning
obligations for strategic sites and other sources of funding to deliver the infrastructure listed wherever possible.
Where another organisation is responsible for delivering the infrastructure required as a result of new development,
the Council will work in partnership with the relevant bodies to ensure that infrastructure needs associated with
development are addressed appropriately.

101

Page 130



Land at Junction 27
Policy J27

Land at Junction 27 of the M5 Motorway

102

A site of approximately 71 hectares adjoining the south bound carriageway of the M5 motorway,
adjacent to junction 27 is identified for major development. The land, which lies to the south of the
A38, is allocated for the provision of a major high quality regional tourism, leisure and retail attraction
supported by ancillary roadside services and supporting infrastructure including a pedestrian bridge
across the M5 motorway linking the site to Tiverton Parkway railway station.

The site provides a prime location for delivery of a major leisure destination themed around
agriculture and the agri-economy; the regional environment and tourism; outdoor land and water-
based adventure activities and outlet-retailing. The site provides a major opportunity to deliver a
unique leisure destination at the gateway to Devon and Cornwall which should be realised as a single
cohesive and comprehensively masterplanned visitor attraction.

The allocation makes provision for the following elements:

Travel Hub (7ha) — Motorway/roadside services; electric car hub; hotel.

Agronomy Visitor Centre (9ha) — exhibition space and hall, gallery; research and education space;
regional visitor centre and hotel. The Agronomy centre will include up to 1,000 square metres of
ancillary retail.

Outdoor Adventure Zone (6ha) — Surf lake/lagoon; beach; high ropes adventure area.

Outlet Shopping Village (6ha) - Designer outlet shopping centre retailing controlled goods
comprising discontinued/end-of-range lines, seconds and surplus/sample stock. The Outlet
Shopping Village to include up to 14,000 square metres of controlled comparison goods and up to
2,000 square metres of A3 uses.

The development is subject to the following:

a) Any planning application which includes a ‘designer outlet shopping centre’ should be
accompanieds by a full Retail and Leisure Impact Assessment to ensure that any potential
adverse impacts identified are addressed and mitigated; [MM40- as amended]

ba) Provision of supporting access roads, parking and infrastructure/landscaping (43ha);

cb) Provision of transport improvements to ensure safe and suitable access for all modes, including
necessary capacity improvements to M5 Junction 27 and pedestrian and cycling link across the

motorway to Tiverton Parkway Railway StationPrevision-eftransportimprovementsto-ensure

NHron a 'a mode N a-pew

de) Environmental protection and enhancement including noise mitigation;
ed) A comprehensive phasing programme to ensure the tourist and leisure provisions are
delivered at the same time as the retail and service elements of the development; and

Development of the site should be brought forward in accordance with the terms of a detailed
development brief, comprehensive masterplanning including at least two stages of public

Page 131



consultation and adoption of the Masterplan as a Supplementary Planning Document before any
planning application for any part of the site is determined.

3.184a A site of 71 hectares is allocated to the south and east of Junction 27 of the M5 motorway. The allocation
identifies the land for tourism, leisure and retail development. The proposal seeks to significantly increase the tourism
and leisure offer available in Mid Devon as identified in the Mid Devon Tourism Study 2014. The 2014 study identified
that the M5 and the mainline railway provides an opportunity to develop Mid Devon's tourism infrastructure around
these key links. To encourage a greater proportion of people to break their journey in the area, for instance to visit a
local attraction, market or retail facilities or to stay. It identifies that this opportunity builds on the District’s location at
the gateway location to Exmoor and the North Devon Coast; and on the route to Dartmoor, the South Devon Coast
and Cornwall from much of the UK. Given the volume of tourists who pass through Mid Devon on route to other
destinations, such as North and South Devon and Cornwall, the study identified that more could be done to encourage
these tourists to stop en-route and increase the length of time (and money) tourists spend in Mid Devon.

3.184b The study identified six potential strands to assist the growth of tourism in Mid Devon offering opportunities for
visitors to stop and stay when travelling through to destinations further south and west. The allocation at J27 makes
provision to directly address three of the recommended strategies by setting a policy which can provide a major
tourist, leisure and retail facility which caters for all age groups and which encourages visitors passing through to stop
and spend time in Mid Devon.

3.184c The allocation includes associated outlet/discounted retail floorspace to meet a regional comparison need and
deliver the tourist and leisure elements of the allocation. Existing town centres will be safeguarded through planning
controls. There is a clear synergy between the Designer Outlet Village proposal and the tourism and leisure aspects
of the proposed allocation. It is not considered viable to disaggregate this proposed allocation given the nature and
interdependency of the uses. Therefore it needs to be in a location which can accommodate this scale of development
and has appropriate links to the strategic highway and rail networks. A number of sites were considered both within
and outside of Mid Devon. These sites included Cullompton, Tiverton, Taunton and Exeter. None could provide the
site area required to accommodate the proposal as a single development nor could they provide the accessibility of
the allocation site. The J27 site provides sufficient land to accommodate the proposal as a whole, adjacent to the
strategic road and rail network and one which is served by local bus services. The site lies adjacent to the main road
and rail tourist routes into the West Country and is also ideally situated to serve the wider catchment area. The site
already has planning permission for a roadside service area. The allocation site lies within easy reach of Exeter
Airport and on route to the southwest European ferry terminal. The site is adjacent to one of the larger M5 motorway
junctions south of Bristol which can readily be improved to accommodate the proposal.

3.184d The proposals for a major facility of this nature needs to be considered carefully in terms of its impacts and
the policy makes provision for detailed transport assessments, environmental protection and green infrastructure,
energy conservation, provision of improved public transport, pollution and drainage considerations, phasing and
importantly master planning with full public consultation prior to any planning applications being approved. Any loss
of floodplain at this location should be mitigated by the creation of additional/compensatory floodplain which
should secure wider environmental and sustainability benefits including provision of appropriate ecological
and biodiversity enhancement. [MM39] Controls using legal agreements will be required to control the extent and
types of use that take place on the site, particularly in respect of retailing which will be tightly controlled. Section 106
planning obligations will also make provision for any necessary infrastructure and public transport improvements-and

Grasslands-SAC-will-notbe-adverselyaffected [MM39]. Priority habitats exist within the site and in line with
criterion de) of Policy J27 should be protected an enhanced. [MM41]

103

Page 132



Rural Areas

3.185

commercial development outside the three main towns.

Strategy for rural areas is set out in Policy S13. The following table summarises the supply of housing and

Use Commitments at | Completions from | Uncommitted | Total
31 March 1 April 2013to 31 | Allocations
20182016 March 20182016
Housing (dwellings) 535796 3474571 407260 1,289
1,627
Commercial (employment, | 20,73348,476 4-11930,977 8:8000 33,652
retail and leisure) square 79,453

metres floorspace *(Nete-at
Hime o publication atest
Commerciar moRionng ot yet
avananie —Hgures presentec
2014)

Table 21: Development supply in rural areas [AM69]

3.186 Twenty-enefive housing sites are allocated in rural areas and are considered achievable in principle,
corresponding to rural settlement maps that accompany this document. [AM70] Most housing allocations in rural
areas are expected to deliver around 20 dwellings per hectare due to the low density character of existing village

development, but in some cases a higher or lower density is justified.

Parish/location Policy | Site Gross Net site Unecommited
Site Area | area (ha) Uncommitte
(ha) d Local Plan

allocations

Bampton BAl Newton Square 0.25 0.25 5

Bow BO1 Hollywell 1.2 0.96 20

Bradninch BR1 Hele Road 0.3 0.3 7

Chawleigh CH1 Barton 1.25 1 20

Cheriton Bishop CB1 Land off Church Lane 1.4 1 20

Cheriton Fitzpaine CF1 Barnshill Close 0.3 0.3 7

Cepglostenc col SlebAbatiolr 15 12 30

Culmstock CL1 Linhay Close 0.23 0.23 6

Culsiaek o2 e ] o4 ) 10

Halberton HAl Land adj Fishers Way 0.6 0.48 10

Morchard Bishop MO1 Greenaway 1.2 0.96 20

slowdonSECyvres pEL CourtOrchard 27 L2 25

Sampford Peverell SP1 Former Tiverton Parkway Hotel | 0.45 0.36 10

104

Page 133




Sampford Peverell SP2 Higher Town 6 3.6 60
Sandford SAl1l Fanny’s Lane 15 1.2 8
Silverton SI1 Old Butterleigh Road 0.35 0.35 8
Silverton SI2 The Garage 0.11 0.11 5
Thorverton TH1 South of Broadlands 0.7 0.56 12
Uffeulme UFL West-of Uffculme 349 21 60
Willand Wil Land east of M5 29 1.74 42
Total 347260

Table 22: Housing allocations in rural areas (excluding sites with planning permission) [AM71]

3.187 FiveThe nine allocated housing sites not listed in the table above already have planning approval or have
recently been implemented,-and-these-are-set-out-below. Seven of these sites have existing planning permissions and
are set out in the table below. The figures for these sites are based on the position as at 31st March 20162018.
Development of the remaining two sites (Ashleigh Park BA3 and West of Godfreys Gardens BO2) has recently been
completed so these sites are not included in the table below. In addition, the site at Fanny’s Lane, Sandford (SA1) has
been partially completed; the remainder of the allocation is shown in table 22 above. The-site,Westof Uffeulme was

granted-permission-on-appeal—butfell outside-the-monitoringyyearand-hence heluded-in-table 22. [AM72]

Site Policy | Site area | Dwellings with
planning permission

Stone crushing works (Scott’s Quarry), Bampton BA2 3:41-0.45 |18

Ashleigh-Park-Bampton BA3 0.3 7

School Close, Bampton BA4 0.7 26

Milostel Codiroys Cordnine Doy 202 023 6

Fanny-s-Lane—Sandford SAL 112

Land adjacent school, Cheriton Fitzpaine CF2 11 28

The Old Abattoir, Copplestone COo1 15 40

Hunter’s Hill, Culmstock CL2 0.4 13

Court Orchard, Newton St Cyres NE1 2.7 25

West of Uffculme, Uffculme UF1 3.49 60

Total #6-210

Table 23: Allocated housing sites with planning permission in rural areas [AM73]

3.188 Evidence shows that employment in rural areas is more likely to come forward on unallocated sites,
permissible under development management policies where planning permission is required at all. This is discussed
further under Policy S6.

105

Page 134



3.189 Only two rural sites are considered suitable for allocation for commercial development. Willand Industrial
Estate has been allocated in previous Local Plans, Phase 1 having been commenced within recent years. The
remaining land (Phase 2) now has outline planning permission and is subject to a reserved matters application.-is
availablesuitable-and-achievable: [AM74] Land at Scott’s Quarry is the remaining undeveloped part of a previous
Local Plan allocation and now has planning permission for mixed housing and commercial use.

Parish/location | Site Gross site | Net site Floorspace
area (ha) |area (ha) (sg.m)
Bampton Stone crushing works (Scott’s 0.45 0.36 355
Quarry), Bampton
Willand Willand Industrial Estate 9.2 5.52 22,000
Total 22,355

Table 24: Allocated commercial sites in rural areas

Policy BAl1

Newton Square, Bampton

A site of 0.25 hectares to the rear of Newton Square, Bampton is allocated for residential
development, subject to the following:

a) 5dwellings;

b) Provision is made on site for the parking of delivery vehicles serving the convenience store at 4-6
Newton Square;

c) Design which respects and enhances the character and appearance of the Conservation Area;
and

d) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation measures.

3.190 The site comprises land to the rear of the existing convenience store. It is suitable being a brownfield site,
lying partially within the existing settlement limit. The majority of the site lies within the Conservation Area where
development should preserve or enhance the character and setting of the area. Access is likely to be obtainable only
through the existing access off Newton Court which serves the convenience store and through which deliveries are
made. Due to the width of the access, Newton Court is not suitable for the regular parking of delivery vehicles and
provision should be made within the development site for this activity.

3.191 The site lies in an area of archaeological potential within the historic core of Bampton, so a programme of
archaeological investigation will be required, with mitigation measures if necessary.

106

Page 135



Policy BA2

Stone Crushing Works (Scott’s Quarry), Bampton

A site of 0.45 hectares at Scott’s Quarry, Bampton is allocated for mixed-use development, subject to
the following:

a) 18 dwellings with 30% affordable housing;

b) 355 square metres of commercial floor space;

c) Protection of mature trees within the site;

d) Removal of spoil heap;

e) Site contamination assessment and remediation where appropriate; and

f) Provision of a drainage strategy and sustainable urban drainage scheme to deal with all surface
water from the development and arrangements for future maintenance.

3.192 The site is the remaining part of a previous allocation. The site is bounded by mature trees on two sides
(north and west) and currently contains a large spoil heap within the middle of the site. There is existing access which
serves Woodland Close. An appeal decision has allowed mixed use development on the remaining employment part
of the site, comprising 18 dwellings (including four affordable dwellings) and 6 B1 units (with a floorspace of 355
square metres). Should a revised scheme for the site be submitted, the current target of 30% affordable housing
would apply as the starting point for negotiation.

3.193 The history of quarrying at the site highlights the possibility of the presence of contaminated land. Developing
the site would require removal of the large spoil heap. Groundwater flooding maps show a 20-25% chance of
groundwater emergence within the site boundary. Any planning application on the site will need to be accompanied by
a drainage strategy which takes account of the potential for groundwater flooding in addition to considering surface
water runoff. The subsequent design of the Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme will need to be appropriate to the
conditions identified. Suitable drainage is a standard requirement of Policies S9 and DM1 but the requirement is
reiterated in Policy BA2 for clarity due to the specific potential of this site for groundwater flooding.

Policy BA3

Ashleigh Park, Bampton

A site of 0.3 hectares at Ashleigh Park, Bampton is allocated for residential development, subject to
the following:

a) 7 dwellings with 30% affordable housing which may be in the form of a financial contribution to
provide the affordable dwellings in another location;

b) Access is obtained off the existing estate road; and

c) Provision is made to replace any loss of allocated parking for existing dwellings in Ashleigh Park.

3.194 The site comprises agricultural land at the end of the existing cul-de-sac development of Ashleigh Park. The
site slopes downwards from south to north, with the northern part of the site the flattest and the southern extent the
steepest part of the site. Access is likely to involve the demolition of the garage serving 33 Ashleigh Park and this loss
of allocated parking provision should be replaced to ensure adequate allocated parking provision is retained.

107

Page 136



Policy BA4

School Close, Bampton

A site of 0.7 hectares at School Close, Bampton is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a) 26 dwellings with 308% affordable housing; [AM75]

b) Access to be achieved off West Street;

c) Traffic calming measures along West Street;

d) Provision of a pedestrian footpath along West Street to link with the entrance to the site on
West Street; and

e) Provision of a Drainage Strategy and a Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme to deal with all
surface water from the development and arrangements for future maintenance.

3.194a This greenfield site is located towards the south of the former primary school and forms the remaining part of
a previous allocation. It slopes upwards from north to south with the higher ground of the former school site on
approximately the same level as that of the lower portions of the site.

3.194b An application for 26 dwellings and associated vehicular and pedestrian accesses was granted outline
permission by the Council in April 2013 subject to conditions. The permission includes 167 affordable units and
consequently, the policy provides the criteria to be applied as a starting point, should any revised scheme be
submitted. [AM76]

3.194c Parts of West Street are narrow and it is a Devon County Council Highways requirement that
improvements, in the form of traffic calming measures, shall be made to the section immediately to the east of the
access point and include the provision of a pedestrian path to link with an existing path further along West Street.

Policy BO1

Land adjacent to Hollywell, Bow

A site of 1.2 hectares at land adjacent Hollywell, Bow is allocated for residential development, subject
to the following:

a) 20dwellings with 30% affordable housing;
b) Site access to come off Station Road via north west corner through the ‘Hollywell’ building; and
¢) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation measures.

3.195 The site is located within the village of Bow, along its southern border adjoining farmland and the open
countryside. It is a flat agricultural field surrounded by hedging. The site is to the rear of a small number of detached
bungalows, set in low density plots immediately to the west. Due to the large number of existing accesses further
south along Station Road, advice from the Highway Authority states that a suitable access can only be achieved into
the site via the north west corner where the boundary abuts Station Road. The existing house, ‘Hollywell’, will
therefore need to be demolished to deliver the required access. However, an alternative access option will be
considered if a suitable scheme can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority.

3.196 This site lies in an area of archaeological potential, with prehistoric settlement and funerary activity recorded
in the vicinity. Therefore, investigation of archaeology on the site will be required, with mitigation if necessary.

108

Page 137



Policy BO2

West of Godfreys Gardens, Bow

A site of 0.23 hectares West of Godfreys Gardens is allocated for affordable housing, subject to the
following:

a) 6 dwellings with 100% affordable housing;

b) Provision of a pedestrian route linking Godfreys Gardens with Bow Mill Lane;
c) Archaeological investigations and appropriate mitigation measures; and

d) Access from Godfrey Gardens.

3.197 This greenfield site lies to the west of a residential area within Bow. It slopes generally from east to west with
borders of hedgerow and trees and the retention of those features would ensure that landscape impact is minimal. An
application for 6 affordable units and associated access road, parking and drainage was granted permission by the
Council in April 2014 subject to conditions. Provision of a pedestrian through route linking Bow Mill Lane to the west
ensures pedestrian and cycling access for existing and new residents to the village shop.

3.198 This site lies in an area of archaeological potential, with prehistoric settlement and funerary activity recorded
in the vicinity. Therefore, archaeological investigation of the site will be required, and mitigation if necessary.

Policy BR1

Hele Road, Bradninch
A site of 0.3 hectares at Hele Road is allocated for residential development, subject to the following:

a) 7 dwellings with 30% affordable housing which may be in the form of a financial contribution to
provide affordable dwellings in another location;

b) Access point to be located on the northern part of the site frontage on to Hele Road; and

c) Archaeological investigations and appropriate mitigation measures.

3.199 This site is located on the edge of the settlement of Bradninch; it is immediately adjacent to the settlement
boundary and also has a boundary with the highway. There is housing to the western side of the site on the opposite
side of the road. Services and shops are located in the village centre which is in close proximity. A bus stop is
positioned adjacent to the site, and there are large trees surrounding the site. The site is located on a fairly busy road,
and the bus stop may need to be moved from its current position if the site is developed. An adequate access is
achievable to the north of the site.

3.200 The site lies in an area of archaeological potential demonstrated by the presence of prehistoric sites identified
through aerial photography. Therefore, archaeological investigation of the site will be required, and mitigation if
necessary.

Policy CH1

Barton, Chawleigh

A site of 1.25 hectares at the Barton is allocated for residential development, subject to the following:

109

Page 138



a) 20dwellings with 30% affordable housing;

b) Access to be achieved off School Close;

c) Design solution which respects the setting of the conservation area and listed buildings; and
d) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation measures.

3.201 The site comprises part of an agricultural field to the north of the village of Chawleigh. The south western
corner of the field contains a completed rural exception site named School Close. Access can be achieved off the
exception site but road capacity should limit development to a maximum of 20 dwellings. The site is located in an area
of archaeological potential and records indicate the presence of a prehistoric burial site. Therefore, archaeological
investigation of the site will be required, and mitigation if necessary. Appropriate landscaping will be required to
mitigate any potential impacts on the conservation area and listed buildings, including the grade | church which lies to
the south east.

Policy CB1

Land off Church Lane, Cheriton Bishop

A site of 1.4 hectares at Land off Church Lane, Cheriton Bishop is allocated for residential
development, subject to the following:

a) 20 dwellings with 30% affordable housing, subject to Transport Assessment;

b) Assessment of the capacity of the junction of Church Lane and the main road (C50);
c) Widening of Church Lane and provision of a footpath along site frontage; and

d) Provision of alandscape buffer along the northern boundary of the site.

3.202 This site comprises part of a field located on the east side of Church Lane and to the north of Hescane Park.
The site is located between the older part of the village to the north, and the more modern development to the south
known as Cheriton Cross. There is the opportunity to integrate more closely the two elements of the village by
developing this site. The land gently undulates, dropping away further to the east. Landscape impacts are likely to be
low as there is existing housing along the southern and western boundaries, which will mitigate some of the impact.

3.203 The junction of Church Lane with the main road to the south of the site may place a limitation on the number
of dwellings that can be achieved. Any planning application should be accompanied by a Transport Assessment
which should assess the capacity of the junction to accommodate additional vehicles. Improvements may be required
to the junction as a result. The widening of Church Lane along the site frontage will be necessary and a footpath will
also be needed along the site frontage linking up with the existing provision to the south. A design solution which
provides the footpath on the inside of replacement planting to offset the loss of the hedgerow will be looked upon
favourably at the planning application stage.

3.204 A small watercourse runs along the southern boundary of the site. A flood risk assessment will need to

consider the potential for flooding. An onsite Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme will require implementation to
negate any increase in flood risk. Suitable drainage is a standard requirement of Policies S9 and DML1.

Policy CF1

Barnshill Close, Cheriton Fitzpaine

A site of 0.3 hectares at Barnshill Close, Cheriton Fitzpaine is allocated for residential development,
subject to the following:

110

Page 139



a) 7 dwellings with 30% affordable housing which may be in the form of a financial contribution to
provide the affordable dwellings in another location.

3.205 This site forms a rectangular block of land lying between the new school to the east and Barnshill Close to the
west. It is a natural infill site which already has an existing access point to the south. The site is on higher ground
than the road to the south, though any visual impact is likely to be minimal given the neighbouring uses. The site lies
outside but relatively close to the edge of the conservation area. Appropriate design and choice of materials should
ensure that there is no detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the historic environment.

Policy CF2

Land adjacent school, Cheriton Fitzpaine

A site of 1.1 hectares adjacent to the school, Cheriton Fitzpaine is allocated for residential
development, subject to the following:

a) 22 dwellings with 30% affordable housing.

3.206 This site forms an elongated and roughly triangular-shaped block of land lying on the eastern side of the
village. It sits adjacent to the new primary school to the west. Developing the site will connect the White Cross area
to the east with the remainder of the village. The local landscape is undulating, however the site is relatively flat. The
adjacent school, and housing at White Cross will mitigate some of the visual impact.

Policy CO1

The Old Abattoir, Copplestone

A site of 1.5 hectares at The Old Abattoir, Copplestone is allocated for residential development and a
car park subject to the following:

a) 30 dwellings with 30% affordable housing, subject to viability;

b) 100 space railway station car park in the eastern part of the site;

c) The existing access point off Shambles Drive to serve both the housing and the car park; and
d) Assessment of land contamination and appropriate remediation.

3.207 This site is located on the northern boundary of the village of Copplestone. It comprises a field with a number
of dilapidated outbuildings. A small slaughterhouse once stood in the north east corner, though little trace of this now
remains. It is not anticipated that there will be any harmful visual impact associated with developing this site.

3.208 Devon County Council has highlighted the need for a railway station car park at Copplestone. The eastern
portion of the site, equating to approximately 0.25 hectares is allocated for provision of a 100 space car park. There is
an existing access point off Shambles Drive which can service both the housing and the car park. It is anticipated that
the car parking provision can also be used by residents. Should the cost of providing the car park make the
development financially unviable, the Council will consider a reduced affordable housing provision subject to
submission of robust viability evidence from the developer which justifies such a reduction.

3.209 There is the potential for land contamination associated with the slaughterhouse. Any planning application
must be accompanied by a contaminated land report, and appropriate remediation will be required if necessary.

111

Page 140



Policy CL1

Linhay Close, Culmstock

A site of 0.23 hectares at Linhay Close, Culmstock is allocated for residential development subject to
the following:

a) 6 dwellings with 30% affordable housing which may be in the form of a financial contribution to
provide the affordable dwellings in another location; and
b) Design and layout to respect the character of the Conservation Area.

3.210 This greenfield site forms part of a rectangular shaped field adjoining the village. Previously, there was an
allocated site in this location with a requirement for 10 affordable dwellings. Part of the site was subsequently
developed for six houses. The remaining site area has been combined with an adjacent piece of land to provide a
small allocation for another six dwellings.

Policy CL2

Hunter’s Hill, Culmstock

A site of 0.4 hectares at Hunter’s Hill, Culmstock is allocated for residential development subject to
the following:

a) 10 dwellings with 30% affordable housing which may be in the form of a financial contribution to
provide the affordable dwellings in another location;

b) Landscaping and design which protect the setting of the Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty; and

c) Archaeological investigation and mitigation.

3.211 This is a greenfield site consisting of the south west corner of a field at the northern end of the village. The
site was allocated for 100% affordable housing in 2010 but has not come forward. It is now allocated for a mixture of
market and affordable housing, which is considered more likely to deliver the site whilst providing some housing for
local needs. Given the sloping nature of the field and the location on the edge of Culmstock, the development should
be sensitively designed with landscaping which protects the setting of the Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty.

Policy HA1

Land Adjacent Fishers Way, Halberton

A site of 0.6 hectares at land adjacent Fishers Way, Halberton is allocated for residential development,
subject to the following:

a) 10dwellings with 30% affordable housing which may be in the form of a financial contribution to
provide the affordable dwellings in another location; and

b) Provision of a Drainage Strategy and a Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme to deal with all
surface water from the development and arrangements for future maintenance.

112

Page 141



3.212 The site comprises part of a field to the south western edge of Halberton and sits adjacent to modern housing.
The south eastern corner of the field was granted planning permission in 2006 and has been built out as a rural
exception site. Groundwater flooding maps show a 25-50% chance of groundwater emergence within the site
boundary. Any planning application on the site will need to be accompanied by a Drainage Strategy which takes
account of the potential for groundwater flooding in addition to considering surface water runoff. The subsequent
design of the Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme will need to be appropriate to the conditions identified. Suitable
drainage is a standard requirement of Policies S9 and DM1 but this is reiterated in Policy HA1 for clarity due to the
specific potential for groundwater flooding on this site. The site lies a short distance from the edge of the conservation
area. Appropriate design, choice of materials and landscaping should ensure that there is no detrimental impact on
the character and appearance of the historic environment.

Policy MO1

Greenaway, Morchard Bishop

A site of 1.2 hectares at Greenaway, Morchard Bishop is allocated for residential development, subject
to the following:

a) 20dwellings with 30% affordable housing;

b) Mitigation of any wildlife impact including protection of hedgerows;

¢) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation measures;

d) Road widening across the site frontage, provision of appropriate visibility splays and replacement
provision of any lost Devon Bank; and

e) Provision of afootpath link into the estate to the east.

3.217 The site comprises agricultural land to the west of Morchard Bishop. It is bounded by allotment to the west of
the site, residential development to the east and by a highway and farmstead to the south. The south east corner of
the site was previously allocated for 10 affordable dwellings but is now proposed for a mixture of market and
affordable housing.

3.218 There may be some wildlife interest from hedgerows which bound the site, so this should be investigated and
mitigation measures proposed where appropriate. The site lies to the west of a possible prehistoric funerary
monument. Any development here has the potential to expose archaeological and artefactual deposits associated with
this, so any application will need to be accompanied by appropriate investigations.

3.219 To enable appropriate access to the site the policy requires road widening across the site frontage and a
secondary pedestrian link to the estate to the east. Replacement of the Devon Bank should be incorporated into the
design of the access point to mitigate for any loss.

Policy NE1

Court Orchard, Newton St Cyres

A site of 2.7 hectares at Court Orchard, Newton St Cyres is allocated for residential development and
a new primary school, subject to the following:

a) 25dwellings with 30% affordable housing, subject to viability;
b) A site of 1.1 hectares for a new primary school at no cost to the Local Education Authority;

113

Page 142



c) Design which respects the setting of the conservation area;

d) Archaeological investigations and appropriate mitigation measures;

e) School sports provision only within flood zones 2 and 3 to the east of the site; and
f) Widening of Station Road to reduce congestion.

3.220 The site lies on the northern edge of the village of Newton St Cyres adjacent to an existing housing estate. It
is currently an apple orchard bounded by hedgerows on all sides which are occasionally interspersed by trees.

3.221 The site has been identified by Devon County Council as an appropriate site for the relocation of the existing
primary school. The policy therefore requires the provision of a site for the new primary school as part of this
development. Areas in flood zones 2 and 3 of the site should be used for school sports provision only. Should the
cost of providing the school site make the development financially unviable, the Council will consider a reduced
affordable housing provision subject to submission of robust viability evidence from the developer which justifies such
a reduction.

3.222 The widening of Station Road to reduce congestion is also required by the policy. There may be some wildlife
interest from hedgerows which bound the site and trees within the site, so the impact on protected species should be
assessed and mitigation measures included where appropriate. The conservation area boundary was revised in 2015
and now extends up to the south western boundary of the site. Careful design will be required to ensure the
development can be sensitively accommodated. The site lies in an area of archaeological potential and therefore any
application will need to be accompanied by appropriate investigations.

Policy SP1

Former Tiverton Parkway Hotel, Sampford Peverell

A site of 0.45 hectares at the former Tiverton Parkway Hotel, Sampford Peverell is allocated for
residential development and a doctors’ surgery, subject to the following:

a) 10 dwellings with 30% affordable housing which may be in the form of a
financial contribution to provide the affordable dwellings in another location, subject to viability;
b) Provision of a doctors’ surgery;
¢) Provision of adrainage strategy and Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme to deal with all surface
water from the development and arrangements for future maintenance; and
d) Mitigation of any wildlife impact including protection of hedgerows.

3.223 This site is located on the eastern edge of Sampford Peverell. It was the location of the Tiverton Parkway
Hotel, which has since been demolished. The site received planning permission in 2008 for a care home. An updated
application in 2012 was consented for a 58 bed scheme and adjoining GP surgery. The applicants have since stated
that they will no longer be pursuing this development and the site is available for housing. Any housing development
should include the provision for a GP surgery. Should the cost of providing the GP surgery make the development
unviable, the Council will consider a reduced affordable housing provision subject to submission of robust viability
evidence from the developer which justifies such a reduction.

3.224 Groundwater flooding maps show a 0-25% chance of groundwater emergence within the site boundary. Any
planning application on the site will need to be accompanied by a Drainage Strategy which takes account of the
potential for groundwater flooding in addition to considering surface water runoff. The subsequent design of the
Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme will need to be appropriate to the conditions identified. Suitable drainage is a
standard requirement of Policies S9 and DM1 but the requirement is reiterated in Policy SP1 for clarity due to the
specific potential for groundwater emergence on this site. There may also be some wildlife interest from hedgerows
which bound the site, so the potential impact on protected species should be assessed and mitigation measures
included if appropriate.

114

Page 143



Policy SP2

Higher Town, Sampford Peverell

A site of 6 hectares at Higher Town, Sampford Peverell is allocated for a low density reS|dent|aI
development, A
alecation;-subject to the foIIowmg [MM42]

b}—N . W - [MM43]

be) Landscaping and design which respect the settmg and character of the area, conservation area
and listed building;

cd) Provision of a drainage strategy and Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme to deal with all surface
water from the development and arrangements for future maintenance;

de) Mitigation of any wildlife impact including protection of hedgerows;

fe) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigationand

fg) 2.5 hectares of Green Infrastructure laid out and managed with landscaping and open space; and

[MM45]

ad) Improved access to the village for pedestrians and cyclists. [MM44]

3.224a The site is on the edge of Sampford Peverell, outside the main built up part of the village. The site is elevated
and will require careful landscaping and mitigation measures. Development of the highest ground should remain as
undeveloped green infrastructure. Low density and good design will be required to respect the existing character of
edge-of village housing, conservation area and listed building. The site is currently bounded by hedgerow. Some loss
of hedgerow would be required to enable access however, careful design should be considered to minimise this
impact including incorporating new hedgerow into the design of the development.

3.224b This site lies in an area of archaeological potential with the Historic Environment Record recording prehistoric
activity. Any application will need to be accompanied by archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation.

Policy SA1

Fanny’s Lane, Sandford

A site of 1.5 hectares at Fanny’s Lane, Sandford is allocated for residential development, subject to
the following:

a) 27 dwellings with 30% affordable housing;

b) Buffer strip of planting or open space to protect the setting of the listed Park House and Sandford
Conservation area; and

c) Careful design and landscaping to protect views towards Sandford and the historic core around

St Swithun’s Church.

115

Page 144



3.225 The site comprises mainly greenfield land which is located within the village of Sandford. Part of the site was
previously allocated and planning permission was granted for 19 dwellings on the northern part of the site in 2013.
The site size has been enlarged from that which has planning permission to accommodate a limited number of
additional dwellings. As such the number of houses required by the policy of 27 includes the 19 which are currently
consented, resulting in a net gain of 8 dwellings.

3.226 The site lies adjacent to the conservation area and the western boundary of the site abuts the curtilage of a
listed building. A buffer strip of planting or open space should be provided to protect the setting of this listed building.
Careful design and landscaping is also required to avoid the development dominating views towards Sandford from
the south east and to retain the emphasis on the historic core of St Swithun’s Church and to protect the setting of the
conservation area.

Policy SI1

Land at Old Butterleigh Road, Silverton

A site of 0.35 hectares at Old Butterleigh Road is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a) 8dwellings with 30% affordable housing which may be in the form of a financial contribution to
provide the affordable dwellings in another location;

b) No development on the floodplain to the east of the site;

c) Widening of carriageway over site frontage and provision of grass verge; and

d) Design and layout to respect the character of the Conservation Area.

3.227 The site falls on the northern boundary of the village of Silverton and is on the eastern side of Old Butterleigh
Road. The site is shielded to the north and west by high hedges which limit inward views.

3.228 A small watercourse runs along the eastern boundary of the site and the small area of floodplain associated
with this should not be developed.

3.229 The carriageway will need to be widened across the site frontage to accommodate two passing vehicles. The
footpath network terminates some distance to the south of the site. Rather than provide a new footway which does
not connect with existing provision, a grass verge along the site frontage should be provided as defensible space for
pedestrians.

Policy SI2

The Garage, Silverton

A site of 0.11 hectares at The Garage, Silverton is allocated for residential development subject to the
following:

a) 5dwellings;

b) Design and layout which respects the character of the Conservation Area;
c) Suitable design and layout of access arrangements; and

d) Site contamination and remediation where appropriate.

116

Page 145



3.230 This is a small brownfield site which is located adjacent to a complex of residential dwellings, which is
separated from and to the south of the main body of the village of Silverton. The site currently comprises an industrial
unit which is used for storage and maintenance of vehicles.

3.231 The design of the site is important as it lies at the edge of the village’s Conservation Area, being the first
complex of buildings encountered when approaching Silverton along Newcourt Road. Design of the access to serve
the five dwellings will need to be provided having specific regard to the neighbouring access serving the adjacent barn
conversions and detailing appropriate visibility splays.

3.232 There is also the potential for land contamination as a result of the history of vehicle repair and fuel storage on
the site. Assessment will therefore be required and remediation to take place where appropriate.

Policy TH1

South of Broadlands, Thorverton

A site of 0.7 hectares at South of Broadlands in Thorverton is allocated for residential development
subject to the following:

a) 12 dwellings with 30% affordable housing;

b) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation; and

¢) Road widening and provision of footpath along site frontage extending northwards to connect
with the existing network at the entrance to the Broadlands estate.

3.233 The site to the south of the village on the edge of the settlement. There is limited highway frontage to the C23.
Road widening and a footpath north into the village, connecting to the existing provision at the entrance to the
Broadlands estate will be required. The land required for the footpath is in the ownership of Devon County Council
who currently maintain it as a grass verge.

3.234 The site is to the north of a large prehistoric enclosure and development will need to be supported by an
appropriate level of archaeological works to allow the significance of the heritage asset to be understood.

3.235 As the site is partially located within a groundwater Source Protection Zone appropriate forms of sustainable
urban drainage should be used.

Policy UF1

Land west of Uffculme, Uffculme

A site of 3.49 hectares at land west of Uffculme, Uffculme, is allocated for residential development
subject to the following:

a) 60 dwellings with 35% affordable housing;

b) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation; and

c) Provision of adrainage strategy and Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme to deal with all surface
water from the development and arrangements for future maintenance.

3.238 The site is located to the west of Uffculme, adjacent to Uffculme Road. It comprises an agricultural field
together with part of the rear garden belonging to the property known as Harvesters. The field has a frontage onto

117

Page 146



Uffculme Road from which access would be taken. An appeal decision has granted outline planning permission on the
site for 60 dwellings with 35% affordable housing. The policy provides the criteria to be applied as a starting point,
should any revised scheme be submitted. The site occupies an area where prehistoric activity is recorded in the wider
landscape. Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation will therefore be required.

Policy WI1

Land east of M5, Willand

A site of 2.9 hectares at land east of M5, Willand, is allocated for residential development subject to
the following:

a) 42 dwellings with 30% affordable housing;

b) Provision of buffer zone and appropriate planting to mitigate noise from the adjacent motorway;
c) Mitigation of any wildlife impact including protection of trees;

d) Transport assessment of capacity at the junction of Silver Street and Meadow Park; and

e) Retention and enhancement of the public right of way.

3.236 The site is located to the south of Willand, adjacent to modern housing to the north and the M5 to the west.
Noise from the M5 should be mitigated by a buffer zone and planting along the boundary to ensure residential amenity
is not adversely affected. The site has a number of mature trees on the eastern boundary and established woodland
along the north east boundary. Mitigation measures should be taken to ensure there are no adverse impacts on any of
the surrounding biodiversity.

3.237 A Transport Assessment of the capacity of the junction of Silver Street and Meadow Park may result in a
different number of dwellings from the number allocated. The current public footpath across the northern boundary of
the site should be retained and enhanced.

Policy WI2

Willand Industrial Estate, Willand
A site of 9.2 hectares is allocated for commercial uses subject to the following:

a) 22,000 square metres of commercial floorspace within use classes B1, B2 and B8; and
b) Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation.

3.238 This site comprises level land within and adjoining the existing Willand Industrial Estate. It is part of a larger
site allocated in the previous Local Plan which has partly been developed. Access has now been secured to Phase 2
and an application for nearly 13,000 sgm of employment units has been submitted. This application would facilitate the
relocation of Pallex from the neighbouring industrial estate to a purpose built Regional Distribution Centre within
Phase 2 whilst providing a range of different sized units to meet market demand. It is anticipated that any remaining
unconsented parts of the site could come forward over the plan period.

118

Page 147



4.0 Managing Development

119

Page 148



High quality design

Designs of new development must be of high quality, based upon and demonstrating the following
principles:

a) Clear understanding of the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding area;

b) Efficient and effective use of the site, having regard to criterion (a);

c) Positive contribution to local character including any heritage or biodiversity assets and the
setting of heritage assets;

d) Creation of safe and accessible places that also encourage and enable sustainable modes of
travel such as walking and cycling;

e) Visually attractive places that are well integrated with surrounding buildings, streets and
landscapes, and do not have an unacceptably adverse effect on the privacy and amenity of the
proposed or neighbouring properties and uses, taking account of:

i) Architecture

ii) Siting, layout, scale and massing

iii) Orientation and fenestration

iv) Materials, landscaping and green infrastructure

f) Appropriate drainage including sustainable drainage systems (SUDS), including arrangements for

future maintenance, and connection of foul drainage to a mains sewer where available;

Adeqguate levels of daylight, sunlight and privacy to private amenity spaces and principal

windows;

h) Suitably sized rooms and overall floorspace which allows for adeguate storage and movement
within the building together as set out in the Nationally Described Space Standard with external
spaces for recycling, refuse and cycle storage; and

1) On sites of 10 houses of more the provision of 20% of dwellings built to Level 2 of Building
Requlations Part M ‘access to and use of dwellings’. [MM46]

=

4.1 National policy recognises that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from
good planning, and ensures that new development contributes positively to making places better for people. Policies
S1 and S9 set out the Council’s strategic objectives for locally distinctive, high quality development, including design
which reinforces the character and legibility of the built environment and creates attractive places. Policy DM1 builds
on this by setting out detailed criteria to guide high quality design on individual development sites.

4.2 The Mid Devon Town and Village Character Assessment identifies and evaluates the settlement character of
the district, including patterns and similarities, distribution of land use, materials and key features of interest. The
Devon and Mid Devon Landscape Character Assessments provide the equivalent information pertaining to landscape
in the district. While the level of information expected to accompany a planning application will vary depending on the
development being proposed, applications for new buildings within or adjacent to towns and villages should
demonstrate an understanding of the surrounding built environment. Where available, Conservation Area Appraisals
will also provide an essential source of information for proposals within conservation areas. In addition to an
understanding of local character and heritage, development proposals must respect the needs of neighbouring
residents and the community, through the design of safe, accessible and attractive places that preserve general
quality of life.

4.3 In creating visually attractive places that incorporate landscaping and green infrastructure, applicants are
advised to consult Biodiversity by Design, published by the Town and Country Planning Association for examples of
how green infrastructure has been used to enhance the quality of development.

120
Page 149



4.4 Designs should maximise opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods
or people. National policy states that developments should be located and designed where practical to accommodate
the efficient delivery of goods and supplies; prioritise pedestrian and cycle movements; have access to public
transport; deliver safe and secure layouts that minimise conflicts between cars and pedestrians/cyclists; incorporate
facilities for plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles; and consider the needs of people with disabilities by all
modes of transport. Walking and cycling routes should be high quality, attractive and direct.

4.5 Development proposals must also accord with sustainable waste management principles, the requirements
for which are set out in Policy W4 ‘Waste Prevention’ within the Devon Waste Plan. The Devon County Council Waste
Management and Infrastructure SPD should also be a material consideration. Development proposals should
demonstrate compliance with this policy as part of the Design and Access Statement, where applicable. This is an
essential step in the district’s transition to more sustainable resource management, with the long-term aim of zero-
waste or resource-neutral construction.

4.5a  Soft landscaped SuDs are best placed to provide water quantity, water quality, public amenity and biodiversity
benefits. When considering SuDs there is a preference for ‘soft’ landscaped solutions which should be sought in the
first instance where possible and appropriate. Robust evidence should be provided where no soft landscaped
solutions are used.

4.5b _National policy states that planning should always seek to secure high guality design and a good
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. This is particularly important
for the design of the homes that people live in and the spaces that surround those homes. The aim in Mid
Devon is to deliver high guality buildings and spaces that meet the needs of users, taking account of an aging
population whilst ensuring compatibility with surrounding development and uses. Though compliance is
delivered through building requlations, criterion i) will be implemented through a condition attached to the
planning permission. [MM46]

Renewable and low carbon energy

The benefits of renewable and low carbon energy development will be weighed against its impact.
Proposals will be permitted where they do not have significant adverse impacts on the character,
amenity and visual quality of the area, including cumulative impacts of such developments within the
parish or adjoining parishes. Proposals must demonstrate that impacts are or can be made

acceptable_in relation to;and-that-the-development-will-preserve: [MMA47]

a) Landscape character and the character and setting of heritage assets;

b) Environmental amenity of nearby properties and the wider locality;

¢) Quality and productivity of the best and most versatile agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a); and
d) Biodiversity (avoiding habitat fragmentation).

4.6 Policy DM2 seeks to maximise renewable and low carbon energy while ensuring that adverse impacts are
addressed satisfactorily, including cumulative impacts. Examples of development considered under this policy include
hydropower, solar installations, and energy systems associated with other development such as combined heat and
power (CHP) or district heating. Any wind turbine proposals will be considered in the context of the-18-Junre 2015
Written-Ministerial-Statement-national policy which requires planning applications for such development sheuld to only
be granted if the development site is in an i areas identified as ef-suitable for wind energy development are-identified
in Local or Neighbourhood Plans. Following consideration of the evidence commissioned, the Council has concluded

121

Page 150



that it does not propose to identify such areas at a district level. This does not preclude suitable areas for wind energy
development to come forward in Neighbourhood Plans. [AM77]

4.7 These developments, especially when they are of a commercial scale, have the potential to cause significant
harm through degradation of landscape character or heritage, impact to local residents and loss of productive
agricultural land and biodiversity. Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that impacts are or can be
made acceptable, through supporting studies and surveys as appropriate. As a starting point, development proposals
should have reference to the Mid Devon Landscape Character Assessment (2011), the Landscape Sensitivity Study
(2013) and the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 2013).
Depending on the proposal, Policies DM4 (pollution), DM25 (heritage assets), DM27 (protected landscapes) and
DM28 (other protected sites) may also have a bearing on whether planning permission is granted.

4.8 In some cases, Devon County Council will act as the Local Planning Authority in dealing with an application
for planning permission. For instance, renewable and low carbon energy proposals that use waste materials
originating from outside the site as the fuel will normally be determined by Devon County Council as the waste
planning authority.

Transport and air quality

Development must ensure safe access to the transport network. Development proposals that would
give rise to significant levels of vehicular movement must be accompanied by an integrated Transport
Assessment, Travel Plan, traffic pollution assessment and Low Emission Assessment. The traffic
pollution assessment must consider the impact of traffic-generated nitrogen oxides on environmental
assets including protected sites listed in Policy DM28, and propose mitigation measures where
appropriate. The Low Emission Assessment shall include the following:

a) Assessment of the impact on existing Air Quality Management Areas, or an impact likely to result
in the declaration of an additional Air Quality Management Area, in cases where a
demonstrable negative impact on ambient concentrations of air pollutants is considered likely;

b) Modelling of local residual road transport emissions from the development without mitigation
measures; and

¢) Onsite mitigation measures to reduce negative impacts on local air quality.

4.9 A Transport Assessment is a comprehensive and systematic process that sets out transport issues relating to
a proposed development. It identifies what measures will be required to improve accessibility and safety for all modes
of travel, particularly for alternatives to the car such as walking, cycling and public transport and what measures
should be taken to deal with the anticipated transport impacts of the development.

49a A Transport Statement is similar to a Transport Assessment but is less detailed and can be used in some
cases where transport issues arising from the development proposals do not require a full Transport Assessment.
Where a Transport Statement in lieu of a Transport Assessment is considered acceptable this will be agreed by the
planning authority in consultation with Devon County Council as the highway authority. All major applications will
require a Transport Assessment unless advised by the planning authority.

4,10 A Travel Plan is a long-term management strategy for an organisation or site that seeks to deliver sustainable
transport objectives. Travel plans should encourage the use of alternatives to single-occupancy car use by
prioritising pedestrian and cycle movements through the site, providing appropriate facilities, and implementing
initiatives that encourage sustainable travel. Clear outcomes should be set out that link to an appropriate package of
measures which should where suitable, include the promotion of:

122

Page 151



*  Walking and cycling *  Public transport

* Rail services *  Car sharing
»  Eco-driving such as low emission vehicles *  Motorcycle safety
*  Car clubs *  Flexible working practices

Travel plans should include details of how the progress of the travel plan will be monitored and reported.

411  Applicants are advised to engage in pre-application discussions with the Council and Devon County Council
as Highway Authority if the development is likely to generate significant levels of vehicular movement, to discuss the
scope and detail of the information required. Whether or not an application’s traffic impact is considered ‘significant’
will depend on a range of factors such as the location of the development, its relationship to an Air Quality
Management Area, its intended use and the capacity of the road network. The requirement will not usually apply to
small-scale development, but occasionally a development not classed as ‘major’ may still have a significant impact.
Where an integrated assessment is required, the Council will usually require an analysis of traffic flows at key periods
and the ‘mass emissions’ or total emission footprint to be expected from the development. Where criterion (a) of the
policy applies, the assessment should also focus on key road links. The Council will require development proposals to
demonstrate that they will not cause significant harm to people or the environment through an increase in traffic-
related pollutants. A traffic pollution assessment should consider the effects that additional emissions from vehicles
will have on any environmental assets, including important wildlife habitats. This may be combined with an
assessment under Policy DM4, if appropriate. In particular, development that increases traffic along the A361 may
have an impact on the Special Area of Conservation at Rackenford, which adjoins the Mid Devon boundary. Where a
development would cause significant harm to this site and adequate mitigation would not be possible, planning
permission will be refused.

4.12 Developments affecting the Special Area of Conservation could include:

* Intensive farming

» Commercial riding stables

+  Employment development

» Tourism

* Gypsy and traveller sites

* Any other developments that increase cross-traffic along the A361

4.13  The Transport Assessment should identify the boundaries of the Low Emission Assessment, which evaluates
the effect of the development on local air quality. The main routes of travel will be assessed for their residual road
transport emissions after development, with and without mitigating measures to reduce emissions. The Low Emission
Assessment must also take account of existing Air Quality Management Areas (Cullompton and Crediton), and include
air quality exposure modelling for specified residential properties or other sensitive properties either within or adjoining
an Air Quality Management Area or in a location at risk of being designated as one if a demonstrable harm has been
identified. There are a number of standard models used for air quality exposure modelling, which should be carried
out by a suitably qualified person. Procedural guidance for carrying out a Low Emission Assessment is contained in
Annex 2.

4.14  Tiverton is at risk of being designated an Air Quality Management Area. Any relevant development proposal
in or adjoining Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton should consider the significance of its impact on the most congested
routes within the town and the properties most directly affected by the development. Where mitigation measures are
necessary, these should be designed to reduce both the direct impacts to nearby properties and an Air Quality
Management Area, and indirect impacts to local road transport.

4.15  Mitigation measures might include:

+ Use of low-emission vehicles and fuels during construction
» Onsite infrastructure for charging and fuelling low emission vehicles

Page 152

123



+ Parking management (differential rates, priority or dedicated parking for low
emission vehicles)

* Low emission vehicle or bicycle rental/purchase schemes

» Carclubs

» High quality public transport services

416  Some measures to reduce emissions and encourage sustainable modes of travel may be designed and built
into the development. Other measures are less straightforward and refer to activities and choices made by residents.
To ensure that the measures included in a Low Emission Assessment and Travel Plan are implemented and
continued in the long-term, the Council may require the applicant to enter into a planning obligation under Section 106
of The Town and County Planning Act 1990. The obligation would require the establishment of a management
company which would administrate differential charging levies, rental/purchase schemes or car clubs, as appropriate.

Pollution

Applications for development that risks negatively impacting on the quality of the environment
through noise, odour, light, air, water, land and other forms of pollution must be accompanied by a
pollution impact assessment and mitigation scheme where necessary. Development will be permitted
where the direct, indirect and cumulative effects of pollution will not have an unacceptable negative
impact on health, the natural environment and general amenity.

4.17  When the location or characteristics of a proposed development give rise to concern that the development
would cause pollution or nuisance to surrounding people, properties or the environment, the Council will require an
appropriate impact assessment to be undertaken by a suitably qualified person so that the potential effects can be
properly understood. This may include cases where the site is already unstable or contaminated due to its former
use, requiring mitigation or remediation to be carried out so as not to harm the health and wellbeing of future
occupiers of the development. The Council will also have regard to the River Basin Management Plan (RBMP) and,
where appropriate, seek to achieve measures which will achieve the objectives of the RBMP and the Water
Framework Directive (WFD). Under the WFD there should be no deterioration in the status of a water body. If
planning permission is granted, a planning condition should be used to ensure that any mitigation measures set out in
the assessment are implemented.

4.18  The subject and scope of assessments will vary depending on the scale and type of development being
proposed. For instance, where there is concern regarding the effect of additional traffic emissions on nearby
residential properties, a Low Emission Assessment should include air quality exposure modelling for affected
properties, and any mitigating measures that would reduce the impact. In this case the Council would discuss with the
applicant or agent the level of information required and the methodology to be used.

- Assessments required under this policy include:

- Contamination and subsidence reports

- Noise assessments

- Low Emission Assessments

- Hydrological or drainage reports

- Any other technical assessment required to enable sustainable development

124

Page 153



Policy DM5

Parking

Development must provide an appropriate level of parking, taking into account:

a) The accessibility of the site, including the availability of public transport; and
b) Thetype, mix and use of development.

Design must enable and encourage the maximum use of sustainable modes of transport, including
provision for cyclists and low-emission vehicles. Within the towns of Tiverton, Cullompton and
Crediton, infrastructure for electric vehicles should be built into development. The Council will seek
parking provision and infrastructurefor electric vehicles infrastructure according to the following
standards, the variation of which must be justified on a case-by-case basis. [AM78]

Use class Description Location Minimum car Minimum cycle | Electric vehicle
parking standard | parking infrastructure
standard (Tiverton,
Cullompton,
Crediton)
C3, Dwellings General 1.7 per dwelling 1 or 2 beds 1 charging point per
C4 — 2 per 10 units
dwelling
3+ beds -
4 per
dwelling

Restaurants

General

1 per 5.5sgm
of eating

1 per 55sgm
of eating

Use Description Location Minimum car Minimum cycle | Electric vehicle
class parking standard | parking infrastructure
standard (Tiverton,
Cullompton,
Crediton)
Per sgm gross floor area unless otherwise stated
Al Non-food retail General 1 per 20 1 per 200 2 charging points
per 200
Al Food retail General 1 per 14 1 per 140 2 charging points
per 200
A2 Financial and Within 1 per 30 1 per 300 2 charging points
professional Tiverton, per 200
Cullompton &
Crediton
Elsewhere 1 per 20 1 per 200 N/A

2 charging points
per 200

Page 154




area area
A4 Public houses General 1 per 3sgm of 1 per 20sgm of | 2 charging points
drinking drinking per 200
area area
B1, B2 Business and General 1 per 30 1 per 300 2 charging points
general industry per 200
B8 Warehousing and | General 1 per 46.5 1 per 46.5 2 charging points
distribution per 10 parking
spaces (employees/
visitors)
C1 Tourist General 1 per bedroom 1 per 10 2 charging points
accommodation bedrooms per 30 rooms or per
10 parking spaces
Cc2 Residential General 1 per bedroom 1 per 10 2 charging points
institutions bedrooms per 30 rooms or per
10 parking spaces
D1 Non-residential General 1 per 40 1 per 400 2 charging points
institutions per 200
(exc. Schools and
health facilities)
D2 Indoor and outdoor | General 1 per 2 players 1 per 20 players | 2 charging points
sports and 1 and 1 per 100 per 200
per 10 spectator spectator
seats seats
Indoor General 1 per 5 seats 1 per 50 seats | 2 charging points
entertainment per 200

4.19 Road transport accounts for over a third of end-user carbon emissions in Mid Devon, at a time when
European and national policies set increasingly challenging targets for reduction of carbon emissions. However,
research by the RAC in 2009 showed that, while car usage is reducing, this does not correspond to a reduction in car
ownership. Research carried out on behalf of the Department of Communities and Local Government in 2007
forecast an increase of approximately 18% in car ownership between 2001 and 2026. In view of local levels of car
ownership and the rural nature of the district, there is clearly a need for development in Mid Devon to provide sufficient
parking.

4.19a Policy DM5 applies a minimum residential parking standard of 1.7 spaces per dwelling based on car
ownership levels in Mid Devon. This figure will be used to calculate the minimum number of parking spaces for the
whole development site, with a minimum of one parking space to be allocated for the sole use of each property. The
remaining parking provision (and more if preferred) should be distributed appropriately throughout the development, in
accordance with principles set out in the Council’'s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on the provision of
parking in new development. Other principles in the SPD should also be adhered to when drawing up development
proposals, including the allocation of appropriately located motorcycle, visitor and disabled spaces with sufficient
manoeuvring space. For developments comprising one or two dwellings the standard will be rounded up to two
spaces per dwelling. It is always preferential to locate the parking in close proximity to the property it services. For
houses, car parking should ideally be provided adjacent to the property, either within the residential curtilage or in
well-designed on-street parking. Spaces within parking courts are much less frequently used, and can be perceived to
be inconvenient and insecure. Large, isolated and rear parking courts should be avoided. For non-residential

126

Page 155



development, parking should be provided in accordance with Policy DM5 except where alternative provision can be
justified on the basis of existing parking provision or other factors.

4.20  Accepting that people will continue to own cars, there is a need to make the transition to a low carbon
economy through the promotion of low emission transport. Policy DM3 also refers to transport and low emissions.

127

Page 156



Rural exceptions sites

The development of a site for predominantly affordable or low-cost housing, including self-build
housing, to meet proven local need in rural areas will be permitted where:

a) Thereis up-to-date evidence of housing need secured through a housing need survey or, in the
case of a self-build proposal, evidence of eligibility for shared ownership housing through ‘Help
to Buy’ or an equivalent scheme;

b) Each house will be occupied by at least one person with a strong local connection to the parish;

c) The site adjoins a settlement and is in a suitable location which takes account of the potential for
any visual impact and other relevant planning issues;

d) Thetype and scale of affordable or low-cost housing is appropriate to the proven need;

e) The affordable or low-cost housing will remain affordable for and available to local people in
perpetuity, limited to no more than 80% of its market value upon resale.

The inclusion of a proportion of market housing within exception sites will be permitted where the
proportion of market housing will be less than the provision of affordable or low-cost housing and the
market housing will be at the lowest level necessary to ensure that the development is deliverable.

4.22  To encourage the delivery of affordable and low-cost housing in rural areas, exceptions can be made to the
normal restrictions on housing development outside defined settlements. Exception sites must adjoin a settlement,
which for the purposes of this policy will usually mean one of the settlements defined as suitable for limited
development in Policy S13. However, some parishes do not contain a defined settlement but may have an affordable
housing need, in which case a broader interpretation of ‘settlement’ will be appropriate, as long as there would be
reasonable access to local services and infrastructure. Isolated sites in the countryside are not considered
sustainable locations for new housing even under the exceptions policy.

4.23  Affordable and low-cost housing is reserved for those who cannot afford open market housing and have a
connection to the local area. The definition of a ‘local connection’ is kept under review and as such it is appropriate
that is contained in supporting guidance rather than determined through a Local Plan policy. In broad terms there
should be a long-term residential, family or employment connection to the parish where the housing will be located.
The criteria will be operated in a cascade, approved by Mid Devon District Council to ensure those with the strongest
connection are considered first. A planning obligation will be required to ensure that the affordable or low-cost
housing remains available for local people in perpetuity.

4.24  Self-build housing will be permitted under this policy where at least one of the occupiers has an established
housing need, assessed against appropriate officially published criteria. The Government’s Help to Buy scheme
applies eligibility criteria. Successful applicants:

» Cannot afford to purchase a home suitable for their housing needs within a reasonable travelling
distance of their work place and have a household income not exceeding £60,000;

» Have savings or sufficient funds to pay, if required, a deposit (which may be 5% or more of the
purchase price), legal fees, stamp duty and other costs of moving;

» Can sustain home ownership in the longer term;

* Are not already a home owner or named on a home mortgage;

+ Have a good credit history.

128

Page 157



4.25 Self-build housing will constitute low-cost housing rather than affordable housing, as it will not be rented
or part-owned by a housing association. In the event that the Help to Buy scheme is discontinued or the Council
identifies a more appropriate way of assessing eligibility, the Council will consider whether suitable criteria for
assessing housing need exist elsewhere that can be applied to self-build proposals. Whilst low-cost housing does not
meet the definition of affordable housing in terms of tenure, the Council will require the same controls over the housing
to ensure that it remains available for people with a local connection who cannot afford open market housing in their
area.

4.26  Affordable and low-cost housing must be appropriate to the needs of the people occupying it. For instance, if
a housing need survey identifies a need for one or two bedroom dwellings, this is what should be provided. Self-build
proposals will be tailored to the needs of the applicant, but will be expected to be of a modest size that reflects the
principles of affordability for those in housing need.

4.27  National policy allows for some ‘cross-subsidy’ of affordable housing by market housing. This allows for sites
which would not otherwise be viable for affordable housing to come forward, with market housing limited to the
minimum level necessary to ensure delivery. Consistent with the overall principle of exception sites, the proportion of
affordable housing must always be greater than that of market housing, and developers will be expected to submit
evidence to demonstrate that the level of market housing proposed is the lowest level needed to deliver significant
affordable housing. Evidence of local need for affordable housing will be required, as for any rural exception scheme.
The Council will have regard to any up-to-date local housing need surveys and information from Devon Home Choice.

Traveller sites

1. Planning applications for Pitches and Plots

Planning applications for gypsy and traveller pitches, or plots for travelling showpeople, will be
permitted where:

a) Suitable onsite facilities will be provided including space for children’s play;

b) The proposal will have suitable environmental quality for residents including non-isolating
boundary treatments; and

¢) The site will not cause unacceptable landscape or ecological impact and is not located in an area
at high risk of flooding;

d) Occupation will be limited to those who meet the Government’s published definition of gypsies
and travellers, including travelling showpeople_or their dependents; and-

e) Safe and convenient access to local facilities is provided

Sites with associated employment or storage elements will may-be permitted where there is specific
justification and the location, scale, and nature of the proposed development will not have harmful
impacts on local amenity or the local environment. Gypsy and traveller accommodation may be
included as part of the affordable housing requirement.

129

Page 158



2. Provision on allocated sites

Gypsy and Traveller pitches on allocated sites (sought by Policies TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CREbS)
should be provided on site unless it is demonstrated that off-site provision will achieve an
acceptable morefavourable-outcome for Gypsies and Travellers taking into account:

)] Pitch numbers

i) Site facilities;

iii) Accessibility to services, including health and education;

iv) Early delivery of serviced pitches or plots which are available for occupation; and
V) The provision of an effective mechanism for delivery.

Such sites must also meet the requirements of Part 1 of Policy DM7 above.
[MM48 — as amended]

4.28  To ensure that sites will meet the needs of the travelling communities and the settled community a criteria
based policy will be operated as set out above to determine applications for traveller sites. In order to ensure that
users of sites will have access to facilities, national policy indicates that local planning authorities should very strictly
limit new traveller site development in countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside allocations in the
development plan. Sites will therefore only be permitted where facilities will be accessible without recourse to a car
either by walking, cycling or utilising public transport. However, sites must also be in locations where the local
environment is of satisfactory quality, so locations adjacent to noisy or polluting land uses or in areas of floodplain will
not be suitable.

4.29  Thereis a need for 35 new pitches for gypsies and travellers for the period 2014-34, and 11 plots for
travelling showpeople for the period 2014-34. The majority of this—Fhis-_need is proposed to be met on the

|argest Yo a) ons—Fhe ellina showbeople community nredominanthsb ad-in one ae

reguirement—These-are-to-be-included-within- allocated developments at Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension, North-
West and East Cullompton, and Pedlerspool in Crediton. Pitches must be provided on-site unless the meore
faveurableacceptable outcome described by Policy DM7 is demonstrated. Any proposals for mere
faveourableacceptable off-side provision must identify and provide serviced sites in accordance with Policy
DM7. A clear mechanism to ensure that pitches or plots are delivered in such a way as to achieve an
acceptable -moerefavourableoutcome for the travelling community must be identified. This will usually be
through a s106 agreement requiring the developer to identify and obtain planning permission (which will not
be unreasonably withheld by the Council) for the required number and standard of pitches. The pitches will
be provided by the development itself or where the land is transferred for a nominal value, by an agreed third
party Registered Provider or other agreed private provider, for the sole purpose of occupation and ancillary
business by Gypsies and Travellers. The off-site provision of pitches must be provided and made available
for occupation before the occupation of a specified proportion of the provision of on-site open market
dwellings as part of the larger housing proposal at TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRE5. Where gypsy and traveller pitches
are provided on- or off-site on housing allocations, these are to be counted against the affordable housing targets for
that site. Fhere-are-also-existin j M ‘OR- vpsy-and-travelle

O\ an a on1o one N aneae a¥a

amended]

130

Page 159



Rural workers’ dwellings

Applications for rural workers’ dwellings will be permitted where:

a) It can be demonstrated that the nature and demands of an existing rural business are such that a
full time worker has an essential need to be permanently resident at or near their place of work so
they are available at most times;

b) The need cannot be met within a nearby settlement, or by existing housing at or near the site or
through the conversion of a suitable redundant or disused rural building at the site;

c) Thesize and scale of rural workers dwellings will be commensurate with the scale of the
operation and designed to reflect the location and setting of the proposed site; and

d) Therural enterprise has been established for at least three years, is currently financially sound,
and has a clear prospect of remaining so.

Where arural business is not yet established a mobile home may be permitted for a temporary period,
on the basis of criteria b) and c) above, and evidence of:

0] An essential need for one or more workers to be readily available at most times
(i)  Afirm intention and ability to develop the enterprise
(iii)  Sound financial planning

Permissions for rural workers dwellings will be subject to an occupancy condition. Removal of such a
condition will only be permitted where there is clear evidence that there is no need for the condition to
remain in place.

4.30  With the majority of Mid Devon’s population living outside its main towns the contribution of rural areas is a
very important part of the district’s overall economy. Therefore, it is important that the Council’s planning policies
support rural enterprises. To promote sustainable patterns of development rural workers will usually be expected to
find housing in existing rural communities. However, an exception to this approach can be justified where it can be
shown that a rural worker has an essential need to be available at most times as part of the operation of a rural
business in accord with national policy. Essential need means a specific management activity or combination of
activities which require the ready presence of a worker at most times if the proper functioning of an enterprise is not to
be prejudiced and which cannot be achieved by any other practical means such as electronic surveillance. Such need
would relate to any particular event or combination of events that could lead to adverse animal welfare, crop or
product quality, or health and safety consequences which might threaten the stability and economic well-being of an
enterprise. In all cases, these would be events which could not be properly managed within normal working hours.
Security concerns on their own will not be sufficient to justify a new dwelling. On working family farms, the Council
recognises that retired farmers may continue to live on the farm and there could be a need for additional
accommodation to meet the needs of the next generation. In these cases the existing dwelling will not be treated as
available alternative accommodation pursuant to criterion b) of the policy, though the Council may require a Section
106 Agreement (planning obligation) to ensure the existing dwelling remains occupied by agricultural workers.

4.31  Applications for rural workers’ dwellings will need to be accompanied by evidence which conclusively
demonstrates the essential nature of the need and that suitable accommodation can only be provided through the
construction of a new dwelling. In order for such dwellings to remain affordable for rural workers and to protect the
intrinsic beauty of the countryside proposed dwellings will need to be of a size which matches the scale of the
operation and other buildings on the site. As such development will take place in areas where the development of
new houses would not normally be permitted, it will also be important to ensure that its design reflects its immediate
context and its wider rural setting. Permitted development rights may be removed to prevent further enlargement of

131

Page 160



the dwelling without planning permission, to keep the dwelling at a size and value that will be affordable for rural
workers.

4.32  Where a rural business is not yet established, the Council will consider granting a temporary mobile home,
subject to appropriate evidence of essential need, a firm intention to develop the enterprise and sound financial
planning. A ‘firm intention’ and sound financial planning might be demonstrated by a combination of measures such as
the construction of new buildings; the purchase of stock needed to operate a rural business; appropriate agricultural or
rural business training and qualifications; work experience; and evidence of sufficient finances to establish the
enterprise.

4.33 Consent is granted for rural workers’ dwellings as an exception to normal policy to support the rural economy.
Therefore such planning permissions will be made subject to an occupancy condition which ensures the dwelling
remains tied to the agricultural or other appropriate occupational use and is not sold or rented to unsuitable occupants.
To prevent abuse of the exception for rural workers dwellings the removal of such conditions will need strong evidence
to show that the occupancy by a rural worker is no longer justified, such as evidence of marketing at an appropriate
price for a period of at least 18 months and an assessment of the demand for rural dwellings in the area.

4.34  In appropriate circumstances the Council will also seek Section 106 Agreements to ensure that a temporary
dwelling is not put in place until associated development or infrastructure has been completed, and to tie the rural
workers’ dwelling to the operation and associated land which has the essential need to prevent the splitting of the
dwelling from the operation.

Conversion of rural buildings

The conversion of redundant or disused rural buildings of substantial and permanent construction
which positively contribute to an area’s rural character for residential, tourism or employment uses
will be permitted where:

a) A suitable access to the building is in place or can be created without damaging the surrounding
area’s rural character and the road network can support the proposed use;

b) The building can be converted without significant alteration, extension or rebuilding;

c) The design will retain the original character of the building and its surroundings; and

d) The development will retain any nature conservation interest associated with the site or building,
and provide net gains in biodiversity where possible.

4.35  The buildings within Mid Devon’s countryside are an essential part of its character and when they become
redundant or disused they can provide a useful resource to allow the delivery of sustainable economic or residential
development. In many cases the conversion of a rural building to an alternative use will be permitted development,
requiring only a prior notification to the Local Planning Authority rather than a full planning application. However, if the
relevant criteria for permitted development do not apply, planning permission is still required and it is important to
ensure that such conversions take into account their rural setting and the need to deliver good design.

4.36  National policy supports the sustainable re-use of rural buildings for economic and residential uses, requiring
development to be sustainable and recognise the intrinsic beauty of the countryside. Development must be well
designed and achieve a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.
Specifically in relation to residential conversions national policy states that they should lead to an enhancement to the
immediate setting.

4.37  To ensure a conversion does not have a detrimental impact on the countryside and is sustainable, it is
important that its development does not involve works that will have a harmful impact. The building should retain its

132
Page 161



original character in order that the converted building continues to positively contribute to the area’s rural character. It
is therefore important that any changes to the buildings are kept to a minimum, as reflected in the policy. Negative
impacts could include the creation of a new access across an open field or light pollution in areas away from existing
development. In order to ensure highway safety it is also important that a suitable access can be provided and the
road network can support the proposed use. The rural nature of Mid Devon’s highway network means that traffic
intensive uses such as distribution or the movement of heavy and or bulky goods will not be appropriate in many
locations. Further, rural buildings’ role in the character of the countryside means that buildings in a ruinous state
should not be re-used, the visual impact of the converted building should be no greater than that of the original
building and local vernacular architecture should be retained. The Council will require a structural survey to be
submitted to demonstrate that the building can be converted without significant alteration, extension or rebuilding, and
may impose a planning condition which restricts permitted development rights for subsequent extensions and
alterations.

4.38  Redundant rural buildings often serve as bat roosts or habitats for other protected species. The Countryside
and Rights of Way Act 2000, the UK Biodiversity Action Plan and a number of other Regulations and Directives
designate ‘protected species’ with legal protection. It is an offence recklessly or deliberately to Kill, injure, capture or
disturb protected species, which includes carrying out works which obstruct, damage or destroy access to that
species’ habitat. The Council will require a habitat survey to accompany any planning application for the conversion of
a rural building, to identify protected species within the application site, set out any mitigation measures where
appropriate and include recommendations for the enhancement of biodiversity.

4.38a Policy DM9 refers to the conversion of existing buildings to a residential, tourism or employment use.
Proposals for new-build employment and expansion of existing businesses will be assessed against DM18. Other
policies in the Local Plan will also be applied as appropriate.

Replacement dwellings in rural areas

The construction of replacement dwellings outside defined settlement limits will be permitted where
the replacement dwelling’s floorspace will be no greater in size than the existing dwelling, taking into
account any unspent permitted development rights.

4.39 Situations can arise where a replacement dwelling is sought because the cost of repairing or altering an
existing building exceeds the cost of its total replacement. As the principle of development is established by the
existing dwelling its replacement will generally be acceptable. However, to ensure that the character and amenity of
the area are not harmed, and the rural dwelling stock remains affordable for local residents, the size of the new
dwelling should be restricted to that of the previous dwelling except where there are any unspent permitted
development rights. In all circumstances, the permitted development rights for the replacement dwelling will be
removed. The relocation of a building within a plot will generally be acceptable provided it is in keeping with the
placement of nearby houses in their plot. Policy DM10 refers to the replacement of existing dwellings, the use of
which has not been abandoned.

133

Page 162



Residential extensions and ancillary development
Extensions to existing dwellings and other ancillary development will be permitted provided that they:

a) Respect the character, scale, setting and design of existing dwellings; [AM79]

b) Will not result in over-development of the dwelling curtilage; and

c) Will not have a significantly adverse impact on the living conditions of occupants of
neighbouring properties.

4.40  Rather than moving house to gain extra space many people extend their existing property and permitted
development rights allow many extensions to be built without the need to apply for planning permission. However,
there are still situations where planning permission is required and where extensions needing planning permission are
proposed. It is important that the design of the extension is suitable for the building it will extend and for its immediate
surroundings. For example it would not be acceptable for an extension to dominate the existing dwelling or to block
light into principal rooms in an adjacent dwelling. The living conditions of neighbours should not be significantly
harmed, and the Council will have regard to a number of factors affecting living conditions, such as light, privacy and
overbearing or over-dominating effects. However, there is no right to a view across someone else’s land, so the loss
of a view will not in itself be a reason for refusal of planning permission. There are also occasions where ancillary
development to a dwelling may need planning permission and in such cases it will also be important to ensure that the
design and location of ancillary development is acceptable.




135

Page 164



Town centre development

The Council will promote the sustainable growth and regeneration of Tiverton, Cullompton and
Crediton. Within defined town centres, development proposals for main town centre uses, community
and residential development will be supported where they:

a) Retain or enhance the town centre’s historic character and appearance, vitality and viability;

b) Sustain or enhance diverse town centre uses and customer choice, incorporating residential
accommodation above ground floor level where possible; and

c) Arereadily accessible by public transport, walking and cycling.

Within defined primary shopping areas, the shopping function will be safeguarded and enhanced.
Development and change of use of ground floor premises to alternative uses will not be permitted
where:

i) The primary retail role and character is undermined, causing unacceptable fragmentation and
isolation of the remaining shops;

ii) The proposed use would harm the vitality and viability of the primary shopping area; and

iii) There would be a detrimental effect on the visual character and amenities of the surrounding
area.

Within primary shopping frontages, at ground floor level the proportion of A1, A2 and A3 uses will not
be permitted to fall below 85% of all units.

4.44  The town centre is at the heart of a market town’s community. The Local Plan distributes development
according to the location, role and function of the towns of Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton, with Cullompton
expected to expand considerably over the plan period. Other Local Plan policies will also apply as appropriate, such
as Policy DM1 on high quality design.

4.45 Retail markets change quickly and it is important that local planning policies are flexible enough to respond to
rapid change. For this reason, Policy DM14 sets out a wide range of permissible uses in town centres, seeking to
diversify customer choice while protecting and enhancing the viability of the town centre, its historic character and its
accessibility by the most sustainable modes of transport. This applies to change of use applications as well as new-
build development.

4.46 Primary shopping frontages have been defined within Tiverton and Crediton town centres, showing where
retail development is concentrated. The primary shopping frontage (identified on the Policies Map) should include a
high proportion of retail uses which may include food, drinks, clothing and household goods. These are the core town
centre retail uses and should be protected, while other uses such as takeaways and professional services may be
located elsewhere in the town centre.

4.47 Planning applications within the primary shopping areas will be not be permitted if any of criteria i-iii of Policy
DM14 apply. The assessment of such applications will include consideration of:

» The location and prominence of the premises within the shopping frontage
» The floorspace and length of frontage of the premises

136

Page 165



* The number, distribution and proximity to other premises within use classes A2-A5, or within planning
permissions for such use

+ The particular nature and character of the use proposed, including the level of pedestrian activity
associated with it

» The level of vacancies in ground floor properties

*  Whether the proposed use would give rise to noise, smell or other environmental problems

Development outside town centres

Within Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton, the Council will apply a sequential approach to planning
applications for main town centre uses, according to the following descending order of preference:

a) Town centre
b) Edge of town centre
¢) Out of town centre

Edge of centre and other out of centre proposals must be well related to the town centre and
accessible by public transport, walking or cycling. Proposals in these locations must also
demonstrate that no suitable sites are available in a more sustainable location according to the order
of preference given above.

The Council will require an impact assessment to be submitted for any proposals for retail, leisure
and office development outside of town centres, where the total gross floorspace would exceed 500
square metres. The impact assessment must include an assessment of:

i) The impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private investment
in the town or other centres in the catchment area of the proposal; and

ii) The impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local consumer
choice and trade in the town centre and wider area, up to five years from the time the application
is made, or ten years in the case of major development, taking into account the cumulative impact
of recently completed developments, planning permissions and development plan allocations.

4.48 National policy requires local authorities to apply a sequential approach to main town centre uses, to ensure
the vitality and viability of town centres are not harmed by out-of-centre development. A proportionate, locally set
threshold may be applied to retail, leisure and office floorspace proposed outside of town centres, over which an
impact assessment should be required. The Mid Devon Retail Study recommends a threshold of 500 square metres
gross floorspace. The need for an impact assessment will be considered in the context of each application and will be
required where the development will result in total gross floorspace of over 500 square metres, either itself or
cumulatively with other existing or proposed development of a similar type.

4.49 In considering development proposals in edge of centre or out of centre locations, the Council will assess
whether there are suitable sites in a more sustainable location according to the order of preference and apply a
flexible approach where justified. The nature, scale, car parking requirements and market demands of the proposal
will be taken into account.

450 National policy defines ‘edge of centre’ as follows:

For retail purposes, a location that is well connected and up to 300 metres of the primary shopping area. For all other
main town centre uses, a location within 300 metres of a town centre boundary. For office development, this includes

137

Page 166



locations outside the town centre but within 500 metres of a public transport interchange. In determining whether a
site falls within the definition of edge of centre, account should be taken of local circumstances.

451  Aretail impact assessment submitted in accordance with Policy DM15 should have regard to the findings of
the Retail Study 2012. The assessment should consider the effect on existing stores and centres of committed and
allocated developments and the development being proposed, based on:

0] the turnover of existing facilities in the catchment area (including any completed
since the Retail Study 2012)
(i) the expected trade diversion from these facilities to any retail sites under construction, with planning

permission or allocated for development
(iii) the trade diversion resulting from the proposed development

Applications for leisure development over 500 square metres floorspace should use a similar approach based on the
Tourism Study and any other appropriate evidence.

4.51a Where specific allocations of this plan contain proposals for uses which are subject to the sequential test, a
proportionate approach to the application of the test will be required, reflecting the strategic decisions already made
through the local plan process. However, the local planning authority will still fully consider the potential impact on
town centre vitality and viability to ensure that the primary role of the town centres in meeting such development
needs is maintained.

4.51b Where proposals are predicted to have a likely adverse impact (including cumulative) on town centre health,
planning permission should be refused. The Mid Devon Retail and Tourism Studies are available on the Mid Devon
District Council website.

Fronts of shops and business premises

Proposals for the alteration, replacement or construction of fronts for shops or business premises must be
well proportioned and suited to the character of the building, adjacent buildings and the surrounding street
scene. Where security measures such as grilles or shutters are proposed, these should be designed as an
integral part of the building’s front, maintaining the visibility of the building’s interior and minimising visual
impact. Independent ground floor access to the upper floors must be retained.

452  The fronts of shops and business premises visually dominate town centres and have a considerable impact
on the town centre’s character and appearance. Attractive shop fronts that respect their surroundings have a positive
effect on the overall quality and attractiveness of a town centre. This policy should be read in conjunction with Policy
DM1 on high quality design and Policy DM25 on heritage assets.

453  National policy emphasises the importance of residential development in bolstering the vitality of town
centres. Policy DM14 therefore promotes residential development in town centres where possible, and Policy DM16
supports this further by ensuring that access to accommodation above ground floor commercial units is not lost
through redevelopment of the building’s ground floor front.

454  Advertisements including fascia and projecting signs often go hand-in-hand with the design of shop fronts and
other business premises. Applications for Advertisement Consent are determined outside of the Development Plan,
under the ‘Control of Advertisements’ regulations. Such applications are determined on the basis of public amenity
and highway safety. National policy provides additional guidance.

138

Page 167



Rural shopping

Retail development will be permitted within defined villages, where it will meet local needs and is
accessible by a range of transport modes. Adjacent to defined villages and elsewhere in the open
countryside, proposals for retail development must demonstrate that:

a) Thelocation and scale of the development would not harm the vitality and viability of town centre
or village shopping facilities;

b) The development would not lead to an unacceptable impact on the local road network; and

c) There would not be an unacceptable adverse impact to the character and appearance of the
countryside.

455 Policy S13 defines the villages in Mid Devon that are considered suitable for limited growth, due to their
physical characteristics and the availability of a range of facilities and services. The Council supports the sustainable
growth and expansion of business and enterprise in rural areas, while protecting the predominance of town centres for
meeting the district’s retail needs. Policy DM17 refers only to retail development, while Policy DM18 will be applied to
non-retail business development. Policy DM1 (high quality design) also applies.

Rural employment development

In countryside locations, planning permission will be granted for new-build employment
development or expansion of existing businesses, provided that the development is of an
appropriate use and scale for its location. Proposals must demonstrate that:

a) The development would not lead to an unacceptable impact on the local road network;

b) There would not be an unacceptable adverse impact to the character and appearance of the
countryside; and

¢) There are insufficient suitable sites or premises in the immediate area to meet the needs of the
proposal.

456  The Council recognises the importance of retaining and providing rural employment opportunities outside
settlement limits as a means of ensuring a diverse and healthy rural economy. There is a range of employment
activities, particularly those associated with tourism, recreation and rural diversification that can be accommodated in
countryside locations, without any adverse effects upon the character of Mid Devon’s rural areas or existing
development. It is important that the various indirect consequences of employment development such as security
fencing, lighting, advertising material, open storage and vehicle parking and manoeuvring provisions do not harm the
visual environment. It is also important that development outside settlement limits only occurs where there are
insufficient alternatives available otherwise such development would not be sustainable. The policy is not intended to
relate to large scale strategic development which would be contrary to Policy S2.

4.57 Policy DM18 refers to new-build developments and expansion of existing businesses. Proposals for
conversion of existing buildings to an employment use will be assessed against Policy DM9. Other policies in the
Local Plan will also be applied as appropriate.

139

Page 168



Protection of employment land

Non-employment use or development of employment land or buildings, including sites that are
established, allocated or have planning permission, will be permitted where it can be demonstrated
that there is no reasonable prospect of the site being used for employment purposes. Alternative
uses will be permitted where it is demonstrated that:

a) Firstly, there is a sufficient range of suitable and available employment sites in the local area;
then

b) Thereis no commercial interest in the re-use of the site for employment, demonstrated by suitable
marketing at an appropriate price for at least 18 months_;and

[MM50]

458  One of the Council’s five key objectives is a thriving economy. The Local Plan allocates commercial land
sufficient to meet the district’s future needs to 2033, but many people in the district will continue to commute to other
areas and it is important to protect the sites that are currently providing jobs in Mid Devon. Employment land is a
scarce and valuable resource which needs to be retained to ensure that the Council can deliver one of its key
objectives.

4.59  National planning policy discourages the long-term protection of allocated employment sites where there is no
reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose, and requires local planning authorities to have regard to
market signals. Policy DM19 sets out local requirements that help to establish whether individual sites can provide
employment. In assessing the range of suitable and available alternative employment sites in the local area (criterion
a), the Council will have regard to the specific and wider conclusions of the Employment Land Review (2013), which
describes a shortage in small employment allocations in Mid Devon. For the purposes of Policy DM19, the ‘local area’
means the Mid Devon district and, if an application site is in a parish adjacent to the district’s boundary, a
neighbouring district.

4.60  Applicants will also be required to demonstrate that there is no commercial interest in the re-use of the site for
employment purposes. In view of the on-going fluctuations in the national economy, an 18 month marketing period is
considered appropriate and will be kept under review in subsequent local plans. In relation to the appropriate price
referred to in criterion (c) the price should reflect the price of similar employment sites or buildings which have been
marketed within the previous two years or result from an independent assessment of the value of the land or buildings
where this is not feasible-—f-thereisno-interest-in-the site-as-aresult-of- marketingthe potential of the site for

140

Page 169



Agricultural development
Agricultural development will be permitted where:

a) The development is reasonably necessary to support farming activity on that farm or in the
immediate agricultural community;

b) The development is sensitively located to limit any adverse effects on the living conditions of
local residents and is well-designed, respecting the character and appearance of the area;

c) The development will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the environment; and

d) The development will not have an unacceptable traffic impact on the local road network.

4.61  Agriculture is an important element of the Mid Devon economy. Agricultural development is essential to
support modern farming and ensure a sustainable rural economy. This policy permits new agricultural development
outside of the defined settlements, whilst seeking to balance the needs of modern farming with protecting the
countryside and residential amenity.

4.62 Proposals for the development of new buildings for livestock need to take account of waste product storage or
removal, and the effect this can have on the amenity of local residents and the environment. Such proposals will need
to be accompanied by a Waste Management Plan, which sets out how the development limits any adverse effects.
Where the development is likely to cause demonstrable harm to the environment, for instance where drainage from
the site threatens the ecological integrity of a water body, a hydrological or drainage report will be required in
accordance with Policy DM4 (pollution). A planning condition may be imposed to ensure that appropriate mitigation
measures are implemented.

Equestrian development

Horse-related facilities and equestrian enterprises in the countryside will be permitted where they are
well integrated with their surroundings, being of appropriate location, scale, design and materials so
as not to harm the character and landscape of the rural area or the amenity of nearby residents.

Equestrian development must not result in an unacceptable increase in traffic on the local highway
network.

4.63  The use of land for horse keeping is a common feature of the Mid Devon landscape. Equine activities are an
established part of the rural economy, providing opportunities for recreation and employment. Equestrian activities
are typically located in the open countryside, away from settlements, where most forms of development are restricted.

4.64  New equine facilities can have a negative impact on the rural nature of an area, adversely affecting landscape
character and natural beauty, by their appearance, scale, materials or design. Individually, equestrian developments
may seem inconsequential, but cumulatively they may, over time, significantly alter the character of an area. Itis
therefore important that any new developments are designed and located as to minimise their impact, taking account
of local character and landscape. Where proposals are part of an existing agricultural development, any new facilities
should be integrated with, or located near to existing farm buildings or structures.

141

Page 170



4.65  Commercial establishments or large scale domestic operations including racing stables, horse riding centres
and liveries will have a greater impact on a local area, through their size, associated traffic generation and greater use
of local roads for exercising of horses. Such establishments should demonstrate how they will not result in an
unacceptable increase in traffic on local roads.

Tourism and leisure development

Proposals for new or expanded tourism, visitor or leisure facilities will be supported within or
adjacent to defined settlements. Elsewhere, the nature of the proposed development must justify a
countryside location and minimise environmental impacts, avoiding an unacceptable traffic impact on
the local road network. Development proposals must:

a) Respect the character and appearance of the location;
b) Where appropriate, involve conversion or replacement of existing buildings; and
c¢) Demonstrate that the need is not met by existing provision within nearby settlements.

4.66  Tourism plays an important role in generating income for local residents. Devon is a very popular tourist
destination, providing leisure and recreation activities for its own residents and those visiting the county. Despite a
number of small scale attractions and places to stay across Mid Devon, tourism is less developed than within other
parts of the county, partly reflecting the district’s inland location and distance to the coast.

4.67  Tourism and leisure development is generally welcomed, providing employment and a means of
supplementing rural incomes. However, it can have negative impacts on the surrounding area if located insensitively,
being out of scale with its context or by failing to take account of local character and appearance. The policy seeks to
locate most development within or close to defined settlements, where local shops and facilities are most accessible
and stand to benefit the most. Sustainable development will be approved in accordance with Policy S1.

4.68  Applications for tourism and leisure development in the countryside will need to be justified by the applicant.
The Council will require a marketing strategy and business plan to be submitted, to explain how the development will
achieve a high quality tourism product that meets demand. Proposals must demonstrate that their benefits outweigh
any harm and that they do not cause an unacceptable impact to traffic on the local road network. Tourism and leisure
development should benefit local businesses, the environment, communities and visitors in the long-term, so the
Council will seek the right form of development in the right location, with evidence that the need is not already being
met by existing provision. In demonstrating unmet need for tourism proposals outside settlement limits, applicants
should have regard to the Council’s Tourism Study, available on the Mid Devon District Council website.

4.69 Evidence supporting a countryside location should be proportionate to the scale and nature of the tourism
proposal being considered. For instance, the conversion of a barn to tourist accommodation is permissible in principle
under Policy DM9 (conversion of rural buildings) and is often dependent on an agricultural character which would not
be found in a nearby town or village. Larger tourism attractions such as animal sanctuaries, museums, outdoor activity
centres or hotels may have a significant impact on the countryside and the local road network, so in these cases more
comprehensive supporting evidence will be required.

142

Page 171



Community facilities

The development of new community facilities providing a local community benefit or environmental
enhancement will be permitted where they are easily accessible by the local community and well
related to a settlement. Proposals for the redevelopment of existing community facilities that enables
them to modernise, remain viable and continue to be retained for the benefit of the community will be
supported.

Proposals involving the loss of community facilities such as local shops, public houses, allotments,
cultural and recreational facilities and other important local services will not be permitted where this
would damage the settlement’s ability to meet its day to day needs or result in the total loss of such
services to the community. Only in circumstances where the facility is proven to be no longer
economically viable, including for alternative community uses, will applications for alternative use be
considered acceptable.

4.70 Community facilities provide for the health and wellbeing, social, educational, spiritual, recreational, leisure
and cultural needs of the community. They include pubs, post offices, shops, village halls, allotments, places of
worship and various recreational facilities. National policy seeks to retain and develop local services and community
facilities and guard against their unnecessary loss, while the vision for this Local Plan recognises the importance of
providing safe, healthy and crime free neighbourhoods. Policy DM23 therefore builds on this guidance and seeks to
protect those existing services whilst permitting some redevelopment where it is necessary to ensure viability.

4.71  The Council will guard against the unnecessary loss of valued community facilities and services. In
circumstances where a community facility is proved to be no longer economically viable in a particular location, the
Council will consider an alternative use. Assessment of viability will require the submission of detailed evidence
relating to trading accounts, valuation considerations and the marketing of the business or property at a reasonable
price for a minimum of 12 months.

4.72 Local communities can nominate buildings as ‘assets of community value’ to be added to a register held by
the Council. Once on the register the owners of a facility will need to notify the Council if they intend to sell the asset,
at which point the community will be offered the opportunity to purchase it. Mid Devon District Council will compile this
list as community assets are brought forward. Applicants should contact the Council for further advice should they
wish to apply for planning permission or change of use on a community facility that has been included on the register.
The Council cannot refuse planning permission purely on the basis that a community asset is on the register.

143

Page 172



Protection of Local Green Space and recreational land/buildings

Open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, will be protected
from alternative development unless:

a) An assessment has been undertaken which demonstrates that the site is surplus to requirements,
including requirements within the parish for alternative forms of open space, sports or
recreational use; or

b) The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or better
provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location, prior to the commencement of the
development; or

¢) The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for which clearly
outweigh the loss.

Designated areas of Local Green Space will be protected from development unless the development
meets the criteria set out in national policy for the protection of Green Belts.

4.73  This policy aims to protect open space, sport and recreational land or buildings from redevelopment, with the
exception of any sites allocated for alternative use.

4.74  The Open Space and Play Area Strategy (2014) identifies sites of public open space, sports and recreational
land in the district. Where the strategy shows a surplus of play areas or other open space according to the standards
set out in Policy S5, the Council will consider which open spaces are most important for long-term maintenance and
retention. Those which include a flexible mix of uses such as equipped play space, sports and informal recreation land
will normally be considered a priority for retention, and also those which are an integral and well-functioning part of an
existing housing estate. Proposals for redevelopment of surplus open space must demonstrate that the site is less
preferable for public recreational use than the alternative open spaces within an accessible distance of the
development. If this is not the case, criteria b) or ¢) of the policy apply.

4.75 Sites which are particularly important to local communities may be designated as Local Green Space, through
the preparation of local or neighbourhood plans. The Local Plan designates Local Green Space at the following
locations:

+  MillepivmMillennium Green, Bampton
» Joan’s Orchard, Bickleigh

+ Recreation Ground, Bickleigh

* Nick’s Farm Field, Bradninch

+  MillepiymMillennium Green, Sandford
* Millennium Green, Thorverton

+ Sports Field, Witheridge

4.76  Neighbourhood plans produced by local communities may designate further areas in addition to the above list.
Local Green Space must be reasonably close to the community it serves; have demonstrable local significance and
interest; be local in character and not cover an extensive tract of land. National policy applies a level of protection
equivalent to Green Belts.

144

Page 173



Development affecting heritage assets
Heritage assets and their settings are an irreplaceable resource. Accordingly the Council will;

a) Apply apresumption in favour of preserving or enhancing all designated preservation-in-situ-in
respect-of-the-mostimpertant-heritage assets_and their settings;

b) Require development proposals likely to affect_the significance of heritage assets-and-their
settinrgs, including new buildings, alterations, extensions, changes of use and demolitions, to
consider their significance, character, setting (including views to or from), appearance, design,
layout and local distinctiveness, and the opportunities to enhance them;

c) Only approve proposals that would lead to substantial harm or total loss of significance of a
designated heritage asset where it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is
necessarv to achieve substantial public benefits that outweiqh that harm or Ioss lee—erLy—te

harm-or the requwements et—eapangaph—l%%of the National Planning Policy Framework are met;
d) Where a development proposal willweuld- lead to less than substantial harm_to the significance of

a designated heritage asset, this-that harm wiH should be weighed against-_the public benefits of

the proposalany-publicbenefit, including securing its optimum viable use; and
e) Require developers to make a proportionate but systematic assessment of any the-impact on the

settlng and therebv the S|qn|f|cance of herltaqe asset(s) as—set—eLemm—m—theg%#ee#em—Htstene

Plannmg—&’ [MM51]

4.77  The historic environment is an asset of great cultural, social, economic and environmental value. Itis a non-
renewable resource that contributes significantly to our quality of life and to the character of the district. Heritage
assets are defined as those parts of the historic environment that have significance because of their historic,
archaeological, architectural or artistic interest over and above their functional utility and covers both designated and
non-designated assets.

4.78 A heritage asset is defined as a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a
degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions because of its heritage interest. This includes
designated heritage assets such as listed buildings, scheduled monuments, registered parks and gardens and
conservation areas, and undesignated sites that can include archaeological sites, locally listed assets and any asset
included on the Devon County Historic Environment Record.

4.79  Where proposed development will have the potential to impact upon a heritage asset or its setting, the
Council will require the applicant to submit sufficient information to enable a description of a heritage asset affected
and a consideration of the impact of the development upon it. This may take the form of an appropriately detailed
desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation. The level of detail required should be proportionate
to the asset’s importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on its
significance. If physical preservation of a heritage asset in situ is not appropriate or feasible, “preservation by record”
may be acceptable and implementation required by a condition attached to planning permission. Non-designated
heritage assets of archaeological interest that are of equivalent significance to a scheduled monument, will be
considered subject to the policies for designated heritage assets.

145

Page 174



4.80 Proposed development that would lead to substantial harm or total loss of significance of a designated
heritage asset will be assessed against national policy, which requires that such proposals should be refused unless
there are substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm, or all of the following considerations apply:

* The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site

* No suitable viable use of the heritage asset can be found in the medium term

through appropriate marketing

» There is no possibility of conservation as a result of grant-funding or charitable or public ownership
* The harm or loss would be outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use

4.81 Balancing the importance of conservation with the challenge of tackling climate change represents a priority
for the district. Proposals for measures to mitigate the effects of climate change that affect listed buildings or buildings
in a conservation area can sometimes conflict negatively with the principles of conservation. Therefore prior to
determination, the Council will work with applicants to identify feasible solutions that deliver climate change mitigation
with less or no harm to the significance or setting of the heritage asset. Where conflict is unavoidable, the public
benefit of mitigating the effects of climate change will be weighed against any harm to the significance of the heritage
assets affected.

4.82 Further background information in relation to Mid Devon’s historic environment can be found within the Town
and Village Character Assessment and Conservation Area Appraisals. Where these are available, applications should
make reference to how the proposed development contributes towards the priorities set out in these documents.
Specific studies may also be relevant to development proposals depending on their location. For instance, where
development would affect the setting of Knightshayes Court or Killerton Park, the Council will have regard to The
Setting of Knightshayes Park and Garden: A Historic Landscape Assessment (The Parks Agency; Sept 2007), or the
Killerton Park Setting Study (Land Use Consultants; final report, April 2013), as appropriate. These documents are
available on the Council’'s website and will be a material consideration when planning applications are determined.
Applicants are encouraged to contact the Council to check if their site falls within the setting study areas surrounding
Knightshayes or Killerton, and consider the implications of this at the design stage. It should also be noted that the
areas covered by setting studies do not represent a finite limit of setting.

4.83  Details of Mid Devon’s non-designated heritage assets are on the register of heritage assets, which is
available on the Council’s website. Further details of heritage assets are available from Historic England and the
Historic Environment Service at Devon County Council, which holds the Devon County Historic Environment Record.
The Council will publish a local register of nhon-designated heritage assets.

4.84 Existing registers of heritage assets are not an exhaustive list of heritage assets. The Mid Devon local list is
regularly reviewed to take account of new information. A development proposal might draw attention to a heritage
asset that had not previously been identified or assessed. The absence of an asset from the heritage asset register at
the time an application is submitted does not indicate that the asset has no heritage value.

Green infrastructure in major development

Major development proposals must demonstrate that green infrastructure will be incorporated within
the site as follows:

a) Biodiversity mitigation, resulting in a net gain in biodiversity;

b) Flood and water resource management;

c) Green corridors and public rights of way to link the site to the wider Gl network, provide walking
and cycling opportunities and avoid habitat fragmentation; and

146

Page 175



d) New green infrastructure such as the creation of native woodland where possible.

Where evidence demonstrates that meeting these criteria in full would render the development
unachievable, the Council will balance the benefits of the development against the objectives of this
policy. Where appropriate, the Council will seek contributions toward off-site green infrastructure
where on-site green infrastructure is unfavourable.

4.85  Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green space with recreational, visual and ecological
value. Itincludes:

- Natural and semi-natural green spaces such as grassland and nature reserves

- Green corridors such as hedgerows, verges and public rights of way, or ‘blue infrastructure’ such as
watercourses and other water bodies

- Public or private spaces such as gardens, parks, village greens and allotments

4.86  Biodiversity is in long-term decline, with habitats becoming increasingly fragmented and degraded as a result
of changing land use and agricultural practices. National policy seeks to reverse this trend, halting overall biodiversity
loss and reintroducing well-functioning and coherent ecological networks for the benefit of all. There is an opportunity
for development in Mid Devon to play its part in improving the quality and connectivity of green infrastructure. Green
infrastructure in some cases can also serve the purpose of protecting or enhancing heritage assets.

4.87 Major applications (defined in the glossary) should be accompanied by a habitat survey describing what flora
and fauna are present on the site, with particular regard to protected species. In permitting the development, the
Council must be satisfied that onsite biodiversity mitigation, where required, is sufficient to make the development
acceptable in planning terms.

4.88  Green infrastructure provided within major development sites should normally serve a variety of purposes
such as flood attenuation, leisure and recreation, provision of natural habitats, and shading and cooling of buildings
and public areas. Green infrastructure functions can co-exist in one place, so the land coverage does not have to be
extensive in every case, although developments should recognise that floodplain cannot necessarily provide
year-round amenity access. [MM52] Green infrastructure within the site should be achieved as part of the broader
objectives for high quality design set out in Policy DM1 (high quality design). Applicants should have regard to the
Town and Country Planning Association document, Biodiversity by Design, and should explore opportunities for green
infrastructure to deliver wider environmental measures, such as those set out in the SW River Basin Management
Plan. Development incorporating green infrastructure will be required to submit management and
maintenance details for the proposed green infrastructure. [MM53]

4.89  This policy should be considered alongside Policy S5, which sets local standards for the provision of public
open space in new development.

Protected landscapes

Development proposals within-e+affecting the Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty,
Dartmoor National Park, Exmoor National Park and the North Devon Biosphere Reserve must
demonstrate that: [MM54]

a) Cultural heritage and the character, appearance, setting and other special qualities of the
landscape will be conserved or, where possible, enhanced; and

147

Page 176



b) Biodiversity will be conserved and enhanced where possible through improved linking of
habitats, appropriate landscaping and habitat creation.

Major developments within or adjoining the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Dartmoor or
Exmoor National Parks will only be permitted in exceptional cases.

490 National policy accords the highest status of protection to the landscape and scenic beauty of Areas of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and National Parks. The Mid Devon district incorporates a very small part of
Dartmoor National Park in the Cheriton Bishop parish, for which Dartmoor National Park Authority is the Local
Planning Authority. The district shares boundaries with both Dartmoor and Exmoor National Parks.

491  The Blackdown Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is a nationally important landscape
designation, aiming to preserve and enhance the natural and historic landscape features, flora and fauna of the
AONB. The Blackdown Hills Management Plan outlines measures for the protection and management of this
landscape. Development should not in any way undermine the special qualities that led to the designation of this
landscape as AONB.

4,92 Part of the western side of the district falls within the transition area for the North Devon Biosphere Reserve.
Biosphere Reserves are areas nominated by national governments and designated under UNESCO'’s ‘Man and
Biosphere Programme.” These areas are recognised for their high biodiversity value combined with sustainable use of
natural resources for the benefit of local communities. The purpose of the biosphere reserve is to reconcile the
conservation of biodiversity with human development needs. The part of the reserve within Mid Devon is known as a
‘transition area’. This does not benefit from the very high level of environmental protection found in the ‘core area’ at
Braunton Burrows, but contains agricultural activities and local communities that are recognised for their progress
towards achieving this environmental and economic balance.

4,93  Further information on the cultural heritage, character, appearance and setting of the district’s landscapes
may be found in the Mid Devon Landscape Character Assessment, the Devon Landscape Character Assessment and
Devon County Council’s Historic Environment Record, which the Council may use as a background to decision-
making. Where a development proposal would have potentially significant landscape impact, a Landscape and Visual
Impact Assessment and ecological report will be required. For applications not supported by specific studies, such as
small-scale proposals with no likely significant effects on the landscape or biodiversity, the requirements of the policy
should be met through the Design and Access Statement where one is required.

494  Where major developments are proposed within er-adjeining-protected landscapes or within the setting of
adjoining-the protected landscapes or National Parks, it must be demonstrated that they are sufficiently in the
public interest to overcome any detriment to the landscape in question. National policy criteria will be applied,
including an assessment of the need for the development, consequences of approval or refusal, opportunities for an
alternative location and the extent to which any detrimental effects on the environment could be mitigated. The impact
of light pollution should also be considered with particular regard provided for the Dark Sky Reserve status of Exmoor
National Park. [MM54]

Other protected sites

Where development proposals would lead to an individual or cumulative adverse impact on Sites of
Special Scientific Interest, ancient woodland, ancient trees, Regionally Important Geological Sites,
County Wildlife Sites, Local Nature Reserves or priority habitats defined under the UK and Devon
Biodiversity Action Plans, the Council will balance the overall benefits of the proposal against the
impact. Sufficient information must be provided for the Council to assess the significance of the

148

Page 177



impact against the importance of the protected site and the species which depend upon it. Planning
permission will be granted where:

a) The benefits of and need for the development clearly outweigh the direct and indirect impact to
the protected site and the ecosystem services it provides;

b) The development could not be located in an alternative, less harmful location; and

c) Appropriate mitigation measures have been put in place. Where mitigation measures are not
possible compensatory measures in some cases may be considered appropriate.

Where development proposals are likely (leaving aside mitigation measures) to have a significant

effect on a European site (as defined in requlation 8 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Requlations 2017), an appropriate assessment will be required. In such cases, planning permission
will be refused unless it has been ascertained that with mitigation measures in place the development
will not adversely affect the integrity of the site. [MM55]

4.95 European SitesNatura-2000-sites- include habitats protected under European Legislation, such as Special
Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas for birds. There are no sites in Mid Devon that are designated at
European level for wildlife protection or special conservation. However, there is a European-designated Special Area
of Conservation (SAC) adjacent to the district’s boundary on the A361 road near Rackenford, within North Devon
district. While the policies in this plan incorporate counter-acting measures to reduce effects on SACs, the protection
of European sites is of the utmost importance. Development that would adversely affect a European Natura-2000
site will not normally be permitted, given the stringent tests applied in Policy DM28 and the National Planning Policy
Framework. [MM55]

4,96  Within the Mid Devon district, the Council accords the highest degree of importance to Sites of Special
Scientific Interest, as these are sites of national importance with regard to flora, fauna, geological and physiographical
(landform) features. They are statutorily protected from harmful operations under the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981. Proposed development that has an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest, whether individually or
in combination with other developments, will not normally be permitted. Paragraph 118 of the National Planning
Policy Framework will be applied.

4.97  Ancient woodland will be accorded the same level of importance as Sites of Special Scientific Interest, as it
comprises a number of woodland habitats that are a national priority for improvement under the UK Biodiversity Action
Plan. Ancient woodland and trees are irreplaceable. As such, the opportunities for mitigation under criterion c) of the
policy are limited, and planning permission is likely to be refused for development that would result in the loss of
ancient woodland or trees unless the need for, and benefits of, the development in that location clearly outweigh the
loss. Where the Council becomes aware of ancient trees not previously identified and under threat from development,
a Tree Preservation Order will be considered.

4.98 Regionally Important Geological Sites, being of regional significance, are also accorded a high degree of
importance. Mid Devon only has six such sites, within the parishes of Crediton, Crediton Hamlets, Zeal Monachorum,
Kentisbeare and Uffculme. More information is available in the glossary. Any development proposal that impacts
upon one of these sites would need to be extremely well justified.

4,99  County Wildlife Sites are undesignated sites selected because of the presence of important habitats or
species. There are over 200 such sites in Mid Devon, representing a variety of habitats. Development proposals
adversely affecting a County Wildlife Site will be considered on a case-by-case basis, according to the amount of
information available about the site and its significance, relative to the type, scale and benefits of the development
being proposed. The same position will be taken on proposals that impact on Local Nature Reserves and priority
habitats (other than ancient woodland) defined in the UK and Devon Biodiversity Action Plans.

149
Page 178



4,100 Priority habitats include certain classifications of grassland, heathland, woodland or marsh. While the loss of
irreplaceable habitats will not normally be permitted, the Council will seek the replacement of a priority habitat where it
is significantly affected and its replacement can be achieved, through a planning obligation as appropriate.

4,101 The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, the UK Biodiversity Action Plan and a number of other
Regulations and Directives also designate particular ‘protected species’ with legal protection. It is an offence
recklessly or deliberately to Kill, injure, capture or disturb protected species, which includes carrying out works which
obstruct, damage or destroy access to that species’ habitat. These provisions are set out in law and apply in addition
to relevant policies in the Local Plan. The Council will require a protected species survey to be carried out in support
of any relevant planning application, including when the application site is not a protected site under Policy DM29 but
may affect protected species such as bats and birds.

4.102 Policy DM2928 affords protection to sites of significant wildlife or geological importance. [AM80] Where
adverse impacts are likely, planning permission will be refused unless there is particular justification that clearly
outweighs the impact in that case. The Council will consider the wider implications of any adverse impact to a
protected site, such as its role in providing a vital wildlife corridor, attenuating flood risk or ensuring good water quality
in a catchment. National policy criteria will be applied. Where development is permitted and would lead to an adverse
impact, appropriate mitigation measures should be put in place. Compensatory measures in some cases, where
mitigation measures are not possible, may be considered appropriate. Compensatory measures are not possible in

cases and will depend on the context of the protected S|te Ln—theeaseef—Na&ma—ZOQO—ytes—eempensateﬁt

Where the risk of harm to the integrity of a site has not been ruled out in an appropriate assessment plannlnd

permission may be granted for the development only if there is no alternative solution and the development
must be carried out for imperative reasons of overriding public interest. In such cases, any necessary
compensatory measures must be secured. [MM55]

4.103 The protected sites listed in Policy DM2928 are identified on the Policies Map where they are within or
adjoining a defined settlement. [AM81] Larger sites are also identified on the district-scale map. Up-to-date mapping
and information for County Wildlife Sites are held by Devon Biodiversity Record Centre (DBRC). Applicants are
advised to contact DBRC when the full extent of a County Wildlife Site is in question.

150

Page 179



Planning enforcement

The Council will investigate unauthorised development, acting proportionately to the scale of the
suspected breach of planning control. Enforcement action will be taken where it is appropriate to do
so and in the public interest.

4.104 Investigating suspected breaches of planning control is an important function of a Local Planning Authority.

Unauthorised development can be detrimental to the local environment and be a source of social tension. Failure to
enforce planning conditions or address unauthorised development can reduce the effectiveness of a Local Planning
Authority and undermine public confidence in the planning system.

4.105 When undertaking investigations, the Council will act in proportion to the scale of the suspected breach to
which it relates. The Council will then take enforcement action where it deems such action to be appropriate, having
regard to the scale of the breach and the impact on public amenity.

4.106 To ensure that enforcement is managed proactively and in a way that is appropriate to Mid Devon the Council
will has published a Local Enforcement Plan. This document will sets out the Council’'s approach to enforcement,
including timescales for action and statirg-states in detail how the Council will respond to suspected breaches of
planning control. [AM82]

151

Page 180



5.0 Monitoring

152

Page 181



51

Monitoring is important to understand the characteristics of the local area, assess the impact of policies and

whether the strategy is delivering sustainable development so that the policies can be reviewed as appropriate. The
Council is required to produce a Monitoring Report at least annually to provide information on the following matters:

5.2

Progress of local plans including the timetable for completion, stage reached and reasons for any
delays;

Any local plans or supplementary planning documents that have been approved or adopted, including
relevant dates;

Decisions not to implement any Local Plan policy including reasons and steps to implement the policy
in the future;

The number of market and affordable dwellings built in the reporting period and since the relevant
Local Plan policy target was introduced;

Any neighbourhood plans or development orders made in the district;

Progress on the implementation of the Community Infrastructure Levy, if any; and

Actions taken to ensure cooperation with other local authorities and prescribed organisations under
the ‘duty to cooperate’.

The Local Plan contains local indicators and targets where appropriate to inform this process and to measure

the Council’'s performance against relevant policies and legislation.

Indicator Relevant Target Implementation Comments
Policies Agencies

Housing

Housing trajectory | S2; S3; S4; Annual Development industry,

showing net S10; S11; completions of MDDC

additional dwellings | S12; S13 393 dwellings

from 2013-2033

Affordable housing | S1; S3 Annual average | MDDC, development

completions; completions 124 | industry, registered

number of dwellings per year. providers, Housing
and Communities
Agency

Affordable housing | S3; DM6 >50% affordable | MDDC, development | Proportion of market

on rural exception housing industry, registered housing on rural exception

sites providers, Housing sites should be lower than
and Communities that of affordable housing.
Agency

Net additional S3; DM7 MDDC

gypsy and traveller

pitches

Self-build S3 5% on sites of MDDC, development

completions 20+ dwellings industry

Sizes and types of | S1; S3; DM13 | No target MDDC, development

dwellings industry

completed

Net density of new | S9; DM1 None MDDC, development Policies do not set

residential industry minimum housing densities

development but promote the efficient

and effective use of land.

153

Page 182



Indicator Relevant Target Implementation Comments
Policies Agencies

Housing
Availability of land S3; S4 >105% housing MDDC, development | Target applied to whole
for housing supply against industry district. Target will be

requirement revised to >120% if

persistent under-delivery of
housing is proven.
Development of S3; S4 >50% of MDDC, development
housing on All housing completions industry
allocated sites allocations
Total amount and S1 No target MDDC, development
percentage of industry
housing
development
(including
conversions) on
previously
developed land.
Number of parking | DM5 21.7 car parking | MDDC, development
spaces provided in per dwelling industry
new residential
developments
Commercial
Indicator Relevant Target Implementation Comments
Policies Agencies

Total amount of S2; S6; S10; Average annual | MDDC, development | Monitoring reports will
additional S11; S12; completions industry break down the provision of
commercial S13; DM14; (square metres) use classes Al1-A5, B1-BS,
floorspace for the DM15, DM18 | Mid Devon 7350 C1-C2, D1-D2 and sui
whole district and Tiverton 1470 generis uses.
individually for Cullompton 3675
Tiverton, Crediton 735
Cullompton, Rural Areas 1470
Crediton and rural
areas
Development of S6; All >50% of MDDC, development
employment on commercial completions industry
allocated sites allocations
Losses of S6; DM14; No Target Mid Devon District Loss of commercial land
commercial land in | DM15; DM19 Council, development | will be broken down
local authority area industry, businesses according to use class.
Number of active S1; S2; S6 Maintain or MDDC, Heart of the
businesses increase number | South West Local

of active Enterprise

businesses. Partnership, private

sector

Job Seekers S1; S6 Remain below MDDC, development | Gives indictor for

Allowance as a
proportion of

regional average

industry, business
sector

deprivation and
employment.

154

Page 183




working age
population each
April
Total amount of S6; S7 No target MDDC, development
floorspace for town industry, retail
centre uses, in total business sector,
and within town leisure industry.
centres (Classes
Al, A2, Bla and
D2)
Total amount of S6; DM14; No target Mid Devon District To monitor edge-of-centre
floorspace for town | DM15 Council, development | and out-of-centre
centre uses out of industry, retail development, mainly retail.
town centres business sector,
(Classes Al, A2, leisure industry.
Bla and D2)
Al shops in primary | S7; DM14 >65% Mid Devon District
shopping frontages. Council, development
industry, retailers
Total amount and S1 No target MDDC, development
percentage of industry
commercial
floorspace on
previously
developed land.
Infrastructure
Indicator Relevant Target Implementation Comments
Policies Agencies
Community S8 No target. MDDC, development
Infrastructure Levy. industry
Monitor annual
receipt of CIL.
Public open space | S1; S5; S8 No target MDDC, development | Policy S5 sets out
provision and industry, town and standards for open space
accessibililtyaccessi parish councils, Sport | provision. Smaller sites
bility. Applications England, private and may provide financial
complying/failing to voluntary contributions in lieu of
comply with organisations. onsite open space, with
gquantity and access these funds being directed
standards in Policy to the provision or
S5 improvement of public open
space elsewhere.
Strategic Housing S3; S4; S6 To review MDDC, development
and Commercial SHLAA/SCLAA industry, infrastructure
Land Availability when the Local providers
Assessment Plan is reviewed
Services available | S8; S10; S11, | No reduction in MDDC, Devon County | Services include: Public
in towns and rural S12; S13; S14 | services Council, other transport, educational
areas organisations facilities, convenience
stores, community halls

155

Page 184




Loss of community | S1; DM23 No total loss in MDDC, development
facilities settlement industry
Environment
Number of S9 1 new or updated | MDDC
Conservation Area CAA/MP per year
Appraisals and
Conservation Area
Management Plans
Habitat surveys S1; S9 100% Natural England, No loss may be achieved
(where applicable) MDDC, development | through avoidance,
for consented industry mitigation and
developments compensation of impacts.
demonstrate no
loss in biodiversity.
Developments S1; S9; DM28 | No target MDDC, Natural Policy directs development
permitted on England, development | away from protected sites
protected sites industry subject to criteria, so the
(habitats) number of consents should
be low.
Ecological status of | S1; S9; DM4 | No target MDDC, development | Target in South West River
water bodies industry, Environment | Basin Management Plan is
Agency. to achieve good ecological
status for water bodies and
protected areas by 2015.
The Environment Agency
monitors water quality.
Consented S1; S9 DM2 No target Mid Devon District
renewable energy Council, development
development by industry.
type and
megawatts.
Number of heritage | DM25 No target Mid Devon District
assets added to the Council, development
local register industry, English
Heritage
Air Quality S1; S11; S12; | Reduction in air MDDC, development
Management Areas | DM3; DM4 pollutants within | industry, Devon
AQMAs County Council,
Highways Agency
Enforcement
Number of planning | DM29 No target MDDC

enforcement cases,
notices and
prosecutions

156

Page 185




Annex 1

Glossary

Adopted Policies Map (Proposals Map):

A map showing the areas or sites to which local plan policies and proposals apply. It will contain Inset Maps, showing particular
areas in more detail.

Affordable Housing:

Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market.
Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. Affordable housing should include provisions to remain
at an affordable price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision.

Social rented housing is owned by local authorities and private registered providers (as defined in section 80 of the Housing and
Regeneration Act 2008), for which guideline target rents are determined through the national rent regime. It may also be owned by
other persons and provided under equivalent rental arrangements to the above, as agreed with the local authority or with the
Homes and Communities Agency.

Affordable rented housing is let by local authorities or private registered providers of social housing to households who are eligible
for social rented housing. Affordable Rent is subject to rent controls that require a rent of no more than 80% of the local market
rent (including service charges, where applicable).

Intermediate housing is homes for sale and rent provided at a cost above social rent, but below market levels subject to the criteria
in the Affordable Housing definition above. These can include shared equity (shared ownership and equity loans), other low cost

homes for sale and intermediate rent, but not affordable rented housing.

Homes that do not meet the above definition of affordable housing, such as “low cost market” housing, may not be considered as
affordable housing for planning purposes.

Allocations:

Proposals that a certain site or area of land should be developed for particular uses and/or buildings. They are shown on a Policies
Map, contained within the Local Plan or Local Development Framework. There will be a related policy setting out any parameters
and criteria for the site, contained within the local plan.

Assets of Community Value:

A property or place that has been nominated by the local community and included on the Council’s list of Assets of Community
Value. If a registered property is to be sold, the local community is given the opportunity to bid for it before it is released for sale on
the open market.

Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM):

An environmental assessment method and rating system for buildings, to evaluate a building’s specification, design, construction
and use.

Car Club:
An organisation that owns cars that are shared by its members. People arrange in advance when they want to use a car, and pay

to use it. The advantage is that members do not have to pay the whole cost of owning a car, but are able to use one when they
need to.

157

Page 186



Community Facilities:

Community facilities provide for the health and wellbeing, social, educational, spiritual, recreational, leisure and cultural needs of
the community. They include pubs, post offices, shops, village halls, allotments, places of worship and various recreational
facilities.

Community Infrastructure Levy:

A levy allowing local authorities to raise funds from owners or developers of land undertaking new building projects in their area.
Curtilage:

The extent of the land around a property (particularly a dwelling) that often, but not always, delineates the amount of land
associated with the property. For larger, particularly country properties, the curtilage may often only refer to an immediate
cultivated garden and associated forecourt, rather than any other land included within the overall ‘planning use’.

Devon Biodiversity Record Centre (DBRC):

An online database of over two million wildlife records, hosted by the Devon Wildlife Trust.

Ecosystem services:

The products of natural systems from which people derive benefits, including goods and services, some of which can be valued
economically and others which have a non-economic value. Ecosystem services include: provisioning services (products from land
and water); regulating services (processes such as pollination; water purification and climate regulation); cultural services (heritage,
recreation, health and wellbeing); and supporting services (essential functions such as soil formation and nutrient cycling).
Embodied carbon:

The amount of CO2 emitted during a product’s entire lifecycle, including raw material extraction, transport, manufacture, assembly,
installation, maintenance, disassembly or demolition and decomposition. A complete assessment of embodied carbon is often
termed ‘cradle to grave’, while an assessment limited to the early phases (up to the point the product leaves the factory) is called
‘cradle to gate’.

Green Infrastructure:

A network of multi-functional green space with recreational, visual and ecological value.

Local Development Scheme:

A project plan for the preparation of local plans.

Local Green Space:

The designation of locally important land for special protection, ruling out development other than in exceptional cases. Local
Green Space is designated when a local or neighbourhood plan is prepared or reviewed. It must be reasonably close to the
community it serves; have demonstrable local significance and interest; be local in character and not cover an extensive tract of
land.

Low Carbon technologies:

Includes energy for heating and cooling as well as generating electricity. Low carbon technologies are those that can help reduce
emissions (compared to conventional use of fossil fuels).

Main Town Centre uses:

158

Page 187



Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres); leisure, entertainment facilities the more intensive sport
and recreational uses (including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, night-clubs, casinos, health and
fitness centres, indoor bowling centres, and bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres,
museums, galleries and concert halls, hotel and conference facilities).

Major development:

Applications for residential development with a minimum of 10 dwellings or a 0.5 hectare site area, and planning applications for
non-residential development with a minimum of 1000 square metres gross floor area, or a 1 hectare site area.

Minor development:

Planning applications which are not any of the following types: a major application, a change of use application or a householder
application.

Neighbourhood plans:

Plans and Development Orders produced by parish councils or other designated neighbourhood forums with the support of the
local community, including Community Right to Build Orders.

Planning obligation:

A legal agreement or undertaking under Section 106 of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Planning obligations provide a
means of ensuring that developers contribute towards the infrastructure and services that are necessary to facilitate proposed
development. The use of Section 106 Agreements is affected by the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations.

Primary shopping area:

Defined area where retail development is concentrated (generally comprising the primary and secondary shopping frontages which
are adjoining and closely related to the primary shopping frontage).

Primary and secondary frontages:

Primary frontages are likely to include a high proportion of retail uses which may include food, drinks, clothing and household
goods. Secondary frontages provide greater opportunities for a diversity of uses such as restaurants, cinemas and businesses.
Mid Devon towns do not have defined secondary frontages but these are generally located within the primary shopping area,
outside of the primary shopping frontage (see Policies Maps).

Priority habitat/species:

Priority species and habitats are those that have been identified as being the most threatened and requiring conservation action
under the UK Biodiversity Action Plan.

Public Rights of Way (PRoW):
Give you the right to walk, ride a horse or cycle along certain routes and are legally protected in the same way as roads.
Recreational Trail:

A corridor, route or pathway, generally land or water based, primarily intended for recreational purposes, including walking, hiking,
cycling, canoeing and horse-riding.

Regionally Important Geological Sites (RIGS):
These are the most important sites for geology and geomorphology outside of statutorily protected land such as Sites of Special

Scientific Interest. They are designated according to criteria set at regional or county level. The following table details the six Mid
Devon RIGS:

159

Page 188



Grid_Ref Parish Description

SS789022  Crediton Hamlets Quarry with exposures of Permian volcanic lava

SS714032  Zeal Monachorum Quarry with exposure of Upper Carboniferous
Bude formation

SS820005 @ Crediton Road cutting with exposure of Crediton Breccia

SS817002  Crediton Hamlets Exposure of Newton St.Cyres Breccia on the
sides of a deeply sunken lane

ST096090 | Kentisbeare/Uffculme  Scarp hillside covered in bracken & woodland

SX823985  Crediton Hamlets Quarry with volcanic lava resting on soft reddish
Knowle sandstone

Renewable energy:

Includes energy for heating and cooling and electricity generation. Renewable energy covers those energy flows that occur
naturally and repeatedly in the environment — from the wind, the fall of water, the movement of the oceans, from the sun and also
from biomass and deep geothermal heat.

River Basin Management Plan (RBMP):

A plan produced by the Environment Agency in order to meet the requirements of the EU Water Framework Directive. Each plan
sets out the environmental objectives for all water bodies in the region and how they will be achieved. The South West RBMP can
be downloaded from the Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs and Environment Agency website.

Rural workers:

Are people whose place of work is located within the countryside, typically comprising farm workers, forestry workers and others
involved in rural-based enterprises.

Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding:

Homes built by individuals, associations of individuals or developers working with or for those individuals, to be occupied by those
individuals. Homes that are built wholly or mainly to plans or specifications decided or offered by a developer/seller are excluded.

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI):

SSSis are the country’s very best wildlife and geological sites. SSSIs are important as they support plants and animals that find it
more difficult to survive in the wider countryside. The protection of SSSis is a shared responsibility between landowners, local
authorities and Natural England.

Statement of Community Involvement:

a statement within the Local Development Framework that sets out the Council’s policies for the public involvement in the
preparation of Local Development Documents and planning applications.

Supplementary Planning Document:

a document within the Local Development Framework that sets out more detailed policies in support of those contained in a local
plan. It does not form part of the Development Plan, but is a material consideration on planning applications.
Sustainable Development:

160

Page 189



is development which meets the needs of the present while not preventing future generations meeting their own needs. The
sustainability of local plans must be assessed through Sustainability Appraisals and Strategic Environmental Assessment
(SA/SEA).

Telecommunications development:

Operational development and change of use of land to provide buildings, instrumentation and other equipment necessary for
telecommunications (telegraph, cable, telephone, radio, or television). The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the
requirements for decision-making on telecommunications proposals.

Water Framework Directive (WFD):

European Union legislation that requires all countries throughout the EU to manage the water environment to consistent standards.
Zero carbon:

A set of standards prepared by the Government for the construction of new homes which are intended to ensure zero net carbon
emissions from on-going use and maintenance from the building. Regulated emissions such as a building’s energy efficiency and

onsite renewable or low carbon heat and power supply will be controlled through the Building Regulations, while any remaining
emissions may be offset through ‘allowable solutions’ (to be determined by Government).

161

Page 190



Annex 2

Low Emission Assessments (LEA):
Procedural guidance

162

Overview of development proposal.

Summary of pre-application discussions.

Identify boundaries of the assessment
according to the proximity to an Air
Quality Management Area, expected
routes of travel, properties most affected
and years of interest, to determine
whether a concentrations-based air
guality assessment is required under
Policy DM6 criterion a).

Set out the assessment methodology
used to comply with criterion a) of Policy
DM6 if necessary, including sources of
data and assumptions used.

Using the Low Emission Toolkit (or
equivalent), calculate the baseline
residual road transport emissions from
the development, for the first operational
year and specified future years after
development trips have been reduced as
far as possible. The calculation should
be based on a ‘without measures’
scenario, i.e. not including any low
emission mitigation measures.

If an air quality assessment has been
identified as necessary under Step 1,
summarise: all impacts (during and post-
construction) on identified properties or
other local receptor locations; any
exceedencesexceedances of the air
quality objectives resulting from the

development; any effect on the delivery of

the relevant Air Quality Action Plan; the
significance of the results; and the
options for measures to reduce, mitigate

Years of interest will be
influenced by the
anticipated operational
commencement and
lifespan of the
development; the
timescale to achieve
specified national targets
for emissions; and the
availability of robust
emissions data projected
forward to 2020 or
beyond.

Display data as annual
emissions.

Page 191



Steps

or compensate an air quality impact.

Consider whether additional trip
reduction measures can be incorporated.

Using the Low Emission Toolkit (or
equivalent), evaluate the impact on
residual road transport emissions of
applying low emission mitigation
measures, both on and offsite, against
‘business as usual’ baseline levels, for
the specified years of interest.

Evaluate any trade-offs that occur as a
result of mitigation measures, for
instance where one pollutant would
decrease but another increase, or where
there is a net increase in the road traffic
emissions in Mid Devon but a decrease
within the Air Quality Management Area.

If an air quality assessment is included
(see Step 1), summarise the effect that
mitigation measures will have on:
identified properties or other local
receptor locations; any
exceedencesexceedances of the air
quality objectives resulting from the
development; and any effect on the
delivery of the relevant Air Quality Action
Plan.

Calculate the remaining residual road
transport emissions after mitigation
measures have been incorporated, using
a ‘mass emissions’ approach (Low
Emissions Toolkit) and in addition a
concentrations-based approach in cases
where criterion a) of Policy DM6 applies
(see Step 1).

Translate the calculated remaining
residual road transport emissions into
damage costs for the pollutants of
concern. (Information on calculating
damage costs is available from DEFRA:
http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quali

Information required

Steps 2 and 3 may be
combined as a site
emissions mitigation
plan, with clear links to
the Travel Plan.

The Local Planning
Authority may wish to
negotiate
further/alternative
mitigation measures,
requiring a revised LEA
to be submitted.

If damage costs are
significant, the Local
Planning Authority will
consider whether a
Section 106 Agreement

Page 192



ty/air/air-quality/economic/damage/) is required and feasible
to make the
development acceptable
in planning terms, to
deliver a cost-equivalent
air quality improvement
identified in the relevant
Air Quality Action Plan.
In this case the
identified project would
be excluded from the
Council’s list of
infrastructure funded by
the Community
Infrastructure Levy
(CIL). CIL would remain
payable for all other
generic offsite
infrastructure. The
Council may take legal
advice before deciding
on this approach, where
a Section 106
Agreement would
deliver off-site
infrastructure.

164

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033 Policies Map with any changes
needed to this through main modifications and additional (minor)
modifications

Bampton Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342685/bampton-january-2017.pdf

Bickleigh Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342686/bickleigh-january-2017.pdf

Cheriton Bishop Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342687/cheriton-bishop-january-2017.pdf

Crediton Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342688/crediton-january-2017.pdf

Cullompton Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342689/cullompton-january-2017.pdf

This will be updated through Plan MM35 to show the settlement limit at CU21 Land
at Colebrook (Appendix 9)

Hemyock Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342690/hemyock-january-2017.pdf

Junction 27 Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342691/j27-january-2017.pdf

Sampford Peverell Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342692/sampford-peverell-january-
2017.pdf

This will be replaced by Plan MM45 (Appendix 10) and updated through additional
(minor) modification AM86 by placing the policy code SP2 on the map (Appendix 4,
page 34)

Sandford Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342693/sandford-january-2017.pdf

Thorverton Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342694/thorverton-january-2017.pdf

Tiverton Map:

Page 195


https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342685/bampton-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342686/bickleigh-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342687/cheriton-bishop-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342688/crediton-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342689/cullompton-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342690/hemyock-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342691/j27-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342692/sampford-peverell-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342692/sampford-peverell-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342693/sandford-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342694/thorverton-january-2017.pdf

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342695/tiverton-january-2017.pdf

This will be updated through additional (minor) modification AM83 to replace the
Policy code AL/TIV/9 with TIV16 (Appendix 4, page 31)

Uffculme Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342697/uffculme-january-2017.pdf

This will be updated through additional (minor) modification AM85 to place the Policy
code UF1 on the map and the settlement limit to include UF1 proposal (Appendix 4,
page 33)

Willand Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342698/willand-january-2017.pdf

East of the District Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113897/district map east.pdf

West of the District Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113952/district map west-small.pdf

Tiverton Central Area Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113899/tiverton central area.pdf

Ashill Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113902/ashill.pdf

Bolham Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113905/bolham.pdf

Bow Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113906/bow.pdf

This will be updated through additional (minor) modification AM84 to extend the
settlement limit to include BO2 (Appendix 4, page 32)

Bradninch Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113907/bradninch.pdf

Burlescombe Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113908/burlescombe.pdf

Cadeleigh Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113909/cadeleigh.pdf

Chawleigh Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113910/chawleigh.pdf

Page 196


https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342695/tiverton-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342697/uffculme-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342698/willand-january-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113897/district_map_east.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113952/district_map_west-small.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113899/tiverton_central_area.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113902/ashill.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113905/bolham.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113906/bow.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113907/bradninch.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113908/burlescombe.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113909/cadeleigh.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113910/chawleigh.pdf

Cheriton Fitzpaine Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113912/cheriton fitzpaine.pdf

Chettiscombe Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113913/chettiscombe.pdf

Chevithorne Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113914/chevithorne.pdf

Coldridge Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113915/coldridge.pdf

Colebrook Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113916/colebrooke.pdf

Coleford Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113917/coleford.pdf

Copplestone Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113918/copplestone.pdf

Cove Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113919/cove.pdf

Cove Hill Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113920/cove hill.pdf
Craddock Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113921/craddock.pdf

Culmstock Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113922/culmstock.pdf

Down St Mary Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113923/down st mary.pdf

Halberton Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113924/halberton.pdf

Hockworthy Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113926/hockworthy.pdf

Holcombe Rogus Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113927/holcombe roqus.pdf

Page 197


https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113912/cheriton_fitzpaine.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113913/chettiscombe.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113914/chevithorne.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113915/coldridge.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113916/colebrooke.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113917/coleford.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113918/copplestone.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113919/cove.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113920/cove_hill.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113921/craddock.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113922/culmstock.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113923/down_st_mary.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113924/halberton.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113926/hockworthy.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113927/holcombe_rogus.pdf

Huntsham Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113928/huntsham.pdf

Kennerleigh Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113929/kennerleigh.pdf

Kentisbeare Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113930/kentisbeare.pdf

Knowle Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113931/knowle.pdf

Lapford Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113932/lapford.pdf

Morchard Bishop Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113933/morchard bishop.pdf

Newton St Cyres Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113934/newton st cyres.pdf

Oakford Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113935/oakford.pdf
Oakfordbridge Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113936/oakfordbridge.pdf

Puddington Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113937/puddington.pdf

Silverton Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113940/silverton.pdf

Stockleigh English Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113941/stockleigh english.pdf

Stockleigh Pomeroy Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113942/stockleigh pomeroy.pdf

Stoodleigh Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113943/stoodleigh.pdf

Upton Hellions Map:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113946/upton hellions.pdf

Page 198


https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113928/huntsham.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113929/kennerleigh.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113930/kentisbeare.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113931/knowle.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113932/lapford.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113933/morchard_bishop.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113934/newton_st_cyres.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113935/oakford.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113936/oakfordbridge.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113937/puddington.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113940/silverton.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113941/stockleigh_english.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113942/stockleigh_pomeroy.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113943/stoodleigh.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113946/upton_hellions.pdf

Westleigh Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113947/westleigh.pdf

Witheridge Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113949/witheridge.pdf

Yeoford Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113950/yeoford.pdf

Zeal Monachorum Map:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113951/zeal monachorum.pdf

Page 199


https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113947/westleigh.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113949/witheridge.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113950/yeoford.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/113951/zeal_monachorum.pdf

This page is intentionally left blank



- Appendix 3
0% The Planning Inspectorate

Report to Mid Devon District Council

by Paul Griffiths BSc(Hons) BArch IHBC
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Date: 26 June 2020

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
(as amended)

Section 20

Report on the Examination of the
Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-2033

The Plan was submitted for examination on 31 March 2017

The examination hearings were held on 20 and 21 September 2018, and 14, 15, 19
and 20 February 2019

File Ref: PINS/Y1138/429/12

Page 201



Abbreviations used in this report

AONB

CTCRR

DPA

DtC

The
Framework

HRA

MM

OAN

The Plan

PPG

PPTS

SA

SAC

SHMA

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road
Dwellings per Annum

Duty to Co-operate

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Habitats Regulations Assessment

Main Modification

Objectively Assessed Need

Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-2033
Planning Practice Guidance

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites
Sustainability Appraisal

Special Area of Conservation

Strategic Housing Market Assessment

2
Page 202



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Non-Technical Summary

This report concludes that the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-2033 (the Plan)
provides an appropriate basis for the planning of the District, provided that a
number of main modifications (MMs) are made to it. Mid Devon District Council has
specifically requested that I recommend any MMs necessary to enable the Plan to
be adopted.

The MMs all concern matters that were discussed at the examination hearings.
Following the hearings, the Council prepared a schedule of the proposed
modifications and carried out sustainability appraisal (SA) of them alongside
revisiting the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA), and the Equalities Impact
Assessment. The MMs were subject to public consultation over a six-week period.
In some cases, I have amended their detailed wording and/or added consequential
modifications where necessary. I have recommended their inclusion in the Plan
after considering all the representations made in response to consultation on them.

The MMs can be summarised as follows:

e MMs to establish a proper link between the development of housing and
related infrastructure and to provide for a trajectory that should ensure a
rolling five-year supply of deliverable housing sites;

e A group of MMs necessary to allow the Plan to properly provide for the needs
of Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Show-People;

e MMs to ensure the major development proposed at Junction 27 of the M5 is
brought forward in an acceptable way;

e MMs to deal with constraints relating to the allocation under Policy SP2; and

e Various MMs to ensure that development management policies are effective
and consistent with national policy.

3
Page 203



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Introduction

1.

This report contains my assessment of the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-
2033 (the Plan) in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). It considers first whether the Plan’s
preparation has complied with the duty to co-operate (DtC). It then considers
whether the Plan is sound and whether it is compliant with the legal
requirements. Paragraph 182 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012
(the Framework) makes it clear that in order to be sound, a Local Plan should
be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.

The revised National Planning Policy Framework was published in July 2018
and further revised in February 2019. It includes a transitional arrangement in
paragraph 214 which indicates that, for the purpose of examining this Plan,
the policies in the 2012 Framework will apply. Similarly, where the Planning
Practice Guidance (PPG) has been updated to reflect the revised Framework,
the previous versions of the PPG apply for the purposes of this examination
under the transitional arrangement. Therefore, unless stated otherwise,
references in this report are to the 2012 Framework and the versions of the
PPG which were extant prior to the publication of the 2018 Framework.

The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local
planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan. The
Plan, as submitted in March 2017, is the basis for my examination. It is the
document that was published for consultation in January 2017.

Having established that, for the purposes of clarity, it is worth outlining the
various stages of progress of the Plan. The first iteration was published for
consultation as far back as 2015. In response to that consultation process, the
Council made significant changes to it. The consultation exercise was then re-
run and it is that second iteration of the Plan: The Mid Devon Local Plan
Review 2013-2033 Proposed Submission (incorporating proposed
modifications) of January 2017 (to give it its full title) that was submitted for
examination in March 2017.

Preliminary hearings were originally scheduled for 26 and 27 September 2017
but these were postponed, at the Council’s behest, to allow for an independent
review of the SA underpinning the Plan by an outside consultant!. The findings
and consequent (relatively minor) changes to the SA were consulted upon
between 28 February and 11 April 2018. While the results of that process were
being considered, I had cause to ask the Council to review the submitted
HRAZ2, The Council undertook this task® and it was concluded that the HRA as
submitted remained robust.

Preliminary hearings then took place over two days in September 2018. After
that, I issued a letter dated 29 October 2018 setting out some brief
conclusions that allowed main hearings to take place in February 2019.

! Land Use Consultants (LUC)

2 In the light of the judgment in People over Wind, Peter Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta
(Case C-323/17)

3 Again through LUC

4
Page 204



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

7. Those hearings exposed concerns about the housing trajectory in the light of
assumptions made about the progress of the Cullompton Town Centre Relief
Road (CTCRR), in particular. The Council undertook some further work on this
matter and after that, I indicated to the Council that consultation on the MMs
could then take place. This process took place between 6 January and 17
February 2020.

Main Modifications

8. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council requested that I
should recommend any MMs necessary to rectify matters that make the Plan
unsound and thus incapable of being adopted. My report explains why the
recommended MMs, all of which relate to matters that were discussed at the
examination hearings, are necessary. The MMs are referenced in bold in the
report in the form MM01, MMO2 etc, and are set out in full in the attached
Appendix.

9. As outlined above, on my direction, after the main examination hearings, the
Council prepared a schedule of proposed MMs and carried out SA of them,
alongside revisiting the HRA, and the Equalities Impact Assessment. The MM
schedule was subject to public consultation for six weeks. I have taken
account of the consultation responses in coming to my conclusions in this
report and in this light, I have made some amendments to the detailed
wording of the MMs and added consequential modifications (in red) where
these are necessary for consistency or clarity. None of the amendments
significantly alters the content of the modifications as published for
consultation or undermines the participatory processes and SA that has been
undertaken. Where necessary I have highlighted these amendments in the
report.

Policies Map

10. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates
geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan.
When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to
provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies
map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan.

11. In this case, the submission policies map comprises the comprehensive set of
maps/plans attached to the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-2033 Proposed
Submission (incorporating proposed modifications) of January 2017.

12. The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan document
and so I do not have the power to recommend main modifications to it.
However, two of the published MMs to the Plan’s policies require further
corresponding changes to be made to the policies map. These further changes
to the policies map were published for consultation alongside the MMs (as Plan
MM35 and Plan MM45). I refer to these in the body of the report.

13. When the Plan is adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give
effect to the Plan’s policies, the Council will need to update the adopted
policies map to include all the changes proposed, incorporating any necessary
amendments identified in this report.

5
Page 205



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council
complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of the Plan’s
preparation. The manner in which the Council has engaged with other local
authorities and organisations in relation to strategic matters raised by the Plan
has been set out*.

In terms of the provision of housing, the Council has sought to deal with its
own needs in full and has required no assistance in doing so from other
authorities. Similarly, while discussions between authorities in the Housing
Market Area have taken place, no neighbouring authority has asked the
Council to assist in meeting some of its housing needs.

The Council has taken a similar approach in providing to meet its own needs
for commercial development. No neighbouring authority has sought the
Council’s assistance in meeting its own commercial needs.

However, the Plan does propose a major allocation adjacent to J27 of the M5
motorway for a major tourism, leisure and retail attraction that would be a
strategic intervention in the region. Some of the initial objections to it from
neighbouring authorities were couched in terms of a failure in terms of the
DtC. I did not see them as such but in any event, as part of continued
discussions after the date of submission, the concerns initially expressed have
developed and they now relate more to the potential impact of the retail
element of the proposed allocation on existing centres, and similar shopping
facilities, rather than matters around the DtC.

In its reliance on improvements to J27 and 128 of the M5 motorway, and in
bringing forward the Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road, alongside the
provision of a new railway station in Cullompton, the Plan does raise strategic
issues around transport. However, it is very clear that the Council engaged
constructively with the Highway Authority and the Highways Agency in
particular in dealing with these issues up to the point of submission, and
indeed beyond.

Taking all those points together, I am satisfied that where necessary the
Council has engaged constructively, actively and on an on-going basis in the
preparation of the Plan, and that the DtC has therefore been met.

Assessment of Soundness

Main Issues

20.

Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the
discussions that took place at the examination hearings, I have identified a
series of main issues upon which the soundness of this plan depends. This
report deals with those main issues. It does not respond to every point or
issue raised by representors. Nor does it refer to every policy, policy criterion
or allocation in the Plan.

4 In the Council’s DtC Statement

6
Page 206



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Issue 1: Are the vision and spatial strategy of the Plan positively prepared,
justified, effective and consistent with national policy?

21,

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

Adopting the central tenet of the Framework in relation to sustainable
development, the vision of the Plan is to bring benefits to local communities by
promoting community well-being; supporting economic success; conserving
and enhancing the area; and respecting environmental limits.

In order to bring that vision to fruition, the intention through the Plan is to
create a prosperous economy with increased inward investment; meet
objectively assessed needs for development in locations best suited to
accommodate it, with a suitable balance of housing, employment and other
facilities within towns, smaller settlements, and rural areas; reduce the use of
the private car and encourage more use of public transport, walking and
cycling; reduce carbon emissions; and promote social inclusion and reduce
inequality by providing better access to jobs, services, and housing.

As a vision for the District, that is clearly positive and consistent with national
policy that seeks to marry economic growth with sustainable forms of
development and environmental improvement.

The spatial strategy of the Plan, in the medium to long term, is to make the
market town of Cullompton the strategic focus of new development, reflective
of its existing status as one of the larger settlements in the District as well as
its accessibility, economic potential, and environmental capacity. The market
towns of Tiverton and Crediton are treated as secondary focal points for
development; a reflection of their infrastructures, economies, characters, and
constraints. Below that, limited development is envisaged for some of the
larger and better-served villages commensurate with their scale while
development in smaller settlements, lower in the hierarchy, and the
countryside, will be limited to forms of development that bring benefit to the
rural economy.

In parallel with all that, a major development is proposed adjacent to J27 of
the M5 motorway to bring a high-quality tourist, leisure and retail attraction to
the District, attracting visitors to the District, thereby generating economic
activity and jobs, and acting as a gateway to the South-West.

The prominence given to Cullompton as the primary focus for development,
and the scale of what is proposed at J27 bring challenges in terms of
infrastructure and road capacity in particular. However, other approaches,
such as using Tiverton as the primary location for development rather than
Cullompton, have significant challenges too - in that case landscape impact.
Overall, I am satisfied that what the Council has put forward as a strategy in
the Plan is positive, justified, likely to be most effective, and consistent with
national policy. I am left in no doubt that it is the best strategy available to
deliver the vision for the District that the Council has set out.

7
Page 207



27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

The Plan relies on the relevant SHMA>, Employment Land Review®, and Retail
Study’ as the bases for overall provision in the Plan for housing and
employment development.

In terms of housing provision, the SHMA sets out the OAN for Mid Devon as
falling within the range of 359-381 dwellings per annum (DPA). While the
SHMA is clear in its conclusion that there is no need for any uplift to that range
to reflect market signals or other factors, the Plan sets a housing target of 393
DPA (or a total of 7,860 over the Plan period). This takes the maximum figure
set out in the SHMA and adds an uplift of 12 DPA to cater for additional need
arising from the jobs that would be created as a result of the major
development proposed adjacent to J27 of the M5 motorway. In my view that is
a reasonable approach given that the SHMA took no account of the proposal
adjacent to J27 in its calculations, and in my view the figure of 393 DPA in the
Plan is sound in its derivation and has been justified.

As far as commercial development is concerned, the Employment Land Review
recommended that the Council should plan to provide 30-40ha of employment
land. That is roughly equivalent to 140,000 square metres of actual
floorspace. Alongside that, the Retail Study identified a need for non-food
retail of around 7,000 square metres. In that overall context and having
regard to the retail floorspace proposed as part of the J27 allocation, the Plan
proceeds on the basis of a need for 147,000 square metres of commercial
floorspace. Again, having regard to the evidence underpinning the calculation,
that figure has been justified and is a reasonable one.

However, to comply with national policy in the Framework, the figures for
housing and commercial floorspace need to be expressed as minima which as
submitted, Policy S2 which deals with the amount and distribution of
development, and Policy S3 which deals with housing specifically, fail to do.
Both use the term ‘approximately’ which is unsuitable, in that it is imprecise
and would allow for the figures to be undercut, as well as overshot. MMs are
necessary to both policies [MM03, MMO04] to correct this matter and to make
the policies, and thereby the Plan, positive, effective, and compliant with
national policy in this regard.

As one would expect, the Plan includes a series of allocations that seek to
bring this housing and commercial development forward. I deal with detailed
matters relating to the housing allocations below but in spatial terms, they
closely follow the strategy set out above.

To provide for the largest part of the Plan’s overall housing provision in
accordance with the Spatial Strategy outlined above, significant allocations are
proposed to the north-west of Cullompton (Policy CU1 North West Cullompton
- 1350 dwellings amongst other things) and east of Cullompton, on the
opposite side of the M5 motorway (Policy CU7 East Cullompton - 1,750
dwellings amongst other things, in the Plan period, with 850 to follow post-
2033 in the form of a Garden Village). Other Cullompton allocations are
proposed at Knowle Lane (Policy CU13 - 296 dwellings), Ware Park and

> The Exeter Housing Market Area SHMA Final Report 2014/15
® The Employment Land Review 2013
7 The Mid Devon Retail Study 2012

8
Page 208



33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Footlands (Policy CU14 - 38 dwellings), Land at Exeter Road (Policy CU15 - 24
dwellings), Cummings Nursery (Policy CU16 - 100 dwellings) and Land at
Colebrook (Policy CU21 - originally a contingency site for 100 dwellings that I
deal with further below).

Notwithstanding their secondary status in the hierarchy, Tiverton and Crediton
have significant allocations for housing too. Land is set aside in Tiverton in the
form of an Eastern Urban Extension (Policy TIV1 - 1580-1830 dwellings),
Farleigh Meadows (Policy TIV6 - 255 dwellings), Town Hall/St Andrew Street
(Policy TIV7 - 59 dwellings), Moorhayes Park (Policy TIV8 - 8 dwellings),
Howden Court (Policy TIV9 - 10 dwellings), Roundhill (Policy TIV10 - 20
affordable dwellings), Palmerston Park (Policy TIV11 - 25 affordable
dwellings), Phoenix Lane (Policy TIV12 - 60 dwellings), Tidcombe Hall (Policy
TIV13 - a contingency site for 100 dwellings), and Blundells School (Policy
TIV16 -a site for 200 dwellings).

Crediton has sites earmarked at Wellparks (Policy CRE1 - 185 dwellings
amongst other things), Red Hill Cross, Exhibition Road (Policy CRE2 - 135
dwellings), Cromwells Meadow (Policy CRE3 - 35 dwellings), Woods Group,
Exeter Road (Policy CRE4 - 8 dwellings), Pedlerspool, Exhibition Road (Policy
CRE5 - 200 dwellings amongst other things), Sports Fields, Exhibition Road
(Policy CRE6 - 120 dwellings), Stonewall Lane (Policy CRE7 - 50 dwellings),
Land at Barn Park (Policy CRE8 - 20 dwellings), and Land at Alexandra Close
(Policy CRE9 - 15 dwellings).

Below that, again in accordance with the spatial strategy, a series of smaller
sites are allocated for housing in smaller settlements, notably Bampton, Bow,
Bradninch, Chawleigh, Cheriton Bishop, Cheriton Fitzpaine, Copplestone,
Culmstock, Halberton, Morchard Bishop, Newton St Cyres, Sampford Peverell,
Sandford, Silverton, Thorverton, Uffculme and Willand.

I deal with aspects relating to some of these sites in Issue 2, and one
particular site in Sampford Peverell (Policy SP2) in some detail below, but on
my analysis, the chosen sites, some of which are brought forward from earlier
plans, have been justified in terms of the spatial strategy, and in the overall
context of the Plan, effective in that they are likely to be delivered.

These site allocation policies make specific provision for affordable housing in
percentage terms (generally at 28% but with more required on some sites)
based on various viability studies®. There is a danger that this requirement will
act as a drag on delivery and as an example I understand that the site to the
north-west of Cullompton (Policy CU1) has been held up for some time
pending agreement between the Council and the developer on the extent of
affordable housing to be provided.

However, the overarching approach to affordable housing, set out in criterion
b) of Policy S3 makes clear that viability is to be taken into account. To my
mind, that provides a safeguard that ought to ensure that percentage
requirements for affordable housing in the allocation policies need not stunt
delivery because of difficulties in terms of viability.

8 Notably the Viability Update and Review of 2016

9
Page 209



39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Leaving aside the allocation adjacent to J27 of the M5 motorway that I deal
with in detail below, the Plan makes various allocations for commercial
development too, sometimes conjoined with housing sites, in other cases, on a
stand-alone basis.

Following the hierarchy of the spatial strategy, provision is made in
Cullompton as part of Policies CU1 (nhorth-west Cullompton - 10,000 square
metres), and CU7 (East Cullompton - 20,000 square metres in the Plan period
with 12,000 to follow) with stand-alone sites at Week Farm (Policy CU17 -
15,000 square metres) and Venn Farm (12,000 square metres).

Below that, in Tiverton, commercial development is expected to be delivered
as part of Policy TIV1 (Eastern Urban Extension - 30,000 square metres), and
Policy TIV12 (Phoenix Lane - 7,000 square metres). In Crediton, provision is
made for commercial development as part of Policy CRE1 (Wellparks - 2,220
square metres), and on a stand-alone basis at Land South of the A377 (Policy
CRE10 - 7,600 square metres). In smaller settlements, there is a relatively
small amount (355 square metres) allocated as part of Policy BA2 and 22,000
square metres at Willand Industrial Estate (Policy WI2).

The allocations for commercial development follow the line of the spatial
strategy and whether proposed as part of larger allocations for housing, or on
a stand-alone basis, the sites are well-chosen and effective in that there is no
good reason why they would not be delivered.

Bringing all those points together, I take the view that with the MMs referred
to above, the vision and spatial strategy of the Plan are positively prepared,
justified, effective and consistent with national policy.

Issue 2: Whether the relationship between the provision of housing and
attendant infrastructure, amongst other things, is arranged in a way that
ensures the Plan delivers a rolling five-year supply of deliverable housing
sites?

44,

45.

46.

The particular challenge evinced by the concentration of development on
Cullompton relates to highway capacity. Given that Cullompton is already
congested, which has knock-on effects on the performance of J28 of the M5
motorway, and air quality in and around the town, the Highways England and
the Highway Authority® have consistently made plain that improvements to
highway capacity must keep pace with the delivery of housing.

These highway improvements fall into two main, interrelated categories. The
first relates to capacity improvements at Junction 28 of the M5 motorway, the
second to the provision of the CTCRR. Both act as significant constraints on
the rate of delivery of housing in and around Cullompton.

Thanks to the now completed signals at Junction 28, the site to the north-west
of Cullompton for 1350 dwellings (Policy CU1) can deliver 600 dwellings before
completion of the CTCRR. The remaining 750 dwellings must await its
completion, as must the first 500 dwellings of the large allocation to the east
of Cullompton for 1,750 dwellings (Policy CU7). Beyond that first 500 units,

° Devon County Council

10
Page 210



47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

the Policy CU7 allocation will require a significant strategic intervention to
facilitate further development which may take the form of a new Junction 28a
on the M5 motorway.

The Council has received funding from Central Government, albeit conditional,
for part of the cost of the CTCRR. This offers some reassurance. However, the
Council’s assumptions about delivery of the CTCRR have been optimistic. As a
result, the housing trajectory outlined in the Plan, which after the first five
years, is so dependent on the prompt delivery of the CTCRR, does not appear
capable of delivering a rolling five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.

In response to the concerns I expressed about this matter after the main
hearings, the Council looked again at its assumptions relating to the CTCRR,
and the associated housing trajectory. Based on that, a raft of MMs have come
forward to make the delivery of housing more likely to provide an acceptable
rate of supply. This has been achieved by, amongst other things, bringing
forward sites previously identified as Contingency Sites, and taking away
unnecessary ties on other sites, while applying a more reasonable programme
for delivery of the CTCRR.

I appreciate that some consider that the revised programme for the delivery of
the CTCRR is still unrealistic. On my analysis, given the nature of major
infrastructure projects, and potential issues around land ownership, what the
Council has put forward remains optimistic, but it is not unreasonably so.

One can point to the risks that any delay poses to the Plan, and its housing
trajectory, but a risk of that nature works in two ways. Of course, if the CTCRR
runs into problems, it will be difficult for the Council to maintain a rolling five-
year supply of deliverable housing sites. There is scope for some slippage but
even if the Council make no planned response, the Framework!® makes
provision for alternative sites to come forward in those circumstances. That
most likely unpalatable possibility, alongside the Council’s obvious appreciation
of the need for rapid progress on the CTCRR, suggests to me that they will do
all they can to bring it forward quickly, and make decisions about it in that
context. That is why I do not consider the Council’s approach to be unrealistic.

There are issues too about the implications for delivery of coupling allocations
for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Show-People with major allocations
for general and affordable housing. It appears that linking provision in this
way might lead to difficulties with lending institutions, resulting in developers
being unable to proceed with the allocated sites because of funding difficulties.
This would have an obviously negative impact on the delivery of general and
affordable housing, as well as pitches for Gypsies and Travellers, or plots for
Travelling Show-People.

I deal with the implications for provision for Gypsies and Travellers, and
Travelling Show-People, in detail below but in terms of general and affordable
housing, I am satisfied that it is right to maintain the link.

Having said that, to be found sound, the Plan needs to give confidence that
general and affordable housing, and provision for Gypsies and Travellers and

101 refer here to the 2019 version against which planning applications will be considered

11
Page 211



54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

60.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Travelling Show-People, will be delivered. In general terms, I am reassured
that there need be little difficulty in this regard. The MMs to the Plan (that I
deal with in detail in Issue 3 below) will allow developers to provide the
provision required for the travelling community as part of the overarching
allocation, off-site, should they so wish, and permit windfall sites to come
forward more easily. That ought to deal with any difficulties that might arise in
terms of the delivery of either.

Other, previously unidentified, infrastructure requirements relating to
education provision, and waste facilities have also cropped up. While these do
not have quite the same impact on delivery as the issues outlined above, they
do need to be addressed through MMs.

Against that overall background, I turn to the MMs required to address
infrastructure requirements, and the Plan’s housing trajectory, in turn. The
Plan as submitted includes a Table which sets out that trajectory. This has
needed to be changed to reflect the modified assumptions about the delivery
of the CTCRR, and the raft of MMs I refer to above. This change [MMO01] is
needed to ensure the Plan is effective, and consistent with national policy.

Policy S8 in the Plan as submitted deals with infrastructure, and the need for
an Infrastructure Plan, and developer contributions. Having regard to the
constraints on housing provision provided by the road network, discussions
with the Highway Authority and Highways England highlighted the need for the
policy to be expanded to refer directly to the need for highway impacts of
development to be mitigated through the vehicle of the Infrastructure Plan.
This [MMO0G6] is essential in order to ensure that the Plan operates in an
effective way.

Policy S11 sets out the Plan’s intentions for Cullompton. Criterion a) refers to
the need for improvements to the M5 motorway and ]28 in particular to
maintain levels of capacity and safety. Discussions with the Highway Authority
and Highways England showed that this wording was lacking and clarity was
needed in terms of the strategic nature of the mitigation that would be
required, the need to cover the local highway network as well as the
motorway, and reference to the Infrastructure Plan(s) referred to in Policy S8.
These changes [MMO09] are needed to make requirements clear and to ensure
effectiveness.

Policy S12 deals with Crediton. Criterion e) covers the provision of
infrastructure but fails to include reference to Green Infrastructure. This
omission needs to be rectified [MM10] to ensure the Plan is effective in this
particular regard.

The TIV series of policies relate to development in and around Tiverton. Policy
TIV3 addresses environmental protection and Green Infrastructure as part of
the Eastern Urban Extension (Policy TIV1). There is repetition in criteria e) and
f) in their references to a Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme and the
unnecessary reference in e) needs to be removed [MM12] to ensure the
policy and thereby the Plan, is effective.

Policy TIV4 covers the provision of community facilities linked to the Eastern
Urban Extension in Policy TIV1. Based on the submissions of the Waste

12
Page 212



61.

62.

63.

64.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Authority!!, which are accepted by the Council, the development that will be
brought forward through the allocation will make demands in terms of
recycling facilities that need to be addressed and mitigated. A new criterion f)
is required [MM13] to ensure that contributions can reasonably be sought to
deal with this matter. A corresponding change is needed to Policy TIV15 that
covers Tiverton Infrastructure [MM15]. Criterion b) of Policy TIV4, as
submitted, refers to the need for developers to meet the costs of a 420-place
primary school and early years provision. Submissions from the Education
Authority!? that the Council accepts, have clarified that this should refer to
provision of a 420-place primary school with early years provision and a
children’s centre service delivery base. To ensure it performs effectively, the
policy needs to be amended to reflect this requirement [MM14].

Policy TIV16 allocates a site for 200 dwellings on 14 hectares north of
Blundells School. Criterion c) refers to the need for appropriate land shaping to
raise areas for development above Flood Zone 3, including an allowance for
the effects of climate change, and to create additional flood plain to
compensate for the loss of flood plain. However, to comply with national
policy, the creation of this additional/compensatory flood plain should also
secure wider environmental and sustainability benefits. On that basis, an
additional criterion k) is required along with a corresponding change to
paragraph 3.60c. These changes [MM16] are necessary to ensure the policy
is effective and compliant with national policy.

Turning then to the manner in which the Plan deals with Cullompton,
paragraph 3.70 reflects an earlier understanding of the various ways in which
traffic issues in and around the town centre might be dealt with. Further
discussions with the Highways Authority and Highways England have
crystallised this response into the CTCRR. This changed position [MM17]
needs to be reflected in paragraph 3.70 to ensure the Plan operates in an
effective manner.

Policy CU2 refers to North West Cullompton Transport Provision intended to be
funded by the Policy CU1 (North West Cullompton) allocation. Criterion h)
talks of financial contributions towards capacity improvements at 128 of the
M5 motorway. Helpful input from the Highways Authority and Highways
England has led to the need for a more specific reference to strategic highway
improvements demonstrated by capacity studies that assess the impact of
traffic generated by the allocation. This alteration to the policy itself [MM18]
alongside a corresponding change in paragraph 3.75 of the explanatory text
[MM19] is needed to make matters clear for potential developers and ensure
the Plan is effective.

North West Cullompton Community Facilities are the focus of Policy CU4. As
set out above, discussions with the Waste and Education Authorities have
shown up the need for a new recycling facility generated by development, and
clarity in relation to the new school required. Changes to criteria €) and b) of
the policy [MM21, MM20] are essential to reflect this situation and thereby
render the Plan effective.

11 Devon County Council
12 bevon County Council

13
Page 213



65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

The phasing of the North West Cullompton allocation is addressed in Policy
CU6. Criterion i) of the policy requires access improvements to the M5 access
before any dwellings are occupied and thereafter broadly in step with the
development. However, as set out above, thanks to the now completed signals
at 128, the Highway Authority and Highways England have agreed that this
allocation can deliver 600 dwellings before completion of the CTCRR. To allow
the Plan to operate effectively, the benefit of this to the housing trajectory
needs to be properly reflected in criterion i) [MM22] and the accompanying
text in paragraph 3.94 [MM23].

The East Cullompton allocation for 1750 dwellings, amongst other things, is
the subject of Policy CU7. As suggested, the site lies to the east of the town,
on the opposite side of the M5 motorway. Criterion f) requires ‘transport
provision to ensure appropriate accessibility for all modes, including a new or
improved access and egress on to the M5 motorway’, as well as pedestrian
and cycle links across the motorway to the existing town. The reference to
new or improved access to the motorway does not reflect the situation now
reached with the Highway Authority and Highways England and as such, this
part of the policy needs to be changed to explain that what is required is the
provision of transport improvements to ensure safe and suitable access for all
modes, including necessary capacity improvements to J28. Those
improvements are most likely to flow from the completion of the CTCRR. This
amendment [MM24] is needed in order to ensure the policy accurately
represents what is now required and thereby functions in an effective way.

Related to that, Policy CU8 is aimed at East Cullompton Transport Provision.
Like criterion f) of Policy CU7 above, criterion a) which deals with mitigation of
impacts on ]28 of the M5 motorway has been superseded. This also needs to
be modified [MM25] to refer to the current requirements of the Highway
Authority and Highways England to ensure it is consistent and therefore
effective.

Policy CU10 covers community facilities associated with the East Cullompton
allocation. Further discussions with the Education Authority have refined the
requirement relating to a primary school. As submitted, criterion a) of the
policy requires a 2.5 Ha site to be provided at no cost but this does not reflect
current requirements. On that basis, criterion a) needs correction to refer to a
serviced site of 2.5 Ha for a new 630 place primary school, or 3 Ha of serviced
land in two parcels of 1.1 Ha and 1.9 Ha, appropriately located, for two new
primary schools. Criterion c) needs correction too in order to confirm the
requirement for land to be provided alongside construction costs for the
schools. These changes [MM26] are necessary to ensure that Policy CU10
properly reflects current requirements and works in an effective manner.

As discussed above, it became clear from the input of the Waste Authority that
the additional housing proposed in and around Cullompton would lead to a
need for household recycling facilities to be augmented. Policy CU10 requires a
new criterion g) [MM27] to secure contributions towards such facilities
thereby making the policy effective.

The phasing of the East Cullompton allocation is the subject of Policy CU12.

As submitted, Criterion f) of the policy sets out a need for the first phase of
comprehensive M5 access improvements before any dwellings on the

14
Page 214



71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

development are occupied followed by strategic interventions in terms
highways infrastructure to keep pace with the development overall. However,
discussions with the Highway Authority and Highways England have altered
this requirement and as a result, criterion f) needs to be changed [MM28] to
secure ‘capacity improvements at Junction 28 M5 to deliver a strategic
highway improvement as demonstrated by capacity studies to assess the
impact of the traffic generated from the site’. A linked change [MM29] is
required to paragraph 3.116 of the supporting text. These changes are needed
in order to ensure effectiveness.

Amongst other things, paragraph 3.120 of the supporting text to Policy CU12
talks about affordable housing and refers to it advancing at a rate of
approximately 25%. This is an error because Policy CU7 correctly refers to a
rate of 28%. This error needs to be corrected [MM30] to ensure the Plan is
consistent and thereby effective.

The Week Farm employment allocation is the ambit of Policy CU17. Criterion
g) talks of the provision of M5 access improvements before any new
commercial floorspace is brought into use. Like other allocations referred to
above, discussions with the Highway Authority and Highways England have
clarified that this would better refer to the capacity improvements at J28 of
the M5 motorway informed by capacity studies that assess the impact of traffic
that might be generated by the allocation. This revised criterion g) [MM31] is
necessary to ensure the Plan complies properly with the requirements of the
statutory consultees and is therefore effective. A similar change [MM32] is
required to criterion g) of Policy CU18 that allocates 4.4 ha for employment
purposes at Venn Farm, for the same reasons.

Policy CU19 provides for the CTCRR. Paragraph 3.143a of the supporting text
deals with potential impacts of the new road should it be located on the
western side of the M5 motorway in terms of the settings of listed buildings
and the conservation area, and archaeology. Input from the Environment
Agency has shown that if so located, the CTCRR might also lead to a loss of
floodplain that would require mitigation. Additional text [MM33] is necessary
to make good this important omission and make the Plan effective.

The need for strategic infrastructure to cope with the additional development
earmarked for Cullompton is covered in Policy CU20. As set out above, the
Waste Authority has shown that this additional development will generate a
need for expanded recycling facilities. A new criterion n) to the policy [MM34]
is needed to secure the necessary contributions towards that and to ensure
the policy operates in an effective fashion.

Policy CU21 of the Plan as submitted allocated Land at Colebrook for 100
dwellings as a contingency site largely because the Council was proceeding on
the basis that for highway capacity reasons, the site could not come forward
until completion of the North West Cullompton distributor road. However, the
Highway Authority has confirmed that this linkage is not necessary and as a
result, the contingency status of the site is without foundation. Bringing the
site forward earlier will assist in improving the supply of deliverable housing
sites early in the Plan period because this site is not dependant either on
completion of the CTCRR.

15
Page 215



76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

On that overall basis, to be properly effective, the policy needs to be amended
[MM35] to be rid of the contingency site notation, to remove criterion b) that
links development to completion of the distributor road, and to make
corresponding changes to the accompanying text in paragraph 3.148.
Attendant alterations [MM36] are also required to paragraph 3.149 to ensure
consistency and thereby effectiveness on the subject of off-site highway
improvements. There will also be a need to amend the Policies Map
(advertised by the Council as Plan MM35).

Policy CRES5S allocates a site of 21 ha at Pedlerspool, Crediton for housing, in
the main. Criterion b) requires a serviced site of 1.1 Ha for a new primary
school. As with other allocations, discussions with the Education Authority
have refined the requirements and shown up an ancillary need for early years
provision and a children’s centre service delivery base. Criterion b) needs
additional wording [MM37] to provide for that and to ensure the policy
operates effectively.

With this suite of modifications, the relationship between the provision of
housing, other development, and attendant infrastructure, would have a more
satisfactory footing. Moreover, while assumptions about the CTCRR might be
optimistic, they are not unreasonably so and alongside early release of
contingency sites, and sites held back for other reasons (that I address
below), the revised trajectory set out in MMO01, referred to above, makes it
plain that the Plan is well capable of achieving a rolling five-year supply of
deliverable housing sites.

That much is evident from an analysis of the revised trajectory referred to
above (the subject of MM01). The work underpinning that trajectory shows
that applying the ‘Sedgefield” method, the general requirement is 2,200
dwellings between 2018/19 and 2022/23, 1,364 dwellings between 2023/24
and 2027/28 and 573 dwellings between 2028/29 and 2032/33. With a 20%
buffer, those figures increase to 2640, 1637 and 688 respectively, and with a
5% buffer, 2310, 1432, and 602.

Against that, there is expected to be a supply of 2,801 dwellings between
2018/19 and 2022/23, 2756 dwellings between 2023/24 and 2027/28 and
1947 dwellings between 2028/29 and 2032/33. In the 20% buffer scenario,
that means a supply of 5.30 years between 2018/19 and 2022/23, a supply of
8.42 years between 2023/24 and 2027/28 and a supply of 14.16 years
between 2028/29 and 2032/33. In the 5% buffer scenario, those figures are
6.06 years, 9.62 years and 16.18 years respectively.

Applying the ‘Liverpool method, the general requirement is 2043 dwellings
between 2018/19 and 2022/23, 1,442 dwellings between 2023/24 and
2027/28 and 651 dwellings between 2028/29 and 2032/33. With a 20%
buffer, those figures increase to 2640, 1637 and 688 respectively, and with a
5% buffer, 2310, 1432 and 602 respectively.

Against that, there is expected to be a supply of 2,801 dwellings between
2018/19 and 2022/23, 2756 dwellings between 2023/24 and 2027/28 and
1947 dwellings between 2028/29 and 2032/33. In the 20% buffer scenario,
that means a supply of 5.71 years between 2018/19 and 2022/23, a supply of
7.96 years between 2023/24 and 2027/28 and a supply of 12.46 years

16
Page 216



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

between 2028/29 and 2032/33. In the 5% buffer scenario, those figures are
6.53 years, 9.10 years and 14.23 years respectively.

83. In any scenario, therefore, the Plan provides for a rolling five-year supply of
housing, in accord with national policy, with a significant surplus in later years
of the Plan.

Issue 3: Whether the provision in the Plan for Gypsies and Travellers and
Travelling Show-People has been approached in a positive and effective
manner?

84. The Plan, as submitted, had a number of issues in relation to the provision for
Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Show-People. In the first instance,
contrary to Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS), it fails to provide in full,
in specific terms at least, for the need identified in the Plan for 35 pitches for
Gypsies and Travellers, and 11 plots for Travelling Show-People, between
2014 and 203413, I appreciate that the District can point to a record of windfall
sites for Gypsies and Travellers coming forward. As a consequence, and
following the line of pragmatism one is encouraged to take in examining plans,
provided the relevant polices make proper provision for these windfall sites to
come forward, then the Plan can still function in a positive and effective way.

85. Where allocations have been made, these have been provided as an integral
part of major allocations for general and affordable housing. As set out above,
in dealing with Issue 2, I see no reason why this linkage need be broken.

86. Nevertheless, to be effective, the Plan needs to avoid building in hurdles to
delivery. As such the Plan needs to make it possible for developers of the
major housing allocations to provide accommodation for Gypsies and
Travellers and Travelling Show-People off-site, and alongside that, for windfall
sites for the travelling community to come forward in the countryside.

87. The MMs have been predicated on a preference on the Council’s part for
provision for Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Show-People to take place
as part of the major allocations for general and affordable housing. On
reflection, I am concerned that therein lies a failure to take account of the fact
that the Plan will not be meeting the needs of the travelling community in full.
To ensure that those needs are properly met, the different forms of provision
(through allocation or windfall) must have equal status.

88. Paragraph 2.31, part of the supporting text to Policy S3, must be changed to
reflect the changed position. While it is reasonable for the Plan to say that the
Council prefers provision as part of the major allocations, the suggestion that
provision off-site (or windfalls) will only be accepted where this would provide
‘a more favourable outcome’ for gypsies and travellers would allow the Council
to use its stated preference to block provision on suitable sites elsewhere. This
must be changed to ‘an acceptable outcome’ in order to ensure equal status
for on- and off-site provision. With that change, the modification [MMO5 as
amended] would allow the Plan to work effectively.

13 Derived from the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment

17
Page 217



89.

90.

91.

92.

93.

94,

95.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Allied to that change, Policy S14 (which deals with development in the
countryside) as drafted, makes no accommodation for the needs of Gypsies
and Travellers, or Travelling Show-People to be met outside settlements. It
must do so in order to allow windfall sites, that the Council will rely on to
make up for the shortfall in what has been allocated, to come forward.
Changes are required to the policy itself, and the supporting text in paragraph
2.82, to allow for that. This modification [MM11] is essential for the Plan to
function effectively.

Both these modifications defer to Policy DM7 which is the criteria-based
development management policy aimed at traveller sites. To form a part of
one of the major allocations, meet the ‘acceptable’ threshold in the supporting
text to Policy S3, or square with the requirements of Policy S14, any site
would need to accord with all the criteria set out in Policy DM7.

As a general approach that is rational. However, Policy DM7 has significant
problems in the way it is framed. In particular, it sets out that where
development proposals are considered under Policy S14 (referred to above),
they are only permissible where the need cannot be met on another suitable
site in Mid Devon which has consent or is allocated for Gypsy and Traveller
pitches. Again, that would allow alternative provision away from the major
allocations, or windfall sites, to be blocked, on the basis that allocations have
been made. In a situation where the identified need is not being met in full,
that is clearly unacceptable.

In response to that, changes are required to the policy itself, and the
supporting text. In terms of Policy DM7 itself, the first part sets out criteria
that all planning application for pitches and plots (that I take to mean all sites,
including those that are part of allocations) must meet. These criteria are
reasonable, and it is right that all must be met in order to ensure that sites
meet a proper standard.

The change to the policy then goes on to deal with provision on allocated sites
suggesting that pitches on allocated sites should be provided on-site unless it
is demonstrated that off-site provision will achieve a more favourable
outcome, taking into account a range of factors. I have no difficulty with the
range of factors and that all of them must be considered together, but the
‘more favourable outcome’ phrase is unacceptable for the reasons set out
above. This needs to be amended to ‘an acceptable outcome’. Compliance with
the range of factors set out would lead to such an outcome.

Attendant changes are proposed to the accompanying text in paragraph 4.29.
Broadly, the changes follow from the changes to the policy outlined above.
Again though, references to ‘more favourable’ provision need to be amended
to read ‘acceptable’.

A change was also introduced in paragraph 4.29 to suggest that only when
provided on-site, will pitches for Gypsies and Travellers be counted against the
affordable housing target for the wider allocation concerned. On reflection, I
do not consider that justified in the context of the changes in approach
necessary to make this aspect of the Plan acceptable. If a housing developer
arranges for the pitches for Gypsies and Travellers to be provided off-site, in a
way that complies with Policy DM7, as amended, and is tied to the allocation,

18
Page 218



96.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

then they should properly be included as part of the overall affordable housing
target for the allocation. To do otherwise would introduce another potential
barrier to meeting the identified need. This part of the amended text must be
changed to reflect that.

Alongside the others set out above, this modification, suitably amended,
[MM48 as amended] is necessary to ensure that the approach of the Plan to
the provision of accommodation for Gypsies and Travellers, and Travelling
Show-People, is positive and effective.

Issue 3: Have the proposals for 127 been properly justified and is the
associated policy effective?

97.

98.

99.

100.

Policy J27 provides for the allocation of a site of approximately 71 hectares, on
the southbound side of the M5 motorway, adjacent to Junction 27, for a major
tourism, leisure and retail attraction supported by ancillary roadside services
and infrastructure, including a pedestrian bridge over the motorway to link the
site with Tiverton Parkway railway station.

The proposal derives from something of an evidence base'* but more
importantly, what the Council is seeking to achieve through the allocation is
the attraction of more visitors to the District, thereby stimulating economic
activity, and the provision of jobs. There is nothing amiss about that.
Paragraph 18 of the Framework makes very clear the importance of securing
economic growth and creating jobs and prosperity. Moreover, paragraph 154
encourages Local Plans to be aspirational. It goes on to make the point that
those aspirations should be realistic but there is ample evidence that a
development of the sort envisaged could come to fruition. Against that
background, while it is somewhat speculative, and without doubt, ambitious, I
do not consider the allocation to lack justification.

As outlined above, some of the initial objections from neighbouring authorities
were couched in terms of a failure in terms of the DtC. As I have set out, there
has been no failure by the Council in that regard. In any event, the concerns
initially expressed have developed, and they now relate more to the potential
impact of the retail element of the proposed allocation on existing centres, and
similar outlet shopping facilities. There has also been concern about potential
impact on the Tiverton retail offer.

Given the significant scale of what is proposed, and in particular the retail
element, located away from an existing centre, one would expect any planning
application that followed the allocation to include an impact assessment.
However, there is no specific requirement in the policy itself. To make good
that omission, I required an MM introducing a new policy criterion to suggest
that ‘any planning application which includes a designer outlet shopping centre
should be accompanied by a full Retail and Leisure Impact Assessment’. On
reflection, to ensure proper clarity, that criterion needs to have added

Y Impact Assessment to ensure that any potential adverse impacts
identified are addressed and mitigated’. With that addition, the modification
[MM40 as amended] ensures that the policy is effective, in these terms.

14 The Mid Devon Tourism Study 2014

19
Page 219



101.

102.

103.

104.

105.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Moreover, paragraph 3.184c of the Plan sets out that existing town centres will
be safeguarded through planning controls. It might be expected that such a
Retail and Leisure Impact Assessment will serve to frame the offer presented
by the Outlet Shopping Village, given that these facilities can vary greatly in
those terms, and the nature and compass of the controls that need to be
applied. In that way, any impacts on existing centres and similar facilities, and
Tiverton itself, can be kept within reasonable bounds.

A major development of the sort proposed, located adjacent to an existing
motorway junction, is bound to present challenges in terms of highway
capacity and safety. There have been helpful discussions between the Council,
the Highway Authority, and Highways England, in this connection. Criterion b),
as drafted, talks of transport improvements to ensure appropriate accessibility
for all modes, including new or improved access and egress on to the M5
motorway, and pedestrian and cycling links across the motorway to the nearby
railway station at Tiverton Parkway.

Ongoing discussions brought out a need to be clear that access needs to be
safe and suitable, rather than merely appropriate, and more importantly, that
the capacity of Junction 27 of the M5 will need to be improved as part of the
scheme, to cope with the additional traffic that will inevitably be generated.
The reframed policy criterion b) [MM38] is necessary to address these
matters and make the overall policy effective. I accept that issues around land
ownership might make securing the varying accesses to the site complex, but
challenges of this sort are not unusual in major developments. I do not
consider that it is necessary to specify how the various landowners might
collaborate through the policy. Indeed, doing so might serve to limit the
various options available .

Relatively near to the site covered by the allocation is the Culm Grasslands
Special Area of Conservation (SAC). As drafted the policy includes a
requirement in criterion e) for mitigation measures, with a timescale for their
provision, and future maintenance. However, discussions with Natural England
around this issue, alongside the evidence put forward by the proposers of the
scheme?!®, have shown this to be unnecessary. On that basis, criterion e)
needs to be removed. A linked change is required to the supporting text at
paragraph 3.184d along with reference to the potential loss of floodplain within
the site and the need for compensatory measures [MM39]. Reference is also
needed in paragraph 3.184d to the Priority Habitats that form part of the
allocation and the need to ensure they are protected and enhanced in line with
criterion c) of the policy [MM41].

Bringing those points together, the proposals for J27 have been properly
justified and with the changes outlined, the associated policy would be
effective.

Issue 4: Is the allocation for housing in Higher Town, Sampford Peverell
(Policy SP2) justified?

15 And the Habitat Regulations Assessment Appropriate Assessment Report (2016) in
particular

20
Page 220



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

106.This proposed allocation has excited particular controversy fed in part by the
planning application for housing on the site that has been before the Council
for a large part of the examination!®. That specific proposal is not a matter for
me; I am merely tasked with whether the Council’s proposed allocation of the
site for housing is justified.

107.Put simply, the allocation was included in the iteration of the Plan submitted
for examination to deal with the uplift in housing need caused by the inclusion
of the J27 allocation in that same iteration. There has been some strident
criticism of the process by which the site was chosen, but I deal with the
qguestions around the SA in my Assessment of Legal Compliance section below.

108.There are a number of issues with the policy as it is framed in the submitted
Plan. The first point is that the policy explicitly states that the allocation can
only come forward once development of the Policy J27 has commenced. That
tie is pointless because the Plan has an overall OAN for housing (to which the
J27 allocation contributes) that all housing allocations are intended to address.
There is therefore no purpose served in the linkage and it needs to be
removed. This change to Policy SP2 [MM42] is necessary to make it effective.

109.Secondly, criterion b) says that there should be no development until
improved access works to the A361 have been completed. The Highway
Authority confirmed that the traffic generated by the proposal is not sufficient
to trigger such an onerous requirement. Indeed, it seems to me that given the
investment off-site that would be required, criterion b) is in effect, a bar on
development of an allocated site. In the absence of any need for the highway
works, that is palpably unreasonable. In response to all that, criterion b) must
be removed alongside 3.224c of the supporting text. This adjustment [MM43]
is required to make the policy effective.

110.Much has been made about the relationship of the site with the Sampford
Peverell and Grand Western Canal Conservation Areas, and an adjoining listed
building. Some of the issues raised bear on the SA and I deal with those
below. There are a number of other points I would make in this regard. First,
the site proposed for allocation lies outside the confines of the conservation
areas concerned. Development of the site in accordance with the allocation
would not therefore trigger s.72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and could not cause harm to the character or
appearance of either conservation area. Development would, however, be
visible from the conservation areas concerned, which means that the setting of
those conservation areas would undergo change. That said, change is not
necessarily harmful and I see no reason why visibility of an appropriately
designed development on the allocated site need cause any harm to the
setting or the significance of either conservation area.

111.The position in relation to the listed building that adjoins the site is different in
that s.66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 protects the setting of listed buildings as well as the buildings

16 My understanding is that the Council refused planning permission and an appeal is to be
heard through a public inquiry later in the year

21
Page 221



112

113.

114,

115.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

themselves!’. Development of the allocated site would change the setting of
the listed building but again, if the design is appropriate then that change
need not be harmful to the setting or the significance of the listed building.

.Criterion c) of Policy SP2 stipulates that the design and landscaping of any

scheme must respect the setting and character of the area, conservation area,
and listed building and save for a minor correction to reflect the fact that two
conservation areas need to be considered meaning that criterion c) needs to
refer to conservation areas?!®, that is sufficient of a safeguard in terms of a
policy. Of course, in considering any specific scheme for the site, the Council
will need to consider very carefully, in terms of its statutory duties, and in the
application of national as well as local policy, any impact on the setting and
thereby the significance of designated heritage assets, but those are
development control matters, in the main.

There is an issue around pedestrian and cycle links to Sampford Peverell from
the allocation. No mention is made in the policy as drafted and in order to
encourage trips through means other than the private car, an additional
criterion is required to secure improved access to the village for pedestrians
and cyclists. This new criterion [MM44] is needed to make the policy
effective.

As set out above, it is important to consider any potential impact on the
setting of the adjoining listed building. The Green Infrastructure required by
criterion g) of the policy is essential in this regard but it must also fit in with
the existing contours of the site. The 2 Ha required by criterion g) as drafted is
not sufficient to achieve that. To remedy that shortfall, a change to criterion g)
[MM45] is required to increase the amount of Green Infrastructure to 2.5 Ha.
This is necessary to ensure the policy is effective. This will require a parallel
alteration to the relevant Policies Map which the Council have advertised as
Plan MM45.

I recognise that the Policy SP2 allocation was included in the Plan alongside
the Policy TIV16 allocation to cope with the uplift to OAN that flowed from the
inclusion of the Policy ]J27 allocation. Removing the tie to the Policy 127
allocation from Policy SP2 cuts that link but for the reasons set out above, the
link is unnecessary. The Council has calculated an overall OAN that I consider
sound and has sought to respond to that through a development strategy that
I also consider sound. The Policy SP2 allocation accords with that strategy and
adds to the range and nature of sites available in the Plan. It is important to
have a variety of sites available to come forward to ensure the trajectory of
the Plan, that I deal with above, is brought to fruition. In that overall context,
and having regard to the matters set out above, I consider the Policy SP2
allocation has been amply justified.

Issue 5: Are the ‘managing development’ policies effective and consistent
with national policy?

17 And is therefore different to s.72(1) which does not protect the setting of a conservation

area

18 A straightforward correction that would not be sufficient to trigger the need for a MM

22
Page 222



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

116.The Plan, as submitted, includes a suite of policies designed to enable the

117

118.

119.

120

121.

Council to make decisions on development proposals. I identified issues with a
number.

.Policy DM1 addresses the need to secure designs of high quality and sets out a

list of criteria against which proposals will be judged. However, Policy DM12
entitled ‘Housing Standards’ outlines a list of design requirements for housing,
including a reference to ‘the Nationally Described Space Standard’. Moreover,
the other design requirements in this policy, which aim to secure reasonable
living conditions for occupiers in terms of internal and external spaces,
daylight, sunlight, and privacy, are all design matters that ought to form part
of the general approach in Policy DM1.

To address that duplication, the remaining criteria of Policy DM12 need to be
subsumed into Policy DM1, while Policy DM12 is deleted, and the supporting
text amended. Those modifications [MM46, MM49] are necessary to make

for an effective design policy that complies with national policy.

In general terms, the approach to renewable and low carbon energy in Policy
DM2 reflects that of the Framework. However, there is a difficulty with the
detailed wording of part of the policy in that it requires proposals to cause no
significant harm and demonstrate that impacts are or can be made acceptable,
but then goes on to require development to preserve landscape character, the
setting of heritage assets, living conditions and so forth. The term ‘preserve’
means to cause no harm, so its inclusion stands in contradiction to the correct
approach previously elucidated. This can be resolved by removal of the
reference and this modification [MM47] is needed to make the policy
effective, and to bring it properly into line with national policy.

.Policy DM19 is aimed at protecting employment land. As submitted, the policy

is permissive provided certain criteria are met. Criterion b) requires there to
have been no commercial interest in the re-use of the site for employment,
demonstrated by suitable marketing at an appropriate price for at least 18
months. Criterion c) then requires a sequential viability test to be applied after
any unsuccessful marketing of the site, based on the following sequence of
testing: i) mixed use of the site that incorporates an employment-generating
use; then (ii) non-employment use.

Bearing in mind paragraph 22 of the Framework, which says that planning
policies should avoid the long-term protection of sites allocated for
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used
for that purpose, that seems to me far too onerous a requirement. In my view,
if criterion b) is satisfied, and suitable marketing has taken place, at an
appropriate price, for at least 18 months, without any interest, then an
alternative use or uses (given that there would be nothing standing in the way
of a mixed-use scheme) should be allowed to come forward. To deal with this
matter criterion c) needs to be deleted and a corresponding adjustment made
to the supporting text in paragraph 4.60. This modification [MM50] is
required to ensure an effective policy approach that tallies with national policy.

122.The potential effect of development on heritage assets, and their settings, is

the subject of Policy DM25 which applies five criteria to inform decision-

23
Page 223



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

making. This is an area fraught with pitfalls and there are difficulties with all
the criteria as framed.

123.Criterion a) says that the Council will apply a presumption in favour of the
preservation in situ of the most important heritage assets. However, Statute!®
and national policy takes a different approach and in general terms, seeks to
avoid harm to all designated heritage assets, and their settings. Criterion b)
deals with development proposals likely to affect heritage assets or their
settings but fails to make any reference to significance.

124.Criterion c) refers to the situation where ‘proposals would substantially harm
heritage assets and their settings’ with a direct reference to paragraph 133 of
the Framework and the pointer therein towards substantial public benefits. The
difficulty with that is the failure to properly reflect paragraph 133 by
considering the impact on the significance of any designated heritage asset
affected. Moreover, the direct reference to paragraph 133 of the Framework is
unnecessary because any proposal put before the Council would have to be
considered against the latest version of the Framework. Criterion d) which
addresses the situation where less than substantial harm is at issue does not
repeat that error but fails to reflect the concentration in the Framework on the
significance of designated heritage assets.

125.Criterion e) seeks to ensure that developers make a proportionate but
systematic assessment of any impact on the setting of heritage assets with a
linkage to the latest advice on such matters from Historic England. Again,
there is a need to reflect the fact that setting is an element of the significance
of a heritage asset. Further, the link to Historic England advice while well-
intentioned risks future difficulties if that advice changes. In response to these
points, adjustments are needed to all five criteria. These modifications
[MM51] bring Policy DM25 into line with national policy and are necessary to
make the policy properly effective.

126.Policy DM26 covers the necessity to include green infrastructure in major
development. The wording of the policy itself is acceptable but the
Environment Agency provided some valuable input in terms of the explanatory
text in paragraph 4.88. Clarity is required in relation to the ability of flood
plain to provide year-round access, and it does need to be confirmed that
development incorporating green infrastructure will need to consider its future
management and maintenance. The additions to paragraph 4.88 [MM52,
MM53] are necessary to put the Plan on a properly effective footing.
Moreover, as pointed out by Natural England, Policy S1 that sets out
sustainable development priorities needs a reference to ‘other green
infrastructure’ in criterion i) [MMO2] to ensure effectiveness.

127.Policy DM27 deals with protected landscapes. It is however a little confusing in
that it talks of ‘development proposals within or affecting those landscapes’.
To my mind within or affecting mean the same thing because a development
in a protected landscape will obviously affect it. The intention of the Council
was to control development within/affecting or in the setting of protected
landscapes and the policy needs to be adjusted to take that into account, as

19 Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Area) Act
1990 in particular

24
Page 224



128.

129.

130.

Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

suggested too by Natural England. This change [MM54] is needed to make
the policy function effectively.

A consequential change [MMO7] is required to criterion e) of Policy S9
(Environment) to ensure consistency of approach. As part of the same series
of observations, Natural England also pointed out some difficulties with
criterion f) of Policy S9 in the way it deals with designated sites of
international, national and local biodiversity and geodiversity importance. The
resulting alterations put forward in response [MMO8] are necessary to bring
the policy into line with the hierarchy set out in paragraph 118 of the
Framework and thereby compliant with national policy.

I raised concerns about Policy DM28 which covers other protected sites and its
approach to mitigation in criterion c) in the light of the judgment in People
over Wind, Peter Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (Case C-323/17) suggesting
that the Council take advice on the matter. In the light of that advice, it is
necessary to replace the final paragraph of the policy itself alongside an
associated change to the supporting text in paragraph 4.102. These
adjustments [MM55] are necessary to bring the policy into line with case law
and thereby make it effective.

Bringing all those points together, with the MMs identified, the ‘managing
development’ policies will be effective and consistent with national policy.

25
Page 225



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Assessment of Legal Compliance

131

132

133

134.

135.

136.

137.

.My examination of the legal compliance of the Plan is summarised below.

.The Plan has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Local

Development Scheme. Consultation on the Local Plan and the MMs was carried
out in compliance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

.SA has been carried out and is adequate. There has been much criticism of the

SA process in relation to the selection of the Policy SP2 site, in particular.
However, I would say at the outset that the SA process is one that requires
the application of judgment. Someone else might well score sites differently,
or reach a different conclusion about the best site to address needs, but the
question I need to ask myself is whether the conclusions reached in the SA are
reasonable ones. I believe that they are.

There are two particular areas of criticism that I need to address. The first is
that in assessing the Policy SP2 site against alternatives, the Council failed to
have regard to the presence of the Grand Western Canal Conservation Area.
The Council told me at one of the hearings that they were of the view that the
site proposed for allocation could be developed without causing harm to the
conservation area concerned, or its setting, and that could be inferred from
the absence of any reference to it in the SA.

As explained above, I accept that the Policy SP2 site could be developed
without causing harm to the setting or significance of any designated heritage
asset so what the Council put to me at the hearing is perfectly plausible. In
any event, even if the representors are right, and the Council was ignorant of
the presence of the Grand Western Canal Conservation Area in close proximity
to the site proposed for allocation, when carrying out SA, their conclusion that
the site proposed for allocation could be developed without causing harm to
the conservation area concerned, or its setting, means that even if the
conservation area had been specifically considered and referenced in the SA,
the outcome of the process would have been the same.

The second point relates to the manner in which the Policy SP2 site came
forward as a response to the uplift in OAN caused by the inclusion of the major
development in Policy J27. Having made clear to the Council that the link
between the Policy SP2 site and the Policy J27 development should be broken
because it serves no purpose, it is said that the SA process should have been
re-run to include the entire District because the proximity of the Policy SP2
site to the Policy J27 was a significant factor in its selection.

However, it is clear that when the Council considered how to meet the uplift in
OAN caused by the inclusion of the J27 allocation in the Plan, it looked at a
variety of sites across the District and that while proximity was one factor, the
Policy SP2 site alongside the Policy TIV16 site scored better for a variety of
reasons. Chief amongst these was that other, larger settlements, like
Cullompton, were already thought to be taking a proportion of the District’s
overall needs that was in line with the Council’s strategy. In that context, I do
not consider that removing the tie between the Policy SP2 allocation and the
Policy J27 development undermines or invalidates the SA process in any way.

26
Page 226



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

138.The March 2015 HRA, read alongside the HRA Addenda of August and
December 2016, sets out that an appropriate assessment has been
undertaken and that while the Plan may have some negative impact which
requires mitigation, that this mitigation has been secured through the Plan, as
modified.

139.The Plan includes policies designed to secure that the development and use of
land in the local planning authority’s area contribute to the mitigation of, and
adaptation to, climate change. In particular, criterion j) of Policy S1 which sets
out sustainable development priorities commits the Council to meeting the
challenge of climate change by supporting a low carbon future, energy
efficiency, increasing the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy,
managing flood risk and conserving natural resources, amongst other things.
Moreover, Policy DM2 (as modified) allows for renewable energy schemes to
come forward.

140.The Plan complies with all other relevant legal requirements, including in the
2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 Regulations.

141.1 have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act
2010. This has included my consideration of several matters during the
examination including the provision of sites to meet the needs of Gypsies and
Travellers and Travelling Show-People, amongst other things.

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation

142.The Plan has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness for the reasons
set out above, which mean that I recommend non-adoption of it as submitted,
in accordance with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act. These deficiencies have
been explored in the main issues set out above.

143.The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the Plan sound and
capable of adoption. I conclude that with the recommended MMs set out in the
attached Appendix, the Mid Devon District Local Plan Review 2013-2033
satisfies the requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets the
criteria for soundness in the Framework.

Paul Griffiths

INSPECTOR

This report is accompanied by an Appendix containing the Main Modifications.

27
Page 227



Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Appendix - Main Modifications

The modifications below are expressed either in the conventional form of
strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions of text, or by specifying
the modification in words in jtalics.

Additions or strikethrough in red are my further changes as referred to in the
reasoning above.

The page numbers and paragraph numbering below refer to the submission local
plan, and do not take account of the deletion or addition of text.

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

MMO1

26-
27

Overall

Provision of
housing and
employment

Replace Table 6: Housing forecast 2013 - 2033 with
the following update:

SISl E1E1E51818|8|8|5I5I8|5(5 8(5(8(5(8(5,
. bocy  |E[E|E|EB|E[E|E|B|S|R|SIRIS[RIR|R|&[R|G|R] 2
Tiverton
Eastern Urban Extension TV 25 [100|100|100|100|200] 25 | S50
Hoween Court Tive 10 10
Roundhill Tivio 12| 8 20
Phoenix Lane TIvi2 4 25|31 80
Tidcombe Ha ll {contingeney) TIv1: [
Blungells School TIV1E 12|25|25|s0| 50|38 200
Commitments 107)149/136]123)135 108 100/100|100|100| 97 1275
Complations 93 |70 |98 | 89 |128 T 478
Tiverten Total 93 | 70 | 95 | 89 |128]107]149|152 | 180] 178 @131 138{125)200)|197[100|100]100) 25 | 2593
NW Cullompton [CuU1-Cus 49 100'100'150 150 176|1w£ 100100100100 25 | 1350
East Cull ormpton cur-cuiz 50 | 125175 |200[200|200] 20| 200|200 260 1750 |
Ware Park and Footlands cuta 25 |13 38
Colebrook [Cu2l 12125]25]38 100
Commitments 91171153)125]12 252
Completions 87 | 78 | 44 | 98 | 238 545
Cullompton Total B7 |78 |44 | 98 |238] 91 | 71 |114[150|137)238]|275]376 (313 |300)| 300|300 |300|300)|225| 4035
Crediton
Red Hill Cross crez 12|s0|s0|23 135
Woods Group CRES £l 8
Pedlerspool CRES 122s|as|solsofas 200
Sports Fields [CREE 12|50|50| 8 120
Stonewall Lane CRET 25| 25 50
Land at Bam Park CRES 12| 8 20
Alexandra Close cres 12| 3 15
Commitments 103| 99 | 54 | 29 | 10 295
Completions sg |31 f18 |17 |02 135
Crediton Total 58 |31 |18 |27 |22 |103| 99 |90 |65 |50 f183]17s|es |0 |o |0 |0 |0 |0 | 0| 9
Rural stes
Newton Square Ba1 5 5
Hallywell wo1 12|38 20
Hele Road Ry 7 7
Barton cH1 12] 8 20
Land off Church Lane CB1 12| 8 20
Bamshill Close CF1 7 7
Linhay Close oL [ (3
Land adj Fishers Way H AL 10 10
Greenaway 01 12] 8 20
Former Tiverton Parkway Hotel |5P1 10 10
Higher Tawn SP2 12125123 50
Fannys Lane 521 8 8
Old Butter eigh Road 511 8 8
The Garage 512 5 5
South of Broaglands THY 12 12
Land eastof M5 Wit 1zfas]s 42
Commitments 273|242|255) 26 796
Completions 82 J137]128[100]124 571
Rural Sites Total B2 J137)128[100]1241273)255|339[124|65 |0 o o |0 |0 |0 jo |0 | 0| O | 1627
[ Total (Mid Devon - all ane as) 320)316[288|304|502|574[574|695|519] 435|604 | 631|583 |438 |5 497|400 250| 9234
Five year totals 1730 2801 2756 1947
Curmulative five year tetals 1730 T 4531 7287 9234

MMO02

31

S1:
Sustainable
development
priorities

Amend criterion i) as follows:

“...recreational trails, and-accessible land, and other
green infrastructure, and opportunities....”

28
Page 228




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref Page Eg:}g;{,aph Main Modification
MMO03 | 32 S2: Amount Amend policy text as follows:
n
gis(:ribution of | "The diverse development needs of the community
development | Will be met through the provision of a minimum of
approximately 7,860 dwellings and 147,000 square
metres of commercial floorspace between 15t April
2013 and 31 March 2033.”
MMO04 | 34 S3: Meeting Amend criterion a) as follows:
housing needs
“The diverse needs of Mid Devon will be met through
the provision of a minimum of appreximately 7,860
dwellings between 1%t April 2013 and 31t March
2033.”
MMO5 | 36 Paragraph Amend paragraph 2.31 of the supporting text as
2.31 follows:

“....The need for gypsy and traveller pitches will be
accommodated by pitches within larger housing sites,
for example at Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension,
North West Cullompton, East Cullompton and
Pedlerspool in Crediton. The Council’s preferred
approach is for on-site provision as part of larger
housing proposals TIV1, CU1, CU7 and CRES5.
Provision off-site will only be accepted where it is
demonstrated that provision on a different site would
achieve an acceptable merefaveurable outcome for
Gypsies and Travellers as described in Policy DM7.
Where such an acceptable merefaveurable outcome
can be demonstrated, off-site provision must meet the
reqguirements of Policy DM7, and a mechanism must
be put in place to ensure that the pitches are
delivered. This will usually be through a s106
agreement requiring the developer to identify and
obtain planning permission (which will not be
unreasonably withheld by the Council) for the required
number and standard of pitches. The pitches will be
provided by the development itself or where the land
is transferred for a nominal value, by an agreed third
party Registered Provider or other agreed private
provider, for the sole purpose of occupation and
ancillary business by Gypsies and Travellers. The off-
site provision of pitches must be provided and made
available for occupation before the occupation of a
specified proportion of the provision of on-site open
market dwellings as part of the larger housing
proposal at TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRE5. Where the off-
site provision of pitches generates additional
infrastructure needs, developers of the larger housing
proposal at TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRE5 will be expected
to contribute fairly towards the cost in accordance

with Policies S8 and DM7 of this Plan. FheCeunecikis

29
Page 229




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

MMO06

46

S8:
Infrastructure

Modification to include following text at the end of the
policy text:

"Planning permission will be granted only where the
impact of development is not considered to be severe.
Where severe impacts that are attributable to the
development are considered likely, including as a
consequence of cumulative impacts, they must be
subject to satisfactory mitigation having regard to the

latest infrastructure plan”.

MMO7

48

S9:
Environment

Amend criterion €) as follows:

“The preservation and enhancement of the distinctive
qualities of Mid Devon’s natural landscape, supporting
opportunities identified within the landscape character
areas. Within eradjeining-the Blackdown Hills Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty, and within the setting of
the Blackdown Hills Area of OQutstanding Natural
Beauty, and Exmoor and Dartmoor National Parks, the
primary objective will be to protect the special
qualities of that landscape and its setting.”

MMO8

48

S9:
Environment

Amend criterion f) as follows:

“The protection and enhancement of designated sites
of international, national and local biodiversity and
geodiversity importance. On both designated and
undesignated sites, development will support
opportunities for protecting and enhancing species
populations and linking habitats. If significant harm
resulting from development cannot be avoided
previdirg-impacts should be adequately mitigated

mitigationand. Compensation measures will only be
considered where appropriate as a last resort; and”

MMO09S

52

S11:
Cullompton

Amend criterion a) as follows:

"Make any necessary improvementsto-the-M5
motorway-hchudingjunction28 strategic mitigations
to maintain highway capacity, and-safety, integrity,
and sustainability including the M5 and local highway
network in conjunction with current and relevant
infrastructure plans;”

MM10

55

S12: Crediton

Add to the end of clause e)

30
Page 230




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Policy/ . b
Ref Page Paragraph Main Modification
"+, including green infrastructure”
MM11 | 59 S14: Amend criterion a) as follows:
Countryside _
and “a) Affordable and low cost housing to meet local
paragraph needs, gypsy and traveller accommodation, residential
2.82 conversion of appropriate existing buildings...”
Amend the last two sentences of supporting text in
para 2.82 as follows:
“National policy requires that new sites for travellers
should be wery-strietly limited in open countryside that
is away from existing settlements or outside areas
allocated in the development plan. In certain
circumstances the development of such sites outside
of settlement limits will be appropriate, providing it
can meet the criteria set out within Policy DM7 (gypsy
and traveller accommodation).”
MM12 | 70 TIV3: Eastern | Amend criterion e) as follows:
Urban
Extension “Appropriate provision of sewerage system to serve
Environmental | the development a-HeI—a—SHsEa-|-Ha-b+e—H-Fba-H—DFa+Hage
Protection and | Seheme-to-deat-with-alt-surface-waterfrom-the
Green MW—&FF&H@QH%HES—?&F@HE&FQ
Infrastructure | fathtenance ;
MM13 | 72 TIV4: Eastern | Add additional policy criterion as follows:
Urban
Extension “f) Contributions towards a new recycling centre to
Community serve Tiverton”
Facilities
MM14 | 72 TIV4: Eastern | Replace criterion b) as follows:
Urban “ ) )
Extension GeﬂsfeFueHeﬁ—eest—ﬁer—ene—meaFy—seheeJ—ef—%e
Community placesand-early-yearsprovision—Provision of a 420-
Facilities place primary school with early years provision and a
children’s centre service delivery base funded by
appropriate contributions from developers;”
MM15 | 83 TIV15: Add additional policy criterion as follows:
Tiverton
Infrastructure | 1 Provision of a replacement recycling centre
facility.”
MM16 | 84 TIV16: Add additional criterion as follows:
Blundell’s _ . _
School “k) The creation of additional/compensatory floodplain

should secure wider environmental and sustainability
benefits.”

31
Page 231




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Policy/ . b
Ref Page Paragraph Main Modification
Amend paragraph 3.60c to insert at the end of the
sentence:
“subject to the provision of wider environmental and
sustainability benefits.”
MM17 | 89 Paragraph Amendment to proposed modified text within
3.70 paragraph 3.70 as follows:
"Traffic management measures on Willand Road and
Tiverton Road will also be required. Devon County
Council queue length monitoring at junction 28 of the
M5 motorway indicates congestion at the AM peak.
The development will need to mitigate its impact on
the junction’s capacity through implementation of an
) e e .
|||||s_|sue|nentsslleme cithel _Es EI.'E EEE.'SE”'gjt”'EE'e“
oF R the-form-of more ee&Ee_llsneiunsHsn .
|||||s|_sue|||_|ent “B'IES. |||us_lu||||g| a sleesnd s°e'b”dﬁge
cuHempten—underpohey-EUd7-of the Cullompton Town
Centre Relief Road.”
MM18 | 90 CU2: North Amendment to criterion (h) as follows:
West e . e :
Cullompton ‘Financial-contributions-tewards-Ceapacity
Transport improvements at Junction 28 of the M5, to deliver a
Provision strategic highway improvement as demonstrated by
capacity studies completed to assess the impact of the
traffic generated from the site.”
MM19 | 90 Paragraph Amendment to proposed modified text within
3.75 paragraph 3.75 as follows:
“The Development will need to mitigate its impact
upon capacity at junction 28 of the M5 by-firaneial
| .I | - | | . | - - :| E. 7”7
MM20 | 93 CU4: North Replace criterion b) as follows:
West “ ] ]
Cullompton Geas%meﬁen—eests—fen%@@—alaees—mat—aﬁse—ﬁrem—t-he
Community deve!epmeﬂt—te—eeﬁtﬁb%e—te—a—é%—&laee—pfmﬂaw
Facilities ; Provision of a
420-place school with early years provision and a
children’s centre service delivery base funded by
appropriate contributions from developers.”
MM21 | 93 CU4: North Add additional policy criterion as follows:
West
Cullompton

32
Page 232




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

Community
Facilities

“e) Contributions towards a new recycling centre to
serve Cullompton”

MM22

95

CU6: North
West
Cullompton
Phasing

Replacement policy text for criterion (i) of the policy
as follows:

swell ol i ot oo i
with-development—Occupation of ho more than 600
dwellings prior to the completion of the Cullompton
Town Centre Relief Road.”

MM23

96

Paragraph
3.94

Amendment to proposed modified text within
paragraph 3.94 as follows:

“Devon County Council queue length monitoring at
junction 28 of the M5 motorway indicates congestion
at the AM peak. Fhe-development-will-need-to
||||E|gake_|ks HApact 4poR El'eju.“EE's“ S-eapacity ’
El_nsugln |||||sle||_|e|_|tatl_s|| el_an ||||_|3|sue|nent seheme
cithet _te tl_ne EEE.'SE”.'g janction-orin-the _Isnn s_l more
EEEEE"S;"ejt'I"E.Ells” ""E'.s°e|”.'e”E ”E'IES. |||=s_l ’I'“g a
develepment-east-ef CullemptenunrderPelieyE4d74-No
more than 600 dwellings should be occupied before
the Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road is completed
and open to traffic. The provision of the Town Centre
Relief Road provides increased capacity at J28 M5.”

MM24

97

CU7: East
Cullompton

Amendment to criterion (f) as follows:

“f) Franspertprovisten-te-ensureappropriate

bilit £ " tes—inchudi
improved-accessand-egress-onto-the-M5-motorway
Provision of transport improvements to ensure safe
and suitable access for all modes, including necessary
capacity improvements to M5 Junction 28 and
pedestrian and cycle links across the motorway to the
existing town;”

MM25

99

CUS8: East
Cullompton
Transport
Provision

Replacement policy text for criterion (a) of the policy
as follows:

“Provisi £ itiaati I
aceeptableimpacts-oceurto328-of the M5asaresult

} ite-Capacity
improvements at junction 28 M5 to deliver a strategic
highway improvement as demonstrated by capacity
studies completed to assess the impact of the traffic
generated from the site;”

33
Page 233




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Policy/ . b
Ref Page Paragraph Main Modification
MM26 | 102 | CU10: East Amend criterion a) as follows:
Cullompton “ _ _
Community a) A-site-ef-2-5-heetares-fora-Rew-primary-schoet-at
Facilities no-cost-to-the-tocat-Education-Authority A serviced
site of 2.5ha for a new 630 place primary school, or
alternatively 3ha of serviced land in two parcels of
1.1ha and 1.9ha appropriately located for the delivery
of two new primary schools, at no cost to the Local
Education Authority;”
Amend criterion c) as follows:
“Construction costs for a primary school capacity of
for-at least 630 places plus additional early years
provision, including the requisite land to deliver these
facilities. The required primary school capacity should
be delivered through the provision of either one or
two schools;”
MM27 | 102 | CU10: East Add additional policy criterion as follows:
Cullompton
Community “g) Contributions towards a new recycling centre to
Facilities serve Cullompton”
MM28 | 104 | CU12: East Replacement policy text for criterion (f) as follows:
Cullompton “ o _ _
Phasing f) Provision of the first phase of comprehensive M5
. .
FEEESS “II,IEEI a”° e"'el'l'ES Before _anly_sllnelllngs are
Capacity improvements at junction 28 M5 to deliver a
strategic highway improvement as demonstrated by
capacity studies completed to assess the impact of the
traffic generated from the site; and”
MM29 | 105 | Paragraph Delete penultimate sentence within paragraph 3.116
3.116 of the supporting text as follows:
therefore-onlyrelatesto-the subsegquent-highway
MM30 | 106 | CU12: East Paragraph 3.120, amend as follows:
Cullompton
Phasing “Subject to viability, affordable housing will be
provided at a rate of approximately 25% 28%, in step
with the market housing.”
MM31 | 110 | CU17: Week Replacement policy text for proposed criterion (g) as
Farm follows:

34
Page 234




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

“(g) Prevision-of-M5accessimprovementsbeforeany
commercial-floerspace-isbroughtintouse-Capacity

improvements at junction 28 M5 to deliver a strateqgic
highway improvement as demonstrated by capacity
studies completed to assess the impact of the traffic
generated from the site;”

MM32

111

CU18: Venn
Farm

Replacement policy text for proposed criterion (g) as
follows:

“(g) Previsionof-M5accessimprovementsbefereany
commercial-Hoorspaceisbroughtintouse-Capacity

improvements at junction 28 M5 to deliver a strateqic
highway improvement as demonstrated by capacity
studies completed to assess the impact of the traffic
generated from the site;”

MM33

114

Paragraph
3.143a

Amend paragraph 3.143a as follows:

“...the final scheme will nheed to incorporate design
solutions which mitigate such impacts. Any loss of
floodplain at this location should be mitigated by the
creation of additional/compensatory floodplain which
should secure wider environmental and sustainability
benefits including the provision of appropriate
ecological and biodiversity enhancements.”

MM34

114

Cu20:
Cullompton
Infrastructure

Add additional policy criterion as follows:

“n) Provision of a replacement recycling centre
facility.”

MM35

115

CU21: Land at
Colebrook

Remove contingency status. Modifications proposed as
follows:

Land at Colebrook CONFHNGENCY-SHE

A site of 4.8 hectares at Colebrook is-dentifiedasa
eontingeney-site allocated for residential development

to-bereleasednacecordance-with-Peliey-S4; subject to

the following:

a) 100 dwellings with 28% affordable housing;

b) Fhe-developmentshalnetcemmenceuntit
completionofthe Nerth-West Cullemptonthrough
acecessimprovements:

c) Provision of two points of access from Siskins
Chase;

d) Provisions of 1.1 hectares of green infrastructure, to
include the retention of land in the floodplain as

35
Page 235




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

informal amenity open space and for Sustainable
Urban Drainage provision;

e) Measures to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows
and other environmental features which contribute
to the character and biodiversity, maintaining a
wildlife network within the site and linking to the
surrounding countryside;

f) Archaeological investigation and appropriate
mitigation; and

g) Transport assessment and implementation of travel
plans and other measures to minimise carbon
footprint and air quality impacts.

Delete paragraph 3.148 from the supporting text.

Delete penultimate sentence from paragraph 3.149 as
follows:

Modify the Policies Map as shown on Plan MM35.

MM36

116

Paragraph
3.149

Amend paragraph 3.149 of the supporting text as
follows:

"3.149 Development in this location has the potential
to place pressure on the capacity of both the strategic

and local road network. Beven-Ceunty-Counci-has
thereferestipulated-that-developmentshoeuld-erty

tocomeforwardafterfurther M5aceess
imprevementsare-implemented—Any application for
development must undertake an assessment of the
impact of the proposal on both the capacity of the
local road network and Junction 28 of the M5 and
permission will only be granted where there are no
significant adverse impacts which-carnrotbe
mitigated. Sitecemmencement-willalsoneedtobe
deferreduntilafterthecompletionof the-through
beingprovidedaspart-of-the Nerth-West Cullompteon
aleeation: The site is expected to contribute to the
provision of off-site highways infrastructure. The
development would also be expected to provide two
points of access from Siskin Chase.”

36
Page 236




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Policy/ . b
Ref Page Paragraph Main Modification
MM37 | 121 | CRES: Amendment to criterion (b) to include reference to:
Pedlerspool, _ o _
Exhibition “...with early years provision and children’s centre
Road service delivery base”.
MM38 | 128 |J27: Land at | Replace criterion b) as follows:
Junction 27 of | o )
the M5 P—FGV-I-Si-GH—Gf—EF&HS-BG-FHH%B—FG\feme%S—EO—eﬁ-S&Fe
Motorway appropriate-aceessibilityforal-medes;ineludingnew
i
of 'I"'p'el ued_aeeessl andl_eglle_ssl ORto El'el M>-rotorway
i i ter—Provision of
transport improvements to ensure safe and suitable
access for all modes, including necessary capacity
improvements to M5 Junction 27 and pedestrian and
cycling link across the motorway to Tiverton Parkway
Railway Station.”
MM39 | 128 | ]J27: Land at | Delete criterion e):

Junction 27 of
the M5
Motorway and
paragraph
3.184d

Para 3.184d, amend as follows:

“The proposals for a major facility of this nature neds
to be considered carefully in terms of its impacts and
the policy makes provision for detailed transport
assessments, environmental protection and green
infrastructure, energy conservation, provision of
improved public transport, pollution and drainage
considerations, phasing and importantly, master
planning with full public consultation prior to any
planning applications being approved. Any loss of
floodplain at this location should be mitigated by the
creation of additional/compensatory floodplain which
should secure wider environmental and sustainability
benefits including provision of appropriate ecological
and biodiversity enhancement. Controls using legal
agreements will be required to control the extent and
types of use that take place on the site, particularly in
respect of retailing which will be tightly controlled.
Section 106 planning obligations will also make
provision for any necessary infrastructure and public
transport improvements and-wetld-need-to-ensure

appropriate-mechanismsarenplace toensure that

37
Page 237




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Policy/ . b
Ref Page Paragraph Main Modification
e v of the Cutrm -G Iards SAC will :
MM40 | 128 | J27: Land at Include additional criterion in policy as follows:
Junction 27 of
the M5 “e) Any planning application which includes a
Motorway ‘designer outlet shopping centre’ should be
accompanied by a full Retail and Leisure Impact
Assessment to ensure that any potential adverse
impacts identified are addressed and mitigated.”
MM41 | 129 | Paragraph Include the following text at the end of the paragraph
3.184d 3.184d:
"Priority habitats exist within the site and in line with
criterion c) of Policy J27 should be protected and
enhanced.”
MM42 | 146 | SP2: Higher Amend Policy SP2 as follows:
Town
Sampford “A site of 6 hectares at Higher Town, Sampford
Peverell Peverell is allocated for a low density residential
development, to-cemeforward-folowing-the
aHeeatien; subject to the following:”
MM43 | 146 | SP2: Higher Delete criterion b) and re-label the remaining criteria
Town accordingly:
Sampford “ _ _ _
Peverell and b}Ne—develepment—bm!eH—qu—eemHeﬁeﬁ—ef—rmpreved
paragraph aceess—workstothe A361:
3.224c . .
Delete paragraph 3.224c of the supporting text:
develepment-of-thesite shewld-ertycommenceenee
Aprovementsto El'.e A361-junction-at Sampiord .
I cvel eH-have-been |||_||slementesl to-create-west facing
SHE |-eaels te_ m_nalsle d." cetaceess o a|_|sl_ From El'e.
west |I_|e_ site-is-required-to '."EEE addltle_nal Reusing
Read-arising I'.e”' Elle_alleea_ ton-atJunction-27of the
IEIE” me o :;a; Accordingly 'E|5|'Fa”| E"ll’ semallm ”|E|” Eil
MM44 | 146 | SP2: Higher Include new criterion:
Town
Sampford “Improved access to the village for pedestrians and
Peverell cyclists”
MM45 | 146 | SP2: Higher Amend criterion g) as follows:
Town

38
Page 238




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref Page Eg:}g;{,aph Main Modification
Sampford "2 2.5 hectares of Green Infrastructure laid out and
Peverell managed with landscaping and open space.”
Modify the Policies Map as shown on Plan MM45.
MM46 | 153- | DM1: High Insert additional criteria as follows:
154 | Quality
Design and “g) Adequate levels of daylight, sunlight and privacy
new to private amenity spaces and principal windows;
paragraph
4.5b h) Suitably sized rooms and overall floorspace which
allows for adequate storage and movement within the
building together as set out in the Nationally
Described Space Standard with external spaces for
recycling, refuse and cycle storage; and
i) On sites of 10 houses or more the provision of 20%
of dwellings built to Level 2 of Building Regulations
Part M ‘access to and use of dwellings.”
Insert additional supporting text as follows:
“4.5b National policy states that planning should
always seek to secure high quality design and a good
standard of amenity for all existing and future
occupants of land and buildings. This is particularly
important for the design of the homes that people live
in and the spaces that surround those homes. The aim
in Mid Devon is to deliver high quality buildings and
spaces that meet the needs of users, taking account
of an aging population whilst ensuring compatibility
with surrounding development and uses. Though
compliance is delivered through buildings regulations,
criterion i) will be implemented through a condition
attached to the planning permission.”
MM47 | 154 | DM2: Amend the third sentence in Policy DM2 as follows:
Renewable
and low “Proposals must demonstrate that impacts are or can
carbon energy be made acceptable in relation to: and-thatthe
development-wilpreserve:”
MM48 | 164- | DM7: Amend Policy DM7 as follows:
165 | Traveller sites

and
paragraph
4.29

1) Planning applications for Pitches and Plots

Planning applications for gypsy and traveller pitches,
or plots for travelling showpeople, will be permitted
where:

a) Suitable onsite facilities will be provided including
space for children’s play;

39
Page 239




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

b) The proposal will have suitable environmental
quality for residents including non-isolating
boundary treatments;

c) The site will not cause unacceptable landscape or
ecological impact and is not located in an area at
high risk of flooding;

d) Occupation will be limited to those who meet the
Government’s published definition of gypsies and
travellers, including travelling showpeople or their
dependents; and

e) Safe and convenient access to local facilities is

provided

Sites with associated employment or storage
elements may will be permitted where there is
specific justification and the location, scale, and
nature of the proposed development will not have
harmful impacts on local amenity or the local
environment. Gypsy and traveller accommodation
may be included as part of the affordable housing
requirement.

2. Provision on allocated sites

Gypsy and Traveller pitches on allocated sites
(sought by Policies TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRE5) should
be provided on site unless it is demonstrated that
off-site provision will achieve an acceptable mere
favveurable outcome for Gypsies and Travellers
taking into account:

i) Pitch numbers;

i) Site facilities;

iii) Accessibility to services, including health and
education;

iv) Early delivery of serviced pitches or plots
which are available for occupation; and

V) The provision of an effective mechanism for

delivery.

Such sites must also meet the requirements of
part 1 of Policy DM7 above,

Amend supporting text in paragraph 4.29 as follows:

40
Page 240




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

“4.29 There is a need for 35 new pitches for gypsies
and travellers for the period 2014-34, and 11 plots for
travelling showpeople for the period 2014-34. The
majority of this Fhis need is proposed to be met on

the Iargest stFa!eeg+ea4+eeatreﬁs—'Fhe—tFa¥el+mg

within allocated developments at Tiverton Eastern
Urban Extension, North West Cullompton, and
Pedlerspool in Crediton. Pitches must be provided on-

site unless the acceptable merefaveurable outcome
described by Policy DM7 is demonstrated. Any
proposals for acceptable merefaveurable off-site
provision must identify and provide serviced sites in
accordance with Policy DM7. A clear mechanism to
ensure that pitches or plots are delivered in such a
way as to achieve an acceptable merefaveurable
outcome for the travelling community must be
identified.

This will usually be through a s106 agreement
requiring the developer to identify and obtain planning
permission (which will not be unreasonably withheld
by the Council) for the required number and standard
of pitches. The pitches will be provided by the
development itself or where the land is transferred for
a nominal value, by an agreed third party Registered
Provider or other agreed private provider, for the sole
purpose of occupation and ancillary business by
Gypsies and Travellers. The off-site provision of
pitches must be provided and made available for
occupation before the occupation of a specified
proportion of the provision of on-site open market
dwellings as part of the larger housing proposal at
TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRES. Where gypsy and traveller
pitches are provided on- or off-site on housing
allocations, these are to be counted against the
affordable housing targets for that site. Fherearealse

41
Page 241




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

MM49

170

DM12:
Housing
Standards

Delete Policy DM12 Housing Standards (incorporating
proposed modifications in the 2017 consultation) and
move its content, with amendments in accordance
with the Inspector’s post hearings advice note, to
Policy DM1.

“Petiev DML

MM50

179

DM19:
Protection of
employment
land and
paragraph
4.60




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Ref

Page

Policy/
Paragraph

Main Modification

MM51

186

DM25:
Development
affecting
heritage
assets

Amend Policy DM25 as follows:

“a) Apply a presumption in favour of preserving or

enhancing all designated preservationia—site—in
respect-of the-mostimportant heritage assets and

their settings;

b) Require development proposals likely to affect the
significance of heritage assets and-theirsettings,
including new buildings, alterations, extensions,
changes of use and demolitions, to consider their
significance, character, setting (including views to or
from), appearance, design, layout and local
distinctiveness, and the opportunities to enhance
them;

c) Only approve proposals that would |lead to
substantial harm to or total loss of significance of a
designated heritage assets where it can be
demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that

outweigh that harm or loss betikelyto-substantially
harm-heritage assetsand-theirsettirgsif substantal
publiceberefiteutweighsthatharm or the
requirements efparagraph—133 of the National

Planning Policy Framework are met;

d) Where a development proposal weutd-will lead to
less than substantial harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, this that harm wilt should
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal

aRy—publie-benefit, including securing its optimum

viable use; and

e) Require developers to make a proportionate but
systematic assessment of the any impact on the
setting and thereby the significance of heritage

asset(s) dewninthe-guidancefrom Histeric England:
The-Settingof Heritage-Assets+Histeric Environment
~oodF e Advicoinpl 3.

MM52

189

Paragraph
4.88

Amend paragraph 4.88 as follows:

.. "Green Infrastructure functions can coexist in one
place, so the land coverage does not have to be

43
Page 243




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Policy/ . b
Ref Page Paragraph Main Modification
extensive in every case, although developments
should recognise that floodplain cannot necessarily
provide year-round amenity access.”
MM53 | 189 | Paragraph At the end of paragraph 4.88 include the following
4.88 sentence:
“Development incorporating green infrastructure will
be required to submit management and maintenance
details for the proposed green infrastructure.”
MM54 | 190 | DM27: Amend Policy DM27 as follows:
Protected o )
landscapes, “"Development proposals withir-er affecting the
and Blackdown Hills, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty,
paragraph Dartmoor National Park, Exmoor National Park and
4.94 the North Devon Biosphere Reserve must
demonstrate that:..”
Amend paragraph 4.94 as follows:
“Where major developments are proposed within er
adjeining protected landscapes or within the setting of
er-adjeining-the protected landscapes or the National
Parks,”
MM55 | 191- | DM28: Other | Amend Policy DM28 as follows:
193 | protected ]
sites and Delete the final paragraph:
paragraphs “
4,102 and . ”l.'e.' c denelsplnent_plepesals n_euld tead-to-an
4.95 tdividual-of eumuiative-adversetmpact on-Natura

Replace the deleted final paragraph with:

“Where development proposals are likely (leaving
aside mitigation measures) to have a significant effect
on a European site (as defined in reqgulation 8 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017), an appropriate assessment will be required. In
such cases, planning permission will be refused unless
it has been ascertained that with mitigation measures
in place the development will not adversely affect the
integrity of the site.”

Amend supporting paragraph 4.102 as follows:

44
Page 244




Mid Devon District Council Local Plan Review 2013-2033, Inspector’s Report 26 June 2020

Policy/

Main Modification
Paragraph

Ref Page

Delete the sentence:

Replace the deleted sentence with:

“... In the case of European sites, where the risk of
harm to the integrity of a site has not been ruled out
in an appropriate assessment planning permission
may be granted for the development only if there is
no alternative solution and the development must be
carried out for imperative reasons of overriding public
interest. In such cases, any necessary compensatory
measures must be secured.”

Amend the paragraph 4.95 through the deletion of the
words:

“Natura—2000-sites” and “Natura—2000-site” and the
replacement of these words with the words “European
Sites” and “European Site”.

45
Page 245




This page is intentionally left blank



6T0Z JaqWianoN :aieq

sSuneaH
uleA uoneujwexy gT0z Suimoj|oj sadueyd dejp S3121j0d pue SUoIIedIIPOIAl |[BUOIHIPPY JO 3|NPaYIS

€€-ET0T M3IN3Y Ue|d [BI07] UOASQ PIIN

TIONNOD 1J1¥lSIda

Appendix 4

Page 247



‘(ue|d abpLuo |

pue uoAsq YMOoN ay} Buipnjour)
sue|d Jaylo YIm uoljeuIquiod

Ul JO UMO S}I UO Jayio

‘Ue|d 9y} JO S}0aYo BSI9APE OU
ale alay} Jey} Sapnjouod YyH

‘uons(g u__>_ puno.e sa)is :moaosm_ v,o Aubajul
mE uo wuomtm wwhm%m ul JInsal Jou |Im "Sjo8]oid pue suejd 18yjo Gjim UOJeUIqUIOD
Ur pue "suoje ue|d |e207 ayj ul pasodoud juswdojaasp 8y} Jeyl Sepnjouod YyH ayl,

ueld [e007 8y}

pajepdn ay “Auiepo apinoid o :SMO]J|0} SE puawe ‘| | "] ydelbeleq g/, | 1o uonesedaid %
. 3ddN
8Y) JO UOISIBA Z |0 [eulbLIO ayj Jepun paujwexs Ussq Sey Malrsy ue|d [ed07 ayj
"4ddN 28U} JO UoISIaA JddN @Y} O] SUCISIA8J Juddal apisbuoje padnpoJjul Sjustisbuelie Jeuonisuel), spun,,
Z10g Jepun pauiwexs si ued ue|d |[ed07 au)
1ey) saule|D “Aliepo apinold o :SMOJ|0} Se puswe ‘g’| ydeibeied / | o uoneledalid €
jJomawedy
8y} JO UOISIaA ZL0g |eulblio
By} Japun paulwexa usaq
sey )l se ajepdn sy} 9ouala)al Jluswinoop Aoljod Buluueld Buiyolelano
10U S80p ue|d ay} Janamoy ue yum aouepinb pue sjuswalels Aoljod [euojeu adinw pasejdal pue z10g
(6102 924 1sd1e|) 4ddN 3y} yoJep\ ul peonponul Ajjeuibuio sem (4ddN) yiomawe. Aoljod Buluueld [euoneN ayL,
JO suoIsiAal Juanbasqgns uaaq ue|d |eo07 8y}
aney asay] ‘Ayuejo spinosd o :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘9’| ydeibeied 9 | Jouoneledald W
‘pasodoud aie
Jeu} SNV pue sl 1ayjo Jos)jal
0} pue ue|d ay} Jnoybnouy) "8Inpayos siy} Ul Ajlenpiaipul payiusp
Kousjsisuod pue Ajeo pie o u92a(Q Jou aABY 8sal] "ueld @y} Inoybnoliyy suonoalioo oiydelbodAy/Buewoy Joulp |eJausn) L
ydeuBesed
uoseay obueys | abed JRood | "ON

*/10Z Adenuer (suorieaiyipow Suijesodiodul) uoissiwgng pasodold mainay
ue|d |ed07 dY3 4O 1X31 3Y3 01 SUOILIPPE S0 PAUI[I2PUN 1O SUOIID|IP JO)HEROAIHHIS JOYLID SB UMOYS DB PUB SIJ/D]/ Ul PIJIIUSPI S8 UOIIEIIJIPOW |eUOIHPPY

Page 248



“ylomauwiel) ey 0} sajepdn
Z2102-1s0d y)m uoisnjuoo
ploAe 0} panowal sydesbeled

“yiomawel Aojjod Buiuueld

|euolieN sy} jo-zz-tdetbered 0} Aiesjuod
aq p|Nom uoljeao)|e ay} Jo uonosjoid
wJa)-6uo ‘uoneosoje juswholdwa

10} pUBLISP JO 82UBPIAS ON :palejeq $S019) 19}] JO YInosg ‘mog | z/og/ v

sjoedwi Ajjenb Jie pue juud)oo} uogied
ay) asiwiuiw o0} ueld [aaed} e Juaws|dwi
pue juswssasse Jodsuel} e aney

0} Aaijod s18yy ul psadinbal si uojdwo|ny
UIYHM UO1jeD0|[B 3)IS Yoe? ‘os|y S
uoydwo|n) 1S :Aq ped ul paoejday Ayienp sty uoydwolng | L/NO/Y

4ddN 03 seoualajey 6 saloljod
"Jodie [eolydelBodAy Jo 1081100 :SMoJ|o} se aepdn ‘zogel | L/8l pspasiadng
~uonaq pIN ui Butuueld pooyinoqybiau
8]eljiul 0} }sllf 8U) SIaM HoHogeH, UOMBAIS e 'Uo}Ipal) ‘ucjdwo|iny
‘Bale ue|d pooydnogybieN | ‘Buiuueld pooyinoqybiau ansind o} Buiysim saiuNLIWOD [B20] Woddns [Im [1ouno) 8y,
uouaAl] 8y} jo Jed Jebuoj ou Buluueld p
sl uouaqgeH ‘Ajuejo spinoid o] :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘6| ydelbeleq €1 | ooyinoqybiaN
‘SHWI| [eluawuolIAUS Bunoadsal pue eale ay) Buioueyua
pue BuiAlesuod ‘ssa2ans olwouods Bunoddns ‘Buleg-jjam Ajunwwods Bunowoud
ybnouy} seiiunwwod [Boo| 0} syyduaqg aanisod Bulq |im uoasq piN Jo Juswdojaasp
a|geulelsns ay) moy saqlosap (Abajelis |eneds-puedy] Glim Uoouniuod Uij UOISIA 8y, ABajens
"JoJl8 [eonewweld |enedsg
1021109 pue Ajuejo apinoid o :SMOJ|0} SE pusawe ‘G| | ydeibeled 6 pue UoISIA

00Q woly
ainbyy s|qe|ieAe )saje| uo paseq
ajewnss uonendod a1epdn

(So1eWST VSdd
Jlounod AJunoy UoAS([ 90z eretiST+eeApi-£+02) 008 6/ 60987 40 uoljendod v,

:SMOJ|0} Se puawe ‘(juiod 19]Inq yunoy) 1| ydeibeled Japun xa |

uejd [e007 8y}
JO uonjelsedald

Page 249



“ylomawel) sy} o} sajepdn

pue Juspuadap Ajjleninw ase Asy) asneosaq uone|os! Ul uayeuspun

Z2102-1s0d y)m uoisnjuoo 8Q Jou p|noyYs S$8|j0J 8SaY |, Jey) SalAje|o-6-pre-g-sydeiberead—(zL02) 4ddNdYL sa|diound
ploAe 0} panowal sydelbeled Juswdojanap
4ddN 0} seoualaeay :smojjo} se puawe ‘ydeibeled paiy | 2 a|geulelsng an
:$9]0J JO Jaquinu e wiopad 0} wajsAs Buluueld ayj Jo} pasu ay} 0} asu
“yiomawely ay) o} sejepdn | SAIB SuoIsUBLIIP 8S8Y | ‘[EJUSWILOIIAUS PUE [BID0S ‘OILOU0D® ;JuswdojaAsp a|geuleisns
Z210Z-1s0d Yym uoisnjuoo 0] suoISuaWIp 1oUlSIp a1y} ale alay] , 1ey) seleiszryadeberea—(210z) 4ddN UL sa|diound
ploAe 0} panowal sydelbeled Juswdojanap
4ddN 0} saouslajey :sMOJ|0} se puawe ‘ydelbeled puooag z2 a|geule}sng 0l
ubisap Ajjenb ybiH
LN Aq ped U] peoejdoy—Spiepueis
f : sazis Buljlemg SLANG
Butsnotjo-ubiset-sprepues
“LING Ul pepnjaul mou aJe Aoijod BeSRoH Z1G —Aqpeseidex Ubisop
SIU} 4O SHed “ZLING Aoljod jo Arenb ybiH LING -Aq Jed ur paoejdoy Buisnoy jo ubisag yLNG
[eAowal Ul Bunnsal uoneoyipow salol1j0d
ulew pasodoud 08401 0 :sMoJ|o} se ajepdn ‘¢ ajqe ] 0z papasladng ‘6

“ylomawel 4 Adljod Buiuueld

|euoneN au} je-zz-tdetbered o) Alenuod
aq p|nom uoleo0||e ay} jo uoijosjold
wJa)-6uo -uoneosoje juswholdwa

10} pUBLISP JO B2UBPIAS ON :pajdlad | Peoy uonounr Jo }SSAA UINoS ‘mog | €/09/1V

Page 250



§ (%0€)
7S 12eE 4609 | TTS6¥Z2G/T') €698/ 091°285¢€'C UoMaAIL
(r+ozetoZ81L0C
(¥ yole L
10¢9t06c81L0C —-€10¢
ludy | je) [udy | wouy) Juswfoldws
(8102 YoJe\) E1ep Butioyuow Japuleway | SjuswILIWo) suoejdwo) | juswalinbay uoieooT oue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy s|gejiene Jo uoisinoid
Ajpuaoal jsow jJos)al 0] :SMOJ|0} se aepdn ‘G ajge €z llejenQ ‘Gl
16 EPZ6PCLG € juswaiinbas papiwwoduN
(uoissiwiad
Buluueld yjm Jo uonoNISUOD
69€12+0C8197¢C Japun sbuljjlamp) sjuswjwwo
OCEPT60EL ') €10z @ouis suopns|dwo)
» » wawAhojdwa
(8102 Yyose) eyep Buroyuow 0022098 £ Juswaunbal ueld 2907 pue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy sjqejieae Jo uoisinoid
Ajpuaoal jsow jo8)al 0] :SMOJ|0} se aepdn ‘¢ ajge €z llejenQ i
.'Pa}eoo|ie aq 0} sbulllamp 116642642 /G € INOJe Joj paau Bulurews. e Buneaipul
O79162-8102 YoJe 1SS e uoieniis sy} Ino sjas a|ge} Buimojo) syl JesA Jad swholdwa
(8102 yoJey) eyep Buuoyiuow | sBuljjamp geecae 01 Buienba ‘pouad ueld ayj Jano palinbal ale sbuljemp-662+098°/, pue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy sjqejiene Jo uoisinoid
Apusoal Jsow Jos|yal 0 :SMOJ|0} Se puswe ‘Z'z ydeibeied A 11Z3E)Ye) el
'$10}0B} yons Jay}o Jo sjeubis 1oyew swholdwe
108)48. 0} Juawisnlpe piemdn Jayuny 10} paau ou s alay) Jey} Sepnouod YIAHS syl pue Buisnoy
JO uoisinoid
"Joula |eoiydelBbodAy 1081100 0| 'SMOJ|0} se puswie ‘q| 'z ydeibeled €z llejenQ Zl

Page 251



"(6L0OZ dunr)

a)epdn Ajddng pue BuisnoH
M3IADY Ue|d |ED0T SIoUN0D
8y} ul 1no 1es Aiojoslen

Buisnoy pejepdn sy} pue swhodwe
(8102 yosep) eyep bBuliojiuow pue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy sjqejiene Jo uoisinoid
Ajpuaoal jsow josjal 0] :SMOJ[0} se ajepdn ‘| LUeyD vZ llejenQ ‘Il
"(610Z 8unr)
a)epdn Ajddng pue BuisnoH
MBINSY Ue|d |ED0T S [IoUN0) 8y}
ur Ino 1es si Aloyoslely Buisnoy
pajepdn uy -sjeindoe Jabuoj
ou sieak 931y} JaAo JsAlap 0}
1SB0810} SjuBLIIWWOD Bulisixa
0] 9duUalajay ‘pajedojle si L tH-SSO+9EeAHO 6IS—SHeoA-001t} 0512} OF IS804 SHSHIOtHIHHHO-BHHISIXO
jeym Ajuo uey} Jayjel uoisinoid -Ai0yoales; Buimojo) 8y} Ul JNO }8S SI SUOIEIO||B PUB SJUSW}HWWOD
ue|d |eo07 |e10} SI jJuswalinbal Bunisixe Jo Junoooe Buiye) ‘Buisnoy Joj puel jo Alljigejieae ay ] ‘suolns|dwioo
Jano palanljep Buisnoy o, ojul Buie|suel) sjuswILIWOD [|e Jou Se Uyons pajoadxa se pJemio) Builod wol) sayis
ey} alels Ajsjeinooe alow pue | swos juaAald Jybiw jey) SeouBISWINDIID US9SaI0jun 10} JUNod2e pue AJjigixa)} spiroid o} awhodwae
(810Z youse) elep Buuoyuow | ‘pasinbal si ueyy Buisnoy aiow 9/ [ J0j UOISIACIA Sayelli-461-Seesefe ue|d |ed0] ayl, pue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy s|gejiene JO uoisinoid
Apusoal Jsow Josyal 0 :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘'z ydeibeied A 11Z3E)Ye) ‘9l
122 69 (%001)
§EPe6¥CISE | £1Ct0C8l9¢C OCEPT60EL') 6622098, [ejol
507967186~ ZEV6€§96/ z827€12G | (%01) 62298, leany
SYIPEPEGE 9128¥eG6C 862619¢) | (%01) 627982 uoypald
147 (%08)
EEVETEEEL'C 66128¥29C 186025YS 669€0c6'c | uoydwolnd

Page 252



"(6L0g dunr)

a)epdn Ajddng pue BuisnoH
M3IADY Ue|d |ED0T SIoUN0D
8y} ul 1no 1es Aiojoalen
Buisnoy pejepdn ay) pue
(8102 uouelN) eyep Bunoyuow
pue| Buisnoy s|gejiene
Ajpusoal jsow jos)al 0]

‘SMOJ|0} SB UOISISA Mau Yim soejdal ‘g ajqe

[4°14

juswhodwe
pue Buisnoy
10 uoisinoid

llejenQ

‘8l

[einym  uoupe m UOdWO|N) m UOLSAIL m

ES S EE S EE S T

Y A R I A S A AN
0
oot
002
00€
oov
005
009
ooz
008

€€02-€T07 A10100fea) BuiSnoH [[e4an0

Page 253



v€C6 £L8TL TESY 0€LT s|e103 Jeah any aAne|InWND
LV6T 9S/LT 108¢ 0€LT s|e1ol JeaA ani4
¥€26 (0SC|007|00%|00¥|L6¥|00S|8EY|EBS|TES|V09|6EY|6TS|S69|VLS|7LS|C0S|¥0€E|88T|9TE|OCE (sease ||e- uonaq pIIA) [e30L
L29T | O 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | SO |VCT|6€EE|SSC|ELL|VTT|O0OT|8TCT|LET| 28 |e1o] saus |einy
TLS YCT|00T|BTT|LET| T8 suonadwo)
96L 9t |sst|eve|eLe sjuawWlWwo)
w S |st|Tt TIM GIN JO 1sea pue
(4 @i THL spue|peo.g Jo yinos
g S s a8esen oyl
8 8 TIS peoy ysis1a1ng pio
8 8 vs aueq sAuueq
09 €z |se|cT zds umo] J1aysiH
ot ot TdS| I910H Aemyied uolianll Jawioy
0t 8 | T TOW Aemeusaln
ot ot TVH Aepn siaysi4 [pe pueq
9 9 T aso[g Aeyun
L L 14D 3s0|) [|lysuieg
()4 8 |TT 19D aueqyoinyd yo pue]
0t 8 | T THD uoyeg
L L Tyd peoy 3|aH
0t 8 | CT 109 [9mA[loH
S S ve aienbs uoiman
salls |eany
6.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | 69 |SLT|€8T| 65| S9| 06 | 66 |€EOT| CT | LT | 8T | TE | 85 |e101 uolipaid
9€T TT | LT | 8T | 1€ | 8S suonajdwo)
S6¢C OT | 62| ¥S | 66 |€0OT sjudWlWWo)
ST € |cCT 634D 950|) eJpuEXD|Y
(014 8 |cT 834D jded ulegiepuel
0s Sz | st £3¥D aue ||lemauols
ozt 8 |0s|os|ZT 934D sp|ald4 s1iods
00t BE|0S|0S|sc|sTc|cT S3¥D |oodsia|pad
8 © (£l ] dnouo spoop
GET €c|oOs|os|cT [£1.) $S04D [|!H Py
uoupaiy
SEOV |STTZ|00€|00€E(00E|00E|00E(ETE|ILE|SLT|BET|LET|OST|VTT| TL | T6 [8EC| 86 | ¥V | 8L | L8 |ejoL uordwo(n)
149 8ETZ| 86 | ¥V | 8L | L8 suonadwo)
7s¢ cr|sc|es|tTL|T6 sjuawWlWwwo)
00T 8E|sc|sT|TT TZznd 004q3|0D
8€ €T | ST ¥TND Spue|1004 pueled aiepn
0SZT |00T|00T|00Z|002|00Z|00T|00C|SLT|SCT| OS ZTIND-LND uoldwo||n)1se3
OSET | ST |0OT|00T|00T|0O0T|00T|00T|9LT|OST|OST|0O0T|00T| 6% 9N3-1Nd uoxdwo|ny MN
uojdwo||ny
€6ST | ST |0OT|00T|OOT|L6T|00C|SCT|BET|TBT|EBT|BLT|08T|CST|6VT|LOT|8CT| 68 | 86 | 0L | €6 |B10] UOMIBAIL|
8LY 8C¢T| 68 86| 0L | €6 suona|dwo)
SLTT L6 |00T|00T|OOT|OOT 80T |SET|EVPT|SET|6VT|L0T SjuBWHWWOD
00¢ BE|OS|oOS|sc|se|cT 9TAIL |ooyos s||apun|g
0 ETAIL (Aoua8unuod) ||eH aqwoapll
09 T€ | ST 14 CIAIL aue xiuaoyd
0z 8 |zt OTALL |llypunoy
0T ot B6AIL 14n0D UdpMOH
0SS SZ |00T|00T|00T|00T|00T| ST GAIL-TAIL uolsU31X3 UeqJIN UId1Se]
uoMaALL
g BT [S TS e IR IsTe e[ E eIl B[S [BISIB] ™wrd SS/UoRES0T
S 0 R R RS R ) ) R Rl B RS Rl R
GIR|R|E|B (&N |G|R|S|(S[R[S|[c|&|S|&]|6[5

Page 254



Jeak anl payepdn ay} pue Se Yons ‘s}eyoelq Jeak uienso uitlip) 'z ydelbeled ul pauiejdxs se ‘pasinbal ueyy swAhojdwa
(810Z yose) elep Buuoyuow | Buisnoy alow 950+ %/} Joy uoisinoid si a1ay) (££02-£102) poliad ueld alius ay) JanQ, pue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy s|gejiene JO uoisinoid
Apusdal Jsow Josyal 0 :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘; g ydeibeied VA 11Z3E)Ye) Lz
00C¢
occe
orst (4 + 3) Juawauinbaly A|ddns Jeah g 9}
(G« g) £202-810¢ Juswaiinbai uejd (B0
G96'l (6<8)1C0T-91L0C HHotoHnbol teld 1800
008+ (6=8)-020T-9t0T IHewaHnbateldfesed E|
gee
eec
o (@-20) Bret7+0Z-€10T ‘S1ep O} [ejous 3
0¢l’t
144
62e 81gt171-0z UoIeN-¢10g Iudy suonajdwo) a
G96'L (G« 8)8L0C-€L0C "djEep 0] juswalinba. uejd [eo07]
(61.0z aunr) ayepdn Ajddng 09| =avtoZ-ct0Z elep-oriuowetnbeteidteset o)
pue BuisnoH mainey ue|d
[EO0T S,[I2UNOD 8y} Ul JNO }8S €6e
(pouew ,pjeuebpag, uo paseq) 09¢ (0Z + V) £€€02-€102 Sjel [enuue pajdw| g
uone|nojeo Ajddns puej Buisnoy »
Jeak anly pajepdn ay) pue 098/ swholdwae
(8102 YoIe) eyep Bunojuow 0622 £€02-€ 10T Juswalinbal ue|d [e207] v pue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy a|qe|ieae Jo uoisinoid
Ajpuaoal jsow jos)al 0] :SMOJ|o} se aepdn ‘) sjge 12 llejenQ 02
wawAhojdwa
‘'sainpaoold pue Buisnoy
Buloyuow s j1oUN0H roqeHesegHore Joday Buuojuop s Aluoyiny sy uiAjjenuue Jo uoisinoud
8y} 109)a1 A|9jelnooe aiow 0] | paysiignd uoiewloul YIM AJSNONURUOD Affeauwe palojiuow a4 [Im Buisnoy jo Alaalleqg 9z 1Z3EYe) ‘6l

Page 255



UOISJaA JUS23l JsoWw 8y} sjosjsal
2InBly |[ejpuIm pawnsse ay} jey)
salnsus os|e pue ABojoulwJa) ul
abueyo ay) sjosjyal JUSWpPUBWE
Jouiw syl (vv13H)
Juswissassy Alljigejieay pue
21Wou09g pue BuisnoH ayy

se paweual usaq sey (YVY1HS)

iteret 1 ! (Z10¢ 111dy) Abojopoyjew
(VV15H) JUsWiSSasSY AJIIqe[leAy pue oliouooS pue bUISNOH EaJe Joy et buisnoy

Juswssassy Aljigejieay 19]6X5 oyj JO UOISISA paysijqnd Ajjugda] JSOW ayj Y3IA oulf Ul pajejnojed Si yolym ‘Jeak awholdwa
pue buisnoH oibsjens | Jad sBuljjemp 62 L+6+ JO WNWIUIW B SWNSSE [[IM [IDUN0D 3y} ‘s|[ejpuim Buipnjoul Usypn, pue Buisnoy
ay) se umouy Ajsnoinauid JO uoisinoid
ssoo0.d Juswissasse a)is ay | :SMOJ|0} SE pusawe ‘0| g ydelbeleq ez 11Z3E)Ye) v
(610z aunr) ayepdn Addng
pue BuisnoH mainey ue|d
|20 S,[I2UNO0D 8y} Ul INO 189S
Aioyoelely Buisnoy pajepdn pue Jluswialinbal pauiuapl swhodwe
(810Z yose) eiep Buuoyuow 2y} 9A0Qe pue JaA0 sBuljlemp €777 /€L 104 uoisinoid sexew ue|d |20 8y, pue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy sjqejiene Jo uoisinoid
Apusoal ysow Josyal 0 :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘gz ydeibeied VA 11Z3E)Ye) eC
%0920%C %8EOE20L %StOT.T snjding
(610z aunr) syepdn Alddns SV Y66 FIV6 L | 787 C09§C9G/C | 6917+69CI08¢C Kioyoslel |
pue BuisnoH mainay ue|d — r )
(pousew pjeyebpag, uo peseq) i av e aira AR 7 a vz i AT 7i 4 4 v 2 NI T4
uonepnoles Aiddns puey Buisnoy ££/2€02-62/8202 82/.202-v2/€202 £€2/2202-61/81L02
Jeak any perepdn sy pue 1€/0€02-12/920C 927/6202-22/1202 | 12/0202-11/9106T Juswihodws
(8102 YoIeN) eyep Bunoyuow 0€02-5202 §202-020C 0202-510C pue Buisnoy
pue| Buisnoy sjqe|ieae Jo uoisinoid
Ajpuaoal jsow jos)al 0] :SMOJ|0} se aepdn ‘g ajge 12 NIZIELNe) ad

(61.0z aunr) ayepdn Addng
pue BuisnoH mainey ueld
|E207 S,[I2UN0D 8y} Ul INO 189S
(pouiaw pjayabpag, uo paseq)
uone|nojeo Ajddns puej Buisnoy

. Aoljod [euoneu yym asuepiodoe

ul Alddns Jeak aAl B 8)eljSUOWSP 0} |IDUNOY) BY) IO} PJEMIO) SWOD [[IM Buisnoy juaioiyns
alnsua 0} uejd ay} ul AJIqIXals SI 818y} ‘WIB) WOYS By} Ul Jaying %0z € o4 bulA|dde
USAS Jey) Sajedlpul 9|qe] 8y ‘Mojag 3[ge) 8y} ul umoys se ‘Jaybiy Ajjenueisqns

S| SlY} '€6/2£02-62/820C+E/0€0C—72/920¢ PUE 88//202-¥2/€20295/620C e/ t2OT

Page 256



0]

sapinoid os|y “Jes|o uonounsip

siyy Buiyew Aq Ajuejo sepiroid 668°8000°€+(0)
910}3.9U} UOHEOUIPOW Joui TN A4 £62'02977 9% 6++%776 0F eany
SIYl "uoIjEDO|E PAIUBSUOIUN
Bulurews. ay} Ajuo Jo uoneoso|e (065 °CH) 06G'Zv 0 0 lZ uondunp
|e10} 8y} sem uaAIb ainbiy .
By} JaylauM Jea|o axew jou (627G) 028'6 cE0TE989 06cssr0'¢ uojipaid
pip 8|ge) snoiraid sy 'JuUssuod 5TZ07°0F)
Buluueld aaey 394 Jou op jey 006 °55(c0/ nm P R
SUOIEDO||E 10} [B10} BulUIBWa! 00029 69964808 6C 866°€£/C6 uojdwojind
3y} MOYS 0} UWn|oo |eul 5eTIG6T)
ayl ul uwv_uw_oc_ M_ mw:mc m_ﬁmgm_o_om voose Ew 8 — J— UOLIBAI
& ‘(s2InBl} SIUBLHIWIWOD 000 .¢ §089.C €Y o8st8ic Y MBALL
pue suoia|dwod dy} ul papnjoul (wbs) wersmotd
0s) padojansp usaq sey/buiaq {pejussuosUn
o s posmion persooys | | SPHET TR
Jo Junowle juediiubis e sy 40/ suohes0lIE s, oS, awAholdwa
(81.0Z YoJe) elep Bulioyuow uejd |e207 sjusWIHWWO) suonajdwon uoijeso] pue Buisnoy
pug| [eloJawwo s|ge|ieAe Jo uoisinold
Apuagal jsow o848l 01 :SMOJ|0} se ajepdn ‘G |ge L 8z lleJano ‘92
Koljod [euonjeu ui 1no jas Juswdojansp sjgeuleisns
JO Inoaey ul uondwinsaid ayj 0} Buipioooe SHIBW JIBY} UO PaISpISUOD 8q OS|e [|IM SBYS
(SLALL llIeH @qwoopl]) Jayjo uo sjesodoud jng quaioinsul si buisnoy jo Ajddns ay; yI @oualaaid s jIoUN0D By}
ayis Aousbunuoo Bululews. | aq |m says Aouabuiuoo ayj jo ases|al ay| -Aoljod jeuoneu yim aoueplodoe ul Ajddns
auo sapinoid mou Hd Buisnoy Jeak aAly B Sjes)SUOWSP 0} 8|geUN SI [I2UN0D B} IO S|SAS| UOIJO., paulap
3yl "ooligs|o) e pue LzNnod MOJaq S||e} JoL3SIp 8y} ssosoe Asaaliap Buisnoy 4 papiwiad aqg Ajuo |im sjuswdojansp juswAholdwas
Aaljod jo snieys Aouabuijuoo Siy]-eset "Buisnoy Joj saus Aousbunuoo, auo-esmi-ss+4; S91EI0||B UB|ld |E20] YL, pue Buisnoy
O |[BAOWaI - GENIA Uonedlipow Jo uoisinoud
ulew pasodoud jos|ja4 01 ‘SMOJ|0} Se puswie ‘| |z ydeibeled 8z lleJano iord

(£102)
ABojopoylew Yy 13H 8y} Jo

Page 257



11

Bunsixa pue Bopoeq ayy

SE ‘UoIje|nd[ed 8y} Ul Junodoe
O}ul USe)} 8q p|noys spjoyasnoy
pawo} Aimau Ajuo (102

aunr syebie| BuisnoH pue
pasN passassy Ajaanoslqo)
SJON 92IAPY [E2IUYDD |

SVd au} Buimo|o} ‘VINHS 8}

Jo sbuipuly ayj 109|)81 A|9)RINDOE
0} papuswe a2usjuas YunoH

. pue| paumo-|iounog uo Buisnoy jo AIsAllap pue s8)is uodeoxa JUsLW}SaAUl

AoteBy-SentAtLHOS-PHe-SetoH PUBIDUS SOWOH WoJj Bunjnsal s|[eipuim Se pJemio)
309 0] 8NUIIUOD Os[e ||IM Buisnoy a|geploye [euonippy,  , 101sIp 8y} ul Buisue spasu
alnny —Buiistxe JoaW 0) Jeak Jad papesu ale Buisnoy sjgeploye

BU} pSpNJOU0d YINHS 8YL,

> tHo At e otofoHpPh o7 go

. 1S - - ~ JUBWIUOIIATS PBJEIOOSSE PUE BUISAOY
7M8U JO Ajljenb pue ubiSap poob ainsus, pue ,buiSNoy 9jGepioye buipnjoul 'Spaal

‘(9L02) UoAS( PI Jey; yimoJdb buisnoy oyj o]ejljiog], 0] SWIe ue|d ajelodlo) s |louno) ay], spasN
ue|d ajelodion pajepdn 109)40. BuisnoH
0] papuawe aouajuas sl :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘(2ouajuas |eul} pue yunoy ‘is.y) £ z'z ydeibeled ol Bunes|y €S 0¢
. [Bale ue Jo'spasu Buisnoy ay} 198w uayj pue Ajnuapl o} AjpAnoalgo spew aq pjnoys
Hoye Aians, [Z102) (4ddN) dlomawel Aoljod Buiuueld |euoneN ayj ul pasiubooal sy, SpasN
"MIOMBWERI} 8Y} JO UOISIaA Z1L0Z BuisnoH
ayj 0} sajejal ajonb jey; sayLe|D :SMOJ|0} SB puswe ‘gz z ydelbeleq ol Bunes|y €S ‘62
JsIxa
1ey) sjuiessuod [esiydelbodoy pue oiel} 8y 0} anp |e10} JOLISIP 38U} JO %0 O} sjunowe
Ajuo uoypai) Joj 106.e} Buisnoy ay) g 18ABMOY :8)e)ST [BLISNPU] MOPEB3|A SPJOT 8y}
0] peoy Jajoxg woly Aeme umelp Si Oijel} Jayjo pue ASH Jo uoiodold e Se pue-susede Juswdojanap
peoy MUl uclpal) ayy o buiuado oy} buimojjo] tegat anocldwl pinoys Ayjenb aiy, JO uonnguysip
‘pale|dwiod usaq sey peoy Mul pue
uoypal) 1eyl 109j4al 0} ajepdn :SMOJ|0} SB puswe ‘tyZ'z ydelbeleq e¢ unowy gs ‘8¢
"JOB} SIY} 109j481 0} 210818y}
papusuwie s| }xa} 8y} :palinbai
uey} 2oedsioo]} [BI0JoWWOD JSluawispes
10} uoisinold alow si alay} 1ey} S,1011SIp 8Y] SS0J0e palinbal si uey) 90edsI00]} [BIOISUIWOD SI0W %5761 FAOGE 10} awholdwa
a)eys Aldwis 0} Jales|o si}] "wody | uoisirnoid seyew ueld [e207 8y} ‘ymolb 1o} mojje pue uoisinoid Jo Ajjiqixa)y apinodd o] pue Buisnoy
sawo9 ainbiy pajonb Ajsnoinaid Jo uoisinoid
3y} aJaym Jeajoun si :SMOJ|0} SB puswe ‘G|z ydelbeleq 62 llejenQ Ukd

‘(wbs) sanow alenbs
ul aJe s|ejo} Jey) uonjeoylel

(99'28) G2/°89}

66C€rE98'8C1 28276515 9Y sjejol

Page 258



[4"

"SIy} J03|}84 0} papuswe
sI 1xa) Aoljod -8yis Aouabunuod
aIbuls e sapn|oul mou Hd

3y} ‘(¥001gs|0D e pueT Lznd
Aaljod jo snieys Aouabuijuod

Jo [enowsl) GENIA Uoledipow
urew pasodoud yum auij uj

Aiddns Buisnoy 1s00q 0} papiwlad aq |Im sa)s
Aousbuiuoo paniuap! Ue ‘Guisnoy Jo |aAs| Alessaosu ay) JaAl[ap 0} Jusiolnsul si siyy 4,

'SMOJ|0} Se puawe ‘4S Aoljod

8¢

INEYN|ETg|
BuisnoH
Buunsug S

43

"(BYININ UoeIPO|N

utey #9S) LINQ Aollod

ojul pajelodiooul elslo Aoljod
pspuswe yim psjsisp 8q 0}
pasodoud siI ZLINQ Adljod ‘@jou
aoinpe Bulieay 1sod s.Joyoadsu|
By} 0] asuodsal U] ‘Mmalrey

ue|d |e207 8y} 4O UOISIaA
uoissiwgng pasodold /102

8y} uI papnjoul sem abueyo siy |
‘JuUsWIslels |elalsiuiw ay) Josjial
Jou pip Ao1jod ayj Jey} JuswLIod
uoljelapa4 siap|ing awoH

0} asuodsau ul Ajleulbluo sem
ZLING A21j0d woyy (p uoujo)
Juswalinbal siy} Jo [eAOWSl BY |

:SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘6z g ydelbeled

9¢

SpasN
BuisnoH
Bunssy €S

‘e

"vOH Buioeldal
pue|bug sswoH 109|131
0} papuawe aduajuas |eul

"JoJJa Ul
apew sem aousjuss ul Bopjoeq
0} @oualajey ‘sjuswalinbal
[E10] 84NN} JO SWIS)

Ul peau mau Aue a1ea.o jou

op pue pasnoy usym dn psai}
a0 p|nom yo1ym syun Buisnoy
ul aAl| Apealje spjoyasnoy

Page 259



€1

Joulw ‘os|y ‘siseq Jejnbai e

uo pajepdn ale pue sjusWNo0pP
Buinl] ale sue|d ainjonuiseu|
Jeuy} 0.4 ayy bunosyel

‘Aoijod ayy jo 1xa) Buiuoddns

ayj jooud aininy 0} JH pue

00d '0ad usamiaq (01L-998)

. 3lIsqom §UmnoY
8y} Uo a|ge|ieAe ‘1D Joy ISl £Z| uonenbay, ay) pue ez} ueld ainyoniselju| JUsda]
JSOW 8y} Ul pUNO} 8g UED ainjonJiseljul Buipuny Jo sueaw sy} JNOJe UOBWIOUI IO,

puUNOJS) UOWWOY JO JUSWlelS ainjoniiselju]
ulyum paaibe Juswpuswy “SMOJ|0} SB puswe ‘(8ousjuas puodas) GGz ydeibeled I 8s /€
. suoneoidde
"Joulo |eoiydesBodAy Buluueld Juanbasgns ul pamojjo} 8q 0} sajdioulid ay) 3no-sjes [Im uejdisysew v,
B 0} anp S| Yolym s}as, saJjuan
wolj S, 9A0Wal 0} Juswpuawy ‘SMOJ|0} Se puswie ‘gz ydeibeled a4 umo] /S ‘9¢
‘suone|nbal 710 aoedg uadp
0} SjusWpUSWE §10Z Jo9)4al 01 ‘SMOJ|0} Se puswie ‘)z z ydeibeled Ly ollgnd SS ‘G¢
"a)s Aouabuiuoo
8|buIs B sapnjoul Mou Hd
ay} ‘(4oo4gs|oD e puet Lzno
Koljod Jo snieys Aouabunuod ~Aiddns Buisnoy wus) Joys 1s00q 0} JapJo Ul $8}Is Aousbunuoo e eyjpo-o+ot+o
JO |erowal) GENIN Uoieolpowl eto Jo Juswdoaasp ay} Jwiad |Im [1ouno) 8yl ‘ybnous Apoinb anssi ayj yum |esp jou
ulew pasodoud jos|jal 0] | [IIm Jo jJusloinsul s jeys 4, " Jeble; Buisnoy [enuue sy} Jo yuom sieak oAl JO 40 %601
0] usjeAinba Ajoeded e yum salls Buisnoy sjgelanliap oiioads Jo Aiddns e si alay) 1ey)
*Jolis |eolydelBbodA) e 1081100 0} ainsua saiuoyine Buiuueld [eoo] salinbal ylomswel Aoljod Buluue|d [euoneN ayl, AanljeQ
pue Jayng %G e Joj juswalinbal BuisnoH
(2102) 4ddN 8y} osyal o] 'SMOJ|04 se puswe ‘gg g ydelbeled 6¢ Buunsuz yS >
. "suona|dwoo ul suoleLIeA [ewliou 0} asuodsal
"SIY} 109]}2] O} papuswe S| }xa) Ul ases|al SJ1 #etg 1ob01I) JoU |[IM PJeMIOo) SWoD ||Im s8)is Aouabunuoo pejeubisap
Bunuoddng -ayis Aousbuijuod By} UayMm |aA3] uonoe ay) jeyl Juenuoduwil s i 0S sieak ay) ssoioe AIaAlap JO UCBLIBA
aIbuls e sapn|oul mou Hd aq [m aJay) ‘JIanamoH -sajis Aousbunuoo sjgelanlsp B Jo asesjal ay} ybnoliyy usyy
ay} ‘(Moolge|o) 1e pue LZNnD | pue ‘says pspiwiad pue payeoso|je piemioy Buliq o) Juswabeuew juswdoljaasp aAaioeold
Aaljod jo snieys Aouabuijuod ybnouy}y passalppe aq ||Im SIY} [9AS] uonoe ay} mojaq s|e} Alaalsp Buisnoy j|- -, Kaneg
JO |[erowal) GENIIN Uoieolypow BuisnoH
urew passodoud yum auij uj 'SMOJ|0} Se puswe ‘ze'z ydeibeled 8¢ Buunsug g ‘e¢

Page 260



14"

‘wbs 000°0¢
pue (pouad
ueyd sy uiynm)
sBbuljamp
901-.6 00120G.1 09l ZLk-2NnD | uoydwojn) jse3
aoedslooy
|eloJawwIoD
‘wbs
6066+2000°01
pue sbuijjamp uoydwiofny
96-88 06Tt0G¢EL €0l 9-LND 1SS\ UHON
"3004Qg8|0] Je pueT LZNd bhEet e
Kaljod jo snieys Aouabuijuod Ueld 18907 osn eale s Konod s
O |[BAOWaI - GENIA Uonedlipow uoldwojnd
ulew pasodoud j08j401 0| :smoj|o} se ajepdn ‘69°z ydelbeled Japun a|qe | ¥S LLS op
"3004Qg8|0] Je pueT LZNd
Aaljod jo snieys Aouabuijuod
O |[BAOWaI - GENIA Uonedlipow uoydwojin)
ulew pasodo.ud jos|jal 01 ‘SMOJ|0} Se puswie ‘g9’z ydeibeled ¥S L1LS "6E
"ejep Buuoyuow
Buisnoy g0z yoJep Jad se sBuljlemp 669666+ 0GZ '} JOAO |B}0} SJUSWHIWILIOD JUSLINd pue suoia|dwod jusday,
uouaAl] ul suonsjdwoo jsed pue
SJUSWIJILIWIOD JUBLIND JO8}8l 0] ‘SMOJ|0} Se puswie ‘09z ydeibeled LS UOLIBAIL 01S '8¢

‘|ysgam DAAIN
8y} UO a|ge|ieA. SI Uoiewlojul
Ajuue|o 0} Juswpuawe jeuolippe

Page 261



ST

“J04J8 [eoiydelsbodAy 1081100

JJuswalinbal [g}o} s joulsip
3y} 40 %01 sjussaidal (sbuljjamp-6z7£82987) Uolpal) Joj }abiey buisnoy [ejo} 8y,

:SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘¢ g ydelbeleq

9g

uoypaig ¢S

‘v

tAotiobuiitioo)
9LL-GLl sbuljemp 001 8V Lend 300.93]0D
2oedsio0|}
[eIoJowwoD
‘wbs
chi-LLL 60606000'CL 1A% 8LNJd ueq uusp
aoedslooy
|eloJawiwIoD
LLL-0LL ‘wbs 000'GL L0l ZiNd uled Yeap)
sBuljjemp AissinN
0LL-601 0c1001 €'g 91Nd sbulwwn)
peoy
601L-80L | sbulamp 1717 vl SiNo Jslexd je pueT
spuejjoo4
801-201 sbuljlemp g¢ 4 riNo 8 Mled alepp
sBuljjemp
201-901 §1€96¢ 8'6 €Lnod SueT SMouy
2oedsI00|}
[BIoJowwod

Page 262



9T

o e e o[ 7oz Ty
Yolym Jano poliad sailielo os|y tHoRedolly | i ok 8i0e
(8102 UOJBIN) UOMBAI] 10 Ejep N SR L] L
BULIOHUOW PUE| [BI0ISWLLIOD [ejo] | Jwwosufn | uonajdwon | Je spu3WHWWOD asn
pue Buisnoy sjqejiene
Apuaoal Jsow Jos|y81 0| :SMOJ|o} se ajepdn ‘|| 9|qel 9 UOMBAILL B a7
trroz-yotent
pejteseid-seinby
—ofgeterejoijou
610N
aoedslooy; salaw
alenbs (ainsig| pue
9] vE€6-00+ 662 [lelad ‘uswAhojdwa)
2942429978 9/8°/2-| €¥€9€8Z} 78265159 |eldJswiwod
8¢t 2R 698+
“98+9°6988Fv | ¥Z6¥CIGC | THOTB8I97¢C 6zer260€ZF | (sbuljjamp) BuisnoH
1470
€€02C 0} 291028102 710294028102
suoneao||y u youep yoauep
{(810Z UIBW) BIED p | awsalinbai lciesiu| g —¢Loz udy
BULIOHUOW PUE| [BI0ISWLIOD apiwwoosun J9N | awjlwwo) | suonajdwon asn
pue Buisnoy s|qejieAe suoneoo|e
Ajpuaoal jsow jos)al 0] :SMoJ|o} se ajepdn ‘gl ojgeL €9 2)IS o
Jueld ays jo sieak g sl 8y} UIyum piemloy Buiiod jo sjgeded ‘ejqeasiyoe
‘'seale |eini pue a|gelins ‘s|ge|IleAB palapISuod aie pue paledo|e uaaqg aaey sbuljemp geecsy,
10} [B10} UOIIBO0||E 1091100 SMOYS seale
MON "Joule snoinalid 1081100 0| :SMOJ|0} SB puswe ‘gz ydelbeleq a6 leiny €1S A

Page 263



LT

(8102 Yose)

ejep Buuoyuow puej buisnoy
a|ge|iene Ajusoal JSow S}o9|}ey
"'SuUOI}ed0||e pajuasuooun Jo

|10} Jua.LINd Moys Ajgjeindoe o] :SMOJ|o} se ajepdn ‘z| s|qel ) UOMBAI | ‘op
‘uonenys
Jua1INd Jo9|}1 0} papusuie
(G-1LAIL) uoneosojie 3N UOLSAIL ) HOHOE ; O} HORAHOSO
O SNJE]S JUdIIND O} B0UBISISY Fe-uoissiwliad Buluue|d yim mou-ueteuteiep-Butpusad sbuljjamp 000 LA/8jewWwxoidde
‘uoe}NSUoo uoissiwgng 16-SS00xX6-tH-0F-SHofestdde pue ‘uejdis)sew pajdope ue Aq paIsnod
vww_mam%wm“mmowcm_mw_M”M__._wom 9)IS 9U} JO Jjey ypm ‘siajowold 8)is 8y} pue [1ouno) ay) usamiaq Buiiom julol jo
o.u co_umoc_voE m& spo|8! pJooal yoel} poob e si a1ay) 9snedaq Sy} Ylim paleIoossSe ysu pajiwl| SI a1y} ‘pJemioy
DESI\ S, pIEUUA O} 80UBISsel Buiwoo ayis sy} uo Juspuadep aiojalay) SI Umo) 3y} Jo ymolb Buisnoy ayy ybnouy)y
10 [enoway ‘jenoidde Buiuueld S Aoljod urIno jes se ‘Juaioynsul sanoid Ajddns Buisnoy s j1ounod ayj Ji pJemio}
yum Apeauje asouyy Buipnjou | SWod 0} papiwiad 39 [|IM JeU) pesp-SprettApe [eH 9qwoopl ] je salis Aousbunuoo
‘sayis Buisnoy pajeoo|e em3au0 Bulpnoxa ‘UOBAI] Ul Buisnoy o) pa)eodo||e ale Sals xiSHeAeSIUIN,
JO Jaquinu ay} 108} Aj9jeInooe
0} S9)IS @ 0} SJojal MON :SMOJ|0} Sk puawe ‘p'¢ ydeibered ) UOMBAI | ‘Gp

JUBWIND0P 8Y} Ul 818ymas|o
pasn sa|ge)} Jejiwis Yim

pojteseid-senby—oigepeae
e-oeny; 90edSIO0|)
saJjow alenbs (ainsig

i1 g 66 pue |iejas ‘quswfojdwa)
GIv9G | 0°8€1868 | 088+8IC Y €089 €Y [e1oJ8WWOD
88
£€667C | tore+0¥8 | €6+9287F 7756v2G/2 ') (sBuijjemp) BuisnoH
8102
yoIey LE -

Page 264



81

9|ge) 8y} ul papn|oul Jou S| 0S
padojanap usaq sey uoneoo|e
(8AIL) Yed saheyioo ay L
(8102 yoJeN) eyep Buloyuow
pue| Buisnoy s|gejiene

uoissiwuiad
Buiuueld uoissiuiad
yum sbuijamg eale ajig Aonjod | Buiuueld yum aysg

Ajpuadal ysow j08)4a. 0} palepdn 'SMOJ|0} Se alepdn ‘a|)l} 8|ge) pue ¢ a|ge g9 UOLSAIL] 8y

. 8198} SIy} ur umoys jou

ST 0S pa}a]diiod Usaq Ajjusdal Sey (SA[L) Jied SoAeyIooyy je juatidojeAs Uoissiwiad

buruue|d BuijSIxa Gjim SojiS pajedo]je SMOYS Mojaq o/qe] oy ‘sasde| uoissiwliad

Buiuue|d Jo papiwgns aJe sawayds PasiAal Jey) Juaas ay} ul Aidde [is eusiio

Ao1j0d jBY} BINSUS 0} SUONEDO||E UB|d [BD0] SE paule}al aJe sajls 8say| ‘pajuswajdul

‘(mojaq 9s8s) a|ge) Ajpusoal Ajuo Jo uonoNIISuoD Japun 184 jJou Jayyie ale ng ‘[eaoidde Buiuueld

sIy} 0} sajepdn syos|jal os|y | @Aey Apealje pue ue|d |e20T] snolaald a8y} ul pajeoo|e alem sa)is Buisnoy Jo Jaquinu v,

‘€] 8|geL 0} X8} Ul souslayel

Bujew Aq Ayejo sepinoid :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘G ¢ ydeibeied G9 UOMBAI| A%

EV91Ore+0r8 [ejoL

00¢ 9 vl 9LAIL [o0yds sjlepun|g

09 I vl CLAIL sue” xjusoyd

ec Lo 60 A Segtoisietited

0¢ ¥0 ¥0 OLAIL [llypunoy

ol 8¢0 L¥0 B6AIL HNOJH uspmoH

8 A} A SALL Sed-sehetoot

uolsuaixg

67510§2+0SS 98'%9 €Gl | SAIL-LAIL ueqin uisiseq
uoissiwiad (ey)
1NoylM pajedojje | (ey) eale | ease ajis

sBuljjamp 'oN 9)Is JaN SS0I95) Kaljod a)s

Page 265



. ’2IN1oNJIS.IUl puny 0} pasn aq Ojffi# WSIUBYDSW Sy} INO S}es ‘sjuswaalbe

90| uonoas Jo asn ayj uo Aoljod BuiAuedwoooe pue isi| £Z| uonenbay s jlouno) ayy, ainyonJiselu
UOMBAIL
"Joule |eolydeibodAy 1081109 'SMOJ|0} se puswe ‘6G's ydeibeled €g GIALL
Jo|qissod se Jej se 8piSAIJUN0d ueisiAeid Buipunolins pue BaJe UOMUaAL |
‘uejdisisew N3 Jopim 8y} ojul suoisinoid Lodsuel) sjgeuleisns asay) ajelbajul 0} aq [|Im Wie ay] ,
pajdope 108} A|9}RINOOE BI0W
pue Jouls |eaiydelbodAy 1081100 'SMOJ|0} SE puswie ‘(sousjuss |euly) g1 ' ydelbeled 69 UOMSAI]
000°8€000°2€ [ejoL
0068000/ 3 vl CINIL aueT xiusoyd
uoisuaxg
000'0€ 9 €6l G-LAIL ueqin uisiseq
"UOJBAI] Ul @oedsloo|) psjeoo|e (urbs) (ey) eose (ey) eote
104 [E10] 1081100UI UE POMOYS aoedsioo]l4 9)ISJ9N | o)S ssolug Kaijod a)s
yoiym Jousa |eoiydesbodAy
snolnaid e puswe o :SMOJ|0} se ajepdn ‘7| ajge g9 UOLSAL]

(7+670+028102 UdJe L¢ 1e uonisod) uoissiwiad Buiuueld yym suonesojie BuisnoH g ajqel

BGEE697GE | 8 lejol

oz 60 LLAIL ed uojsiawled

4 ro st sHeo-SeAetHoot

B85866€ G0 LNIL lleH umo

00€69269C z8 OAIL | smopes|y ybiaped

‘anoge G'¢ ydesbeled - uolsusxg

Ul peousIajel MoU S1 Ing 0€€0€0} o] G- LAIL uequn uldjses

Page 266




0¢

‘uonesoje L.gNo

ay} sepnjoul uojdwo|ny ui
S9)IS PaJed0||e JO |BJ0} PasInSY
00Igs|0) je pueT LZgNd
Koljod Jo snieys Aouabunuod

JO [BAOWIBI - GSIAIIN UonEDIpOW

"JuswNoop sy} seiuedwoooe ey; dew uoydwojng e o} Buipuodsallod ‘sidiould ul
w_gm>m_r_om vm_mu_wcoo ale sals mc.m:Oc __<

%¢¢m§¢$¢.¢¢m.m$wm¢*¢lcoaeo__:o ] mc_m:oc 10} uwﬁmoo__m ale w&.w*@ :m\,mm:

ulew pasodoud 08401 0 :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘ty9°¢ ydelbeled 98 uoydwofn) ‘GG
aoedslooy
79268 00 saJjaw asenbs (ainsig)
19208 | 0°996007¢ pue |iejal ‘Juswholdws)
£€8/'69 c0.'0¢ 866€€/26 | 6996+808°6C [erdlswwiod
618¢€
vi8€ £€5e
GE0r | 8tt€8ECE 1828455S 86160225C (sBuljjamp) BuisnoH
(pousad
ueld | 10294028402
ay) ulyum) yodep 14
(8102 suoneodo|ly Le—¢€Loc | +6c9+028L02
youey) uoydwopng 1o} eyep pe Iy | woly | yoIep Lg 3e s
BULIOHUOW PUE| [BI0ISWWOD [ejo]l | Piwwoosun suonadwo) | juswHWWOo) asn
pue Buisnoy s|ge|ieae
Apusoal Jsow Josyal 0 :SMOJ|0} Sk ajepdn ‘G| a|qe ] 98 uoydwo|n) b6
Alojoey Annod Jswioy pue pieAdelos ay) Buipnjoul Sesn-pug| Juslind pue Jawlioy Yum
(eoeld | pojeIoOSSE SYSII 9)ebniWw 0} SSINSEaW UoljelIpawal PUB JUSWSSISSE UojeuILBIuoD 8)IS, |[ooyos
Buoum ul sainseaw, pJjom) s|lepun|g
Jousa |eoiydesbodAy 1081100 “SMO||0} SB puswe ‘(} eLIs}luo) 9L AL Aoljod 8 9LALL €6
Jlueld sysepp wody ABleu]
ue Jo AJSAI|Sp Y} JOJ UOMSAIL Ul 8)IS B saedo|e
sButest-petyor—(¥ 1 0g 10qUIB09g pajdope) ue|d me>> s __ocsoo bc:oo uone(, ainjonJiselu|
‘ue|d sisep\ 90d UOLBAI]
Jo uondope jo8|j24 0} @1epdn 'SMOJ|0} se puswie ‘09’ ydeibeled €g GIALL ‘Z5

Page 267



T¢

"(81.0Z youe|N) eyep Buuopuow
pue| Buisnoy ajqejieae Ajjusdal
}Sow 8y} Yum aul| ul sayis
paieoo|je 0 shiels Juswdojansp

Jus.1In2 ay} 0} sabueyo Jospyal 0 :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘Go ¢ ydelbeled /8 uoydwo|no /G
8¢ece
8t EEese
[ejol
1% ++ vt| &tAd peeg+eiexs
00} 6¢C 8% | 12¢nd| X00iqs[0) je pueT
Spuejoo
8¢ el 4 7LNO 8 dJed alepn
o0¢ 6¢ 86| €A BteT oMoty
0S.')
002 +001¢C 96 09l | 21-LND uojydwo|ng jse3
‘uoydwio|nn
1se3 10} [E}0} Shoiaald uoydwoing
Ul JOJIS S)291102 0S|V "SENIN 0Ge' L 60Tt G969 00Les | 9LND JSSA\ YHON
uoneslipow urew pasodoud
Aq .w_o&,%m_oo e _oc_om._ 12n0 sbunramp (eu) (ey) eaty
fo110d 30 snyels AousBunuod pajedoj|y | eale ajis }aN 9)is ssoug) | Aaijod 9IS
1O [eAOwl pue eep Buuojuow
8102 YoIe 309]24 0} pajepdn ‘SMoJ|o} se ajepdn ‘9| d|qe | 98 uojdwolnd ‘98

«MOJSq

umoys ale asay) pue uoissiwiad Buiuueld Jnoyum Ajjensed 1o Ajjoym ale ssis Jno

Page 268



[44

. Buinll Jo sAem sjgeuleisns
sabeinoous yoiym ubisap pue sueld [aAel} ‘Buipjesyo uogied se yons ‘sjedosdde
aJaym juswudojaaap ay} ojul pajelodiooul pue palapisuod esfe ale uoionpal

uoQgJed JO spoyjew+ayie Jey; sainsus N9 Adljod- Allenp Jaiy
POOPOItH-8G-0 o8- HOHORAHSHO-0FS8bUHLHI-o pue uononpay
uogle)
uoydwojin)
‘sjob.e} pue uonisod Aoijod 1S\
|euoneu pajepdn Jos|jal 0 :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘6g°¢ ydelbeleq v6 UHUON SNID ‘L9
ainjonJiseu|
usalo
pue uoloa}oid
"'sueauw siy} ybnouyy JJuswdojanap sy} ul pasiubooal aq os|e pjnoys |elUSWUOIIAUT
paJaAljap g Ued jey} uoionpal vonshpertegrespHe uoluanald pooj} ul bunueld-eal; pue Buideospue) jo ajol 3y, uoydwofno
uoQJed Jo JuaXa ay} Jano Ajueo 1S9/
Ja1ealb apinoid 0} Jsplo uj :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘| g ¢ ydelbeled Z6 UMON €ND 09
ainjonJiseu|
usalo
pue uooa}oid
. pepud)xa usaq sey pue s|esodoud ay} ul pasiubooal usaq Sey |EjusWUOIIAUT
‘AI8)oWad uMo} eg-eppoetHiia ‘YIS sIy} sulolpe yoiym ‘Alsjawiad UMo} ay} pualxa o} Juawalinbal sy, uoydwiofn)
papua)xa Apealje ay; Buipiebal 1S\
uonisod jsaje| ay) Josial 0 'SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘08¢ ydelbeleq 26 UMON €ND ‘65
(8102
youey) elep Bulioyuow pue) uoissiwiad buiuue|d aAey Mou eale [iusbury sy ul
[eloJawwWo9 a|qejieAe Ajjuadal WwJeq UUs/\ pue wie Yoo\ Je este-pue SoJIS Pojedo|fyy "suoisualxa uegin uoydwojng
1SOW 8y} YIm aui| ul sa)Is }SEa pue }Sam-yliou ay} UIyym pajedo||e si juswdojansp |BI0JSWWOD J0) pue,
pajeoo||e jo snjels Juswdojanap
ua.1In2 ay} 0} sabueyo josya1 0| :SMOJ|0} SE pusawe ‘99°¢ ydelbeleq /8 uoydwo|no ‘86

« (9LNQ) AssinN sbuiwwnd pue (GLNJ)
peoy JojexT Je pueT (< L11D) OUET o]MOUY -9JE SajiS 8Say] pajuswwajdw Ajjeried
10 AjJjoym mou aie pue [eAoidde buiuue|d pajuelb Uoaq oABY Sojis buisnoy buiuiewal

Page 269



€¢

"(810Z yose\) uoypal) Joy eyep
Bulojuow pue| [BIoJaWWOo9
pue Buisnoy sjqejiene

v
06666
616 | ££5€868%G 8670+9€L | 9176¥ZG6e (sBuiemp) BuisnoH
14
s v1029+0Z8L0Z | 10294028102
uoneso||y yosep g - yorepw
pe | €102 IHMdy | wouy lgies
[ejol | Blwwosun suonsjdwo) | Jusuiwwio) asn

Apusoal ysow Josyal 0 :SMOJ|o} se ajepdn ‘gL a|gel | L1 uoypaln 'G9
"sjuswanoldwl gz uonounp
pajuswa|dwi ay} 0} siajal
90U3jUSS SIU) Jey) sauLeD
‘pue|bug sAemybiH pue [1ouno) . PaouUBWIWOD 184 Jou SBY peOJ 8y} U0 YIOM INg ‘peoy jaljey a1us)
Alunoo uona(q ‘IouUNoD ouISIg | UMo 8y} Joy Buipuny pue sjuswaaoldwl 8z uonounr pPaIdABp ayj 0} Buiingliuod ‘peoy
UoAS( PIN usamlaq pasibe UOMBAI] pue aueT aimouy| Je aded uaye) mou sey juswdojaaap Buisnoy [euoiippy, peoy
(01998) punoi9 uowwon jaley anus)
JO Juswislels yym aulij uj 'SMOJ|04 SB puswe ‘gr| ¢ ydesbeled 14 umol 61LND 79
. Buinl Jo sAem sjqeure)sns
sabeinoous yoiym ubisap pue sueld [aAel} ‘Buipjesyo uogied se yons ‘syeldosdde
alaym juswdojanap ayj ojul pajesodiodul pue palapisSu0d-este ale uononpal
uoQJed JO SpoylaW #8436 Jey} sainsus | LN Adljod *
POORPOHHH-OG-0F O+ HOHORHSHOI-OF SOBUEHI6 Allenp Jaiy
pue uononpay
uoglen
‘sjob.e} pue uonisod Aoijod uoydwojino
|euoneu pajepdn Jos|ial 0| :SMOJ|0} Se puswe ‘€| ¢ ydelbeled ol 1e3 L LND €9
ainjonJiselu|
usalo
"sueaw siy} ybnouyy . etetas-eyo-tdico togHes pue uoloa}oid
paJaAllap g Ued jey} uoionpal 1A |ejuswuoIIAUg
uoQgJed JO JudXa 8y} Jano Ajueo uoydwo|no
Jajealb apinoud o} Jeplo uj :SMOJ|0} Se puswe ‘g0| "¢ ydelbeled LOL 1se3 6N 29

Page 270



144

‘lenosdde Buiuueld
SBeY MOU MOpPES|A S|[oMmWoID

(8102 yose) eyep Buuoyuow
pue| Buisnoy ajqejiene

ocl €e GG 9340 sp|al4 spods

00¢ L'yl G'ee G340 |oodsis|pad

8 10 10 340 dnoig spoopn BY L

g¢e vt v €359 MOPEOH-SHOMUHOIS

Gel 98'L L'e 2340 §S04J |IIH PeY

&8t vy 82| 1399 Sytiedenn
suoljeaoje (ey) (ey) ealy

uejd [e207] | eaie ays }JaN 9IS ssou9 Konjod ays

Apusoal ysow jo838. 0} parepdn :SMOJ|0} Sk ajepdn ‘Gl d|qeL s uoypaln ‘]9
«MO[2q
61 9|ge ul umoys ale uoissiwiad Buiuueld 1noyym sa11S JUBWNJ0pP Sy} saluedwoooe
“(81.0Z YoJe) eyep Buloyuow 1ey) dew uoupal) e 0} Buipuodsallod ‘ajdiound ul ajgeAsIyoe palapisuod ale sajis
pue| Buisnoy s|gejieae Ajjuadal Buisnoy ||y "uoissiwlad Buluueld eAeHSEHOABY UDIUM-SSO+5iH-Pos-pre MOPBajy
1SOW 8y} YIm auj| Ul Sa}Is Sjemwio) pue syled|jopn Buipnioul ‘uoypal) ul pajesoje ale sayis buisnoy auIN,
pajeoo|e o snjels Juswdojanap
ua.1In2 ay} 0} sabueyo josyal1 0| :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘G| ¢ ydelbeleq JLL uoypaln ‘99

€€V | 02866CY S

866°€SY0°¢C

rroz-yoteniste

se#by—ofgetere ok

jsejerotiestigndyo

etf-e-ojony 90B0SI00|)

saJ}ow asenbs

(aunsig| pue

[lelal ‘uswAhojdwa)

+68€98 9 [eldJswIwo)

Page 271



14

(8102

yolep\) seale |ein Ioj ejep
Buuocjuow puej [BIoJBWWOD
pue Buisnoy sjqejieae

trrozyotenHste
senby—eofqereretok
jsereronesiignd o
stf-e-ojon)y 90B0SI00|)
saJjaw asenbs (ainsig)
£Cr 6/ pue |iejal ‘JuswAhojdwa)
zegee 00088 L/60S6+EY | 9/b8veer 0T |eroJswiwo)
129°L6
8Ztvv8 | 09220v0¢E 1162v€28 96/8e8zey (sBuijemp) BuisnoH
v1029+028L02
youdep
suopneso||y L€ 01 €102 | V10294028102
ps judy | wouy Y2Ie|\ LE e
[elol | Blwwosun suonajdwo) | spuswIWWo) asn

Apuagal jsow o848l 01 :sMmoJ|o} se ajepdn ‘Lz d|gel | 0¢l sealy [einy ‘69
‘uonjealsnl [eloads jnoyyum ajgejdaooeun palapisuod ag pjnom sbuipjing
9S9Uj} JO SSO| 8y "Bale UOI}BAISSUOD U} JO Jajorieyd ay} 9oueyua pjnom sbuipjing
9S9Uj] JO UOISISAUOD puB uoljuslal ay] "Jajoeleyd |eoo] [euonipel; buodis jo sbuipjing
palsI|un JO Jaguinu B sulejuoo als ayl is|iym -sBupprg—sbuip|ing pajs) suiolpe pue
Baly UOIIBAISSUOD 8y} ulyum Jed ul sal| aus ay) se juenodwi si a)is ayj jo ubisap ay | peoy
18)9x3 ‘dnolo
"Joule |eoiydelbodAy 1081100 0 :SMOJ|0} Se puawle ‘G| ¢ ydeibeled | 0zl | SPOOAA YD ‘89

897€868YG [eo
aso|D

Gl 050 €90 6340 BIPUEXS|Y JO puen

0 el vo'L 8340 Ned uleg je puel

0S z6'L ze /340 aueT |[emauo}s

Page 272



9¢

"(81.0Z youeN) eyep Bunoyuow
pue| Buisnoy ajqejieae Ajjusdal
}sow ayj yum suij ui sejis
pajeoso||e J0 sniels juswdojaasp

eutedzii+
zz 880 ++ tooyosfpepted | =5 HOOYS
auledzyi4
L €0 €0 8so|D |iysuieg | 140 uojay)
€02 Z5t1 61| @eueTyoiny) yopueq | gD doysig uoyisy)
0z L Gzl uopeg | LHO ybremeyd
L €0 €0 peoy 8jeH | Lyg youlupelg
stepies
9 €0 £T0 skenposyoisom | TOg meg
0z 96°0 'l llemAlloH | L0g mog
G GZ0 GZ0 alenbg uomsN | Lvg uoydweg
su
oljeoso|je
ue|d (ey)
Jed0o] ealy
payl | (ey) ease s K
wwosun | 9)S}ON | Sssolo 9)IS | 91j0d | uonedoj/ysiied

Jua.Ind ay} 0} sebueyd josal 0] :smoJ|o} se ajepdn ‘gz d|9el | 0¢l sealy |einy 1
JJuswnoop
‘(lenoudde Buiuueld ypm sIy} Auedwodoe jey) sdew juswapas |edns o} Buipuodsallod ‘ejdiouLid ul ajgensiyoe
Apealje asouyy Buipnjoul) says palapisuod ale pue seale |elnt Ul pajedo||e ale sajis buisnoy aAjere-Auam] ,
Buisnoy pajeogjje jo Jequinu
|10} 8y} 108384 A|9jelndoe 0 :SMOJ|0} Se puswe ‘9g| ¢ ydesbeled | 0l sealy [einy 0.

Page 273



LT

ﬂ%%m lejol
ozy vl 6¢C GIN Joises puel | LIM puelliAn
09 2 67€ SHHASHAHOISOM | ot SHAOHTT
4! 950 L0 spuejpeoig Jo Yyinos | LH1 uopaAloy |
g L0 L0 sbereg eyl | zIS UOHIBA|IS

8 Ge0 Ge'0| peoyuybioepNg pPIO | LIS UOHIBA|IS
872 zl gl suelsAhuueq | |vS plojpues
||I2I9A=ad

09 9¢ 9 umo] JaybiH | zdS piojdwes
|1910H Aemied 1EIELEE

ol 9€0 S¥°0 UOMBAIL Jowiod | L dS pJojdwes
ez ot e PHEHOIOHAOD | TN | SeiASIStomON
doysig

0z 960 z Aemeusaio | LOW pJeyoiop
ot 4av §5°0 jedeg | +3H sooktoH
ol 8%°0 90| Aemsioysiglpepuel |vH uopagleH
ot ro ro MHSAOAH | 27D HOOISLHHAS
9 €20 €20 aso[Q Aeyui| 110 }o0jswInD
oe t &t HOJREGYPIO | 1O etojserddes

Page 274



8¢

'Zva Joy
eale 3lIs Ul JOJJS S}O8.1l00 OS|yY
(8102 yo.e) eyep Buuojuow

pue| Buisnoy ajqejieae Ajjuadal
}Sow 8y} ypm sull Ul seyis
pajeooje o snjels Juswdojaasp

GZ ZZ| 13N S8IAD IS UOIMBN PIeydiQ HNnoD

gl ¥0| 210 3ooyswing iiH S 81unH

or Gt| 100 duojsa|ddo) Ioneqy plo 9yl

¥4 L 24D auredzji{ uojusy? Jooyos jusdelpe pueT

6+ eEE|  tvS projpaeS—oteFsAttes

9 €z0| zog MOG-StiepteS-SASHPOS OISOt

oz 10| vva uojdweg ‘@s0|D |00YdS

z eo| ¢eve Hojetteg-stedtbtomsy

Sro uoydweg

gl e Zveg ‘(Auenp s 302g) syiom Buiysnio sauols

uoissiuuiad

Buiuuejd eale

yum sBugjiamqg aus | Aayjod s

Jua.In9 ay} 0} sabueyd 108181 0] :SmoJ|o} se ayepdn ‘gz a|qel LElL sealy |einy e/
"BA0QE ZZ 9]qe] Ul UMOUYS ST UOIJed0][e ayj JO Jopuietial 8] .pojajdwod Ajjeried ussq
sey (LvS) piojpues ‘sue s.Auue je 8jis 8yj "‘uolippe uj "Mojaq ajqej ayj ul papnjoul
JOU aJe SajIS 8Say] 0S pajajduwiod usasq Ajjusdal Sey (zOg Suspies) SAaIjpos) Jo
IS8/ pue gy/g died ybis|ysy) Sejis omj bulurewsas. ayj Jo juswdojeasqd ‘840¢gtoc 0
yoJe isL¢ 1e se uonisod sy} uo paseq a.e sa)is asay} o) sainbly sy Mojeq
(8102 yoJen) eyep Bunoyuow 8]qe] 8y] Ul Jno }8S aJe pue SuojSsiuIad buiuue|d BuljSIXa oABY SoJiS 8Say] JO UdASS
pue| Buisnoy sjgejieae Ajjuaodal ‘MOIOGIROFoS-68-0Soypre—Pajudlia|dw] Udaq Ajjusdal aaey Jo |earoldde Buiuueld
}SOW By} YIIM aulj U1 Sas | aAeY Apealje SA0GE o]qe] 4] Ul pajsii jou sa)is Buisnoy pajeoo|e aUIU ol eAt=eattt—,
pajedo||e 0 shiels juswdojensp
Jua1In92 8y} 0} sabueyo 109181 0] :SMOJ|0} sk puawe ‘/g| ¢ ydeibeled LelL sealy |einy 2l

Page 275



6C

ERTETER

3U} Ul JO, pJOM 83U} JO uoIsn|oul
ay} yum Jous [eoiydesbodAy

B paljuapl yaiym uonejuasaidal
(%) [10UN0Y ystied puellipn

0} asuodsal ul 0S|y "Ylomawel
£olj0d Buiuue|d jeuoieN ayj ojul

.'Sueld pooyinoqybioN
10 [BO07 Ul pepnuepte+e Juswdoanap ABisua puim 1o} 8|qeNNS Se o palijuapI

pajelodiooul mou si juswalinbal BaJe Ue Ul ST 8jIS Juslidojonsp ayj ji pajuelb aq Ajuo 0] pireys Juswdojansp yons KBiaug
sIy} ey} asiubooal 0} Jo} suoneoijdde Buiuueld sauinbal yoiym Aor0d jeuoneu HOISHH / uogJen
pue (GL0Z aunr gL) Juswalels 6§+0Z-0UAF-81-04} 10 IX8JU0D BY} Ul palapIsuod a4 [im sjesodold auiqiny puim Auy, MO pue
[elIS]SIUIAl USHUAA 8L} s|gemausy
Jo Buipiom ay} j08p381 Japaq o :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘9 ydeibeied GGl ZINa )]
. paniwgns aq awayos pasinal Aue pjnoys ‘uiod Buijels e se paljdde aq 0} eld)LIo
oy} sapinoid Aoijod sy ‘Apusnbasuod pue sjiun sjgeplioye 7g+ sspnjoul uoissiwliad
3y "suonipuod 0} 10algns 1.0z |udy ul 1ouno) ayy Aq uoissiwiad auino psjuelb
"(3xa] Aoljod 03 abueyd | sem sassa00e uellisapad pue JejndiyaA pajeloosse pue sbuljjamp 9z 1oy uolieoldde uy, uoydweg
9A0(QE 93S) SsHun a|geploye ‘as0|D
/ Joy s1 uoissiwiad Buluueld :SMOJ|0} SB puswe ‘qyel ¢ ydelbeled yEl |o0Y9S ¥vg 9/
‘Juswaalbe 9oL S yelp e uo
paseq pasn sem ainbiy Joa1100Ul
ue Jjensmoy ‘1 NOIN/0LS00/0)
uoissiwlad auino
uo paseq sem eLs}o pue Aoljod ‘Buisnoy sjqepioye %80s Yim sbuljjemp 9z, uoldweg
siyl -uswsalinbai Buisnoy ‘as0|D
3|gepJoe Ul JOLI8 081100 O] :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘(e elsjud) g Adljod yEl |o0Y9S ¥vg G/
(8102
youepy) eyep buuojuow pue)
[eloJawwo9 a|qejieAe Ajjuadal B : 1S : —Uuoljedljdde Sid)jewl poAIoSal
}SOW 8y} Yum aul| ul ZIM SUS | B 0] JoaIqns ST pue uoissiiiad buiuue|d auljjno Sey mou (g oSeyd) pue| Buluiewsal sy,
pajeoo||e 0 snjels juswdoaasp
Jua.Ino ay} 0} sabueyo jos)al 01 :SMOJ|0} SE puswe ‘gl ¢ ydeibeled Ll sealy [einy Y/

[eloL

»
<
™
~
'y
=)

0kz9zv
09

Bwnog eWnog Jo ISeM

Page 276



(013

JJoluoo
Buiuueld jo sayoealq pajoadsns 0} puodsal [|IM [IDUNOD 8y} MOY [IB}ap Ul S8]ejs Buieis
pue uoljoe Jo} sejeasawli} Buipnjoul ‘Juswaaloiud 0} yoeoidde s jlounoD ayj JNO S1oS fHm

JUSWINoop SIY] ‘ue|d Juswadiojug [Bo0T B paysiignd Sy fi# 1ouno) eyl uoasq PIA
01 sjelidosdde sijeyy Aem e ul pue Ajaaoeold pabeuew s JUSWSI0JUS Jel) aINsus 0]

‘ue|d Juswaoloyug [eoo] JuswisoJojug
3y} jo uopedlignd ayj Josal 01 'SMOJ|04 se puswe ‘90| ¥ ydesbesed | 61 6N | Z8
Jluawises pauliep e Buiulolpe Jo uiyim ale Asy)
alaym deyy saioljod 8y} uo payiuapl ale gZ6zINAa Adllod ul palsi| sayis pajosjoid ay], salls
6ZINQ Jou gZING ) psjosjold
sajejal JXa]  "U0I3921100 [enjoe :SMOJ|0} Se puswe ‘¢l 'y ydeibeleqd | €61 18410 82ZINa ‘18
,oouepodwil
|eo16ojoab 1o ayijp|im Jueoiiubis Jo salis 0} uoioalold spioye gzeZINg Adljod, $9)IS
6ZINQ 10U gZING 0} psjosjold
so]e|al 1X8] "U0I30a1100 [Bnjoe SMOJ|0} Se puswe ‘g0l 'y ydeibeled | €61 18410 82ZINa ‘08
"Aoljod
ay} 1noybnouy; Aouslsisuod
Bulinsus Jo Je)ew e a10}aiay}
S| 0s @seo Aue Ul 9 uoLI8}Io
ul pajos|jal si siy| ‘eale
ay) ul sbuljjemp Bunsixs Jayjo se uswdojansp
[lom se uoisus)xa ue o} Joalgns Alejioue pue
Buipjing 8y} Jo uonelapISuod Sbuyemp bunsixs jo ubisap pue Buipes ‘sjeos ‘Jsjoeieyo ayj 1oadsay (e, SUOISUB)Xd
ay) 0} saldde uousyo [enuspisay
Aoijod 8y} Jey) Jesjo axew o 'SMOJ|0} Se puawie ‘(e uouajuo) | LINQ Adllod | 691 LLNa | 6L
. siseq aseo-Ag-aseo e uo paynsnl
"S3|2IYdA 21103[8 8Q }SNW Y2dIym JO uoijelieA ay} ‘spiepueys Buimoljoy sy 0} buipiodoe ainjonijsejur
10} ainjonJyselyul pue uoisinoid SO|0IYBA DLIJ08|8 164-64A1oAASEHH PUR UoIsInoid Buiyled yasas [im J1ouno) ay,
Buiyed yjoq o) A|dde spiepuels
a)eledas jey) Jes|o ayew o] :SMOJ|0} Se puawe ‘GING Aollod | BGL Buyed sing '8/

Page 277



153

*10J418 Ul pappe

SEM QL AIL JO pesisul 6/AIL/TY
‘Aeo Jajealb Joj Juswpuawy

)

9LALL YiM B/ALL/TY 3p02 Aoljod aoejday

dey\ sa101j10d
UOMBAIL

€8

Page 278



A\N

=

NaY

sediey

=

L| mog

‘sal01j0d 1¢/ 0 mlm ) L

- /1A XY AN W LI LT ] I LS r.lu..wﬁ\
usamjaq Aousjsisuoo pue dep

Ajue|o Jsyeslh 1oy Juswpuswly ZOg 8pn[oul 0} papusixa aq 0} paywl| Juswalies saloljod mog

Page 279




Amendment for greater clarity
and consistency between

policies. UF1 policy code was

not noted on the policies map in

error.

Policy code UF1 to be placed on the map and settlement limit extended to include UF1

proposal.

Ve

Uffculme

Policies Map

85.

Page 280

33



ve

(2102
Aenuga4) ueld s[elaul uonasq
ay) ul paydope salepunoq

Baly UoIlB}NSuU0) [Blaull [elauan)
M3U 8y} Buimoj|o} Juswpuawy "S9LIEpUNO( Baly UOIB}NSUOY [BJauUIl Mau yym dew saioljod ajepdn dey\ saio1j0d ‘)8
‘SFININ uoneodlipow
urew pasodoud aag “(pepuadde
de|n) Buipjing pajsi| au}
Jo Buiyes sy} uo yoedwi sy} Juw|
Jayyny} 0} papus)xe usaq sey
alnjonJjselyu] usals) ay} Jo eale depy saio1j0d
ay] "Jous ul dew saioljod ay} uo ‘pasodoud IEJELCE
pajou jou sem apoo Aoljod ZdS | eale ainjonJiselju] usalc) o} Juswpuaswe pue dew ay} uo padejd ag 0} ZdS @po2 Adljod piojdwes ‘08

Page 281




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5

Midé
Devon

DISTRICT COUNCIL
ADOPTION STATEMENT: Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 - 2033

In accordance with Regulations 26 and 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Local
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, notice is hereby given that Mid Devon District
Council adopted the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 -2033 (the Plan) on [insert
date of adoption].

The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination on the
318t March 2017. Planning Inspector, Paul Griffiths BSc (Hons) BArch IHBC, was
appointed by the Secretary of State to undertake the examination.

Preliminary public hearings were held on 20" and 215t September 2018 and main
hearings were held on 14™, 15t 19™ and 20™ of February 2019.

A number of main modifications were made to the Plan pursuant to section 23 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The main modifications were confirmed
by the Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State and are set out in the published
Inspector's Report. A number of additional (minor) modifications have also been
included as necessary factual and grammatical corrections to the Plan.

The main and additional modifications can be viewed on the Council’'s website at
www.middevon.gov.uk.

The adopted Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033 now carries full weight in the
consideration of planning applications and replaces the Mid Devon Core Strategy (July
2007), Local Plan Part 2 (Allocations and Infrastructure DPD)(October 2010) and Local
Plan Part 3 (Development Management Policies) (November 2013).

Inspection of Documents

In accordance with Regulations 26 and 35 of the 2012 Regulations, the following
documents have been published on the Council’'s website www.middevon.gov.uk.
They will also be made available for inspection, free of charge at the locations listed
below once this becomes possible following a relaxation of restrictions of movement
and public gatherings currently in place due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

(i) the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 - 2033;

(i) this Adoption Statement; and

(iii) the Sustainability Appraisal Report document and Sustainability Appraisal Post-
Adoption Statement

Page 283


http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
http://www.middevon.gov.uk/

Mid Devon District Council, Phoenix House. Phoenix Lane, Tiverton, Devon, EX16
6PP

Tiverton Library, Unit 3, Phoenix House, Phoenix Lane, Tiverton, Devon EX16 6SA
Crediton Library, Belle Parade, Crediton, Devon EX17 2AA

Cullompton Library, The Hayridge, Devon Centre, Exeter Hill, Cullompton, Devon
EX15 1DJ

Applications to the High Court under Section 113 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (also known as Judicial Review)

Any person aggrieved by the adoption of the Local Plan may make an application to
the High Court under Section 113 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
on the grounds that:

(i) the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 — 2033 is not within the powers conferred
by Part 2 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004;

(i) a procedural requirement of the Act or its associated Regulations has not been
complied with.

Any such application must be made promptly and in any event not later than the end
of the period of six weeks starting with the date on which the Plan was adopted.

A copy of this Adoption Statement will be sent to the Secretary of State for Housing,
Communities and Local Government.

Date of Notice: [insert date].
Email: fplan@middevon.gov.uk
Address: Forward Planning, Mid Devon District Council, Phoenix House, Phoenix

Lane, Tiverton, Devon EX16 6PP

Page 284



Appendix 6

The Sustainability Appraisal Report for the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 —
2033 is made up of the following documents:

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (July 2013)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103509/sustainability-appraisal-scoping-report-
2013.doc

Sustainability Appraisal Interim Report (January 2014)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103508/sustainability appraisal inerim report

2014.pdf
Sustainability Appraisal 2015

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342890/1 sustainability appraisal.pdf

Sustainability Appraisal 2015 Appendix 1 Review of Plans and Programmes

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103501/appendix-1.pdf

Sustainability Appraisal 2015 Appendix 2 (Part 1 Strategic Policies and Town
Allocations)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103504/appendix-2-part-1.pdf

Sustainability Appraisal 2015 Appendix 2 (Part 2 Villages Allocations)
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103505/appendix-2-part-2.pdf

Sustainability Appraisal 2015 Appendix 2 & 3 (Part DM policies and undeliverable
sites)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103506/appendix-2-part-3-and-appendix-3.pdf

Sustainability Appraisal 2015 Non-technical summary

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103507/non-technical-summary.pdf

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (January 2017)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342723/sustainability-appraisal-update-
2017.pdf

SA Update 2018 (incorporating proposed amendments) (January 2018)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345036/sa-update-2018.pdf

Page 285


https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103509/sustainability-appraisal-scoping-report-2013.doc
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103509/sustainability-appraisal-scoping-report-2013.doc
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103508/sustainability_appraisal_inerim_report_2014.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103508/sustainability_appraisal_inerim_report_2014.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342890/1_sustainability_appraisal.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103501/appendix-1.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103504/appendix-2-part-1.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103505/appendix-2-part-2.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103506/appendix-2-part-3-and-appendix-3.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/103507/non-technical-summary.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342723/sustainability-appraisal-update-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/342723/sustainability-appraisal-update-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345036/sa-update-2018.pdf

SA of the implications of the Council’s proposed draft Main Modifications in relation
to the housing trajectory and the remedies suggested by the Inspector (July 2019)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/347814/ed21-mddc-sa-implications-of-mddc-
proposed-draft-mms-in-the-hls-update-june-2019.pdf

Addendum to the Sustainability Appraisal (LUC) (October 2019)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/349008/ed25-addendum-to-sustainability-
appraisal.pdf

Other SA Documents

LUC SA Update Review 2018 (review of SA by independent consultants) (January
2018)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345035/luc-sa-update-review-2018.pdf

Schedule of Amendments made to the SA Update 2017 (January 2018)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345037/schedule-of-amendments-made-to-the-
sa-update-2017.pdf

Executive summary of SA process (January 2018)

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345337/executive-summary-of-sa-review-
process.pdf

Page 286


https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/347814/ed21-mddc-sa-implications-of-mddc-proposed-draft-mms-in-the-hls-update-june-2019.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/347814/ed21-mddc-sa-implications-of-mddc-proposed-draft-mms-in-the-hls-update-june-2019.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/349008/ed25-addendum-to-sustainability-appraisal.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/349008/ed25-addendum-to-sustainability-appraisal.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345035/luc-sa-update-review-2018.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345037/schedule-of-amendments-made-to-the-sa-update-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345037/schedule-of-amendments-made-to-the-sa-update-2017.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345337/executive-summary-of-sa-review-process.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/345337/executive-summary-of-sa-review-process.pdf

Appendix 7

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Adopted Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033
Sustainability Appraisal Post-Adoption Statement

[Insert Date]

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 287



Contents

1 Introduction

2 How environmental and sustainability considerations have been integrated into
the Mid Devon Local Plan

3 How the Environmental/SA Report has been taken into account

4 How opinions of consultation bodies and the public have been taken into
account

5 Why the adopted Local Plan was chosen in light of reasonable alternatives

6 How will the environmental and sustainability effects of the Local Plan be
monitored?

Appendix 1: Signposting Table of how the SA composite meets the SEA Directive
Requirements

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 288

Page

7

10
12

14
16

23



1 Introduction

1.1 Mid Devon District Council adopted the Mid Devon Local Plan on [Insert Date of
Adoption].

1.2 During the preparation of the Mid Devon Local Plan the Council was required by law
(Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Environmental Assessment of Plans
and Programmes Regulations 2004 ["the SEA Regulations]) to carry out a Sustainability
Appraisal (SA) and a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the plan as it
developed. This legal requirement is an important element of testing the “soundness” of
local plans that is required by National Planning Policy Framework 2012 paragraph 182.
Both the SA and SEA requirements were met through a single integrated process
(referred to as SA), the method and findings of which were described in a number of SA
reports published alongside the different versions of the Mid Devon Local Plan during its
development.

1.3 Regulation 26 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations
(2012) requires the Council to make the final SA Report available alongside the Adopted
Local Plan. The SA Report for the Mid Devon Local Plan is set out in several documents
which reflects the evolving (‘iterative’) process of Local Plans and with them their SA’s.
These are:

e SA Scoping Report (2013)

e SA Interim Report (2014)

e SA Proposed Submission Consultation Report (2015)
e SA Update (2017)

e SA Update (2018)

e SA Implications in relation to the Council’s proposed draft Main Modifications in
relation to the housing trajectory and the remedies suggested by the Inspector
(2019)

e SA Addendum (2019)

1.4 The SA Scoping Report (2013) was the first stage in the preparation of an SA for the new
Local Plan and was published alongside the initial consultation on the scope of the Local
Plan held July-August 2013. The SA Scoping Report set out the baseline information
about Mid Devon and a framework to assess sustainability as part of the SA.

1.5 The SA Interim Report (2014) was published alongside the Local Plan Review Options
Consultation January-March 2014. The SA Interim Report built on the initial findings of
the SA and took an initial assessment of the effects of the Local Plan against the
framework of indicators proposed within the scoping report. It included a number of
initial recommendations against each option policy or site in order to mitigate their
negative effects.

1.6 The SA Proposed Submission Consultation Report (2015) was published alongside the
Local Plan Review Proposed Submission Consultation February-April 2015. The SA

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 289



Proposed Submission Consultation Report (2015) took into account representations
received regarding significant effects of the plan during the consultation period of the SA
Scoping Report (2013) and SA Interim Report (2014) and amendments were made to the
Local Plan and SA accordingly. The SA Proposed Submission Consultation Report (2015)
set out a summary of the findings of the Scoping Report and Interim Report, it assessed
the sustainability of the options and reasonable alternatives considered in the
preparation of the Local Plan. It identified potential significant effects resulting from the
implementation of the Local Plan and outlined a proposed monitoring strategy to
measure the effects of implementing the Local Plan.

1.7 The SA Update (2017) was published alongside the Local Plan Review Proposed
Submission (incorporating proposed modifications) Consultation January-February 2017.
The SA Update (2017) presented further SA work that was undertaken since the 2015
Proposed Submission consultation and addressed proposed modifications to the Local
Plan Review. Specifically it included information about SA related consultation
comments received in 2015, further reasonable alternative options, new information
sources and SA related consultation comments where relevant. Detailed SA matrices for
new and revised options and reasons for selecting or rejecting alternatives based on the
information presented was set out.

1.8 The SA Update (2018) was published alongside an independent Review of Sustainability
Appraisal Update in relation to the main Modifications made to the Mid Devon Local
Plan Review: Review of Legal Compliance Consultation February-April 2018. The
amendments add greater clarity to the SA but do not amend the content of the Mid
Devon Local Plan Review (incorporating proposed modifications) submitted to the
Inspector in 2017.

1.9 The SA Implications in relation to the Council’s proposed draft Main Modifications in
relation to the housing trajectory and the remedies suggested by the Inspector (2019)
was published alongside the Draft Housing Land Supply Update (2019) during the
examination of the Local Plan in July 2019. This assessed the SA implications of the
proposed draft Main Modifications in relation to the housing trajectory and the
remedies suggested by the Inspector. It summarises that the findings of this SA show
that the proposed drafted Main Modifications will not have a material change on the
previous assessments of sites in the SA and the assessment of further ‘reasonable
alternatives’ is not necessary.

1.10 The SA Addendum (2019) was published alongside a Schedule of Proposed Main
Modifications to the Plan which was prepared in response to the Main Modifications the
Planning Inspector deemed necessary to make the plan sound as set out in his Post-
Hearings advice note in May 2019. The SA Addendum presents an appraisal of the
Proposed Main Modifications and considers their implications for the SA findings
reported previously. It builds on and supersedes the appraisal work previously
presented in the SA Implications in relation to the Council’s proposed draft
Modifications in relation to the housing trajectory and remedies suggested by the
Inspector (2019).

1.11  On the 26 June 2020 Mid Devon District Council received the Inspector’s Report on
the Examination of the Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013-2033. Following consultation

4
Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 290



on the Main Modifications and SA Addendum (2019), the Inspector amended detailed
wording and/or consequential modifications where necessary. The Inspector clearly
notes that none of the amendments significantly alter the content of the modifications
as published for consultation or undermines the participatory processes and SA that has
been undertaken. As such, the Sustainability Appraisal undertaken on the Main
Modifications previously, and consulted on, remains adequate. The amendments from
the Inspector on the Main Modifications are summarised as follows:

e MNMs to establish a proper link between the development of housing and related
infrastructure and to provide for a trajectory that should ensure a rolling five-year
supply of deliverable housing sites;

e Agroup of MMs necessary to allow the Plan to properly provide for the needs of
Gypsies and Travellers and Travelling Show-People;

¢ MNMs to ensure the major development proposed at Junction 27 of the M5 is
brought forward in an acceptable way;

e MNMs to deal with constraints relating to the allocation under Policy SP2; and

e Various MMs to ensure that development management policies are effective and
consistent with national policy.

Requirement for the Adoption Statement

1.12 In addition to the requirement in Regulation 26 of the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for publishing the final SA Report alongside
the Adopted Local Plan, the SEA Regulations? also requires steps to be taken upon
adoption of a Local Plan (in this case the Mid Devon Local Plan). Specifically, SEA
Regulation 16 sets out the post-adoption procedures for the SEA and requires that as
soon as reasonably practicable after the adoption of a plan for which an SA/SEA has
been carried out, the planning authority must make a copy of the plan publicly available
alongside a copy of the SA report and an ‘SEA adoption statement’, and consultation
bodies, persons who in relation to the plan were public consultees and the Secretary of
State about the availability of these documents. The consultation bodies are Historic
England, Natural England and the Environment Agency. The SEA post-adoption
statement must set out:

e How environmental (and sustainability) considerations have been integrated into the
plan.

e How the Environmental Report (contained within the SA Report) has been taken into
account during preparation of the plan.

e How the opinions expressed by the public, consultation bodies and (where
appropriate) other European Member States during consultation on the plan and the
Environmental/SA Report have been taken into account.

! The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 - SI No. 1633.

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 291



e The reasons for choosing the plan as adopted, in the light of the other reasonable
alternatives considered.

e The measures that are to be taken to monitor the significant environmental and
sustainability effects of the implementation of the plan.

1.13 Asthe SEA process was incorporated into the SA process, this document constitutes
the SEA Post-Adoption Statement for the Mid Devon Local Plan and given that the SEA
was incorporated into the SA process it is titled the “Adopted Mid Devon Local Plan
2013-2033: SA Post-Adoption Statement [Date to be inserted]”. The document is
structured according to the SEA Regulation requirements listed above:

e Section 2 summarises how environmental considerations have been integrated into
the plan by explaining who carried out the SA/SEA and what assessment framework
was used.

e Section 3 summarises how the Environmental/SA report has been taken into account
by demonstrating its role in decision making.

e Section 4 summarises how the opinions of consultation bodes and the public have
been taken into account throughout the SA process

e Section 5 summarises why the adopted Local Plan was chosen in light of reasonable
alternatives and sets out where the Environmental/SA report outlines the reasons
for selecting the alternatives dealt with.

e Section 6 describes how the environmental and sustainability effects of the Local
Plan will be monitored.

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 292



2 How environmental and sustainability considerations have been integrated into the
Mid Devon Local Plan

2.1 The purpose of the SA is to promote sustainable development by assessing the extent to
which the emerging plan, when judged against reasonable alternatives, will help to
achieve relevant environmental, economic and social objectives. The process was an
opportunity to consider ways by which the plan could contribute to improvements in
environmental, social and economic conditions, as well as a means of identifying and
mitigating any potential adverse effects that the plan might otherwise have. In doing so,
it helped make sure that the proposals in the plan are appropriate given the reasonable
alternatives.

2.2 The way in which the environmental and sustainability effects of the Local Plan were
described, analysed and compared was through the use of a set of SA objectives. The SA
objectives for the Local Plan were developed by the Council during the Scoping stage of
the SA process, drawing on a review of relevant European, national and regional policies,
plans and programmes and the objectives they contained. This was originally presented
in the Council’s 2013 SA Scoping Report and resulted in a SA ‘framework’ comprised of 9
SA objectives which covered all the SEA topics listed in Schedule 2 of the SEA
Regulations.

2.3 This SA framework was the main tool used at each stage of the SA for assessing the
likely effects of the options and policies for the Local Plan. Using the same SA framework
ensured that alternatives were assessed in a comparable way to the options previously
considered as part of developing the Mid Devon Local Plan. This framework is set out in
Table 1 below:

Table 1: Sustainability Appraisal Framework

Sustainability objective Elements covered

A) Protection of the natural environment Habitats and biodiversity; flora and fauna;
protected species; landscape

B) Protection and promotion of a quality Heritage assets, including listed buildings,
built environment conservation areas, scheduled ancient
monuments, registered parks and gardens,
locally listed assets, archaeology; design
and quality of development

C) Mitigating the effects of climate change | Reduced flood risk; promotion of low
carbon or renewable energy; reductions in
carbon emissions; walking and cycling
provision; low carbon buildings

D) Safeguarding and minimising resource Quality of soils, including contaminated
use land; water quality, including consideration
of water framework directive objectives;

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 293



minimisation of waste; impact on best and
most versatile agricultural land

E) Promoting economic growth and
employment

Increasing jobs; reducing out-commuting;
skills training; growth of rural businesses;
tourism provision

F) Supporting retail

Safeguarding the vitality and viability of
town centres; relationship between new
development and town centres; supporting
viability of shopping facilities in villages

G) Meeting housing needs

Supply of housing; housing mix; house size;
housing affordability; appropriate housing
density to location; proximity to services
and facilities

H) Ensuring community health and
wellbeing

Community support for proposals; access to
open space and recreation; limiting air,
noise and light pollution to levels that do
not damage human health or natural
systems; integrated and sustainable forms
of travel including walking, cycling and
public transport; social deprivation; safe
and secure environments

I) Delivering the necessary infrastructure

Roads and transportation; schools; health
services; community facilities; green
infrastructure; telecommunications

2.4 The Local Plan was also required to be subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). The
purpose of HRA is to assess the impacts of a land-use plan against the conservation
objectives of a European designated site for nature conservation and to ascertain
whether it would adversely affect the integrity of that site. The HRA process for the Mid
Devon Local Plan was undertaken separately from the SA but the findings of the HRA

Reports informed the SA process.

2.5 In using the SA framework to assess the potential effects of the Local Plan objectives,
environmental and sustainability considerations were integrated into site options and
policies as they were drafted. This included SA matrices which indicated pre and post-
mitigation measures, assessment of cumulative and secondary effects and suggested
policy criterion and amendments to options which has led to the final composite of the

Mid Devon Local Plan.

2.6 The SA (incorporating SEA) of the Mid Devon Local Plan was commenced by Mid Devon
District Council with the publishing of the SA Scoping Report in July 2013 alongside the
initial consultation on the scope of the Local Plan. Iterative stages of the SA were then

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 294




published by Mid Devon District Council alongside the relevant stages of the Local Plan
Review process which were the 2014 SA Interim Report, 2015 SA Proposed Submission
Consultation Report, 2017 SA Update, 2018 SA Update following an independent review
of the 2017 SA Update, 2019 SA Implications in relation to the Council’s proposed draft
Main Modifications in relation to the housing trajectory and the remedies suggested by
the Inspector and 2019 SA Addendum. All of the above documents with the exception of
the 2019 SA Addendum were produced in-house by Mid Devon District Council. Mid
Devon District Council has also prepared this SA Post-Adoption Statement. The
Independent Review of the 2017 SA Update which led to the 2018 SA Update was
undertaken by consultant LUC. LUC also completed the 2019 SA Addendum which
presents an appraisal of Proposed Main Modifications consulted upon and considers
their implications for the SA findings reported previously.

2.7 The Policies and site allocations in the Local Plan and the reasonable alternatives
considered during its preparation were subject to a detailed appraisal against the SA
objectives. The SA was undertaken iteratively informing the development of the plan,
such that at each stage of the Local Plan’s preparation an assessment of the
sustainability and environmental effects of the options for the Local Plan and
subsequently its policies were made. SA Reports were produced alongside each
published stage of the Local Plan to describe the approach taken, identify the likely
effects, and put forward recommendations to avoid or minimise negative effects
identified or to enhance potential positive effects.

2.8 It is concluded that the SA has played an integral role in the development of the Local
Plan Review and has been used to consider the various strategic options and inform the
most sustainable approach for the District. The SA has led to the refinement of policies
to minimise adverse impacts and has ensured that sustainability issues for the District
are addressed. In general, the Local Plan is found to have a wide range of positive and
significant positive effects on the SA objectives, both cumulatively and through
individual policies. Recommendations made in previous iterations of the SA report and
the proposed submission SA report have generally been thoroughly addressed, which
has provided mitigation for potential adverse effects for both individual
policies/proposals and the Local Plan as a whole. In this way, environmental and
sustainability considerations were integrated into the Local Plan as it was developed.

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 295



3 How the Environmental/SA Report has been taken into account

3.1 As already stated, the SA process for the Mid Devon Local Plan was undertaken
iteratively, such that an assessment of the sustainability and environmental effects was
made at each stage of the Local Plan’s development. Chapter 4 in the 2015 SA Proposed
Submission set out the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, with much of
the reasons setting out the findings of the Environmental/SA report in reaching a
decision on preferred options at that time.

3.2 The 2017 SA Update responded to alternatives arising from the Local Plan Review
Proposed Submission Consultation (2015) as well as new information presenting itself in
which a number of modifications were made in response to this with Annex 2 of the
2017 SA Update setting out the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt again with
much of the reasons setting out the findings of the Environmental/SA report in reaching
a decision on preferred options. Annex 4 of the 2017 Update sets out the a summary of
the revised SA of the Plan whereby a number of modifications to the proposed policies
and supporting text were proposed and led to changes to the Local Plan before being
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate in March 2017. Further to this the 2019 SA
Addendum sets out reasonable alternatives and reasons for selecting the proposed Main
Modifications as published during the time of examination.

3.3 In the SA Update 2018 a series of amendments were made to add clarity to the SA. This
included a signposting table which set out the SEA Directive Requirements and how this
is met by the Mid Devon Local Plan SA composite. An updated signposting table is
provided in Appendix 1 to reflect how the SA Addendum 2019 and this document
“Adopted Mid Devon local Plan 2013-2033: SA Post-Adoption Statement [Insert
Date]”adds to the SA composite in meeting the SEA directive requirements. Within this
table how the environmental/SA report and the results of consultations were taken into
account in decision making is detailed. In summary in relation to how the
Environmental/SA Report has been taken into account this is as follows:

e Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013) — Consultation commenced on the
Local Plan Review Scoping Report and the SA Scoping Report.

e Interim Sustainability Appraisal Report (2014) —The Local Plan Review Options
Consultation was agreed at Cabinet on 9 July 2014. Consultation included the Interim
Sustainability Appraisal Report (2014).

e Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission Report (2015) — The Local Plan
Review Proposed Submission report was submitted to three Cabinet meetings for
approval for publication and submission subject to confirmation by Full Council by
area. Relevant extracts from the Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report was provided at each Cabinet meeting. The full Sustainability Appraisal was
also made available to members on the Council’s website to be considered alongside
reports pack. Approval was also sought for the Sustainability Appraisal and other
evidence produced in the process of the plan’s preparation to be published for
consultation alongside the Local Plan. Final approval by Full Council was made on the

10
Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 296



17th December 2014 for consultation in 2015. Comments received in previous
consultations and how the sustainability appraisal results were taken into account in
decision-making are also demonstrated through the Local Plan Review Proposed
Submission (February 2015) Consultation Summary Document.

e Request for a J27 implications Report (2016) - A request by members was made in
2016 for a J27 implications Report which looked at the implications if members were
minded to allocate J27 as part of the Local Plan Review Proposed Submission. This
included the implication for an additional 260 dwellings if members were minded to
make a modification to the plan to allocate land at J27. Alternative housing option
sites were set out to members based on a selection criteria and the sustainability
references in the report synergised with those in the Sustainability Appraisal (2015).
Further to this Land at Junction 27 and associated additional housing was
recommended to be allocated at Blundells Road, Tiverton and Higher Town,
Sampford Peverell. The recommendations of Cabinet as set out above were taken to
Council on 22 September 2016 and were approved. The plan as a whole was
subsequently considered at the meetings of Cabinet on 21 November and Council 01
December 2016 where it was agreed that the Local Plan Review incorporating
proposed modifications be publicised and consulted on.

e Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017) - The Local Plan Review Proposed Submission
report (incorporating proposed modifications) was submitted to Cabinet on 21
November 2016 for a recommendation of approval for publication and consultation
with its supporting documentation to full Council. A summary of the modifications
proposed were summarised in the report pack with the full schedule of modifications
appended to the report for viewing. The report references the Sustainability
Appraisal and the findings of the Sustainability Appraisal process. The report also
makes reference to the Planning Policy Advisory Group which considered all
paperwork accompanying the report. The report summarises the considerations of
the group and their recommendations to Cabinet. The recommendations to Cabinet
on the 21 November 2016 were agreed and were submitted to full Council on 01
December 2016. The submission to full Council included the report pack presented
to Cabinet which contained reference to the Sustainability Appraisal for approval and
were agreed.

e Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019) — The Main Modifications report along
with the SA Addendum (2019) was approved for consultation at Cabinet 21
November 2019 and Council 4 December 2019. The Cabinet report included a
summary of the conclusions of the SA Addendum (2019) and included the full SA
Addendum at Appendix 3 of the Cabinet report.

11
Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 297



4 How opinions of consultation bodies and the public have been taken into account

4.1 At each stage of the Local Plan’s development, an SA Report was published alongside
the Local Plan for consultation with the public and the consultation bodies specifically
relating to the SEA Directive i.e. Historic England (formerly English Heritage), the
Environment Agency and Natural England.

4.2 In the SA Update 2018 a series of amendments were made to add clarity to the SA. This
included a signposting table which set out the SEA Directive Requirements and how this
is met by the Mid Devon Local Plan SA composite. An updated signposting table is
provided in Appendix 1 to reflect how the SA Addendum 2019 and this document
“Adopted Mid Devon local Plan 2013-2033: SA Post-Adoption Statement [Insert
Date]”adds to the SA composite in meeting the SEA directive requirements. Within the
table how the environmental/SA report and the results of consultations were taken into
account in decision making is detailed. In summary in relation to how the opinions of
consultation bodies and the public have been taken into account are as follows:

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013) - Consultation was undertaken on
the Local Plan Review Scoping Report and the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping
Report.

Interim Sustainability Appraisal Report (2014) - Chapter 3 ‘Sustainability appraisal
methodology’ of the Interim Sustainability Appraisal Report (2014) sets out a
summary of the consultation responses received during 2013 consultation Local Plan
Review Scoping Report and the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013) and
noted that the SA would be updated following consultation to take account of the
responses received during the consultation.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission Report (2015) - Chapter 3
‘Sustainability appraisal methodology’ of the Sustainability Appraisal Proposed
Submission Report (2015) sets out a summary of the consultation responses received
during the two previous consultations on the Local Plan Review and Sustainability
Appraisal and notes that the comments were incorporated into the Sustainability
Appraisal Proposed Submission Report (2015). A statement of consultation before
Local Plan publication was provided at the same time of consultation which set out
the main issues raised during previous consultation and how these were responded
to. Comments received in previous consultations and how the sustainability
appraisal results were taken into account in decision-making are also demonstrated
through the Local Plan Review Proposed Submission (February 2015) Consultation
Summary Document.

Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017) - Para 1 of the Sustainability Appraisal
Update (2017) sets out that this update to the Sustainability Appraisal has been
undertaken to take into account comments made at the 2015 Proposed Submission
Stage consultation and proposed modification to the Local Plan Review. Consultation

12

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 298



was undertaken on the Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017) and the Local Plan
Review Proposed Submission (incorporating proposed modifications) (2017). A
statement of consultation was provided at the same time as this consultation which
set out the main issues raised during previous three consultations and how these
were responded to. Schedule of Proposed Modifications (Proposed Submission
consultation) (November 2016) and the Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017) also
demonstrate how the results of the consultations were taken into account.

e Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019) — The Mid Devon Local Plan Review:
Proposed Main Modifications Sustainability Appraisal Addendum was subject to a six
week public consultation between 6 January and 17 February 2020. Following this,
all representations were submitted to the Planning Inspector responsible for
examining the Plan in order to inform his final report. A consultation summary
document was provided at the same time which set out any comments received on
the Sustainability Appraisal Addendum of the Main Modifications.

e Inspectors Report (2020) — Further to the consultation on the Main Modifications
together with the SA Addendum (2019) and other associated documents, the
Inspectors Report on the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 was published on the 26th
June 2020. Having regard to all representations received, the Inspector issued a
revised schedule of Main Modifications and recommended their inclusion in the
plan. This concluded that none of the amendments significantly alters the contents
of the modifications as published for the consultation or undermines the
participatory process and SA that has been undertaken. In response to this Mid
Devon District Council proposed the further amendments to reflect the
recommendations provided within the Inspectors Report and the Local Plan was
adopted on the [Insert Date of Adoption].

13
Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 299



5 Why the adopted Local Plan was chosen in light of reasonable alternatives

5.1 The vision of the Plan is to bring benefits to local communities by promoting community
well-being; supporting economic success; conserving and enhancing the area; and
respecting environmental limits. In order to bring that vision to fruition, the intention
through the Plan is to create a prosperous economy with increased inward investment;
meet objectively assessed needs for development in locations best suited to
accommodate it, with a suitable balance of housing, employment and other facilities
within towns, smaller settlements, and rural areas; reduce the use of the private car and
encourage more use of public transport, walking and cycling; reduce carbon emissions;
and promote social inclusion and reduce inequality by providing better access to jobs,
services, and housing. This is positive and consistent with national policy that seeks to
marry economic growth with sustainable forms of development and environmental
improvement.

5.2 The spatial strategy of the Plan is to make the market town of Cullompton the strategic
focus of new development which reflects its existing status as one of the larger
settlements in the District as well as its accessibility, economic potential and
environmental capacity. The market towns of Tiverton and Crediton are treated as
secondary focal points for development which is a reflection of their infrastructures,
economies, characters, and constraints. Limited development is also envisaged for some
of the larger and better-served villages commensurate with their scale while
development in smaller settlements, lower in the hierarchy, and the countryside, will be
limited to forms of development that bring benefit to the rural economy. In parallel with
this a major development is proposed adjacent to J27 of the M5 motorway to bring a
high-quality tourist, leisure and retail attraction to the District, attracting visitors to the
District, thereby generating economic activity and jobs, and acting as a gateway to the
South-West. The Plan uses its evidence base to identify the overall provision in the Plan
for housing and commercial development and to meet this need a sequence of sites are
allocated in line with the spatial strategy outlined above. A sequence of other strategic
and development management policies with a view to meet the vision above are also
provided.

5.3 The Policies and site allocations in the Local Plan and the reasonable alternatives
considered during its preparation were subject to a detailed appraisal against the SA
objectives which were developed at the scoping stage of the SA process. It is concluded
that the SA has played an integral role in the development of the Local Plan Review and
has been used to consider the various strategic options and inform the most sustainable
approach for the District. The SA has led to the refinement of options and the
subsequent adopted policies to minimise adverse impacts and has ensured that
sustainability issues for the District are addressed. In general, the Local Plan is found to
have a wide range of positive and significant positive effects on the SA objectives, both
cumulatively and through individual policies. Recommendations made in previous
iterations of the SA report and the proposed submission SA report have generally been

14
Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 300



thoroughly addressed, which has provided mitigation for potential adverse effects for
both individual policies/proposals and the Local Plan as a whole.

5.4 In the SA Update 2018 a series of amendments were made to add clarity to the SA. This
included a signposting table which set out the SEA Directive Requirements and how this
is met by the Mid Devon Local Plan SA composite. An updated signposting table is
provided in Appendix 1 to reflect how the SA Addendum 2019 and this document
“Adopted Mid Devon local Plan 2013-2033: SA Post-Adoption Statement (insert
date)”adds to the SA composite in meeting the SEA directive requirements. Within the
table an outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, and a description
of how the assessment was undertaken including any difficulties (such as technical
deficiencies or lack of know-how) encountered in compiling the required information is
detailed. In summary in relation to the outline of the reasons for selecting the
alternatives dealt with are as follows:

e Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013) - This appraisal first introduces the
proposed framework to assess sustainability in Chapter 5 ‘A framework to assess
sustainability’.

e Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014) - Chapter 3 ‘Sustainability appraisal
methodology’ sets out a description of the methodology use to undertake the
assessment and the assessment of policy options is undertaken in Appendix 2.
Alternatives were not selected at this stage as the report was based on policy
options.

e Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission (2015) - Chapter 3 ‘Sustainability
appraisal methodology’ sets out a description of the methodology use to undertake
the assessment. Chapter 4 ‘Reasons for selecting/rejecting policy alternatives’ sets
out an outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with. Appendix 3
‘Undeliverable site options’ sets out the sites which were not deemed deliverable by
the SHLAA panel.

e Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017) - Paragraphs 2-9 of the SA Update describe
the methodology that has been used throughout the SA process. The table following
paragraph 9 sets out the assumptions that have been applied to the SA of potential
site allocations. Information about the reasons for selecting additional reasonable
options for appraisal is provided in Annex 2 of the SA Update.

e Sustainability Addendum (2019) - Following the Inspector’s Post-Hearings Advice
Note of Main Modifications in May 2019 the Planning Inspector deemed necessary
to make the plan sound Table 1 presents a summary of the SA implications of each of
the Inspector’s four suggested remedies, including variations within them. Table 2
presents the schedule of Proposed Modifications and reasons for proposing each
change along with the implications of each Main Modification for the SA conclusions
reported previously. No further reasonable alternatives to the Proposed Main
Modifications were identified, given that reasonable alternatives were appraised up
to the submission of the Local Plan, and that preparation of the Proposed Main

15
Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 301



Modifications was led by the Inspector. Where the Inspector identified alternative

options, these have been appraised.

6 How will the environmental and sustainability effects of the Local Plan be monitored?

6.1 Chapter 5 ‘Monitoring’ of the Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission (2015) sets
out how the plan will be monitored and is replicated below:

Monitoring

Monitoring is important to understand the characteristics of the local area, assess the
impact of policies and determine whether the strategy is delivering sustainable
development so that the policies can be reviewed as appropriate. The Local Plan Review
contains local indicators and targets to measure the Council’s performance against relevant
policies and legislation as well as any significant environmental effects. The monitoring
outcomes are reported annually in Mid Devon District Councils’ Monitoring Report which
provides information on the following matters:

Progress of local plans including the timetable for completion, stage reached and
reasons for any delay;

Any local plans or supplementary planning documents that have been approved
or adopted, including relevant dates;

Decisions not to implement any Local Plan Review policy including reasons and
steps to implement the policy in the future;

The number of market and affordable dwellings built in the reporting period and
since the relevant Local Plan Review policy target was introduced;

Any neighbourhood plans or development orders made in the district;

Progress on the implementation of the Community Infrastructure Levy, if any;
and

Actions taken to ensure cooperation with other local authorities and prescribed
organisations under the ‘duty to cooperate’.

For convenience the Local Plan Review monitoring indicators, relevant policies and targets
are reproduced in the table below.

16

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 302



Monitoring indicators

Indicator Relevant Target Implementation | Comments
Policies Agencies

Housing

Housing S2;S3;S4; | Annual Development

trajectory S10; S11; completions | industry, MDDC

showing net S12; S13 of 360

additional dwellings

dwellings from

2013-2033

Affordable S1;S3 Annual MDDC,

housing average development

completions; completions | industry,

number of 100 per year. | registered

dwellings providers,
Housing and
Communities
Agency

Affordable S3; DM6 >50% MDDC, Proportion of

housing on rural affordable development market housing on

exception sites housing industry, rural exception
registered sites should be
providers, lower than that of
Housing and affordable housing.
Communities
Agency

Net additional S3; DM7 MDDC

gypsy and

traveller pitches

Self-build S3 5% on sites of | MDDC,

completions 20+ dwellings | development
industry

Sizes and types S1; S3; No target MDDC,

of dwellings DM13 development

completed industry

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 303



Indicator Relevant Target Implementation | Comments
Policies Agencies
Net density of S9; DM1 None MDDC, Policies do not set
new residential development minimum housing
development industry densities but
promote the
efficient and
effective use of
land.
Availability of S3; S4 >105% MDDC, Target applied to
land for housing housing development whole district.
supply industry Target will be
against revised to >120% if
requirement persistent under-
delivery of housing
is proven.
Development of | S3 >50% of MDDC,
housing on S4 completions | development
allocated sites All housing industry
allocations
Total amount S1 No target MDDC,
and percentage development
of housing industry
development
(including
conversions) on
previously
developed land.
Number of DM5 >1.7 car MDDC,
parking spaces parking development
provided in new spaces per industry
residential dwelling
developments
Commercial

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 304

18



floorspace for
town centre
uses, in total and
within town
centres (Classes
Al, A2, Blaand
D2)

development
industry, retail
business sector,
leisure industry.

Indicator Relevant Target Implementation | Comments
Policies Agencies

Total amount of | S2; S6; S10; | Average MDDC, Monitoring reports
additional S11; S12; annual development will break down the
commercial S13; DM14; | completions industry provision of use
floorspace for DM15, (square classes A1-A5, B1-
the whole DM18 metres) B8, C1-C2, D1-D2
district and Mid Devon and sui generis
individually for 7700 uses.
Tiverton, Tiverton 1540
Cullompton, Cullompton
Crediton and 3850
rural areas Crediton 770

Rural Areas

1540
Development of | S6; All >50% of MDDC,
employment on | commercial | completions | development
allocated sites allocations industry
Losses of S6; DM14; | No Target Mid Devon Loss of commercial
commercial land | DM15; District Council, land will be broken
in local authority | DM19 development down according to
area industry, use class.

businesses

Number of S1; S2; S6 Maintain or MDDC, Heart of
active businesses increase the South West

number of Local Enterprise

active Partnership,

businesses. private sector
Job Seekers S1; S6 Remain MDDC, Gives indictor for
Allowance as a below development deprivation and
proportion of regional industry, business | employment.
working age average sector
population each
April
Total amount of | S6; S7 No target MDDC,

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 305

19



space provision
and accessibility.
Applications
complying/failing
to comply with
quantity and
access standards
in Policy S5

Indicator Relevant Target Implementation | Comments
Policies Agencies

Total amount of | S6; DM14; | No target Mid Devon To monitor edge-

floorspace for DM15 District Council, of-centre and out-

town centre uses development of-centre

out of town industry, retail development,

centres (Classes business sector, mainly retail.

Al, A2, Bla and leisure industry.

D2)

Al shops in S7;, DM14 >65% Mid Devon

primary District Council,

shopping development

frontages. industry, retailers

Total amount S1 No target MDDC,

and percentage development

of commercial industry

floorspace on

previously

developed land.

Infrastructure

Community S8 No target. MDDC,

Infrastructure development

Levy. Monitor industry

annual receipt of

CIL.

Public open S1; S5; S8 No target MDDC, Policy S5 sets out

development
industry, town
and parish
councils, Sport
England, private
and voluntary
organisations.

standards for open
space provision.
Smaller sites may
provide financial
contributions in lieu
of onsite open
space, with these
funds being
directed to the
provision or
improvement of
public open space
elsewhere.

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 306

20



Indicator Relevant Target Implementation | Comments
Policies Agencies

Strategic S3; S4; S6 To review MDDC,

Housing and SHLAA/SCLAA | development

Commercial when the industry,

Land Availability Local Plan is infrastructure

Assessment reviewed providers

Services S8; S10; No reduction | MDDC, Devon Services include:

available in S11, S12; in services County Council, Public transport,

towns and rural | S13;S14 other educational

areas organisations facilities,

convenience stores,
community halls

Loss of S1; DM23 No total loss MDDC,

community in settlement | development

facilities industry

Environment

Number of S9 1 new or MDDC

Conservation updated

Area Appraisals CAA/MP per

and year

Conservation

Area

Management

Plans

Habitat surveys S1; S9 100% Natural England, | No loss may be

(where MDDC, achieved through

applicable) for development avoidance,

consented industry mitigation and

developments compensation of

demonstrate no impacts.

loss in

biodiversity.

Developments S1; S9; No target MDDC, Natural Policy directs

permitted on DM28 England, development away

protected sites development from protected

(habitats) industry sites subject to

criteria, so the
number of consents
should be low.

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 307

21



Indicator Relevant Target Implementation | Comments
Policies Agencies
Ecological status | S1; S9; No target MDDC, Target in South
of water bodies | DM4 development West River Basin
industry, Management Plan
Environment is to achieve good
Agency. ecological status for
water bodies and
protected areas by
2015. The
Environment
Agency monitors
water quality.
Consented S1; S9 No target Mid Devon
renewable DM2 District Council,
energy development
development by industry.
type and
megawatts.
Number of DM25 No target Mid Devon
heritage assets District Council,
added to the development
local register industry, English
Heritage
Air Quality S1; S11; Reductionin | MDDC,
Management S$12; DM3; | air pollutants | development
Areas DM4 within industry, Devon
AQMAs County Council,
Highways Agency
Enforcement
Number of DM29 No target MDDC
planning
enforcement

cases, notices
and prosecutions

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 308

22



Appendix 1: Signposting Table of how the SA composite meets the SEA Directive

requirements

Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Directive

Information to be included in the Environmental Report — Article 5 and Annex 1 of SEA

Covered in SA

a) an outline of the contents,
main objectives of the plan, and
relationship with other relevant
plans and programmes;

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013):

‘Chapter 1 Introduction’ of this report sets out the
contents and main objectives of the plan.

‘Chapter 2 Relevant plans and programmes’ of this
report sets out the relationship with other relevant
plans and programmes.

‘Chapter 7 Appendix: Reviewed plans and
programmes (full list)’” provides a full list of reviewed
plans and programmes.

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014):

‘Chapter 1 Background’ of this report sets out an
outline of the contents and main objectives of the
Local Plan. This chapter also identifies the
compliance of report at the time of publication with
the SEA Directive and Regulations.

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability Context’. This chapter sets
out the conclusions from the review of relevant plans
and programmes.

‘Appendix 1: Full review of plans and programmes’.
This appendix provides a full review of plans and
programmes.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report (2015):

‘Chapter 1 Background’ of this report sets out the
contents and main objectives of the Local plan. This
chapter also identifies the compliance of the report
at the time of publication with the SEA Directive and
Regulations.

23

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 309



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability Context’. This chapter sets
out the conclusions from the review of relevant plans
and programmes.

‘Appendix 1: Full review of plans and programmes’.
This appendix provides a full review of plans and
programmes.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

Appendix 2 provides updates Baseline and Evidence
Base including a review of plans and programmes.

b) the relevant aspects of the
current state of the environment
and the likely evolution thereof
without implementation of the
plan;

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013):

‘Chapter 3 Baseline information about Mid Devon’ of
this report considers the relevant aspects of the
current state of the environment and considers
trends that are likely to continue without the
implementation of the plan e.g. likely historic trends
of biodiversity expected to continue and the trend
for the delivery of sustainable homes based on
existing relevant plans and programmes.

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014):

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability Context’ looks at the
relevant aspects of the state of the environment and
considers trends that are likely to continue without
the implementation of the plan.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Modifications
Report (2015):

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability Context’ looks at the
relevant aspects of the state of the environment and
considers trends that are likely to continue without
the implementation of the plan. The likely Evolution
of the State of the Environment without
Implementation of the Local Plan Review is set out in
full at para 2.60 and accompanying table.

24

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 310



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

c) the environmental
characteristics of areas likely to be
significantly affected;

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013):

‘Chapter 2 Relevant plans and programmes’ of this
report sets out the relationship with other relevant
plans and programmes which have been grouped
into themed areas. This first picks up on the potential
impact of the Plan, in particular how the promotion
of new development may impact on these themes.

‘Chapter 3 Baseline information about Mid Devon’ of
this report considers the relevant aspects of the
current state of the environment, it provides some
identification of existing environmental
characteristics that could be affected by the Plan e.g.
Natural England has advised that any development
that encourages through-traffic through the A361
may impact on the Culm Grasslands SAC.

‘Chapter 4 Sustainability issues and problems’ of this
report summarises the sustainability issues within
Mid Devon identified by the Sustainability Appraisal
scoping report.

‘Chapter 7 Appendix: Reviewed plans and
programmes (full list)’” provides a full list of reviewed
plans and programmes and provides greater detail
on environmental characteristics likely to be affected
and therefore which should be considered as part of
the Local Plan Review.

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014):

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability context’ looks at the
relevant aspects of the state of the environment
including the consideration of environmental
characteristics of areas likely to be significantly
affected.

‘Appendix 1: Full review of plans and programmes’
provides a full list of reviewed plans and
programmes and provides greater detail on

environmental characteristics likely to be affected

25

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 311



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

and therefore which should be considered as part of
the Local Plan Review.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report (2015):

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability context’ looks at the
relevant aspects of the state of the environment
including the consideration of environmental
characteristics of areas likely to be significantly
affected.

‘Appendix 1: Full review of plans and programmes’
provides a full list of reviewed plans and
programmes and provides greater detail on
environmental characteristics likely to be affected
and therefore which should be considered as part of
the Local Plan Review.

Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017)

The SA Update is an addendum to the SA work
undertaken to date. As such the context and
methodology previously set out in the SA still
applies. The SA framework objectives borne out of
previous iterations of the SA are repeated in the SA
Update for clarity.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

The SA Update is an addendum to the SA work
undertaken to date. As such the context and
methodology previously set out in the SA still
applies. The SA framework objectives borne out of
previous iterations of the SA are repeated at
Appendix 1 for clarity.

d) any existing environmental
problems which are relevant to
the plan including, in particular,
those relating to any areas of a
particular environmental
importance, such as areas

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013):

‘Chapter 3 Baseline information about Mid Devon’ of
this report considers the relevant aspects of the
current state of the environment, it provides some
identification of existing environmental problems

which are relevant to the plan including advice from

26

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 312



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC;

designated pursuant to Directives

Natural England on the impact of through-traffic on
the A361 on the Culm Grasslands SAC.

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014):

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability Context’ looks at the
relevant aspects of the state of the environment it
provides some identification of existing
environmental problems which are relevant to the
plan including advice from Natural England on the
impact of through-traffic on the A361 on the Culm
Grasslands SAC.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report (2015):

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability Context’ looks at the
relevant aspects of the state of the environment it
provides some identification of existing
environmental problems which are relevant to the
plan including advice from Natural England on the
impact of through-traffic on the A361 on the Culm
Grasslands SAC.

e) the environmental protection
objectives, established at
international, Community or
national level, which are relevant
to the plan and the way those
objectives and any environmental
considerations have been taken
into account during its
preparation;

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013):

‘Chapter 2 Relevant plans and programmes’ of this
report sets out the relationship with other relevant
plans and programmes which have been grouped
into themed areas. This chapter identifies factors and
policy defined by EU or UK legislation, national
policies and other plans and strategies at a local level
which are relevant to the plan, including
environmental considerations to be taken into
account during the Plan preparation.

‘Chapter 7 Appendix: Reviewed plans and
programmes (full list)’” provides a full list of reviewed
plans and programmes which is summarised in
Chapter 2. The chapter provides sustainability
conclusions under each theme which include
environmental considerations to be taken into
account in the Plan’s preparation.

27

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 313



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014):

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability Context’ of this report sets
out the relationship with other relevant plans and
programmes which have been grouped into themed
areas. This chapter identifies factors and policy
defined by EU or UK legislation, national policies and
other plans and strategies at a local level which are
relevant to the plan, including environmental
considerations to be taken into account during the
Plan preparation.

‘Appendix 1 Full review of plans and programmes’
provides the full list of reviewed plans and
programmes which is summarised in Chapter 2. The
chapter provides sustainability conclusions under
each theme which include environmental
considerations to be taken into account in the Plan’s
preparation.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report (2015):

‘Chapter 2 Sustainability Context’ of this report sets
out the relationship with other relevant plans and
programmes which have been grouped into themed
areas. This chapter identifies factors and policy
defined by EU or UK legislation, national policies and
other plans and strategies at a local level which are
relevant to the plan, including environmental
considerations to be taken into account during the
Plan preparation.

‘Appendix 1 Full review of plans and programmes’
provides the full list of reviewed plans and
programmes which is summarised in Chapter 2. The
chapter provides sustainability conclusions under
each theme which include environmental
considerations to be taken into account in the Plan’s
preparation.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

28

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 314



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

Appendix 2 provides updates Baseline and Evidence
Base including a review of plans and programmes.

f) the likely significant effects on
the environment, including on
issues such as biodiversity,
population, human health, fauna,
flora, soil, water, air, climatic
factors, material assets, cultural
heritage including architectural
and archaeological heritage,
landscape and the
interrelationship between the
above factors (these effects
should include secondary,
cumulative, synergistic, short,
medium and long-term,
permanent and temporary,
positive and negative impacts);

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014):

‘Appendix 2 Sustainability appraisal of policies and
site options’ presents the findings of appraisal work
that has been carried out. The effects are illustrated
using matrices and scoring system set out in ‘Chapter
3 Sustainability appraisal methodology’. The likely
significant positive and negative effects are shown by
applying the scores +3 and -3 respectively. The SA
objectives used throughout the SA process address
all the required SEA topics. Appendix 2 also includes
secondary, cumulative, synergistic, short, medium
and long-term, permanent and temporary impacts.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report (2015):

‘Appendix 2 Sustainability appraisal of policies and
site options’ presents the findings of appraisal work
that has been carried out. The effects are illustrated
using matrices and scoring system set out in ‘Chapter
3 Sustainability appraisal methodology’. The likely
significant positive and negative effects are shown by
applying the scores +3 and -3 respectively. The SA
objectives used throughout the SA process address
all the required SEA topics. Appendix 2 also includes
secondary, cumulative, synergistic, short, medium
and long-term, permanent and temporary impacts.

Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017)

Annex 1 ‘Sustainability Appraisal text, methodology
and cumulative impact comments’ updates the
cumulative effects noted in appendix 2 of the
Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission Report
(2015)

Annexes 2 and 3 in the SA Update present the

findings of the additional appraisal work that has
been carried out. Effects are illustrated using the
same matrices and scoring system that was used

29

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 315



Signposting Table
SEA Directive Requirements Covered in SA

earlier in the SA process and that is described in
paragraphs 2-9 of the SA Update. As described in
paragraph 6, likely significant positive and significant
negative effects are shown by applying the scores +3
and -3 respectively. The SA objectives used
throughout the SA process address all of the
required SEA topics.

Annex 4 in the SA Update summarises the updated
cumulative sustainability effects of the Local Plan
review as a whole, taking into account the changes
proposed to the Plan.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

Table 1 and Table 2 within the addendum assesses
the likely significant effects of the options presented.
Table 3 summarises these effects and the
conclusions in the SA Addendum assesses cumulative
effects.

g) the measures envisaged to Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014):
prevent, reduce and as fully as
possible offset any significant
adverse effects on the
environment of implementing the
plan;

‘Appendix 2 Sustainability appraisal of policies and
site options’ presents the findings of appraisal work
that has been carried out. Under each appraisal a
summary of recommendations are made to prevent,
reduce or as fully as possible offset any significant
adverse effects on the environment of implementing
the plan.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report (2015):

‘Appendix 2 Sustainability appraisal of policies and
site options’ presents the findings of the appraisal
work that has been carried out. This updated version
of the SA introduces a column considering potential
mitigation measures envisaged to prevent, reduce
and as fully as possible offset any significant adverse
effects on the environment of implementing the
plan. The revised scores in the final column of the SA
matrices illustrate how the proposed mitigation

30
Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 316



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

would affect the SA scores. In a number of places this
results in potential significant effects being reduced.

Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017)

Annex 2 considers further reasonable alternatives,
new information and comments on the sustainability
appraisal of policies and site. Where appropriate
measures are recommended as ‘Changes to the Plan’
to prevent, reduce and as fully possible offset any
significant adverse effects on the environment of
implementing the plan.

The detailed SA matrices in Annex 3 include a column
considering potential mitigation measures, and the
revised scores in the final column of the SA matrices
illustrate how the proposed mitigation would affect
the SA scores. In a number of places this results in
potential significant negative effects being reduced.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

A number of the Main Modifications assessed
identify a positive effect.

h) an outline of the reasons for
selecting the alternatives dealt
with, and a description of how the
assessment was undertaken
including any difficulties (such as
technical deficiencies or lack of
know-how) encountered in
compiling the required
information;

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013)

This appraisal first introduces the proposed
framework to assess sustainability in Chapter 5 ‘A
framework to assess sustainability’.

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014)

Chapter 3 ‘Sustainability appraisal methodology’ sets
out a description of the methodology use to
undertake the assessment and the assessment of
policy options is undertaken in Appendix 2.
Alternatives were not selected at this stage as the
report was based on policy options.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
(2015)

Chapter 3 ‘Sustainability appraisal methodology’ sets
out a description of the methodology use to
undertake the assessment. This chapter also sets out

31

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 317



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

where there were technical deficiencies in which
specific data was not available at the time of the SA
assessments an uncertain effect was identified in the
full appraisals.

Chapter 4 ‘Reasons for selecting/rejecting policy
alternatives’ sets out an outline of the reasons for
selecting the alternatives dealt with.

Appendix 2 ‘Sustainability appraisal of policies and
site options’ provides the full appraisal of policy and
site options. The appraisal applies the sustainability
appraisal methodology including identifying any
difficulties encountered in compiling the required
information, where there were technical deficiencies
in which specific data was not available at the time
of the SA assessments, an uncertain effect was
identified in the full appraisals. Page 192 sets out the
appraisal guidance followed when applying the pre-
mitigation scoring system to potential allocation
sites. It’s noted that in some cases the scoring could
differ from the guidance due to site specific context
and a cumulative approach was taken when
assessing allocation sites within each objective.

Appendix 3 ‘Undeliverable site options’ sets out the
sites which were not deemed deliverable by the
SHLAA panel.

Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017)

Paragraphs 2-9 of the SA Update describe the
methodology that has been used throughout the SA
process including where there were technical
deficiencies in which specific data was not available
at the time of the SA assessments an uncertain effect
was identified in the full appraisals. The table
following paragraph 9 sets out the assumptions that
have been applied to the SA of potential site
allocations.

32

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 318



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

Information about the reasons for selecting
additional reasonable options for appraisal is
provided in Annex 2 of the SA Update.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

The reasonable alternatives and reasons for selecting
the proposed Main Modifications is set out in the SA
Addendum. Uncertainties are identified in the
assessment of options.

i) a description of the measures
envisaged concerning monitoring;

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
(2015)

Chapter 5 ‘Monitoring’ of the report sets out a
description of the measures envisaged concerning
monitoring.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

The SA Addendum references the monitoring
indicators set out in the 2015 SA report. Following
the review and appraisal of all of the Proposed Main
Modifications to the Local Plan, it is considered that
the same monitoring indicators remain appropriate
and no changes to the SA monitoring framework are
proposed.

j) a non-technical summary of the
information provided under the
above headings.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
(2015)

A non-technical summary was published with the full
Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission Report
(2015).

The report must include the
information that may reasonably
be required taking into account
current knowledge and methods
of assessment, the contents and
level of detail in the plan or
programme, its stage in the
decision-making process and the
extent to which certain matters

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013)

Provided an introduction and context of Mid Devon
District and the proposed Plan. The Report
considered relevant plans and programmes, baseline
information about Mid Devon, Sustainability issues
and problems and set out a framework to assess
sustainability for consultation.

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014)

33

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 319



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

at different levels in that process
to avoid duplication of the
assessment (Article 5.2)

are more appropriately assessed

Provided the same provisions as the Sustainability
Appraisal Scoping Report (2013) and was updated to
demonstrate the latest information available at the
time of publication and in response to the initial
consultation the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping
Report (2013). This report also first introduces the
findings of appraisal work on the policies proposed in
the Local Plan Review and the likely significant
effects. It provides a description of how the
assessment was undertaken including any difficulties
encountered in compiling the required information.
It also makes recommendations for mitigation
measures. However decisions for preferred
alternatives were not taken at this stage as the Plan
was out for consultation on the options for the Local
Plan Review. Chapter 1 set out the compliance with
the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive
and Regulations which identifies three areas that
would be more appropriately addressed at a later
stage of the SA process; the outline of the reasons
for selecting alternatives dealt with, a description of
the measures envisaged concerning monitoring and
the non-technical summary.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
(2015)

Provided the same provisions of the Interim
Sustainability Appraisal (2014) and was updated to
demonstrate the latest information available at the
time of publication. The update also responded to
the consultation on the Interim Sustainability
Appraisal (2014). This report introduces a mitigation
column in the appraisals which sets out revised
scores demonstrating how the mitigation proposed
could affect the SA scores. The Sustainability
Appraisal Proposed Submission (2015) also sets out
an outline of reasons for selecting the alternatives
dealt with, a description of the measures envisaged

concerning monitoring and provides a non-technical

34

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 320



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

summary. The SA Proposed Submission incorporates
all of the information reasonably required.

Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017)

As noted in paragraph 1 of the update report, the
update to the Sustainability Appraisal has been
undertaken to take into account comments made at
the 2015 Proposed Submission Stage consultation
and proposed modifications to the Local Plan
Review. The requirements not met in the SA Update
are met in previous iterations of the Sustainability
Appraisal.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

Appendix 2 provides updates to the Baseline and
Evidence Base.

Who should be consulted during SEA/SA process

Authorities with environmental
responsibility, when deciding on
the scope and level of detail of
the information which must be
included in the environmental
report (Article 5.4)

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013):

Chapter 6 ‘Consultation’ identifies that the Council
provided the opportunity to the three statutory
environmental consultation bodies at the time of the
scoping report which were Natural England, the
Environment Agency and English Heritage (now
Historic England). The opportunity to comment on
the scope and level of detail of the information
contained within the scoping report was also
provided to local communities and other bodies on 8
July 2013 for 6 weeks. Every person and organisation
including statutory consultees that appeared on the
Mid Devon Local Development Framework database
at the time of publication was informed of the
opportunity to comment on the Local Plan Review
Scoping Report and associated documents including
the Sustainability Appraisal.

Authorities with environmental
responsibility and the public, shall
be given an early and effective
opportunity within appropriate

Interim Sustainability Appraisal (2014):

Chapter 4 ‘Next steps’ invites representations on the
contents of the Local Plan Review and this

35

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 321



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

time frames to express their
opinion on the draft plan or
programme and the
accompanying environmental
report before the adoption of the
plan or programme (Article 6.1,
6.2)

accompanying Sustainability Appraisal. Consultation
was held on 24 January 2014 for 8 weeks. Every
person and organisation including statutory
consultees that appeared on the Mid Devon Local
Development Framework database at the time of
publication was informed of the opportunity to
comment on the Local Plan Review Options
Consultation Report and associated documents
including the Sustainability Appraisal.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
(2015)

Consultation was held on 9% February 2015 for 11
weeks. Every person and organisation including
statutory consultees that appeared on the Mid
Devon Local Development Framework database at
the time of publication was informed of the
opportunity to comment on the Local Plan Review
Proposed Submission Report and associated
documents including the Sustainability Appraisal.

Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017)

Consultation was held on 3 January 2017 for 6
weeks. Every person and organisation including
statutory consultees that appeared on the Mid
Devon Local Development Framework database at
the time of publication was informed of the
opportunity to comment on the Local Plan Review
Proposed Submission Report (incorporating
proposed modifications) and associated documents
including the Sustainability Appraisal.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

Consultation was held on 6% January 2020 for 6
weeks. Every person and organisation including
statutory consultees that appeared on the Mid
Devon Local Development Framework database at
the time of publication was informed of the

opportunity to comment on Proposed Main

36

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 322



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

Modifications to the Plan and associated documents
including the Sustainability Appraisal.

Other EU Member States, where
the implementation of the plan or
programme is likely to have
significant effects on the
environment of that country
(Article 7)

Not relevant to the SA of the Mid Devon Local Plan.

Decision-making

The environmental report and the
results of the consultations must
be taken into account in decision-
making (Article 8)

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2013)

Consultation was undertaken on the Local Plan
Review Scoping Report and the Sustainability
Appraisal Scoping Report.

Interim Sustainability Appraisal Report (2014)

The Local Plan Review Options Consultation report
was submitted to Cabinet on 9 January 2014 and was
agreed for approval for public consultation and
authority to be given to the Head of Planning and
Regeneration, in consultation with the Cabinet
Member for Planning, to make minor editorial
changes to the text and maps.

Chapter 3 ‘Sustainability appraisal methodology’ of
the Interim Sustainability Appraisal Report (2014)
sets out a summary of the consultation responses
received during 2013 consultation Local Plan Review
Scoping Report and the Sustainability Appraisal
Scoping Report (2013) and noted that the SA would
be updated following consultation to take account of
the responses received during the consultation.

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report (2015)

The Local Plan Review Proposed Submission report
was submitted to three Cabinet meetings for

approval for publication and submission subject to
confirmation by Full Council by area (West, Central

and East) on 27 November, 4 December and 11

37

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 323



Signposting Table
SEA Directive Requirements Covered in SA

December 2014. Relevant extracts from the
Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission Report
was provided at each Cabinet meeting. The full
Sustainability Appraisal was also made available to
members on the Council’s website to be considered
alongside reports pack. Approval was also sought for
the Sustainability Appraisal incorporating the
Strategic Environmental Assessment, the Draft
Habitats Regulations Assessment and other evidence
produced in the process of the plan’s preparation to
be published for consultation alongside the Local
Plan. Thirdly approval was sought for authority given
to the Head of Planning and Regeneration, in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning,
to make minor changes to the text and maps. Final
approval by Full Council was made on the 17t
December 2014 for consultation in 2015.

Chapter 3 ‘Sustainability appraisal methodology’ of
the Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
Report (2015) sets out a summary of the
consultation responses received during the two
previous consultations on the Local Plan Review and
Sustainability Appraisal and notes that the comments
were incorporated into the Sustainability Appraisal
Proposed Submission Report (2015).

Chapter 4 ‘Reasons for selecting/rejecting policy
alternatives’ sets out a summary of the reasons for
selecting/rejecting the strategic, allocation and
development management policy alternatives.

A statement of consultation before Local Plan
publication was provided at the same time of
consultation which set out the main issues raised
during previous consultation and how these were
responded to. Comments received in previous
consultations and how the sustainability appraisal
results were taken into account in decision-making
are also demonstrated through the Local Plan Review

38
Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 324



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

Proposed Submission (February 2015) Consultation
Summary Document.

Request for a J27 implications Report (2016)

A request by members was made in 2016 for a J27
implications Report which looked at the implications
if members were minded to allocate J27 as part of
the Local Plan Review Proposed Submission. This
report was taken to Cabinet on the 15 September
2016 which set out the history of the J27 proposal
and decisions previously made by members and the
implications of allocating J27. The report also
identified that if members were minded to make a
modification to the plan to allocate land at J27, sites
for an additional 260 dwellings will also need to be
allocated in the Local Plan. Alternative housing
option sites were set out to members based on a
selection criteria as follows: sites previously
consulted on as part of the Local Plan Review
Options consultation (January 2014) or received as a
local plan representation; sites considered by the
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
Panel; compliance with the Local Plan Review
Distribution Strategy; and proximate to the
development proposal at Junction 27.

The 2015 SA was publically available at the time the
Implications Report was presented to members in
2016 and the draft 2015 SA was presented to
members previously in the 2014 Cabinet (27
November, 4 December, 11 December) and Council
meetings (17 December 2014). The Sustainability
Appraisal was not mentioned in the Implications
Report; however there is an apparent synergy in the
reasons set out in the Implications Report and the
Sustainability Appraisal (2015).

Cabinet proposed a recommendation to Council that
a 6 week consultation period take place prior to the
submission of the Local Plan, Land at Junction 27 of
the M5 be allocated for leisure retail and tourism

39

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 325



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

development and associated additional housing sites
giving the extra provision of 260 additional homes be
allocated at Blundells Road, Tiverton and Higher
Town, Sampford Peverell. The recommendations of
Cabinet as set out above were taken to Council on 22
September 2016 and were approved. The plan as a
whole was subsequently considered at the meetings
of Cabinet on 21 November and Council 01
December 2016 where it was agreed that the Local
Plan Review incorporating proposed modifications
be publicised and consulted on for 6 weeks, and that
delegated authority be given to the Head of Planning
and Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet
Member for Planning for the plan’s subsequent
submission to the Planning Inspectorate for
examination together with its supporting
documentation. After consultation, the plan was
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate together
with supporting documentation on 31 March 2017
under the delegated authority.

Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017)

The Local Plan Review Proposed Submission report
(incorporating proposed modifications) was
submitted to Cabinet on 21 November 2016 for a
recommendation of approval for publication and
consultation, and that delegated authority be given
to the Head of Planning and Regeneration in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning
for the plan’s subsequent submission to the Planning
Inspectorate for examination together with its
supporting documentation to full Council. The
amended Local Plan Review incorporated the
recommendations made at Council on 22 September
2016. A summary of the modifications proposed
were summarised in the report pack with the full
schedule of modifications appended to the report for
viewing.

The report references the Sustainability Appraisal

and the findings of the Sustainability Appraisal

40

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 326



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

process. The report notes that the Local Plan Review
has been subject to Sustainability Appraisal during its
preparation. The appraisal is an iterative process
informing the development of the Local Plan Review
and has been published alongside each stage of
consultation. The Sustainability Appraisal assesses
the likely significant effects of the Local Plan,
focussing on the environmental, economic and social
impacts. The latest version was updated to consider
the latest available evidence including reasonable
alternatives proposed through consultation
responses. The Sustainability Appraisal Update
concludes that the proposals set out in the Local Plan
Review together with the schedule of modifications
are the most appropriate given the reasonable
alternatives available. The report identifies that the
Sustainability Appraisal and other updated evidence
produced in the process of the plan’s preparation
will be made available for comment during the Local
Plan Review proposed modifications consultation.

The report also makes reference to the Planning
Policy Advisory Group which considered all
paperwork accompanying the report. The report
summarises the considerations of the group and
their recommendations to Cabinet. The
recommendations to Cabinet on the 21 November
2016 were agreed and were submitted to full Council
on 01 December 2016. The submission to full Council
included the report pack presented to Cabinet which
contained reference to the Sustainability Appraisal
for approval and were agreed.

Para 1 of the Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017)
sets out that this update to the Sustainability
Appraisal has been undertaken to take into account
comments made at the 2015 Proposed Submission
Stage consultation and proposed modification to the
Local Plan Review. The summary matrices in Annex 2
relating to the additional reasonable alternative

options considered for each policy topic include a

41

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 327



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

final row which states which option has been taken
forward as a proposed change to the Plan if relevant,
or if no changes are proposed to the Plan policies,
why this is.

Consultation was undertaken on the Sustainability
Appraisal Update (2017) and the Local Plan Review
Proposed Submission (incorporating proposed
modifications) (2017). A statement of consultation
was provided at the same time as this consultation
which set out the main issues raised during previous
three consultations and how these were responded
to. Schedule of Proposed Modifications (Proposed
Submission consultation) (November 2016) and and
the Sustainability Appraisal Update (2017) also
demonstrate how the results of the consultations
were taken into account.

Comments received during this consultation
including how the sustainability appraisal results
were taken into account in decision-making are
demonstrated through the Local Plan Review
Proposed Submission (January 2017) Consultation
Summary Document and the schedule of Proposed
Minor Modifications (2017).

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

The Main Modifications report along with the SA
Addendum (2019) was approved for consultation at
Cabinet 21 November 2019 and Council 4 December
2019. The Cabinet report summarised the
conclusions of the SA Addendum (2019) and included
the full SA Addendum at Appendix 3 of the Cabinet
report.

Provision of information on the decision

When the plan or programme is
adopted, the public and any
countries consulted under Article
7 must be informed and the

Adopted Mid Devon Local Plan Sustainability
Appraisal Post-Adoption Statement — [Insert Date]

This document is published alongside the adoption
of the Local Plan and sets out a statement

42

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 328



Signposting Table

SEA Directive Requirements

Covered in SA

so informed:

e the plan or programme as
adopted

e a statement summarising how
environmental considerations
have been integrated into the
plan or programme and how
the environmental report of
Article 5, the opinions
expressed pursuant to Article 6
and the results of consultations
entered into pursuant to Article
7 have been taken into account
in accordance with Article 8,
and the reasons for choosing
the plan or programme as
adopted, in the light of the
other reasonable alternatives
dealt with; and

e the measures decided
concerning monitoring (Article
9)

following made available to those

summarising how environmental considerations
have been integrated into the plan, how the
Environmental Report (contained within the SA
Report) has been taken into account during the
preparation of the plan, how the options expressed
by the public and consultation bodies on the plan
and the Environmental/SA report have been taken
into account, the reasons for choosing the plan as
adopted in light of the other reasonable alternatives
considered and measures that are to be taken to
monitor the significant environmental effects of the
implementation of the plan.

Monitoring

Monitoring of the significant
environmental effects of the
plan's or programme's
implementation must be
undertaken (Article 10)

Sustainability Appraisal Proposed Submission
(2015)

Chapter 5 ‘Monitoring’ sets out how the Plan will be
monitored.

Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (2019)

The SA Addendum references the monitoring
indicators set out in the 2015 SA report. Following
the review and appraisal of all of the Proposed Main
Modifications to the Local Plan, it is considered that
the same monitoring indicators remain appropriate
and no changes to the SA monitoring framework are
proposed.

43

Appendix 7 — SA Post Adoption Statement

Page 329




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 8

Mr P Griffiths

c/o The Planning Inspectorate
Temple Quay House

2 The Square

Mid

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Forward Planning
Development Management
Phoenix House

Phoenix Lane

Bristol Ez\%tﬁ n
BS1 6PN EX16 6PP
Tel: 01884 234344
Fax: 01884 234235
e-mail:  tpeat@middevon.gov.uk
Your Ref: Date: 5% December 2019
My Ref: Contact:  Mr Tristan Peat
Dear Mr Giriffiths,

Mid Devon Local Plan Review examination / Request for Main Modifications / Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Section 20 (7C)

| am writing to confirm that the Council requests you to recommend main modifications to the Mid
Devon Local Plan Review, under section 20(7c) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004, in order for it to be made sound and legally compliant.

| also wish to let you know that following your communication on 27" September 2019 the Council
will now proceed to consult on proposed Main Modifications in early January 2020. These
proposed Main Modifications follow the advice contained in your Post Hearings Advice Note dated
21t May 2019, together with additional (minor) modifications, an addendum to the Sustainability
Appraisal, an addendum to the Habitat Regulations Assessment and an addendum to the
Equalities Impact Assessment. Following this consultation these documents (with the exception of
the additional (minor) modifications) will be submitted to you together with the consultation
responses received on them.

Yours sincerely,

Tristan Peat

Tristan Peat
Forward Planning Team Leader for Mid Devon District Council

Requests for alternative formats will be considered on an individual basis

Please telephone 01884 255255 or email customerfirst@ middevon.gov.uk
To contact your local Councillor, his/her name and address can be obtained by visiting our website or telephoning Customer First on 01884 255255

Page 331

2NONST



This page is intentionally left blank



Hﬁﬂﬂ.ﬂ.ﬂ—'ﬂ\\i\ 4“11\%

Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033
N

Plan MM35
Proposed Main Modification to Policy CU21
Scale 1:3000
October 2019

Cullompton

ok G

Land at Colebrook, Cullompton

i
2
£
=y WA
- [ H
=i H
-
s 5 515
.w.1..m. sE4
o N E = S22
22358 E iF
<03 3 EE
30 B
=] . 5% £ 3%
o ..mpm @ ._WM/A
-l 2 Qg E _ 24z
g @ (] O T Suw
2 ( 58 9B
BRS B SRz
£ Sﬁ.ﬂ Sm SE
3 T83T 5Bl
I ] [ H
& ¥a=58 & T3%s
Fi

Page 333




This page is intentionally left blank



Mount
leasan

7 3 s ¥ s ¥ > F ? :r#
E ]
=
N\
N\
g : q v — ﬁ
s

N

[ooo o’ o

303000

302700 @ soo\"\sny/wo

@52 o
o
Q>
w
S
3 g
gpan=
2
§ g
] -z
i i N\ \

Settlement Limit

Proposed Settlement Limit
Amendment -

Proposed Residential and
GP Surgery Allocation

County Wildlife Site (2007 data)

Conservation Area

O

Local Nature Reserve I:l:l

O
0

PROPOSED CHANGES
Proposed Residential [I]

Priority Habitats
Floodplain

Proposed Green
Infrastructure

Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033

Plan MM45
Proposed Main Modification to Policy SP2
Higher Town, Sampford Peverell

Scale
1:6000

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016, OS 100022292
Note: The Ordnance Survey will not have updated the base to show recent changes.
Consequently, not all development may be shown.

Page 335

October
2019



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 7.

CABINET
9 JULY 2020

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION

REOPENING OUR HIGH STREETS SAFELY

Cabinet Member(s): Councillor Graeme Barnell, Cabinet Member for Planning
& Regeneration

Responsible Officer: Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration

Reason for Report:

The Reopening High Streets Safely Fund (RHSSF) provides £50 million nationally
from the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) to put in place measures
to establish a safe trading environment for businesses and customers, particularly
in high streets. Of this figure, this Council has been awarded £73,686.

It is vital that the Council considers its response to mitigate the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the District's economy. The RHSSF enables the Council
to put in place urgent measures to support economic recovery in our towns,
particularly in the high streets, by establishing a safe trading environment for
businesses and customers through a mix of advice / support and implementation
of a range of measures.

RECOMMENDATION:
1. That the report be noted.

2. That the action plan to date be approved and delegated power be
granted to the Group Manager for Growth Economy and Delivery and the
Group Manager for Corporate Property and Commercial Assets in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic
Regeneration to continue to develop and review the action plan, to
implement or fund measures within scope of the Government guidance
in accordance with the action plan.

Financial Implications: £73,686 has been granted by the Government to this
Council through the ERDF to implement a range of measures that will allow for the
safe reopening of high streets and to also provide business advice and support in
terms of the same.

Local authorities will be able to spend money on eligible activities from 1 June 2020
to 31 March 2021 and claim it back from Cities and Local Growth Unit (CLGU) in
arrears. Up to 4% administration costs can be claimed from the fund amount. Claims
will be paid quarterly. Evidence of each transaction must be retained, and include;

e Invoices/receipts, purchase orders/contracts, payroll records, bank statements
and accounting records;

¢ Employment and salary costs must be evidenced by job descriptions;
contracts of employment, payroll records and bank statements;

e Core documents for any procurement carried out; and copies of all publicity
materials

MDDC Report Reopening High Streets Safely Fund
VR Y Pa@e 337



e Details of procurements included in the claim
e A progress report for the claim period
e Additional reporting including footfall should be retained

Budget and Policy Framework: Due to funding via the ERDF, it is not expected
that the measures in question will directly impact upon the Council’s budget in their
implementation.

Legal Implications: The detail of the requirements of this ERDF grant will be
covered in a Funding Agreement which in guidance, the Government states it
expects to have agreed with all local authorities by the end of June 2020. This will
establish the basis for the grant and that it cannot be used to support capital
expenditure.

Risk Assessment:

In considering measures to support the safe reopening of the high streets within the
District as a result of COVD-19, a risk assessment led approach has purposely been
followed. Risk assessments have been carried out for all towns within the district
incorporating a series of on-site assessments. Guidance and advice on safety in a
post COVID-19 world has been at the core of this risk assessment process and is
vital to ensure that risk is reduced and customer and trader confidence.

A copy of the risk assessment is attached to this document within Appendix 1 at
Annex 1.

Equality Impact Assessment. The risk assessment process undertaken had
regard to equality issues at this stage. As the project goes forward it will need to
consider the views from representatives from protected groups that the project has
the potential to impact upon.

Relationship to Corporate Plan: The reopening of our High Streets safely
contributes particularly to the following three themes: economy, community and
environment and is central to the delivery of many of the aims identified within the
Corporate Plan. It is a significant intervention to safeguard the welfare of our
residents, visitors and businesses and crucial to our economic recovery.

Impact on Climate Change: The reopening the High Streets safely initiative will
help local residents to ‘buy local’. It also considers sustainable transport options as
part of the ongoing assessments including pedestrian and cycle arrangements. This
initiative will complement emerging recovery plans which will place emphasis on
building back our economy better by actively pursuing opportunities to help tackle
climate change and support green businesses.

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 Monday 15" June 2020 saw the permitted reopening of our High Streets with
restrictions on non-essential retail being lifted. Up until that date, activity deemed to
be ‘essential’ during the pandemic lockdown period were the only businesses legally
able to remain open. As the COVID-19 pandemic is still very much with us, this
latest round of easing of restrictions are part of the Government’s phased response

MDDC Report R ing High Streets Safely Fund
ML eport Reopening High Streets Safely Fun Page %38



to the crisis and therefore need to be accompanied by careful consideration to public
safety whilst also endeavouring to rebuild customer confidence.

1.2  The recently established ‘Reopening your High Streets Safely’ fund is an early
step with regard to economic recovery. Officers are currently engaged in working
closely with partners on recovery plans. The Government recommends using the
High Street Task Force COVID-19 Recovery Framework as a guide to help
formulate and deliver recovery. This framework is made up of four phases shown
below. This grant allocation relates primarily to the pre-recovery and recovery
phases.

2 Pre-recovery 4  Transformation
Building capacity for recovery Supporting place leaders to
and transformation . .. transform their high streets
& Q
pltalsaten  pecsupary """ i ®@ =
@ ? E.Eﬂ Strong Funding / Delivering
# partnerships Investment the vision
Networking & Coordination & Making a
iy kg Fey o

2.0 THE REOPENING HIGH STREETS SAFELY FUND

2.1 The Reopening High Streets Safely Fund is intended to assist local authorities to
put in place additional measures to establish a safe trading environment for
businesses and customers, particularly in high streets. This ERDF (European
Regional Development Fund) grant will be available until the end of March 2021;
however given the fund is to respond to the immediate needs in 2020 the
government is encouraging early spend. The fund is not intended for capital works
and is focussed on:

e Supporting development of an action plan for how the local authority may begin
to safely reopen their local economies;

e Communications and public information activity to ensure that reopening of
local economies can be managed successfully and safely;

e Business-facing awareness raising activities to ensure that reopening of local
economies can be managed successfully and safely; and

o Temporary public realm changes to ensure that reopening of local economies
can be managed successfully and safely.

2.2  Government guidance on the operation of the fund sets out using examples
the activities that are in, or out, of scope for the fund.

In scope Out of scope

e Updates to public realm changes, if social o Place marketing signage or activity
distancing rules are updated.

Signage aimed at increasing safety
e Pavement markings
e Lamppost banners

¢ Cleaning
e Staff or contractor costs for cleaning

MDDC R rt R ing High Streets Safely Fund
P0G Reor Foparin i Svees S3e s Pl 339



e Hoardings

Consumables
Pressure washing

Financial Partnering with other Tiers of Authority
LA’s in receipt of RHSS funds can where
appropriate establish formal Delivery
Partner arrangements with other Tiers of
Local Authority.

Financial support to businesses on the High Street

NSA
e Grants to businesses

Provision of PPE / cleaning / shop

adaptations

Financial support for a business to extend

their licensing / permissions (e.g. for outdoor

tables and chairs).

Business to business or Business to

customer campaign collateral

Traffic management on the High Street or NSAs
Pedestrianisation of High Streets / NSAs
One way traffic systems that are temporary
and linked to the pedestrianisation

o Staff or agency costs for traffic management

e Widening footpaths
Temporary barriers
Markings outside shops to manage

queuing

e Greening of streets
Artwork, planters, vinyls etc to increase
attractiveness of area or disguise empty shops

Seating areas

On-street parking, where the temporary change is to
remove existing parking facilities to allow for social
distancing (e.g. by widening pedestrian routes)

Car parks

Changes to signage

Changes to layout

Both public and private car parks are out of
scope

Information Officers working with SMEs to provide
advice on safe reopening

Employed by the Local Authority

External consultants which have been

Staff to manage or support the public on the High
Street

e High Street ambassadors

procured in an ERDF-compliant manner : g’:)es\:;rds
1-2-1 advice to SMEs is eligible as long as it is S ity staff
available to all businesses on that High Street ° ecurtty stait ,
NSA e Public information officers
Adaptations to existing cycle lanes within the e New cvcle lanes
defined high street and NSA areas linked to change oy
to footpaths (to enable social distancing) » Provision of cycle racks / storage
Toilets

Hand sanitiser stations on supported High Streets
Neighbourhood Shopping Areas (NSAs)

Adaptations to public or private toilets
New toilet facilities
Staff costs to clean or manage toilets

Communications and public information activity to
ensure that reopening of local economies can be
managed successfully and safely

Digital

Media and press

Print and publications

Creation or development of a Local Authority action

plan to reopen High Streets safely

2.3

Grants will be awarded to local authorities on the basis of population which

will serve as a proxy for the footfall anticipated on the high streets and the

degree of safeguarding required.
allocated £73,686.

24

Mid Devon District Council has been

The project must comply with ERDF grant funding requirements and measures

must use the ERDF branding requirements.

MDDC Report Reopening High Streets Safely Fund
V1

Page 340




3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3.

3.4

4.0

4.1

A&l

ACTION PLAN

Initial work has been undertaken to form an Action Plan, however this is very
much work in progress. It is important to note that this action plan is a live
document and will be updated over the coming months as risk assessments in
our town centres are reviewed. Appendix 1 is the latest position at the time
of writing. Given that this is a fast changing situation a verbal update will be
provided at the meeting.

The Action Plan sets out the District Council’'s proposed approach to
implementing measures to establish a safe trading environment for
businesses and customers in our town centres in response to the COVID-19
pandemic. It does not go into the wider issues of recovery planning such as
those we are currently working on with Devon County Council and partners;
however it is mindful of the Re-start, Re-grow and Re-set concepts that
underpin that emerging work. It also is informed by the High Street Task
Force COVID-19 Recovery Framework referred to above.

The scope of the Action Plan covers the following towns: Tiverton, Crediton,
Cullompton and Bampton. Bradninch, which does not have any significant
non-essential retail provision, is not included; however officers have been and
continue to be in discussion with Bradninch Town Council to share risk
assessment work and provide assistance.

This Action Plan is broken down into a three stage implementation process. A
phased approach is considered appropriate given that the situation is ever
changing. The first relates to the immediate measures that were needed to be
implemented prior to High Streets opening on the 15" June. The second
phase covers the medium term actions (2-3 months) informed by ongoing
dialogue with the Town Councils, business organisations/trader groups and
DCC. The final phase will respond to any changes needed over the autumn
which could arise from a number of issues including customer/trader
perceptions and behaviour, changing government guidance and crucially the
extent of the virus at that time.

INITIAL WORKS UNDERTAKEN IN ADVANCE OF HIGH STREETS
OPENING

The Action Plan (Appendix 1) sets out a range of the initial temporary
measures implemented within the first phase. These have included
reconfigured pedestrian arrangements in the following locations:

e In Tiverton the Pannier Market area will have separate entry and exit
points on all sides, next to Boots pedestrians are asked to keep left and
at Westexe North there is a one-way system to and from the shops.

e In Cullompton from Station Road (Forge Way) car park it will be one-
way to the shop beside Clarks Court returning via Higher Mill Lane.

e In Crediton from High Street (St Saviours Way) car park pedestrians
are asked to keep left in Silbury Place to the shops and on their return.

MDDC Report Reopening High Streets Safely Fund Page 341



4.2

5.0

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.0

6.1

6.2

A&l

Other changes members may have noticed in our larger towns include some
of the following:

Signage to maintain social distancing: throughout our town centres, car parks
and open spaces

Changes to some paths and walkways: you may see barriers indicating one-
way systems and no entry points.

Signs providing advice at gathering points: such as at bus stops / bus station /
seating areas / bicycle parking and ticket vend machines

Space will be created on footpaths to allow queuing outside shops. Shops will
have their own markings and instructions for their customers that you will
need to follow.

ENGAGEMENT

Owing to the need for expedience in delivering immediate safety measures
liasison was focussed on local ward members, the Town Councils and the
Local Resilience Forum. The business community were also contacted
through business fora and trader organisations to share information and
advice via our webpages.

A forum for discussion with the Town Mayors has also been established which
has proven to be very useful. This has led to greater collaborative working
and has been instrumental in better understanding any immediate changes
sought to the emergency public realm measures and changes have been
made where possible. More liaison opportunities will develop through the
process. For instance Tiverton Town Council, with the support of Mid Devon,
have recently set up a webinar to assist Cafes, pubs and restaurants with
their reopening requirements for 4 July 2020.

It should be noted that as further measures develop over the coming months
the subsequent phases will involve still closer working with the Town
Councils, local ward members, business organisations, traders and the
County Council.

LOVE YOUR TOWN CENTRE FUND

Members may recall that at the informal meeting of the Economy PDG in
February we discussed setting up a fund for supporting local initiatives to
assist the revitalisation and regeneration of Town Centres. Given the
importance of town centre recovery and revitalisation at this time, and
following discussion with the Economy PDG Chair and the Portfolio holder for
Planning and Regeneration, a fund is being set up from within existing
budgets. The first tranche of which has taken the form of providing a grant to
the three largest Town Councils (Crediton, Cullompton and Tiverton) of £5k to
spend on quick-win projects that support:

1. the safe resumption and use of our high streets and town centre activities
2. activities that increase shopper confidence in our town centres

The Town Councils have been notified and they are currently considering
projects to fund. We have encouraged the Town Councils to supplement this
fund where possible. The Town Councils will be accountable for managing

MDDC Report Reopening High Streets Safely FundPage g42



the grant towards projects in its town centre. As the fund exists to help
identify new ideas to benefit town centres, it is not anticipated that the fund
should be used for existing town centre activities or events, unless it is
specifically for a new element/phase of that project.

6.3 The Town Councils are welcome to spend the fund on projects identified by
themselves or may wish to ask local organisations to put forward and deliver
ideas. However, we would expect the fund to be spent within the next six
weeks.

6.4 It is envisaged that the Town Centre grant would be a first phase of grant
funded support to assist with the regeneration of our town centres. We intend
to make a second tranche of funding available soon which will be run and
administered by the District Council. We would also very much welcome the
Town Councils engagement with that fund along with other town centre
partners. More information will be made available to members soon.

Contact for more Information: Adrian Welsh, Group Manager — Growth,
Economy and Delivery
awelsh@middevon.gov.uk

Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy
and Regeneration
jclifford@middevon.gov.uk

Circulation of the Report: Clir Graeme Barnell

List of Background Papers:
Reopening High Streets Safely Fund Guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/888818/Reopening_High_ Streets Safely Fund - Guidance -

Final v2.pdf
Reopening High Streets Safely Fund Frequently Asked Questions
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/893067/Reopening_High Streets Safely Fund FAQ_V3.pdf

MDDC Report Reopening High Streets Safely Fund
VR Y Pade 343


mailto:awelsh@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:jclifford@middevon.gov.uk
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/888818/Reopening_High_Streets_Safely_Fund_-_Guidance_-_Final_v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/888818/Reopening_High_Streets_Safely_Fund_-_Guidance_-_Final_v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/888818/Reopening_High_Streets_Safely_Fund_-_Guidance_-_Final_v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/893067/Reopening_High_Streets_Safely_Fund_FAQ_V3.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/893067/Reopening_High_Streets_Safely_Fund_FAQ_V3.pdf

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Reopening Town Centres Safely

Action Plan

Last Update: 26 June 2020

Introduction

This Action Plan sets out the District Council’s proposed approach to implementing measures to
establish a safe trading environment for businesses and customers in our town centres in response
to the COVID-19 pandemic. It provides a context for the spend of the £73,686, recently announced
ERDF (European Regional Development Fund) that Government has allocated to the District. It does
not go into the wider issues of recovery planning such as those we are currently working on with
Devon County Council and partners; however it is mindful of the Re-start, Re-grow and Re-set

concepts that underpin that emerging work.

It is important to note that this action plan is a live document and will be updated over the coming

months as risk assessments in our town centres are reviewed.

This ERDF (European Regional Development Fund) grant will be available until the end of March
2021, although given the nature of the funding and size of the award it is intended that it is spent by

the end of this year to address immediate needs in 2020.

The scope of this Action Plan covers the following towns: Tiverton, Crediton, Cullompton and
Bampton. Bradninch, which does not have any significant non-essential retail provision, is not
included; however officers have been and continue to be in discussion with Bradninch Town Council

to share risk assessment work and provide assistance.

This Action Plan is broken down into a three stage implementation process. These phases are as

follows:
Phase Description
One Immediate safety actions arising from Risk Assessments,

initial media messaging and business notifications and
advice provided.

Two Medium term actions arising from early review of the
situation informed by ongoing dialogue with the Town
Councils, business organisations/trader groups and
DCC. Ongoing Media campaign.

Three This phase will respond to any changes needed over the
autumn which could arise from a number of issues
including customer/trader perceptions and behaviour,
changing government guidance and crucially the extent
of the virus at that time.

Timescale

Implemented 15 June 2020

2-3 months

6 months

A phased approach is essential to consider the ever changing environment. Whilst the lockdown has
started to ease, at this stage no one is aware of what will happen with the impact of the virus or
when things will change. This plan therefore has a phased approach and will be continually reviewed
and refreshed in order to address these changing circumstances and guidance.

Page 345



Phase 1 - Temporary Public Realm Measures, Business Assistance and Media
Campaign

Temporary Public Realm Measures

The purpose of the introduction of temporary public realm measures was to ensure that town
centres are surveyed and interventions implemented, where appropriate, in order to deliver a safe
retail environment, which adheres to the Government guidelines of social distancing and other

safety measures. The risk assessments are live documents which are regularly being updated. The
initial risk assessment is included as Annex 1.

The Initial Risk Assessment Work

The initial and immediate public realm assessments were extensive and focussed on, but were not
limited to, the following areas:

B Narrow pavements;

> Pinchpoints;

» Alley ways;

» Passing queues;

® Blind corners;

» car parks (payment machines);

» Gathering places (e.g. benches);
» Shop queues/overlapping; and

B General movement around the town.

The following table sets out some of the immediate temporary public realm measures which were
considered as part of the first phase:

The Initial Temporary Public Realm Toolkit of Measures

The initial and immediate public realm measures were extensive and included consideration of a
combination of the following actions:

D Signage: social distancing (repeater signage), road safety posters, stickers, variable message
signs and use of pavement stencils;

Traffic management pedestrian / vehicle / cycle: routes and way marking (including narrow
alley ways — one way systems);

Temporary barriers and cones, physical works;
Pavement markings (impact on narrow pavements) and shop queues;
Possible parking restrictions to address spillage into roads;

Possible parking restrictions to address spillage into roads; and

Benches — sanitising, bus stops — signage and passenger notifications.

Page 346




The Phase One initial temporary measures also included the following pedestrian management
measures in our three largest towns:

< In Tiverton the Pannier Market area will have separate entry and exit points on all sides,
next to Boots pedestrians are asked to keep left and at Westexe North there is a one-way
system to and from the shops.

< Cullompton from Station Road (Forge Way) car park it will be one-way to the shop beside
Clarks Court returning via Higher Mill Lane.

< Crediton from High Street (St Saviours Way) car park pedestrians are asked to keep left in
Silbury Place to the shops and on their return.

Public convenience were also brought back into operation in Phase 1. Annex 2 sets out the Public
Conveniences within the District and which show where Disabled Public Conveniences have been
converted to Unisex toilets to ensure social distancing can be maintained.

Engagement
The initial risk assessments were shared with local ward members and town councils. Owing to the

need for expedience in delivering immediate safety measures liaison was focussed on local ward
members, the Town Councils and the Local Resilience Forum. As explained in the following section
the business community were alerted as to some of their requirements and signposted to more
information on our webpages through use of established business organisations and trader groups.

It should be noted that as further measures develop over the coming months the subsequent phases
will involve still closer working with the Town Councils, Local Ward Members, business
organisations, traders and the County Council.

Business Assistance

In order for shops to open their doors, there are specific COVID-19 Secure guidelines that businesses
need to meet to protect their staff and customers. We have brought all the workplace guidance
together onto one webpage: https://www.middevon.gov.uk/BusinessReopeningHelp . This covers
information such as:

e Changes businesses can expect to see around the larger towns
e Information to help business reopen safely
o COVID-19 secure guidelines
o The Government’s five main steps to become COVID-19 secure
o HSE Guidance
o Links to the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS)
webinars on how to make a workplace Coronavirus secure
o BBfA Toolkit of measures Better Business for All
o Useful Posters and proformas are also included
e Signposting to business grant support and assistance

We have also designed a template poster for shops to display in their windows (downloadable from
the webpage) which informs the customer of the procedures in place for that business. Town
councils have also been asked to assist with the distribution of hard copies for distribution. We
thought it would be useful if all the shops had the same poster for customers to spot easily. This

Page 347


https://www.middevon.gov.uk/BusinessReopeningHelp

information has been publicised through business fora, traders’ groups, town councils and press
releases.

Media Campaign

In the first phase of the Action Plan a number of different press releases, advertisements, sighage
and social media messaging has been produced. Some examples are shown below:

e keeP
;‘,f,? distance

‘::,__';‘ L
=

The media campaign will be ongoing. We have a promotional strategy in place which covers the
Phase 1 and also the first part of Phase 2. This will need to be reviewed as the work continues. The
current version is included as Annex 3.

Phase 2 - Medium term actions arising from early review of the situation
Phase 2 will be informed by ongoing dialogue with the Town Councils, business
organisations/trader groups and DCC. It will also involve ongoing media campaigns which will react
to the latest situation and government guidance and messaging.

As with the other recovery planning work this is likely to be increasingly sectoral based and aimed
over time at bringing other town centre operations back into public access. This wider reopening
will necessitate a review of phase 1 and the success of the interventions undertaken. The Council
will need to identify and respond to the changing situation.

A forum for discussion with the Town Mayors has also been established which has proven to be
very useful. This has led to greater collaborative working and has been instrumental in better
understanding any immediate changes sought to the emergency public realm measures and changes
have been made where possible. In addition Tiverton Town Council, with the support of Mid Devon,
set up a webinar to assist Cafes, pubs and restaurants with their reopening requirements for 4 July
2020.

Ward Members will continue to be updated, along with regular updates being provided to the
Economy Policy Development Group Members.

The media campaign will be ongoing. As explained above we have a promotional strategy in place
which covers the first part of Phase 2. This will need to be reviewed as the work continues. The
current version is included as Annex 3.

Page 348



Phase 3: Longer term measures

This phase will respond to any changes needed over the autumn which could arise from a number of
issues including customer/trader perceptions and behaviour, changing government guidance and
crucially the extent of the virus at that time. This is likely to be a review of the emerging trends and
how they are working in practice. There will be likely changes to Government policy and a need to
continue to re-enforce the key messages of safety. There is a great deal of uncertainty at this time
and this will develop over the coming months.

This stage would need to take particular note of the wider recovery planning work, such as the work
currently being undertaken with Devon County Council and partners. The principles of the Re-start,
Re-grow and Re-set concepts will be important in order to ensure we focus on both vulnerable
sectors and those identified for priority action within the Economic Strategy. This phase will also
coincide with a high level refresh of existing strategies.

Page 349



0G¢ abed

Mid =

FETRRT ERINRIL

ANMNEX 1: INITIALRISK ASSESSMENT

Service: Property Services Assessment Date: | 09/06/2020
Team: Property Services Mext Review Date: | 01,/02/2020
Tash fActivity: Town Centre, Car Parks, Parks and Open Space - COVID-19 Safety
Ra No: | Mumber of pages including this page:
Risk Rating: _a - T
Likelihood 1—5 Before Control Measures: Likelinood: 4 Severity: & Risk Rating: 20 I-4 Low Ma'_"tam Control Measures
kelihood 1= After C M . Likelihood: 2 S v 5 Rick Ratine: 10 5—12: Med — Review Control Measures
S eyerit 1—5 er Lontro Edsures: IKEinood: EVeriy: IS ating: e
Y 13 - 25: High — Improve Control Measures
HaZARD WHO MIGHT BE CONTROL MEASURES COMMENTS/FURTHER ACTION OFFICER TD TARGET SIGN-OFF
[describe specific HARMED AMD HOW REQUIRED ACTHOM DATE AS DONE
hazards in your
area)
Transmission of all people any person wha has symptoms of covid-19 infection or who | All persons (employess
Covid 19 on-street has been in close contact with another person with contractors and public) are
in towm centre, car symptoms (or & confirmed covid-19 infection) is required to expacted to exercise personal
parks and open self-isolate as directed by the latest national guidance. responsibility for themsehes and
SpEtE athers for whom they are
rasponsible and to follow national
stay-at-home-guidance/stay-at-home-guidance-for- guidance
hiouseholds-with-possible-coronavirus-covid-19-infaction hittps:/fwrwnw . gov uk/ooronavirus
Transmission of all signage to bain place to advise on measures to mitigate Regular checking of signage (and Property 15 June
Covid 19 on-street spread of Covid 19 at to include: any barriers) remaining in place 2020

in town cantre
[including
Bampton,
Bradninch and
villages as
Appropriate), car

*  Maintain social distancing — throughout town
centres, entrances) axits to car park) parks with
repaatars

*  Pedestrian traffic management — one-way/ no
entry/ circulatory/ segregation

and legiable with replacement if
MECEssany.

Notes




Mid =

FAETEET EWARIL

ANNEX 1: INITIALRISK ASSESSMENT

parks and open + Additional advice at gathering points — bus stops/

space

bus station) seating areas/ p&d ticket wend
miachines

Signage to be temportany in first
instance to be made permansnt
after initial monitoting and
identification of suitable fixing
pioints.

Signage to be adaptable to change
[ie distancing ) but will be subject
to change as guidance changes.

Property 1 Juily

2020

footpaths Tiverton

Aocess to Pannier all one-way in and out to be created where possible
Market Tiverton Fore Street — via main entrance opposite cimeama
and Barclays |by Town Leat)
my) Bampton Street — via Market Walk and pedestrian
Q route at vehicle exit
«Q Mewport Street — two footways in one side out the
@ other
w
(HJ'I Aocess to Fore all Segregation — one side up oneside down (potentially
Street from Beck with central segregation barrier — but will subject to
Sguare Tiverton vandalizm]
[Matwest/ Boots)
Access to Westexe | all one-way in and out to be created
North from car via footpath and pedestrian route at vehicla
park antrance
Town centra all Southview — no entry (residents onlby)

Barrington Street to Bampton Street — no entry
{subject to new hally club use and emergeny escape|




2S¢ abed

Mid 5
Devon

FRTREAT BRI

ANNEX 1: INITIALRISK ASSESSMENT

Queues to shops all Footway queus markings managed by shops Ligison with shops Economic

on footways Ensure all are complimentary where possible and Development
don't ohstruct neighbouwrs or footway or create

Overlapping pinch paints Queuing and need for highway Propertyy

QueLEs on Maximise queus numbers to avoid overlapping and | SPace to be monitored. Highways

footways spillage onto highway
Create highway space (poss)

Spillage of queues

onto highway

Acocess to High Al One-side up one-side down at Silbury Place

Strest from High

Streat (5t Saviours

Way) car park

Access to High all one- way in and cut to be created

Street from Station wia Clarkes Court foot and Station Road, Higher mMill

Road [Forge Way) Lane

car park

Narrow footways | all Seek to avoid by pedestrian traffic management as Ta be monitored Property/

pinch points above Highways
Encourage give and take — signage

Gold strest Repeater signage

Tiverton Create highway space [poss.)

5t Peter Street

Tiverton to/

through Pannier

Market footpaths

angel Terrace

Tiverton

Market Walk

Tiverton

Fore Street into
Bampton Street
Tiverton




€Gg abed

Mid 5
Devon

AT (WA

ANNEX 1: INITIALRISK ASSESSMENT

Gold Street into
Bampton Strest
Tiverton

Bus Station
Tiverton
Multi-storey car
park Tiverton
Market Strest
footways Crediton
High Street
footways
Cullompton

Brook Street, Fore
Strest, Castle
Strest footways
Barmpton




vG¢ abed

Mid =

A TRRT ERRINEIL

ANNEX 1: INITIALRISK ASSESSMENT

Mid &
Devon

LIALES Rl

Risk Assessment Generic Control Measures

Heading

Details

PPE

HEARING

HEAD PROTECTION RPE
| PROTECTION _|

HARNESS

~ |
HETIE N

As required

HI-VIZ SAFETY ROTWEAR | HAND PROTECTION EYE PROTECTION

By |
L] *

v v '

Az required Az required

Note: If it has been determined that there is a reguirement for PPE to be used, it is the responsibility of all operatives, once PPE has been issued,

to use and maintzin such equipment so that it remains serviceable, and to report all lost and/or damaged equipment. Latest guidance on PPE for
Cowvid-19 to be referred to.

Fire

As required, prior to starting any work activity, operatives to establish if any specific fire risks exist. Operatives are to familiarise themsehes with fire
evacuation procedures, fire escape routes, final exit doors and fire assembly point.

Housekeeping

All spillages to be cleaned up immediately. Follow manufacturer's instructions and recommendations for the cleaning up of substances. The storage of
items on floors to be kept to specific areas and adequate walkways maintained. Fire doors, fire escape routes, walkways and stairs to be kept free
from obstacles. Appropriate storage & disposal methods of waste materals must be strictly observed and waste materials should be remowved as work
progresses and at the end of each working day; supervisors to ensure that areas have been cleared. All cables to be kept away from pedestrian traffic
routes — Where this is not possible Cable Management Systems must be used 2.9, Cable Protectors placed over temporary trailing cables.

Signage

Where required, ensure that signage is displayed. Signage must be clearly visible and offer appropriate instruction, warming or information.

Segregation

Where reguired. ensure that segregation is in place. Segregation must adequately protect all persons working within its bound aries, control traffic
routes (pedestian and/or wehicular), be cleary visible and ensure that access to unauthorised persons and/or vehicles is denied.

Security

Where required, securty of unatiended, unfinished and cngoing works areas is to be assured. Security measures to include prevention of
unauthorised access to areas of high risk (scaffolding, plant, electricity, water and excavations etc).

Assessor Signature:

Date:

Date: 27.05.20

Line Manager Signature:




Page 355



9G¢ abed

ANNEX 2 — PUBLIC CONVENIENCES & PC RISK ASSESSMENT

Public RADAR K Plann
oL . Location: Owned by: Managed by: Convenience type: Status, RE: COVID-19: . = a ec.l
convenience: required? reopening date:
Bampton Town Bampton Town Council Disabled-Gents - Ladies with coin OPEN: For details, contact Bampton
Station Road Bampton Council B charge entry Town Council N/a N/A
Newcombes Crediton Town Gents - Ladies - Disabled - Disabled is
- .. Crediton T C il Y, N/A
Meadow Crediton Council reciton lown Lound opn OPEN : Disabled PC only es /
- dD Distri
Crediton Crediton Mid 1.3v0n istrict Mid Devon District Council Single enclosed male/female W.C.'s OPEN: for funerals only N/A N/A
Cemetery Council
Market Street Crediton Mid Dt.evon District Mid Devon District Council Slngl‘e enclosed male/female/disabled OPEN - Singles cubicals for single Yes w/c 1June
Car Park Council W.C.'s entry
Mid Devon Distri Multi-cubicle/urinal male/femal il PEN - Disabled P nver No longer
Station Road Cullompton id gvo istrict Cullompton Town Council ulti-cubicle/uri a. ale/fema 'et0| et (o] ! isabled PC converted to o 9 ge w/c 1 June
Council rooms + enclosed disabled W.C.'s unisex required
Picnic Area off Down St Mid Devon District . . . Multi-cubicle/urinal male/female toilet OP.EN: Disabled W.C.'s clonverted to No longer
. . . Mid Devon District Council . , unisex (male/female toliet rooms . N/A
Union Hill Mary Council rooms + enclosed disabled W.C.'s . required
to remain closed)
Hemyock Parish . . Multi-cubicle/urinal male/female toilet OPEN: For details, contact
H k P. h C | Y, N/A
Hemyock Hemyock Council emyock tarish .ounc rooms + enclosed disabled W.C.'s Hemyock Parish Council s /
- dD Distri P— - -
Recreation Sampford Mid .evon istrict Mid Devon District Council Multi cublcle/urlnal. male/femalle toilet CLOSED: Located within a play area Yes TBC
Ground Peverell Council rooms + enclosed disabled W.C.'s
Tiverton . Mid Devon District . - . R ,
Tiverton . Mid Devon District Council Single enclosed male/female W.C.'s OPEN: for funerals only N/A N/A
Cemetery Council
OPEN conversion of disabled
Westexe South Tiverton Mid Devon District Tiverton Town Council Multi-cubicle/urinal male/female toilet W.C.'s to unisex and chlorination No longer 3 June
Car Park Council rooms + enclosed disabled W.C.'s work (male/female toliet rooms to required
remain closed)
OPEN conversion of disabled
Market Car Park | Tiverton Mid Dt.evon District Tiverton Town Council Multl-cublcle/urmal. male/femalle toilet W.C.'s to unisex and chlormatlon No I(?nger 3 June
Council rooms + enclosed disabled W.C.'s work (male/female toliet rooms to required
remain closed)
OPEN conversion of disabled
. Mid Devon District . . Multi-cubicle/urinal male/female toilet W.C.'s to unisex and chlorination No longer
Peoples Park Tiverton . Tiverton Town Council . , . . 8 June
Council rooms + enclosed disabled W.C.'s work (male/female toliet rooms to required
remain closed)
Westexe
Mid D Distri LOSED: F il
Recreation Tiverton id Devon District Tiverton Town Council Gents -Ladies cLos or details, contact N/A TBC

Ground

Council

Tiverton Town Council



http://www.bamptontowncouncil.gov.uk/Contact_Us_26884.aspx
http://www.bamptontowncouncil.gov.uk/Contact_Us_26884.aspx
http://www.bamptontowncouncil.gov.uk/Contact_Us_26884.aspx
https://www.crediton.gov.uk/Contacts
https://www.crediton.gov.uk/Contacts
https://www.crediton.gov.uk/Contacts
http://www.cullomptontowncouncil.gov.uk/
https://hemyock.org/
https://hemyock.org/
https://hemyock.org/
https://tivertontowncouncil.gov.uk/
https://tivertontowncouncil.gov.uk/
https://tivertontowncouncil.gov.uk/
https://tivertontowncouncil.gov.uk/

LTGTEE

/G€ abed

Mid &
Devon

v Pl o i

RISK ASSESSMENT FORM

Service: Property Services & Commercial Assets Date of Risk Azzsessment: 01.06.20-reviewed 290620
Team: Property Services Mext review due date: 01.09.20
TaskfActivity | COVID19 Toilet facilities fully owned and managed by MDDC Reference: PS109 - Covid19

Reviewed following guidance on access —letter 25.06.20 from _central government
Owverall Risk | Before: Severity 5 Likelinood 4 Total Risk Status 20
SCore After.  Severity 9 Likelihood 2 Total Risk Status 10
HAZARD WHO MIGHT BE EXISTING CONTROL COMMEMTS !/ FURTHER ACTION OFFICER TARGET SIGM
Dezcribe speciic | HARMED AND MEASURES REQUIRED TO ACTION | DATE OFF
hazards in your HOW if none, state why A5
ares DOME
SOVID-19 is mainly | Who: Operatives Persom to person transmission: All persons (employees contractors and AB and Zn -Going
passed on by and the Gensral Public publich are expecied to exercise personal | comms team
person-to-person Any person who has symptoms of responsibility for themselves and others
spread betwean How: Rizk of harm cowid-19 infection or who hias been in | for whom they are responsible and to

people who ars in
close contact with
one another and by
droplets prodwcad
when an infected
person coughs or
sne=zes, |t can also
sprezd through
contact with a
surface or ohject
that has the virus
o it.

COVID-19 is mainky

from inhaling
COTCNEVIrLs in
F=rosolsidroplets from
the air. Throwgh hand
to mouth contact from
b=ing in confact with
vinus contaminated
surfaces.

close contact with another persaon
with symptoms {or 3 confirmed covid-
18 infection) is required fo selif-isolate
as direct=d by the lat=st naticnal
guidance.

htips: e gow. u kigonverminne it pu bdi

guidance/stay-at-home-guidance-for-

coronavirus-covid-18-infection

follow national guidance
hitps:enwesgov.uk/coronawirus

Taoilet Blocks as a potential
tramsmission rowte:

Sign to be in place to advise on
measures to mitigate spread of Cowid
18 at tollets {0 include:

Taouets, if kept closed, would create an
sdditional health hazard. Disabled toilets
opened only - as unisex thus allowing for
sacial distancing.

AB —Property
Sanvices Team




8G¢ abed

HAZARD WHO MIGHT BE EXISTING CONTROL COMMEMNTS / FURTHER ACTION OFFICER TARGET S5IGN
Dezcribe zpecific | HARMED AND MEASURES REGQGUIRED TO ACTION | DATE OFF
hazards in your HOWW if none, state why A5
area DOME
passed on by Who: Operatives = Maintzin 1m + socisl AB —Property

DErson-to-person and the Gensral Public distancing Secure toilet windows open whers Services Team | 01.07.20

spread between How: Risk of harm + Catch sneszes and coughs in | applicable.

p=ople who ans in fram inhaling tissue or clothing

close contact with CONDNEVinus in Wash hands for 20 s=conds

one another and by | 3srosols/droplets from Minimise hahd contact with

droplets praduced the air. Threwgh hand facs and surfaces

when an infzcted to mouth contact from

LErEDN -:-:llunhE -:-T t=ing in contact 1.'|'I:'r||h Ary windows secured open whera

sneszes. [t can also | virus contaminate ; ; o &

spread through urfaces possible to increase ventilation.

contact with a Cleaning contractors updated Risk | PPE: Cisposable medical facemasks; vinyl | AE —Property | 01.07.20

surface or object
that has the virus
o .

Assescments to include:

-

Saocial disfancing measures
and =afe practizas

Relevant PPE where
assessed as necessany

Putting up a visible cleaning
schedule can keep it up to
date and visibla

Prigritising cleaning of touch
poinis such as doors, toilet
seats, sinks, taps, sanitary
bins and koo rall halders

Erect wamming signs whilst
cleaning is taking placs, so
no one glse pressnt
Increased cleaning wisis

Erect a visiblz cleaning
schedule where possible

alowes and Purrell hand zanitisar.
Advised to remove PPE on completion of
cleaning and wash hands for 20 s=conds
or use sanitiser — allow to dry comipletely
(G0 seconds). Place PPE in wasie for

disposal.

Hand sanitis=r available where =afe and
practical and ensure suitable
handwazhing facilities including running
wiater and liguid soap and suitable options
for drying {=ith=r paper towels or hand
driers).

Services Team




s rrattd

6G¢ abed

HAZARD WHO MIGHT BE EXISTING CONTROL COMMENTS f FURTHER ACTION OFFICER TARGET SIGHM
Dezcribe zpecific | HARMED AND MEASURES REGUIRED TO ACTION | DATE OFF
hazards in your HOW If none, state why AS
area DOMNE
Maintenance & contractor visits: Refer maintznance confractors fo opening | Property Cimgaing
=  Timing of visitz to b= times as shown on our web page. Sarvices Team
arranged ta limit or awoid
contact with ather peogple
= Timing of contractor wisits for
rnaintenance waork must be
by prior arrangernent
Rise in Local Whao: Dperatives Close MDDC managed Toilet Alert Members and the communications AB- Property

COVID1Y infections

and the General
Fublic. How: Localis=d
viral transmission
triggers ‘Lock down’

facilities — im line with UK or Local
Authority Guidance

team.

Sarvices Team

*Plzase refer to the Risk Assessment Procedure

Asszessors Signature: Date:
01.08.20
Line Manager’s Signature: Date:

Reviews

Re-azzesz0rs Signature:

Date: 29.06.20




09¢ abed

Line Manager's Signature: Date:
Re-agzessors Signature: Date:
Line Manager's Signature: Date:
Re-assessors Signature: Date:
Line Manager's Signature: Date:




HEW

Likelihood

Very Low Low Medium High Very High

1 2 3 4 5
, 5 10
Very High 5
High 4
Z 18
U ; Medium 3
&
10
@ Low 2
w
8 5

Very Low 1

Scores showing in the red section must be included on the SPAR system
Scores showing in the amber section must be kept under regular review and included on the SPAR system if 10 or over



ANNEX 3

WHO? - Target audience

WHAT?

WHY? -

Market Traders
Town centre shops / trader associations

— Message
Government guidelines for reopening

Objectives
Encourage the carefully managed return to ‘normal’ high street activity
Businesses to understand what the Council are doing to support their re-opening

HOW? — Type of Content

Comply with Government guidance

Video tutorials — detailing what exists / is available for each town

Social media posts (and other comms) issuing guidance, advice and updates

Council Newsletter e-alert?

Web-based signposting to information and guides for businesses

Posters — shop windows etc — designed to reiterate key messages (support local but stay
alert, follow guidelines) provide poster template for shops/businesses to use on Council
website

WHERE? — Media Channels
Direct Contact:

[ ]
Digital:

[}

[}

WHEN?

Town centre business associations (Tiverton Partnership, Crediton Chamber for
Commerce, CVIB, Mid Devon Business Forum, Bampton Business Association (if still
running)

Town Councils to pass on information (Tiverton, Crediton, Cullompton, Bampton)

MDDC Website — information and guidance (Covid 19 Support for businesses)
Encourage town businesses to share content

Facebook: use @MidDevonBiz, @MidDevonDC, tag local business groups (eg Crediton
Chamber of Commerce) and share in business FB groups; VMD Facebook and website
Twitter (for small businesses and business networking groups)

E-Newsletter to email contacts using publicly available information to target
communication to individual businesses

Press Release
Items in The Link, WIS and Parish Matters: ask Members and parish councils to be aware

of changes made to our high street,

— Publishing Schedule

Following changes proposed and implemented by Property services

Page 362



€9g abed

Direct email
to high street business fora
informing them about the
changes (Emergency action)
(timescale does not permit a
letter to each high street
shop)

W/B 8 June

CONTENT SCHEDULE

SD will be engaging with DCC
Neighbourhood officers to
undertake Risk Assessments
for all five towns (Crediton,
Cullompton, Tiverton,
Bampton
& Bradninch) engaging
stakeholders — e.g town
councils about risk assessment

/ proposals

Press release ‘opening for
business — what to expect
from Monday 15t June’

Set up webpage —
MDDC Website — information
/ using your high street /
business support / advice —
template posters

High Street Now Open

Social media — open for business ‘How to use your high street - What to expect’.

Advert in the Gazette and Courier this week

Wednesday:
17/06/2020

Business groups — messages
from press release

Facebook: messages from
press release

Twitter: messages from press
release

Item to WIS and Parish
Matters / The link




¥9¢ abed

Monday:
22/06/2020

Social media — key message 1 open and Safe

Tuesday 23/06

Advert in the Gazette — businesses open — support local and stay safe

Wed: 24/06/2020

Social media — Key message 2 Emergency measures in place etc / Government announcements for additional businesses to open
from 4t July - Tourism and Hospitality
Update webpage with new guidance for cafes, hotels, attractions — share on social media

Fri: 26/06/2020

Press release — success of the
high street (reiterate key
messages)

Advert in the Courier - support
local and stay safe

Success of the high street with key messages — all stakeholders
for distribution

PR for the opening of the additional businesses from the 4th July

Second Advert for Shop Local Shop Safe — sent to the Courier and the Gazette

Prepare spotlight on Tiverton

Prepare spotlight on Crediton

Webinar for cafes, restaurants and pubs for Mid Devon — led by Tiverton Town Council (invites to be sent to the sector businesses)




Gog abed

Prepare spotlight on Cullompton

peonca Prepare spotlight on Bampton

05/07/2020

Review Strategy / messages / need / business feedback — for the remainder of phase 2.
Commission Video to create a tutorial — how to use your high street — walk through permanent changes?

Examples of key messages for Shop Locally and Shop Safe — use images / posters / advert

e Keep an eye out for new signage and follow the guidance in our towns #Tiverton #Crediton #Cullompton #Bampton #ShopLocal
#ShopSafe

e Keep your social distancing and regularly wash your hands #ShopLocal #ShopSafe

e Be kind and be patient — everyone is working hard to keep you safe #ShopLocal #ShopSafe

e Support your high street independent shops — check opening times, some shops are offering a collection service or different opening
hours to avoid queues #cardpayment #ShoplLocal #ShopSafe #Supportindependents

e Face masks to be worn on public transport #ShoplLocal #ShopSafe



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 8.

Agenda Item

CABINET
9TH JULY 2020

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION
CULLOMPTON TOWN CENTRE MASTERPLAN AND DELIVERY PLAN

Cabinet Member Clir Graeme Barnell
Responsible Officer Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and
Regeneration

Reason for the Report: To consider the key themes detailed in this report and to
seek approval to progress with the production of the Cullompton Town Centre
Masterplan and Delivery Plan taking into account the comments received during the
Stage 1 public consultation.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. To note the responses to the Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) Public Consultation at Stage
1, and

2. To progress to the production of a draft masterplan SPD for Cullompton
Town Centre taking into account the comments received through Stage
1 public consultation.

Financial Implications: The consultant contract for the Cullompton town Centre
masterplan was awarded at the meeting of Cabinet in July 2019 following a
procurement process. Prior to that a budget of £60,000 had been been approved,
funding for which was identified in the 18/19 service budget.

This report does not identify the funding sources or arrangements that will be needed
to deliver the regeneration opportunities and site for redevelopment that are likely to
be identified as part of the masterplanning process. Funding is likely to involve a
range of public and private sector investment. The Council has made a bid for
regeneration funding under the Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) part of the Future High
Street Fund.

Approved by Finance: [yes/no — include name/post title, eg Group Manager for
Financial Services]

Budget and Policy Framework: The budget for the production of the masterplan
was agreed at a previous meeting of Cabinet. The Policy Framework consists of both
statutory documents that have to be adopted or approved by the Council as well as
locally determined policies and strategies that form an integral part of the decision
making process. Once adopted, the masterplan would have Supplementary Planning
Document status and be a material consideration for planning decision maing
purposes.

Page 367



Approved by Finance: [yes/no — include name/post title, eg Group Manager for
Financial Services]

Legal Implications: In order for the masterplan to be adopted as a Supplementary
Planning Document, public consultation needs to take place in accordance with the
requirements of the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. Whilst not
forming part of the Development Plan, the SPD once adopted will be a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications relating to the town
centre.

Approved by Legal. [yes/no — include name/post title, eg Group Manager for Legal
Services]

Risk Assessment: As projects arising from the masterplan are developed an
assessment of risk will be undertaken as part of project development. Failure to
support regeneration of the Cullompton Town Centre would in itself lead to
deterioration in commercial activity, a less vibrant centre, less coordinated
development and uncertainty over essential infrastructure. Since the initiation of this
project COVID-19 has introduced a significant risk to economic prosperity. The
masterplan will need to take into account this change in economic circumstances
and the need to complete this work is now more vital than ever.

Approved by Performance/Governance: [yes/no — include name/post title, eg Group
Manager for Performance, Governance and Data Security]

Equality Impact Assessment: No equality issues are identified for this report.

Impact on Climate Change: A core principle within the Draft Cullompton Town
Centre Masterplan and Delivery Plan is to support the Council’s commitment to
achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2030 through design and timely delivery of
infrastructure, dwellings and employment. The Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan
and Delivery Plan has regard throughout to climate change.

Relationship to Corporate Plan: The Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan and
Delivery Plan SPD will provide guidance on the planning and delivery of
development within Cullompton. It will ensure the delivery of the 4 key priorities as
relating directly to the Corporate Plan 2020-24 including:

Homes: to promote the regeneration of the town centre by working with landlords
and property developers to improve and increase the supply of quality housing;
Environment: to encourage new housing and commercial developers to be
‘exemplar’ in terms of increasing biodiversity and decreasing carbon use;

Economy: to identify strategic and tactical interventions to create economic and
community confidence and pride in the places we live; and

Community: to promote new and more integrated approaches to better health and
living.

1.0 INTRODUCTION: BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council has resolved to develop a masterplan for Cullompton Town
Centre and has commissioned consultants in its production. It will form a key
document for the regeneration of the town; enhancing the town’s economic
prospects and providing a clear strategy to ensure the town meets its full

Page 368



1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

potential as an attractive and thriving town post Covid19 and into the 21st
century. It will provide the umbrella framework within which the Cullompton
Future High Street Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) works could be delivered.

The Masterplan is being developed in the context of the strategic projects
planned in and around Cullompton, including:

e North West Cullompton urban extension;

e The proposed Culm Garden Village with up to 5,000 new homes, new
jobs, schools and local centre;

e A new relief road to the east of the town centre;

e A Heritage Action Zone bid submission which would see investment in
Cullompton’s historic high street; and

e Potential for the reopening of Cullompton rail station.

In accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement, the
Masterplan SPD needs to be subject to two stages of public consultation;
Stage 1 to scope out the proposed contents of the masterplan and present the
options that might be included in the masterplan and Stage 2 to present the
draft masterplan itself. The Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan and Delivery
Plan once adopted will not in itself form part of the Development Plan for
planning purposes, but will nevertheless be a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications.

A report on the Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan was considered at
Cabinet on 16" January 2020. It was resolved to approve the themes set out
below and for them to form a basis for Stage 1 public consultation with
particular emphasis on:

e Road / traffic

e Living in the town centre

e The use of key assets e.g St Andrew’s Church, The Walronds, The
Manor Hotel, The Town Hall

e Delivery of public / private partnerships

e The Third (Community) sector

Stage 1 public consultation was held between 25 February and 15 April 2020
with 4 staffed events planned. The consultation included a letter drop to
approximately 1800 homes and businesses in addition to emails, a press
release and social media announcements and public notices posted in and
around the town centre. Permanent exhibitions were made available at
Cullompton Town Hall and the Hayridge Centre (with a comments box to
receive any returned questionnaires/observations). All the associated
documentation (including a copy of the draft masterplan, exhibition boards,
baseline report and online questionnaire) were also placed on the Council’s
website for viewing and downloading.

Members will be aware of the timing of the beginning of the COVID-19
pandemic and that this arose part way through the consultation period. During

Page 369



2.0

2.1

2.2

3.0

3.1

3.2

the consultation period it became clear that in the interests of public and staff
safety the one remaining public exhibition events had to be cancelled. By that
time three out of the planning four staffed events had already taken place and
had given an opportunity for approx 150 members of the public to attend. In
order to ensure that there was opportunity for the public to engage with
members of the project team in lieu of the cancelled public consultation event,
the public were offered the ability to raise queries and gain responses via
email.

Summary of Public Consultation Feedback

The Stage 1 public consultation asked for feedback on exhibition boards that
were made available through different channels. Feedback was invited on six
town wide initiatives including:

e The enhancement and restoration of Cullompton’s distinctive historic
buildings and landscape

e Rediscovery of Cullompton’s historic role as a place to work and to
make

e Creating an enticing experience for visitors to draw them into the town
centre

¢ A reclaiming and redesign of Cullompton’s spaces to support a vibrant
community life

e Ensuring a sustainable town for its growing community: with homes,
education, community and recreational facilities

¢ Ability to move around on foot, on bicycle, by bus and by train easily.

In total, 40 survey replies and 15 email responses were received. In addition,
through engagement with two primary schools, the opinion of approx. 50
school children were also received. An analysis of the consultation responses
is provided at Appendix 1.

Analysis of the consultation responses

A demographic breakdown of the responses indicates an even split between
those received from males and females, of which 88% were white British /
Irish. Respondents tended to be over the age of 26 with 43% aged 46-65. 5%
were aged under 25 years old; 23% aged 26-45 and 37% aged 66+. A greater
proportion were using the town centre for shopping, eating and drinking and
socialising.

Respondents were asked what they considered Cullompton’s best
characteristic to be. A word cloud has been provided in Appendix 1. (The
greater the size of the font the greater number of replies relating to this
element). The historic nature of the town figures highly with reference to

Page 370



3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

buildings, the old town, the Bull Ring and St Andrew’s Church. Cullompton is
recognised as being a friendly town.

Respondents were asked ‘what one thing they would like to change?’
e 39% related to traffic restrictions on the High Street and the relief road

e 16% improving the towns offer in terms of shops and activities
e 12% new railway station and sustainable transport
e 10% improve the historic buildings and streetscape
e 10% upgrade the existing or create a new motorway junction
e 6% parking restrictions and enforcement
e 4% decrease scale of new development

It is clear that the responses were dominated by transport issues.

Respondents were asked what their priorities were for:

a) Improving pedestrian and cycle movement in and around Cullompton. 44%
made reference to the implementation of the relief road and traffic
restrictions on to the High Street. 33% made reference to investment in to
the wider cycling and walking network

b) Improving the vehicular network. 42% made reference to the
implementation of the relief road / traffic restrictions on to High Street.

c) Making the most of Cullompton’s heritage. 42% made reference to the
restoration of the historic buildings

d) Improving public and open spaces. 31% wanted to protect and improve the
Cullompton Community Association (CCA) fields

e) Supporting the town centre’s role as a focus for homes, shops, work and
community life. 26% made reference to removing traffic from the town
centre and 21% to enhanced shops / events / amenities to draw people
into the town centre.

A resounding 90.5% of respondents considered that a form of traffic restriction
in the High Street was a good idea. The greatest proportion indicating a one-
way system, followed by access for homeowners and businesses only,
followed by restricted commercial deliveries.

Respondents were also asked how strongly they agreed or disagreed with the
emerging masterplan principles. People most strongly agreed with the
principle to protect green space, closely followed by the principle to alleviate
traffic and improve walking and finding viable uses for empty historic
buildings.

The principle with the highest percentage of people who disagreed or strongly
disagreed related to the provision of new town centre homes. A third of all
‘strongly disagree’ responses relate to this one principle. This issue will
therefore need to be reviewed and considered carefully in light of this
response. Additional town centre homes can deliver a benefit for town centre
footfall and vitality. However there is a need to consider whether any negative
consequences could result. This will be a key and important issue at the next
stage of the public consultation.

Page 371



3.8

4.0

4.1

4.2

Two workshops were held with students from two local primary schools.
Appendix 1 provides a detailed summary including art work produced.
However, main points that came out of the sessions:

e The Mill area should be promoted as an area where people can learn
about the history of the Mills whilst providing family attractions such as a
museum, café and play park with improved seating and lighting.

e Enhance the Station Road area with improved green spaces (including
frontage on to the River Culm), enhanced sense of arrival (including
introduction of trees / spaces for nature), reduction in car noise, pollution and
littering, with new and better connected cycling and walking opportunities. The
Station Road area to include a small number of shops to support those
travelling and an events space.

e The Bull Ring would benefit from additional planting and new links
into the space. As an improved public space it could better facilitate
community events — markets, fun fair etc. Enhancement of the old buildings
would contribute to the setting of the space as would an increased variety of
shops / community uses in the buildings.

e Students would like to see a sustainable future for Cullompton and
made reference to water and solar energy as well as public transport.

Key themes

Analysis of the feedback on the main principles indicates that there are a
number of key themes that are emerging:

Alleviate Traffic Parking / Deliveries Litter / Signage

River / Leat Train station Events / Attractions

Care of Historic Buildings | Green Spaces Better Connected Spaces
Town Centre Homes WiFi Shopping Locally
Improved Walking / Use of historic buildings Event/performance space
Cycling CCA Fields

Courts and Passages ‘Gateways’ into the town

The themes that have emerged are welcomed and relevant. All are suitable
for inclusion within the masterplan. The full extent of their inclusion will
emerge as officers progress the draft Masterplan SPD. However, an initial
review would suggest the following themes will be an important part of the
masterplan:

a) Enhanced public realm. This is regarded as an important element that
can provide significant benefits in improving the visual appearance of
the town. A particular focus can be the Bull Ring and main gateways
into the town at Station Road and Exeter Road. The Cullompton High
Street HAZ bid (which sits beneath the umbrella of the Cullompton
Town Centre Masterplan and Delivery Plan) seeks to allocate funds
towards the Bull Ring. The High Street HAZ scheme in combination
with the masterplan could deliver an early success that will re-establish
heritage features, enhance the heritage setting of the town centre,

Page 372



5.0

5.1

reduce the dominance of traffic and provide an extended community
space for community events and cultural activities while providing a
focus for civic pride.

Care of Historic Buildings. Another important element that can provide
significant benefits to the town centre. The Cullompton High Street HAZ
bid identifies an improvement scheme for high priority buildings. It
seeks to unlock retail and residential potential of properties through a
focused grant scheme. Three groupings of high priority buildings are
identified at Appendix 2. The renovation of the three groups of
buildings, separated along Fore Street, would benefit the overall
appearance of the town — encouraging adjacent property owners to
similarly enhance their buildings.

Traffic Management. A planning application for the Cullompton Relief
Road has been received. Should it be approved it will provide the first
step towards alleviating traffic flows through the town centre. Surveys
and studies need to be undertaken to inform traffic management and
environmental enhancement works within Fore Street/ High Street. The
next stage of the masterplan will assist in providing a context for this
work.

Green Spaces. Enhancement of existing and delivery of new green
spaces through public realm works and scheme development. To
provide improved foot and/or cycle links to enhance circulation around
the centre of the town, with links to the CCA fields and improved
riverside frontage.

Vision. A clear understanding of the vision and the unique selling point
of the town is required. It needs to ensure there is a clear distinction of
what is an ‘aspiration’ and what is ‘deliverable’.

Planning Policy Advisory Group

Planning Policy Advisory Group considered the contents of this report and the
outcomes of the stage 1 public consultation at their meeting on 24t July 2020.
PPAG members welcomed the report and were supportive of its contents.
Specific issues raised were as follows:

The apparent low level of written response to the Stage 1 public
consultation. A request was made for feedback on the number of website
and social media hits received during the consultation period.

The need to carefully consider traffic management in the town centre and
whether a one way system could be implemented. There is a need for
close liaison with Devon County Council.

That in conjunction with benefits, town centre homes can also have
negative consequences as a result of the higher density including
arrangements for storage and collection of domestic waste

Page 373



6.0

6.1

6.2

7.0

7.1

8.0
8.1

e There was a strong desire to comprehensively consider improvements to

walking and cycling routes/ connections.

e PPAG were keen to ensure that the contents of the masterplan are

deliverable.

Strategic Environmental Assessment / Habitats Regulation Assessment
Screening

A Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) and Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA) is required in accordance with Regulations and Directives
on any plan or programme prepared for town and country planning or land use
purposes and which sets the framework for future development consent of
certain projects. As such, an HRA and SEA formed part of the Stage 1 public
consultation material. A limited number of comments were received.

A screening of the emerging themes for the Cullompton Town Centre
Masterplan and Delivery Plan identified that they were unlikely to have
significant adverse effects on the integrity of Habitat sites, either alone or in-
combination with other plans or projects and further ‘appropriate assessment’
was not required. A single response has been received through the
consultation process enquiring about the environmental impact when specific
sites have not yet been promoted through the masterplan. In response, it is
very rare for SPD’s to require SEA’s given that they fall out of and supplement
Local Plans. The screening report indicates that the masterplan is ‘unlikely to
have significant effects on the environment’. As the masterplan emerges
further screening will be undertaken.

Next Steps

The next stage in the process is to prepare a draft Masterplan for stage 2
consultation. A provisional timetable for the next stages in the production of
the masterplan is set out as follows:

Action Date

Seek Cabinet approval (for consultation): | September 2020
draft masterplan and consultation

materials

Stage 2 public consultation September / October 2020

Adoption December 2020
Conclusion

The Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan and Delivery Plan will seek to
provide a comprehensive framework to guide development in a coordinated
and comprehensive manner. Once adopted it will achieve full weight in
decision making as a material planning consideration. Subject to approval, the
next stage would be to develop a draft masterplan for second stage public
consultation.

Page 374




Contact for more information:
01884 234277

Background Papers:

Circulation of the Report:

Christie McCombe, Area Planning Officer

cmccombe@middevon.gov.uk

The adopted policies relating to Cullompton may
be viewed in the Allocations and Infrastructure
Development Plan Document:
https://new.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-
policy/mid-devon-local-plan/part-2-aidpd/

The Adopted Local Plan:

https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-
policy/adopted-local-plan/

Examinaiton submission version Cullompton
Neighbourhood Plan
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/348271/cnp-
final-submission-version-aug19.pdf

Public consultation material:
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-
policy/masterplanning/public-consultation-
cullompton-town-centre-masterplan-and-delivery-

plan/

Cabinet 5 April 2018
Scrutiny 30 September 2019
Cabinet 6 January 2020

Clir Graeme Barnell

Page 375


mailto:%0Dcmccombe@middevon.gov.uk
https://new.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/mid-devon-local-plan/part-2-aidpd/
https://new.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/mid-devon-local-plan/part-2-aidpd/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/adopted-local-plan/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/adopted-local-plan/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/348271/cnp-final-submission-version-aug19.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/348271/cnp-final-submission-version-aug19.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/masterplanning/public-consultation-cullompton-town-centre-masterplan-and-delivery-plan/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/masterplanning/public-consultation-cullompton-town-centre-masterplan-and-delivery-plan/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/masterplanning/public-consultation-cullompton-town-centre-masterplan-and-delivery-plan/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/planning-policy/masterplanning/public-consultation-cullompton-town-centre-masterplan-and-delivery-plan/

Appendix 2

Community Development & Regeneration
Mol Thierion EXME 8PP Mid
Lans,
Tol: $1884 245255 Devon

Veutaite: ww. midarvon gov.uk

3

4 .

Bl
=i
[}

-
e

BINTRIET COUNER

Vi el B e I I - ; :

FEI:"\- 1 i ! ..l_._:f :}E::& '_l:h:rrl-ji'-

Legrarsl - _,.,.l"\-l '\-\.\.:\-\. i '\.- — ¥ § f_.b-_: .

Do pcs, High Sarest Harttage Action Zorw 1 ey *_]-.E' .-'~§.£'ﬂ
Dn"ll-hll.l-'r T J-_\—u_l D -"____.:__ =
y .-:I.'-'-

=
L0
P
i
i —_—

L b
L,
.1
|
P

e ———p

Cullompion High Sreet Herttage Action Zone

Page 376



/1€ abed

CULLOMPTON TOWN CENTRE MASTERPLAN & DELIVERY PLAN

Appendix 1

STAGE 2 ENGAGEMENT

ACTIVITIES AND
DEMOGRAPHICS

4. (D

40+

SUrVEY MBsponses j

15

email responses rrbu:le\@

SUMMARY OF ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITY Cuua
A public consliation was hakd batwasn 25 Febory and 15 Apdl 2020, A7) CeN
Cammunicating
¢ Tha diaticn was ad Jmhw-mﬂwﬁd- amail b,

social media and wos facteed i Devon

# & Al boards wees disgloyed ot the mund-u-lh-l

. “ﬁdl'lﬂdw4hiwdi,lﬂwn-2pm.ﬂ‘w Teswn Hall
N rd'qz I','kIJﬂ L]
L]

Sﬂ-iw 4 Moech, F.30am-12. Fa M aurkat
Mondoy 16 March, 47pm, The Caries
Fendback options

*  Sureoy - onling of wiitian of 0 svants
#  Aowritian responss - via amail or post

Schoals workshops
* Tl.-n:lwW!hl"bn-hcml‘? 5t Ardme’s Pamary School, 511y, 10 childmen
v 20th Movembar 2019, Willowbank Pimary Schacl, 1041 Tym, 25 chidmn

DEMOGRAPHICS FROM THE SURVEY

Whet is your ethnicity? ‘What is your oge?




8/ ¢ abed

SURVEY RESULTS - ONLINE
AMND AT POP UP EVENTS

CULLOMPTON'S
BEST
CHARACTERISTIC

Thiz waa on open comment questicn (not
multiple chaoica).

The column on the lef provides a selection of
the comments.

“The mix of historic unspodlf

buildings. ™
“Cloae to rural areos.”

“History and the Main Street

of ancienf buildings ond the
history of the wool frade. OF

courze the people are lovely
foo.”

“It has huge potentiol fo be o
beaufiful high street, distind

o3 a fown from the rural
environment surrounding it."

“Zreen spoces - independent
shops”

“The church and the Todor
buildings.”

“Od buildings, CCA fields,
friendly people. ™

“That it is close to the M5™

“Houwse prices, location,
potentiol™

“The old buildings ond the
Bullring."

“The historic buildings are
beautiful but need vpleep and

preservation. Also very friendly
feeling obout the town ™

“Affordability”
“The friendly town shopa"
“i's position."

“Bull Ring is o greot morket
ond meefing place.”

“Waolronds ond Merchanis

howse "

“That it's on old town.™

|:Irll.'H christmas i architecture

lr|
hentage

l«eglrnlllulﬂ

andrews
great "

mdtranipnrt

traﬂ'{
r!li‘el' ‘

heau!:lh‘fa:f % ’ﬁlf

potent al shops

preservation la:e “‘arfm green
environment accessibility characteristic aﬂordahnlntyﬂﬂ‘m"ﬂ"ﬂ



6.¢ abed

SURVEY RESULTS - ONLINE
AND AT POP UP EVENTS

WHAT ONE
THING WOULD
YOU CHANGE?

Suryey regpondents were osed: If you wers
in charge of Cullompion’s future, what one
thing would you change?

Thiz w2 an open comment question {not

multiple choica).
42 people maponded 1o thiz questions.
The responess were grouped bosed

on a common key messoge or theme
to undensiond what the pricdtiss cne for
improyement.

The infographic on the rght summarizes the
reaponaes, with he size of the dot related o
the number of commentz within the thema,”
k=y messoge. The column on the right
provide: a selection of the comments from

each theme.

“Traffic Row throwegh lown cenire
one way only or fime limifed
pedeafrion zone."

] would pedestrionise Fore Sireet
- and have o proper refief rood
all the woy arownd.”

“Make the High Sireef one way.™

“Slop a» much fraffic as possible
driving through cenfre_*

“Prohibit large wehides sich
a3 lorries ond trodors comying
siloge.”

“Encouwroge more individual
shops info the fown ™

“Increase size and range of
Maorkets. Shops ko remain open
Soturday offerncon”

“Acfivities and events during the
ewvening. "

“Improve the look of Fore Shrest
by smarfening up those buildings
and shop fronts which cumenify
look so scruffy, and by pufing in

3OMeE greenery.

“Crecte o style guide for shop
frontoge to ensure buildings look
good qualit.”

“Access fo M5, Mew jundion
south of fown"

“Enforce no parking on Fore
Street but put some official bays
|._" --'-'

Bring in traffic
restrictions on the
high street / the
relief road

Improving the town’s offer in
terms of shops and achivities

i New raibway station and
: sustainable transport

Improve the historic buildings and
streetscape

UPEI'{I{I-E' the exishng or create a
: new motorway junchon

Parking restrictions and enforcement

: Decrease scale of new development
I



08¢ abed

...for improving
pedestrian and cycle

SURVEY RESULTS - ONLMNE movement in and
AND AT POP UP EVENTS around Cullompton?

PRIORITIES

44%
hlplurrl-nnl the Relief En-udl.l" |:|r'l1-g i

traffic resirichons on high sirest

Survey respondents weve cshed:

Whar are your pricrities for improving
padearion and cycle movement in and
arcund Cullompran? . .
e c . vaa O
34 pecple respondad 1o thiz quesions. [ﬁr ”l" Ftl oving 3
vehicular movement:
Whar are your pricriies for improving
wahiculor movemsnr in ond around

plons
34 pecple respondad 1o thiz quesicns.

What are your pricriies for making the
Culk ‘s haritoy

These wes an open comment quadation [naot
muliipla choica).

The responses ware grouped bosed
an a comman ksy massoge or thems

to undemstand what the pricitiss as for .
improvement. ...for making the

most of Cullompton’s
heritage?




T8¢ abed

SURVEY RESULTS - ONLINE
AND AT POP UP EVENTS

PRIORITIES ...for improving public

and open spaces in
Cullompton?

Suryey rezpondents weve oed:

What are your prionifies for improving public
and open spoces?
32 people meponded 1o thiz quessions.

How con we suppaort the town centre’s role
oz a focus for homes, shops, work and
community life?

3% peopls meponded 1o thiz questions.

Thess were an open comment question [not
muliiple choics].

| P Sp—) — How can we support
i’

on a commaon key messoge or thems the town centre’s role

o undersiand what the pricdties ars for as a focus for |.|,l::||.|.”E,,51

m-pr-mmam.

'SI'ICIFIE-I. WDI'I‘C 'CII'I'C!

community life?




_ ONLINE

RELIEF ROAD

Survery respondents were omked:

28¢ abed

selecion of the commeants.

“Apart from occess could be

restricted to pedestrian anly 5
during troding kours.”

“Relief Rood - definitely after

gas werks experimend. Restricied
mavement on Thverton Bood with
jumeticn - traffic lights. Fore Street
ane way with perking on ane side.
My ideal layour.”

“I weowld like the town fo maiahain
its fistory and personality. [ weuld
like ro see the camival reinstated
and other Bullring evenats.”

“I think the High 5t should be
pedesivionissd with kmited secess
for deliveries end mo car perking.”

“Absalutely need Relief Rood.”

“Make i so we con close it off for
festivols and markets.”

“Oine=woay. Change one lone to
wider pedestrion wreas, delivering
spoces and porking.”

“Parking on the high street must
stop!i”

“The fown centre needs fo be
profected from throogh raffic
mainly wsing it as o shart ot fo
Morth & East Exeter. It peeds beber
envirenmental condiions & the

ability to develop o café culture”
“Get on with it quickiy!”

“Please think sustainably. In terms
of the envirommend, think of how
the next generation lives. They ore
maving away from coers end rocd
trenspart. They want bomes rear
where they work - not o maossive
darmiory town [which the Garden
Villoge would be) built an howrs
drive owaoy... Love the plans

to revitalise Cullomptan - but a
genvine sustainable development
approach is pesded.”

In answering the lallowing quesion please assume that the proposed
Raliaf Boad will hove been completad and be open for wse:

Do you think restricting traffic in High Street i= o good idea?

I yes, what do you think should be done?

ez [ hoimyresn.
end busingss onby
O wery ey

Rt el
ool didiviis

Rl b ] pcrwrfrussi a
Tiwtien Baad

i




€8¢ abed

SURVEY RESULTS - ONLNE

AND AT POP UP EVENTS
PRIORITIES

The prindples shaping the

Suryey respondents 1.-..*31& osbad o sioie how
strengly they agreed or disagresd with the
emenging moeplon principlas.

. Pfu::pl& s genemlly yery supporiive of
the principles. 58% ofoll respanses foll
within the “srongly agres” comegory.

Feople most srongly agres with the
principle to protect green spoc
bollowed by the principle to allsvias
traffic: and improye walking, and finding
vioble vees for emphy hisonc: buildings.

Pecple most srongly disogreed with the
E{incipla to provide new iown cenfre

ofall’ !-hl}l'r"‘h d
responses are aitibuted fo thiz one
principle.

Thiz could ba becouse pecples feal them
iz aleady a lot of new homaz baing buil
arcund Cullompton, or that people o
concaemed new homes will ke owoy

r othar |m|::c-rr-:|n'r{u..1lmu... bs

gresn gpoce. Communicating the

of new homaz in the town contrs
will be szsential of the next ztogs of the
maszerplan process.

L]
o=

oy s

h the
bt o pocpla who
strongly agrea

Repalr historic  SURROM shopping

oy
uu:hr;g:g:rm
Thres principles with te
thu1hl!t mm
st
m:r‘;gmd‘ls.qm disgres

Conmeci new  Explora voluntary
homes focarvits  sechon roles (PRI

Provide: new town contre homes
Explorgwoluntany sacior ok (PPl
Siratuagic Wit 0N Ml - joins warking
Encouraga He-ong karming
Connect new NOmEs o cets

Lipqrac town centro apprmaches

MG S0 In Caning for wialkdng f criing
Promate arafl and making

Sanigthan food and drink offe

Bring workars badk imlo tha cemte
Improwe Fom Sheet - OCA fisids Bnic
Promoie more diverss ratal

Improes employmant ama.’ cante bnia
Cornections with higher sducation
Impeowve: historc courts snd pansagee
Iz recreational snd cuftueal offer
Ratss profiles of main seractions

Rains profila of widar Larscapa amats
Minkrmisa road Impact on CCA folds

Fill gapin Eocter Cullempton Willand cyche mets
Good walking ! cyciing links to ganden villags
Facitatn soorts and 3wty

Transform e gaiaway to tha town
Irweet In Euliring 25 &l exd b cvic space
Improw: Busnes nirstucurs &g wi
Lirmitk |ange: vahid e and 1ime delear s
Ealanm parking - right leval ard locabion
Support and enbance farmars mankat
Addeess trafic/ padesttian Jres of confict
Support shopping localy

Repair historc bulkings and ssting
Visbia Leers Tor empty historic bulidings
Alkaviaba traffic / Improve wa lking

Protoct gresan space

[ - ]

gﬁﬁﬁgmﬂgﬁ Eﬂ-

“%”iﬁg“

5 ®

]

i

&

ans

]



8¢ abed

WORKING WITH
LOCAL SCHOOLS

FEEDBACK FROM TWO
SCHOOL WORKSHOPS

In Movember 2019 we foclsotad workshopa
with studants ar St. Andrews and Willowbank
primary schools. At St Andrews we

worked with heir School Council, ond o
Willowbank we worked with thair Yeor &a.
'Wa were kasn ro gat their ideos on how
Cullempicn could be improved in the fuure.

The workshops included site yisits to thies
impariant areas in Cullempbon - the cld
amtion areq, the Bulling, and the Kills. Prior
to the weorkshop, stedents hod undenoken
higtoric research intc an assigned amea, by

locking ot cld maps and photographa.

After the e vigite, srudents were azked 1o
reimagine how teir area could lock in the
Futwe, by reflecting on theis findings from

the hizstoic mesarch ond considaring the
exising problems and cpportunities frem
their obesryosions on site. The sprend on the
Fcllcn,-.ring page showeosss all the omazing
dacigna and drowinge.

A hornework task was sat to investigabe

the history of aneof the thres arsas.

Studerits had to idertify three similarities

ard three differences between the old -
miapof the ares, and thecurrent day map. i
Theywere then asked to book at the old

photographs and wiite robes on how the: H
ar=a of town had changed, what actisities "
used to take place there, andwhat life
wiollkd haee been like for the peopleinthe
photos. Atthe Eeginning of the sesion, we
went through the questiors and shudents

Wa started the session by
sxplaining what urban
planning ard mastarplanning
was and introducing the
Cullornpbon botwn cervine
masterplan process,

shared their findings.
—
1 v
S R 9
Wa want on awalk to wisit
thathrao sreas and taks
whearvations. Studertswnobe
dhowam what thesy could see,
§ SR szl hizar and feel, They wers
. encolraged to think about the
. actieities thatwene going on,
clas ot t wmhdlan and how the area has charge
aof the problems and opportuniti=s ceertime.
theey identified o their site wisit They :
thoughit about bow the area used to

b= ared hivar this might inspire new
uses for sach of the places. They then
desigred their big idea for the space
ard fed back their proposals to the
rest of the group.




Ggg oabed

WORKING WITH
LOCAL SCHOOLS

FEEDBACK FROM TWO
SCHOOL WORKSHOPS

* The Mill area should be o pllxﬂ pecpls con
lsarn about the history of the Mills, whilst
abo providing acfiviies for families o enjoy.
Idsas included a museum, cafs, reaaws
hunt and playgroand. On the site visit they
neticed rubbish and a lock of sedting, and
commented that i must ba dark ot night.

Students felt there woen't sncugh natwe
around the station area, not much o do and
lote of noise and pollufion from the car.
They didn't find it that welcoming and some
students didn't feal very safe.

Idsas for the sation aea induded opening
up the river to maks it moe peccsful and
attractive for visitors when they amiva.

From here there could be new and besier
connaced cycling ond walking rowes o
thie towen cente. The shation amso

ale include o few new sho

thoss making joumeys by tain, and alse
be o spocs o host populor eventz. Smaller
imerventions inchrded on -:mu-*rr-.-a sign o
welcome peopls into town, frea widi, bins,
treas and crossings.

Train wition with 2 restaurant, Soliot, 3nd S big sign
o weloma peogka e own

Liaa’s dg e 5 1o-open up the river and maka R moms
anraciiveg for withor whan ther arme 2t the statien

Josha's park 3% tha Nl Joci with 2 meda Skd,
spkdor man climising framea and tabils and chairs

N
y

This ldaa aims o maka e sabion e mors: weicoming
oy hoating popular swents, noueding 3 funfar

o

'_.L'.Z. i ﬂ

i

EdwandTs big kisa Included 3 bunker, ranawaiis onerngy
and mon Dsngs S0 peopie @n oo sy

i e,
T 2P il
ok g 4
=1} P i F
] el 5
i s o "’-3‘--,"'5
A P T
N G,
p N % iy E. |I
e f -
i .-% -

e roin st80n rabult with 2 station ian

Tha naw stabiormoould Inchede places toaat nd
iz acivvtias, for seampks & shataperk and pool

A T00 N NEW reen 5P

'S ki 1ora mini MSeUm and New woriepacs:

A

'H: Iosi nciude mona plants amund tha train iabon

—
O

R :l.lunp'nn - with now thops, shorious and an
artomatic plant walering svsiam

5
b=

L - |

iy |

3 h—

& raw sign and improved lighang will weicoma
pecpi inio tha town

# redni museLm and scvanger ot will help o
mpies Tie Ml

T
%ﬁk L4

AU %

HairEon's idaa for tha 5.1:11\:11 e Inciuded 3 simimin
pool, coffos shops and restaunts

Tavior's idea for new shope, place o aat and betior
momings



98¢ abed

Studentz would like 1o se8 new gresn
spocs: and planting fo maks aec: liks
the Bulling really inyiing, oz well oz

nety links info the apace. Batter public
spocas could olo focliate more events,
for exomple a funfol, marker ssalls and
outdoor play equipment. Students noficed
hovw much noise and pollution thers =
along the Bulling at the moment, and
zome lelt thers wosn't enough acenery.

Studentz ae keen to see the old buildings
well locked ofter and suggested
mpainting some of them ond growing
moe flowss and plants io improve their
safing.

suggested lofs of vss for
buildingzs in the Bullring areq, including o
gamas sore, yeiz, community buildings
[e.g. for the Sea Cadsts), a tech houss
and music sore, os well oz o mussum
and new shope.

The majerity of parficipants would like
ko 388 new keisum focilies. Ideas for
thiz included new ploygrounds, o zoo,
syfimming pool, sharepark ond musewm.

Studentz would like Cullompaon o be
mally susminoble. Greor suggasfions 1o
achisye thiz included solor and water
enangy, and more public mampon.

]

B

§ =
o = 1

#h "5_
Emilv's cale and tour of e ol mils - her kdea in-
dudes & hunt tofind dfierent stes reited be e MIL

. R

.H-mgrnm s plaseground and
siaiapank 3t Te tin dabion

Thi il Beoum - bringing Sa hisony of
Cullemptons mils o Ha

"

sl

[
Lipesiig-Rosa’s bdaa for the stabien anoa - & now ign and
footpath to make tha amtal o fown battor

e

Tlao’s kdiom for Tha train sialion, with 2 Cafo 2nc
wolmima sign

B

=
'
-

Cran's High Street of e frturs Incudes & mussum,
boch-haues, ping-schosd ared music som

0 -
i

4

-
2T

Sopika's idaa for tha Bullring Is about food, animak
and marke? sls to support locl chamies

O reimagirsxs Bullring - or Simpaon Steet, with
& e, Seg Caders Bullding and gama shors:

11 T CETITE O LIGING MCRIOES 3 S, paly
manirg, hodad, swimming pocl andtolies

Mz idaz for tha Mills inchsdas 3 now sagting an,
ooffed shop and 2 Sowr sbout oMk hislory

0 . "'b‘.
ﬂ}i Sy J"‘I.-ﬁ..._
bl 1 E o w
e - |
e : i & -
: S %
]
£, . Y i
s -:.""\'u o5 -
- a L 31 d
L ¥ T [P
APy |

Litv's e Is o add mong shope, plants, ml:rm
shgns aned Bghts foima ke tha town mon atctie

Liv's it s called 'K lowsly sinaet that evervona wans
foigo ko'

Thaa's ideaifor e Bullring includs 2 new park

2 -_f' L
W

! £y

# . ot
= | e g, TN
Al .
= T
| el
" ]
B “__'- 5
L S|

Lottias hdeator tha Bulining Includes im
CRESNE, mong plating and loks of emartzinment

g...a 2

This ik N s MOn oo and saating, 2 G,
WaiCDmE SN 3nd 3 Map for Vst io 5a fown



/8¢ abed

WRITTEN RESPOMNSES

COMMENTS

SUMMARY OF
COMMENTS

Matural England

Mabwal Englond suggedia that
the [bsadivastity velus of deyal
opmant silea iz cwened to pro-
vide o boswdline ogonat which

* The onapod implicotions # ony propossd
changea o the local road neéwod: need to be
Eulby undaratood, be snaure tham s ne odverss
mpoct on the sofe and efficient opswtion of
fhe sircfegic rood nahwodk.

oyenrching vision and LISP is clear;

The mosemion wil cosale o fomessod foe
dabymry of plarred project and iscas out
Cullompion's charocler io boost the fosm's
profia and padeomancs,

fshure net goin opparunilies can HE would ke on oocessible SPD with ke
be msczured Halberton Parish Counal ea smadiy discemible ough bawes,
* Asmeament of the proposcl os * Mo furher deyslopment should fcks ploce unl o gnug balarics of fed and mages, and
|y rialk: fhe motorwoy J28 hoa been improyed ond thames that ave deor to loiged cudiances;
songestion mducad of peak: oyvel fimes. The SPD should be dsofy disinguish b
In addifion o thoss that fillsd ot the ENYEY Forum Fo floees DCC Planning, Transportation and Environ- e e =S Sefeees

l,-_-nI'nE- or in peron at one of the aysn
15 wiinen rssponded were mads directly 1o
hid Deyon District Council via email

DCAF thomd o asf of objscSyes
for the mozherion ko reduce
oo uas ord i improying | haalth
through ther provision o jooomss
prodsct edafing Fights of Woy
ond other ocosss oppodurities;
and mcognises the impodonos of
othar recrectional apace.

Highways England

Macaures fo encouroge modal
ahift are atonghy -:l.ppn'h-u o
minimize bofic ond meduce =li
ance on A4S Jundion 2B.

The maosteiplon should consides
hosy prublic orapod sendosa
con be improyed. The principle
ol wud'irE in fhe improvemant
of the vl bne ia suppoii-
od by Highwow E‘:’“Emd s
to i pokential fo n-:l.r:n yehicu-
lor outbound commuling.

To meduce commuiing by car,
tha mozhevplan should sncou-
age uuli\w_,rﬂ: oommarcial da-
velopmant in Boven which = well
connecled by ausioincble frovel
cormechon ao hat sushoinoble
tryel patiema ore smbaddsd
from #he outsst.

Highwymya England & suppordive
of the mosterplana emesging

meend

* local kanspest - support fer improsymman of
public spoces ond muppoding susloinabls
Baneport. Matedial and design = roemmc
apoces | Shofion Rood golewsy, Buling,
and High S wall must maks we orapodd

mle iz not tnlrpm-'mbud and must conaidar
fhe intsgmotion of all mndu-a and cngoing
maintenance. |n tama of the cpding netwod,
conrecling fowna on e M5 T
geecier prioity Ehan fo Beler, ca theee am
wiithin oycleabls disloncas.

#  Hizhooo Emdronment - weloomes the focus on
e anhancement and resforsfon of Cullome
fon's hislodic buildings and lendscaps in e
hozbarplan.

* Rood riak - amy redesign of high et /rey
dayelopment should ssek o proside SUDS.
Hizhovic oouris ond possogewomys should ba
permeable and could indegraie smin godens.

* Healh and wellbeing - fhe mosisrplan would
be thengthenad by identifying mecwres ho
addmeas the dimate and ﬂ-ﬂﬂ-ﬂ-ﬂlbﬂ' ST
oy, ochisving zevo corbon u-uwlnplrvarh. and
cnaafing healthy weight eméronments’, in line
with PHE guidanca.

* Economic deyelopmant - suppod for msinforc-
ng Cullempton's rols oa o plooe of wodk
and making. |denifiad oddForal demand for
CoryOEing apace in e hown cene.

Historic England

SPD-*El#und

* Sport Englond encowage Wid Devon o
oy ouf @ ploying pitch and apodt fociléy
evidence bowe and dalegy

Shored guidones on Adiye Design, which
alignz with the mazeplon’a chu-dr.m of =rr
cownging peooks io be coiye Huough thaic
aymvycay lives firough wealking and eycling
Support for the protediion and snhancement
of CCa Fisldy with fovmal and ifoma
apoit, buf conocen owes pofechial ma_,-"'ruln-
oofion of rugtey ond crickst clube, mquiring
reyel cowoea Hhe BAS.

The moztenplon should considesr evidenc-

ing| and pkl"lr'ir'g for fuhum spors prosision
{pich and nompich| fo mest futue demand-
what apods, sizs, ancillory locilfes, ond
whem

Devon and Cormenll Police

* Ralevond pinciples for amsigning out ciime in

Cullompion fown cantre: rovtea and apoces
dhould be welldefined, cvsrlooksd, and
well weed; patha ond parking cowts of e
e of buildings thould be aycided; blank
goble ands should be ovcided, ocive fron-
oge sncounnged; dear definifon of whem
p-l.Hu: poee “end and privas apoce ke
gina; du-alg"l fou sacury ond mairfsnaoncs;
-:r-:lnmn.n[-:luprr.uhnr CLTTE T
for mbukihmant.

* HE suppout the fhamoSic principlea in the sport South West Water
and mschibSon buf word ho be awe thot the » Mo budher comment

thamae and chjscivea related ho
mospmmet | 4 and ﬁl




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9.

CABINET AGENDA ITEM
09 July 2020

REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2019/20

Cabinet Member Clir Alex White
Responsible Officer Deputy Chief Executive (S151): Andrew Jarrett

Reason for Report: To present the revenue and capital outturn figures for the financial
year 2019/20.

RECOMMENDATION(S): That Cabinet -

1 - Note the General Fund outturn achieved in 2019/20 which shows an overall
overspend of £232k. This deficit is proposed to be taken from General Fund reserve
which will still leave the balance above our minimum recommended level.

2 - Approve the net transfers to earmarked reserves of £686k detailed in the General
Fund service budget variance reports shown in Appendix 1 and summarised in
Appendix 3.

3 - Note the positive position achieved on the Housing Revenue Account which shows
a saving of £608k and approve the “earmarking” of the extra £608k shown in paragraph
4.2, as well as the utilisation of reserves totalling £859k identified in Appendices 2 and
3.

4 - Approve the carry forward of £9.741m from the 2019/20 capital programme (see
paragraph 6.3) as all of the schemes will be delivered in 2020/21 or later years. Also
approve the transfer to Earmarked reserves of the un-spent £208k identified in
Appendix 4.

Relationship to the Corporate Plan: The financial resources of the Council impact
directly on its ability to deliver the corporate plan prioritising the use of available
resources carried forward from 2019/20. All future spending will be closely linked to
key council pledges from the updated corporate plan.

Financial Implications: Good financial management and administration underpin
the entire document.

Legal Implications: None.

Risk Assessment: Regular financial monitoring information mitigates the risk of over
or underspends at year end and allows the Council to direct its resources to key
corporate priorities.

Equality Impact Assessment: No equality issues identified for this report.

Impact on Climate Change: No impacts identified for this report.

Page 389



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.1

2.2

2.3

Executive Summary

This report contains information relating to the Council’s performance for the
2019/20 financial year. The outturn figures included are provisional subject to
external review; the findings of which are to be reported to Audit Committee in

August this year.

Monitoring the budget is an important part of the Council’s performance

management framework.

The revenue outturn position for the financial year 2019/20 is as follows:

e The General Fund (GF) Revenue Outturn position for 2019/20 is a net
overspend of £232k. The table below assumes this transfer.

e The HRA is a “Self-Financing” account for the Council’s Housing Landlord
function, which is budgeted to “break even” (net of approved transfers
to/from HRA Reserves). The HRA Outturn for 2019/20 is a net underspend

of £608Kk.
31 March In year 31 March
2019 movement 2020
£k
£k £k
General Fund Reserve 2,501 (250) 2,251
Housing Revenue Account Reserve 2,000 0 2,000

The Capital outturn position for 2019/20 is shown in Section 6.

Introduction

Members of the Cabinet should note that the outturn report is fundamentally a
set of management reports that show the year end position on all service areas.
The Finance Team then have to turn these management reports into the
statutory financial statements which are subject to a wide number of complex
accounting rules that often significantly change the final picture of a service’s
financial position for the year. However, it is important to note that the bottom-
line profit or loss for the year remains constant.

Members will be aware from previous experience that the position can change
between “in-year” projections and the final outturn position, mainly due to
demand-led service costs and income levels. The budget monitoring process
involves a regular review of budgets. Budgetholders, with support and advice
from their accountants, review the position and update their forecasts based on
currently available information and knowledge of service requirements for the
remainder of the year. As with any forecast there is always a risk that
assumptions and estimates will differ from the eventual outcome.

During the budget setting process we continue to ensure that revenue budgets

are set on a robust basis and take a prudent view of the likely levels of income
and expenditure.

Page §90



24

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

On March 20 2020, the country was put into lockdown as a response to the
Covid 19 pandemic. It has affected us all greatly, and the impacts on this
Authority have been wide ranging: from the ways we make decisions; to new
operations including assistance to those who are shielding, the distribution of
grants to support local businesses and additional assistance for the homeless;
the closure of leisure centres and wholesale changes to working practices, with
most staff working from home or indeed on furlough. However, the timing of the
crisis is such that the impacts on the financial year being reported are minimal.
It will have truly significant effects on our income as leisure centres have closed,
car parks are empty and a broad range of services are suspended. The effects
of this and the Council’'s responses to them will be reported through the
appropriate channels.

The General Fund Reserve

This is the major revenue reserve of the Council. It is increased or decreased
by the surplus or deficit generated on the General Fund in the year. This reserve
held a balance of £2.501m at the end of 2018/19 following the end of year
transfers. In 2019/20 there were a number of transfers and contributions to
general reserves resulting in the final transfer out of £250k being the £232k
deficit generated in year plus £18k Brexit funding received in 2018/19 and
transferred to an EMR this year. If this is approved, the General Fund Reserve
will still remain slightly above the recommended minimum level of £2.0m as
required by Cabinet agreement on 16 January 2020.

Detailed budget monitoring reports were provided to both senior managers and
Members throughout 2019/20. This monitoring focused on significant budget
variances (+/- £10k), included remedial action where necessary and estimated
an overall outturn position. The final written monitoring report considered by the
Cabinet gave a detailed position as at 31 December 2019 and predicted an end
of year deficit of £252k for the General Fund. Therefore the final position
improved by £20k.

The table below shows the overall budget, actual and variance, summarised for
2019/20.

2019/20 2019/20 Variance
Budget Actual
£ £ £

Total Cost of Services 10,244,904 | 10,743,136 | 498,232
Other Income and Expenditure (60,605) (388,540) | (327,935)
TOTAL BUDGETED EXPENDITURE | 10,184,299 | 10,354,596 | 170,297
TOTAL FUNDING (10,184,299) | (10,122,290) 62,009
Net Income and Expenditure 0 232,306 | 232,306

A detailed explanation of all the key variances is shown in Appendix 1, service
by service. Inevitably, within a service, there are often variances which
compensate. Some areas may create savings which in turn can be partly or fully
offset by overspends elsewhere. In this report we have tried to highlight the
major movements to enable Members to appreciate the more significant trends
within each service area.

Page 391



3.5

3.6

3.7

4.0

4.1

4.2

NB — where any of the above variances were deemed to be recurring, the
2020/21 budget was adjusted accordingly.

The overall effect of the 2019/20 financial year would result in a General Fund
Balance of £2.252m which is in line with the Council’'s own minimum
requirement of £2.0m (agreed by Cabinet 16 January 2020).

In addition to the GF Balance, the Council holds a number of Earmarked
Reserves (EMRs) which are used to help fund anticipated future expenditure
commitments. The net movement of £0.683m from these reserves and the end
of year balances held on them are shown in Appendix 3.

Market Walk and Fore Street Shops, Tiverton

Members will no doubt be keen to see this year’s results following the acquisition
of the shops in March 2015. At minus 1.2% the return on investment has
dropped compared to 2018/19 (+1.3%). Net rental income has reduced due to
negative rent reviews. Further, the number of vacant units has risen, which is
partly due to relets being withheld in Fore Street pending the Tiverton
Enhancement Project (now discontinued). These are challenging times “on the
high street” and we are mindful that we must balance the return on our
investment with the perception and vision for the town, hence we may accept a
lower return in exchange for occupancy of the units.

The various elements are shown in different areas of the Income and
Expenditure account, but the overall position is as follows:

£k
Net rental income after expenses
(Shown within property Services committee) (128)
Interest payable on Public Works Loan Board loan 95
Statutory Capital Financing (over 50 years) 83
Net (surplus)/deficit for the year 50

This income equates to an approximate return net of borrowing costs of -1.2%
being -50k+4,173k (£4.173m = Principal).

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

This is a ring-fenced reserve in respect of the Council’'s housing landlord
function. It is increased or decreased by the surplus or deficit generated on the
HRA in the year. For 2019/20 the outturn is a net surplus of £608k and Members
are requested to approve a transfer to HRA reserves to bring this to zero.

This surplus is explained in paragraph 4.4 and the effect of it on the HRA
balance is shown below.

Page §92



4.3

4.4

4.5

5.0

5.1

5.2

6.0

6.1

HRA Balance

£m
HRA balance @ 31/03/19 (2.000)
Budget saving achieved in 2019/20 (0.608)
Additional transfer to 30yr modernisation programme 0.608
HRA balance @ 31/03/20 (2.000)

After the strong closing financial position delivered in 2019/20, it is
recommended to transfer a sum of £608k into the Housing Maintenance Fund
earmarked reserve. This is in addition to the £764k budgeted in-year
contribution. The above position leaves an HRA balance of £2.0m as at 31
March 2020.

Main budget variances during 2019/20 giving rise to the figure of £608k include
£252k salary savings (which include savings relating to retirements and vacant
posts as well as standby payments to depot staff); £235k underspend on new
projects and £61k saving where anticipated financing of capital spend was not
utilised, whilst the increased number of affordable housing units being applied
in year contributed to dwelling rents exceeding expectations by £122k. For
further details, please see the HRA Outturn Summary for 2019/20, which is
attached as Appendix 2 to this report.

In addition to the above, the HRA hold a number of earmarked reserves. The
movements on these during 2019/20 and their closing balances are shown on
Appendix 3. This money is effectively “ring fenced” and will be held to meet
expenditure on projects during 2020/21 and beyond.

The Collection Fund

Mid Devon is a collection authority for council tax and national non-domestic
rates, and as such, is required to produce a collection fund account for the Mid
Devon area. The Council collects council tax on behalf of Devon County
Council, Devon Fire and Rescue Service, Devon & Cornwall Police and the
Town/Parish Councils.

The council tax collection rate for 2019/20 was 97.8% (97.8% in 2018/19). This
demonstrates how our Revenues section has consistently been effective in
collecting the annual charge in extremely challenging economic times. The Non
Domestic Rates collection rate was 98.8% for 2019/20 (99.3% in 2018/19).

Capital Outturn

A capital outturn summary is attached as Appendix 4 to this report. The revised
capital budget for 2019/20 amounted to £35.193m. At the year-end we had
spent £12.197m leaving the capital programme underspent in total by
£22.996m.

Page 393



6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

7.0

7.1

Capital receipts of £0.463m (this includes general useable capital receipts and
ring-fenced replacement homes capital receipts) were applied to finance the
programme with the balance of the expenditure met by a combination of
borrowing, external grants and contributions from reserves.

As shown in Appendix 4 there are capital projects totalling £9.741m which have
not been completed as at the 31 March 2020. This expenditure, therefore,
needs to be rolled forward to be included in the 2020/21 capital programme.
These schemes are still fully funded by either unspent capital grants or by
provisions held within capital earmarked reserves. In addition there is £99k
relating to Affordable Housing and £109k HRA Renewable Energy that will
remain in a reserve for future prioritisation.

The Capital Receipts Reserve (note this includes general useable capital
receipts and ring-fenced replacement homes capital receipts) is used to part
fund the capital programme - the movement on this account for the year is given
below:

£m
Balance at 1 April 2019 (3.621)
e Sale of Council Houses (29) (2.334)
e General Fund Sales (0.075)
e Open Market Housing sales (2) (0.485)
e Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts to Government. 0.895
e Capital Receipts applied in year 0.463
Balance at 31 March 2020 (5.157)

Note — the remaining balance of £5.157m is committed in order to fund any
slippage, specific projects in ICT and Private Sector Housing and to balance the
Capital Medium Term Financial Plan.

The Capital Earmarked Reserve has been set aside from Revenue to fund
capital projects; the balance on this reserve now stands at £301k made up by
the following transactions:

£k
Balance at 1 April 2019 (415)
Contribution to EMR (2)
Funding required to deliver the 2019/20 Programme 116
Balance at 31 March 2020 (301)

Note — the remaining balance of £301k is committed in order to fund any
slippage and to balance the Capital Medium Term Financial Plan.

The Council also holds New Homes Bonus which can be used for either
Revenue or to support future Capital Programmes, the balance held at 31 March
2020 is £3.499m; again much of this remaining balance is committed to funding
any slippage and to balance the Capital Medium Term Financial Plan.

Treasury Management

A review of the 2019/20 investment performance, including the details of
interest payable, are included within the separate 2019/20 Treasury Outturn

Report. Page 394



7.2

8.0

8.1

As detailed in this report, the Authority holds a 100% interest in 3 Rivers
Development Limited, a private limited company engaged in construction in the
Mid Devon area. The Authority advances funds to the Company to facilitate
operations with the intention that they are repaid from the proceeds of the sale
of the developments.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, £6.446m was loaned to the Company
and total loan value at this date was £9.061m. During the year £251k interest
was paid to the Authority in respect of these loans.

These loans are subject to overarching management review on a regular
basis. This is reflected in the impairments made in both periodic monitoring
reports and in the year end financial statements. The year end review, carried
out in compliance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, led to impairments
totalling £790k in respect of one of the project loans and the working capital
loan.

Conclusion

Members are asked to note the revenue and capital outturn figures for the
financial year 2019/20 and agree the proposed earmarking of surplus funds
generated by in year savings from both the GF and the HRA. In addition,
Members are requested to approve the incomplete projects on the 2019/20
capital programme be rolled forward into the 2020/21 capital programme.

Contact for more information: Andrew Jarrett
01884 23(4242)
ajarrett@middevon.gov.uk
Background Papers:

Circulation of the Report: Cllr White
Leadership Team

Page 395



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Budget Actual Variance
2019/20 2019/20
£ £ £

Community Development 142,855 144,110 1,255
Corporate Management 1,681,157 2,533,656 852,500
Car Parks (528,562) (518,213) 10,349
Customer Services 768,871 698,169 (70,702)
Environmental Services 798,477 1,001,853 203,376
Finance & Performance 690,320 685,174 (5,146)
Grounds Maintenance 610,190 529,519 (80,671)
General Fund Housing 77,524 9,004 (68,520)
Human Resources 465,090 470,705 5,615
I.T.Services 987,535 970,193 (17,342)
Legal & Democratic Services 1,136,206 1,036,659 (99,547)
Planning & Regeneration 993,725 1,452,261 458,536
Property Services 589,780 494,460 (95,320)
Revenues & Benefits 431,290 540,485 109,195
Recreation and Sport 527,245 659,881 132,635
Waste Services 2,015,282 1,817,494 (197,788)
ALL GENERAL FUND SERVICES 11,386,985 12,525,409 1,138,425
Net recharge to HRA (1,534,110) (1,534,110) 0
Statutory Adjustments (Capital Charges) 392,029 418,832 26,803
Statutory Adjustments (Capital Loans & Investments Written Off) 0 (666,995) (666,995)
NET COST OF SERVICES 10,244,904 10,743,136 498,233
Finance Lease Interest Payable 58,280 58,280 (0)
Interest Charged Between GF & HRA (49,000) (45,479) 3,521
Interest Receivable / Payable on Other Activities 167,580 100,469 (67,111)
Interest Receivable on Investments (442,540) (594,907) (152,367)
CTS Funding parishes 0 0 0
Transfers into Earmarked Reserves 3,344,196 3,627,968 283,772
Transfers from Earmarked Reserves (2,551,270) (3,722,926) (1,171,655)
Contribution from New Homes Bonus Reserve (587,850) (587,850) 0
Revenue contribution to fund 2019/20 Capital Programme 0 775,905 775,905
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 10,184,299 10,354,596 170,297
FUNDED BY:-

Formula Grant (RSG & RSDG & NNDR) (3,001,386) (2,839,376) 162,010
Business Rates Benefit from Devon Pool 0 (100,000) (100,000)
New Homes Bonus Grant (1,243,503) (1,243,503) 0
COVID 19 Grant (38,976) (38,976) 0
Collection Fund Surplus (71,330) (71,331) (1)
Council Tax - (Band D at £203.84) (5,829,104) (5,829,104) 0
TOTAL FUNDING (10,184,299) (10,122,290) 62,009
NET INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 0 232,306 232,306

Page 397




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Community Development

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Community and Development £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 51,330 62,849 11,519 22.4%
2,000 Premises 45,110 39,307 (5,803) -12.9%
3,000 Transport 0 0 0 0.0%
4,000 Supplies and Services 134,765 127,242 (7,523) -5.6%
Total Direct Expenditure 231,205 229,398 (1,807) -0.8%
7,000 External Income (88,350) (85,288) 3,062 3.5%
Net Direct Expenditure 142,855 144,110 1,255 0.9% (a)
5,000 Support Services 54,280 54,280 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 57,070 57,070 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure 111,350 111,350 0 0.0%
Total Community & Development Expenditure 254,205 255,460 1,255 0.5%
Community & Development - Service units
CD200 Community Development 173,075 167,795 (5,280) -3.1%
CD300 Tiverton Pannier Market 81,130 89,195 8,065 9.9%
CD305 Market - Electric Nights 0 (1,530) (1,530) 0.0%
CD400 Crediton Market Square 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Community & Development Expenditure 254,205 255,460 1,255 0.5%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation 1,255 (a)
Major Cost Changes
CD300 Salaries - job evaluation and additional cover over the busy Christmas period 13,000
13,000
Major Cost Savings
CD200 Community Development grant funding (5,280)
(5,280)
Major Changes in Income Levels -
Minor Variations (6,465)
Total Expenditure Variation 1,255 (a)
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
CD200 Release of reserve no longer required to General Fund Reserves (4,597)
CD300 Release of reserve no longer required to General Fund Reserves (7,000)
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20
Net movement in earmarked reserves (11,597)
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves (10,342)

Page 398




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Corporate Management

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Corporate £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 1,543,710 1,525,386 (18,324) -1.2%
2,000 Premises 0 0 0 0.0%
3,000 Transport 3,110 1,907 (1,203) -38.7%
4,000 Supplies and Services 156,700 997,726 841,026 536.7%
Total Direct Expenditure 1,703,520 2,525,019 821,499 48.2%
7,000 External Income (22,363) 8,638 31,001 138.6%
Net Direct Expenditure 1,681,157 2,533,656 852,500 50.7% (a)
5,000 Support Services (159,870) (159,870) 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure (159,870) (159,870) 0 0.0%
Total Corporate Expenditure 1,521,287 2,373,786 852,500 56.0%
Corporate Management Service Units
CM100 Leadership Team 573,440 547,352 (26,088) -4.5%
CM199 Leadership Team Recharge (573,420) (573,420) 0 0.0%
CM210 Performance, Governance & Data 105,470 95,428 (10,042) -9.5%
CM220 Brexit (15,363) (15,363) 0 0.0%
CM300 Corporate Fees/charges 508,430 1,389,398 880,968 173.3%
CM340 Unison 11,540 11,433 (107) -0.9%
CM310 Corporate Performance 1,750 1,750 0 0.0%
CM600 Pension Backfunding 909,440 917,053 7,613 0.8%
CM800 Tiverton Hub 0 156 156 0.0%
Total Corporate Expenditure 1,521,287 2,373,786 852,500 56.0%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation 852,500 (a)
Major Cost Changes
3 Rivers - Working capital impairment - IFRS 9
CM300 the risk of non-repayment of the loan 173,000
3 Rivers - Riverside impairment - Relates to the
potential overspend on the project leading to non-
CM300 repayment of loan 617,000
CM300 Impairment of South West Mutual Investment 50,000
CM300 Bank charges above budget 15,260
CM220 Training and technolgy spend from Brexit budget 19,470
874,730
Major Cost Savings
CM100 Salary savings including element from Director post not replaced (26,000)
CM300 Valuation fees for the year less than anticipated (13,000)
CM300 Charges on Apprenticeship levy less than budgeted (19,510)
(58,510)
Major Changes in Income Levels
CM210 Grant received for providing various services incl Transparency code (8,100)
CM300 Increase in Bad Debt Provision to reflect Covid uncertainty 64,190
CM220 Grant Income above budget, netted of against training overspend (19,470)
36,620
Minor Variances
Various Other minor variances (340) (340)
Total Expenditure Variation 852,500
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20
Net movement in earmarked reserves 0
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves 852,500

Page 399




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Car Parks
2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Car Parks £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 0 (0) (0) 0.0%
2,000 Premises 185,578 183,048 (2,530) -1.4%
3,000 Transport 0 0 0 0.0%
4,000 Supplies and Services 67,150 95,794 28,644 42.7%
Total Direct Expenditure 252,728 278,842 26,114 10.3%
7,000  External Income (781,290) (797,055) (15,765) -2.0%
Net Direct Expenditure (528,562) (518,213) 10,349 2.0% (a)l
5,000 Support Services 229,850 229,850 0 0.0%
6,500  Depreciation 218,450 218,450 (0) 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure 448,300 448,300 (0) 0.0%
Total Car Park Expenditure (80,262) (69,913) 10,349 12.9%
Car Park - Service units
CP510 Market Car Park 8,430 8,430 0 0.0%
CP520 Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP) 189,140 203,915 14,775 7.8%
CP530 Amenity Car Parks 32,948 36,317 3,369 10.2%
CP540 Paying Car Parks (310,780) (318,574) (7,794) 2.5%
Total Car Park Expenditure (80,262) (69,913) 10,349 12.9%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation 10,349 (a
Major Cost Changes
CP Increase cash & electronic collection costs 16,000
CP540 Implementing new pricing tariff's has resulted in a one-off overspend 8,000
24,000
Major Cost Savings
0
Major Changes in Income Levels
CP520 P&D shortfall for MSCP due to Premier Inn works. 8,400
CP540 Increased P&D income from new tariff charges (8,000)
CP540 Parking permits increase in income (21,000)
Reduced PCN income due to staff vacancy in
Enforcement Team (see salary savings within
CP540 Environmental Services) 6,660
(13,940)
Minor Variations 289
Total Expenditure Variation 10,349 (a)
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20
Net movement in earmarked reserves 0
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves 10,349

Page 400



GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Customer Services

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Customer Services £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 681,900 620,148 (61,752) -9.1%
2,000 Premises 0 0 0 0.0%
3,000 Transport 1,290 769 (521) -40.4%
4,000 Supplies and Services 85,681 78,097 (7,585) -8.9%
Total Direct Expenditure 768,871 699,013 (69,858) -9.1%
7,000 External Income 0 (844) (844) 0.00%
Net Direct Expenditure 768,871 698,169 (70,702) -9.2% (a)
5,000 Support Services (771,610) (771,610) (0) 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 1,110 1,110 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure (770,500) (770,500) (0) 0.0%
Total Customer Services Expenditure (1,629) (72,332) (70,703) -4340.3%
Customer Services - Service units
CS200 Communications 131,880 128,856 (3,024) -2.3%
CS299 Communications Rech (131,850) (131,850) 0 0.0%
CS500 Messenger Services 66,490 51,854 (14,636) -22.0%
CS599 Messenger Services Rech (66,500) (66,500) 0 0.0%
CS900 Central Photocopying 21,010 19,159 (1,851) -8.8%
CS901 Central Photocopying Rech (20,990) (20,990) 0 0.0%
CS902 Central Postage 23,130 23,658 528 2.3%
CS903 Central Postage Rech (23,110) (23,110) 0 0.0%
CS910 Customer Services Admin 153,030 120,718 (32,312) -21.1%
CS915 Customer Services Admin Rech (163,010) (163,010) (0) 0.0%
CS930 Customer First Management 169,060 165,496 (3,564) -2.1%
CS931 Customer First Management Rech (169,070) (169,070) 0 0.0%
CS932 Customer First 584,881 569,038 (15,843) -2.7%
CS933 Customer First Rech (576,580) (576,580) 0 0.0%
CS938 Digital Strategy Staffing 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Customer Services Expenditure (1,629) (72,332) (70,703) -4340.3%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation (70,703) (a)
Major Cost Changes
0
Major Cost Savings
Salary Savings due to various vacant posts during the year (72,000)
(72,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
Minor Variations 1,297

Total Expenditure Variation

(70,703) (a)

EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20

Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20

Net movement in earmarked reserves

0

Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves

(70,703)

Page 401



GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Environmental Services

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Environmental Services £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 900,198 881,359 (18,839) -2.1%
2,000 Premises 145,329 185,835 40,506 27.9%
3,000 Transport 43,800 44,449 649 1.5%
4,000 Supplies and Services 123,070 125,370 2,300 1.9%
S106 Expenditure 158,728 158,728
Total Direct Expenditure 1,212,397 1,395,741 183,344 15.1%
7,000 External Income (413,920) (387,484) 26,436 6.4%
S106 contributions (6,404) (6,404) 0.0%
Net Direct Expenditure 798,477 1,001,853 203,376 25.5% (a)
5,000 Support Services 734,430 734,430 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 89,760 89,760 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure 824,190 824,190 0 0.0%
Total Environmental Services Expenditure 1,622,667 1,826,043 203,376 12.5%
Environmental Services - Service units
ES100 Cemeteries 134,365 170,724 36,359 27.1%
ES101  Cemetery Lodge (8,400) 0 8,400 100.0%
ES110 Bereavement Services 31,810 31,482 (328) -1.0%
ES112  Bereavement Services Rech (31,810) (31,810) 0 0.0%
ES200 CCTV Initiatives 12,820 14,051 1,231 9.6%
ES250 Community Safety 84,900 80,806 (4,094) -4.8%
ES251 Community Safety recharge 0 0 0 0.0%
ES252  Building Safer Community Fund 0 0 0 0.0%
ES256  Community Safety Partnership 0 0 0 0.0%
ES260 Food Protection 102,870 100,630 (2,240) -2.2%
ES270  Water Quality Monitoring 40,730 46,320 5,590 13.7%
ES349  Private Sector Housing team Rech 0 0 0 0.0%
ES354  Private Sector Housing 79,650 100,542 20,892 26.2%
ES360 Dog Warden 19,470 22,789 3,319 17.0%
ES361 Public Health 0 0 0 0.0%
ES450 Parks & Open Spaces 373,210 368,707 (4,503) -1.2%
ES455  Amory Park 50,064 51,547 1,483 3.0%
ES460 Play Areas 221,040 260,689 39,649 17.9%
ES500 Emergency Planning 40,600 39,830 (770) -1.9%
ES550 Licensing 78,920 81,726 2,806 3.6%
ES580  Pool Car Running Costs 7,480 5,160 (2,320) -31.0%
ES600 Pest Control 30,130 26,798 (3,333) -11.1%
ES650 Contaminated Land 0 0 0 0.0%
ES660  Control of Pollution 115,630 228,121 112,491 97.3%
ES670  Local Air Pollution 7,290 7,157 (133) -1.8%
ES720 ES Management 0 0 0 0.0%
ES730  Environmental Enforcement 221,760 208,704 (13,056) -5.9%
ES731 Environmental Enforcement Rech (220,950) (220,950) 0 0.0%
ES733  Environmental Health 756,218 751,952 (4,266) -0.6%
ES734  Environmental Health Rech (532,400) (532,400) 0 0.0%
ES740 Licensing Unit 144,900 151,099 6,199 4.3%
ES741 Licensing Unit Rech (144,900) (144,900) 0 0.0%
ES760 Health & Safety Officer 0 0 0 0.0%
PS480 MDDC Footpaths & Railway Walks 7,270 7,270 0 0.0%
Total Environmental Services Expenditure 1,622,667 1,826,043 203,376 12.5%

Page 402




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Environmental Services

£ £
Total Expenditure Variation 203,376 (a)
Major Cost Changes
ES740 Licensing - salary overspend due to JE regrades. We will be able to adjust fees going forward. 7,000
7,000
Major Cost Savings
ES354&
ES733  Vacant posts during the year - mostly off-set by unachieved income (22,000)
ES730 Vacant post in Environmental Enforcement has resulted in a one-off salary saving (10,000)
(32,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
ES550 Licensing income - unpredictability on licence numbers under the new animal licensing regulations. 4,700
ES354 HMO income not achieved due to vacant post 16,900
ES354  Income write-off due to loss of a major Housing prosecution case 18,000
ES100 Cemetery Income down on Internments & Exclusive Burial Rights 34,000
73,600
Minor Variations 2,450
SERVICE MOVEMENT BEFORE STATUTORY ADJUSTMENTS 51,050
ES450 Net S106 receipts & grants (also see EMR below) Parks & Open Spaces 4,449
ES455 Net S106 receipts & grants (also see EMR below) Amory Pk 138
ES460 Net S106 receipts & grants (also see EMR below) Play Areas 32,632
ES660 Net S106 receipts & grants (also see EMR below) Control of Pollution 115,106
Total Expenditure Variation 203,376 (a)
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
S106 - Air Quality (121,509)
S106 - Public Open Space (37,220)
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20
S106 - Air Quality 6,403
Net movement in earmarked reserves before statutory adjustments (152,326)
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves 51,050

Page 403




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Finance and Performance

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Finance and Performance £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 540,600 540,477 (123) 0.0%
2,000 Premises 0 0 0 0.0%
3,000 Transport 1,280 1,926 646 50.5%
4,000 Supplies and Services 148,440 150,526 2,086 1.4%
Total Direct Expenditure 690,320 692,928 2,608 0.4%
7,000 External Income 0 (7,754) (7,754) 0.00%
Net Direct Expenditure 690,320 685,174 (5,146) -0.7% (a)
5,000 Support Services (707,200) (707,200) 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure (707,200) (707,200) 0 0.0%
Total Finance and Performance Expenditure (16,880) (22,026) (5,146) -30.5%
Finance and Performance - Service units
FP100 Accountancy Services 514,100 519,325 5,225 1.0%
FP199 Accountancy Services Rech (514,010) (514,010) 0 0.0%
FP200 Internal Audit 105,070 101,961 (3,109) -3.0%
FP299 Internal Audit Rech (105,060) (105,060) 0 0.0%
FP300 Procurement 126,250 125,755 (495) -0.4%
FP399 Procurement Rech (138,280) (138,280) 0 0.0%
FP400 Purchase Ledger 99,220 97,447 (1,773) -1.8%
FP499 Purchase Ledger Rech (104,200) (104,200) 0 0.0%
FP500 Sales Ledger 140,160 135,166 (4,994) -3.6%
FP599 Sales Ledger Rech (140,130) (140,130) 0 0.0%
Total Finance and Performance (16,880) (22,026) (5,146) -30.5%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation (5,146) (a)
Major Cost Changes
0
Major Cost Savings
Salary Saving due to vacant posts (5,000)
(5,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
0
Minor Variations (146)
Total Expenditure Variation (5,146) (a)
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20
Net movement in earmarked reserves 0
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves (5,146)

Page 404




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Grounds Maintenance

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Grounds Maintenance £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 530,340 475,974 (54,366) -10.3%
2,000 Premises 0 0 0 0.0%
3,000 Transport 90,940 95,172 4,232 4.7%
4,000 Supplies and Services 37,410 26,238 (11,172) -29.9%
Total Direct Expenditure 658,690 597,384 (61,306) -9.3%
7,000 External Income (48,500) (67,865) (19,365) -39.93%
Net Direct Expenditure 610,190 529,519 (80,671) -13.2% (a)‘
5,000 Support Services (585,560) (585,560) 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 3,260 3,260 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure (582,300) (582,300) 0 0.0%
Total Grounds Maintenance Expenditure 27,890 (52,781) (80,671) -289.2%
Grounds Maintenance - Service units
GM960 Grounds Maintenance 808,200 727,529 (80,671) -10.0%
GM961 Grounds Maintenance Rech (780,310) (780,310) 0 0.0%
Total Grounds Maintenance Expenditure 27,890 (52,781) (80,671) -289.2%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation (80,671) (a)
Major Cost Changes
0
Major Cost Savings
Salary savings - service restructure and vacant posts during the year. (44,100)
Underspend on training budget and equipment. (10,470)
Underspend on repairs of plant and equipment. This is due to some
of the equipment being relatively new. (6,000)
(60,570)
Major Changes in Income Levels
Additional income for adhoc work. (10,000)
Sale of old mowers and vehicle. (7,200)
(17,200)
Minor Variations (2,901)

Total Expenditure Variation

(80,671) (a)|

EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20

Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20

Net movement in earmarked reserves

0

Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves

(80,671)

Page 405



GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

General Fund Housing

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code General Fund Housing £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 273,180 252,342 (20,838) -7.6%
2,000 Premises 7,750 5,032 (2,718) -35.1%
3,000 Transport 14,950 13,942 (1,008) -6.7%
4,000 Supplies and Services 379,998 447,703 67,706 17.8%
Total Direct Expenditure 675,878 719,020 43,142 6.4%
7,000 External Income (598,354) (710,016) (111,662) -18.66%
Net Direct Expenditure 77,524 9,004 (68,520) -88.4% (a)
5,000 Support Services 43,230 43,230 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 620 620 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure 43,850 43,850 0 0.0%
Total General Fund Housing_] Services Expendi 121,374 52,854 (68,520) -56.5%
General Fund Housing - Service units
HG320 Housing & Homelessness Advice 230,590 233,506 2,916 1.3%
HG330 Refugee Housing Scheme 0 0 0 0.0%
HG340 Community Land Trusts 3,125 3,125 0 0.0%
HG345 Rough Sleeping Initiative (25,335) (25,335) 0 0.0%
HG347 Rough Sleeping Initiative MDDC/EDDC (8,650) (8,650) 0 0.0%
HG350 Community Alarms (101,090) (138,254) (37,164) -36.8%
HG373 Homelessness & Enabling Team 297,580 263,308 (34,272) -11.5%
HG376 Ivor Macey House Project 22,733 22,733 0 0.0%
HG379 Homeless & Enabling Team Rech (297,580) (297,580) 0 0.0%
Total General Fund Housing Services Expendi 121,374 52,854 (68,520) -56.5%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation (68,520) (a)
Major Cost Changes
HG320 Impairment Allowance to reflect Covid 6,000
HG320 Bad Debts Written Off 10,300
16,300
Major Cost Savings
HG320 Temp Accommodation net costs under budget (36,000)
HG350 Community Alarms: estimated surplus due to underspend on service overheads (19,000)
Salary underspends within the GF Housing staff unit. Legislative changes
implemented at the beginning of 2018/19 brought in a need to work differently.
Provision had been made for an Officer to work with housing applicants when
they first presented as homeless but as the new procedures became embedded,
the need for this post could not be justified. Looking forward this post has not
HG373 been retained for the next budget year. Minor other savings included (31,000)
(86,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
HG320 Discretionary Allowance less than budgeted 21,270
HG350 Community Alarms : Income above budget (13,000)
8,270
Minor Variations
Various Small variances (7,090) (7,090)

Total Expenditure Variation

(68,520) (a)

Page 406




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

General Fund Housing

EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20

Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20

Net movement in earmarked reserves 0

Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves (68,520)

Page 407




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Human Resources

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Human Resources £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 418,730 434,010 15,280 3.6%
2,000 Premises 0 0 0 0.0%
3,000 Transport 2,500 3,397 897 35.9%
4,000 Supplies and Services 43,860 40,432 (3,428) -7.8%
Total Direct Expenditure 465,090 477,839 12,749 2.7%
7,000 External Income 0 (7,135) (7,135) 0.00%
Net Direct Expenditure 465,090 470,705 5,615 1.2% (a)
5,000 Support Services (427,800) (427,800) 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure (427,800) (427,800) 0 0.0%
Total Human Resources Expenditure 37,290 42,905 5,615 15.1%
HR - Service units
HR100 Human Resources 372,770 391,839 19,069 5.1%
HR199 Human Resources Rech (372,710) (372,710) 0 0.0%
HR200 Staff Development Training 37,260 32,925 (4,335) -11.6%
HR210 CPD Training 0 0 0 0.0%
HR220 Post Entry Training 0 0 0 0.0%
HR230 Health & Safety Training 0 0 0 0.0%
HR300 Payroll 73,150 66,588 (6,562) -9.0%
HR399 Payroll Rech (73,160) (73,160) 0 0.0%
HR400 Learning & Development 54,990 53,097 (1,893) -3.4%
HR499 Learning & Development Rech (55,030) (55,030) 0 0.0%
HR600 Health & Safety Officer 42,900 42,236 (664) -1.5%
HR699 Health & Safety Officer Rech (42,880) (42,880) 0 0.0%
Total Human Resources Expenditure 37,290 42,905 5,615 15.1%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation 5,615 (a)
Major Cost Changes
Salary overspend due to staff changes within HR 24,000
24,000
Major Cost Savings
Vacant posts during the year (12,000)
(12,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
0
Minor Variations (6,385)
Total Expenditure Variation 5,615 (a)
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20
Net movement in earmarked reserves 0
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves 5,615

Page 408




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

ICT Services
2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code ICT Services £ £ £ %
1,000  Employees 550,200 549,662 (538) -0.1%
2,000 Premises 0 0 0 0.0%
3,000 Transport 1,020 1,856 836 82.0%
4,000 Supplies and Services 436,315 422,845 (13,470) -3.1%
Total Direct Expenditure 987,535 974,364 (13,171) -1.3%
7,000 External Income 0 (4,170) (4,170) 0.00%
Net Direct Expenditure 987,535 970,193 (17,342) -1.8% (a)
5,000  Support Services (977,030) (977,030) 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 22,350 22,350 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure (954,680) (954,680) 0 0.0%
Total ICT Services Expenditure 32,855 15,513 (17,342) -52.8%
ICT - Service units
IT100 Gazetteer Management 84,790 81,395 (3,395) -4.0%
IT199 Gazetteer Management Rech (84,780) (84,780) 0 0.0%
1T300 Central Telephones 62,060 77,708 15,648 25.2%
1T399 Central Telephones Rech (66,990) (66,990) 0 0.0%
1T400 ICT Network & Hardware 207,335 180,694 (26,641) -12.8%
1T499 ICT Network & Hardware Rech (192,420) (192,420) 0 0.0%
1T500 ICT Software Support & Maint. 488,710 471,337 (17,373) -3.6%
1T599 ICT Software Support & Maint. Rech (501,920) (501,920) 0 0.0%
IT600 ICT Staff Unit 380,950 378,010 (2,940) -0.8%
1T699 ICT Staff Unit Rech (380,940) (380,940) 0 0.0%
IT700 Cyber Security 36,280 41,884 5,604 15.4%
1T800 Phoenix House Printing 20,700 16,890 (3,810) -18.4%
T899 Phoenix House Printing Rech (20,690) (20,690) 0 0.0%
1T900 Digital Services 249,770 265,336 15,566 6.2%
1T999 Digital Services Recharge (250,000) (250,000) 0 0.0%
Total ICT Services Expenditure 32,855 15,513 (17,342) -52.8%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation (17,342) (a)
Major Cost Changes
Delay in Central Government utilising the internet for submission of statutory
IT700 ; . ) . 7,090
returns - meaning the Council has to pay for a private sector network connection.
IT300 New contact centre support and maintenance not included in 19-20 budget. 8,200
IT300 Phone switch support and maintenance. This will disappear in 20-21 when voice Sk 8,000
IT500 Idox support fees more than budgeted. Migration work to new hardware required. 11,800
1T900 Overspend on computing software licence fee 7,000
42,090
Major Cost Savings
IT100/600 Salary savings due to vacant posts (9,000)
IT400 Underspend on computer hardware. This was to help offset overspend on IT300. (10,000)
1T400 The new contract for datalines came in less than budgeted. (13,000)
IT500 Client access licence. Indicative prices used for budget setting included a licence
for per user and device. Only a user licence is required to deliver applications. (27,800)
(59,800)
Major Changes in Income Levels
Minor Variations 368

Total Expenditure Variation

(17,342) (a)

EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20

Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20

Net movement in earmarked reserves

0

Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves

(17,342)

Page 409




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Legal and Democratic Services

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Legal and Democratic Services £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 568,696 751,172 182,476 32.1%
2,000 Premises 200 39,721 39,521 19760.3%
3,000 Transport 17,700 17,699 (1) 0.0%
4,000 Supplies and Services 593,810 632,207 38,397 6.5%
Total Direct Expenditure 1,180,406 1,440,798 260,392 22.1%
7,000 External Income (44,200) (404,139) (359,939) -814.34%
Net Direct Expenditure 1,136,206 1,036,659 (99,547) 22.1% (a)
5,000 Support Services (42,050) (42,050) 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure (42,050) (42,050) 0 22.1%
Total Legal and Democratic Services 1,094,156 994,609 (99,547) 22.1%
Legal & Democratic Services - Service units
LD100 Electoral Registration 272,080 230,282 (41,798) -15.4%
LD199 Electoral Registration Rech (820) (820) 0 0.0%
LD200 Election costs 113,716 135,059 21,343 N/A
LD300 Democratic Rep & Management 709,170 697,075 (12,095) -1.7%
LD400 Committee Services 163,000 158,154 (4,846) -3.0%
LD499 Committee Services Rech (163,000) (163,000) 0 0.0%
LD600 Legal Services 420,850 358,700 (62,150) -14.8%
LD699 Legal Services Rech (420,840) (420,840) 0 0.0%
Total Legal and Democratic Services 1,094,156 994,609 (99,547)
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation (99,547) (a)
Major Cost Changes
LD201 District election spend not fully covered by available EMR 19,000
LD100 Net overspend on printing & postage costs 9,000
28,000
Major Cost Savings
LD600 Software budget underspend net of subscription spend (7,000)
LD600 Underspend on consultancy budget (48,000)
LD100 Consultancy budget for boundary review not required (30,000)
LD100 Saving on staff costs due to carrying a vancancy for a number of months (5,000)
LD400 Saving on staff costs due to carrying a vancancy for a number of months (5,000)
LD100 Saving against budgeted software costs (5,000)
(100,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
LD600 Under recovery of S106 income 9,400
LD600 Fees and Charges income above budget (11,000)
LD100 Increase in IER funding above budget (16,800)
LD100 Sales of electoral register not budgeted for (5,000)
(23,400)
Minor Variations (4,147)

Total Expenditure Variation

(99,547) (a)

EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20

Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20

Net movement in earmarked reserves (other than budgeted)

0

Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves

(99,547)

Page 410




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Planning and Regeneration

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Planning and Regeneration £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 1,844,252 1,798,797 (45,455) -2.5%
2,000 Premises 0 1,380 1,380 0.0%
3,000 Transport 48,716 43,941 (4,775) -9.8%
4,000 Supplies and Services 636,059 815,049 178,990 28.1%
S106 Expenditure 207,945 207,945 0.0%
Total Direct Expenditure 2,529,027 2,867,112 338,084 13.4%
7,000 External Income (1,360,856) (1,195,494) 165,362 12.2%
S106 contributions (29,091) (29,091) 0.0%
Grant funding (174,446) (190,266) (15,820) -9.1%
Net Direct Expenditure 993,725 1,452,261 458,536 46.1% (a)
5,000 Support Services 488,170 488,170 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure 488,170 488,170 0 0.0%
Total Planning and Regeneration Expenditure 1,481,895 1,940,431 458,536 30.9%
Planning and Regeneration - Service units
PR100 Building Regulations 29,900 12,108 (17,792) -59.5%
PR110 Enforcement 160,400 157,236 (3,164) -2.0%
PR200 Development Control 223,560 732,639 509,079 227.7%
PR210 Local Land Charges (2,230) (18,482) (16,252) -728.8%
PR220 Tiverton EUE 186,779 186,779 0 0.0%
PR225 Garden Village Project 2,804 3,004 200 71%
PR300 Environmental Enhancement 3,090 3,090 0 0.0%
PR400 Business Development 438,123 430,060 (8,063) -1.8%
PR411 Business Development Recharge (26,290) (26,290) 0 0.0%
PR420 Tiverton Town Centre Regen Project 0 86,509 86,509 0.0%
PR500 Historic Buildings 8,010 8,010 0 0.0%
PR600 Forward Planning Unit 313,394 237,947 (75,447) -24.1%
PR699 Forward Planning Unit Rech (318,350) (254,445) 63,905 20.1%
PR800 Planning Policy 0 0 0 0.0%
PR810 Statutory Development Plan 451,575 382,670 (68,905) -15.3%
PR820 Assets of community value 4,520 4,560 40 0.9%
PR900 Dangerous Buildings And Trees 6,610 (4,965) (11,575) -175.1%
Total Planning and Regeneration Expenditure 1,481,895 1,940,431 458,536 30.9%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation 458,536 (a)
Major Cost Changes
PR200 Miscellaneous planning costs 100,000
PR420 Tiverton Town Centre Regeneration - aborted capital project costs 86,500
186,500
Major Cost Savings
PR400 Specific maintenance project underspend (see EMR below) (20,000)
PR600 Salary savings (23,000)
PR600 Savings on consultancy, grants and stationery (10,000)
(53,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
PR200 Planning Fees under budget due to number and scale of applications received 170,500
PR900 Income from Section 97 work (10,650)
159,850
Minor Variations (13,669)
SERVICE MOVEMENT BEFORE STATUTORY ADJUSTMENTS 279,681
PR200 Net S106 Receipts & Grants (also see EMR below) 178,855
|Total Expenditure Variation 458,536 (a)

Page 411




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Plannin_g and Regeneration

EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20

S106 - Public Open Space (207,945)

Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20

S106 - Public Open Space 29,091

Net movement in earmarked reserves (178,855)
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves 279,681

Page 412



GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Property Services

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Property Services £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 643,540 566,733 (76,807) -11.9%
2,000 Premises 450,440 402,934 (47,506) -10.5%
3,000 Transport 33,040 41,401 8,361 25.3%
4,000 Supplies and Services 121,470 170,896 49,426 40.7%
Total Direct Expenditure 1,248,490 1,181,964 (66,526) -5.3%
7,000 External Income (658,710) (687,504) (28,794) -4.4%
Net Direct Expenditure 589,780 494,460 (95,320) -16.2% (a)
5,000 Support Services (764,010) (764,010) 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 305,690 305,690 (0) 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure (458,320) (458,320) (0) 0.0%
Total Property Services Expenditure 131,460 36,140 (95,320) -72.5%
Property Services - Service units
PS140 3 RIVERS DEVELOPMENT 0 (0) (0) 0.0%
PS141 3 RIVERS - THREWSTONE CLOSE 0 0 0 0.0%
PS142 3 RIVERS - BURLESCOMBE 0 0 0 0.0%
PS150  Surplus Sites for Disposal 2,010 2,010 0 0.0%
PS160  Asset Management 136,840 132,702 (4,138) -3.0%
PS350 Public Conveniences 125,160 85,157 (40,003) -32.0%
PS400 Flood Defences and Land Drainage 48,370 47,623 (747) -1.5%
PS600  Street Naming & Numbering 15,380 19,352 3,972 25.8%
PS700  Contract Services - P-Health 9,350 9,795 445 4.8%
PS810  Phoenix House 440,210 398,822 (41,388) -9.4%
PS815  Phoenix House Rech (481,200) (481,200) 0 0.0%
PS820 DCC Library 1,460 3,360 1,900 130.1%
PS830  Town Hall 5,310 5,310 0 0.0%
PS840  Crediton Office Building 0 (315) (315) 0.0%
PS850  Old Road Depot 69,590 79,025 9,435 13.6%
PS855  Old Road Depot Rech (69,610) (69,610) 0 0.0%
PS860  Station Yard Depot 0 0 0 0.0%
PS870  Lords Meadow Depot 0 0 0 0.0%
PS880  Bus Station Maintenance (7,860) (11,429) (3,569) -45.4%
PS890 10 Phoenix Lane (5,860) (7,496) (1,636) -27.9%
PS970  Office Building Cleaning 91,850 85,695 (6,155) -6.7%
PS971  Office Building Cleaning Rech (91,840) (91,840) 0 0.0%
PS980  Property Services 779,820 727,453 (52,368) -6.7%
PS981 Property Services Rech (774,030) (774,030) 0 0.0%
PS990  30/38 Fore Street (22,410) 1,959 24,369 108.7%
PS991 Industrial Units (61,750) (64,186) (2,436) -3.9%
PS992  Market Walk (75,360) (50,923) 24,437 32.4%
PS993  Lowman Green Unit (5,550) (5,550) 0 0.0%
PS994  Moorhayes Community Centre 370 (6,296) (6,666) -1801.6%
PS995 COGGANS WELL 1,210 754 (457) -37.7%
PT100  People's Park Trust 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Property Services 131,460 36,140 (95,320) -72.5%

Page 413




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Property Services

£ £
Total Expenditure Variation (95,320) (a)
Major Cost Changes
PS810  Phoenix House utilities overspend 7,600
PS990 Rates and services charges for vacant Fore St shop 11,000
PS991 Rates and services charges for vacant Market Walk shops 29,000
47,600
Major Cost Savings
Utilities underspend due to fewer Public Conveniences &
PS350 backdated credits on overpayments (40,000)
Rate reduction on premises has resulted in a one off
PS810  underspend (44,000)
PS980  Salary savings due to vacant posts during the year & Underspent training budget (61,000)
(145,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
PS990 Loss of income from Fore Street Flats and rates from vacant shop unit 18,290
PS980 &
PS994 Increased income from Solar feed-in tariff's (14,000)
Increased income from recharges to DCC & DWP services
PS980 charges (6,000)
(1,710)
Minor Variations 3,790
| Total Expenditure Variation (95,320) (a)
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
Funding of aborted capital project - Phoenix Lane toilet conversion (1,626)

Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20

Net movement in earmarked reserves

(1,626)

Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves

(96,946)

Page 414




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Revenues and Benefits

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Revenues and Benefits £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 735,310 719,362 (15,948) -2.2%
2,000 Premises 0 975 975 0.0%
3,000 Transport 4,920 4,644 (276) -5.6%
4,000 Supplies and Services 184,730 230,083 45,353 24.6%
Housing Benefit Payments 16,911,200 13,547,856 (3,363,344) -19.9%
Total Direct Expenditure 17,836,160 14,502,920 (3,333,240) -18.7%
Income from Housing Benefit Subsidy (16,956,200) (13,417,592) 3,538,608 -20.9%
All other Income (448,670) (544,844) (96,174) 21.4%
7,000 External Income (17,404,870) (13,962,435) 3,442,435 19.8%
Net Direct Expenditure 431,290 540,485 109,195 25.3% (a)
5,000 Support Services 467,160 467,160 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 0 0 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure 467,160 467,160 0 0.0%
Total Revenues and Benefits Expenditure 898,450 1,007,645 109,195 12.2%
Revenues and Benefits - Service units
RB100 Collection Of Council Tax 656,020 706,940 50,920 7.8%
RB199 Collection Of Council Tax Recharge (203,080) (203,080) 0 0.0%
RB200 Collection Of Business Rates 104,050 91,986 (12,064) -11.6%
RB300 Housing Benefit Admin 398,920 285,469 (113,451) -28.4%
RB340 Local welfare assistance scheme 15,000 15,223 223 1.5%
RB350 Universal Credit Partnership 0 0 0 0.0%
RB399 Housing Benefit Admin Recharge (28,320) (28,320) 0 0.0%
RB400 Housing Rent Allowances (45,000) 130,264 175,264 389.5%
RB410 Council Tax Benefit 0 (2,144) (2,144) 0.0%
RB600 Revenues Recovery Team 143,140 153,586 10,446 7.3%
RB699 Revenues Recovery Team Recharge (142,280) (142,280) 0 0.0%
Total Revenues and Benefits Expenditure 898,450 1,007,645 109,195 12.2%

Page 415




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Revenues and Benefits

Total Expenditure Variation

Major Cost Changes
Software costs associated with Citizens Access
Software costs associated with new CTR scheme

Major Cost Savings

The demand for Housing Benefit in 19/20 was

lower than budgeted this is mainly due to the

transition to Universal Credit (see decreased
* subsidy income detailed below)

Revenues and Benefits salary savings; in the

main due to vacant posts in HB in part offset

by additional overtime & temporary increases

for supervisors acting up

Major Changes in Income Levels
Decreased 19/20 Housing Benefit Subsidy
* related to decreased costs detailed above
Overpayment recovery which includes HB
Sundry Debtors, recovery from ongoing HB &
PDP being recovered at DWP, these have
been reviewed in conjunction with claims
migrating to Universal Credit.
Increase of 10% in Bad Debt provision in
respect of future HB Overpayment recovery
due to the uncertainty of Covid19

Various New Burdens grants from DWP in

respect of Housing Benefits - initiatives

delivered either within existing resource or to

offset additional software costs detailed above
Single Occupancy Discount Penalties not budgeted
Income received on Court Costs lower than budgeted
Additional C/Tax Annexe Grant

Additional CTB admin Grant than budgeted &
CTB entitlement (pre 01/04/13) not repayable
to MHCLG

Additional New Burdens NNDR Grant for the
administration of Retail Rate Relief delivered
within existing resource

Minor Variations

£ £
109,195 (a)

33,950
11,000

44,950

(3,363,340)

(16,140)

(3,379,480)

3,366,460

126,200

45,950

(69,480)

(7,070)
5,560

(7,740)

(5,610)

(9,225)

3,445,045

(1,320)

Total Expenditure Variation

109,195 (a)

EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20

Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20

Net movement in earmarked reserves

Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves

109,195

Page 416




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Leisure Services

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Leisure Services £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 2,044,878 1,967,915 (76,963) -3.8%
2,000 Premises 1,053,084 1,136,722 83,638 7.9%
3,000 Transport 8,530 4,715 (3,816) -44.7%
4,000 Supplies and Services 338,203 304,110 (34,093) -10.1%
Total Direct Expenditure 3,444,695 3,413,461 (31,235) -0.9%
7,000 External Income (2,917,450) (2,753,580) 163,870 5.6%
Net Direct Expenditure 527,245 659,881 132,635 25.2% (a)
5,000 Support Services 489,840 489,840 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 567,320 567,320 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure 1,057,160 1,057,160 0 0.0%
Total Leisure Services Expenditure 1,584,405 1,717,041 132,635 8.4%
Leisure Services - Service units
RS100 Leisure Facilities Maintenance & Equipment 615,374 611,126 (4,248) -0.7%
RS110 Leisure Management & Administration 69,590 47,072 (22,518) -32.4%
RS140 Exe Valley Leisure Centre 290,800 411,394 120,594 41.5%
RS145 Market Walk Gym 0 0 0 0.0%
RS150 Lords Meadow Leisure Centre 327,665 334,214 6,549 2.0%
RS151 Feasibility 49,023 49,023 0 0.0%
RS160 Culm Valley Sports Centre 231,953 264,213 32,260 13.9%
Total Leisure Services Expenditure 1,584,405 1,717,041 132,635 8.4%
£ £
Total Expenditure Variation 132,635 (a)
Major Cost Changes
RS Overspend on Utilities across all Leisure sites due to previously under estimated usage. 87,860
87,860
Major Cost Savings
RS Underspend on staffing costs due to carrying a number of vacancies through the year (104,000)
RS Underspend on expenditure - software, advertising & vending supplies (39,000)
(143,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
RS Reduction in wetside income from casual swim in line with national trend 23,000
Reduction in dryside income due to loss of regular bookings to alternative venues & difficulty in
RS recruiting qualified coaches 55,000
RS Over achieved on membership targets for fitness (32,000)
RS Loss of income in March 2020 due to Covid 19 90,000
Memberships suspended following closure of centres on 20/03/2020 - income carried into
RS 2020/21 on a pro rata basis 44,100
FOH - Reduction in vending and equipment sales & vouchers cashed in against fitness and
RS wetside income 12,000
192,100
Minor Variations (4,325)
Total Expenditure Variation 132,635 (a)
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20
Net movement in earmarked reserves 0
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves 132,635

Page 417




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Waste Services

2019/20 2019/20 Variance Variance
Budget Actual
Code Waste Services £ £ £ %
1,000 Employees 2,659,620 2,601,864 (57,756) -2.2%
2,000 Premises 305,872 358,640 52,768 17.3%
3,000 Transport 849,580 857,562 7,982 0.9%
4,000 Supplies and Services 629,530 659,333 29,803 4.7%
S106 Expenditure 1,445 1,445
Total Direct Expenditure 4,444,602 4,478,843 34,241 0.8%
7,000 External Income (2,429,320) (2,660,732) (231,412) -9.5%
S106 contributions (618) (618) 0.0%
Net Direct Expenditure 2,015,282 1,817,494 (197,788) -9.8% (a)
5,000 Support Services 394,060 394,060 0 0.0%
6,500 Depreciation 366,189 366,189 0 0.0%
Total Indirect Expenditure 760,249 760,249 0 0.0%
Total Waste Services Expenditure 2,775,531 2,577,743 (197,788) -7.1%
Waste Services - Cost Centres
FM100 Fleet Management 83,760 85,375 1,615 1.9%
FM199 Fleet Management Recharge (83,750) (83,750) 0 0.0%
WS650 Street Cleansing 629,129 561,040 (68,089) -10.8%
WS699 Street Cleansing Recharge (17,560) (17,560) 0 0.0%
WS700 Refuse Collection 1,051,674 902,691 (148,983) -14.2%
WS710 Trade Waste Collection (32,880) (105,522) (72,642) -220.9%
WS725 Kerbside Recycling 1,111,296 1,148,632 37,336 3.4%
WS750 Waste Management Staff Unit 349,380 353,765 4,385 1.3%
WS760 Waste Management Staff Unit Rech (328,380) (328,380) 0 0.0%
WS770 Unit 3 Carlu Close 347,622 396,212 48,590 14.0%
WS780 UNIT 3 CARLU CLOSE RECHARGE (334,760)  (334,760) 0 0.0%
Total Waste Services Expenditure 2,775,531 2,577,743 (197,788) -7.1%

Page 418




GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Waste Services

£ £
Total Expenditure Variation (197,788) (a)
Major Cost Changes
WS710 Disposal costs up due to an increase in customer base 14,000
WS710 Purchase of additional bins 23,000
WS725 Recycling containers 6,000
WS725 Salary savings offset by agency spend - see Major Cost Savings 37,000
WS770 Overspend on Rates due to a revaluation 69,460
149,460
Major Cost Savings
WS650 Salary savings due to vacant posts (66,000)
WS700 Salary savings offset by agency spend - see Major Cost Changes (39,000)
WS725 Recycling materials - haulage costs (10,000)
(115,000)
Major Changes in Income Levels
Shared saving scheme increase from budget. 2018-19 additional £79k
WS700 estimating an additional £50k for 2019-20 (129,000)
WS700 Garden waste, sales down in March will pick up in April. 9,600
WS700 Sale of wheelie bins (7,000)
WS710 Trade Waste - Increase in customer base and reduced discounts (92,000)
WS725 Recycling materials (15,000)
(233,400)
Minor Variations 325
SERVICE MOVEMENT BEFORE STATUTORY ADJUSTMENTS (198,615)
WS725 Net S106 receipts & grants (also see EMR below) 827
Total Expenditure Variation (197,788) (a)
EARMARKED RESERVES
Utilised 2019/20
S106 - Waste & Recycling funds (1,445)
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2019/20
S106 - Waste & Recycling funds 618
Net movement in earmarked reserves (827)
Total Expenditure variation after Earmarked Reserves (198,615)

Page 419




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Housing Revenue Account

2019/20 2019/20
Budget Actual Variance Variance
Housing Revenue Account £ £ £ %

1000 Employees 2,621,550 2,810,915 189,365 7.2%
2000 Premises 194,770 148,038 (46,732) -24.0%
3000 Transport 266,510 254,776 (11,734)
4000 Supplies and Services 7,395,180 8,905,305 1,510,125 20.4%
| [Total Direct Expenditure | 10,478,010 | 12,119,034 [ 1,641,024 | 157% [ |
7000 External Income (12,989,370)  (15,215,039) (2,225,669) -17.1%
| [NetDirect Expenditure | (2511,360) (3,096,005 _ (584,645)| 23.3% [ |
5000 Internal Recharges 1,534,110 1,534,110 0 0.0%
6500 Capital Charges 977,250 954,215 (23,035) -2.4%
| |Total Indirect Expenditure | 251,360 | 2488325  (23,035] 0.9% [ |
| |Total HRAExpenditure | 0] (607,680)| _ (607,680)) _ N/A _ [(a)]
Income
SHO01 Dwelling Rents Income (11,977,170)  (12,100,184) (123,014) 1.0%
SHO04 Non Dwelling Rents Income (564,870) (569,283) (4,413) 0.8%
SHO07 Leaseholders' Service Charges (21,640) (25,310) (3,670) 17.0%
SHO08 Contributions Towards Expenditure (27,720) (106,520) (78,800) 284.3%
SHO09 Alarm Income - Non Tenants 0 0 0 0.0%
SHO10 H.R.A. Investment Income (83,000) (110,480) (27,480) 33.1%
SHO11 Miscellaneous Income (7,350) (18,540) (11,190) 152.2%
SHO11 Capital Grants & Contributions relating to Palmerston Park 0 (733,519) (733,519)
Services
SHO13A Repairs & Maintenance 3,605,110 3,478,198 (126,912) -3.5%
SHO17A Housing & Tenancy Services 2,697,590 2,277,472 (420,118) -15.6%
SHO22 Alarms expenditure 0 0 0 0.0%
Accounting entries ‘below the line'
SHO27 Depreciation 2,504,390 6,683,909 4,179,519 166.9%
SHO29 Bad Debt Provision Movement 53,000 134,644 81,644 154.0%
SHO30 Share Of Corporate And Democratic 334,810 332,577 (2,233) -0.7%
SHO32 H.R.A. Interest Payable 1,178,580 1,117,741 (60,839) -5.2%
SHO34 H.R.A. Transfers to earmarked reserves 1,713,350 2,297,871 584,521 34.1%
SHO34 Utilisation of earmarked reserves 0 (859,027) (859,027)
SHO35 Reversal of depreciation (2,504,390) (6,683,909) (4,179,519) 166.9%
SHO36 Financing of capital expenditure 977,250 954,215 (23,035) -2.4%
Revenue contribution to capital operations (funded from
SHO36 earmarked reserves) 0 859,027 859,027
SHO37 Capital Receipts Reserve Adjustment (26,000) (37,700) (11,700) 45.0%
SHO38 Major Repairs Allowance 2,285,000 2,532,147 247,147 10.8%
SHO42 Accumulated absences adjustment 0 (10,577) (10,577)
Capital Grants & Contributions relating to Palmerston Park
SHO44 reversal 0 733,519 733,519
SHO45 Renewable Energy Transactions (136,940) (146,272) (9,332) 6.8%
| [TotalHRAExpenditure | o @O @ [ |

Page 421



Appendix 2

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT OUTTURN SUMMARY 2019/20

Housing Revenue Account

£ £

Total HRA Expenditure Variation (607,680) (a)
Major Cost Changes
Salary savings inclusive of savings on Standby relating to
Depot staff (165,700)
Planned Maintenance savings including Legionella Testing,
Asbestos Works and Solid Fuel testing (86,100)
Expenditure on materials and contractors above budget across
Disabled Adaptations,Voids Maintenance and Responsive
Maintenance 112,000
Salary savings due to retirements and vacant posts not being
filled immediately (86,000)
Savings on staff development budget (30,000)
Housing Mgt O/Heads savings: Consultancy and Printing (24,400)
Budget for new projects has largely been underspent in year (235,000)
ASB budget underspend in year (15,740)
Maintenance savings on HRA Shops (34,000)
Underspend on Estates Mgt including sewerage works (47,000)
Borrowing for capital programme not required in year therefore
saving on forecast interest payable (60,840)
Reduced contribution to reserve for Loan Premium deficit (79,000)
Bad Debt Provision increase to reflect Covid uncertainty 81,640
Contribution to the Major Repairs Allowance 247,150

(422,990)
Major Changes in Income Levels
Dwelling Rents income above budget principally due to
increase numbers of Affordabble Housing units being applied
in year (122,000)
Rechargeable works above budget (78,600)
Investment Income above forecast (27,500)
Renewable Energy transactions
DLO income relating to Disabled Facilities Grants less than
forecast 79,100
Net revenue on Renewables improved on intial estimates (9,300)
Sundry Income slightly above budget (11,540)

(169,840)
Minor Variances totalling (14,850)

| [Total HRA Expenditure Variation [ | [ | [ |
EARMARKED RESERVES (memorandum account) £ £
Utilised 2019/20
Affordable Rent Surplus (72,000)
Renewable Energy Fund (40,695)
Housing Maintenance Fund (746,332)
(859,027)
Proposed contribution c/fwd to 2020/21
Affordable Rent Surplus 120,800
Renewable Energy Fund 146,272
HRA loan premium deficit 659,120
Housing Maintenance Fund 764,000
Final balance transferred to Housing Maintenance Fund 607,680
2,297,872

Net movement in earmarked reserves (other than that shown
as part of main HRA Summary)

Page 422



GENERAL FUND AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT EARMARKED RESERVES SUMMARY 2019/20

EARMARKED RESERVES AT 31 March 2020

+ Utilisation of
Total Miscellaneous General Fund Reserves Cost Centres B/F 31/3/19| (Cont To Emr) EMR Transfers C/F 31/3/20

Capital Earmarked Reserves EQ650 (414,981) (1,626) 115,441 0 (301,165)
NNDR Reserve EQ659 (1,172,372) (130,000) 981,613 (400,000) (720,759)
New Homes Bonus Reserve EQ653 (2,754,003) (1,243,503) 801,768 (303,136) (3,498,874)
O O P PO L [
Other GF Revenue Reserves Cost Centres B/F 31/3/19| (Cont To Emr) EMR Transfers C/F 31/3/20
Capital EMR PSH Grants EQ652 (1,060,366) 0 52,010 703,136 (305,220)
Economic Development EMR EQ654 (101,000) 0 0 0 (101,000)
ICT Projects Reserve EQ655 (56,000) 0 32,554 0 (23,446)
Cullompton Rail Station EQ656 (40,000) 0 0 0 (40,000)
Flood Defence Ashleigh Park Bampton EQ657 (67,000) 0 0 0 (67,000)
Phoenix Lane PC's Conversion EQ658 (38,000) 0 0 0 (38,000)
High St Innovator Payment EQ681 (1,934) 0 390 (315) (1,859)
Car Park Machine replacement Sinking Fund EQ686 (3,000) (3,000) 0 0 (6,000)
Gypsies and Travellers EQ698 0 (7,000) 0 0 (7,000)
Cred Market Square Resurfacing EQ699 (20,000) 0 0 (20,000)
Community Dev Tap Fund Contr (CD200) EQ701 (29,481) 0 25,175 0 (4,306)
Community Dev Seed Grant Fund (CD200) EQ702 (3,330) 0 3,330 0 0

Community Dev Pct Money (CD210) EQ703 (1,267) 0 1,267 0 0

Pannier Mkt Clock Tower Repair (CD300) EQ704 (7,000) 0 7,000 0 0

Cemetery Grave Shoring Equip (ES100) EQ705 (553) 0 0 0 (553)
Multi-Story Planned Works (CP520) EQ706 (80,000) 0 0 0 (80,000)
Resurfacing Amenity Car Parks (CP530) EQ707 (65,000) 0 6,648 0 (58,352)
Struct Surfacing P&D Car Parks (CP540) EQ708 (2,600) 0 0 0 (2,600)
CCTV Initiatives Tiv TC Proj (ES200) EQ709 (6,970) 0 0 0 (6,970)
Community Safety Partnership (ES256) EQ710 (14,702) 0 0 0 (14,702)
P Sector Housing (ES354) EQ711 (30,524) 0 6,000 0 (24,524)
PSH - Rogue Landlord Grant EQ712 (51,925) 0 8,898 0 (43,027)
Parks & O Spaces Shelter Maint (ES450) EQ713 (44,825) 0 2,444 0 (42,381)
Parks & O Spaces Tree Inspection (ES450) EQ714 (25,426) 0 0 0 (25,426)
Air Quality Monitoring (ES660) EQ716 (2,708) 0 0 0 (2,708)
Ground Maintenance Service (GM960) EQ717 (12,663) 0 0 0 (12,663)
Corp Training 12/13 Under C/Fwd (HR200) EQ718 (8,515) 0 0 0 (8,515)
ICT Staff Unit Training 17-18 (IT600) EQ719 (2,550) 0 0 0 (2,550)
District Elections (LD201) EQ720 (93,716) (20,000) 113,716 0 0

Elected Members Training (LD300) EQ721 (10,000) (5,000) 0 0 (15,000)
PR400 Economic Development EQ722 (37,000) (60,000) 0 0 (97,000)
Land Charges Software Licence (PR210) EQ723 (5,000) 0 0 0 (5,000)
New Burdens Grant Fund - LLC EQ724 (19,263) 0 0 0 (19,263)
LABGI Local Auth Bus Grow Init (PR400) EQ725 (12,366) 0 0 315 (12,051)
Brownfield Shared Plan DCLG (PR600) EQ726 (33,817) (2,446) 0 0 (36,263)
Forward Planning GESP Post 18M (PR600) EQ727 (15,000) 0 15,000 0 0

Statutory Development Plan (PR810) EQ728 (520,489) (100,000) 143,785 0 (476,704)
Custom Build Grant 2017-18 (PR810) EQ729 (63,850) (15,000) 2,573 0 (76,277)
Community Housing Fund EQ741 (114,610) 0 25,858 (22,733) (111,485)
Homelessness Support EQ742 (224,648) (126,980) 21,398 22,733 (307,498)
Rough Sleeping Initiative EQ743 0 0 (33,984) 0 (33,984)
Replacement Waste Containers EQ744 (8,000) (67,000) 0 0 (75,000)
Waste Options Report EQ745 (40,000) 0 21,020 0 (18,980)
Food Protection EQ746 (14,550) 0 0 0 (14,550)
Brexit Reserve EQ747 0 (15,363) 0 (17,484) (32,847)
Finance Additional Staff Costs EQ748 0 (17,000) 0 0 (17,000)
Fleet Contract Fund EQ756 0 0 268,164 (597,811) (329,647)
Livery Wraps -Waste Vehicles EQ757 0 (26,600) 0 0 (26,600)
Recycling Baler Repairs EQ758 (10,000) 0 0 (10,000)
Mobile Phone Contract EQ759 0 (5,000) 0 0 (5,000)
Leisure 2121 Slippage Fr 19-20 EQ764 0 (223,796) 0 0 (223,796)
Waste Infrastructure EQ769 0 0 0 (1,250,000) (1,250,000)
Cs Replacement Scanners EQ770 0 (10,000) 0 0 (10,000)
Industrial Unit Specific Maint EQ771 0 (20,000) 0 0 (20,000)
Coggans Well Roof Repairs EQ772 0 (6,240) 0 0 (6,240)
Tree Works EQ773 0 (10,000) 0 0 (10,000)
Planning Legal Expense Reserve EQ774 0 (100,000) 0 0 (100,000)
Building Control Emr EQ775 0 (17,000) 0 0 (17,000)
Pr400-Street Name Post Replace EQ802 0 (20,000) 0 0 (20,000)
MHCLG Covid19 General Grant EQ809 0 (38,976) 0 0 (38,976)
Capacity Funding- EUE EQ820 (199,926) (22,047) 199,926 0 (22,047)
Neighbourhood Planning Funding EQ821 (25,000) 0 4,500 0 (20,500)
Culm Garden Village Project EQ824 (671,499) (150,000) 143,354 0 (678,145)
Flood Projects 2015-16 (PS400) EQ826 (14,400) (18,000) 0 0 (32,400)
Phoenix Hse Replace Fire Panel (PS810) EQ827 (50,000) (41,000) 0 0 (91,000)
Phoenix Hse Meeting Rm Aircon (PS810) EQ828 (20,000) 0 0 0 (20,000)
Old Road Depot (PS850) EQ829 (10,000) 0 0 0 (10,000)
Property Serv MS Op Vehicle (PS980) EQ830 (12,000) 0 0 0 (12,000)
Recycling Vehicle Refurb (WS725) EQ833 (1,600) 0 1,600 0 0

Waste Response Costs (WS) EQ834 (5,000) 0 5,000 0 0

Insurance MMI (CM300) EQ835 (86,278) 0 0 0 (86,278)
Members iPad (LD300) EQ836 (8,275) 0 0 0 (8,275)
Property Maint Reserve EQ837 (596,951) (275,000) 98,575 0 (773,376)
GF Shops - Surplus 2015/16 (PS) EQ838 (237,000) 0 0 0 (237,000)
Equipment Sinking Fund EQ684 & EQ750-755 & EQ839 (324,540) (194,200) 8,361 0 (510,379)
Maintenance Sinking Fund EQ685 & EQ763-768 (215,167) (82,700) 23,695 0 (274,172)
Plant Sinking Fund EQ760-761 (197,600) (34,360) 9,460 0 (222,500)
Vehicles Sinking Fund EQ730-740 (1,923,211) (409,600) 485,000 1,847,811 (0)
Total Other GF RevenueReserves | | (7,568,095) _ (2,173,309)] 1702716 |  685652|  (7,353,036)

Page 423

Appendix 3



Appendix 3

GENERAL FUND AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT EARMARKED RESERVES SUMMARY 2019/20

EARMARKED RESERVES AT 31 March 2020

Section106 | varous | (2247425 (52146)|  659753| 0]  (1,639,818)]
ameranes T | Gescenmes | mrsussl (contom) o euR|_transers| _ciFsusao
Maintenance Cost Centres B/F 31/3/19| (Cont To Emr) EMR Transfers CI/F 31/3/20
Dev Cont Linear Park EQ638 (46,808) 0 4,170 0 (42,638)
W52 Popham Close Comm Fund EQ640 (16,040) 0 1,950 0 (14,090)
W67 Moorhayes Com Dev Fund EQ641 (15,033) 0 1,630 0 (13,403)
W69 Fayrecroft Willand Ex West EQ642 (37,980) 0 4,620 0 (33,360)
W70 Developers Contribution EQ643 (46,408) 0 6,650 0 (39,758)
Dev Cont Winswood Crediton EQ644 (34,558) 0 3,080 0 (31,478)

Total Developers Maintenance Reserves - (1%6827) o0l 22100 0 (174,727)

Total Developers Contributions /s106 Funds | | (2,444,252) (52,146) 681,853 0| (1,814,545)

B/F 31/3119] (Cont To Emr)ltilisation of EMR CIF 31/3/20

RESERVES | (14,353,703 (3,600,584) 4,283,392 (17,484)]  (13,688,379)
+ Utilisation of
HRA Earmarked Reserves Cost Centres B/F 31/3/19| (Cont To Emr) EMR Transfers C/F 31/3/20
HRA Sewage Treatment Plant works EQ691 (30,000) 0 (30,000)
Renewable Energy Fund E.M.R. EQ692 (568,666) (146,272) 40,695 0 (674,243)
HRA Affordable Rent Surplus EQ693 0 (120,800) 72,000 0 (48,800)
Housing Maintenance E.M.R. EQ694 (13,572,938) (1,371,679) 746, 332 0 (14,198,285)
HRA Premium Deficit for PWLB loan EQG696 (2,151,407) (659,120) 0 (2,810,527)
Total HRA EARMARKED RESERVES _ (16,323,011) (2,297,871) 859,027 - (17,761,855)

RESERVES | (30,676,719 (5,898,455) 5,142,419 (17,484)]  (31,450,234)

Page 424



MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME OUTTURN 2019/20

APPENDIX 4

Adjusted Total Actual Variance Slippage to be To Earmarked Notes
Capital Spend to 2019/20 carried forward Reserve
Code Scheme Programme to 31/03/20 budget to 2020/21
2019/20
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
General Fund Projects
Leisure
CA633|Lords Meadow - Replace main pool filters 80,000 73,972 -6,028 0 Project complete
Project Complete Q2 19/20. Under £20k Capital diminimis
therefore recharged to Revenue & funded through a
CA639|Spinning Room - New window - improve light 20,000 0 -20,000 0 contribution from NHB
CA640|Leisure Spinning Bike Replacement - all sites 60,000 60,000 0 0 Project complete
CA626|EVLC Gym Extension - adjustment from 18/19 closing 0 2,968 2,968 0 Project complete
Culm Valley Leisure Centre
CA641|Fitness Gym Kit Replacement 185,000 167,716 -17,284 0 Project complete
MDDC Depot Sites
Project Complete but Under £20k Capital diminimis therefore
recharged to Revenue & funded through a contribution from
CA829|Carlu Close - Air Conditioning units 25,000 0 -25,000 0 NHB
CA830|Carlu Close - Interceptor upgrade 30,000 0 -30,000 10,000 Required budget slipped to 2020/21
CA831|Carlu Close - Solar PV options 20,000 1,716 -18,284 18,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
Play Areas
CA472|Open Space Infrastructure (incl Play Areas) 50,000 0 -50,000 50,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA632|Play area refurbishment District wide - Amory Park Tiverton 50,000 1,360 -48,640 49,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA628|Play area refurbishment - West Exe Recreation Ground Tiverton 50,000 0 -50,000 50,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
Other Projects
CA473|Land drainage flood defence schemes - St Marys Hemyock 25,000 0 -25,000 50,000 Remaining budget on CA473 & CA477 slipped to 2020/21
CA420|Land drainage flood defence schemes - Ashleigh Park Bampton 87,000 0 -87,000 87,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA574|Fore Street Flats refurbishment 47,000 150 -46,850 47,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA709|MSCP improvements (refer to Matrix condition report) 136,000 2,982 -133,018 133,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA718|MSCP-Top Deck surfacing 120,000 0 -120,000 120,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
cA476|Tiverton Cemetery - Infrastructure extension 80,000 32,374 -47,626 47,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA477|Land drainage flood defence schemes 25,000 0 -25,000 0 See comment on CA473 above
CA202|Flexible Temporary Accommodation 75,000 71,093 -3,907 0 Project complete
CA576|Tiverton Town Centre improvements 40,000 0 -40,000 140,000 Remaining budget on CA576 & CA579 slipped to 2020/21
CA579|Tiverton Town Centre - Street scene improvements 100,000 0 -100,000 0 See comment on CA576 above
cA832|Land acquisition for operational needs 600,000 0 -600,000 600,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA482|Contribution to South West Mutuals Bank 50,000 49,995 -5 0 Project complete
Project complete - Project over £20k diminimis therefore
CA302 |Air Quality Monitoring Equipment 0 25,600 25,600 0 transferred from revenue & funded from S106 monies
General Fund Development Schemes
CA575|District Wide Redevelopment project - Asset acquisition 3,953,000 0 -3,953,000 0 Detailed schemes identified as part of forthcoming MTFP
CA462|Rear of Town Hall Development site (Riverside) - 3 Rivers Loan 3,679,000 2,283,557 -1,395,443 1,395,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA483|3 Rivers Loan - Threwstones, Tiverton 468,000 445,000 -23,000 23,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA484|3 Rivers Loan - Orchard House, Halberton 958,000 512,500 -445,500 446,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA486|3 Rivers Loan - Knowle Lane, Cullompton 3,714,000 2,904,500 -809,500 810,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA580| Tiverton redevelopment project 1,200,000 0 -1,200,000 0 Project aborted therefore costs re charged to Revenue
This project is now detailed in its entirety in the MTFP that
CA581|Waddeton Park 2,000,000 0 -2,000,000 0 was presented to Cabinet on 17/10/19
CA719|Cullompton Town Centre Relief Road 650,000 471,452 -178,548 179,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA720|Tiverton EUE A361 Junction Phase 2 50,000 16,073 -33,927 34,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA485|GP Practice NHS Hub Building Crediton 2,100,000 0 -2,100,000 2,100,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
Economic Development Schemes
CA582|* Hydro Mills Electricity Project 680,000 0 -680,000 680,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
* All Economic Development schemes are subject to acceptable Business Case
ICT Projects
CA421|Desktop states replacement/refresh 6,000 6,594 594 0 Project complete
CA456|CRM replacement 175,000 0 -175,000 175,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA474|Data centre hardware refresh servers/storage 120,000 99,354 -20,646 0 Project complete
CA433|Unified Communications/telephony 107,000 32,554 -74,446 74,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA464|Parking System Replacement (enforcement) 40,000 0 -40,000 0 Project no longer required as coded to Revenue
CA465|Replacement Queue System 30,000 0 -30,000 0 Project no longer required
CA423|Continued replacement of WAN/LAN 60,000 0 -60,000 0 Project no longer required
CA425|Server farm expansion/upgrades 84,000 0 -84,000 84,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA437|Digital Transformation 33,000 0 -33,000 33,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
Project under £20k Capital diminimis therefore recharged to
CA478|UPS Power supplies refresh 25,000 0 -25,000 0 Revenue
Project no longer required. Core switches project flagged in
CA479|Continuous replacement/Upgrade of WAN/LAN (networking hardware s\ 100,000 0 -100,000 0 MTFP
CA480|Lalpac Licensing System replacement (SN) 80,000 0 -80,000 80,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
This Project is timetabled for delivery in 21/22 & is flagged as
CA481|Replacement Access Database - Property Services 100,000 0 -100,000 0 part of the MTFP
Replacement Vehicles
CA717|Van Tipper (Grounds Maintenance) 25,000 25,330 330 0 Project complete
CA715|Van Tipper (Grounds Maintenance) 25,000 25,330 330 0 Project complete
CAT712|lveco Tipper (or equivalent) 3.5T Tipper 28,000 27,830 -170 0 Project complete
CA822|7.5T Tipper 45,000 44,773 -227 0 Project complete
CA825|3.5T Tipper 28,000 27,830 -170 0 Project complete
CA827|3.5T Tipper 28,000 27,830 -170 0 Project complete
22,546,000 7,440,436 -15,105,564 7,514,000.00 0
Private Sector Housing Grants
CG217 |[Empty homes and enforcement 108,000 0 -108,000 0 }
CG201|Disabled Facilities Grants—P/Sector 562,000 633,783 71,783 0 } Additional spend funded from DFG monies EMR in CGU
CG208|Wessex 0 100,000 100,000 0 }
670,000 733,783 63,783 0.00 0
Affordable Housing Projects
This underspend will remain in S106 Affordable Housing
CA200|Grants to Housing Associations to provide units (funded by commuted s 117,000 17,514 -99,486 0 99,000|EMR in CGU
117,000 17,514 -99,486 0.00 99,000
Total General Fund Projects 23,333,000 8,191,732 -15,141,268 7,514,000.00 99,000
HRA Projects - Existing Housing Stock
CA100|Major repairs to Housing Stock 2,285,000 1,984,382 -300,618 301,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
£100k slipped to 2020/21. £109k will remain in EMR for
CA111|Renewable Energy Fund 250,000 40,695 -209,305 100,000 109,000 |future prioritisation
CG200|Home Adaptations - Disabled Facilities 300,000 286,479 -13,521 14,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
Housing Development Schemes
Additional spend on this project is in part offset by additional
CA119|Palmerston Park - Additional budget required 634,000 1,219,902 585,902 0 Homes England Grant of £441k
CA112|Birchen Lane development - adjustment from 18/19 closing 0 55 55 0 Project complete
CA120|Burlescombe Development - adjustment from 18/19 closing 0 -4,341 -4,341 0 Project complete
CA135|Land acquisition for affordable housing 2,100,000 0 -2,100,000 0 Detailed schemes identified in MTFP
CA124|Queensway (Beech Road) Tiverton (3 units) 287,000 0 -287,000 287,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA126|Sewerage Treatment Works - Washfield 25,000 0 -25,000 25,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA139|Replace end of life HRA Assets 2,000,000 0 -2,000,000 0 Detailed schemes identified in MTFP
CA140|Council Housing building schemes to be identified 2,000,000 0 -2,000,000 0 Detailed schemes identified in MTFP
CA141|Round Hill Tiverton- Site 1,500,000 0 -1,500,000 1,500,000 Remaining budget slipped to 2020/21
CA142|RTB Buyback - 6 Cherry Gardens 153,000 152,438 -562 0 Project complete
CA143|RTB Buyback- 39 Cameron Close 129,000 128,940 -60 0 Project complete
CA144|RTB Buyback- 130 Butts Parks 197,000 197,098 98 0 Project complete
Total Housing Revenue Account Projects 11,860,000 4,005,648 -7,854,352 2,227,000 109,000
2019/20 Capital Programme Grand Total 35,193,000 12,197,380 -22,995,620 9,741,000 208,000

Page 425




Adjusted Total Actual
Capital Funding
Programme
Code Funding Stream Funding 2019/20 to 31/03/20
£000 £000

General Fund Projects
9801|5106 & Affordable Housing Contributions 272,000 293,114
9990 |General Capital Reserve 245,000 115,441
9701 |Govt Grant (DCLG pass ported from DCC) 562,000 733,783
9727 |New Homes Bonus (GF) 1,340,000 193,993
9957 | Private Sector Housing Grants EMR 34,000 0
9980 | Contribution from existing Useable Capital Receipts 331,000 34,132
9942|Borrowing 18,712,000 6,251,075
9954/9723 | Other Capital Grants Unapplied 292,000 247,316
9990 | Economic Development EMR 80,000 0
9958 |Heritage Enterprise Grant Bid 600,000 0
9990|Vehicles EMR 87,000 86,925
9990|Other EMR 223,000 103,947
9959|HIF Funding 555,000 132,007
Total General Fund Projects 23,333,000 8,191,732

HRA Projects

9980 |Useable Capital Receipts 693,000 286,479
9710|MRA Reserve 2,285,000 1,984,382
9727 |New Homes Bonus (HRA) 42,000 0
9980 |UCR 1:4:1 replacement homes 1,020,000 142,241
9990 |Renewable energy EMR 250,000 40,695
9990 | Housing Maintenance Fund 4,098,000 746,332
9990 | Affordable rents surplus EMR 72,000 72,000
9990|HRA EMR 25,000 0
9704 |Home England Grant 733,000 733,519
9942 PWLB Borrowing 2,642,000 0
Total HRA Projects 11,860,000 4,005,648
2019/20 CAPITAL PROGRAMME GRAND TOTAL FUNDING 35,193,000 12,197,380

Page 426



Agenda Item 10.

Cabinet
09 July 2020

Annual Treasury Management Review 2019/20

Cabinet Member: Councillor Alex White
Responsible Officer: Deputy Chief Executive (S151), Andrew Jarrett

Reason for Report: To provide Members with a review of activities and the prudential
treasury indicators on actuals for 2019/20.

Recommendations(s):
1. That Members note the treasury activities for the year.
2. Approve the actual 2019/20 prudential and treasury indicators in this report.

Relationship to the Corporate Plan: Maximising our return from all associated treasury
activities enables the Council to support current levels of spending in accordance with our
Corporate Plan.

Financial Implications: Good financial management and administration underpins the
entire strategy.

Legal Implications: Authorities are required by regulation to have regard to the Prudential
Code when carrying out their duties under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003.

Risk Assessment: The S151 Officer is responsible for the administration of the financial
affairs of the Council. Implementing this strategy and the CIPFA Code of Practice on
Treasury Management manages the risk associated with the Council’s treasury
management activity.

Equality Impact Assessment: No equality issues identified for this report.

Impact on Climate Change: No impacts identified for this report.

1. Introduction

This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to
produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and
treasury indicators for 2019/20. This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Code
of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).

During 2019/20 the minimum reporting requirements were that the Full Council should
receive the following reports:

« an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 27/02/2019)

« a mid-year (minimum) treasury update report (Council 06/11/2019)

. an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to the
strategy (this report)

Page 427



The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and scrutiny of
treasury management policy and activities. This report is, therefore, important in that
respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights
compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by members.

This Council confirms that it has complied with the requirement under the Code to give prior
scrutiny to all of the above treasury management reports by Cabinet before they were
reported to the Full Council. Member training on treasury management issues was
undertaken during 2019 in order to support members’ scrutiny role.

2. The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing

The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets. These activities may either
be:

. Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources (capital
receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no resultant impact on the
Council’s borrowing need; or

. If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, the
capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.

The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators. The table
below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.

2018/19 2019/20

Actual Actual
General Fund £000 £000
Capital expenditure 3,406 8,983
Financed in year (901) (1,941)
Unfinanced capital expenditure 2,505 7,042
HRA
Capital expenditure 6,030 4,006
Financed in year (6,030) (4,006)
Unfinanced capital expenditure 0 0

3. The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need

The Council’'s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed the Capital
Financing Requirement (CFR).

Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over
the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that its gross
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing
requirement in the preceding year (2019/20) plus the estimates of any additional capital
financing requirement for the current (2020/21) and next two financial years. This essentially
means that the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure. This indicator
allowed the Council some flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate capital needs in
2019/20. The table below highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR.
The Council has complied with this prudential indicator.

Page 428



31 March 2019 31 March 2020

Actual Actual
£000 £000
CFR General Fund 9,059 15,682
CFR HRA 41,385 40,431
Total CFR 50,577 56,113
Gross borrowing position 41,029 39,916
(Under) / over funding of CFR (9,548) (16,197)

The authorised limit — the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by s3
of the Local Government Act 2003. Once this has been set, the Council does not have the
power to borrow above this level. The table below demonstrates that during 2019/20 the
Council has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.

The operational boundary — the operational boundary is the expected borrowing position
of the Council during the year. Periods where the actual position is either below or over the
boundary are acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being breached.

2019/20
£000
Authorised limit 72,000
Maximum gross borrowing position during the year 41,029
Operational boundary 63,000
Average gross borrowing position 40,473

4. Treasury Position as at 31 March 2020

At the beginning and the end of 2019/20 the Council's treasury position was as follows:

31 March 2019 31 March 2020

DEBT PORTFOLIO Prggga' P",'E'(‘)%'ga'
Fixed rate funding:

-PWLB 40,718 38,937
Total debt 40,718 38,937
CFR* 50,266 55,133
(Under) / over borrowing (9,548) (16,197)
Total investments 22,000 20,000
Net debt 18,718 18,937

« Excludes finance leases

Page 429



The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows:
31 March 2019 31 March 2020

Actual Actual
£000 £000

Under 12 months 1,780 1,833

12 months and within 24 1,833 1,870

months

24 months and within 5 years 5,730 5,836

5 years and within 10 years 10,471 10,778

10 years and within 20 years 20,679 18,620

20 years and within 30 years 224 0

Actual Actual Actual Actual
INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 31/03/19 31/03/19 31/03/20 31/03/20
£000 % £000 %

Treasury investments
Banks 13,500 50% 10,000 40%
Local authorities 6,500 24% 9,000 36%
Other Government Organisations 2,000 7% 1,000 4%
Total managed in house* 22,000 81% 20,000 80%
Property funds (CCLA) 5,000 19% 5,000 20%
Total managed externally 5,000 19% 5,000 20%
TOTAL TREASURY INVESTMENTS 27,000 100% 25,000 100%

*See Appendix 1 for a breakdown of internally managed investments held as at 31 March.

Non Treasury investments

Subsidiaries (3 Rivers Ltd) 2,613 100% 9,061 100%
TOTAL NON TREASURY o o
INVESTMENTS 2,613 100% 9,061 100%

On 25 March 2020, due to the economic impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, CCLA suspended
all trading of shares in the property fund. This was done to protect the value of the fund and
prevent disadvantage to parties buying or selling shares at unreliable market values. Trading
will remain frozen until certainty in market values is re-established, however dividends will
continue to be paid on existing shares.

The value shown in the above table for the Council’'s CCLA investment is the amount paid by
the Council on share acquisition. This differs to the carrying amount in the year end accounts of
£4,759k (£4,935k in 2018/19) as there is a requirement to carry the investment at fair value. It
is expected that the fair value of the fund will recover over the longer term, and so this
temporary drop in value is unlikely to be realised as a loss to Council funds.

Page 430



5. The strategy for 2019/20

5.1 Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk

Bank Rate vs LIBID rates % 1.4.19 - 31.3.20

LN
- ha‘_-‘\
’--.

FROOMOOOOOOOROO O M=
SabhwwbhhuuoooNNODOWOD
cuocuocmouocOoIoUIoOIoOUIO

SO

oo

oo
'

2 A A n® a® @ W8 0 wd a0 g0 g0
O o o T o8 ™ O T G o e e

—Bank Rate :-:-7day =---3mth —6mth —12mth —1 mth

Investment returns remained low during 2019/20. The expectation for interest rates within the
treasury management strategy for 2019/20 was that Bank Rate would stay at 0.75% during
2019/20 as it was not expected that the MPC would be able to deliver on an increase in Bank
Rate until the Brexit issue was finally settled. However, there was an expectation that Bank Rate
would rise after that issue was settled, but would only rise to 1.0% during 2020.

Rising concerns over the possibility that the UK could leave the EU at the end of October 2019
caused longer term investment rates to be on a falling trend for most of April to September. They
then rose after the end of October deadline was rejected by the Commons but fell back again in
January before recovering again after the 31 January departure of the UK from the EU. When
the coronavirus outbreak hit the UK in February/March, rates initially plunged but then rose
sharply back up again due to a shortage of liquidity in financial markets. As longer term rates
were significantly higher than shorter term rates during the year, value was therefore sought by
placing longer term investments where cash balances were sufficient to allow this.

While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully appreciative of
changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in terms of additional capital and
liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the financial crisis. These requirements have
provided a far stronger basis for financial institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators

Page 431



evidencing how institutions are now far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and
economic conditions.

Investment balances have been kept to a minimum through the agreed strategy of using
reserves and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than borrowing externally from the
financial markets. External borrowing would have incurred an additional cost, due to the
differential between borrowing and investment rates as illustrated in the charts shown above and
below. Such an approach has also provided benefits in terms of reducing the counterparty risk
exposure, by having fewer investments placed in the financial markets.

5.2 Borrowing strategy and control of interest rate risk

During 2019-20, the Council maintained an under-borrowed position. This meant that the capital
borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) was not fully funded with loan debt, as cash
supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow was used as an interim measure.
This strategy was prudent as investment returns were low and minimising counterparty risk on
placing investments also needed to be considered.

The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has served us well
over the last few years. However, this was kept under review to avoid incurring higher borrowing
costs in the future when this authority may not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital
expenditure and/or the refinancing of maturing debt.

Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer term fixed
borrowing rates during 2019/20 and the two subsequent financial years. Variable, or short-
term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing over the period.

3.30% PWLB Rates 1.4.19 - 31.3.20

2.80% -
2.30%

1.80% -

1.30% N = i

0.80%
A9 A9 '\ A9 A9 A9 A9 '\ A9 29 20 20
< - - \— - - X - - - o (s
AR, PUCU SN LY A CLEI LW L e, AW

—1 Year —5 Year —10 Year —25 Year ---50 Year =50 year target %

Page 432



01/04/2019 1.46% 1.52% 1.84% 2.41% 2.24%
31/03/2020 1.90% 1.95% 2.14% 2.65% 2.39%
Low 1.17% 1.00% 1.13% 1.73% 1.57%
Date 03/09/2019 | 08/10/2019 | 03/09/2019 | 03/09/2019 | 03/09/2019
High 2.47% 2.45% 2.76% 3.25% 3.05%
Date 21/10/2019 | 19/03/2020 | 19/03/2020 | 19/03/2020 | 31/12/2019
Average 1.83% 1.77% 2.00% 2.56% 2.40%

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View  31.3.20

Jun-20  Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22

Bank Rate View 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10
3 Month LIBID 0.45 0.40 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30
6 Month LIBID 0.60 0.55 0.50 0.45 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40
12 Month LIBID 0.75 0.70 0.65 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
S5yr PWLB Rate 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 210 210
10yr PWLB Rate 210 210 210 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30
25yr PWLB Rate 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 270
50yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

HM Treasury has imposed two changes in the margins over gilt yields for PWLB rates in
2019-20 without any prior warning; the first on 9 October 2019, added an additional 1% margin
over gilts to all PWLB rates. That increase was then partially reversed for some forms of
borrowing on 11 March 2020, at the same time as the Government announced in the Budget a
programme of increased spending on infrastructure expenditure. It also announced that there
would be a consultation with local authorities on possibly further amending these margins; this
was due to end on 4 June but has recently been extended to 31 July due to the Covid-19
pandemic. It is clear that the Treasury intends to put a stop to local authorities borrowing money
from the PWLB to purchase commercial property if the aim is solely to generate an income
stream.

Following the changes on 11 March 2020 in margins over gilt yields, the current situation is
as follows: -

PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 200 basis points (G+200bps)
PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 180 basis points (G+180bps)
PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)

Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

There is likely to be little upward movement in PWLB rates over the next two years as it will
take national economies a prolonged period to recover all the momentum they will lose in
the sharp recession that will be caused during the coronavirus shut down period. Inflation is
also likely to be very low during this period and could even turn negative in some major
western economies during 2020-21.

Page 433



6. Borrowing Outturn

Borrowing
Due to delays in a number of planned capital projects coupled with investment concerns, both
counterparty risk and low investment returns, no borrowing was undertaken during the year.

Borrowing in advance of need
The Council has not borrowed more than, or in advance of its needs, purely in order to profit from
the investment of the extra sums borrowed.

Rescheduling
No rescheduling was done during the year as the average 1% differential between PWLB new
borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made rescheduling unviable.

7. Investment Outturn

Investment Policy — the Council’'s investment policy is governed by MHCLG investment
guidance, which has been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the
Council on 27/02/2019. This policy sets out the approach for choosing investment counterparties,
and is based on credit ratings provided by the three main credit rating agencies, supplemented
by additional market data from our treasury advisers (Link Asset Services).

The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the Council had
no liquidity difficulties.

Investments held by the Council

e The Council maintained an average balance of £21m of internally managed funds.

e The internally managed funds earned interest of £238k giving an average rate of return
of 0.90%.

e The comparable performance indicator is the 3 month LIBID rate, which was 0.6339%.

e The Council held £5m invested in Churches, Charities and Local Authorities (CCLA)
property funds earning dividends of £213k (4.27%) in 2019/20.

e Interest received from 3 Rivers Ltd amounted to £251k in 2019/20.

8. Other Issues

1. IFRS 9 fair value of investments

Following the consultation undertaken by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) on IFRS 9 the Government has introduced a mandatory statutory
override for local authorities to reverse out all unrealised fair value movements resulting from
pooled investment funds. This came into effect on 1 April 2018 for 2018/19. The statutory
override applies for five years from this date. Local authorities are required to disclose the net
impact of the unrealised fair value movements in a separate unusable reserve throughout the
duration of the override in order for the Government to keep the override under review and to
maintain a form of transparency.

Page 434



Risk management will need to take account of the 2018/19 Accounting Code of Practice
proposals for the valuation of investments. Whilst for many authorities, this may not be a
significant issue, key considerations include:

e Expected credit loss model. Whilst this should not be material for vanilla treasury
investments such as bank deposits, this is likely to be problematic for some
investments such as property funds, loans to third parties or loans to subsidiaries.

e The valuation of investments previously valued under the available for sale category
e.g. equity related to the “commercialism” agenda, property funds, equity funds and
similar, have been changed to Fair Value through the Profit and Loss (FVPL).

2. Non-treasury management investments.

As shown in the table in section 4 part relating to non-treasury investments, the Authority holds
a 100% interest in 3 Rivers Development Limited, a private limited company engaged in
construction in the Mid Devon area. The Authority advances funds to the Company to facilitate
operations with the intention that they are repaid from the proceeds of the sale of the
developments.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, £6.446m was loaned to the Company and total loan value
at this date was £9.061m. During the year £251k interest was paid to the Authority in respect of
these loans.

These loans are subject to overarching management review on a regular basis. This is reflected
in the impairments made in both periodic monitoring reports and in the year end financial
statements. The year end review, carried out in compliance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,
led to impairments totalling £790k in respect of one of the project loans and the working capital
loan.

3. Counterparty limits

At the end of March 2020 approval was given by the S151 Officer and the Cabinet Member for
Finance to exceed the £5m limit on deposits held with the Council’s bank, NatWest, for a period
of 3 months, in order to administer the Small Business Grants Fund and the Retail, Hospitality
and Leisure Business Grants Fund. £22.732m was received from Government on 1st April 2020
in respect of these.

Contact for further information:
Andrew Jarrett | 01884 234242 | ajarrett@middevon.gov.uk
Kieran Knowles | 01884 244624 | kknowles@middevon.gov.uk

Page 435



Appendix 1: Investment Portfolio

Internally managed investments held as at 31 March:

Bank/Building Society/Local
Authority/PCC

Santander

Barclays

Lloyds

Lloyds

Goldman Sachs

Santander

Goldman Sachs

Eastleigh Borough Council
Salford City Council

Salford City Council

Police & Crime Comm for Northumbria
Goldman Sachs

Stirling Council

Close Brothers

Santander

Santander

Santander

Rugby Borough Council
Goldman Sachs

Goldman Sachs

Highlands Council

Lloyds

Merseyside PCC
Nottingham City Council
Central Bedfordshire Council
Eastleigh Borough Council
Cheltenham Borough Council
Total

Term

From

06/04/2018
01/08/2018
05/04/2018
28/03/2019
26/04/2018
15/08/2018
16/01/2019
22/01/2019
10/12/2018
01/10/2018
31/01/2019
15/10/2018
11/03/2019
04/09/2019
17/09/2019
01/10/2019
07/10/2019
09/10/2019
29/10/2019
05/11/2019
27/11/2019
30/12/2019
02/01/2020
02/03/2020
03/03/2020
13/03/2020
20/03/2020

Page 436

To

05/04/2019
31/07/2019
05/04/2019
30/12/2019
26/04/2019
15/05/2019
16/05/2019
22/05/2019
10/06/2019
01/07/2019
04/07/2019
15/10/2019
11/06/2019
02/09/2020
17/09/2020
01/04/2020
07/04/2020
07/10/2020
29/04/2020
05/05/2020
25/11/2020
30/12/2020
30/04/2020
17/04/2020
27/05/2020
14/04/2020
20/04/2020

Fixed
Interest
Rate %

1.01%
0.94%
0.90%
1.05%
1.22%

0.93%

0.91%

0.82%

0.95%

0.90%

0.95%

1.22%

0.93%

1.10%

0.94%

0.83%

0.83%

0.90%

0.95%

1.00%

0.92%

1.10%

0.85%

0.80%

0.95%

1.10%

0.95%

31/03/19 31/03/20

£000

2,000
2,500
1,000
2,000
2,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
2,000
2,000
2,000
2,000
1,500

22,000

£000

1,000
2,000
1,500
1,500
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
2,000
1,000
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
20,000



Agenda Item 11.

CABINET
9 JULY 2020

BUSINESS AND PLANNING BILL — PAVEMENT LICENCES

Cabinet Member(s): Clir Dennis Knowles, Cabinet Member for Community
Well-being
Responsible Officer: Simon Newcombe, Group Manager for Public Health and

Regulatory Services
REASON FOR REPORT:

On 25 June 2020, the Government published the Business and Planning Bill 2020).
This Bill passed all stages in the House of Commons on 29 June 2020 and is due to
be considered in the House of Lords on 6 July 2020. Given its fast passage through
Parliament, it is likely to become law very soon and the local authority must consider
its implications and prepare to implement its provisions.

The relevant parts of this new legislation (covered in this report) are aimed at
supporting businesses and helping them to reopen following the gradual lifting of
COVID-19 related restrictions. From a licensing perspective, it introduces a significant
new licensing regime for ‘pavement licences’, which will enable premises serving food
and drink to provide seating (and serve) customers on certain highways. It also
amends existing provisions within the Licensing Act 2003, providing an automatic
extension to the terms of ‘ON’ sale alcohol licences to allow ‘OFF’ sales until the end
of September 2021.

This report provides details of these emerging licensing changes and requests that the
Group manager for Public Health be given delegated authority to enable pavement
licences to be properly administered by the Service, which includes setting the relevant
fee. The report is written on the basis of the Bill as at 30 June 2020 and the Cabinet
will be updated on the position on 9t July 2020.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. That Cabinet note the provisions of the Business and Planning Bill.

2. That Cabinet delegate authority to the Group Manager for Public Health
for the administration and enforcement of the provisions within the
Business and Planning Bill on its passing into law. These delegations can

then be sub-delegated to relevant officers.

3. That Cabinet delegate authority to the Group Manager for Public Health
for the setting of the fee for pavement licences.

Relationship to Corporate Plan: Business development and growth; Improving and
regenerating our town centres; Increasing activity and promoting health and wellbeing.

Page 437



Financial Implications: The new legislation states that an application must be
accompanied by such fee not exceeding £100 (as the local authority may require).
Consequently there is some discretion in that an authority may set the fee at less than
£100.

In consideration of the work required, it is proposed to set the fee at £100 and further
information about this is provided within the report.

Legal Implications: The new legislation requires the local authority to administer
these licences and as such it is a service that must be provided and this is not a
discretionary function. The relevant local authority for the purposes of the legislation
are District Councils where they exist.

The Local Government Act 2000 provides that any function of the local authority,
unless specified to the contrary in regulations published under that Act, is to be the
responsibility of an executive of the authority under executive arrangements. The
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 (as amended)
provide that certain licensing functions are not to be the responsibility of the executive
— these are specified in detail i.e. by a description and by reference to the relevant
legislation. As at 30 June 2020, there is nothing in the draft legislation (as currently
drafted) which indicates that these powers and duties will be included in the
regulations i.e. as not being for the executive. That is the reason why this report is
being brought to the Cabinet and not the Licensing Committee/Full Council.

The new legislation will introduce a new streamlined licensing regime to temporarily
replace existing licences to facilitate eating and drinking on the highway adjacent to a
relevant premises. In essence, this replaces relevant elements of the Licensing Act
2003 — especially provisions around off sales and licence variations street café
licences to place furniture on the highway under the Highways Act 1980, currently
administered by this Council and Devon County Council respectively. It also suspends
the requirement for planning permission as may have previously been required under
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

In relation to the applications themselves, although there is no statutory appeal
process for these decisions, the Licensing Team within Public Health and Regulatory
Services are planning on introducing an ‘internal review process’ (similar to that of the
existing animal licensing regime). For example, if an application is refused, the
applicant may appeal the decision but this appeal will be determined by a different
officer, appropriately trained and delegated, who will review all relevant information
and either uphold the original decision or overturn it (thereby granting a licence).

Risk Assessment: The legislation is permissive and introduces a streamlined and
more cost-effective route for businesses.

This means that if the local authority does not determine the application before the
end of the determination period (i.e. 7 working days from the day after the application
is made), the licence is deemed to have been granted (subject to any relevant
conditions). This means that the local authority must ensure it considers, consults and
makes a decision on all applications within this time frame. The placement of tables
and chairs in unsafe spaces or in areas which are not suited to such use may have an

Page 438



impact of public health and safety and public nuisance so the risk is that by not dealing
with an application in time, the licence is considered granted and problems may arise.

Equality Impact Assessment: The general public sector equality duty within the
Equality Act 2010 has overarching application and requires public bodes to have due
regard to the need to:

Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act

Advance equality of opportunity within and between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not

Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

When carrying out any of its functions, the Council must comply with this duty.

Impact on Climate Change: No impacts identified for this report.

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on a range of
businesses, none more so than those in the hospitality sector. Many businesses
have had to close (or operate in a different manner) and these restrictions have
been in place since 23 March 2020. The Government has recently confirmed
that from 4 July 2020, a number of businesses will, to some extent, be able to
reopen (assuming they have the necessary health and safety arrangements in
place).

These businesses include a number of premises that this authority is already
responsible for licensing and regulating (i.e. public houses, cafes, bars and
restaurants).

In order to support businesses in reopening, the Government published the
Business and Planning Bill 2020 on 25 June 2020).

The aims of the Bill are set out in its Explanatory Notes, as follows:

‘Covid-19 has affected businesses across the economy. Many businesses have
had to cease trading for several months, and others have had to significantly
modify their operations. As the economy starts to re-open, the Government
wants to do all it can to support recovery, help businesses adjust to new ways
of working and create new jobs. This Bill introduces a number of urgent
measures to help businesses succeed in these new and challenging conditions
over the coming months, and to remove short term obstacles that could get in
their way. Almost all measures are temporary, with some limited exceptions’.

Following a fast tracked procedure, the Bill passed all stages in the House of
Commons on 29 June 2020 and is due to be considered in the House of Lords
on 6 July 2020. Given its fast passage through Parliament, and the fact that it
is designed to allow outside areas to be used for eating and drinking (thereby

Page 439



1.6

1.7

2.0

2.1

2.2

3.3

making use of the warmer summer months), it is likely to become law very soon
and the local authority must consider its implications and prepare to implement
its provisions.

It contains two important licensing provisions. Firstly, it introduces a new
‘pavement licence’ regime and secondly, it provides amendments to the
Licensing Act 2003 for licensed premises. At the time of writing, many of the
provisions it includes are temporary, and last until the end of September 2021.

Both of these provisions deal with a specific issue that local authorities were
working to resolve in the run up to 4 July 2020, and this was trying to ensure
that premises had the correct permissions / authorisations in place to properly
use outside areas and allow additional space for social distancing.

Pavement licences

The forthcoming Business and Planning Act 2020 (the “Act”) will introduce a
new ‘pavement licence’ regime which is to be administered by the Local
Authority. It enables premises serving food and drink, such as public houses,
cafes, bars, restaurants, snack bars, market stalls, coffee shops, and ice cream
parlours to provide seating (and serve) customers on certain highways.

The Act will introduce a streamlined and cheaper route for businesses to apply
for a licence to place furniture on the highway. Previous to this, and in Mid
Devon, premises applied to Devon County Council for a street café licence
(under Part 7A of the Highways Act 1980). This required a 28 day public
consultation process and had an initial cost of £200 (although it should be noted
that Devon County Council recently introduced a ‘temporary permit’ which
allowed businesses to provide outdoor seating during the consultation period).
Devon County Council will continue to administer the existing street café
licences, and Mid Devon District Council will be responsible for administering
this new licensing regime.

This report does not seek to replicate all of the details of the new street
pavement licences (which can be viewed in the Bill itself) but some of the most
notable points are highlighted below:

a) The types of premises that can apply for a licence are fairly broad and are
defined as being those premises used, or proposed to be used as:

e a public house, wine bar or other drinking establishment; or

e other use for the sale of food or drink for consumption on or off the
premises.

b) A pavement licence permits furniture to be temporarily placed on the

highway. “Furniture” includes stalls for selling or serving food or drink, tables
and chairs and articles such as umbrellas, barriers and heaters.

Page 440



c)

d)

f)

g)

h)

An application must be made by electronic means and be accompanied by
a fee which will be set by the local authority, subject to a cap of £100.

In addition to a Notice on the premises itself, the local authority must publish
the application and invite representations.

The local authority must consult the highways authority where the local
authority is not itself the highways authority for the land. It must also consult
such other persons as it considers appropriate.

The local authority may grant or reject the application and, in granting the
application, they may make their own determination as to how much of the
space requested the licence will cover.

If the local authority does not make a determination within the 7 day
determination period (which follows the 7 day public consultation period) the
licence is deemed to have been granted in the form in which the application
was made. It should be noted that Christmas Day, Good Friday and Bank
Holidays are not included in these 7 day periods. The combination of this
brief timeframe, the consequences of not making a determination within it
and the unknown (but potentially significant) number of applications over a
short period of time that officers consider justify the delegated authority
sought in this report — as well as the fact that officers routinely determine
licensing applications as part of their daily operations.

A local authority can decide, when it is granting a licence, how long the
licence should last for, or it can leave it open ended, in which case it will
expire at the end of 30 September 2021 (unless this backstop date is
extended by the Secretary of State). However, the licence must have a
minimum duration of 3 months. Those licences deemed to be granted in
the absence of a determination will have a default duration of 12 months —
but will still expire at the end of 30 September 2021 (as per the current form
of the draft legislation).

The local authority can add conditions to the licence and can publish
conditions which it proposes to add to pavement licences.

The Secretary of State may also publish conditions.

If a condition of the licence has been breached, the local authority may
revoke the licence or may require steps to be taken to remedy the breach.

In addition, there are further grounds for revocation of the licence, including
where the furniture is giving rise to risks to public health and safety or risks
causing a public nuisance.

m) The licence can also be revoked where the person did not put up a notice

to publicise the application as required, or anything in the application was
false or misleading.

Page 441



3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.0

4.1

n) Where a licence is granted, or deemed to have been granted, any planning
permission for anything done under the licence is deemed to have been
given.

Administration and enforcement of pavement licences

This report requests that authority is delegated to the Group Manager for Public
Health for the administration and enforcement of pavement licences (which can
then be sub-delegated on to the relevant members of the Licensing Team). As
the legislation is likely to be introduced at such short notice, this report does not
seek to set out the specifics of how licences will be administered, but rather
requests that the Group Manager for Public Health be given authority to decide
and implement how this will be done.

In deciding how to administer this new licensing regime, the Cabinet should be
aware that at all times, Officers will have regard to the legislation, Government
guidance, and any other relevant information that is produced by bodies such
as the Local Government Association (LGA) and the Institute of Licensing (IOL).
In addition to this, and where possible, the Licensing Team will draw on its
experiences from administering similar licensing regimes to ensure that it runs
as smoothly as possible.

In accordance with the proposed legislation, a licence once granted may be
revoked for the following reasons:

(a) some or all of the part of the relevant highway to which the licence relates
has become unsuitable for any purpose in relation to which the licence was
granted, or

(b) as a result of the licence:

(1) there is a risk to public health or safety

(i) anti-social behaviour or public nuisance is being caused or risks
being caused

(i)  the highway is being obstructed (other than by anything done by
the licence-holder under the licence),

(c) anything material stated by the licence-holder in their application was false
or misleading, or

(d) the licence-holder did not comply with the duty to place a suitably visible
public notice on the premises as part of the application process

The Council may also serve a notice on the licence-holder requiring steps to be
taken to remedy the breach as specified in the notice within a specific time
period.

Fee for a pavement licence

The Cabinet are also asked to delegate authority to the Group Manager for
Public Health for the setting of the fee for pavement licences.

Page 442



4.2

4.3

4.4

5.0

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

At the time of writing this report, it is proposed to set an application fee of £100.
This is the cap set within the Bill and in consideration of the work involved in
introducing this new licensing regime, not to mention dealing with specific
applications, it is thought that this fee will still not result in full cost recovery.

Delegated authority for this is requested because the Bill must still be
considered in the House of Lords and the proposed charge of £100 may have
to be changed.

In setting a fee, it is also useful to consider the fees that would have been
payable prior to the introduction of this Act. The equivalent licence issued by
Devon County Council would cost £200 (for the first year) and in addition to
this, a licensed premises may also have had to apply to vary the Premises
Licence to enable the consumption of alcohol in the outside area. This
application would cost a minimum of £89.00 and is no longer required because,
as covered next in this report, the Licensing Act 2003 will also been amended
to provide automatic extensions to the terms of ‘ON’ sales alcohol licences to
allow for ‘OFF’ sales to take place.

Licensing Act 2003 amendments

Further to the pavement licences, which streamline the application process for
using outside areas, the Act will also amend the Licensing Act 2003 to ensure
that licensed premises can make use of the outside area. Each premises will
have its own premises licence and set of conditions — this aspect of licensing is
not for the Cabinet.

However, for members’ understanding, a key consideration for the use of
outside areas (which may not have been previously used or identified on the
licence), is whether or not the licence permits the sale of alcohol for
consumption ‘ON’ / ‘OFF’ the premises. If a premises licence does not permit
the sale of alcohol for consumption OFF the premises, OR, if the licence (and
its plan) did not identify the outside area as an area for consumption ‘ON’, they
would likely have needed to vary the premises licence. This is an additional
cost both in relation to the application fee and the time is takes for the
application to be consulted on and issued.

The Act will essentially provided an automatic extension to the terms of ‘ON’
sale alcohol licences to allow for ‘OFF’ sales until the end of September 2021.
The default hours in which ‘OFF’ sales will be permitted will be the same as
those in which ‘ON’ sales are permitted. This means that any licensee who
wishes to open for longer hours would need to apply to vary the premises
licence.

However, there are some exceptions with the proposals and as a safeguard,
licensees who have had an application for an ‘OFF’ sales permission refused
or had their ‘OFF’ sales permission excluded by variation or at review within the
last three years, will be excluded from this licence extension.

Page 443



6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

7.0

7.1

Impact of changes on the local authority

For information purposes, the Licensing Team currently licence a total of 358
premises (including those that sell alcohol and those that do not). It is difficult
to know how many premises are planning to open as soon as restrictions are
lifted and how many of those may want to apply for a pavement licence, but it
is important to note that pavement licences do not just cover licensed premises.
It also includes other premises that sell food and drink for consumption on or
off the premises, such as coffee shops.

For this reason, the Licensing Team are anticipating a particularly busy period
in July and August 2020 as businesses come to terms with the new
arrangements, make enquires and submit applications.

In summary, the Licensing Team will need to (amongst other things):

e Create and set up the required forms and where necessary, make them
available online (with the assistance of ICT)

e Create and set up the required processes (including the application process,
the consultation process and the relevant enforcement processes)

e Create and implement the required conditions that will apply to licences

e Learn and understand the new Act and its accompanying guidance, and
ensure a consistent approach for the administration and enforcement of it.

Furthermore, the consultation process will also have an additional burden on
the wider Public Health service as specific officers will likely be ‘consultees’,
This is because they can provide specific expertise in public nuisance and
health and safety.

Recommendations

The recommendations are as follows:

1.  That Cabinet note the provisions of the Business and Planning Bill 2020.

2. That Cabinet delegate authority to the Group Manager for Public Health
for the administration and enforcement of the provisions within the
forthcoming Business and Planning Act 2020. These delegations can then

be sub-delegated to relevant officers.

3. That Cabinet delegate authority to the Group Manager for Public Health
for the setting of the fee for pavement licences.

Contact for any more information:

Simon Newcombe, Group Manager for Public Health and Regulatory Services — 01884
244615 or snewcombe@middevon.gov.uk.

Page 444


mailto:snewcombe@middevon.gov.uk

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL — NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS

July 2020

The Forward Plan containing key Decisions is published 28 days prior to each Cabinet meeting

progress of the Greater
Exeter Strategic Plan

Graeme Barnell)

Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
Hydro Mills Project - Economy Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open
Tiverton Weir Policy of Planning, for Planning and
To receive a report outlining | Development Economy and Economic
the Tiverton Weir Hydro Mills Group 16 Jul 2020 Regeneration Tel: Regeneration
project seeking approval and 01884 234346 (Councillor
p‘?nding. Cabinet 6 Aug 2020 Graeme Barnell)
Btatement of Community Scrutiny Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open
gvolvement Review 2020 Committee 20 Jul 2020 of Planning, for Planning and
eport to seek authority to Economy and Economic
consult on the draft revised Cabinet 6 Aug 2020 Regeneration Tel: Regeneration
text. 01884 234346 (Councillor
Council 26 Aug 2020 Graeme Barnell)
Greater Exeter Strategic Scrutiny Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open
Plan Committee 20 Jul 2020 of Planning, for Planning and
To receive a report from the Economy and Economic
Head of Planning and Cabinet 6 Aug 2020 Regeneration Tel: Regeneration
Regeneration on the 01884 234346 (Councillor

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020

'ZT Wal| epusby



Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
$106 Governance Scrutiny Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open
To agree governance Committee 20 Jul 2020 of Planning, for Planning and
arrangements for S106 Economy and Economic
agreements Cabinet 6 Aug 2020 Regeneration Tel: Regeneration
01884 234346 (Councillor
Graeme Barnell)
Community Safety Community Simon Newcombe, Cabinet Member Open
Partnership Policy Group Manager for for Community
o consider a report outlining | Development Public Health and Well Being
%e Council’s Community Group 28 Jul 2020 Regulatory Services (Councillor
afety Action Plan, and to Tel: 01884 244615 | Dennis Knowles)
Jseek Members Cabinet 3 Sep 2020
%commendation to
cknowledge and accept the
priorities action plan
Contaminated Land Cost Community Simon Newcombe, Cabinet Member Open
Recovery Policy Policy Group Manager for for Community
To receive the 5 yearly Development Public Health and Well Being
review of the Contaminated Group 28 Jul 2020 Regulatory Services (Councillor
Land Cost Recovery Policy Tel: 01884 244615 | Dennis Knowles)
from the Group Manager for Cabinet 3 Sep 2020
Public Health and Regulatory
Services
Devon District Council's Community Jill May, Director of Cabinet for the Open
Joint Safeguarding Policy Policy Corporate Affairs Working
and MDDC Guidance and Development and Business Environment and
Procedures Group 28 Jul 2020 Transformation Tel: | Support Services

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




governance arrangements
for housing delivery

Clist)

Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)

Annually or whenever there 01884 234381 (Councillor Nikki

is a change in the legislation. Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Woollatt)

Tiverton Eastern Urban Cabinet 6 Aug 2020 Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open
Extension (Area B) of Planning, for Planning and

Masterplan Council 26 Aug 2020 Economy and Economic

To consider the Masterplan Regeneration Tel: Regeneration

for Area B of the Tiverton 01884 234346 (Councillor

Eastern Urban Extension Graeme Barnell)
Tiverton Town Centre Cabinet 6 Aug 2020 Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open

asterplan (Update) of Planning, for Planning and
o receive an update with Economy and Economic

fFegard to the Town Centre Regeneration Tel: Regeneration
Masterplan 01884 234346 (Councillor
~ Graeme Barnell)

Revised GESP Statement Cabinet 6 Aug 2020 Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open

of Community Involvement of Planning, for Planning and

(SCI) Economy and Economic

To consider a revised Regeneration Tel: Regeneration

Statement of Community 01884 234346 (Councillor

Involvement for the GESP Graeme Barnell)

Options for Accelerating Scrutiny Andrew Jarrett, Cabinet Member Open
Affordable Housing Committee 17 Aug 2020 Deputy Chief for Housing and

Delivery in the District Executive (S151) Property Services

To consider additional Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Tel: 01884 234242 | (Councillor Simon

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
Beech Road, Tiverton - Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Andrew Jarrett, Cabinet Member Part exempt
Design and Build Tender Deputy Chief for Housing and
To consider the award of the Executive (S151) Property Services
tender Tel: 01884 234242 | (Councillor Simon
Clist)
Public Spaces Protection Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Stuart Noyce, Group | Cabinet Member Open
Order Manager for Street for the
To consider the outcome of Scene and Open Environment
e public consultation and Spaces Tel: 01884 (Councillor Luke
ny recommendations. 244635 Taylor)
9]
%pital Programme Review Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Andrew Jarrett, Cabinet Member Open
review the Capital Deputy Chief for Finance
Programme taking into Council 28 Oct 2020 Executive (S151) (Councillor Alex
account the emerging Tel: 01884 234242 White)
Corporate Plan and the
delivery of projects in
Cullompton and Tiverton (as
agreed by Cabinet 13
February 2020).
Budget Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Andrew Jarrett, Cabinet Member Open
To consider a revised budget Deputy Chief for Finance
Council 28 Oct 2020 Executive (S151) (Councillor Alex
Tel: 01884 234242 White)
Capital Strategy Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Andrew Jarrett, Cabinet Member Open
To consider a revised Capital Deputy Chief for Finance
Strategy Council 28 Oct 2020 Executive (S151) (Councillor Alex

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




To consider a revised

Development

Economy and

Economic

Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
Tel: 01884 234242 White)
Design Supplementary Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open
Planning Document - post of Planning, for Planning and
consultation Economy and Economic
To consider the Regeneration Tel: Regeneration
Supplementary Planning 01884 234346 (Councillor
Document post consultation Graeme Barnell)
O
eview of Development Cabinet 3 Sep 2020 Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open
anagement Policies on of Planning, for Planning and
JRarking Economy and Economic
IR0 consider a report with Regeneration Tel: Regeneration
(%gard to a review of 01884 234346 (Councillor
Development Management Graeme Barnell)
Policies on Parking
Private Sector Fees and Homes Policy Simon Newcombe, Cabinet Member Open
Charges Development Group Manager for | for Housing and
To consider a revised policy. Group 3 Sep 2020 Public Health and Property Services
Regulatory Services | (Councillor Simon
Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 Tel: 01884 244615 Clist)
Economic Development Economy Jenny Clifford, Head | Cabinet Member Open
Strategy Policy of Planning, for Planning and

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
strategies Group 10 Sep 2020 Regeneration Tel: Regeneration
01884 234346 (Councillor
Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 Graeme Barnell)
Leasehold Management Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
Policy Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
To receive a report reviewing Group 15 Sep 2020 and Business Property Services
the Leasehold Management Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Policy. Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
>
f_Feport on DCC Homes Policy Claire Fry, Group Cabinet Member Open
esponsibility for HRA Development Manager for for the
ass verges Group 15 Sep 2020 Housing Tel: 01884 Environment
(Do receive a report on grass 234920 (Councillor Luke
cutting currently carried out Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 Taylor)
by the Housing Team which
is the responsibility of DCC
and to make a decision on
whether this practice should
continue.
Tenancy Changes Policy Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
To receive a report reviewing | Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
the Tenancy Changes Policy. Group 15 Sep 2020 and Business Property Services
Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
Allocations Policy Homes Policy Claire Fry, Group Cabinet Member Open
To receive a report from the Development Manager for for Housing and
Group Manager for Housing Group 15 Sep 2020 Housing Tel: 01884 | Property Services

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
Services reviewing the 234920 (Councillor Simon
Allocations Policy. Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 Clist)
Tenancy Inspection Policy | Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
To receive a report reviewing | Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
the Tenancy Inspection Group 15 Sep 2020 and Business Property Services
Policy Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
Aids and Adaptations Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
Policy Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
o receive a report reviewing Group 15 Sep 2020 and Business Property Services
e Aids and Adaptations Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Rolicy. Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
%
ASB Policy and Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
Procedures Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
To receive a report reviewing Group 15 Sep 2020 and Business Property Services
the Housing Services' Anti- Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Social Behaviour Policy and Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
Procedures.
Introductory Tenancies Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
Policy Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
To receive a report reviewing Group 15 Sep 2020 and Business Property Services
the Introductory Tenancies Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Policy Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 01884 234381 Clist)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
Service Standards Review Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
To receive a report reviewing | Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
Service Standards in the Group 15 Sep 2020 and Business Property Services
Housing Service. Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
Severe Weather Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
Emergency Protocol and Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
Extended Winter Provision Group 15 Sep 2020 and Business Property Services
Protocol Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
go receive a report reviewing Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
(e Severe Weather
Jsmergency Protocol and
tended Winter Provision
rotocol.
Grant payments to external Community John Bodley-Scott, Cabinet Member Open
organisations (the Policy Economic for Community
strategic grants review Development Development Team Well Being
process) Group 22 Sep 2020 Leader (Councillor
To receive the 4 yearly Dennis Knowles)
review of Grant Payments to Cabinet 1 Oct 2020
external organisations from
the Group Manager for
Growth, Economy & Delivery
Use of CCTV Policy and Community Andrew Busby, Cabinet Member Open
Guidance Policy Group Manager for for Community
To receive and approve the Development Corporate Property Well Being
Use of CCTV Policy and Group 22 Sep 2020 and Commercial (Councillor

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




Sites)

Transformation Tel:

(Councillor Simon

Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
Guidance Assets Tel: 01884 Dennis Knowles)
Cabinet 1 Oct 2020 234948
Council 28 Oct 2020
Housing Revenue Account | Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
Asset Management Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
Strategy Group 10 Nov 2020 and Business Property Services
To receive a report providing Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
review of the Housing Cabinet 3 Dec 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
evenue Account Asset
%’Ianagement Strategy.
=
(enancy Policy review and | Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
"Penancy Strategy Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
To receive a report reviewing Group 10 Nov 2020 and Business Property Services
the Tenancy Policy and Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Tenancy Strategy. Cabinet 3 Dec 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
Domestic Abuse Policy Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
To receive a report reviewing | Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
the Domestic Abuse Policy Group 10 Nov 2020 and Business Property Services
Transformation Tel: | (Councillor Simon
Cabinet 3 Dec 2020 01884 234381 Clist)
Housing Enabling SPD Homes Policy Jill May, Director of | Cabinet Member Open
(S106 - Housing Need Development Corporate Affairs for Housing and
Allocation - Exception Group 19 Jan 2021 and Business Property Services

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




the Housing Enabling SPD
document

Title of report and Decision Date of Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to
summary of decision Taker Decision consider report in
private session
and the reason(s)
To receive a report reviewing Cabinet 4 Feb 2021 01884 234381 Clist)

vG1 abed

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2020




Agenda Iltem 13.

CABINET
09 JULY 2020

3 Rivers Developments Ltd Feedback from Scrutiny & Audit

Cabinet Member(s): Leader, Clir Bob Deed
Responsible Officer: Chief Executive, Stephen Walford

Reason for Report: At the Cabinet meeting of 10t June 2020 Cabinet resolved to
strengthen the governance arrangements between the Council and its wholly-owned
development company. As part of this, the Cabinet requested Audit and Scrutiny
Committees to consider the available reports and refer back any additional
recommendations to Cabinet for their consideration.

Relationship to Corporate Plan: 3 Rivers Developments Limited’s (3RDL) primary
objective is to generate returns, to grow the business and to recycle monies back to
the Council to mitigate some of the cuts in Government funding. In addition, it provides
an extra supplier of housing into the market, operating at a level of quality (as per the
business plan) that is consistent with the Council’s ambitions regarding housing
delivery.

Budget and Policy Framework: It should be noted that if these measures collectively
take the annual budget for 3RDL outside of that approved by Council, they will need
to be costed and approved as a budget revision by (Full) Council. However, at this
point, it is estimated that they will fall within the current approvals — this can be revisited
when the budget is reconsidered, likely later this calendar year.

Financial Implications: There are financial implications relating to the
implementation of the totality of the changes previously recommended. However, the
additional recommendations in this report are likely to only have minimal additional
financial impact.

Legal Implications: Any changes to the nature of the procedural relationship may
require some legal changes via the formal shareholder agreement describing the
relationship between the two legal entities.

The Cabinet may wish to reflect on the relationship between their previous resolutions
and recommendations 1, 4 and 12 in Appendix A. Whilst it is possible to manage
actual and potential conflicts of interest in respect of those appointed to the Board of
Directors, including via pre-authorisation in the shareholder's agreement, it is a
challenge.

Neither officers nor members are able to put themselves in a situation where their duty
to the council conflicts with their duty to the company. This is an easier situation to
resolve so far as officers are concerned - as their duty to the council arises from their
terms and conditions of employment: the council, as their employer, is able to amend
the terms and conditions, so that when officers are acting in their role as a director of
the company they act in the best interests of the company.

Page 455



It can be far more complex for a member to have a role as a director with a council
owned company: whilst this can and sometimes is done (i.e. it is not unlawful), the
issues that arise must be properly understood. An elected member has a duty to act
in the best interests of the council at all times; and this duty cannot be avoided. This
would mean that an elected member who was also a director would need to ensure
that they excluded themselves from any decision-making by the council which affected
the company; and that as a director they excluded themselves from any decisions that
related to the Council.

Equalities Impact Assessment: None specifically identified.

Risk Assessment: The assessment and management of risk has been the key driver
behind this suite of decisions. The recommendations were arrived at by the Council’s
Scrutiny and Audit Committees in the context of their respective discussions and
consideration of risk; the recommendations are the advice from those two committees
to ameliorate risk from their perspective.

Climate Change: This report considers advice from two committees back to Cabinet,
at Cabinet’s request. The recommendations relate to the Council’s relationship with its
wholly owned property development company. Irrespective of the build standards
applied by the company in its commercial activity (or indeed the Council’s ambitions
on improving the emissions of current and future development), it should be
recognised that virtually all development has a negative impact on Carbon emissions.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report has been brought back to Cabinet as a consequence of the
additional recommendations from the Council’s Scrutiny and Audit committee.

1.2 There was a clear debate at the start of each committee meeting about how
to deal with restricted information while maintaining transparency. Members
queried whether future reports could be written in a way that did not require
the appending/inclusion of any restricted items in order to ensure that these
could be discussed in public.

1.3 The resolutions of the Cabinet on 10t June were not called in, and have been
duly made. The various recommendations from Scrutiny and Audit are
outlined in appendix A. This appendix has been marked confidential Part 2
simply because the recommendations are not in the public domain — the
discussions at Scrutiny and Audit took place in Part 2 (removal of press and
public) and Part 1 minutes do not, by this Council’s convention, include the
actual resolutions reached in Part 2. It was not thought appropriate in this
report to override the convention or the minutes of those Committees, but the
Cabinet may conduct the business at its meetings as it sees fit.

1.4 Coming as the recommendations do after comprehensive debate at Cabinet

previously, there has been no need to refer back to any restricted papers or
information in this report. Of course there is nothing to stop members moving

Page 456



into restricted session if, in order to debate the recommendations, they wish
to refer back to previous reports or other material as necessary.

2.0 Background

2.1 3RDL was incorporated in April 2017. The Cabinet meeting of 10t June 2020
considered a range of proposals arising from external reviews of the Council’s
relationship with its wholly-owned company. As part of the recommendations
approved at that meeting, the Cabinet also resolved to seek the view of the
Council’s Scrutiny and Audit committees to ensure that any additional
recommendations could be put back to Cabinet on 9t July.

3.0 Recommendations

3.1 The recommendations in Appendix A came from both Scrutiny and Audit
committees for Cabinet’s consideration.

Appendices

Restricted Appendix A — List of additional recommendations from Scrutiny and Audit
Committee

List of Background Papers:

None

Page 457



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 459



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2. Protocol for Remote Meetings
	5. Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6. Local Plan Review - Inspector's Report on Adoption
	Appendix 1 Local Plan Review with Main and Additional Modifications
	Appendix 2 Local Plan Review Policies Map
	Appendix 3 Inspector's Report for Local Plan Review
	Appendix 4 Council's Schedule of Additional (Minor) Modifications
	Appendix 5 Local Plan Review Adoption Statement
	Appendix 6 SA Report
	Appendix 7 SA Post-Adoption Statement
	Appendix 8 Council’s request for the Inspector to recommend main modifications
	Appendix 9 Plan MM35 CU21 Land at Colebrook Cullompton
	Appendix 10 Plan MM45 SP2 Higher Town Sampford Peverell

	7. Reopening High Streets Safely Fund
	Reopening High Streets Safely Appendix 1 Action Plan Cabinet 200709

	8. Cullompton Town Centre Masterplan
	Appendix 1 9 July 20 Cullompton town centre masterplan

	9. Revenue and Capital Outturn 2019/20
	Outturn App 1 - Outturn 19-20
	Outturn App 2 - HRA 19-20
	Outturn App 3 - EMR 19-20
	Outturn App 4 - Capital Programme 2019-20

	10. Annual Treasury Management Report
	11. Pavement Licences: New Legislation and Delegation of Powers
	12. Notification of Key Decisions
	13. 3 Rivers Developments Ltd Feedback from Scrutiny & Audit
	Part II Cabinet Report Appendix - Additional Recommendations (003)


